# Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases The Unchartered Fields

Olivier Glehen Aditi Bhatt *Editors* 



Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases

Olivier Glehen • Aditi Bhatt Editors

# Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases

The Unchartered Fields



*Editors* Olivier Glehen General and Oncologique Surgery Centre Hospitalier Lyon-Sud Lyon France

Aditi Bhatt Department of Surgical Oncology Zydus Hospital Ahmedabad India

ISBN 978-981-15-3772-1 ISBN 978-981-15-3773-8 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3773-8

#### © Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

## Preface

This is a book on pathology of peritoneal metastases that has been edited and largely authored by surgeons which is unusual. Peritoneal surface oncology is a field that has always been at the cross roads—in the early years of evolution of surgical treatment, hyperthermia was being increasingly used to potentiate cancer therapy and thus was combined with the surgical treatment of peritoneal metastases, that is, cytoreductive surgery. The surgery itself had to prove its merit over systemic therapies and was burdened with proving the merit of another treatment that added to the morbidity. Similarly, disease biology was only partially understood and remains a major challenge for future progresses. While the prognostic factors were still being identified, and validated, oncology ushered into the era of genetics and molecular biology. And the gaps in understanding the pathophysiology of peritoneal metastases persisted. Pathological expertise has largely been directed at the diagnosis and classification of uncommon tumors.

During cytoreductive surgery that comprises of peritonectomy procedures and visceral resections, a large amount of tissue is submitted for histopathological evaluation. This remains a potential source of prognostic information regarding tumor biology. It provides a good opportunity to also study the patterns and pathways of peritoneal dissemination from various tumors.

In this book, we use these pathological findings to better explain the patterns and pathways of peritoneal cancer dissemination and their potential implications on clinical practice. We provide a rationale and recommendations for standardizing CRS procedures and evaluation of surgical specimens. In turn, we raise research question that can be addressed in future studies.

Some of the other aspects of pathological evaluation like pathological response to chemotherapy, diagnosis and classification of rare peritoneal tumors have also been covered in different chapters. Keeping in sync with the progress in molecular oncology, we look at the role of molecular oncology in the current and future management of peritoneal metastases.

We are grateful to all the contributors for lending their time and expertise to this book. We are also grateful to our pathology colleagues for their invaluable contribution to this work.

3 December 2019

Olivier Glehen Aditi Bhatt

# Contents

1	Mechanisms of Peritoneal Metastasis Formation1Yutaka Yonemura, Haruaki Ishibashi, Akiyoshi Mizumoto, Kazuo Nishihara, Yang Liu, Satoshi Wakama, Syouzou Sako, Nobuyuki Takao, Masumi Ichinose, Shun-ichi Motoi, Keizou Taniguchi, Sachio Fushida, Yoshio Endou, and Masahiro Miura1		
2	Extent of Peritoneal Resection for Peritoneal Metastases:Inferences from Pathophysiology27Aditi Bhatt and Olivier Glehen27		
3	Therapeutic Rationale and Data Set for ReportingCytoreductive Surgery Specimens.47Aditi Bhatt, Nazim Benzerdjeb, Suniti Mishra,47and Olivier Glehen47		
4	Colorectal Peritoneal Metastases: CorrelatingHistopathological Findings and Disease Biology67Aditi Bhatt and Olivier Glehen67		
5	Epithelial Serous Ovarian Cancer: Patterns of PeritonealDissemination and their Clinical Implications.89Aditi Bhatt, Loma Parikh, Suniti Mishra, and Olivier Glehen		
6	Peritoneal Mesothelioma: Disease Biology and Patterns of Peritoneal Dissemination		
7	The Pathological Spectrum of Mucinous AppendicealTumours and Pseudomyxoma Peritonei131Aditi Bhatt, Suniti Mishra, Loma Parikh, and Olivier Glehen		
8	<b>Genomics in Pseudomyxoma Peritonei</b>		
9	Peritoneal Regression Grading Score (PRGS) for TherapyResponse Assessment in Peritoneal Metastasis175Wiebke Solass		

10	Rare Peritoneal Tumours: Histopathological Diagnosis			
	and Patterns of Peritoneal Dissemination			
	Suniti Mishra, Snita Sinukumar, Nutan Jumale, Loma Parikh,			
	Aditi Bhatt, and Olivier Glehen			

- 11
   Approach to a Patient with Peritoneal Metastases

   with Unknown Primary Site: Focus on Histopathological

   Evaluation
   229

   Aditi Bhatt, Loma Parikh, Suniti Mishra, and Olivier Glehen
- **12 Biomarkers in the Management of Peritoneal Metastases** ..... 251 Ninad Katdare, Aditi Bhatt, and Olivier Glehen

# **About the Editors**

**Olivier Glehen** is a world renowned expert in peritoneal surface oncology and a member of the executive committee of the peritoneal surface oncology group international (PSOGI). He is the head of the General and Oncologic Surgery Department at Centre Hospitalier Lyon Sud (Hospices Civils de Lyon) and at the Lyon Sud Charles Mérieux Medical Faculty. His centre is one of centres that have pioneered the surgical treatment of peritoneal metastases in the world. He is director of the Peritoneal Carcinomatosis Research Group from the EMR 3738 (Claude Bernard Lyon 1 University).

He has published extensively about peritoneal metastases. He is at the head of RENAPE (French Network on rare peritoneal tumours) and BIG-RENAPE groups (National Clinic-Biological Database on Digestive Peritoneal Carcinomatosis). He is associate editor of European Journal of Surgical Oncology, Journal of Surgical Oncology and Journal of Peritoneum. Professor Glehen is one of the directors of the Inter-University Diploma on Peritoneal Carcinomatosis in France and his centre is a reference centre for the European Society of Peritoneal Surface Oncology (ESPSO) certified fellowship in peritoneal surface oncology. His centre performs more than 200 HIPEC cvtoreductive surgery and (Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy) procedures a year and is also one of the leading centers in the world that is developing PIPAC (Pressurized Intraperitoneal Aerosol Chemotherapy).

**Aditi Bhatt** is an Indian surgical oncologist specializing in the management of peritoneal surface malignancies with an experience of 10 years in the same. She is one of the founding members of the Society of peritoneal surface oncology, India, the Indian HIPEC registry and serves as the honorary secretary of the Asian Peritoneal Surface Malignancy Group.

She has published several scientific papers on the subject, edited two special issues of the Indian Journal of Surgical Oncology on the same and edited a book on peritoneal surface malignancies.

### **Mechanisms of Peritoneal Metastasis Formation**

Yutaka Yonemura, Haruaki Ishibashi, Akiyoshi Mizumoto, Kazuo Nishihara, Yang Liu, Satoshi Wakama, Syouzou Sako, Nobuyuki Takao, Masumi Ichinose, Shun-ichi Motoi, Keizou Taniguchi, Sachio Fushida, Yoshio Endou, and Masahiro Miura

#### 1.1 Introduction

It has long been considered that the establishment of peritoneal metastasis (PM) is a multi-step process, consisting of (1) detachment of cancer cells from the primary tumor, (2) adhesion of peritoneal free cancer cells (PFCCs) on the distant peritoneal surface, (3) invasion into the submesothelial tissue, and (4) proliferation accompanying with the angiogenesis and the induction of stromal tissue [1]. The process is called "trans-mesothelial metastasis" by Yonemura et al. [2] or "randomly

proximal distribution" by Sugarbaker [3] (Fig. 1.1). Through the process, cancer cells with high malignant potential can metastasize on the peritoneum by concerted expression of metastasis-related genes [1-3]. Recently, new concepts of the formation of PM were proposed: i.e., (1) Trans-lymphatic metastasis and (2) superficial growing metastasis (Table 1.1) [3].

In this chapter, mechanisms of the formation of PM will be described in terms of the morphological, histological, and molecular biological aspects.

Y. Yonemura (🖂)

Asian School of Peritoneal Surface Malignancy Treatment, Kyoto, Japan

Department of Regional Cancer Therapy, Peritoneal Dissemination Center, Kishiwada Tokushukai Hospital, Kishiwada, Osaka, Japan

Department of Regional Cancer Therapy, Peritoneal Dissemination Center, Kusatsu General Hospital, Kusatsu, Shiga, Japan e-mail: y.yonemura@coda.ocn.ne.jp

H. Ishibashi · K. Nishihara · Y. Liu · S. Wakama S. Sako

Department of Regional Cancer Therapy, Peritoneal Dissemination Center, Kishiwada Tokushukai Hospital, Kishiwada, Osaka, Japan

A. Mizumoto · N. Takao · M. Ichinose · S.-i. Motoi Department of Regional Cancer Therapy, Peritoneal Dissemination Center, Kusatsu General Hospital, Kusatsu, Shiga, Japan

K. Taniguchi Department of Surgery, Mizonokuchi Hospital,

Teikyo University, School of Medicine, Kawasaki, Kanagawa, Japan

S. Fushida Department of Surgery, Kanazawa University, Kanazawa, Japan

Y. Endou Central Research Resource Center, Cancer Research Institute, Kanazawa University, Kanazawa, Japan

M. Miura Department of Anatomy, Oita Medical University, Oita, Japan



O. Glehen, A. Bhatt (eds.), Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3773-8\_1

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020



**Fig. 1.1** Trans-mesothelial metastasis as named by Yonemura et al. or randomly proximal distribution by Sugarbaker. Peritoneal free cancer cells (PFCCs) exfoliated from the serosal surface of primary tumors migrate into the peritoneal cavity, and adhere on the peritoneal surface (Process 1). During the rolling of PFCCs on the peritoneal surface, peritoneal mesothelial cells shrink by cytokines produced by PFCCs, resulting in the exposure of basement membrane and macula cribriformis (Process 2). PFCCs then migrate into the inter mesothelial space, and invade into the submesothelial tissue by degradation of extracellular matrix by matrix-digesting enzymes and by locomotive activity using motility factors (Process 3). Finally, cancer cells proliferate near the submesothelial blood vessels with introduction of tumor stromal tissues and neogenesis of tumor blood vessels (Process 4)

**Table 1.1** Three patterns of peritoneal metastasis according to the biological malignant potentials and the morphological feature of peritoneal free cancer cells

	Biologic malignant		Morphological features of
Pattern of metastasis	behavior	Cancer	PFCCs
Trans-mesothelial metastasis	High	Gastric, colorectal, pancreatic, biliary ovarian cancer	Single or small clusters
Trans-lymphatic metastasis Omental milky spots (OMS) Initial lymphatics outside OMS	High, moderate	Gastric, colorectal, ovarian cancer	Single or small clusters
Superficial growing metastasis	Moderate, low	AMN <sup>a</sup> , GCS <sup>b</sup> , mesothelioma, MCM <sup>c</sup> , hepatoma	Large with or without mucinous material

<sup>a</sup>AMN low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm

<sup>b</sup>GCS granulosa cell tumor

°MCM multicystic mesothelioma

#### 1.2 Mechanisms of Transmesothelial Metastasis

#### 1.2.1 Mechanisms of Cancer Cell Spillage into the Peritoneal Cavity

The first step of PM is detachment of cancer cells from the serosal surface of the primary tumor in highly malignant tumors and the rupture of appendix vermiformis or ovary by the increased intrinsic pressure due to the proliferation on mucinous neoplasm. Additionally, during surgery, blood or lymphatic fluid contaminated with cancer cells may spill into the peritoneal cavity from damaged blood and lymphatic vessels. The exfoliated cancer cells in the peritoneal cavity are called peritoneal free cancer cells (PFCCs). PFCCs have high proliferative activities and can grow in the distant peritoneum.

In the process of detachment of cancer cells from the primary tumor, homophilic cell-cell adhesion molecules play important roles. Epithelial cells tightly interconnect with a tight junction on the apical membrane and an adherence junction on the basolateral membrane side (Fig. 1.2). Tight junction components are transmembrane proteins, claudin and occludin and the cytoplasmic scaffolding protein, ZO-1, -2, and -3, which bind the actin bundles of the cytoplasmic protein. Tight junction is mainly composed of claudin, which is observed as continuous beadlike particles expressed on the lateral membrane of cells [4]. The partition of the basilar membrane by the tight junction functions as a barrier to control the movement of materials and as a selective permeation channel [4]. However, dysfunction of the tight junction causes the loosening of cell-cell adhesion, resulting in edema. Disappearance of tight junction causes cells to disperse by the loss of polarity. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and some cytokines reduce the function of tight junction, and cause edema [5].

Serial analyses of gene expression (SAGE) clarified the reduced expression of claudin in poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma of the stomach [6], in which reduced expression of claudin 4, 7 is found and the patients with gastric cancer showing low expression of claudin have a poor prognosis. In addition, ZO expression is

Fig. 1.2 Molecules associated with homophilic cell-cell adhesion of epithelial cells. Epithelial cells interconnect with tight junction, located at apical membrane of cells, and with adherence junction on the basolateral membrane. Cancer cells showing the functional abnormalities of tight junction and adherence junction tend to disperse and detach from the serosal surface, spill from the primary tumor and migrate into the peritoneal cavity



also reduced in poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma which tends to establish PM [6, 7].

In the components of the adherence junction, E-cadherin expression is important. E-cadherin is a transmembrane glycoprotein, and cells tightly connect with the extracellular domain of the molecule on the basolateral membrane (homophilic adhesion). The intracellular domain of E-cadherin connects with  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ -,  $\gamma$ -catenin and the complex controls the function of E-cadherin [8-10]. In gastric cancer, poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma especially macroscopic type-4 has a high potential of PM and the downregulation of E-cadherin expression is an important feature [11, 12]. The causes of reduced expression of E-cadherin are loss of the E-cadherin gene, point mutation, and the methylation of the promoter region [12]. In addition, the function of E-cadherin is reduced via the inhibition of the function of catenin molecules by the loss of the  $\alpha$ -catenin gene, and phosphorylation of the tyrosine residue of  $\beta$ -catenin [13]. In colorectal cancer, downregulation of E-cadherin level is associated with poorly differentiated type, higher potential of metastasis, and progression [14]. The lower expression of E-cadherin in poorly differentiated colorectal cancer may explain the aggressive nature, and poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma is known as a subtype that frequently metastasizes on peritoneum [14, 15].

Accordingly, cancer cells with the functional abnormalities of tight junction and adherence junction tend to disperse and detach from the serosal surface, spill from the primary tumor and migrate into the peritoneal cavity.

#### 1.2.2 Adhesion of PFCCs and Mesothelial Cells (Fig. 1.1, Process 1)

PFCCs migrate on the distant peritoneal surface and adhere to mesothelial cells during rolling on the mesothelial cell surface. PFCCs express several kinds of integrin molecules and adhere with their ligands expressed on mesothelial cells (Fig. 1.1, Process 1, 2). Peritoneal mesothelial cells express immunoglobulin-like intercellular adhesion molecules (ICAM-1, CD54) [16] and vascular cell adhesion molecules (VCAM-1, CD106) [17], and interact with integrin  $\alpha L\beta 2$  (LFA-1 $\alpha$ , CD11a) expressed on PFCCs and inflammatory cells (heterotypic cell-cell adhesion).

Platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecules (PECAM-1, CD31) play a role in the transmigration of white blood cells and PFCCs. After the process of slowing down the passage of leukocytes and PFCCs over activated vascular endothelium and peritoneal mesothelial cells ("rolling"), integrins are crucial for stopping the cells at the extravasation site and migration into submesothelial tissue [18].

Stopping is the result of the interaction of integrins on the leukocytes ( $\beta$ 2 integrin,  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 1 (VLA-4), or  $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 7) and immunoglobulin-like adhesion molecules (ICAM-1 and VCAM-1) on endothelial and mesothelial cells [19]. Next, for migration based on the interaction between  $\beta$ 2 integrins on the leukocytes and ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and PECAM-1 on the endothelial cells, mesothelial cells adhere with inflammatory cells or PFCCs via homophilic adhesion of PECAM-1. The expression of VCAM-1, and E-selectin, is upregulated by IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF-1 $\alpha$ , and IFN- $\gamma$ , so the mesothelial cell adhesion can be facilitated by local inflammation [16, 20].

As shown in Fig. 1.3, several adhesion molecules are associated with the adhesion between mesothelial cells and PFCCs. The only classical cadherin expressed by mesothelial cells and PFCCs is P-cadherin, and this molecule could serve homophilic heterotypic adhesion (heterophilic adhesion by the same adhesion molecule) between PFCCs and mesothelial cells (Fig. 1.3) [21]. P-cadherin promotes intraperitoneal dissemination of ovarian cancer cells by facilitating tumor cell aggregation and tumor peritoneum interaction in addition to promoting tumor cell migration [22].

Hyaluronic acid (hyaluronate) is a mucoprotein with a molecular weight of 200,000–400,000, consisting of alternate binding of *N*-acetylglucosamine and glucuronic acid. This molecule is one of the components of extracellular matrices and acts as a cushion to support the



Fig. 1.3 Heterotypic adhesion molecules associated with adhesion between cancer cells and mesothelial cells

cells by binding a considerable amount of water. Pericellular hyaluronate produced by mesothelial cells has a function as a lubricant (Fig. 1.3). CD44 is a transmembrane glycoprotein and acts as a receptor for hyaluronate. This molecule has four functioning domains, and hyaluronate binds with the extracellular domain of CD44. PFCCs expressing CD44 bind to the pericellular hyaluronate of the mesothelial cells. The CD44 gene has 20 exons and many translational products (v1-v10) are produced from alternative RNA splicing and post-translational modifications. Certain CD44 isoforms that regulate activation and migration of lymphocytes and macrophages may also enhance local growth and metastatic spread of tumor cells [23]. CD44v, v7 splice variants are expressed by some gastro-intestinal cancers, and considered as markers for their metastatic capability [24]. CD44v6 expressed on PFCCs accounts for the binding with mesothelial cells [24]. The TGF- $\beta$  produced from the fibroblasts in the stroma of cancer tissue upregulates the CD44 expression from cancer cells [25]. Expression of CD44 by peritoneal mesothelial cells also seems to contribute to heterotypic cell adhesion by pancreatic cancer cells, and is upregulated by TNF- $\alpha$ /IL-1 $\beta$  from the peritoneal macrophages [26].

The sialyl Lewis-a (sLe<sup>a</sup>) antigen is a carbohydrate structure present on cancer cells and has a structure of sialic form of Le<sup>a</sup> antigen with sialyl acid. The monoclonal antibody CA19-9 is a useful and popular tool to assess circulating sialyl Lewis-a epitopes in the blood of cancer patients. sLe<sup>a</sup> expressed on leukocytes binds to P-cadherin on the activated vascular endothelial cells, and the weak affinity interaction of sLe<sup>a</sup> and P-cadherin is considered as the initial force implicated in the "rolling" of extravasating leukocytes. E-selectin also can bind to sLe<sup>a</sup>, and sLe<sup>a</sup> on cancer cells produces a similar interaction with E-selectin on the endothelial cells [27]. As shown in Fig. 1.3, E-selectin is also found on peritoneal mesothelial cells. The interaction of E-selectin and P-cadherin on mesothelial cells and sLe<sup>a</sup> on PFCCs has a role on the heterotypic adhesion in early pathophysiological event in PM.

CA125 is a cell surface mucin-like glycoprotein expressed in mesothelial cells, and is upregulated in malignant ovarian tumors [28, 29]. It is considered as a relatively specific circulating tumor marker in ovarian cancer patients. Mesothelin is expressed by the normal mesothelial cells, and soluble mesothelin is used to detect the overexpressed protein as a circulating tumor marker for mesothelioma. Mesothelin binds with CA125 expressed on PFCCs and has a role as an adhesion molecule between ovarian cancer cells and mesothelial cells [30].

L1CAM (CD171), an adhesion molecule expresses on pancreas cancer and colorectal cancer cells and binds with neuropilin-1 (Fig. 1.3). It is upregulated by TGF- $\beta$ 1 [31]. Soluble L1CAM (sL1) binds to VEGF-A (165), and activates VEGFR-2, resulting in angiogenesis [32].

#### 1.2.3 Morphological Changes of Mesothelial Cells (Fig. 1.1, Process 1), Submesothelial Invasion of PFCCs, Attachment of PFCCs to the Basement Membrane (Fig. 1.1, Process 2)

Mesothelial cells are flat and squamous-like cells and connect to each other with a tight junction. The diameter of mesothelial cell is approximately 25  $\mu$ m (Fig. 1.4). Mesothelial cells provide a protective barrier against invading pathogens and PFCCs. The surface of activated mesothelial cells has a well-developed microvilli varying in length, shape, and density (Fig. 1.5). Cilia are also present on some resting mesothelial cells, but are more abundant on activated cells. They may be part of a sophisticated surveillance system that may respond to elicit discrete cellular responses [33].

ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 are expressed on the microvilli of mesothelial cells, and the materials correlate with the cross-talk of cells expressing integrins. Mesothelial cells produce IL-6, IL-1 (expressed by bacterial lipopolysaccharide), heat

shock proteins, granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), IL-15, IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and epidermal growth factor (EGF) to have cross-talk, and these substances immediately react with the changes in the peritoneal environment [34, 35]. When PFCCs contact with mesothelial cells, many changes are found in the mesothelial cells (Figs. 1.4 and 1.5).

Akedo et al. reported three growth patterns of cancer cells are found when rat hepatoma cells were co-cultured with a rat mesothelial monolayer [36]. Tumor cells either formed "pile-up" nests upon the mesothelial monolayer, exhibited invasive growth between adjacent mesothelial cells (flattened tumor cell island), or failed to attach and grew in suspension.

When ascitic fluid was added into the medium of the mesothelial monolayer, the mesothelial cells took up a characteristic "round" morphology with separation of cell-cell contacts after



**Fig. 1.5** Activated human mesothelial cells. Microvilli expressed on cell surface of human mesothelial cells from resected specimens from pseudomyxoma peritonei



**Fig. 1.4** Morphological changes of mesothelial cells. (a) Normal, (b) shrinkage of cytoplasm, (c) separation and exposure of submesothelial basement membrane (human mesothelial cells)

20 h [37]. These results denote that the malignant ascitic fluid contains factors that induce the changes of mesothelial cell morphology (mesothelial cell injury factors). These factors are produced from cancer cells, peritoneal macrophages, and mesothelial cells [38].

#### 1.2.4 Adhesion of PFCCS to the Submesothelial Basement Membrane (Fig. 1.1, Process 2 and Fig. 1.6)

After mesothelial cell contraction by cytokines, the submesothelial basement membrane is exposed (Fig. 1.4). The basement membrane consists of laminin, type IV collagen, heparin sulfate proteoglycan, entactin, and perlecan. Mesothelial cells and fibroblasts produce these elements. Current evidence suggests that adherence to the basement membrane of PFCCs is mediated via an integrin-ligand interaction.

The integrin molecule is a heterodimer consisting of an  $\alpha$  and a  $\beta$  subunit and is expressed on the cell membrane. Integrins are the important molecules for cell-cell and cell-ECM adhesion. According to the combination of  $17\alpha$  subunits and 8β subunits, 24 kinds of integrins exist [39]. Many kinds of integrins are expressed from PFCCs, and the overexpression of integrins correlates with metastatic potential [40–42]. Integrin  $\alpha 2$  and  $\alpha 3$ expressions were significantly elevated in the peritoneal dissemination of gastric cancer [40, 41]. These  $\alpha$ -integrins dimerize with  $\beta$ -subunits to form adhesion molecules for basement membrane proteins, including fibronectin, laminin, and collagen IV. Treatment with anti-β1 integrin antibody significantly inhibited the adherence of highly metastatic cell line on the peritoneum in an exvivo peritoneal model, suggesting a role for β1-mediated integrin adhesion to the submesothelial basement membrane [41]. In ovarian cancers, integrin  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  and  $\alpha 6\beta 1$  correlate with PM.

#### 1.2.5 Invasion into the Submesothelial Tissue (Fig. 1.1, Process 3)

Factors associated with invasion into the submesothelial tissue are the autocrine motility factor (AMF)/AMF receptor, Rho/ROCK, S100A-4, and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF)/MET (receptor for HGF) [43–48].



Fig. 1.6 Highly metastatic cell line (MKN-45) from gastric cancer express filopodia, and attach to the basement membrane of human greater omentum

AMF is a 55 kDa protein, which stimulates chemotaxis and chemokinetics [49]. AMFR is a member of the tyrosine kinases, which are located on the cell membrane. Binding of AMF with AMFR stimulates changes in the cytoskeleton and formation of invadopodia, resulting in the induction of amoebic movement [43]. Type 4 gastric cancer is more significantly associated with PM than the other macroscopic types. In type 4 gastric cancer, expression of the AMFR protein was significantly higher than that in type 3 tumors [50]. Accordingly, poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma of the stomach has high motility by the activation of the AMF/AMFR cascade combined with downregulation of E-cadherin and claudin [7, 12, 50].

Rho is a G protein, which induces ruffling of the cell membrane in cooperation with effectors of its downstream, like mDia, Crk, Rac and ROCK, and FAK/paxillin [49]. Rho upregulates actin filaments by activation of mDia, and ROCK increases the contractile strength of myosin, which bridges actin filaments. Rho and Rac expressions were upregulated in poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma and advanced cancers in the late stage [43].

S100A4, a member of the S100 protein family, is known as a calcium-binding protein, and increases cell motility by activating myosin [44]. S100A4 activates myosin in lamellipodia expressed on the invasion front of cancer cells (Fig. 1.6) [45]. The actin filament that bridges myosin, combined with the vinculin connected with talin and the intracellular domain of integrin [45, 46]. In gastric cancer, S100A4 upregulation is significantly associated with poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma, lymph node metastasis, peritoneal dissemination, and a poor prognosis [46]. In addition, downregulation of E-cadherin and upregulation of S100A4 were found in type 4 gastric cancer [46]. Moriyama et al. reported that S100A4 gene was transfected into a non-invasive oral cancer cell line of OSC-19, and that the new cell line overexpressed S100 A4, showed significant invasive activity, and downregulated E-cadherin and  $\beta$ -catenin [47].

The scatter factor (SF) called hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and its receptor of MET (a

tyrosine kinase type receptor) are important molecules for cell motility and proliferation. When HGF binds with MET, MET is activated by the autophosphorylation of tyrosine residue on the intracellular domain and induces cell motility by activation of F-actin and microtubules. In the peritoneal cavity, HGF is produced from activated mesothelial cells, and fibroblasts, and induces mesothelial cell contraction and invasion of PFCCs through the intercellular space of mesothelial cells [48].

IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  from peritoneal macrophages, fibroblasts, and inflammatory cells induce HGF production from mesothelial cells [51]. The HGF/MET paracrine cascade correlates with not only cancer cell motility but also proliferation and angiogenesis. Recently, molecular targeting therapy to control the cascade has been developed [52].

#### 1.2.6 Destruction of Submesothelial Basement Membrane and Extracellular Matrix (ECM) and Invasion into Submesothelial Tissue (Fig. 1.1, Process 3)

The tissue between mesothelial cells and submesothelial arterial blood capillaries is named the peritoneal-blood barrier, and the average width is 90  $\mu$ m (Figs. 1.1, 1.17 and 1.29) [53]. This barrier prohibits the diffusion of drugs administered by systemic chemotherapy. The diffusion length of oxygen from arterial blood capillaries is 100  $\mu$ m, and PFCCs attached to the submesothelial basement membrane can survive by the oxygen nutritional supplement from blood vessels [54]. PFCCs with high invasive capacity destroy the ECM in peritoneal-blood barrier, invade near the arterial blood capillaries, and proliferate with angiogenesis (Fig. 1.1, Process 4).

The subperitoneal basement membrane between mesothelial cells and submesothelial stromal tissue is a thin membrane of 50–100 nm in width, and is composed of collagen type IV, laminin, entactin, heparin sulfate proteoglycan, and perlecan [55, 56]. Molecules associated with the destruction of basement membrane are matrix metalloproteinases [MMPs: MMP-2, MMP-7, MMP-14 (MT1-MMP)] and plasmin. These molecules are produced from cancer cells, mesothelial cells, fibroblasts, inflammatory cells, and macrophages. Subperitoneal tissues are composed of dense network of ECM, which prohibits the movement of materials with molecular weight higher than 100,000. Cancer cells produce several kinds of matrix-digesting enzymes to destroy and invade into subperitoneal stromal tissue. An immunohistochemical study of gastric cancers revealed that urokinasetype plasminogen activator (UPA) is detected in the cytoplasm in 66% of gastric cancers [57]. UPA from gastric cancer and fibroblasts binds with its receptor (UPAR) on the cell membrane and is activated with plasmin and kallikrein. Activated UPA on the cell membrane activates plasminogen to plasmin [58]. Plasmin then degrades the ECM and further activates plasminogen and latent MMPs. UPA is specifically inactivated by plasminogen activator inhibitor-2 (PAI-2), and PAI-2 can inhibit the formation of experimental peritoneal carcinomatosis [59, 60]. UPAR expression in type 4 gastric cancers is significantly higher than that in other macroscopic types [57]. Fibroblasts accumulate in the stroma of the invasive front of type 4 gastric cancer. UPA secreted from fibroblasts is combined with UPAR on the cancer cells via the paracrine loop, leading to activation of plasmin in the cancer cells which help them to invade the stomach wall [60].

MMP family includes collagenases (MMP-1, MMP-8, and -13), gelatinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9), stromelysin-1, -2 (MMP-3, and MMP-10), transmembrane MMPs (MT-MMP families), and others: matrilysin, MMP-7; stromelysin-3, MMP-11; metalloesterase, MMP-12; and enamelysin, MMP-20. Activities of MMPs are controlled by the activation of proMMPs and inhibition by TIMPs (tissue inhibitor metalloproteinases), and MMPs are mutually activated by plasmin and the other MMPs. Four types of TIMPs have been reported and control the activity of MMPs, resulting in the degradation of collagen and the induction of fibrosis. MMP genes are upregulated by IL-1, TNF- $\alpha$ , EGF, PDGF, and FGF. MMP-1, -2, -7, -13, and -14 (MT1-MMP) play roles in the stromal invasion of gastric cancer.

MMP-1 specifically cuts the helix structure of collagen types I, II, and III. In gastric cancer tissue, MMP-1 is secreted from the stromal fibroblasts. TGF- $\beta$  produced from poorly differentiated adenocarcinomas of the stomach stimulates the proliferation of fibroblast in the invasive front [61]. Cancer cells invade the stroma utilizing MMP-1, and MMP-2 produced from the fibroblasts. TGF- $\beta$  inhibits the proliferation of the epithelial cells. In contrast, TGF- $\beta$  II receptor expression is downregulated in type 4 gastric cancer, which evades the inhibition of proliferation by TGF- $\beta$  from fibroblasts [61].

MMP-2 (gelatinase A) degrades gelatin, collagen types IV, V, VII, X, and XI, fibronectin, elastin, and proteoglycan, which are components of the ECM [52]. TIMP-2 combines with activated MMPs and proMMP-2, and controls the activity and degradation of MMP-2. ProMMP-2 (72 kDa) when activated by MT1-MMP becomes active MMP-2 (62 kDa), which activates MMP-9 and MMP-13, resulting in the degradation of many kinds of ECM components.

MT-MMP is detected on the cell membrane (Fig. 1.7) and plays roles in cell migration,



**Fig. 1.7** MT1-MMP expression on the invadopodia. Immunofluorescent staining with anti-MT1-MMP mAb for TMK-1 cells (gastric cancer cell line), transfected with MT1-MMP gene

differentiation, and morphological change by the degradation of the pericellular ECM. The MT-MMP family has 6 kinds of molecules (MT1-6-MMP).

MT1-MMP forms a homo-oligomer on the pseudopodia of cancer cells, and induces an efficient invasion by the degradation of their pericellular ECM [53]. MT1-MMP itself degrades collagen types I, II, and III, fibronectin, laminin, vitronectin, and aggrecan, and plays a role in the activation of proMMP-2 [54]. TIMP-2 combines with a catalytic domain of MT1-MMP. A complex of TIMP-2-MT1-MMP binds with proMMP-2 and forms a tertiary complex. ProMMP-2 becomes an intermediate active MMP-2 by the activation of neighboring MT1-MMP [55]. In poorly differentiated gastric cancers, the MMP-2 secreted from fibroblasts is activated by MT1-MMP. A paracrine loop of MMP-2 from fibroblasts and MT1-MMP on gastric cancer induces invasion and metastasis of gastric cancer [56].

MMP-7 (matrilysin) itself degrades collagen types I, II, III, and IV, aggrecan, laminin, and fibronectin, and can activate proMMP-1, -3, -8, and -9 secreted from cancer cells and fibroblasts. As a result, almost all ECM components can be degraded by MMP-7. A study of serial analyses of gene expression of gastric cancer revealed the overexpression of MMP-7 [57]. A highly metastatic cell line (MKN-45-P) on the peritoneal surface overexpressed MMP-7 [58]. Intraperitoneal administration of an antisense oligonucleotide against MMP-7 mRNA improved the survival of the mice bearing MKN-45-P [59]. The incidence of MMP-7 protein expression in the type 4 gastric cancer is significantly higher than that of the other macroscopic types [43].

MMP-13 is produced from cancer cells and chondrocytes and degrades collagen types I, II, and III. MMP-13 mRNA was expressed in 8 of 9 gastric cancer cell lines, and in these cell lines MMP-13 mRNA was coexpressed with MMP-2 and MT-1 MMP, which activate proMMP-13 [60]. MMP-13 mRNA expression was found in 61% of gastric cancer patients in stage IV disease [62], and the prognosis in patients with MMP-13 overexpressing tumor was significantly poorer than in those without MMP-13 expression. Patients with tumor expressing both MMP-13 and MT1-MMP showed the worst prognosis [60].

#### 1.2.7 Proliferation in the Subperitoneal Tissue (Fig. 1.1, Process 4: Angiogenesis and Proliferation)

Tyrosine kinases play a major role in the proliferation of cancer cells. The interaction of the growth factors with the receptors activates signaling pathways and induces mitogenesis. Among these receptors, K-sam, EGFR, MET, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR), and ERBB are frequently involved in PM of various cancers. In gastric cancers, expressions of K-sam, EGFR, MET, and VEGFR are associated with proliferation and angiogenesis.

The K-sam gene encodes the receptors against fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and keratinocyte growth factor (KGF). When the K-sam gene product is activated, the ras-raf-MAP kinase cascade is activated and cell proliferation is induced [63]. In type 4 gastric cancer, *K*-sam gene amplification is a characteristic feature. In the poorly differentiated types of gastric cancer, expression of bFGF for the ligand of K-sam is significantly upregulated, and cancer cell proliferation is stimulated by the autocrine or paracrine loop [64]. In an immunohistochemical study of keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) and K-sam expression, the incidence of K-sam expression was significantly higher in type 4 gastric cancer than in the other types. In addition, patients with tumor coexpressing K-sam and KGF had significantly poorer prognosis [65]. Accordingly, the paracrine loop of K-sam/KGF/bFGF has an important role in the progression of gastric cancer, especially in poorly differentiated type and type 4 gastric cancer.

The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and its family of Her-2/ERBB-2, Her-3, and Her-4 are upregulated in 70% of all cancers [66, 67]. Signals of EGFR are transduced through the ras-raf-MAP kinase route, PI3K-Ak route, and Jak-STAT route, and they induce proliferation, growth, and apoptosis. Type 4 gastric cancer coexpresses EGF and EGFR [68].

MET is associated with not only cell scattering, but also proliferation [69]. In gastric cancer, alteration of the domain induces a constant activation of the downstream components [70]. In addition, *c-met* gene amplification is detected in gastric cancer, and upregulates the signal transduction downstream of MET activated in a ligand-dependent or non-ligand-dependent manner [71]. Many molecular targeting strategies to decease MET function by controlling Try 1003 have been studied [72, 73].

When the diameter of a cancer nest is greater than 100  $\mu$ m, oxygen and nutritional supplementation from preexisting blood vessels are not sufficient for survival of cancer cells. Accordingly, cancer cells that are located more than 100  $\mu$ m apart from blood vessels will die off.

In such a situation, angiogenesis is induced by angiogenic factors secreted from cancer cells, and cancer tissue with newly formed vessels can be established. Proliferating cancer cells upregulate hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-1 $\alpha$  to induce angiogenesis [74], and the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is stimulated [75, 76]. VEGF binds with VEGF receptor-1 and stimulates endothelial cell proliferation. Almost all cancer cells produce VEGF, which has a major role in the establishment of PM [77]. VEGF-C, which is a specific molecule for lymphangiogenesis, activates VEGFR-3 (flt-4) [64].

#### 1.3 Trans-lymphatic Metastasis

In 2012, Yonemura reported a new concept of PM formation, called trans-lymphatic metastasis [78] (Fig. 1.8). Trans-lymphatic metastasis is the metastatic pathway by which the PFCCs migrate into the submesothelial initial lymphatic vessels through mesothelial stomata (Fig. 1.9), and holes of macula cribriformis (Fig. 1.10) [78]. Subperitoneal lymphatic vessels associated with trans-lymphatic metastasis are found in omental milky spots (OMS) and initial lymphatic vessels in parietal peritoneum, and small bowel mesentery.



**Fig. 1.8** Initial lymphatic vessels, which directly connect with peritoneal cavity via mesothelial stomata and hole of macula cribriformis. Two types of initial lymphatic vessels on the parietal peritoneum. Flat type (Left) and protruded type (Right). The former is found on the Morrison's

pouch, paracolic gutter, and small bowel mesentery. The latter is detected on the pelvic peritoneum. PFCCs migrated into initial lymphatic vessels through mesothelial stomata and holes of macula cribriformis

OMS are found on the omentum and are the small lymphatic organs for the migration of peritoneal inflammatory cells and the absorption of peritoneal fluid. Mean number of OMS in adult is  $26/\text{cm}^2$  and the diameters range from 15 to  $800 \ \mu\text{m}$  [2, 79]. OSM is also linked to the dissemination of cancer cells [80]. Under scanning electron microscopy, OMS was found to have oval or round concave structure covered with cuboidal mesothelial cells (Fig. 1.11, upper right). After digestion of cuboidal mesothelial cells by 6 N KOH, concave pouch with holes of



**Fig. 1.9** Stomata on the diaphragm. Gap between mesothelial cells of diaphragm, which connects with submesothelial lymphatic vessel through holes of macula cribriformis, located just below the mesothelial basement membrane

macula cribriformis is detected (Fig. 1.12). Under whole-mount preparation specimens stained with 5'-nucleotidase (5'-Nase) and alkali-phosphatase double enzyme staining, agglomerated blood capillaries are found under the macula cribriformis of OMS (Fig. 1.11, upper left). Additionally, 5'-Nase-enzyme-staining shows a lymphatic plexus under macula cribriformis of OMS (Fig. 1.13). Figure 1.14 is a vertical section of human OMS, stained with D2-40 monoclonal antibody (Mab). Lymphatic plexus stained brown with D2-40 Mab is found beneath the cuboidal mesothelial cells. Surface of OMS small gaps between cuboidal mesothelial cells similar to stomata on the diaphragm are found (Fig. 1.15), and macrophages are detected in the mesothelial gap (Fig. 1.16). Intraperitoneal inflammatory cells and PFCCs migrate into OMS lymphatic vessels through the mesothelial cell gap from peritoneal cavity to OSM lymphatic plexus [80, 81] (Figs. 1.11-1.16). These findings are similar to the mechanisms of the leukocyte extravasation into the inflammatory stroma [18]. These results indicate that lymphatic plexus of OMS can be considered a kind of initial lymphatic vessels.

Structure of initial lymphatic vessels outside OMS is different. Figure 1.17 shows the locations of submesothelial lymphatic vessels and blood vessels of human parietal peritoneum. The part of the lymphatic vessels in the parietal peri-



**Fig. 1.10** Holes of submesothelial basement membrane (Left). Macula cribriformis below basement membrane after 6N KOH cell maceration treatment. Diameters of the holes range from 5 to 30  $\mu$ m (human peritoneum, Right)



**Fig. 1.11** Omental milky spot stained with 5'-nucleotidase and alkali-phosphatase double enzyme staining (Upper left), electron microscopic finding (Upper right), and the schema of the structure. OMS is oval or round

toneum that are attached to macula cribriformis and mesothelial stomata are called initial lymphatic vessels (Fig. 1.8). There are two types of initial lymphatic vessels, i.e., flat type (Fig. 1.8, left, and Fig. 1.18) and protruded type (Fig. 1.8, right, and Fig. 1.19). The former type is found on the Morrison's pouch, paracolic gutter, and small bowel mesentery. After intraperitoneal injection of activated carbon CH40 [82], the tip of flat type of initial lymphatic vessel alone is stained with CH40. The blind-looped lymphatic vessels extending from the submesothelial lymphatic vessels are the protruded type, and their blind tips attach to the holes of macula cribriformis and stomata (Fig. 1.8, right, Fig. 1.19). Since there is no adhesion of CH40 except at the tip of initial lymphatic vessel, the tips of initial lymphatic

concave, and the cuboidal mesothelial cells cover the basement membrane of the bottom. Lymphatic plexus (red) is found below the macula cribriformis

vessels alone are considered to communicate with peritoneal cavity. The size of the holes of macula cribriformis ranges from 5 to 30  $\mu$ m. PFCCs migrate into the initial lymphatic vessels through the stomata on the mesothelial surface without destruction of macula cribriformis (Fig. 1.20) and then proliferate in the lymphatic vessels (Fig. 1.21).

The triplet structure consisting of mesothelial stomata, hole of macula cribriformis, and initial lymphatic vessels is essential for the migration of PFCCs into the submesothelial lymphatic vessels (Fig. 1.22). When the stomata, hole of macula cribriformis, and the tip of initial lymphatic vessels are aligned in a row, direct communication between peritoneal cavity and submesothelial lymphatic vessels is established, resulting in the



**Fig. 1.12** The bottom structure of OMS after digestion by 6 N KOH. Basement membrane is found beneath the cuboidal mesothelial cells. Holes of macula cribriformis



**Fig. 1.13** Lymphatic plexus locate under the macula cribriformis of OMS (5'-nucleotidase enzyme staining, omentum of Japanese monkey)

migration of PFCCs into the initial lymphatic vessels.

Lymphatic system of diaphragm is different from that of other parietal peritonea. Many lymphatic stomata (Fig. 1.9) and plenty of submesothelial lymphatic plexuses are detected by 5'-Nase enzyme staining (Fig. 1.23). Lymphatic fluid adsorbed from peritoneal cavity through

cluster below the OMS basement membrane. Below the holes of macula cribriformis, lymphatic and vascular plexus are found (Fig. 1.11, upper left, Fig. 1.13)

diaphragmatic initial lymphatic vessels drains to the deep-seated lymphatic vessels of diaphragmatic muscle and then flows to the para-aortic lymph nodes via collecting lymphatic vessels in triangular ligaments or along subdiaphragmatic arteries, and to the lymphatic vessels along the internal mammary artery (Figs. 1.23 and 1.24). PFCCs are adsorbed on the stomata by negative pressure of inspiration and migrate into the diaphragmatic initial lymphatic vessels. Figure 1.25 shows the metastasis from colorectal cancer in the diaphragmatic lymphatic vessel.

Triplet structures (Fig. 1.22) are detected on the parietal peritoneum except on the anterior upper abdominal wall. The peritoneum of diaphragm, pelvis, paracolic gutter, Morrison's pouch, and perihepatic ligaments does not have any milky spots, but it does have the triplet structure. In the experimental study, intraperitoneal inoculation of cancer cells induces mesothelial cell contraction (Fig. 1.4), and cancer cells were detected in the submesothelial lymphatic vessels on day 3 after intraperitoneal inoculation [80].

On the small bowel mesentery 2 cm in from the attachment to small bowel, many milky spot-like











**Fig. 1.16** Macrophage is found in the gap (mesothelial stoma) between cuboidal mesothelial cells

**Fig. 1.17** Normal structure of human Morrison's pouch stained by D2-40 monoclonal antibody. Initial lymphatic vessels attached to mesothelial cell gap. Blood vessels locate in the deeper subperitoneal tissue than lymphatic vessels. *BPB* blood peritoneal barrier





**Fig. 1.18** Flat type of initial lymphatic vessel of Morrison's pouch. Initial lymphatic vessel is stained black with CH40 (activated carbon), introduced intraperitoneally before sampling. There is no CH40 attachment on the

subperitoneal lymphatic plexus except for flat type initial lymphatic vessel. Accordingly, the tip of lymphatic vessel stained with CH-40 is considered to contact with peritoneal cavity

Fig. 1.19 Protruded type of initial lymphatic vessel found in pelvic peritoneum. Tip of initial lymphatic vessel is stained with CH40, introduced intraperitoneally before sampling. There is no adsorption of CH40 except at the tip of initial lymphatic vessel (Left). CH40 particles adhere on the junction between lymphatic mesothelial cells





Fig. 1.20 SEM findings of peritoneal free cancer cells from gastric cancer migrate into initial lymphatic vessels through the holes of macula cribriformis



Fig. 1.21 Findings of immunohistochemical staining using D2-40 monoclonal antibody for pelvic peritoneum from patients with gastric cancer. Gastric cancer cells pro-

vessels

liferate in the flat type (Left) and protruded type of initial lymphatic vessels (Right)







Fig. 1.23 Metastatic nodules are found on the right diaphragm and Morrison's pouch, but are not detected on the anterior abdominal wall (Left, star). Diaphragmatic lymphatic network stained with 5'-Nase enzyme staining

(Right). Lymphatic plexus is scarce on anterior abdominal wall, but plenty of lymphatic plexuses are detected on the subdiaphragmatic surface



**Fig. 1.24** Diaphragmatic lymphatic system. Left: 5'-Nase enzyme staining shows the connection of holes of macula cribriformis and diaphragmatic initial lymphatic vessels. Middle: Schema of diaphragmatic lymphatic system. Mesothelial gaps that do not connect with initial lymphatic vessel are not called stomata, but those that communicate with initial lymphatic vessels are named

mesothelial stomata. Right: Immunohistochemical staining using D2-40 monoclonal antibody shows the lymphatic stomata and diaphragmatic initial lymphatic vessels. PFCCs are adsorbed through the stomata by negative pressure of inspiration and migrate into the diaphragmatic initial lymphatics



**Fig. 1.25** Lymphatic metastasis from colorectal cancer in diaphragmatic lymphatic vessel (immunohistochemical staining using D2-40 monoclonal antibody)

structures are found. On this special peritoneal area, round or oval shaped structures covered with cuboidal mesothelial cells are detected by SEM (Fig. 1.26). Below the cuboidal mesothelial cells, macula cribriformis is detected (Fig. 1.26, middle). Since the area is frequently involved in PM, and CH40 injected into peritoneal cavity adheres on the area, absorption of CH40 by initial lymphatic vessels is suggested. These results indicate

that the metastasis in the area must be involved by trans-lymphatic metastasis (Fig. 1.26). Translymphatic metastasis is found in gastric, colorectal, and pancreas cancer.

However, lymphatic system in peritoneum covering the rectus abdominis muscle between hypochondrium and semilunar arc is quite different from that of other parts of peritoneal surface. In this area, no initial lymphatic vessels or submesothelial lymphatic plexuses are detected. Lymphatic vessels locate in deep subperitoneal tissue 200  $\mu$ m from the peritoneal surface (Fig. 1.27), and the blood vessels are also scarce. Accordingly, trans-lymphatic metastasis does not develop in the area. The peritoneal area must be involved at the late stage of PM and should be preserved when there is no macroscopic involvement on the sector.

#### 1.4 Mechanisms of Superficial Growing Metastasis

PFCCs from appendiceal mucinous neoplasm (AMN) cannot metastasize through transmesenteric or trans-lymphatic metastasis, because



**Fig. 1.26** Milky spot-like structure detected on the small bowel mesentery in 2 cm from the attachment to small bowel (Left). Below the cuboidal mesothelial cells, holes of macula cribriformis are detected by SEM (Middle).

CH40 injected into peritoneal cavity adheres on the peritoneal area, suggesting absorption of CH40 by initial lymphatic vessels (Right)



**Fig. 1.27** Lymphatic vessels of anterior abdominal wall between hypochondrium and semilunar arc. Lymphatic vessels are located 200  $\mu$ m from the peritoneal surface (Left). Lymphatic vessels and blood vessels in falciform ligament located just below the mesothelial cells (Right). Upper left: Lymphatic vessels of anterior abdominal wall

PFCCs of AMN are large and covered with mucinous material (Fig. 1.28). They cannot migrate into the submesothelial tissue or initial lymphatics (Fig. 1.29).

stained with D2-40 monoclonal antibody. Upper right: Lymphatic vessels of falciform ligament, stained with D2-40 monoclonal antibody. Lower left: Blood vessels of anterior abdominal wall, stained with CD31 monoclonal antibody. Lower right: Blood vessels of falciform ligament, stained with CD31 monoclonal antibody

However, AMN can establish PM in dependent areas such as on the pelvis, subdiaphragmatic surface, and greater omentum. They also grow in the pocket-like structure of omental



Fig. 1.28 Peritoneal free cancer cells of appendiceal mucinous neoplasm. Neoplastic cells are covered with mucinous material and the diameter is several hundred micrometers (Left, Alcian blue staining). Neoplastic

cells show high proliferative activity (Right, Immunohistochemical staining using MIB-1 monoclonal antibody)

**Fig. 1.29** Mechanism of superficial growing metastasis. Peritoneal free cancer cells from appendiceal mucinous neoplasm attach on the pelvic peritoneum by the interaction of mucinous material and adhesion molecules (CD44) expressed on mesothelial cells and/or by gravity



bursa (inferior and superior recess of omental bursa), intersigmoid recesses, recesses in duodeno-jejunal folds, and ileocecal fossa.

A large volume of mucinous materials with tumor cells accumulates on the dependent peritoneal parts as a result of peritoneal fluid resorption by the negative pressure of initial lymphatic vessels and/or gravity [79, 83].

PFCCs of AMN attach on the pelvic peritoneal surface by gravity or by the interaction of adhesion molecules on the mesothelial cells and mucinous materials. As shown in Fig. 1.30, mucinous material attaches on the paravesical fossa, and immunohistochemical staining with CD31 shows newly formed vasculature in the mucinous material without epithelial cells. These results strongly suggest that angiogenesis factors released from mucinous materials induce angiogenesis in the mucinous stroma.

Figure 1.31 shows the metastasis on the surface of ovary by AMN. HE staining shows lowgrade mucinous neoplasm growing on the surface of ovary (Fig. 1.31, upper left). Angiogenesis from the preexisting ovarian vasculature and epithelial cells in the proliferating phase (positive stain by MIB-1 antibody) are found.

On the omental surface, PFCCs with mucinous materials from AMN are adsorbed on OMS,



**Fig. 1.30** Mucinous material without epithelial cells accumulates on paravesical fossa (Left). HE staining of the vertical section of the bar in left photograph (Middle).

Immunohistochemical staining using anti-CD31 monoclonal antibody shows newly formed vasculature (Right)



**Fig. 1.31** Superficial growing metastasis on ovarium from appendiceal mucinous neoplasm (AMN) (Upper left). AMN growing on the surface of ovary with production of mucinous material, and the neoplastic cells grow on the ovarian surface showing pushing invasion into the corpus of

ovary (Upper right). Newly formed vasculatures from preexisting ovarian blood vessel are found (Immunohistological staining (HIS) using anti-CD31 Mab) (Left lower). Right lower photograph shows proliferative activities of tumor cells (IHS using MIB-1 mAb)

and many flat mucinous spots are found on the OMS (Fig. 1.32, left). HE staining shows three layers, consisting of a metastatic layer, inflammatory layer between metastatic layer and omen-

tum, and normal omentum (Fig. 1.32, middle, and Fig. 1.33). Inflammatory layer shows CD34-positive interstitial tissues. CD34 is a glycoprotein expressed on interstitial stem cells and



**Fig. 1.32** Superficial growing metastasis on greater omentum from appendiceal mucinous neoplasm (AMN). Flat mucinous spots adsorbed on the greater omentum (Left). AMN growing on the surface of omentum with

production of mucinous material. Three layers, named metastatic layer, inflammatory layer, and omentum (Middle). Newly formed vasculatures from omental blood vessel are found (IHS using anti-CD31 MAb) (Right)



Fig. 1.33 Three layers of superficial growing metastasis on the omentum. Inflammatory layer shows strong immunoreactivity against CD34 mAb (IHS using anti-CD34

mAb, Left). Immunohistochemical staining using MIB-1 Mab shows many positive staining on the nuclei of neoplastic cells from appendiceal mucinous neoplasm

immature vascular endothelial cells [83]. CD34 inhibits the maturation of the tissue, and disappears after the tissue maturation completes. Vascular neogenesis in the metastatic layer may be induced from the preexisting omental blood capillaries by the modulation of inflammatory layer. From these results, PFCCs proliferate on the peritoneal surface.

Figure 1.34 shows the mesothelioma growing on the ovarian surface. There is no inflammatory layer, but newly formed blood vessels extending from preexisting ovarian vessels are found in the stroma. Angiogenesis factors from mesothelioma induce vascular neogenesis and proliferate on the peritoneal surface without invasion into the subperitoneal tissue.

This metastasis pattern is named superficial growing metastasis and PM from appendiceal and ovarian, mucinous neoplasms, mesothelioma, granulose cell tumor, and multicystic mesothelioma is established by superficial growing metastasis [15, 84] (Fig. 1.35).

Surgeons should understand the mechanisms of the peritoneal metastasis formation and perform peritonectomy in accordance with the biological malignancy and metastatic pattern of each tumor.



Fig. 1.34 IHS using D2-40 mAb shows mesothelioma growing on the surface of ovary (Left). Newly formed vasculature extends from preexisting ovarian vessels

(Middle). Many blood vessels are found in the superficial growing metastasis (Right)



Fig. 1.35 Schema of the mechanism of superficial growing metastasis [85]

#### References

- Jayne D. Molecular biology of peritoneal carcinomatosis. In: Ceelen WP, editor. Cancer treatment and research. New York: Springer; 2007. p. 21–31.
- Yonemura Y, Canbay E, Liu Y, et al. Trans-lymphatic metastasis in peritoneal dissemination. J Gastroint Dig Syst. 2013;S12. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-069X.S12-007.
- Sugarbaker PH. Observation concerning cancer spread within the peritoneal cavity and concepts supporting an ordered pathophysiology. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: a multidisciplinary approach. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publisher; 1997. p. 79–100.

- Schneeberger EE, Lynch RD. The tight junction: a multifunctional complex. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2004;286:C1213–28.
- Murakami T, Felinski EA, Antonetti DA. Occludin phosphorylation and ubiquitination regulation tight junction trafficking and endothelial growth factor-induced permeability. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(31):21036–46.
- Kuo WL, Lee LY, Wu CM, et al. Differential expression of claudin-4 between intestinal and diffuse-type gastric cancer. Oncol Rep. 2005;16:729–34.
- Ohotani S, Terashima M, Satoh J, et al. Expression of tight-junction-associated proteins in human gastric cancer. Downregulation of claudin-4 correlates with tumor aggressiveness and survival. Gastric Cancer. 2009;12:43–51.

- Pokutta S, Herrenknecht K, Kemler R, Engel J. Conformational changes of the recombinant extracellular domain of E-cadherin upon calcium binding. Eur J Biochem. 1994;223:1019–26.
- Gooding JM, Yap KL, Ikura M. The cadherin-catenin complex as a focal point of cell adhesion and signaling: new insights from three-dimensional structures. Bioessays. 2004;26:497–511.
- Halbleib JM, Nelson WJ. Cadherins in development: cell adhesion, sorting, and tissue morphogenesis. Genes Dev. 2006;20:3199–214.
- Shimoyama Y, Hirohashi S. Expression of E- and P-cadherin in gastric carcinoma. Cancer Res. 1991;51:2185–92.
- Yasui W, Kuniyasu H, Akama Y, et al. Expression of E-cadherin, α- and β-catenins in human gastric carcinoma: correlation with histology and tumor progression. Oncol Rep. 1995;2:111–7.
- Yasui W, Sano T, Nishimura K, et al. Expression of P-cadherin in gastric carcinomas and its reduction in tumor progression. Int J Cancer. 1993;54:49–52.
- Khoursheed MA, Mathew TC, Makar PR, et al. Expression of E-cadherin in human colorectal cancer. Surgeon. 2003;1:86–91.
- Dorudi S, Sheffield JP, Poulsom R, et al. E-cadherin expression in colorectal cancer. An immunohistochemical and in situ hybridization study. Am J Pathol. 1993;142(2):981–5.
- 16. Dangerfield J, Larbi KY, Huang MT, et al. PECAM-1 (CD31) homophilic interaction up-regulates alpha6 beta 1 on transmigrated neutrophils in vivo and plays a functional role in the ability of alpha 6 integrins to mediate leukocyte migration through the perivascular basement membrane. J Exp Med. 2002;196:1201–11.
- O'Leary R, Gill A, et al. A three-dimensional in-vitro model for the study of peritoneal tumour metastasis. Clin Exp Metastasis. 1999;17:515–23.
- Dejana E, Breviario F, Caveda L. Leukocyteendothelial cell adhesive receptor. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 1994;12(Suppl 10):S25–8.
- Kroon J, Schaefer A, van Rijssel J, et al. Inflammationsensitive myosin-X functionally supports leukocytes extravasation by Cdc42-mediated IAM-1-rich endothelial filopodia formation. J Immunol. 2018;200(5):1790–101.
- Klein CL, Bittinger F, Skarke CC, et al. Effect of cytokines on the expression of cell adhesion molecules by cultured human omental mesothelial cells. Pathobiology. 1995;63:204–12.
- Van Marck V, Stove C, van den Boosche K, et al. P-cadherin promotes cell-cell adhesion and counteracts invasion in human melanoma. Cancer Res. 2005;65(19):8774–83.
- Usui A, Ko SY, Barengo N, et al. P-cadherin promotes ovarian cancer dissemination through tumor cell aggregation and tumor-peritoneal interactions. Mol Cancer Res. 2014;12(4):504–13.
- 23. Hirano H, Screaton GR, Bell MV, et al. CD44 isoform expression mediated by alternative splicing:

tissue-specific regulation in mice. Int Immunol. 1994;6(1):49–59.

- 24. Harada N, Mizoi T, Kinouchi M, et al. Introduction of antisense CD44 CDNA down-regulates expression of overall CD44 isoforms and inhibits tumor growth and metastasis in highly metastatic colon cancer carcinoma cells. Int J Cancer. 2001;91:67–75.
- 25. Koyama T, Yashiro M, Inoue T, et al. TGF-beta secreted by gastric fibroblasts up-regulates CD44H expression and stimulates the peritoneal metastatic ability of scirrhous gastric cancer cells. Int J Oncol. 2000;16:355–62.
- 26. Chhieng DC, Yee H, Cangiarella JF, et al. Use of E-cadherin and CD44 aids in the differentiation between reactive mesothelial cells and carcinoma cells in pelvic washing. Cancer. 2000;90:299–306.
- Nakamori S, Furukawa Y, Hiratsuka M, et al. Expression of carbohydrate antigen sialyl Le(a): a new functional prognostic factor in gastric cancer. J Clin Oncol. 1997;15:816–25.
- Sanusi AA, Zweers MM, Weening JJ, et al. Expression of cancer antigen by peritoneal mesothelial cells is not influenced by duration of peritoneal dialysis. Perit Dial Int. 2001;21(5):495–500.
- 29. Scholler N, Urban N. CA124 in ovarian cancer. Biomarker Med. 2007;1(4):513–23.
- Hassan R, Ho M. Mesothelin targeted immunotherapy. Eur J Cancer. 2008;44:46–53.
- Stoeck A, Schlich S, Issa Y, et al. L1 on ovarian carcinoma cells is a binding partner for neuropilin-1 on mesothelial cells. Cancer Lett. 2005;8:212–26.
- 32. Friedli A, Fischer E, Novak-Hofer I, et al. The soluble form of the cancer-associated L1 cell adhesion molecules is a pro-angiogenic factor. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2009;41:1572–80.
- Bird SD. Mesothelial primary cilia of peritoneal other serosal surface. Cell Biol Int. 2004;28:151–9.
- 34. Saed GM, Zhang W, Chegini N, et al. Alteration of type I and III collagen expression in human peritoneal mesothelial cells in response to hypoxia and transforming growth factor-beta1. Wound Repair Regen. 1999;7:504–10.
- Yao V, Plattell C, Hall JC. Peritoneal mesothelial cells inflammatory related cytokines. ANZ J Surg. 2004;74(11):997–1002.
- 36. Akedo H, Shinkai K, Mukai M, et al. Interaction of rat ascites hepatoma cells with cultured mesothelial cell layers: a model for tumor invasion. Cancer Res. 1986;46:2416–22.
- Jayn DG, O'Leary R, Gill A, et al. A three-dimensional in-vitro model for the study of peritoneal tumor metastasis. Clin Exp Metastasis. 1999;17:515–23.
- 38. Lanfrancone L, Boraschi D, Ghiara P, et al. Human peritoneal mesothelial cells produce many cytokines (granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (CSF), granulocyte-monocyte-CSF, macrophage-CSF, interleukin-1, and IL-6) and are activated and stimulated to grow by IL-1. Blood. 1992;80(11):2835–42.
- 39. Hight-Warburton W, Parsons M. Regulation of cell migration by  $\alpha 4$  and  $\alpha 9$  integrins. Biochem

J. 2019;476(4):705–18. https://doi.org/10.1042/ BCJ20180415.

- Yonemura Y, Endou Y, Tamaguchi T, et al. Roles of VLA-2 and VLA-3 on the formation of peritoneal dissemination in gastric cancer. Int J Oncol. 1996;8:925–31.
- Kawamura T, Endo Y, Yonemura Y, et al. Significance of integrin alpha2/beta1 in peritoneal dissemination of a human gastric cancer xenograft model. Int J Oncol. 2001;18:809–15.
- 42. Casey RC, Skubitz AP. CD44 and beta1 integrins mediate ovarian carcinoma cell migration toward extracellular matrix proteins. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2000;18:67–75.
- 43. Pan Y, Bi F, Liu Y, et al. Expression of seven main Rho family members in gastric carcinoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2004;315:686–91.
- 44. Selinfreund RH, Barger SW, Welsh MJ, et al. Antisense inhibition of glial S100 beta production results in alteration in cell morphology, cytoskeletal organization, and cell proliferation. J Cell Biol. 1990;111:2021–8.
- 45. Kim EJ, Helman DM. Characterization of the metastasis-associated protein, S100 A4. Roles of calcium binding and dimerization in cellular localization and interaction with myosin. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:30063–73.
- 46. Yonemura Y, Endou Y, Kimura K, et al. Inverse expression of S100A4 and E-cadherin is associated with metastatic potential in gastric cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2000;6:4234–42.
- Moriyama M, Endou Y, Yonemura Y, et al. S100A4 regulates E-cadherin expression in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Lett. 2005;230:211–8.
- Warn R, Harveay P, Warn A, et al. HGF/SF induces mesothelial cell migration and proliferation by autocrine paracrine pathways. Exp Cell Res. 2001;267:258–66.
- Itoh K, Yoshioka K, Akedo H, et al. An essential part for rho-associated linease in the transcellular invasion of tumor cells. Nat Med. 1999;5:221–5.
- Taniguchi K, Yonemura Y, Nojima N, et al. The relation between the growth patterns of gastric carcinoma and the expression of hepatocyte growth factor receptor (c-met). Autocrine motility factor receptor and urokinase-type plasminogen receptor. Cancer. 1998;82:2112–22.
- 51. Van Grevenstein WM, Hofland LJ, Marquet RL, et al. The expression of adhesion molecules and the influence of inflammatory cytokines on the adhesion of human pancreatic carcinoma cells to mesothelial monolayers. Pancreas. 2006;32:39–402.
- 52. Smyth EC, Scafani F, Cunningham D. Emerging molecular targets in oncology: clinical potential of MET/hepatocyte growth-factor inhibitors. Onco Targets Ther. 2014;12(7):1001–10014.
- Baron MA. Structure of intestinal peritoneum in man. Am J Anat. 1941;69:439–97.
- Jain RK. Barrier to drug delivery in solid tumors. Sci Am. 1994;7:42–9.

- Paulsson M. Basement membrane proteins: structure, assembly, and cellular interaction. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol. 1992;27(1–2):93–127.
- 56. Arikawa-Hasegawa E, Le AH, Nihino I, et al. Structure and functional mutations of the perlecan gene cause Schwartz-Jampel syndrome with myotonic myopathy and chondrodysplasia. Am J Hum Genet. 2002;70(5):1368–75.
- Yonemura Y, Nojima N, Kaji M, et al. E-cadherin and urokinase-type plasminogen activator tissue status in gastric cancer. Cancer. 1995;76:941–53.
- Ossowski L, Reich E. Antibodies to plasminogen activator inhibit human tumor metastasis. Cell. 1980;50:527–35.
- Noguchi-Takino M, Endou Y, Yonemura Y, et al. Relation between expression of plasminogen activator system and metastatic ability in human cancer. Int J Oncol. 1994;8:97–105.
- 60. Itoh H, Yonemura Y, Fujita H, et al. Prognostic relevance of urokinase-type plasminogen activator system and plasminogen activator PAI-1 and PAI-2 in gastric cancer. Virchows Arch. 1996;427:487–96.
- Zhao L, Yasumoto K, Kawashima A, et al. Paracrine activation of MET promotes peritoneal carcinomatosis in scirrhous gastric cancer. Cancer Sci. 2013;104(12):1640–6.
- Poincloux R, Lizarraga F, Chavrier P. Matrix invasion by tumor cells: a focus on MT1-MMP trafficking to invadopodia. J Cell Sci. 2009;122:3015–24.
- 63. Liu G, Xiong D, Xiao R, et al. Prognostic role of fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 in human solid tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Tumor Biol. 2017;39(6):101042831770744. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1010428317707424.
- 64. Katoh M, Hattori Y, Sasaki H, et al. K-sam gene encodes secreted as well as transmembrane receptor tyrosin kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1992;89:2960–4.
- Toyokawa T, Yashiro M, Hirakawa K. Co-expression of keratinocyte growth factor and K-sam is an independent prognostic factor in gastric cancer. Oncol Rep. 2009;21:875–80.
- 66. Hisamatsu Y, Oki E, Otsu H, et al. Effect of EGFR and p-AKT overexpression on chromosomal instability in gastric cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(6):1986–92. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-016-5097-3. Epub 4 Feb 2016.
- Zhenfang DU, Christine M. Mechanisms of receptor tyrosine kinase activation in cancer. Mol Cancer. 2018;17(1):58. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12943-018-0782-4.
- 68. Yonemura Y, Sugiyama K, Fushida S, et al. Tissue status of epidermal growth factor and its receptor as an indicator of poor prognosis in patients with gastric cancer. Anal Cell Pathol. 1991;3:343–50.
- 69. Sachs M, Brohmann H, Zechner D, et al. Essential role of Gab1 for signaling by the c-met receptor in vivo. J Cell Biol. 2000;150:1375–84.
- 70. Mac PC, Jagadeeswaran R, Jagadeesh S, et al. Functional expression and mutation of c-Met and its

therapeutic inhibitor with SU11274 and small interfering RNA in non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Res. 2005;65:1479–788.

- Kuniyasu H, Yasui W, Kitadai Y, et al. Frequent amplification of the c-met gene in scirrhous type stomach cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1992;189:227–32.
- Puri N, Khramtsov A, Ahmed S, et al. A selective small molecule inhibitor of c-Met, PHA665752, inhibits tumorigenicity and angiogenesis in mouse lung cancer xenograft. Cancer Res. 2007;67:3529–34.
- Goldoni S, Humphries A, Nystrom A, et al. Decorin is a novel antagonistic ligand of the Met receptor. J Cell Biol. 2009;18:743–54.
- Ke Q, Costa M. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1). Mol Pharmacol. 2006;70:1469–80.
- Thurston Q. Role of angiopoietins and Tie receptor tyrosin kinases in angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Cell Tissue Res. 2003;314:61–8.
- Bobik A, Tkachuk V. Metalloproteinases and plasminogen activators in vessel remodeling. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2003;5:466–72.
- 77. Ninomiya S, Inomata M, Tajima M, et al. Effect of bevacizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody to vascular endothelial growth factor on peritoneal metastasis of MKN-45P human gastric cancer in mice. J Surg Res. 2009;15:196–202.
- Yonemura Y. Trans-lymphatic metastasis. In: Yonemura Y, editor. Atlas and principles of peritonectomy for peritoneal surface malignancy. Kyoto: NPO to Support Peritoneal Surface Malignancy; 2012. p. 188–206. ISBN: 978-4-9906097-0-2.
- 79. Yonemura Y, Canbay E, Endou Y, et al. Mechanisms of the formation of peritoneal surface malignancy

on omental milky spots from low grade appendiceal mucinous carcinoma. J Clin Exp Oncol. 2014;3:3. https://doi.org/10.4172/2324-9110.1000130.

- 80. Tsujimoto H, Takhashi T, Hagiwara A, et al. Sitespecific implantation in the milky spots of malignant cells in peritoneal dissemination: immunohistochemical observation in mice inoculated intraperitoneally with bromodeoxyuridine-labeled cells. Br J Cancer. 1995;71:468–72.
- Shimotsuma M, Takahashi T, Kawata M, Dux K. Cellular subset of the milky spots in the human greater omentum. Cell Tissue Res. 1991;264:599–601.
- Yokota T, Saito T, Harushima Y, et al. Lymph-node staining with activated carbon CH40: a new method for axillary lymph node dissection in breast cancer. JCC. 1999;43(3):191–6.
- Diaz-Flores L, Gutierrez R, Garcia MP, et al. CD34+ stromal cells/fibroblasts/fibrocytes/telocytes as a tissue reserve and principal source of mesenchymal cells. Location, morphology, function and role in pathology. Histol Histopathol. 2014;29:831–70.
- 84. Yonemura Y, Canbay E, Sako S, et al. Multicystic mesothelioma has malignant potential: its grounds and mechanisms of peritoneal metastasis. J Periton (and Other Serosal Surface). 2017;2(52):21–6.
- 85. Yonemura Y. Peritoneum tends to be involved by cancer cells. In: Yonemura Y, editor. Comprehensive treatment for peritoneal surface malignancy with an intent of cure. Kyoto: NPO to Support Peritoneal Surface Malignancy & Asian School of Peritoneal Surface Malignancy Treatment; 2018. p. 38–55. ISBN: 978-409906097-3-3.



2

# Extent of Peritoneal Resection for Peritoneal Metastases: Inferences from Pathophysiology

Aditi Bhatt and Olivier Glehen

#### 2.1 Background and Introduction

It has been shown that surgical resection of the peritoneal metastases (PM) leads to an increased survival and cure in selected patients [1, 2]. One of the most important prognostic factors affecting the outcomes of this surgery is complete tumor removal or a complete cytoreduction [3]. The prognostic impact of complete resection has been established irrespective of the primary tumor site and disease extent [4, 5].

In most cancer surgeries, the goal is complete resection of the macroscopic disease [6]. For most primary tumors, the extent of surgical resection to be performed is predefined in terms of anatomical extent. A varying proportion of the surrounding normal tissue is excised to account for microscopic disease [7, 8]. For example, for a colonic primary, 5 cm of normal bowel is resected on both sides of the primary tumor [9]. Similarly, for metastatic disease to the liver, the goal of surgery is resection of the tumor(s) with 1 mm margins or free margins [10, 11]. Contrary to this, the goal of surgery for peritoneal metastases is complete removal of macroscopic disease. There is no consensus or guideline on the extent of the surrounding peritoneum that needs to be removed. This is partly because though considered locoregional disease, peritoneal metastases present as multiple nodules scattered over one or more areas of the peritoneum [12, 13].

The peritoneum is now considered an organ with its own blood supply, lymphatic drainage, and innervation [14]. Peritoneal metastases can give rise to secondary lymph node metastases. There is no consensus on the extent of lymphadenectomy to be performed for most PM except in case of peritoneal mesothelioma [15].

Broadly cytoreductive surgery (CRS) for peritoneal metastases is divided into peritonectomy procedures and visceral resections [16]. Peritonectomy procedures usually comprise of the five peritonectomies described by Paul Sugarbaker that comprise of resection of various portions of the parietal and visceral peritoneum (Table 2.1) [18]. These divisions and resections are largely anatomical and based on the disease distribution seen in pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP) termed as the "redistribution phenomenon" [19]. Involvement of one region of the peritoneum merits performing a resection of that region of the peritoneum irrespective of the number and size of deposits [20]. Whereas the anatomical extent of each peritonectomy has

O. Glehen, A. Bhatt (eds.), *Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases*,

A. Bhatt

Department of Surgical Oncology, Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

O. Glehen (🖂)

Department of Surgical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Lyon-Sud, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Lyon, France e-mail: olivier.glehen@chu-lyon.fr

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

Peritonectomy	
procedures	Structures included
Anterior parietal	Old abdominal incisions,
peritonectomy	umbilicus, epigastric fat pad
Right upper quadrant	Glisson's capsule
peritonectomy	
Left upper quadrant	Greater omentum and spleen
peritonectomy	
Pelvic peritonectomy	Uterus, ovaries, and
	rectosigmoid colon
Omental bursectomy	Gall bladder and lesser
	omentum

**Table 2.1** The five peritonectomies described by Sugarbaker (from Ref. [17] with permission)

been defined, it is not known whether resecting the peritoneum in this manner is needed for peritoneal metastases from other primary tumors in which the mechanisms and patterns of peritoneal dissemination are different. For some tumors, it is possible that only focal resection is sufficient.

To determine the extent of resection of surrounding tissue for any tumor, the mechanisms of tumor development and spread, the morphology of the tumor, the possibility of finding disease in the surrounding normal tissue, and the pattern of lymph node metastases should be known. This is followed by a study of the patterns of recurrence and the impact of varying extent of resection on survival.

In this chapter, we look at the above factors in relation to peritoneal metastases from some common primary tumors to determine the scientific basis of the extent of peritonectomy needed for these primary tumors and the extent of accompanying lymph node dissection that should be performed.

#### 2.1.1 Evolution of Peritoneal Surface Oncology

The development of peritoneal surface oncology has occurred due to a better understanding of the disease biology and development of complex surgical techniques to remove peritoneal tumor deposits. The increase in understanding of the disease biology has occurred hand in hand with the evolution of these complex surgical procedures [21]. Over the years, clinicians have started treating peritoneal metastases as one disease entity. As pointed out by David Bartlett, this is because patients are symptomatic more often from peritoneal metastases and surgeons are called upon to manage these symptoms that severely bring down the quality of life [22].

The initial years were spent controlling the morbidity of surgery that was often accompanied by some form of intraperitoneal chemotherapy instillation and searching for prognostic factors to both quantify the benefit of the surgical procedure and select patients for surgery [23–25].

Most of the peritoneal tumors are secondary to other primaries with only a small proportion arising de novo from the peritoneum.

Peritoneal metastases arising from different primary tumors differ not only in biological behavior but also have different patterns of distribution in the peritoneal cavity and morphology of tumor nodules [12].

Thus, though the goal of CRS remains the same for all tumors, the extent of surrounding peritoneum that needs to be resected should vary.

#### 2.2 Pathophysiology of Peritoneal Metastases and Its Clinical Implications

#### 2.2.1 Peritoneal Metastatic Cascade

The development of peritoneal metastases has been described at length in existing scientific literature. Some of these reports are based on clinical observations, expression of different molecular markers, or from experimental studies. The evolution of PM is summarized in Fig. 2.1.

Peritoneal metastases arise in one of the following ways:

- 1. Dissemination from a primary tumor (gastric, colonic, and appendiceal tumors)
- 2. Primary tumor of the peritoneum (peritoneal mesothelioma, serous papillary adenocarcinoma)
- 3. Independent origins of the primary tumor and peritoneal implants (ovarian low malignant potential tumors, serous papillary peritoneal adenocarcinoma) [26]


Fig. 2.1 Evolution of peritoneal metastases—pathways of dissemination, intraperitoneal disease distribution, and morphological presentation

In 1931, Sampson first described the "life history of metastatic peritoneal implants" from an ovarian primary tumor which occurs in the following sequence: (1) escape of the cancer cells from the primary ovarian tumor into the peritoneal cavity, (2) migration of these cells to their site of implantation, (3) reaction of the peritoneal surface injured by the cancer cells so that fixation of the cancer in fibrin and organization of the fibrin occurs, and (4) progression of the cancerous implant at that site [27].

Cancer cells reach the site of implantation through three routes—transcoelomic or transmesothelial spread, translymphatic spread, and hematogenous spread. In the first two routes, single cells or clusters of cells are shed from the tumor spontaneously, due to surgical manipulation or spontaneous or iatrogenic rupture and thus gain access to the peritoneal cavity [28, 29].

In transmesothelial spread, cells then attach to the peritoneum, breach the mesothelial barrier and gain access to the submesothelial tissue and thereafter, proliferation is triggered (Fig. 2.2) [30].

The second route is the translymphatic route in which the tumor cells gain access to the sub-

peritoneal tissue through the lymphatic stomata. Anatomical regions in the peritoneal cavity with a high concentration of lymphatic stomata are the greater omentum, appendices epiploicae of the colon, inferior surface of the diaphragm, falciform ligament, Douglas pouch, and small bowel mesentery [31, 32]. These regions are also rich in milky spots and therefore, common sites of peritoneal cancer spread [32]. The peritoneum covering the liver, serosa of the small bowel, and splenic capsule are devoid of these stomata and are therefore, involvement of these regions occurs in a very late stage of peritoneal cancer spread. Importantly, spread to distant regions of the peritoneal cavity is possible even in the absence of a carrier like ascitic fluid in translymphatic spread. It may be one route of rapid dissemination of peritoneal disease.

Some low-grade tumors like low-grade mucinous appendiceal tumors produce superficial deposits that do not infiltrate the mesothelial layer and are called "superficial growing metastases." One tumor may employ one or more of these pathways of peritoneal dissemination. In mucinous appendiceal tumors, the translymphatic pathway is employed while in gastric and



**Fig. 2.2** Diagramatic respresentation of transmesothelial spread in colorectal cancer. Tumor cells are shed from a primary in the colon and reach the subperitoneal space breaching the mesothelial barrier. (Adapted from Ref. [30] with permission)

colorectal cancer, both translymphatic and transmesothelial pathways are employed [33].

# 2.2.2 Distribution of Disease in the Peritoneal Cavity

The actual distribution of disease in the peritoneal cavity differs for tumors that employ the same pathways and this may be attributed to the inherent disease biology. For example, the translymphatic pathway is employed by appendiceal mucinous tumors giving rise to pseudomyxoma peritonei and also by the more aggressive cancers like gastric and colorectal cancer. In the former, the development of peritoneal metastases follows the flow of peritoneal fluid (the redistribution phenomenon) and the commonest disease sites are the pouch of Douglas, omentum, undersurfaces of the diaphragms, the falciform ligament, and the small bowel mesentery [34]. In contrast, such distribution is not seen in colorectal and gastric cancers in which proximal random distribution occurs and PM develop first in the vicinity of the primary tumor and then at other sites [17]. Three patterns of distribution of peritoneal metastases in the peritoneal cavity have been identified and described [17, 26].

#### 1. Random proximal distribution (RPD)

This pattern is typical of moderate-grade and high-grade cancers, such as adenocarcinomas and carcinoids of the appendix, nonmucinous colorectal cancer, and gastric cancer. In these tumors, there is early peritoneal implantation of tumor cells due to the presence of adhesion molecules on their surface and implantation occurs even in the presence of ascites. Peritoneal metastases typically develop in the vicinity of the primary tumor (Fig. 2.3).

2. Complete redistribution (CRD)

This distribution is typical of pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP) and diffuse malignant mesothelioma in which there is no adhesion to the peritoneal surface close to the primary tumor, due to the low biologic aggressiveness of tumor cells. The typical pattern of redistribution that is described above is seen (Fig. 2.4).

3. Widespread cancer distribution (WCD)

This biological behavior is found in aggressive and undifferentiated tumors such as high-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei arising from an appendiceal primary tumor, mucinous colorectal cancer, and mucinous



**Fig. 2.3** Proximal random distribution. Tumor cells shed from the primary tumor implant in the vicinity of the primary tumor

ovarian cancer [35]. In these tumors, there is presence of adhesion molecules on the surface of cancer cells that produce a great amount of mucus, interfering with early cell adhesion. Deraco et al. have classified the pattern of distribution from various primary tumors as described in Table 2.2.

#### 2.2.2.1 Epithelial Ovarian Cancer

Though a lot has been published about development of peritoneal metastases in ovarian cancer, there is no clarity on the type of disease distribution. Epithelial ovarian cancer comprises of five biological different subtypes. Even in the serous subtype, that is the prototype for peritoneal dissemination, there are low-grade and high-grade tumors that are genetically and biologically different [36]. Transmesothelial spread is considered to be main pathway of peritoneal spread in ovarian cancer [27]. It has been proposed that



**Fig. 2.4** The "redistribution" phenomenon. Tumor dissemination from a perforated appendiceal tumor showing the pattern of redistribution. Tumor deposits are seen in the pelvis, right subphrenic region, omentum, and right paracolic gutter

high-grade serous ovarian cancer can spread by the hematogenous route to the peritoneum but conclusive evidence is lacking [37].

Though Deraco et al. have described the dissemination in serous ovarian cancer as random proximal, unlike colorectal and gastric cancer, the parietal peritoneum is involved first in serous cancer and visceral involvement comes after most regions of the parietal peritoneum have been involved. The disease distribution follows the flow of peritoneal fluid and certain sites are more commonly involved like the pelvis, hemidiaphragms, and omentum [26]. These regions are the dependent regions of the peritoneal cavity where absorption of peritoneal fluid occurs and also have a greater concentration of lymphatics.

Our preliminary study showed that small bowel involvement occurred after involvement of the diaphragmatic peritoneum [38]. This was in contrast to colorectal cancer where small bowel

The 'redistribution' phenomenon

		Random proximal	Complete	Widespread cancer
Histological subtype	Current classification	distribution	redistribution	distribution
Pseudomyxoma peritonei	LGMCP		+	
Appendix cancer		·		
Cystadenocarcinoma G1	LGMCP/HGMCP		+	
	HGMCP/MAC			+
Adenocarcinoma	Non-mucinous	+		
	adenocarcinoma			
Carcinoid	Carcinoid	+		
Colorectal cancer				
Mucinous	Mucinous			+
adenocarcinoma G1,2,3	adenocarcinoma G1,2,3			
Intestinal	Non-mucinous	+		
	adenocarcinoma			
Gastric cancer				
Diffuse	Diffuse	+		
Intestinal	Intestinal	+		
Ovarian cancer				
Serous	Serous	+		
Mucinous	Mucinous			+
Diffuse malignant	Diffuse malignant		+	
mesothelioma	mesothelioma			

**Table 2.2** Intraperitoneal distribution of peritoneal metastases arising from various primary tumors (adapted from Ref. [26] with permission)

Abbreviations: *LGMCP* low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei, *HGMCP* high-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei, *MAC* mucinous adenocarcinoma, *G* grade

involvement often occurred without the involvement of the subphrenic peritoneum.

There are primary peritoneal tumors like primary peritoneal serous carcinoma that has a polyclonal origin and thus, disease is found on all peritoneal surfaces, but even in this tumor, the parietal peritoneum is the first site to develop disease.

# 2.2.3 Implications of Mechanism of Peritoneal Dissemination on Surgical Resection

Most surgeons do not have different surgical policies for different tumors.

Deraco et al., at the National Cancer Institute, Milan, perform a selective parietal peritonectomy that comprises of resection of

macroscopically involved regions for limited peritoneal spread from tumors having a RPD pattern of dissemination like colorectal, gastric, and ovarian cancer [39]. Contrary to this, a complete parietal peritonectomy is performed for peritoneal carcinomatosis characterized by the CRD or WCD patterns. Patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma and PMP undergo a complete resection of the parietal peritoneum along with greater and lesser omenta even in the presence of localized disease. In a retrospective study of patients undergoing CRS for peritoneal mesothelioma at this center, the authors showed a benefit in overall survival in patients undergoing complete parietal peritonectomy compared to those undergoing selective parietal peritonectomy and complete parietal peritonectomy was an independent predictor of a longer overall survival [40].

Our recommendation for ovarian cancer is different as we believe that the distribution is not like colorectal and gastric cancer, but is widespread cancer distribution and hence we recommend more extensive peritoneal resection for these tumors. One retrospective study showed that there might be a role for complete parietal peritonectomy in serous epithelial ovarian cancer and primary peritoneal serous cancer but once again the evidence is preliminary [41]. Thus, there is likely to be a role for resection of normal, uninvolved regions for peritoneal metastases from certain primary tumors.

# 2.2.4 Morphology of Peritoneal Deposits and Morphological Evolution of Peritoneal Metastases

While the rationale for the extent of peritonectomy depends on the mode of dissemination and the disease distribution, the tumor morphology plays a role as well. There is variation in morphology of PM in different peritoneal regions and in PM arising from different primary sites.

Some tumors form isolated deposits and the surrounding peritoneum is usually free of disease. In other situation, microscopic disease is present in the surrounding peritoneum even when the peritoneum itself looks grossly normal. In patients with more extensive disease, the tumor deposits become confluent. One retrospective study found disease in normal peritoneum in 20.4% following neoadjuvant chemotherapy for ovarian cancer [42]. In our multi-centric study, it was seen in 27.2% with ovarian cancer, 12.2% with appendiceal tumors, and 26.6% with peritoneal mesothelioma [38]. Baratti et al. found microscopic disease in 50% of their patients with peritoneal mesothelioma [40].

Our prospective study showed that the PCI did not correlate with the pathological findings in more than 80% of the patients [38].

#### 2.2.4.1 Morphological Evolution of PM

Though the peritoneal metastatic cascade has been studied and described, the morphological evolution has not been studied. It may be presumed that in the early stages of development of peritoneal disease, the peritoneum appears normal. There is no accurate way except pathological evaluation of ruling out disease in the "normal looking" areas of the peritoneum. Surgeons often resect areas like the omentum, falciform ligament, and umbilical round ligament even in the absence of visible disease, expecting microscopic disease in those regions [43].

## 2.2.4.2 Alteration in Morphology After Systemic Chemotherapy

PM present not just as discrete or confluent nodules but also as diffuse thickening and plaques [44]. Many patients receive systemic chemotherapy which alters the morphology of peritoneal deposits. Following a response to chemotherapy, areas harboring PM may become scarred or thickened, result in formation of adhesions or appear absolutely normal (Fig. 2.5) [45]. One study showed that following systemic chemotherapy for advanced ovarian cancer, nearly 15% of the patients had microscopic disease in areas that had a benign appearance [46]. For colorectal cancer, one retrospective study found a higher incidence of pathological complete response than what was predicted by intraoperative evaluation of disease [47]. Many a time, when the surgeon expects disease in a particular region and resects it, there is no tumor on histopathology and vice versa.

It is not possible to determine the presence or absence of disease with frozen section for each region. Innovative methods like 5-aminolevulinic acid guided fluorescence imaging have been used but are expensive and tedious and their value is still uncertain [46].

#### 2.2.4.3 Histological Subtype

Different histological subtypes of the same primary tumor have different morphology and



**Fig. 2.5** Morphological appearance of peritoneal deposits after systemic chemotherapy: (**a**) plaque like deposit in the right subphrenic peritoneum in high-grade serous ovarian cancer; (**b**) deposit in the peritoneum overlying

clinical behavior. Signet ring cell carcinoma presents and behaves differently from mucinous tumors with signet ring cells. The former has a diffuse plaque like appearance and seldom

the retrohepatic IVC in a patient with high-grade serous ovarian cancer; (c) residual plaque like deposits from signet ring cell carcinoma. On histopathological examination, residual disease was seen in areas shown in (a-c)

presents with localized disease. For mucinous carcinomas with signet ring cells, the visual appearance is not significantly different from tumors without signet ring cells (Fig. 2.6).



**Fig. 2.6** Morphological appearance of peritoneal deposits in mucinous and signet ring cell carcinoma. (**a**) Plaque like deposits in pure signet ring cell carcinoma. (**b**) Mucinous tumor with signet ring cells

# 2.2.5 Impact on the Extent of Surgical Resection

This has a bearing on the extent of peritoneal resection that is performed. For few small deposits in the rectouterine space, with no disease elsewhere in the pelvis, the extent of pelvic peritonectomy can vary from one surgeon to another-some may do a wide resection of the nodules or resection of the pouch of Douglas alone or go wider and remove the peritoneum over the bladder or resect the entire pelvic peritoneum including that in the iliac fossae (Fig. 2.7). All these would be considered a CC-0 resection. Whereas more extensive resection may not have much morbidity, resecting less peritoneum may be of consequence for some tumors like ovarian cancer where that normal peritoneum has a high probability of harboring microscopic disease. Contrary to this, for colorectal PM, less extensive resection may be sufficient as demonstrated by one retrospective study [48].

From the above, it may be concluded that the extent of peritonectomy should vary according to the primary tumor site.

Perhaps, the peritoneum is the only site where the extent of surgical resection is defined by the size of residual disease and not anatomically.

# 2.2.6 Resection of Uninvolved Regions

Apart from the extent of peritoneal resection, there are other issues that need to be addressed. Even when gross disease is present, some grey areas exist. For example, when there is presence of gross disease in the infracolic omentum, what is the extent of omentectomy that needs to be performed? Should the gastroepiploic arch be removed or not [49]? The basic information on pattern of disease distribution is not available in scientific literature. In ovarian cancer where the incidence of microscopic disease is high and there is a possibility of omental lymph node involvement, it may be prudent to resect the whole omentum with the arch. The same principle could be applied to mucinous appendiceal tumors with peritoneal dissemination and peritoneal mesothelioma. In others, we do not know. Currently it is not known which patients should have resection of areas like the falciform and round ligaments and omentum in the absence of gross disease. It has been recommended based on the results of one retrospective study that the omentum should be removed even if grossly normal in all patients undergoing CRS for colorectal PM [50]. Similarly, the gall bladder is resected along with the lesser omentum and hepatoduodenal ligament. The reasons for this being the possibility of microscopic disease on the serosal surface and prevention of future development of stones. There is an increased propensity for gall stone formation as a result of cholestasis due to damage to the vagal fibers during resection of the lesser omentum. Rather than trying to determine the extent of resection based on survival data which are influenced by many confounding factors which make it nearly impossible to determine the impact of extent of resection, the surgical principles should



**Fig. 2.7** Variable extent of peritoneal resection that can achieve a complete cytoreduction: (a) deposits in the POD; (b) resection of the entire pelvic peritoneum as

described by Sugarbaker, however, as shown in (c-e), resection of lesser amount of the pelvic peritoneum also comprises a complete cytoreduction

be based on the patterns of disease distribution and morphology as is the case for all other oncological resections. For the extremely low grade tumors like those arising from a mucinous appendiceal neoplasm, it may be acceptable to have residual disease especially when the morbidity is high but not for other tumors.

# 2.2.7 Primary Tumor Type

In addition to the primary tumors described above, sarcomas require specific mention. Though we have no evidence to support this recommendation, perhaps resection of normal regions like the omentum, falciform, and round ligament is not needed in sarcomas. Secondly, ovarian tumors should not be treated as one entity. Even among the epithelial tumors, the serous and non-serous subtypes are clinically and biologically different. The non-epithelial tumors should be treated differently from the epithelial tumors.

# 2.2.8 Lymphadenectomy in Addition to Cytoreductive Surgery

Lymph node metastases can arise secondary to peritoneal disease. The peritoneal fluid is regularly recycled by local lymphatics [51]. This leads to transfer of free floating cells to these lymphatics which then leads to lymph node metastases and subsequent distant metastases [52]. In addition, infiltration of the subperitoneal layer can lead to lymphatic and lymph node involvement.

Positive regional nodes are seen in 7-14% of the patients with peritoneal mesothelioma undergoing cytoreductive surgery [15, 52–55]. In one prospective study, lymph nodes were positive in 32.4% of which 15.7% were regional nodes (draining the primary tumor) and 13.6% were peritoneal nodes (in relation to peritoneal disease) [38]. Peritoneal nodes included those in relation to the resected bowel in 6.8%, in the subperitoneal fat in 8 (4.1%), in relation to the omentum in 2 (1.0%) and paracardiac nodes in 3 (1.5%) [38].

Lymph node involvement secondary to peritoneal spread is not uncommon. But like non-metastatic disease, there is no guideline/recommendation for addressing lymph nodes. When enlarged nodes are found on imaging or intraoperatively, they are removed. For infrarenal retroperitoneal nodes, some surgeons perform a systemic lymphadenectomy in case of clinical suspicion. One of the pointers to occult metastases would be an increased peritoneal tumor burden in a particular region. The impact of increasing tumor burden on nodal positivity has been demonstrated in one retrospective study [56].

# 2.2.9 Prognostic Implications of Lymph Node Involvement

The involvement of lymph nodes has two important prognostic implications. When lymph node disease has been identified preoperatively, we may have to consider the curative potential of a surgical procedure in such scenarios. This is important if the lymph node stations cannot be addressed. One of the reasons for failure in the retroperitoneum could be the failure to address the occult nodal disease at the time of definitive surgery. Progression in regional nodes represents either growth of disease that has not been addressed surgically, or true disease progression.

The second would be planning adjuvant therapy. It must be borne in mind that in most instances, lymph node involvement is not picked up by pre-operative imaging. Disease-specific evaluation of pattern of lymph node involvement needs to be done.

# 2.3 Extent of Peritoneal Resection for PM Arising from Various Primary Tumors

Based on the above review, it can be concluded that there is more to cytoreductive surgery than achieving a complete removal of macroscopic disease. The issues that need to be specifically addressed are:

- 1. What is the amount of surrounding normal peritoneum that needs to be resected?
- 2. Is it necessary to remove the peritoneum in the entire region or is focal resection enough?
- 3. Should regions apart from the involved region be resected and which ones?
- 4. Which patients should have removal of the gastroepiploic arc?
- 5. Which patients should have resection of the normal looking omentum, falciform ligament, and umbilical round ligament?
- 6. In some peritonectomies, not all anatomical regions need to be resected in absence of gross disease—For example, should the Glisson's capsule be resected as part of right upper quadrant peritonectomy and the pancreatic capsule as part of omentectomy?
- 7. What is the extent of lymphadenectomy to be performed?

# 2.3.1 Studies Looking at the Extent of Peritoneal Resection

There are few studies that have looked at the extent of peritoneal resection irrespective of the primary site. Deraco et al. showed a benefit of complete removal of the parietal peritoneum over selective removal-that is resection of disease bearing areas alone [40]. However, this study was retrospective and no other study has addressed this issue for peritoneal mesothelioma. Similarly, there are two studies for ovarian cancer. Both are retrospective. One study showed a similar morbidity for the two procedures. The authors could not draw conclusion on the impact on survival due to heterogeneity of the data [41]. The other study showed a benefit of complete parietal peritonectomy but the quality of the study was poor as statistical difference between survival in the two surgical approaches was not mentioned and the methodology of patient selection was not described [57].

One study looked at the need to resect uninvolved "target regions" like the umbilical round ligament (URL), falciform ligament, greater and lesser omenta in the absence of visible disease. The incidence of involvement of the omentum was more than 15% irrespective of primary tumor site. The falciform and round ligament were involved in >15 in the absence of visible disease in patients with mucinous appendiceal tumors, mesothelioma, and ovarian cancer and in <5% in patients with colorectal and gastric cancer [58]. The study was limited by relatively small numbers. However, the negative findings were compelling. Patients with gastric and colorectal cancer seldom had involvement of the falciform, umbilical round ligament, and lesser omentum in the absence of visible disease. Hence, involvement of these structures in every patient undergoing CRS may not be required. There are two other studies that looked at the involvement of the falciform and umbilical round ligament in the absence of visible disease. One did not look at disease-specific involvement [59, 60]. The other showed recurrence at the porta hepatis in 5% of the patients who did not have resection of the URL [53]. Clinical studies looking the extent of peritoneal resection, target region involvement, and lymph node involvement in patients with peritoneal metastases are summarized in Table 2.3.

It would be ideal to know the patterns of recurrence as well. Though irrespective of primary tumor site, most recurrences after CRS are intraperitoneal, the intraperitoneal disease distribution is not described. We recommend that the disease distribution in patients undergoing first and subsequent surgeries should be captured to study the patterns of recurrence.

# 2.3.2 Application in Clinical Practice and Question for Future Research

Published studies related to the extent of peritoneal resection are limited and most of them have many limitations. Similarly, there is limited information on the disease distribution in patients presenting with recurrent disease. To know the impact of extent of resection, ideally, the patterns of recurrence should also be known. In this situation, the surgical practice should be based on scientific rationale. There should be two main

principles of resection-either the entire peritoneal region should be resected or a wide resection of the involved peritoneum should be performed with free margins. In the light of existing evidence, the extent of resection to be performed for some of the common tumors for which cytoreductive surgery is performed is described in Table 2.4. In addition, in patients receiving (neoadjuvant chemotherapy) NACT, it would be ideal to resect sites involved prior to NACT as there is no accurate way of determining the presence or absence of disease in those regions and the response to chemotherapy is often not sustained for long periods. At least the scarred or thickened areas should be resected. As regards the resection of the omentum, for most tumors the omentum should be resected even in absence of gross disease. In this situation, we recommend that the gastroepiploic arch should be preserved in all patients. When the omentum has gross disease, removal of the arch needs to be done though it is grossly free for certain tumor subtypes and preservation in all others if it is possible to get a complete cytoreduction without sacrificing it (Table 2.4). Similarly, not all tumors require removal of the falciform ligament and umbilical round ligament only for some tumors in the absence of visible disease. For the gall bladder, excision is performed when an omental bursectomy is performed in all cases. Removal of the Glisson's capsule and pancreatic capsule may not be done in any patient in absence of disease in those regions.

There are some other aspects which need to be evaluated in clinical studies before they are widely adopted in clinical practice. We recommend bowel resections performed for bowel surface deposits should include resection of the draining lymph node stations—that is they should be performed according to the same principles that are used to resect a primary tumor. This is particularly for rectal resections and isolated small bowel or colonic deposits when the surgery is potentially curative. When multiple small bowel sites are involved, the curative potential of the surgery is questionable and such resections may not be performed. Similarly, for mucinous appendiceal tumors, lymph node involvement is not

Table 2.3 Clinica	l studies on extent	of peritone	al resection and lymph	node dissection		
First author/year	Prospective/ retrospective	No. of patients	Primary site	Goals of the study	Major findings	Comments
Extent of peritoned	al resection			•	)	
Baratti et al. 2012 [40]	Retrospective	60	Mesothelioma	TPP versus SPP	TPP was an independent predictor of a longer overall survival	Small sample size, retrospective study
Sinukumar et al. 2019 [41]	Retrospective	69	Ovary, serous epithelial, stages IIIC and IVA	TPP versus SPP	Morbidity similar in the two groups. Survival better in TPP group	Small sample size, heterogeneous population
Somashekhar et al. 2019 [57]	Retrospective	163	Various	TPP versus SPP	Longer survival with TPP	p-value for survival difference in the two arms not provided; patients selection criteria not described
Target region resev	ction					
Bhatt et al. 2019 [58]	Prospective	191	Various	Involvement of falciform, URL, omenta	Low incidence of involvement of URL and falciform in colorectal and gastric cancer	Small sample size considering multiple primary sites
Jayakrishnan et al. 2014 [59]	Retrospective	71	Various	Involvement of URL and falciform	5.3% had involvement in the absence of visible disease	All the discrepancies were seen in patients with appendiceal and ovarian cancer
Sugarbaker et al. 2008 [60]	Retrospective	710	Mucinous appendiceal tumors	Recurrence at porta hepatis	In 5%, recurrence was at the porta hepatis	The authors recommend resection of the umbilical round ligament in all patients
Passot et al. 2019 [ <b>5</b> 0]	Retrospective	337	Colorectal	Involvement of greater omentum	17.7% greater omentum involvement in the absence of visible disease	Full study not published, only abstract available
Peritoneal disease	distribution					
Bhatt et al. 2019 [42]	Retrospective	69	Ovary, serous epithelial, stages IIIC and IVA	Patterns of response of chemotherapy	Parietal peritoneum responds last	Small sample size, retrospective study
Lymph node involv	) ement <sup>a</sup>					
Bhatt et al. 2019 [42]	Retrospective	69	Ovary, serous epithelial, stages IIIC and IVA	Patterns of response to chemotherapy and lymph node involvement	>30% had positive regional nodes	Small sample size, retrospective study

1:0 ÷ 4 110 --. Ļ 4 -5 Table 2.3 Clinical stu (continued)

	Comments	Small sample size considering multiple primary sites	Retrospective study, patients undergoing primary CRS and CRS for recurrence were included	Non-evaluation of regional nodes and positive regional nodes both had a negative impact on survival
	Major findings	Lymph nodes were positive in 32.4% (15.7% were regional nodes and 13.6% peritoneal nodes)	42.5% with rectal wall infiltration confirmed on pathology had mesorectal lymph node involvement	Lymph node involvement in nearly 30% of the evaluated patients
	Goals of the study	Patterns of peritoneal and lymph node involvement in patients undergoing CRS	Correlation between depth of rectal wall infiltration and mesorectal lymph node involvement	Lymph node involvement and impact on survival
	Primary site	Various	Ovarian, epithelial, advanced, and recurrent	Mesothelioma
	No. of patients	191	91	83
(pər	Prospective/ retrospective	Prospective	Retrospective	Retrospective
Table 2.3 (contin	First author/year	Bhatt et al. 2019 [38]	Kammar et al. 2019 <b>[56</b> ]	Deraco et al. 2012 [ <b>15</b> ]

Abbreviations: *TPP* total parietal peritonectomy, *SPP* selective parietal peritonectomy, *URL* umbilical round ligament <sup>a</sup>Only studies involving cytoreductive surgery were included

		Resection of				
Primary site	Principle of peritoneal resection	"target regions" in the absence of visible disease <sup>a</sup>	Omental resection in the absence of visible disease	Resection of gastroepiploic arch in omentum with visible disease <sup>b</sup>	Resection of the lesser omentum in the absence of visible disease	Resection of uninvolved regions of parietal peritoneum <sup>c</sup>
Colorectal cancer (non-mucinous)	Wide excision with free margins	No	Yes	No	No	No
Colorectal mucinous tumors	Resection of the involved peritoneal region	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Appendiceal mucinous tumors	Resection of the involved peritoneal region	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Appendiceal adenocarcinoma (non-mucinous)	Wide excision with free margins	No	Yes	No	No	No
Gastric cancer	Resection of the involved peritoneal region	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Serous epithelial ovarian cancer	Resection of the involved peritoneal region	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Epithelial ovarian cancer (Non serous)	Resection of the involved peritoneal region	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No
Epithelial ovarian cancer (mucinous)	Resection of the involved peritoneal region	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Non-epithelial ovarian cancer	Wide excision with free margins	No	No	No	No	No
Peritoneal mesothelioma	Resection of the involved peritoneal region	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Sarcomas	Wide resection with free margins	No	No	No	No	No

**Table 2.4** Principles of resection of various peritoneal regions according to the primary tumor site

<sup>a</sup>Falciform ligament and umbilical round ligament

<sup>b</sup>When the arch itself is not involved by the tumor deposits

°Requires further evaluation in clinical studies

	Lymph node	Resection of other regional	Radical resection of involved
Primary site	dissection <sup>a</sup>	nodes/non-regional nodes	segment of the bowel <sup>b</sup>
Colorectal cancer	No	No	Yes
(non-mucinous)			
Colorectal mucinous tumors	No	No	Yes
Appendiceal mucinous tumors	No	No	Yes <sup>c</sup>
Appendiceal adenocarcinoma	No	No	Yes
(non-mucinous)			
Gastric cancer	No	No	Yes
Serous epithelial ovarian	Yes	Yes	Yes
cancer			
Epithelial ovarian cancer (Non	Yes	Yes	Yes
serous)			
Epithelial ovarian cancer	No	No	Yes
(mucinous)			
Non-epithelial ovarian cancer	No	No	Yes
Peritoneal mesothelioma	Yes	Yes	Yes
Sarcomas	No	No	Yes

Table 2.5 Recommendations for resection of regional nodes and involved bowel segments

<sup>a</sup>Nodal stations not directly draining the bowel like iliac, obturator, periportal, and supradiaphragmatic node <sup>b</sup>Needs further clinical evaluation

<sup>c</sup>Only for high-grade tumors

common and this recommendation does not hold (Table 2.5). Other nodal stations like pelvic and para-aortic nodes, periportal and supradiaphragmatic paracardiac nodes may be resected when suspicious on imaging or found enlarged during surgery when the surgery is performed with a curative intent. For advanced epithelial ovarian cancer and peritoneal mesothelioma, removal of iliac, obturator, and lower para-aortic nodes should be performed for all patients. The periportal and paracardiac nodes should be removed as far as possible for patients with peritoneal mesothelioma and if suspicious for epithelial ovarian cancer. In high-grade malignancies, nodal involvement would preclude a curative resection and the role of surgery itself may be questionable in these situations. For certain tumors, resection of normal parietal peritoneal regions could be performed.

We admit that most of these recommendations are based on level 5 evidence and our own experience and propose that future studies should be carried out to determine the patterns of peritoneal dissemination and disease distribution in greater detail. However, till such evidence is generated, one has to continue to treat patients and this outline could be used to guide the extent of surgery that is performed for each patient. We believe that such a stratification could help standardize the existing practices. Though resecting certain regions may not have a significant impact on the post-operative outcomes, it is important that surgical procedures are standardized.

# 2.4 Conclusions

There is a strong rationale but limited evidence to vary the extent of peritoneal resection according to the primary tumor type. In light of existing evidence, some tumors like serous epithelial ovarian cancer, peritoneal mesothelioma, and mucinous appendiceal tumors with peritoneal dissemination merit more extensive resection and the entire involved region of the peritoneum should be resected in these patients according to the five peritonectomies described by Sugarbaker. For other tumors, the peritonectomy procedure should be tailored to widely resect the involved region. Bowel resections that are performed for peritoneal implants should include a regional lymphadenectomy as is performed for a primary tumor at that site for certain tumors when the surgery is potentially curative. Lymphadenectomy should be a part of cytoreductive surgery for certain tumors like serous epithelial ovarian cancer and peritoneal mesothelioma. A systematic method of synoptic reporting of pathological specimens of cytoreductive surgery should be developed and adopted by all peritoneal surface malignancy centers to capture important information regarding the disease distribution within the peritoneal cavity and morphology of peritoneal metastases from different tumors. This can in future be used to establish standard guidelines for such resections.

#### References

- Glehen O, Gilly FN, Boutitie F, Bereder JM, Quenet F, Sideris L, et al. Toward curative treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from nonovarian origin by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer. 2010;116:5608–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.25356.
- Rajan F, Bhatt A. Evolving role of CRS and HIPEC current indications. In: Management of peritoneal metastases—cytoreductive surgery, HIPEC and beyond. Singapore: Springer; 2018. p. 19–67.
- Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: principles of management. Boston: Kluwer; 1996. p. 359–74.
- Coccolini F, Catena F, Glehen O, Yonemura Y, Sugarbaker PH, Piso P, et al. Complete versus incomplete cytoreduction in peritoneal carcinosis from gastric cancer, with consideration to PCI cut-off. Systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(7):911–9.
- Sugarbaker PH. Prevention and treatment of peritoneal metastases: a comprehensive review. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2019;10:3.
- Orosco RK, Tapia VJ, Califano JA, Clary B, Cohen E, et al. Positive surgical margins in the 10 most common solid cancers. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):5686. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23403-5.
- Corsi F, Sorrentino L, Bossi D, Sartani A, Foschi D. Preoperative localization and surgical margins in conservative breast surgery. Int J Surg Oncol. 2013;2013:793819. https://doi. org/10.1155/2013/793819.
- Keating JJ, Okusanya OT, De Jesus E, Judy R, Jiang J, Deshpande C, et al. Intraoperative molecular imaging of lung adenocarcinoma can identify residual tumor cells at the surgical margins. Mol Imaging Biol. 2016;18(2):209–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11307-015-0878-9.

- Rocha R, Marinho R, Aparício D, Fragoso M, Sousa M, Gomes A, et al. Impact of bowel resection margins in node negative colon cancer. Springerplus. 2016;5(1):1959. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-3650-y. Published 11 Nov 2016.
- Sadot E, Groot Koerkamp B, Leal JN, Shia M, Gonen M, Allen PJ, et al. Resection margin and survival in 2368 patients undergoing hepatic resection for metastatic colorectal cancer: surgical technique or biologic surrogate? Ann Surg. 2015;262:476–85; discussion 483–5.
- Abdalla EK, Bauer TW, Chun YS, D'Angelica M, Kooby DA, Jarnagin WR. Locoregional surgical and interventional therapies for advanced colorectal cancer liver metastases: expert consensus statements. HPB (Oxford). 2013;15(2):119–30. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1477-2574.2012.00597.x.
- Deraco M, Kusamura S, Corbellini C, Guaglio M, Paviglianiti C, Baratti D. Treatment principles for peritoneal surface malignancies. Minerva Chir. 2016;71(2):124–45. Epub 5 Feb 2016.
- Glehen O, Gilly FN. Quantitative prognostic indicators of peritoneal surface malignancy: carcinomatosis, sarcomatosis, and peritoneal mesothelioma. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12(3):649–71.
- Solass W, Horvath P, Struller F, Konigsrainer I, Beckert S, Kongsrainer A, et al. Functional vascular anatomy of the peritoneum in health and disease. Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(3):145–58. https://doi. org/10.1515/pp-2016-0015.
- Baratti D, Kusamura S, Cabras AD, Laterza B, Balestra MR, Deraco M. Lymph node metastases in diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(1):45–53. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-009-0756-2. Epub 24 Oct 2009.
- Mehta S, Bhatt A, Glehen O. Cytoreductive surgery and peritonectomy procedures. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(2):139–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13193-016-0505-5.
- Sugarbaker PH. Surgical management of carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Clin Colon Rectal Surg. 2005;18(3):190–203. https://doi.org/10.105 5/s-2005-916280.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritonectomy procedures. Ann Surg. 1995;221(1):29–42.
- 19. Sugarbaker PH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei. A cancer whose biology is characterized by a redistribution phenomenon. Ann Surg. 1994;219(2):109–11.
- Sugarbaker P. Cytoreductive surgery using peritonectomy and visceral resections for peritoneal surface malignancy. Transl Gastrointest Cancer. 2013;2(2):54–74.
- Reymond M. The quest of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC): searching for evidence. Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(4):167–8.
- Bartlett DL. HIPEC: the complexities of clinical trials. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(5):1277–9.
- Sugarbaker PH. Successful management of microscopic residual disease in large bowel cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1999;43(1):S15–25.

- 24. Chua TC, Yan TD, Saxena A, Morris DL. Should the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy still be regarded as a highly morbid procedure? A systematic review of morbidity and mortality. Ann Surg. 2009;249:900–7.
- Smeenk RM, Verwaal VJ, Zoetmulder FA. Learning curve of combined modality treatment in peritoneal surface disease. Br J Surg. 2007;94:1408–14.
- Kusamura S, Baratti D, Zaffaroni N, Villa R, Laterza B, Balestra MR, et al. Pathophysiology and biology of peritoneal carcinomatosis. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(1):12–8.
- Sampson JA. Implantation peritoneal carcinomatosis of ovarian origin. Am J Pathol. 1931;7:423–43.
- Murphy EM, Sexton R, Moran BJ. Early results of surgery in 123 patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from a perforated appendiceal neoplasm. Dis Colon Rectum. 2007;50:37–42.
- Kostić Z, Cuk V, Bokun R, Ignjatović D, Usaj-Knezević S, Ignjatović M. Detection of free cancer cells in peritoneal cavity in patients surgically treated for gastric adenocarcinoma. Vojnosanit Pregl. 2006;63:349–56.
- Lemoine L, Sugarbaker P, Van der Speeten K. Pathophysiology of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: role of the peritoneum. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(34):7692–707. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg. v22.i34.7692.
- Shimotsuma M, Shields JW, Simpson-Morgan MW, et al. Morpho-physiological function and role of omental milky spots as omentum associated lymphoid tissue (OALT) in the peritoneal cavity. Lymphology. 1993;26:90–101.
- 32. Yonemura Y, Kawamura T, Bandou E, Tsukiyama G, Endou Y, Miura M. The natural history of free cancer cells in the peritoneal cavity. In: Gonzalez-Moreno S, editor. Advances in peritoneal surface oncology. Berlin: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg; 2007. p. 11–23.
- Yonemura Y, Endo Y, Obata T, Sasaki T. Recent advances in the treatment of peritoneal dissemination of gastrointestinal cancers by nucleoside antimetabolites. Cancer Sci. 2007;98:11–8.
- Carmignani CP, Sugarbaker T, Bromley CM, Sugarbaker PH. Intraperitoneal cancer dissemination: mechanisms of the patterns of spread. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2003;22:465–72.
- 35. Sugarbaker PH. Observations concerning cancer spread within the peritoneal cavity and concepts supporting an ordered pathophysiology. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: principles of management. Boston, MA: Kluwer Academic Publisher; 1995. p. 80–99.
- Kurman RJ. Origin and molecular pathogenesis of ovarian high-grade serous carcinoma. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(Suppl 10):x16–21. https://doi.org/10.1093/ annonc/mdt463.
- Pradeep S, Kim SW, Wu SY, Nishimura M, Chaluvally-Raghavan P, Miyake T, et al. Hematogenous metastasis of ovarian cancer: rethinking mode of spread. Cancer

Cell. 2014;26(1):77–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccr.2014.05.002.

- Bhatt A, Yonemura Y, Benzerdjeb N, Mehta S, Mishra S, Parikh L, Kammar P, et al. Pathological assessment of cytoreductive surgery specimens and its unexplored prognostic potential—a prospective multi-centric study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;45(12):2398–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2019.07.019.
- Deraco M, Baratti D, Kusamura S, Laterza B, Balestra MR. Surgical technique of parietal and visceral peritonectomy for peritoneal surface malignancies. J Surg Oncol. 2009;100(4):321–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jso.21388.
- 40. Baratti D, Kusamura S, Cabras AD, Deraco M. Cytoreductive surgery with selective versus complete parietal peritonectomy followed by hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: a controlled study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(5):1416–24. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-012-2237-2.
- 41. Sinukumar S, Rajan F, Mehta S, Damodaran D, Zaveri S, Kammar P, et al. A comparison of outcomes following total and selective peritonectomy performed at the time of interval cytoreductive surgery for advanced serous epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube and primary peritoneal cancer—a study by INDEPSO. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019. pii: S0748-7983(19)30304-X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2019.02.031.
- 42. Bhatt A, Sinukumar S, Mehta S, Damodaran D, Zaveri S, Kammar P, et al. Patterns of pathological response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy and its clinical implications in patients undergoing interval cytoreductive surgery for advanced serous epithelial ovarian cancer—a study by the Indian Network for Development of Peritoneal Surface Oncology (INDEPSO). Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;45(4):666–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2019.01.009. Epub 9 Jan 2019.
- 43. Sammartino P, Biacchi D, Cornali T, et al. Proactive management for gastric, colorectal and appendiceal malignancies: preventing peritoneal metastases with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(2):215–24.
- Levy AD, Shaw JC, Sobin LH. Secondary tumors and tumorlike lesions of the peritoneal cavity: imaging features with pathologic correlation. Radiographics. 2009;29(2):347–73. https://doi.org/10.1148/ rg.292085189.
- 45. Hynninen J, Lavonius M, Oksa S, Grenman S, Carpen O, Auranen A. Is perioperative visual estimation of intra-abdominal tumor spread reliable in ovarian cancer surgery after neoadjuvant chemotherapy? Gynecol Oncol. 2013;128:229–32.
- 46. Yonemura Y, Canbay E, Ishibashi H, Nishino E, Endou Y, Sako S, et al. 5-Aminolevulinic acid fluorescence in detection of peritoneal metastases. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2016;17(4):2271–5.
- 47. Berger Y, Jacoby H, Kaufmann MI, Ben-Yaacov A, Westreich G, Sharon I, et al. Correlation between intraoperative and pathological findings for patients

undergoing cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2019;26(4):1103–9.

- 48. Shida D, Tsukamoto S, Ochiai H, et al. Long-term outcomes after R0 resection of synchronous peritoneal metastasis from colorectal cancer without cytoreductive surgery or hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018;25:173. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-017-6133-7.
- Koppe MJ, Nagtegaal ID, de Wilt JH, Ceelen WP. Recent insights into the pathophysiology of omental metastases. J Surg Oncol. 2014;110:670–5.
- Passot G, Kepenekian V, Vsudoyer D, Cotte E, Villeneuve L, Glehen O. Une omentectomie totale par laparotomie est indispensable pour toute chirurgie ptentiellement curative d'une carcinose peritoneale d'origine colorectal. Journal de chirurgie viscerale. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchirv.2019.03.045.
- 51. Kolev V, Mironov S, Mironov O, Ishill N, Moskowitz CS, Gardner GJ, et al. Prognostic significance of supradiaphragmatic lymphadenopathy identified on preoperative computed tomography scan in patients undergoing primary cytoreduction for advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2010;20(6):979–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/IGC.0b013e3181e833f5.
- 52. Yan TD, Brun EA, Cerruto CA, Haveric N, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Prognostic indicators for patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:41–9.
- Borczuk AC, Taub RN, Hesdorffer M, et al. P16 loss and mitotic activity predict poor survival in patients with peritoneal malignant mesothelioma. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:3303–8.

- Cerruto CA, Brun EA, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Prognostic significance of histomorphologic parameters in diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2006;130:1654–61.
- 55. Yan TD, Yoo D, Sugarbaker PH. Significance of lymph node metastasis in patents with diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Eur J Sur Oncol. 2006;32:948–53.
- 56. Kammar P, Bhatt A, Anam J, Waghoo S, Pandey J, Mehta S. Correlation between pelvic peritoneal disease and nodal metastasis in advanced ovarian cancer: can intraoperative findings define the need for systematic nodal dissection? Indian J Surg Oncol. 2019;10(Suppl 1):84–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13193-019-00881-1.
- Somashekhar S, Ashwin K, Yethadka R, et al. Impact of extent of parietal peritonectomy on oncological outcome after cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC. Pleura Peritoneum. 2019;4(4) https://doi.org/10.1515/ pp-2019-0015. Retrieved 25 Nov 2019.
- 58. Bhatt A, Yonemura Y, Mehta S, Benjerdjeb N, Kammar P, Parikh L, et al. Target region resection in patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery for peritoneal metastases-is it necessary in absence of visible disease? Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;46(4):582–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2019.11.495.
- 59. Jayakrishnan TT, Sharma A, Zacharias AJ, et al. Resection of the falciform ligament and ligamentum teres hepatis in cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). J Surg [Jurnalul de chirurgie]. 2014;10(2):117–20. https:// doi.org/10.7438/1584-9341-10-2-5.
- 60. Sugarbaker PH, Bijelic L. The porta hepatis as a site of recurrence of mucinous appendiceal neoplasms treated by cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Tumori. 2008;94(5):694–700.



3

# Therapeutic Rationale and Data Set for Reporting Cytoreductive Surgery Specimens

Aditi Bhatt, Nazim Benzerdjeb, Suniti Mishra, and Olivier Glehen

# 3.1 Introduction

Cytoreductive surgery (CRS) has emerged as the cornerstone of potentially curative treatment for selected patients with peritoneal metastases (PM) arising from various primary sites [1]. It essentially comprises of removal of disease bearing areas of the parietal and visceral peritoneum and the adjacent viscera. Depending on the extent of disease, the extent of resection and thus tissues that are submitted for histopathological analysis vary. Even when the disease is limited, certain normal looking areas like the omentum, falciform ligament and umbilical round ligament may be resected due to the high probability of the presence of microscopic disease in those regions.

Unlike other metastatic sites like the liver and the lung where cancer spread occurs through the haematogenous route, spread to the peritoneum

A. Bhatt

Department of Surgical Oncology, Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

N. Benzerdjeb Department of Pathology, Centre Hospitalier Lyon-Sud, Lyon, France

S. Mishra Department of Pathology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India

O. Glehen (🖂)

Department of Surgical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Lyon-Sud, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Lyon, France e-mail: olivier.glehen@chu-lyon.fr occurs through the transmesothelial, lymphatic or haematogenous routes or a combination of these [2]. The peritoneum itself is an organ with its own blood supply and lymphatic drainage and is in close contact with all the viscera and other structures in the abdominal cavity [3]. Peritoneal metastases on the visceral peritoneum often infiltrate the underlying visceral wall and thus produce secondary lymph node metastases for e.g. involvement of mesorectal nodes secondary to infiltration of the rectal wall. Similarly, infiltration of the parietal peritoneum can lead to tumour spread to the subperitoneal nodes, retroperitoneal and mediastinal nodes. Involvement of supradiaphragmatic cardiophrenic angle nodes appears to be one example of regional node involvement in relation to peritoneal disease [4]. However, for PM, pathological findings usually comprise of looking for the presence or absence of tumour, its histological subtype and the depth of organ infiltration. There are many other pathological findings that (may) have prognostic value (Table 3.1).

There are no existing guidelines for pathological evaluation and synoptic reporting of peritonectomy or cytoreductive surgery specimens [5]. As in non-metastatic disease, the surgical stage is determined by the histopathological analysis of the resected tumour specimen as is used to guide further therapy, the histopathological analysis of CRS specimens can also yield crucial prognostic information which, as further evidence is generated, can affect the way these patients are

O. Glehen, A. Bhatt (eds.), *Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3773-8\_3

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

**Table 3.1** Pathological findings that are/may be of prognostic value

Pathological finding
Grading/histological classification
Evaluation of the disease extent—pathological PCI
Pathological response to chemotherapy
Evaluate regional lymph nodes-in relation to the
primary tumour and peritoneal disease
Distribution of disease in the peritoneal cavity
Morphological presentation of peritoneal metastases

treated. This chapter provides an outline of histopathological evaluation of CRS specimens and its therapeutic rationale.

# 3.2 Anatomical Considerations

The peritoneum is broadly divided into the parietal and visceral peritoneum [6]. The visceral peritoneum includes peritoneum covering the viscera including the bowel and its mesenteries, the lesser and greater omenta. The parietal peritoneum lines the anterior and posterior abdominal walls. The peritoneum is densely adherent to the underlying structures in some regions which makes it imperative to resect the underlying structure to completely remove the peritoneum. It is loosely attached in others with a generous amount of intervening connective tissue which makes resection relatively easier.

## 3.2.1 Peritoneal Regions

From a surgical perspective, there are five peritonectomies described by Sugarbaker (Table 3.2) [7]. However, each of these represents a large area of the peritoneal cavity and includes one or more peritoneal spaces and recesses bound by peritoneal ligaments. These spaces and fossae play an important role in the circulation of the intraperitoneal fluid and therefore tumour dissemination (Fig. 3.1) [8]. Peritoneal ligaments are double layers of the peritoneum that support an intraperitoneal structure. The omentum and bowel mesenteries are examples of peritoneal ligaments [6]. Other ligaments include the falciform and triangular ligaments that bind the bare area of the liver, the hepatoduodenal ligament

Table	3.2	The	five	peritonectomies	described	by
Sugarb	aker	(from	Ref. [	7] with permissior	1)	

Peritonectomy	
procedures	Structures included
Anterior parietal	Old abdominal incisions,
peritonectomy	umbilicus, epigastric fat pad
Left upper quadrant	Greater omentum and spleen
peritonectomy	
Right upper quadrant	Glisson's capsule
peritonectomy	
Pelvic peritonectomy	Uterus, ovaries and rectosigmoid
	colon
Omental bursectomy	Gall bladder and lesser omentum



Fig. 3.1 The peritoneal spaces. (Adapted from Ref. [3] with permission)

that contains the portal structures, the gastrohepatic ligament that contains the left gastric vessels, the gastrosplenic ligament which connects the greater curve to the spleen and contains the short gastric vessels, and the splenorenal ligament which contains the pancreatic tail [8, 9]. The transverse colon and mesocolon divide the peritoneal cavity into the supramesocolic and inframesocolic compartments (Fig. 3.1) [10]. The supramesocolic compartment is divided into the left and right subphrenic spaces by the falciform ligament. The right space includes the subphrenic space and the subhepatic space (Morrison's pouch). One the left side is the lesser sac that has multiple recesses that communicate with the left subphrenic space cranially and the greater omentum caudally. The lesser sac is divided by fold of peritoneum containing the left gastric artery into a smaller superior recess that is in close proximity to the caudate lobe and a larger inferior recess that lies between the stomach and the pancreatic body. Sometimes, the inferior recess communicates with a potential space between the leaves of the greater omentum [11].

Similarly, the inframesocolic compartment is subdivided by the root of the small intestine mesentery into the right and the left inframesocolic space and the pelvis [7]. The left space is larger than the right and communicates with the pelvis. The right space is cordoned off from the pelvic cavity by the root of the mesentery [12].

The paracolic spaces (gutters) are located lateral to the peritoneal reflections of the left and right sides of the colon. The right paracolic gutter is larger than the left and communicates freely with the right subphrenic space. The connection between the left paracolic gutter and the left subphrenic space is partially limited by the phrenicocolic ligament. Both the right and left paracolic gutters communicate with the pelvic spaces [12].

In men, the most gravity-dependent site is the rectovesical space of the pelvic cavity. In women, it is the retrouterine space (the pouch of Douglas). The pelvic space is divided into right and left halves by the medial umbilical folds containing the obliterated umbilical arteries and further into the medial and lateral inguinal fossae by the inferior epigastric artery on each side [12].

#### 3.2.2 Lymphatic Drainage

Experimental studies have shown that the lymphatic drainage of the peritoneum occurs largely through the visceral peritoneum and goes first to the retroperitoneal nodes (superior mesenteric, periportal and celiac groups) and then via the thoracic duct to the mediastinal nodes (Fig. 3.2) [13, 14]. Lymph from the parietal peritoneum goes to the mediastinum via the transdiaphragmatic lymphatics [15]. Inguinal lymph nodes are considered regional lymph nodes [16]. The peritoneal fluid is

regularly recycled by local lymphatics [17]. This leads to transfer of free floating cells to these lymphatics which then leads to lymph node metastases and subsequent distant metastases [17]. In addition, infiltration of the subperitoneal layer can lead to lymphatic and lymph node involvement.

Knowledge of lymph node drainage patterns could also aid in cytoreductive surgery. Survival in most cancers is directly proportional to the completeness of cytoreduction [18]. If the lymph node disease is not adequately addressed, the survival may be adversely affected despite complete resection of the peritoneal disease. Moreover, involvement of lymph nodes may be a poor prognostic marker. The impact on survival has not been conclusively demonstrated so far perhaps due to heterogeneous patient populations in most studies comprising of patients with differing sensitivity to systemic chemotherapy.

# 3.2.3 Subperitoneal Nodes

The peritoneum comprises of a layer of mesothelial cells resting on a basement membrane underlying which is the subperitoneal space, rich in lymphatics and containing various amounts of adipose tissue [19]. Peritoneal metastases can lead to secondary involvement of subperitoneal lymph nodes. In one prospective study, involvement of such subperitoneal nodes was found in 4.1% of 191 patients undergoing CRS for PM from various primary sites [20].

#### 3.2.4 Omental Nodes

The omentum is rich in lymphatics. Omental nodes are usually located along the greater curve in proximity to the arc of Barkov [20]. Similarly, lesser omental nodes can be found around the blood vessels of the lesser curve [9]. Omental lymph nodes were involved in nearly 10% of the patients in our prospective study [19].

#### 3.2.5 Retroperitoneal Nodes

The involvement of retroperitoneal nodes secondary to peritoneal metastases has been demonstrated in experimental studies. Multiple pathways



**Fig. 3.2** Lymphatic drainage from the peritoneal cavity to the supra-diaphragmatic nodes: (**a**) Trans-diaphragmatic route—Lymphatics of the diaphragm drain the peritoneal lymphatics and then drain into the supra-diaphragmatic nodes. The supra-diaphragmatic nodes are divided into two groups—retrosternal and paracardiac. (**b**) Posterior route—the posterior route drains all the lymphatics from

exist for drainage of the peritoneal cavity including lymph nodes in the celiac, superior mesenteric and periportal groups [21–23]. Similarly, the pelvic lymph nodes comprising of the iliac and obturator nodes and nodes around the infra-renal aorta and inferior vena cava can be involved secondary to peritoneal disease [24]. In ovarian cancer, involvement of these nodes could be secondary to the primary tumour itself or to the peritoneal disease.

In one study on ovarian cancer, the extent of nodal involvement correlated with the extent of peritoneal disease [25]. The para-aortic nodes were more commonly involved than pelvic nodes and the authors found that pelvic node involvement was more often secondary to the peritoneal disease rather than the primary tumour [25]. Another study found a relation between the lesion score in the pelvic regions and involvement of pelvic and para-aortic nodes [26]. The involvement of other nodes has not been specifi-

the deep lymphatic vessels inferior to the diaphragm (iliac, para-aortic and mesenteric) and the superficial lymphatic vessels inferior to the level of umbilicus. The vessels unite to form the cisterna chyli and the thoracic duct, which travels in the posterior mediastinum and opens into the junction of the left subclavian and internal jugular vein. (Adapted from Ref. [28] with permission)

cally studied in relation to peritoneal disease in humans. But in the authors' experience, involvement of periportal nodes is often seen in patients with peritoneal metastases.

# 3.2.6 Paracardiac and Mediastinal Nodes

There are two major groups of supradiaphragmatic paracardiac nodes as described by Rouviáere [27]. Group 1 is the anterior prepericardiac group that comprises of one single median group placed in the retroxiphoid region and a lateral group on either side placed behind the seventh anterior costal-cartilage junctions. Group 2 comprises of 2 aggregates located around the phrenic nerve, one on either side, with the left one often being absent [27]. Their afferent lymphatics drain portions of the diaphragm, liver, pleura and anterior abdominal wall. Group 1 further drains into the internal mammary nodes and group 2 into the anterior mediastinal nodes. There are two routes of lymphatic drainage of the peritoneal cavity as described above. One is the anterior route in which the Rouviáere's nodes are involved [28]. The other is the posterior route in which mediastinal nodes are involved directly through the thoracic duct which drains the deep retroperitoneal nodes. Thus, mediastinal node involvement can occur secondary to parietal peritoneal metastases without involvement of paracardiac nodes. It is believed that the anterior root is the more common route [28]. The involvement of paracardiac nodes has been shown in ovarian and colorectal cancer and peritoneal mesothelioma [16, 29, 30]. Though the prognostic significance has not been consistently demonstrated, involvement of these nodes has been associated with an increased disease burden [31].

This knowledge of the nodal drainage of the peritoneal cavity is important both for the surgeon and the pathologist.

# 3.3 Pathological Evaluation of Cytoreductive Surgery Specimens

#### 3.3.1 The Surgeon's Role

# 3.3.1.1 Labelling of Surgical Specimens by the Surgeon

The five peritoneal resections are divided into five regions that is the pelvic, anteroparietal, right and left upper quadrant (including the omentum) and omental bursa (lesser omentum and lesser sac) [7]. Each of these can be further divided into anatomical sub-regions (Fig. 3.3). Each region includes a large area of the peritoneum. Not the entire peri-



**Fig. 3.3** Peritoneal regions included in the five peritonectomies described by Sugarbaker

toneum in a region is involved in every patient and one or more sub-regions are involved. The prognostic implications of involvement of sub-regions remain unknown. We recommend defining each sub-region by either sending it as a separate specimen or marking it out for the pathologist in an en-bloc resection specimen. An example of identifying various regions on an en-bloc peritonectomy specimen is shown in Fig. 3.4.

The Glisson's capsule is identified separately from the right upper quadrant peritonectomy specimen. Other peritoneal regions like the pancreatic capsule, omental bursa, hepatoduodenal ligament and areas of mesenteric peritoneum are identified separately. The corresponding PCI region can be determined using the 'PROMISE' internet application [32].

#### 3.3.1.2 Morphological Description

Peritoneal deposits are not morphologically the same in every patient. Some tumours present

as few discrete nodules with normal intervening peritoneum. In others, the deposits are more numerous and may be confluent at some places (Fig. 3.5). The morphology varies not just according to the primary tumour site but also the time point at which surgery is performed. Morphological alterations and changes occur following administration of systemic therapies [33]. Following a response to chemotherapy, areas harbouring PM may become scarred or thickened, result in formation of adhesions or appear absolutely normal. It is not always possible to accurately determine the presence or absence of disease on visual inspection alone. Some morphological changes like thickening are not uniformly associated with disease. The surgeon must provide the morphological description to the pathologist in the pathological requisition form. This will ensure that areas showing subtle changes are not missed by the pathologist. Very small nodules may not be



Fig. 3.4 Identification of various peritonectomy regions on the resected en-bloc specimen



**Fig. 3.5** Variations in morphological appearance of peritoneal deposits: (a) nodular peritoneal deposits in gastric cancer, the intervening peritoneum is also thickened; (b) thickened peritoneum post chemotherapy in ovarian cancer with few macular deposits; (c) peritoneal mesotheli-

oma with thickened mesenteric peritoneum representing diffuse involvement; (d) small nodule (red arrow) and areas of scarring (blue arrow) in serous ovarian cancer following chemotherapy

appreciable once the specimen has been fixed in formalin. The morphological presentation of the peritoneal metastases can be described as one or more of the following:

- Discrete tumour nodules
- · Confluent nodules
- Plaques
- Omental cake
- Adhesions
- Scarring
- Thickened peritoneum
- Normal peritoneum

The size of the largest nodule in each region must be mentioned as well. Chemotherapy-related changes may not be appreciable after fixation and such changes if present should be documented and communicated with the pathologist.

# 3.3.2 The Pathologist's Role

# 3.3.2.1 Handling of Specimens by the Pathologist

Ideally, the gross findings should be recorded on fresh specimens but this is usually not possible.

Fixation may help in identifying tumour nodules better (Fig. 3.6). Fixation is performed as early as possible, ideally within few hours to prevent any degradation of proteins and nucleic acids that might occur during cold ischaemia especially when biomarker evaluation is contemplated [34, 35]. Fixation in 10% neutral buffered formalin (4% formaldehyde solution) is performed for 6-48 h [36]. Longer or shorter fixation times may adversely affect biomarker testing, whereas under-fixation can result in poor tissue morphology [37]. Adequate fixation also allows thinner sections to be taken from the tumour and proper sampling of lymph nodes. The bowel regions may be opened up to facilitate permeation of the fixative [38]. In this situation, it may be required to pin the specimen on a cork board and then immerse it in formalin for some time.

Acidic fixatives (e.g. Bouin) can cause rapid degradation of nucleic acids and accelerated fixation with heated formalin can lead to alteration in tissue morphology and should not be performed [39, 40].

# 3.3.2.2 Gross Description and Sectioning

The pathologist describes the gross findings in each region in detail comprising of the following:

#### Peritonectomy Specimen(s)

- The three-dimensional measurement (in millimetres) of the specimen and its integrity
- The presence or absence of tumour
- A description of the tumour deposit—discrete nodules, confluent nodules, plaques or any other
- The maximum diameter of the largest tumour nodule (in millimetres)
- The presence or absence of other nodules

One or more sections are taken from the largest nodule depending on the size of the nodule. This is extrapolated from guidelines for evaluation of primary tumours where sections are taken at 3–4 mm intervals (though most of the times sections are taken at 1 cm intervals) [41]. Thus, depending on the size of the nodule, on an aver-



Fig. 3.6 (a) Tumour nodules as seen in freshly resected peritoneum (blue and yellow arrows). (b) The same nodules after fixing the specimen in formalin

age 1–3 sections will be needed. For very large deposits, most pathologists take 4-5 sections representing different regions. Additional sections should be taken from one of the adjacent nodules and from the normal peritoneal surface. Currently, the therapeutic implications of such information are not known. For plaques and confluent nodules, a minimum of 2 sections are taken from the whole plaque/region. We recommend 2 sections as is commonly done for primary tumours. There is no evidence/guidelines or similar recommendations by other authors to support this recommendation. In absence of gross tumour, the clinical history is considered. If chemotherapy has been administered before, a minimum of 5 sections is taken from the region to designate a complete response. This recommendation is extrapolated from the guidelines for documenting a complete response in rectal cancer [42]. If no prior therapy has been given and normal peritoneal has been resected, 1-2 sections from the region should be taken. After sectioning, the specimens are embedded in paraffin [43].

#### Adjacent Lymph Nodes

The adjacent fat that is removed along with the peritonectomy specimen is evaluated for the presence of lymph nodes. The lymph nodes are counted and a gross description provided similar to the reporting of other regional nodes.

Standard criteria for sectioning of nodes is followed. All lymph nodes identified are sampled as follows: whole node if <4 mm; central block through longest axis for larger nodes [42]. Any other dissected regional nodes are examined for the presence of disease.

#### Adjacent Viscera

Adjacent viscera are examined for the presence or absence of tumour deposits.

The size of the largest nodule, presence of other nodules and distribution of the nodules are provided. The presence or absence of tumour at the margins of resected ends of bowel is mentioned. Sections from the area of deepest infiltration of the organ and two adjacent areas are taken. The evaluation of lymph nodes in the attached mesentery is performed as in case of a primary tumour in the bowel even if the same is absent.

# **Evaluation of the Omentum**

The international collaboration on cancer reporting (ICCR) has laid down guidelines for handling of the omentum in ovarian cancer [44]. Our recommendations are based on these guidelines. Three dimensions of the omentum should be provided. The size of the specimen can be helpful to determine the extent of sampling that is needed. In the setting of a grossly involved omentum, submitting one block for histological examination is considered sufficient [45, 46]. However, most pathologists will take more than one section and we also recommend the same. In patients who have received neoadjuvant chemotherapy, where histological assessment of tumour response to therapy is needed, examination of 4-6 blocks/ sections of omentum is recommended [44].

#### **Evaluation of the Normal Peritoneum**

As described above, in some tumours there is microscopic disease in the intervening normal peritoneum between tumour nodules [47]. Our own prospective study has shown the presence of disease between tumour nodules in over 50% of the patients with ovarian cancer, mucinous appendiceal tumours and peritoneal mesothelioma [19]. Even in non-metastatic disease, there is a recommendation to take sections from normal tissue adjacent to the primary tumour [38]. Hence, we recommend taking at least one section from the normal peritoneum adjacent to the tumour in each region.

#### 3.3.2.3 Microscopic Findings

The microscopic findings should include the following:

#### The Histological Tumour Type

This histological diagnosis is made for each tumour following the guidelines specific for each tumour. For certain tumours, further classification or grade is important. This is dealt with in different chapters in this book. Briefly, for colorectal cancer, certain subtypes require special mention. Mucinous tumours—these are defined by the presence of >50% extracellular mucin [48].

Signet ring cell carcinomas-these are carcinomas having >50% of signet ring cells [48]. Those with fewer than 50% are classified as adenocarcinoma with signet ring cells. The exact percentage of signet ring cells should be specified. For appendiceal tumours with peritoneal dissemination, we recommend the use of the PSOGI consensus classification or the AJCC-8 classification [49, 50]. The grade of the primary tumour and peritoneal disease should be provided separately. The other details like cellularity and type of invasion should be mentioned in addition to the histological subtype. For epithelial ovarian cancer, mention of the histological subtype should be made [51]. Similarly, for peritoneal mesothelioma, the list of pathological subtypes is provided in Table 3.3 [52].

# Presence or Absence of Organ Infiltration and Its Depth

For any resected viscera, the presence of tumour deposit is confirmed on microscopy. The type of involvement is specified—for solid organs like the liver—whether the capsule alone or the parenchyma is involved. For hollow viscera—the deepest layer of the wall that is involved—serosa, muscularis or mucosa should be mentioned. For appendiceal mucinous tumours, the type of invasion—infiltrative or pushing—should be mentioned [53]. And in this regard, it is important

 Table
 3.3
 Histological
 subtypes
 of
 malignant

 mesothelioma

Histological subtype	
Localized	
Benign	
Adenomatoid tumour	CRG
Localized fibrous tumour	
Diffuse	
Borderline	
Multi-cystic mesothelioma	
Papillary well-differentiated mesothelioma	
Malignant mesothelioma	
Epitheloid mesothelioma	
Biphasic (mixed) mesothelioma	
Sarcomatoid mesothelioma	

to mention whether the infiltration is by mucin or epithelial cells as the prognosis is worse when epithelial cells are present in addition to mucin. In peritoneal mesothelioma, the presence or absence of infiltration of the subperitoneal fat should be mentioned. The margins of the resected bowel and mesenteric lymph nodes are examined for the presence of disease.

# Chemotherapy Response Grade (Following Neoadjuvant Systemic/ Regional Chemotherapy)

Pathological response to chemotherapy has an impact on survival for some tumours. For different tumours, there are different scoring systems. Currently, such scores are in use for ovarian cancer, colorectal cancer and gastric cancer. Some of them have been externally validated like the Bohm score for high-grade serous epithelial ovarian cancer (Table 3.4) [54]. The French scoring system developed by Passot et al. is the

**Table 3.4** Chemotherapy response grade for high-grade serous epithelial ovarian cancer (from Ref. [54] with permission)

Criteria	for chemotherapy response grade
CRG 1	No or minimal tumour response. Mainly viable tumour with no or minimal regression- associated fibroinflammatory changes, limited to a few foci; cases in which it is difficult to decide between regression and tumour- associated desmoplasia or inflammatory cell infiltration
CRG 2	Appreciable tumour response amid viable tumour that is readily identifiable. Tumour is regularly distributed, ranging from multifocal or diffuse regression-associated fibroinflammatory changes with viable tumour in sheets, streaks, or nodules to extensive regression-associated fibroinflammatory changes with multifocal residual tumour, which is easily identifiable
CRG 3	Complete or near-complete response with no residual tumour OR minimal irregularly scattered tumour foci seen as individual cells, cell groups or nodules, up to 2 mm maximum size. Mainly regression-associated fibroinflammatory changes, or in rare cases no or very little residual tumour in the complete absence of any inflammatory response. It is advisable to record whether there is no residual tumour or whether there is microscopic residual tumour present.

**Table 3.5** The BIG-RENAPE group's scoring of pathological regression in peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer

Histological response	Type of regression
No residual tumour cell	Fibrosis
<50% residual tumour cells	Infarct-like necrosis
>50% residual tumour cells	Colloid response

only existing classification specific for colorectal cancer [55]. Briefly, the response is classified into three groups: no residual cancer cells in all specimens (complete response), 1-49% residual cancer cells (major response) and 50% or more residual cancer cells (minor or no response). For patients with multiple specimens, a mean of values is used to define the pathological response. This classification is based on the classifications used for liver metastases [56]. Tumour regression results in partial or complete disappearance of malignant cells and replacement of the tumour by fibrous or fibroinflammatory granulation tissue and/or mucinous acellular pools and/or infarctlike necrosis [56]. Hence, the type of response is further classified as a fibrotic, necrotic or colloid. The BIG-RENAPE group has devised a classification for pathological response based on the above which is described in Table 3.5.

The Japanese system of classification is common for all tumours and is extrapolated from the classification for gastric cancer [57]. Ef-0 reflects no pathologic response or response in less than one-third of the tumour tissue, Ef-1 means that the cancer is detected in the tumour tissue ranging from one-third to less than two-thirds of the tumour tissue, Ef-2 reflects the degeneration of cancer tissue in more than two-thirds of the tumour tissue, while Ef-3 responds to complete disappearance of the cancer cells.

Another scoring system has been developed by Solass et al. and is used to evaluate response following pressurized intraperitoneal aerosolized chemotherapy (PIPAC) [58]. The classification is provided in Table 3.6 and is termed as peritoneal regression grading score (PRGS). Four quadrant peritoneal biopsies are performed and a grade is assigned to each region. The recommended minimum size of the biopsy sample is 3–5 mm. The mean score and highest grade are

Table	3.6	The	peritoneal	regression	grading	score
(PRGS	) (fro	om Re	f. [58] with	permission)		

	Peritoneal regression grading score				
Grade	Tumour cells	Regression features			
PRGS 1—complete response	No tumour cells	Abundant fibrosis and/or acellular mucin pools and/ or infarct-like necrosis			
PRGS 2—major response	Regressive changes predominant over tumour cells	Fibrosis and/or acellular mucin pools and/or infarct-like necrosis predominant over tumour cells			
PRGS 3—minor response	Predominance of tumour cells	Tumour cells predominant over fibrosis and/or acellular mucin pools and/or infarct-like necrosis			
PRGS 4—no response	Solid growth of tumour cells (seen at the lowest magnification)	No regressive changes			

both recorded. This system is used for other peritoneal tumours as well and showed good reproducibility for each biopsy and for the mean and maximum PRGS per biopsy set [59]. It is also recommended to take peritoneal liquid for cytological analysis for each PIPAC procedure, but its clinical value is unclear in setting of PIPAC.

We recommend following the French classification until more definitive evidence is available favouring a particular classification since it has been devised specifically for colorectal cancer. Similarly, for high-grade serous ovarian cancer, the Bohm score should be preferred.

The important unanswered question is how many regions to evaluate for the pathological response. It is possible that the grade of response varies in different regions. Hence, the response in all regions should be evaluated and the one with the least favourable response should be considered.

#### **Evaluation of Lymph Nodes**

All lymph nodes sampled should be evaluated for the presence or absence of disease. The number of sampled nodes and positive nodes should be reported for each site separately. Extracapsular extension present should be reported. Presence of tumour deposits other than lymph nodes should be distinguished. A tumour deposit in the anatomical region of a lymph node is considered a lymph node provided some normal nodal tissue is identified [16].

#### Calculation of the Pathological PCI

The peritoneal cancer index (PCI) that quantifies the disease in 13 abdominal regions is one of the most important prognostic factors in peritoneal surface oncology [60]. It is calculated during surgery based on the subjective evaluation of the disease in each abdominal region. Our preliminary evidence shows that the pathological evaluation of the peritoneal cancer extent differs from the surgical evaluation in nearly 80% of the patients [19]. Hence, we recommend computing of the pathological PCI similar to the surgical PCI for all patients. For the lesion size, the gross tumour size computed by the pathologist is considered. Microscopic examination should further confirm the presence of disease. If the presence of disease is confirmed on microscopy, then the gross tumour size is considered for computing the lesion score in that particular region. If there is no

tumour on microscopy, then that particular region is given a score of zero. Immunohistochemistry tests may be performed to determine the presence or absence of disease in a particular region. Figure 3.7 shows an algorithm for calculating the pathological PCI. The structures in each region of Sugarbaker's PCI can be defined using Fig. 3.8.

### 3.3.3 Peritoneal Fluid Cytology

The sampling of peritoneal fluid should be performed soon after opening the abdominal cavity. The fluid is obtained by peritoneal lavage or sampling of the ascetic fluid if present. To perform a peritoneal lavage, 200 mL of isotonic saline solution (NaCl 0.9%) is instilled into the abdominal cavity (50 mL for each quadrant: right upper, right lower, left upper and left lower) [61]. After 2 min, 50 mL of fluid are taken out from the pelvis and is centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 10 min at room temperature. The cell pellet is aspirated, smeared onto a glass slide and fixed with methanol. Smears are stained with a 5% Giemsa solution. Positive samples are defined as the presence of at least three tridimensional clusters of malignant cells (epithelial cells with elevated nuclearcytoplasmic ratio and vacuolated cytoplasm).





Fig. 3.8 Structures in each of the 13 regions of Sugarbaker's PCI

Pathological finding	Increasing score —	)			
PCI	0–9	10–19	20–29	30–39	
Lymph nodes	Regional nodes negative, peritoneal nodes negative	Regional nodes positive, Peritoneal nodes negative		Regional nodes positive, Peritoneal nodes positive	
Pathological response to chemotherapy	Complete response	Near complete response	Moderate response	Poor response	
Regional distribution	Around the primary	Lower regions	Middle regions	Upper regions	
Morphological presentation	No tumor in normal perito adjacent to tumor nodules	neum S	Presence of tumor in the normal peritoneum adjacent to tumor nodules		

**Fig. 3.9** Pathological variables that may have prognostic value and could be used to compute a scoring system to stage peritoneal metastases from different primary tumours

Negative samples are defined by the absence of malignant cells and dubious cases by the presence of one or two clusters of abnormal epithelial cells (large size, abnormal nuclear-cytoplasmic ratio or enlarged nucleus) [62]. Cell blocks are prepared and immunohistochemistry may be used to confirm the presence of tumour in doubtful situations.

# 3.4 Summary and Recommendations

We have brought out some of the pathological factors that may have prognostic value in this chapter. The prognostic value of the histological subtype/ grade has been demonstrated for many tumours.

The other factors like pathological PCI, pathological response to chemotherapy, presence of microscopic disease adjacent to tumour nodules and regional lymph node value may have prognostic value which needs to be determined. Hence, we recommend a systematic capturing of all this information. The above parameters could in future used to compute a staging system for PM (Fig. 3.9). As with TNM staging, common parameters like the tumour stage and lymph node involvement correlate with prognosis across different tumour types, we hypothesize that the factors listed in Fig. 3.7 will have a bearing on the prognosis irrespective of the primary tumour site. This of course needs further prospective evaluation, development of a scoring system and its validation.

A data set of reporting these specimens is provided here (Figs. 3.10, 3.11 and 3.12). It is difficult to have one format for reporting all tumours. This form covers all major aspects pertaining to the most common tumours presenting to a pathologist. As the surgical procedure is complex and time consuming for the surgeon, so is the pathological evaluation for the pathologist. Our prospective study of 191 patients showed that the average number of blocks prepared by the pathologist was 45 per patient [19].

Demographic information
Given name/First name Family name/Surname
Date of Birth Sex Male Female
Hospital Hospital Number
Data of surgery Date of receipt
Date of reporting Laboratory number
Surgeon Pathologist
Relevant History
Primary tumor site Peritoneal metastases- Synchronous Metachronous Prior histological diagnosis
Slides of previous diagnosis - reviewed Not reviewed
Prior surgical score
Prior chemotherapy Yes / No For primary For PM
Neoadjuvant chemotherapy Yes No
Previous intraperitoneal chemotherapy Yes No

# Data set for reporting of cytoreductive surgery specimens

Description of gross findings with list of specimens\*

No	Description	Size of the specimen (3 dimensions in millimeters)	Tumor (present /absent)	Maximum tumor diameter (in mm)	Presence of other tumor nodules (Yes/No)	No of sections taken	Section from normal peritoneum (Yes/No)

\* Please list all the specimens as they are removed

Detailed pathological PCI (microscopic findings)

Fig. 3	8.1	0	Data set f	for syno	ptic re	porting of	cytored	luctive s	urgery s	pecimens-1	L
--------	-----	---	------------	----------	---------	------------	---------	-----------	----------	------------	---

Region	Structure	Size of largest deposit	Other deposits present/absent	Presence of disease in normal peritoneum	Pathological regression grade	PCI* Score (for the entire region)
0	Midline incision					
-	Anteroparietal peritoneum (Right)					1
	Anteroparietal peritoneum (Left)					
	Greater omentum					1
	Transverse colon					1
	Transverse mesocolon					1
1	Right hepatic surface (Glisson's capsule)					
	Right diaphragmatic peritoneum					1
	Foramen of Winslow					1
	Gall bladder					]
	Morrison's pouch					
2	Left hepatic surface (Glisson's)					
	Lesser omentum					]
	Hepatic hilum					
	Falciform ligament					
	Caudate lobe surface					
	Lesser sac superior recess					
	Lesser sac inferior recess					
	Central diaphragm					
3	Splenic surface					
	Tail of pancrease/splenic hilum					
	Left diaphragmatic peritoneum					
	Anterior surface of the stomach					
	Posterior surface of the stomach					
4	Left colon					
	Left paracolic peritoneum					
	Splenic flexure of colon					
5	Left pelvic peritonuem					
	Sigmoid colon					
	Sigmoid mesocolon					4
	Appendices epipioicae	-				
6						
	Left allopian tube					4
	Dight follopion tube					
	Right allopian tube					{
	Right ovary					
	Bladdel Bouch of Douglas					ł
	Rectosigmoid junction					1
7	Right pelvic peritoneum					
ľ	Caecum					
	Appendix					
	Mesoappendix					1
8	Right colon					
	Right paracolic peritoneum					1
	Bight mesocolon					1
	Appendices epliplicae					1
9	Proximal ieiural surface					
Ŭ	Proximal jejural surface (mesenteric)					1
	Proximal meso ieiunum					1
10	Distal jejural sunface					1
	Distal jejural sunface (mesenteric)					1
	Distal meso jejunum					1
11	Proximal ileal surface	1				-
	Proximal ileal surface (mesenteric)	1				
	Proximal meso ileum	1		1		
12	Distal ileal surface					1
	Distal ileal surface (mesenteric)					1
	Distal meso ileum					
	Total					

# Detailed pathological PCI (microscopic findings)

Fig. 3.11 Data set for synoptic reporting of cytoreductive surgery specimens-2

#### Details of visceral involvement

Organ	Primary tumour / metastatic disease	Margins (involved/ uninvolved)	Depth of tumour infiltration (in mm)	Mucosa (involved/ uninvolved)	No of involved nodes/no of sampled nodes

#### Other details

Description of microscopic findin	gs	
Histological tumor type		
Grade Differentiation Classification used		
Primary tumour (if resected) SiteSize G	aradeDifferentiation	
MarginsPathological sta Classification used	ge	
Total no of nodes sampled Total number of positive nodes		
Regional nodes	r	
Site	Total nodes sampled	No of positive nodes
Peritoneal nodes		
Site	Total nodes sampled	No of positive nodes

Fig. 3.12 Data set for synoptic reporting of cytoreductive surgery specimens-3

Ascitic fluid- Positive Negative Not submitted
Chemotherapy response Score used Overall score Pathological complete response Yes/ No
Final diagnosis

Signature \_\_\_\_\_

Date \_\_\_\_\_

Fig. 3.12 (continued)

# 3.5 Conclusions

Pathological evaluation of cytoreductive surgery specimens can yield many prognostic factors that can in future guide the treatment of these patients. It is complex and requires considerable effort on the part of the pathologist as well as a coordination between the surgeon and the pathologist. Standardized methods of synoptic reporting of CRS specimens should be developed by consensus and include calculation of the pathological PCI, description of the morphology, distribution of peritoneal disease, nodal involvement and pathological response to chemotherapy in addition to determining the histological subtype/grade.

### References

- Mohamed F, Cecil T, Moran B, Sugarbaker P. A new standard of care for the management of peritoneal surface malignancy. Curr Oncol. 2011;18(2):e84–96.
- Deraco M, Santoro N, Carraro O, Inglese MG, Rebuffoni G, Guadagni S, Somers DC, Vaglini M. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: feature of dissemination. A review. Tumori. 1999;85(1):1–5.
- 3. Solass W, Horvath P, Struller F, et al. Functional vascular anatomy of the peritoneum in health and dis-

ease. Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(3):145–58. https://doi.org/10.1515/pp-2016-0015.

- Kolev V, Mironov S, Mironov O, Ishill N, Moskowitz CS, Gardner GJ, Levine DA, Hricak H, Barakat RR, Chi DS. Prognostic significance of supradiaphragmatic lymphadenopathy identified on preoperative computed tomography scan in patients undergoing primary cytoreduction for advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2010;20(6):979–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/IGC.0b013e3181e833f5.
- Bhatt A, Mishra S, Parikh L, et al. Essentials for pathological evaluation of peritoneal surface malignancies and synoptic reporting of cytoreductive surgery specimens—a review and evidence-based guide. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13193-019-00897-7.
- Isaza-Restrepo A, Martin-Saavedra JS, Velez-Leal JL, Vargas-Barato F, Riveros-Dueñas R. The peritoneum: beyond the tissue—a review. Front Physiol. 2018;9:738. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphys.2018.00738.
- 7. Sugarbaker PH. Peritonectomy procedures. Ann Surg. 1995;221(1):29–42. https://doi. org/10.1097/00000658-199501000-00004.
- Meyers MA, Charnsangavej C, Oliphant M. Meyers' dynamic radiology of the abdomen. 6th ed. New York: Springer; 2011. p. 23–34.
- Yoo E, Kim JH, Kim MJ, Yu JS, Chung JJ, Yoo HS, Kim KW. Greater and lesser omenta: normal anatomy and pathologic processes. Radiographics. 2007;27(3):707–20.
- Charnsangavej C, DuBrow RA, Varma DG, Herron DH, Robinson TJ, Whitley NO. CT of the mesocolon: part 1—anatomic considerations. Radiographics. 1993;13(5):1035–45.
- Kim S, Kim TU, Lee JW, et al. The perihepatic space: comprehensive anatomy and CT features of pathologic conditions. Radiographics. 2007;27(1):129–43.
- Tirkes T, Sandrasegaran K, Patel AA, Hollar MA, Tejada JG, Tann M, et al. Peritoneal and retroperitoneal anatomy and its relevance for cross-sectional imaging. Radiographics. 2012;32:437–51.
- Fritz DL, Waag DM. Transdiaphragmatic lymphatic transport of intraperitoneally administered marker in hamsters. Lab Anim Sci. 1999;49:522–9.
- Abernethy NJ, Chin W, Hay JB, Rodela H, Oreopoulos D, Johnston MG. Lymphatic drainage of the peritoneal cavity in sheep. Am J Physiol. 1991;260:F353–8.
- Parungo CP, Soybel DI, Colson YL, et al. Lymphatic drainage of the peritoneal space: a pattern dependent on bowel lymphatics. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(2):286– 98. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-006-9044-6.
- Baratti D, Kusamura S, Cabras AD, Laterza B, Balestra MR, Deraco M. Lymph node metastases in diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(1):45–53. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-009-0756-2. Epub 24 Oct 2009.
- Sugarbaker PH. Cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic perioperative chemotherapy for selected patients with peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer: a

new standard of care or an experimental approach? Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:309417. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2012/309417.

- Silverman PM. The subperitoneal space: mechanisms of tumour spread in the peritoneal cavity, mesentery, and omentum. Cancer Imaging. 2003;4(1):25–9. https://doi.org/10.1102/1470-7330.2003.0027. Published 1 Oct 2003.
- Bhatt A, Yonemura Y, Benzerdjeb N, Mehta S, Mishra S, Parikh L, et al. Pathological assessment of cytoreductive surgery specimens and its unexplored prognostic potential—a prospective multi-centric study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;45:2398–404.
- Brenkman HJF, van der Wielen NI, Ruurda JP, et al. Surgical anatomy of the omental bursa and the stomach based on a minimally invasive approach: different approaches and technical steps to resection and lymphadenectomy. J Thorac Dis. 2017;9(Suppl 8):S809–16. https://doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.07.52.
- Feldman GB. Lymphatic obstruction in carcinomatous ascites. Cancer Res. 1975;35:325–32.
- Abu-Hijleh MF, Habbal OA, Moqattash ST. The role of the diaphragm in lymphatic absorption from the peritoneal cavity. J Anat. 1995;186(Pt 3):453–67.
- Dorfman RE, Alpern MB, Gross BH, et al. Upper abdominal lymph nodes: criteria for normal size determined with CT. Radiology. 1991;180:319–22.
- 24. Zhou J, Sun J-Y, Wu S-G, Wang X, He Z-Y, Chen Q-H, Li FY. Risk factors for lymph node metastasis in ovarian cancer: implications for systematic lymphadenectomy. Int J Surg. 2016;29:123–7.
- 25. Pereira A, Pérez-Medina T, Magrina JF, Magtibay PM, Rodríguez-Tapia A, de León J, et al. Correlation between the extent of intraperitoneal disease and nodal metastasis in node-positive ovarian cancer patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(8):917–24.
- 26. Kammar P, Bhatt A, Anam J, Waghoo S, Pandey J, Mehta S. Correlation between pelvic peritoneal disease and nodal metastasis in advanced ovarian cancer: can intraoperative findings define the need for systematic nodal dissection? Indian J Surg Oncol. 2019;10(Suppl 1):84–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13193-019-00881-1. Epub 7 Feb 2019.
- 27. Rouviáere H. Anatomie des Lymphatiques de l'homme. Paris: Masson; 1932.
- 28. Hynninen J, Auranen A, Carpén O, Dean K, Seppänen M, Kemppainen J, Lavonius M, Lisinen I, Virtanen J, Grénman S. FDG PET/CT in staging of advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: frequency of supradiaphragmatic lymph node metastasis challenges the traditional pattern of disease spread. Gynecol Oncol. 2012;126(1):64–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ygyno.2012.04.023. Epub 24 Apr 2012.
- 29. Shibata S, Yamaguchi S, Kaseda M, et al. The time course of lymphatic routes emanating from the peritoneal cavity in rats. Anat Histol Embryol. 2007;36:78–82.
- Wong CH, Chow PK, Koong HN, et al. Superiordiaphragmatic adenopathy from primary

hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2003;18:352–4.

- Holloway BJ, Gore ME, A'Hern RP, et al. The significance of paracardiac lymph node enlargement in ovarian cancer. Clin Radiol. 1997;52:692–7.
- 32. Villeneuve L, Thivolet A, Bakrin N, et al. A new internet tool to report peritoneal malignancy extent. PeRitOneal MalIgnancy stage evaluation (PROMISE) application. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(6):877–82.
- 33. Hynninen J, Lavonius M, Oksa S, Grenman S, Carpen O, Auranen A. Is perioperative visual estimation of intra-abdominal tumor spread reliable in ovarian cancer surgery after neoadjuvant chemotherapy? Gynecol Oncol. 2013;128:229–32.
- Neumeister VM, Anagnostou V, Siddiqui S, et al. Quantitative assessment of effect of preanalytic cold ischemic time on protein expression in breast cancer tissues. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2012;104:1815–24.
- Portier BP, Wang Z, Downs-Kelly E, et al. Delay to formalin fixation 'cold ischemia time': effect on ERBB2 detection by in-situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry. Mod Pathol. 2013;26:1–9.
- 36. Engel KB, Moore HM. Effects of pre-analytical variables on the detection of proteins by immunohistochemistry in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2011;135:537–43.
- Arber DA. Effect of prolonged formalin fixation on the immunohistochemical reactivity of breast markers. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2002;10:183–6.
- Dataset for colorectal cancer histopathology reports. Version number 3. https://www.rcpath.org/asset/ E94CE4A2-D722-44A7-84B9D68294134CFC. Accessed 5/6/2019.
- 39. Babic A, Loftin IR, Stanislaw S, et al. The impact of pre-analytical processing on staining quality for H&E, dual hapten, dual color in situ hybridization and fluorescent in situ hybridization assays. Methods. 2010;52:287–300.
- Chafin D, Theiss A, Roberts E, et al. Rapid two-temperature formalin fixation. PLoS One. 2013;8:e54138.
- 41. Quirke P. The pathologist, the surgeon and colorectal cancer—get it right because it matters. In: Kirkham N, Lemoine NR, editors. Progress in pathology, vol. 4. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 1998. p. 201–13.
- Burroughs SH, Williams GTACP. Best practice no 159. Examination of large intestine resection specimens. J Clin Pathol. 2000;53:344–9.
- Kerr KM, Bubendorf L, Edelman MJ, et al. Second ESMO consensus conference on lung cancer: pathology and molecular biomarkers for non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol. 2014;25:1681–90.
- 44. McCluggage WG, Judge MJ, Clarke BA, Davidson B, Gilks CB, Hollema H, Ledermann JA, Matias-Guiu X, Mikami Y, Stewart CJ, Vang R, Hirschowitz L. International collaboration on cancer reporting. Data set for reporting of ovary, fallopian tube and primary peritoneal carcinoma: recommendations from the International Collaboration on Cancer Reporting

(ICCR). Mod Pathol. 2015;28(8):1101–22. https:// doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2015.77.

- 45. Doig T, Monaghan H. Sampling the omentum in ovarian neoplasia: when one block is enough. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2006;16:36–40.
- 46. Usubütün A, Ozseker HS, Himmetoglu C, et al. Omentectomy for gynecologic cancer: how much sampling is adequate for microscopic examination? Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2007;131:1578–81.
- 47. Baratti D, Kusamura S, Cabras A, Deraco M. Cytoreductive surgery with selective versus complete parietal peritonectomy followed by hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: a controlled study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19:1416–24.
- Pande R, Sunga A, Levea C, Wilding GE, Bshara W, Reid M, Fakih MG. Significance of signet-ring cells in patients with colorectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum. 2008;51:50–5.
- 49. Carr NJ, Cecil TD, Mohamed F, Sobin LH, Sugarbaker PH, González-Moreno S, Taflampas P, Chapman S, Moran BJ. A consensus for classification and pathologic reporting of pseudomyxoma peritonei and associated appendiceal neoplasia: the results of the peritoneal surface oncology group international (PSOGI) modified Delphi process. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40(1):14–26.
- Brierley JD, Gospodarowicz MK, Wittekind C. UICC (Union for International Cancer Control) TNM classification of malignant tumours. 8th ed. Oxford: John Wiley & Sons; 2017.
- Muraji M, Sudo T, Iwasaki S, et al. Histopathology predicts clinical outcome in advanced epithelial ovarian cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy and debulking surgery. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;131:531–4.
- 52. Husain AN, Colby TV, Ordóñez NG, Allen TC, Attanoos RL, Beasley MB, Butnor KJ, Chirieac LR, Churg AM, Dacic S, Galateau-Sallé F, Gibbs A, Gown AM, Krausz T, Litzky LA, Marchevsky A, Nicholson AG, Roggli VL, Sharma AK, Travis WD, Walts AE, Wick MR. Guidelines for pathologic diagnosis of malignant mesothelioma 2017 update of the consensus statement from the International Mesothelioma Interest Group. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2018;142(1):89–108.
- 53. Carr NJ, Bibeau F, Bradley RF, Dartigues P. The histopathological classification, diagnosis and differential diagnosis of mucinous appendiceal neoplasms, appendiceal adenocarcinomas and pseudomyxoma peritonei. Histopathology. 2017;71(6):847–58.
- 54. Böhm S, Faruqi A, Said I, Lockley M, Brockbank E, Jeyarajah A, et al. Chemotherapy response score: development and validation of a system to quantify histopathologic response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in tubo-ovarian high-grade serous carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(22):2457–63. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2014.60.5212.
- 55. Passot G, You B, Boschetti G, Fontaine J, Isaac S, Decullier E, Maurice C, Vaudoyer D, Gilly FN, Cotte E, Glehen O. Pathological response to neoadjuvant
chemotherapy: a new prognosis tool for the curative management of peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(8):2608–14. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-014-3647-0.

- 56. Rubbia-Brandt L, et al. Importance of histological tumor response assessment in predicting the outcome in patients with colorectal liver metastases treated with neo-adjuvant chemotherapy followed by liver surgery. Ann Oncol. 2007;18(2):299–304.
- Yonemura Y, Canbay E, Ishibashi H. Prognostic factors of peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer following cytoreductive surgery and perioperative chemotherapy. Sci World J. 2013;2013:978394.
- Solass W, Sempoux C, Carr NJ, Detlefsen S, Bibeau F. Peritoneal sampling and histological assessment of therapeutic response in peritoneal metastasis: proposal of the Peritoneal Regression Grading Score (PRGS). Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1:99–107.
- Solass W, Sempoux C, Carr NJ, Bibeau F, Neureiter D, Jäger T, Di Caterino T, Brunel C, Klieser E, Fristrup

CW, Mortensen MB, Detlefsen S. Reproducibility of the peritoneal regression grading score for assessment of response to therapy in peritoneal metastasis. Histopathology. 2019;74(7):1014–24. https://doi. org/10.1111/his.13829. Epub 14 Apr 2019.

- Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:359–74.
- 61. Cotte E, Peyrat P, Piaton E, Chapuis F, Rivoire M, Glehen O, Arvieux C, Mabrut JY, Chipponi J, Gilly FN, EVOCAPE Group. Lack of prognostic significance of conventional peritoneal cytology in colorectal and gastric cancers: results of EVOCAPE 2 multicentre prospective study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39(7):707–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2013.03.021.
- Hayes N, Wayman J, Wadehra V, et al. Peritoneal cytology in the surgical evaluation of gastric carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 1999;79:520–4.



4

# Colorectal Peritoneal Metastases: Correlating Histopathological Findings and Disease Biology

Aditi Bhatt and Olivier Glehen

## 4.1 Introduction

Roughly 10% of the patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases (PM) undergo cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and HIPEC with a curative intent [1]. Patient selection and surgical decision making play a key role in achieving optimal outcomes much more as compared to other cancers. And the two most important prognostic factors are the PCI and a complete cytoreduction [2]. Despite complete cytoreduction, nearly 70% of the patients develop a peritoneal recurrence [3]. Even in patients who have optimal disease burden and optimal surgical and systemic chemotherapies, peritoneal recurrence remains a problem. There are several prognostic scores that have been developed to determine the prognosis and benefit of surgery, but they can be computed only during or after surgery [4, 5].

The search for newer prognostic markers continues for this heterogeneous disease [6]. Colorectal cancer is an anatomically, pathologically, and genetically heterogeneous disease. Recent data has shown that left sided and right

A. Bhatt

O. Glehen (🖂)

O. Glehen, A. Bhatt (eds.), Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3773-8\_4

sided colonic tumors have different outcomes with CRS and HIPEC and similarly, colonic and rectal tumors fare differently [7, 8].

One aspect that has received little attention is the distribution of disease in the peritoneal cavity. Involvement of certain regions like the diaphragmatic peritoneum and small bowel has been associated with poorer outcomes [9, 10]. The different pathways of peritoneal disease spread in colorectal cancer can result in PM that differ in clinical behavior and distribution in the peritoneal cavity. So far all this data about the pathways of spread comes from experimental studies that cannot duplicate the environment in vivo. Pathological finding of disease in a region is the most accurate way of studying the patterns of peritoneal dissemination. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy is administered to many patients with both resectable and unresectable disease. The pathological response to chemotherapy has prognostic value but has not been utilized for therapeutic decision making [11]. As research shifts its focus to molecular subtyping, routine histopathological findings could be further exploited to evaluate prognosis and treat patients. This chapter looks at potential prognostic information that can be derived from histopathological evaluation of cytoreductive surgery specimens of patients with colorectal PM.

Department of Surgical Oncology, Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

Department of Surgical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Lyon-Sud, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Lyon, France e-mail: olivier.glehen@chu-lyon.fr

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

## 4.2 The Histological Subtype of Colorectal Cancer

Conventional colorectal adenocarcinomas arise from adenomas and the adenoma carcinoma sequence is followed [12]. Colorectal cancer has been treated as one entity baring the need for local radiotherapy for rectal cancers. In recent times, it has been shown that colonic primaries are different biologically from their rectal counterparts with the former having a better survival compared to the rectal tumors [13, 14]. The differing mutation profile has been now identified and described [14].

There are two histological types that require special mention as the incidence of PM in these patients is higher—mucinous and signet ring cell tumors. Mucinous tumors tend to be right sided, whereas no such difference is seen in the signet ring cell carcinomas. Approximately, 10–15% of all colorectal cancers are of the mucinous variety [15]. The proportion of these tumors in patients with PM undergoing surgery is higher than patients undergoing treatment of the primary tumor. The histological features do not vary between a mucinous colonic and a mucinous rectal primary.

## 4.2.1 Mucinous Adenocarcinomas

Mucinous adenocarcinomas are a variant of adenocarcinomas with >50% of the tumor mass composed of extracellular mucin [16]. Mucinous adenocarcinomas also have a high incidence of microsatellite instability (MSI-H) and mutations of genes in the *RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK* pathway (*RAS/MAPK* pathway) [17, 18]. However, the factors involved in the development of the mucinous colorectal adenocarcinoma and their prognostic implications are not yet well understood. There are no low-grade mucinous neoplasms in the colon like in the appendix. In the appendix, there are likely to be two different origins of mucinous tumors. One is the mucinous tumors like low-grade mucinous neoplasms and high-grade mucinous neoplasms that give rise to pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP) and may over a period of time evolve into an infiltrative mucinous adenocarcinoma. The other type is the mucinous adenocarcinomas that arise de novo and also produce mucinous peritoneal implants. In the colorectum, only the second type of tumors arise. There are no low-grade mucinous neoplasms showing "pushing invasion" that give rise to PMP. Colorectal mucinous adenocarcinomas are always high grade and can be well, moderately, or poorly differentiated. They can give rise to PMP.

#### 4.2.2 Signet Ring Cell Tumors

Signet ring cell carcinomas are a variant of adenocarcinoma with >50% signet ring cells [19]. These tumors constitute 0-1% of all colorectal adenocarcinomas [20]. Any percentage of signet ring cells should be reported and the exact percentage documented. Signet ring cell tumors do not have the same molecular profile as the mucinous tumors. In this setting, two types of signet ring cell tumors must be distinguished-there are mucinous adenocarcinomas with a varying proportion of signet ring cells and there are signet ring cells tumors that do not arise in the setting of a mucinous adenocarcinoma. In the former, the peritoneal deposits are similar to other mucinous adenocarcinomas while in the latter, there are diffuse plaque like deposits without the mucinous appearance (Fig. 4.1a). The second variety usually presents with extensive disease involving all peritoneal surfaces (Fig. 4.1b). A mucinous tumor with signet ring cells may still be offered cytoreductive surgery but pure signet ring cell carcinomas usually present with extensive disease that precludes such treatment.



**Fig. 4.1** Differing morphological appearance of mucinous adenocarcinoma with signet ring cells (**a**) and pure signet ring cell carcinoma (**b**)

## 4.3 Pathogenesis of Colorectal Peritoneal Metastases

The pathogenesis of colorectal peritoneal metastases (PM) includes mechanisms of peritoneal spread, disease distribution in the peritoneal cavity, and morphological evolution of the peritoneal deposits. Colorectal cancer cells can reach the peritoneal cavity after being shed from the primary tumor either due to serosal involvement, tumor perforation, tumor manipulation during surgery or from transected blood vessels and lymphatics during surgery [21–23]. Following this, there are two pathways for development of peritoneal metastases—the transmesothelial pathway and the translymphatic pathway. An alternative pathway of peritoneal metastases is the hematogenous route.

## 4.3.1 Routes of Peritoneal Dissemination

#### 4.3.1.1 Transmesothelial Spread

In the transmesothelial pathway, once a viable, free cancer cell is present in the peritoneal cavity, adhesion to the peritoneal surface is required in order to ultimately invade the peritoneum, proliferate, and produce peritoneal deposits [24]. In the postoperative period, production of reactive oxygen species and inflammatory cytokines leads to upregulation of specific cell surface adhesion molecules leading to increased adhesiveness of cancer cells [25]. Surgical trauma caused to the peritoneum is also known to increase the adhesiveness and metastatic potential of free intraperitoneal cells. This creates a milieu that favors the development of PM [26]. The "transmesothelial peritoneal metastatic cascade" and its associated molecular events have been described. Lemoine et al. described 6 major steps in this cascade [27]. First is detachment from the primary tumor and gaining access to the peritoneal cavity. The second step involves transport of the tumor cells along predefined routes in the peritoneal cavity. The third step involves the attachment to the distant peritoneum and the fourth, invasion of the subperitoneal space. The underlying connective tissue provides the necessary scaffold for tumor proliferation. The final step involves angiogenesis, which sustains tumor proliferation and facilitates further metastatic growth [25]. These steps do not occur in isolation but are a continuous and interdependent process [27]. The

molecular events associated with each of these steps are listed in Table 4.1.

## 4.3.1.2 Translymphatic Spread

In the translymphatic pathway, the tumor cells gain access to subperitoneal lymphatics. This is through the lymphatic stomata that are present in abundance on the greater omentum: appendi-

**Table 4.1** Molecular mechanisms underlying transmesothelial peritoneal spread of colorectal cancer (from Ref.[27] with permission)

	Molecules/molecular pathways
Metastatic event	involved
Detachment from	Spontaneous tumor cell
the primary tumor	shedding
1 2	E-cadherin ↓
	N-cadherin ↑
	EMT
	PC1 and PC2 ↑
	Interstitial fluid pressure ↑
	intra-operative seeding of
	tumor cells during surgery
Peritoneal transport	Mucinous ascites
	Actin microfilament system
	Lamellipodia, Filipodia
Attachment to	Transmesothelial
distant peritoneum	dissemination
-	ICAM-1 ↑, PECAM-1,
	VCAM-1 ↑
	TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-6, INF-γ
	β1 integrin subunit
	CD43, CD44
	Hyaluron
	Translymphatic dissemination
	Lymphatic stomata
	Milky spots
Invasion into the	Rounding of mesothelial cells
subperitoneal space	HGF/SF ↑
	c-MET ↑
	Destruction of the mesothelial
	monolayer
	Tumor-induced apoptosis
	Fas ligand, Fas
	Adherence to the basement
	membrane
	Integrins
	Invasion of the peritoneal-
	blood barrier
	MINIP-1, MINIP-2, MINIP-7,
	TIMD 1 TIMD 2 TIMD 2
	$\frac{11011-1}{11011-2}, \frac{11011-3}{11011-3},$
	1  IIVIT - 4
	Plasminogen activator
	inhibitor-1 and -2
Invasion into the subperitoneal space	TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, INF- $\gamma$ $\beta$ 1 integrin subunit CD43, CD44 Hyaluron <i>Translymphatic dissemination</i> Lymphatic stomata Milky spots <i>Rounding of mesothelial cells</i> HGF/SF $\uparrow$ c-MET $\uparrow$ Destruction of the mesothelial monolayer Tumor-induced apoptosis Fas ligand, Fas <i>Adherence to the basement</i> <i>membrane</i> Integrins <i>Invasion of the peritoneal- blood barrier</i> MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-7, MMP-9, MMP-13, MMP-14 $\uparrow$ TIMP-4, TIMP-2, TIMP-3, TIMP-4 µPA/µPAR Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 and -2

<b>Table</b>	4.1	(continued)	)

	Molecules/molecular pathways
Metastatic event	involved
Proliferation and	Proliferation
angiogenesis	EGFR, EGF, TGFα
	IGF, IGF-binding protein 3
	Angiogenesis
	HIF-1α, HIF-1β
	VEGF, VEGFR

Abbreviations: E-cadherin epithelial-cadherin, N-cadherin neural-cadherin, EMT epithelial to mesenchymal transition, PC polycystin, ICAM intercellular adhesion molecule, PECAM platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule, VCAM-1 vascular cell adhesion molecule-1, *TNF-* $\alpha$  tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , *IL-1\beta* interleukin-1 $\beta$ , *IL-*6interleukin-6, INF-y interferon-y, CD43 sialophorin, HGF hepatocyte growth factor, SF scatter factor, MMP matrix metalloproteinases, TIMP tissue inhibitor metalloproteinases, µPA urokinase plasminogen activator, µPAR urokinase plasminogen activator receptor, EGFR epidermal growth factor receptor, EGF epidermal growth factor,  $TGF\alpha$  tumor growth factor- $\alpha$ , IGF-1 insulin-like growth factor 1, HIF hypoxia inducible factor, VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGFR vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

ces epiploicae of the colon, the inferior surface of diaphragm, the falciform ligament, Douglas' pouch, and the small bowel mesentery [28]. They then reach the subperitoneal lymphatic sinuses and subsequently, the peritoneal surface. Proliferation takes place in the subperitoneal lymphatic space [29]. These processes are further facilitated by milky spots that are abundant in the omentum [30]. In contrast, there are no lymphatic stomata and milky spots on the liver capsule, the peritoneum covering the abdominal wall, the serosal surface of the small bowel or the splenic capsule. These peritoneal parts are not affected until the late stages of peritoneal dissemination. The exact molecular pathways underlying translymphatic spread are not known [27]. It has been proposed that some molecular events are common in both transmesothelial and translymphatic spread [27]. It is not known to what extent this pathway is employed in colorectal cancer and what its clinical implications are. The lack of involvement of regions like the falciform ligament and umbilical round ligament in patients with limited and advanced disease points towards this pathway not being the main route of dissemination.

#### 4.3.1.3 Hematogenous Spread

It was for long believed that occurrence of colorectal PM represents end stage disease and can be treated only with a palliative intent. Subsequently, it was shown that at least in some patients the disease remains confined to the peritoneal cavity and may behave as locoregional disease and based on this understanding of the disease biology, cytoreductive surgery with or without HIPEC has been used as a locoregional treatment. But not more than 15% of the patients are eligible for this treatment and a large proportion of the patients present with extensive peritoneal disease that cannot be treated with CRS and HIPEC or with involvement of multiple extraperitoneal sites which precludes this treatment too. Some investigators argue that if cancer cells can reach other site through the blood stream, the same should hold true for the peritoneum [31, 32]. The seed-soil hypothesis also supports this proposition as different tumors have a propensity to metastasize to different sites. Moreover, as compared to other cancers like ovarian cancer, the incidence of positive peritoneal fluid cytology is low even in patients with established peritoneal metastases [32-34]. Though peritoneal metastases are more common in patients with serosal involvement, patients without serosal involvement develop metastases as well which could be explained by this route.

All these findings support that dissemination of colorectal cancer to the peritoneum can occur through the hematogenous route as well. Based on our observations, patients with colorectal PM could be classified into three groups based on the mode of dissemination and could be associated with the disease extent (Fig. 4.2).

## 4.3.2 Distribution of Peritoneal Metastases in the Peritoneal Cavity

The disease distribution in the peritoneal cavity in colorectal peritoneal metastases has been described as "**random proximal distribution**" which means that tumor cells implant in the vicinity of the primary tumor [35]. This is due to the increased aggressiveness and expression of adhesion molecules on the surface of tumor cells which facilitate cell adhesion [34, 35]. Even when ascites is present, this pattern is seen. Such distribution can be seen in patients who have undergone surgery and develop metachronous disease or those presenting with synchronous metastases. The sequence of involvement



of different regions is not known. In our prospective multi-centric study of patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery, it was observed that the disease involves lower and middle regions first and the upper region is involved at a later stage [36]. Roughly, only 10–15% of the patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery have involvement of the diaphragmatic peritoneum. One study showed that diaphragm involvement was associated with a high PCI and poor prognosis [37].

Thus, disease spread from the primary tumor to the adjacent regions and then the more distant regions. This knowledge is however limited. For example, in case of tumor involving the splenic flexure of the colon, the adjacent peritoneum and that in the left paracolic gutter are involved first. But it is not known what the sequence of involvement of other structures is. Does the tumor spread centrifugally in the abdomen or will it go to the pelvis first or the left upper quadrant first and subsequently involve other regions? Many investigators believe that it is the failure to recognize occult disease that leads to increased peritoneal recurrence and methods of intraoperative tumor detection are being developed to overcome this [37-39]. These techniques are expensive and tedious and time consuming. If the order of involvement of different regions is known, surgical resection can target sites likely to be involved. An old Dutch study comparing various tools for quantifying the extent of peritoneal disease showed that, in 102 patients, the commonest site of disease was the pelvis, followed closely by the omentum and transverse colon and then the right lower quadrant (Table 4.2). The small bowel was involved more often compared to the right upper quadrant, subhepatic space, and left upper quadrant. However, there was no correlation with the primary tumor site [41].

Many patients present with ascites, omental caking, and extensive disease on all peritoneal surfaces. This pattern of spread is akin to **wide-spread cancer distribution** that is seen high-grade malignancies like appendiceal mucinous adenocarcinoma in which there is early formation of ascites [40]. It could represent progressive dissemination from a disease that was

**Table 4.2** Proportion of 102 patients having involvementof different peritoneal regions according to the Dutch simplified PCI (from Ref. [40] with permission)

	No of patients affected
Peritoneal region	N = 102 (%)
Pelvis	90 (88.2)
Omentum and transverse	87 (85.2)
colon	
Small bowel and mesentery	78 (76.4)
Right lower abdomen	70 (68.6)
Subhepatic space and	37 (36.2)
stomach	
Right subphrenic space	37 (36.2)
Left subphrenic space	25 (24.5)

initially limited or it could represent hematogenous spread that was widespread to start with. When the disease spreads in a progressive manner, there is usually a discrepancy in the appearance of tumor deposits in different regions. In some patients with extensive disease, there is a great deal of homogeneity in the deposits in different regions which indicates that all sites were involved at the same time. This is of interest in sequencing locoregional and systemic therapies in these patients. If the spread is hematogenous, systemic therapy becomes mandatory. The role of locoregional therapy in this situation may be questioned irrespective of the response to chemotherapy. If the spread is however transmesothelial in responders to systemic chemotherapy that have resectable disease, CRS may be considered. Currently, there is no accurate way of telling one from the other. Though most peritoneal surface oncology teams would include systemic chemotherapy in the treatment of limited colorectal PM, there is no concrete evidence demonstrating its benefit [42].

One finding that can point towards hematogenous dissemination is the peritoneal deposits at the ends of the vasa recta.

Circulating tumors cells (CTCs) are known to be a risk factor for developing metastatic disease and the presence of CTCs has been associated with a poor prognosis following CRS and HIPEC [43, 44]. The presence or absence of CTCs could point towards the pathway of peritoneal dissemination and this can be a point for future research.

# 4.3.2.1 Transition from Localized to More Extensive Disease

The pathways of peritoneal spread have largely been studied in experimental studies. The clinical evolution of PM is not known. It is not known if the same tumor can employ more than one pathway or different tumors exclusively employ different pathways. It seems more plausible that the former is true. Based on this assumption, in tumors that employ only the transmesothelial pathway, disease spreads to regions in proximity of the primary tumor. There is limited circulation of free cells due to less frequent formation of ascites in early disease. Progression to more extensive disease can occur if the disease is left untreated. The subperitoneal lymphatics connect different regions of the peritoneal cavity and thus may lead to rapid spread of the disease in the peritoneal cavity [45]. Progression from less to more extensive can be a slower process when only the transmesothelial pathway is employed and may become a more rapid process when the translymphatic pathway is employed (Fig. 4.3). In patients who have had prior surgery, it may be

presumed that tumor cells trapped in fibrous tissue that is laid down postoperatively have a limited capacity to spread to other regions and the disease may remain limited for some time [36, 46]. In some others, disease can spread rapidly to the other regions. The other cancers that employ the translymphatic pathway are ovarian cancer and mucinous appendiceal tumors. In both of these, a large proportion of the patients present with disseminated disease.

Much less is known about hematological spread but it can be presumed that is present with extensive disease. Sugarbaker has hypothesized that each peritoneal deposit serves as a source of free cancer cells and thus, not only does the peritoneal deposit itself grow in size but produces other deposits as well [47]. Our hypothesis is that an alternative pathway is employed for rapid dissemination in some patients, whereas in others the transition is slower. And this would explain why some patients with disease progression on chemotherapy with resectable disease still experience a survival benefit after complete cytoreductive surgery [48].



This understanding of the disease biology is very important for both therapeutic and preventive strategies. For example, one of the reasons for failure of prophylactic and second look surgical trials could be the mode of dissemination [49, 50]. It may not be possible to prevent hematogenous spread and perhaps even translymphatic spread with locoregional therapies. Secondly, the early detection of PM may not alter the survival as it represents a lead time bias as seen with screening strategies for primary tumors. It also provides proof for the hypothesis that PM can remain limited in extent for a certain period of time before becoming disseminated. Second look surgery is performed to detect peritoneal spread in an early stage but not all cases of limited spread are found on second look. Some are detected during routine imaging as well. And the other reason for failure of these trials may be the surveillance itself. These clinical trials are performed at expert centers where expert radiologists can identify peritoneal disease early. An average radiologist may miss such findings. Imaging has evolved significantly since the trial protocols were made [51, 52].

Even in high-grade serous epithelial cancers, rapid progression to stage 3 disease occurs and screening strategies have largely been ineffective [53]. Colorectal peritoneal metastases may not be an ideal comparison. But even though the risk factors for peritoneal dissemination are known, the incidence of PM in such patients is only 30% for some of the common risk factors and in most patients PM occur without any known high-risk features [54].

## 4.3.2.2 Findings of Our Prospective Study

In our prospective study (unpublished results) of 100 patients, there were 34 patients with tumors of the right colon and 61 with left sided tumors including 10 rectal tumors. Involvement of the upper regions was seen in 32%. However, only 19 of these 32 patients had involvement of the diaphragmatic peritoneum. Involvement of the upper region was associated with a higher surgical and pathological PCI. It was never seen in absence of involvement of either the lower or middle regions. Contrary to this, the middle and lower regions were involved in isolation. Similarly, small bowel involvement was less commonly seen as compared to lower and middle region involvement and was rarely seen without involvement of either of these regions. These findings correlate well with the findings of the study by Verwaal et al. of 102 patients in which the pelvis and omentum and transverse colon were the most commonly involved sites [40]. Moreover, these are the findings in patients who have been selected to undergo CRS and have had a complete CRS. It can be inferred that patients with limited disease have transmesothelial spread that is seen in the vicinity of the primary tumor. This is explained by the increased incidence of involvement of the lower and middle regions in which the colon and rectum lie. We believe that the other two pathways seldom produce localized disease. In our study, none of the patients had involvement of the falciform and umbilical round ligament [55]. This is contrary to other tumors like ovarian cancer and appendiceal mucinous tumors in which involvement of these structures is common. If colorectal PM with limited spread employed these pathways, then these regions should be involved more commonly as they represent sites having high concentration of peritoneal lymphatics.

Though these results are from a prospective study with a modest number of patients, they are important. Not just the distribution but the evolution of peritoneal disease is not known. The clinical setting provides the best scenario for studying this evolution. Experimental studies cannot account for the situation in vivo and the various confounding factors [56–58]. The main drawback is that it excludes a lot of patients with PM that did not undergo cytoreductive surgery and plausibly had more extensive disease.

Looking at patients who undergo iterative procedures, it is usually those who had a lowmoderate PCI at the first surgery. In a multicentric collaborative study of 231 patients undergoing iterative procedures for colorectal PM, 56% had a PCI of <10 and 31% had a PCI of 11–20 during the first surgery [59]. Most of the patients undergoing such procedures could be the ones that had transmesothelial spread alone. Disease recurrence may be due to intraoperative spillage which has not been dealt with despite maximal locoregional therapy or occult disease that could not be identified or progression of disease that has employed other pathways of spread.

## 4.3.3 Morphology of Peritoneal Deposits

Colorectal peritoneal metastases can have a varied morphology pointing towards varied underlying disease biology. There are discrete tumor deposits with normal surrounding peritoneum in some patients, whereas in others, the tumor nodules themselves are more numerous and the surrounding peritoneum has microscopic disease. It may be hypothesized that in transmesothelial spread, the peritoneal disease comprises of solitary deposits with little abnormality in the surrounding peritoneum (Fig. 4.4). In ovarian cancer and peritoneal mesothelioma, in nearly half the patients, peritoneum surrounding the tumor nodules has microscopic disease. This is



**Fig. 4.4** CT scan showing solitary metachronous peritoneal deposit 12 months after surgical treatment of the primary tumor

seen less often in colorectal cancer and it is likely to be related to translymphatic or hematogenous spread (Fig. 4.5). Translymphatic spread is common in mucinous tumors and thus a high PCI. In mucinous appendiceal tumors, widespread cancer distribution is seen which is the result of early formation of mucinous ascites resulting from the rupture of a mucinous tumor. In a study looking at the prognostic impact of PCI in mucinous and non-mucinous peritoneal carcinomatosis, the median PCI for mucinous tumors was 20.5 compared to 8 for non-mucinous tumors [60]. Though this may reflect a selection bias as most surgeons do not use a PCI cut-off for mucinous tumors, it also shows that in general mucinous tumors present with more advanced disease. As stated earlier, mucinous colorectal tumors are different and the widespread cancer distribution that is seen in these tumors is likely to be due to translymphatic spread rather than the early formation of ascites.



**Fig. 4.5** CT scan showing extensive disease in another patient 12 months after surgical treatment of the primary tumor. Possibly the routes of peritoneal dissemination are different in the two patients (in Fig. 4.5 and Fig. 4.6)

#### 4.3.4 Clinical Implications

For transmesothelial spread, the surgical resection can comprise of limited resection of the disease bearing peritoneum. For patients in whom the spread is translymphatic or hematogenous, more extensive resection comprising of the entire peritoneal region (according to the five peritonectomies described by Sugarbaker) should be performed [61]. Whereas locoregional therapy comprising of cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC may be sufficient for patients with transmesothelial spread, systemic chemotherapy and locoregional therapies are required for tumors employing the other two pathways of spread. The former are the patients who can be cured with surgery; however, the benefit of surgery is not just providing a cure or a long disease free interval but also preventing the symptoms of peritoneal metastases [62]. The results of a randomized trial bear proof for this fact [63]. Though the median progression free survival was 13 months, the overall survival was 43 months and surgery had the additional benefit of preventing the metastases from becoming symptomatic even when the disease progressed. Trials looking at the benefit of systemic chemotherapy should look at these three broad subgroups based on the pathway of peritoneal dissemination. In addition, what should be borne in mind is the use of neoadjuvant chemotherapy and biological therapy that alters the morphology of peritoneal metastases and reduces the accuracy of visual inspection in estimating the PCI. It is the disease extent before NACT that should be considered. The use of NACT does not produce a dramatic response as it does in ovarian cancer and the PCI does not reduce by more than 2-3 points [64]. When PM develop from transmesothelial spread, surgery perhaps has a greater role and systemic therapies are an adjunct to surgery, whereas in patients with translymphatic and hematogenous spread, systemic therapy would be the mainstay and surgery would be an adjunct to these therapies. As stated above, the long overall survival despite early disease progression seen in various prospective and retrospective studies and clinical trials demonstrates the importance of systemic therapies in the management of colorectal PM [65].

Further proof of this hypothesis comes from the findings of a recent study that showed that patients who developed metachronous disease early had poor outcomes with CRS and HIPEC [66]. It shows that it is not transmesothelial spread but an alternative mechanism that is work and such patients need better systemic therapies. Adjuvant locoregional therapies also failed to demonstrate benefit in preventing peritoneal spread [67]. Whereas one may argue that it represents a non-optimal therapeutic regimen and there is no flaw in the strategy itself, it is more likely that an alternative pathway is responsible for the peritoneal spread and cannot be dealt with locoregional therapy.

At many centers, it is a policy to give neoadjuvant chemotherapy to all patients of colorectal PM irrespective to the disease extent [2]. For patients with a low PCI, surgery can be performed even when there is disease progression provided a complete cytoreduction is possible [49]. More caution should be exercised while applying this strategy to patients with a higher PCI as surgery may fail to control such disease. Passot et al. in their study of 93 patients showed that even if response to systemic chemotherapy improve survival, interesting long-term survival was obtained for progressive patients undergoing complete cytoreduction [49]. Information about the disease extent in patients undergoing surgery with progressive disease is not available but would be interesting to know.

#### 4.3.5 Future Directives

Some molecular markers have been identified as predictors of poorer outcome following cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC. A multi-centric retrospective study showed that patients with mutations in *RAS/RAF* oncogenes were predictive of a poorer survival [68]. Another study showed that none of the patients with *BRAF* mutation survived for more than 24 months following surgery [69]. The negative impact of *VEGF* expression was brought out by another bi-institutional study [70]. Another study showed a favorable outcome in patients with *MSI-H* (microsatellite



Fig. 4.6 Correlation between pathway of peritoneal spread, disease extent, and morphological presentation of peritoneal metastases in patients with colorectal cancer

instability-high) tumors and a less favorable outcome in patients with mucinous and signet ring cell tumors [71]. Whereas these studies point towards biomarkers predictive of a poor prognosis, it is difficult to extrapolate it to clinical practice. For example, should surgery be refused to a patient carrying *BRAF* mutation? No data exists correlating the PCI with BRAF mutations. Do such tumors present with localized disease? We propose that all patients should be sub-classified into three groups according to the disease extent (Fig. 4.6). This is an arbitrary division based on the fact that not all limited peritoneal disease is an accidental finding. Many times it is picked up on routine imaging. As shown in the recent COLOPEC trial, nearly 70% of patients in both the control and experimental group had peritoneal metastases detected on surveillance and invasive diagnostic methods. However, 30% of the patients in both groups were not eligible for CRS at the time of detection of PM. Thus, invasive and non-invasive surveillance methods can detect PM in some patients at an early stage. In others, progression occurs which cannot be prevented or detected early, thus suggesting that

alternative methods of peritoneal dissemination work that cannot be prevented by locoregional strategies.

The simplified peritoneal cancer index (SPCI) developed by the Dutch group was similar to Sugarbaker's PCI [72, 73]. In the score, the peritoneal cavity is divided into 7 regions instead of 13 and scored like Sugarbaker's PCI (Fig. 4.7). What is of interest is that the number of regions involved had an impact on survival in addition to the absolute score [40]. Involvement of 2–3 regions was associated with the most favorable outcomes. If we extrapolate this to Sugarbaker's PCI, it would come to involvement of 4-5 regions and an average PCI score of around 8–10 (Fig. 4.8). Involvement of more than 5 regions is a contra-indication for the procedure [72]. Extrapolating to Sugarbaker's PCI, this would come to an average PCI of 15-20. Thus, group 1 would have patients with a PCI of 0–8, group 2, 9–15 and group 3, >15. Our hypothesis is that different mechanisms of peritoneal dissemination play a predominant role in patients in these three groups. We hypothesize that when the transmesothelial route is the sole route of

Region	Tumor size	None	<1 cm	1–5 cm	>5 cm
	Score	0	1	2	3
1	Pelvis				
2	Right lower region				
3	Greater omentum, transverse colon and spleen				
4	Right subphrenic space				
5	Left subphrenic space				
6	Subhepatic space and lesser omentum				
7	Small bowel and small bowel mesentery				
	Total (0–21)				

Fig. 4.7 The Dutch simplified peritoneal cancer index (SPCI)

Fig. 4.8 Comparison	Comparison of PCI and SPCI				
PCI and the SPCI	Lesion size score	PCI	SPCI		
	0	None	None		
	1	<0.5 cm	<2.0 cm		
	2	0.5–5.0 cm	2.0–5.0 cm		
	3	>5.0 cm	>5.0 cm		
	Total maximum score	39	21		

Table 4.3 Information that should be captured in pathological assessment of cytoreductive surgery specimens of colorectal PM

Surgical	Pathological	No. of	List of involved	List of involved	Disease in	Disease in normal
PCI	PCI	regions	regions	regions (Dutch	regions	peritoneum
		involved	(Sugarbaker's	simplified PCI)	with PCI-0	adjacent to tumor
			PCI)			nodules

dissemination, the PCI is seldom more than 10. When the disease is more extensive, other pathways play a predominant role. In addition to recording the absolute value of the PCI, the number of involved regions and sites of involvement should be recorded [74]. We could either divide the peritoneal cavity into 7 regions like the Dutch or a more simplified way would be into upper (regions 1, 2, and 3), middle (regions 0, 4, and 8), lower (region 5, 6, and 7), and small bowel regions (regions 9, 10, 11, and 12 of Sugarbaker's PCI). It would be interesting to see the impact of the regions involved on survival. To further study the morphology of peritoneal deposits, additional sections should be taken from the surrounding normal peritoneum and the pathological PCI should be calculated for every patient [36]. When information is captured prospectively in this manner, it would be possible to test our hypothesis, understand the disease biology better and correlate peritoneal spread with biomarker abnormality.

We also propose that the surgical PCI and pathological PCI should both be computed (Table 4.3). The surgical PCI is important for making treatment decisions during surgery. Our prospective study showed that the surgical and pathological PCI correlate only in 20% of the patients with colorectal PM. Often, the PCI was zero on pathological examination [36].

## 4.4 Mechanisms of Formation of Ovarian Metastases and Relation to Peritoneal Metastases

In women, a frequent site of the progression of peritoneal metastases is the ovaries, especially in the premenopausal women. In one retrospective study, when both the ovaries were macroscopically normal, the incidence of involvement was 17% and when one ovary had macroscopic disease and the other looked normal, the incidence of occult disease was 45% [75]. Evers et al. reported ovarian metastases in 52% of the patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC [76]. A third of these patients had only microscopic disease in the ovaries.

The term Krukenberg's tumor is frequently used for all ovarian metastases [77]. The ovarian metastases originally described by Krukenberg are defined histologically and have a significant component (arbitrarily defined as >10% of the tumor) of mucin-filled signet ring cells [78, 79]. Ovarian metastases can precede the onset of PM, occur synchronously with PM or a patient with OM may never develop PM. In a small percentage, PM may precede the development of OM. The reported incidence of peritoneal metastases in patients with ovarian metastases ranges from 30% to 72% [80, 81].

Honore et al. classified ovarian metastases as a high-risk factor for developing PM with an incidence of more than 30% [54].

The exact mechanism of tumor spread is still unknown but it is believed to occur through one of the three routes—lymphatic, hematogenous, or transcoelomic [82–84]. There is rationale to support all three mechanisms of development and it is possible that it is not just one particular pathway that is employed but different routes for different patients.

The lymphatic route is believed to be the most likely route of cancer spread with several supporting evidence.

- 1. Microscopically, the hilum and cortex have demonstrated lymphatic permeation.
- 2. Many cases of ovarian metastases have been reported in which the primary tumor is confined to mucosa and submucosa. In this situation, given the rich lymphatic network in the gastrointestinal mucosa and submucosa, the only logical explanation is that the tumor spread has occurred through the translymphatic route.
- 3. The risk of metastasis is higher with increased number of positive metastatic lymph nodes.
- Lack of involvement of the peritoneum without any evidence of seedings, adhesion, or tumor infiltrates favors other pathways as opposed to the transcoelomic route [85].

It has also been proposed that ovarian metastases develop due to transcoelomic spread and are a part of the spectrum of peritoneal disease [86]. Many patients present with synchronous ovarian and peritoneal metastases and in those with ovarian metastases alone, PM develop subsequently in a large majority. This is further supported by the increased incidence of ovarian metastases in premenopausal women. The raw area created on the surface of the ovary during ovulation provides a site for attachment and subsequent proliferation of intraperitoneal free cancer cells. Contrary to this, there are some findings that support an alternative pathway of spread. There are no signs of peritoneal dissemination in most cases of ovarian metastases and the capsular surface of affected ovaries is usually smooth, without tumor deposits [87]. At times it is more than one route that is employed [85]. Ovarian metastases have been associated with an increased incidence of BRAF mutations [88].

In patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC, the presence of ovarian metastases did not lead to an inferior overall survival in one retrospective study [89]. Another study in which only oophorectomy was performed showed a median survival of around 25 months [88]. Perhaps, this study included patients with more advanced disease that may not have been amenable to CRS or it was not performed when possible.

None of these studies reports what proportion of patients have true Krukenberg's tumors as opposed to metastases without features of Krukenberg's tumor. From a pathological perspective, it may be different and may have clinical implications which are not known.

It remains uncertain if ovarian metastases truly are a spectrum of peritoneal metastases. This assumption has come from the high incidence of PM in patients with OM and supporting molecular data is lacking. Even in patients with ovarian metastases, prophylactic procedures have not been useful in preventing peritoneal recurrence and prolonging survival [50]. Though initial studies showed that a systematic second look with HIPEC was of benefit in preventing peritoneal recurrence, a randomized trial failed to demonstrate the benefit of such a strategy [50, 80, 90].

## 4.5 Pathological Response to Systemic Chemotherapy

Neoadjuvant systemic therapy is often used in patients with colorectal PM. It has the benefits of preventing/controlling metastatic disease at other sites, reducing the disease extent and identifying patients that do not benefit from cytoreductive surgery [2]. The pathological response to neo-adjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) has prognostic value in patients undergoing surgery for colorectal liver metastases [91]. Similarly, one study demonstrated its prognostic value in patients, a pathological complete response at all sites was seen in nearly 10% of the patients [11].

Tumor regression results in partial or complete disappearance of malignant cells and replacement of the tumor by fibrous or fibroinflammatory granulation tissue and/or mucinous acellular pools and/or infarct-like necrosis [92]. Residual tumor cells are hyperchromic and usually show nuclear atypia (karyorrhexis, pyknosis, or enlargement of nuclei) and presence of giant cells and apoptotic figures. Tumor cells get replaced by fibrotic scar tissue comprising of fibroblasts and bundles of collagen. The tumor itself can produce a fibroinflammatory response and this must be distinguished from a pathological response systemic therapy. Chemotherapy-induced to fibrosis has the presence of foamy macrophages which distinguish it from a fibroinflammatory response [93, 94]. Fibroinflammatory changes may be seen around the tumor in the absence of any treatment [95]. Chemotherapy can also produce infarct-like necrosis which should be distinguished from tumor necrosis. Tumor necrosis which is also called "dirty necrosis" is seen at the center of the tumor and is due to loss of blood supply at the center of the tumor. There is patchy distribution of nuclear debris. The necrotic area is mixed with viable cells and the periphery of the necrotic area is also surrounded by these. There is a rapid transition from viable cells to dying cells with pyknotic nuclei and to anucleate cells. In contrast, infarct-like necrosis comprises of large confluent areas of eosinophilic cytoplasmic remnants located centrally within a lesion with no or minimal nuclear debris [96]. The necrotic tissue is often surrounded by a layer of hyaline-like fibrosis with foamy macrophages. Cholesterol clefts, microcalcifications, and hemosiderin are sometimes present in between the necrotic cells. The third type of response is a "colloid response" which is characterized by the presence of mucin pools with or devoid of viable cells that replace the tumor cells (Figs. 4.9 and 4.10). This is similar to the acellular mucin pools seen in rectal cancer following neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy [11, 97, 98]. When there are no viable tumor cells, it is a pathological complete response. Post-treatment mucin pools are less basophilic than untreated colloid carcinomas and may have small areas of fibrosis within them. These must be distinguished from acellular mucin seen in patients with PMP of appendiceal origin. Such mucin is characterized by the ingrowth of blood vessels (organizing mucin) and the presence of acellular mucin indicates the presence of disease.

There is only one scoring system developed by Passot et al. from Lyon-Sud Hospital specific for pathological response to NACT in colorectal cancer. The pathological response is based on the determination of the percentage of viable tumor cells with respect to the area of each nodule [99]. The response is classified into three groups; no residual cancer cells in all specimens (complete



**Fig. 4.9** Acellular mucin pools seen after a complete pathological response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in a patient with signet ring cell carcinoma (a, b)



**Fig. 4.10** Intraoperative appearance of peritoneal deposits on small bowel and mesentery in the same patient as in Fig. 4.9 (**a**, **b**). It is not possible to predict the grade of response on visual appearance alone

response), 1–49% residual cancer cells (major response), and 50% or more residual cancer cells (minor or no response). For patients with multiple specimens, a mean of values is used to define the pathological response. The classification is based on the classifications used for liver metastases [100]. This scoring system has not been validated. The BIG-RENAPE group further looks at the type of necrosis extrapolating from the prognostic significance of "infarct-like necrosis" in colorectal liver metastases [94]. The classification for pathological response to NACT that is currently used by this group is as follows.

#### Histological response

- No residual tumor cell
- < 50% residual tumor cells
- 50% residual tumor cells

#### Type of regression

- Fibrosis
- · Infarct-like necrosis
- · Colloid response

There are two other classifications. The first one is from Japan. This classification has been extrapolated from the response in gastric cancer and divides the response into four categories [10]. Ef-0 reflects no pathologic response or response in less than one-third of the tumor tissue, Ef-1 means that the cancer is detected in the tumor tissue ranging from one-third to less than two-thirds of the tumor tissue, Ef-2 reflects the degeneration of cancer tissue in more than two-thirds of the tumor tissue, while Ef-3 responds to complete disappearance of the cancer cells.

Another scoring system has been developed by Solass et al. and is used to evaluate response following pressurized intraperitoneal aerosolized chemotherapy (PIPAC) [92]. The classification is provided in Table 4.4 and is termed as peritoneal regression grading score (PRGS). Four quadrant peritoneal biopsies are performed and a grade is assigned to each region. The recommended minimum size of the biopsy sample is 3–5 mm. The mean score and highest grade are both recorded. This system is used for other peritoneal tumors as well.

Passot et al. showed that patients with a complete response had a survival benefit and so did

Table 4.4	The	peritoneal	regression	grading	score
(PRGS)					

	Peritoneal regression grading score		
Grade	Tumor cells	Regression features	
PRGS 1—complete response	No tumor cells	Abundant fibrosis and/or acellular mucin pools and/ or infarct-like necrosis	
PRGS 2—major response	Regressive changes predominant over tumor cells	Fibrosis and/or acellular mucin pools and/or infarct-like necrosis predominant over tumor cells	
PRGS 3—minor response	Predominance of tumor cells	Tumor cells predominant over fibrosis and/or acellular mucin pools and/or infarct-like necrosis	
PRGS 4—no response	Solid growth of tumor cells (seen at the lowest magnification)	No regressive changes	

patients with a major response [11]. However, they could not identify any significant predictive factor for the response. Pathological response to NACT only has prognostic value and has not treatment implications so far. As pointed out by Sugarbaker, patients who have a complete/near complete response to NACT may derive little benefit from the addition of HIPEC [101]. CRS in such patients is useful for staging and establishing a complete response [101]. The main drawback is that the response is known only after surgery and cannot be predicted preoperatively. Such scores are only for patients who have received a single line of chemotherapy for peritoneal metastases. The value of such scores in patients who have received more than one line of chemotherapy is not known.

#### 4.6 Conclusions

Routine histopathological findings represent an untapped source of information about the disease biology of colorectal PM that is still only partially understood. The pathological disease extent as determined by the pathological PCI, the distribution of disease in the peritoneal cavity, the morphology of peritoneal deposits, and the response of NACT should be recorded systematically for all patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery. This information can be correlated with biomarker abnormalities to understand the varied clinical behavior of colorectal PM and devise different preventive and therapeutic strategies for different patients.

#### References

- Glehen O, Sugarbaker PH, Elias D, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a multi-institutional study. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22:3284–92.
- Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, et al. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(1):63–8.

- Gelli M, Huguenin JFL, de Baere T, Benhaim L, Mariani A, Boige V, Malka D, Sourouille I, Ducreux M, Elias D, Goéré D. Peritoneal and extraperitoneal relapse after previous curative treatment of peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer: what survival can we expect? Eur J Cancer. 2018;100:94– 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2018.04.015. Epub 5 Jul 2018.
- Kwakman R, Schrama AM, van Olmen JP, et al. Clinicopathological parameters in patient selection for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal cancer metastases: a meta-analysis. Ann Surg. 2016;263(6):1102–11.
- Demey K, Wolthuis A, de Buck van Overstraeten A, et al. External validation of the prognostic nomogram (COMPASS) for patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24(12):3604–8.
- Sadanandam A, Wang X, de Sousa E, Melo F, Gray JW, Vermeulen L, Hanahan D, Medema JP. Reconciliation of classification systems defining molecular subtypes of colorectal cancer: interrelationships and clinical implications. Cell Cycle. 2014;13:353–7.
- Kelly KJ, Alsayadnasser M, Vaida F, Veerapong J, Baumgartner JM, Patel S, Ahmad S, Barone R, Lowy AM. Does primary tumor side matter in patients with metastatic colon cancer treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy? Ann Surg Oncol. 2019;26(5):1421–7. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-019-07255-5. Epub 27 Feb 2019.
- Tonello M, Sommariva A, Pirozzolo G, Mattara G, Pilati P. Colic and rectal tumors with peritoneal metastases treated with cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC: one homogeneous condition or two different diseases? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;45(11):2003–8. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejso.2019.06.020. Epub 12 Jun 2019.
- Bhatt A, Kammar P, Mehta S, et al. Chasing rainbows? The possibility of "cure" in patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases undergoing cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC—a retrospective study by INDEPSO. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2019;10(Suppl 1):49.
- Yonemura Y, Canbay E, Ishibashi H. Prognostic factors of peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer following cytoreductive surgery and perioperative chemotherapy. Sci World J. 2013;2013:978394. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/978394.
- 11. Passot G, You B, Boschetti G, Fontaine J, Isaac S, Decullier E, Maurice C, Vaudoyer D, Gilly FN, Cotte E, Glehen O. Pathological response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy: a new prognosis tool for the curative management of peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(8):2608–14. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-014-3647-0.
- Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. Cell. 1996;87:159–70.

- Baran B, Mert Ozupek N, Yerli Tetik N, Acar E, Bekcioglu O, Baskin Y. Difference between left-sided and right-sided colorectal cancer: a focused review of literature. Gastroenterol Res. 2018;11(4):264–73. https://doi.org/10.14740/gr1062w.
- 14. Paschke S, Jafarov S, Staib L, et al. Are colon and rectal cancer two different tumor entities? A proposal to abandon the term colorectal cancer. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(9):2577. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms19092577. Published 30 Aug 2018.
- Hugen N, Brown G, Glynne-Jones R, de Wilt JH, Nagtegaal ID. Advances in the care of patients with mucinous colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2016;13(6):361–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.140. Epub 1 Sept 2015.
- Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND. WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system. 4th ed. Geneva: World Health Organization Classification of Tumours; 2010.
- Hugen N, van Beek JJP, de Wilt JHW, Nagtegaal ID. Insight into mucinous colorectal carcinoma: clues from etiology. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(9):2963– 70. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-014-3706-6.
- Hugen N, Simons M, Halilovic A, van der Post RS, Bogers AJ, Marijnissen-van Zanten MA, et al. The molecular background of mucinous carcinoma beyond MUC2. J Pathol Clin Res. 2015;1(1):3–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/cjp2.1.
- Pande R, Sunga A, Levea C, Wilding GE, Bshara W, Reid M, Fakih MG. Significance of signet-ring cells in patients with colorectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum. 2008;51:50–5.
- Yun SO, Cho YB, Lee WY, et al. Clinical significance of signet-ring-cell colorectal cancer as a prognostic factor. Ann Coloproctol. 2017;33(6):232–8. https://doi.org/10.3393/ac.2017.33.6.232.
- Jayne D. Molecular biology of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 2007;134:21–33.
- Murphy EM, Sexton R, Moran BJ. Early results of surgery in 123 patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from a perforated appendiceal neoplasm. Dis Colon Rectum. 2007;50:37–42.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritoneum as the first-line of defense in carcinomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2007;95:93–6.
- 24. Kostić Z, Cuk V, Bokun R, Ignjatović D, Usaj-Knezević S, Ignjatović M. Detection of free cancer cells in peritoneal cavity in patients surgically treated for gastric adenocarcinoma. Vojnosanit Pregl. 2006;63:349–56.
- Joyce JA, Pollard JW. Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9(4):239–52.
- 26. Sluiter N, De Cuba E, Kwakman R, Kazemier G, Meijer G, Te Velde EA. Adhesion molecules in peritoneal dissemination: function, prognostic relevance and therapeutic options. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2016;33:401–16.
- Lemoine L, Sugarbaker P, Van der Speeten K. Pathophysiology of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: role of the peritoneum. World J

Gastroenterol. 2016;22(34):7692–707. https://doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i34.7692.

- Yonemura Y, Kawamura T, Bandou E, Tsukiyama G, Endou Y, Miura M. The natural history of free cancer cells in the peritoneal cavity. In: Gonzalez-Moreno S, editor. Advances in peritoneal surface oncology. Berlin: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg; 2007. p. 11–23.
- Yonemura Y, Endo Y, Obata T, Sasaki T. Recent advances in the treatment of peritoneal dissemination of gastrointestinal cancers by nucleoside antimetabolites. Cancer Sci. 2007;98:11–8.
- Shimotsuma M, Shields JW, Simpson-Morgan MW, et al. Morpho-physiological function and role of omental milky spots as omentum associated lymphoid tissue (OALT) in the peritoneal cavity. Lymphology. 1993;26:90–101.
- Ge W, Chen G, Fan XS. Pathway of peritoneal carcinomatosis maybe hematogenous metastasis rather than peritoneal seeding. Oncotarget. 2017;8(25):41549–54. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.14607.
- 32. Bae SJ, Shin US, Ki YJ, Cho SS, Moon SM, Park SH. Role of peritoneal lavage cytology and prediction of prognosis and peritoneal recurrence after curative surgery for colorectal cancer. Ann Coloproctol. 2014;30:266–73.
- 33. Cotte E, Peyrat P, Piaton E, et al., EVOCAPE Group. Lack of prognostic significance of conventional peritoneal cytology in colorectal and gastric cancers: results of EVOCAPE 2 multicentre prospective study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:707–714.
- Sugarbaker PH. Surgical management of carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Clin Colon Rectal Surg. 2005;18(3):190–203. https://doi.org/10.105 5/s-2005-916280.
- 35. Sugarbaker PH. Observations concerning cancer spread within the peritoneal cavity and concepts supporting an ordered pathophysiology. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: principles of management. Boston, MA: Kluwer Academic Publisher; 1995. p. 80–99.
- 36. Bhatt A, Yonemura Y, Benzerdjeb N, Mehta S, Mishra S, Parikh L, Kammar P, et al. Pathological assessment of cytoreductive surgery specimens and its unexplored prognostic potential—a prospective multi-centric study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;45(12):2398–2404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2019.07.019.
- 37. Boogerd LSF, Hoogstins CES, Schaap DP, et al. Safety and effectiveness of SGM-101, a fluorescent antibody targeting carcinoembryonic antigen, for intraoperative detection of colorectal cancer: a doseescalation pilot study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;45(12):2398–404.
- 38. Hentzen JEKR, Rovers KP, Kuipers H, van der Plas WY, Been LB, Hoogwater FJH, van Ginkel RJ, Hemmer PHJ, van Dam GM, de Hingh IHJT, Kruijff S. Impact of synchronous versus metachronous onset of colorectal peritoneal metastases on survival outcomes after cytoreductive surgery (CRS)

with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC): a multicenter, retrospective, observational study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2019;26(7):2210–21. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-019-07294-y. Epub 15 Mar 2019.

- Harlaar NJ, Koller M, de Jongh SJ, et al. Molecular fluorescence-guided surgery of peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: a single-centre feasibility study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;1:283–90.
- Kusamura S, Baratti D, Zaffaroni N, Villa R, Laterza B, Balestra MR, et al. Pathophysiology and biology of peritoneal carcinomatosis. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(1):12–8.
- 41. Verwaal VJ, van Tinteren H, van Ruth S, et al. Predicting the survival of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin treated by aggressive cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Br J Surg. 2004;91:739–46.
- 42. Rovers KP, Simkens GA, Punt CJ, van Dieren S, Tanis PJ, de Hingh IH. Perioperative systemic therapy for resectable colorectal peritoneal metastases: sufficient evidence for its widespread use? A critical systematic review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2017;114:53–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. critrevonc.2017.03.028.
- Burz C, Pop VV, Buiga R, Daniel S, Samasca G, Aldea C, Lupan I. Circulating tumor cells in clinical research and monitoring patients with colorectal cancer. Oncotarget. 2018;9(36):24561–71. https:// doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.25337.
- 44. Melero JT, Ortega FG, Gonzalez AM, Carmona-Saez P, Garcia Puche JL, Sugarbaker PH, Delgado M, Lorente JA, Serrano MJ. Prognostic factor analysis of circulating tumor cells in peripheral blood of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colon cancer origin treated with cytoreductive surgery plus an intraoperative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy procedure (CRS + HIPEC). Surgery. 2016;159(3):728–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2015.09.013. Epub 28 Oct 2015.
- Silverman PM. The subperitoneal space: mechanisms of tumour spread in the peritoneal cavity, mesentery, and omentum. Cancer Imaging. 2003;4(1):25–9. https://doi.org/10.1102/1470-7330.2003.0027.
- 46. Carmignani CP, Sugarbaker TA, Bromley CM, Sugarbaker PH. Intraperitoneal cancer dissemination: mechanisms of the patterns of spread. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2003;22:465–72.
- Sugarbaker PH. Colorectal cancer: prevention and management of metastatic disease. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:782890.
- 48. Passot G, Vaudoyer D, Cotte E, You B, Isaac S, Gilly FN, et al. Progression following neoadjuvant systemic chemotherapy may not be a contraindication to a curative approach for colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg. 2012;256:125–9.
- 49. Goere D, Glehen O, Quenet F, Ducreux M, Guilloit JM, Texier M, Benhamou E, Elias D. Results of a randomized phase 3 study evaluating the poten-

tial benefit of a second-look surgery plus HIPEC in patients at high risk of developing colorectal peritoneal metastases (PROPHYLOCHIP-NTC01226394). J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(15 Suppl):3531.

- 50. Klaver CEL, Stam R, Sloothaak DAM, et al. Colorectal cancer at high risk of peritoneal metastases; long term outcomes of a pilot study on adjuvant laparoscopic HIPEC and future perspectives. Oncotarget. 2017;8:51200–9.
- 51. Sobhani I, Itti E, Luciani A, Baumgaertner I, Layese R, André T, Ducreux M, Gornet JM, Goujon G, Aparicio T, Taieb J, Bachet JB, Hemery F, Retbi A, Mons M, Flicoteaux R, Rhein B, Baron S, Cherrak I, Rufat P, Le Corvoisier P, de'Angelis N, Natella PA, Maoulida H, Tournigand C, Durand Zaleski I, Bastuji-Garin S. Colorectal cancer (CRC) monitoring by 6-monthly 18FDG-PET/CT: an open-label multicentre randomised trial. Ann Oncol. 2018;29(4):931–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdy031.
- 52. Low RN. Preoperative and surveillance MR imaging of patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2016;7(1):58–71. https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2078-6891.2015.115.
- Kim J, Park EY, Kim O, Schilder JM, Coffey DM, Cho CH, Bast RC Jr. Cell origins of high-grade serous ovarian cancer. Cancers (Basel). 2018;10(11):433. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers10110433.
- 54. Honoré C, Gelli M, Francoual J, Benhaim L, Elias D, Goéré D. Ninety percent of the adverse outcomes occur in 10% of patients: can we identify the populations at high risk of developing peritoneal metastases after curative surgery for colorectal cancer? Int J Hyperthermia. 2017;33(5):505–10. https://doi.org/1 0.1080/02656736.2017.1306119.
- 55. Bhatt A, Yonemura Y, Mehta S, Benjerdjeb N, Kammar P, Parikh L, et al. Target region resection in patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery for peritoneal metastases-is it necessary in absence of visible disease? Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;46(4):582–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2019.11.495.
- 56. Jonjić N, Peri G, Bernasconi S, Sciacca FL, Colotta F, Pelicci P, Lanfrancone L, Mantovani A. Expression of adhesion molecules and chemotactic cytokines in cultured human mesothelial cells. J Exp Med. 1992;176:1165–74.
- 57. Klein CL, Bittinger F, Skarke CC, Wagner M, Köhler H, Walgenbach S, Kirkpatrick CJ. Effects of cytokines on the expression of cell adhesion molecules by cultured human omental mesothelial cells. Pathobiology. 1995;63:204–12.
- Müller J, Yoshida T. Interaction of murine peritoneal leukocytes and mesothelial cells: in vitro model system to survey cellular events on serosal membranes during inflammation. Clin Immunol Immunopathol. 1995;75:231–8.
- Alzahrani NA, Valle SJ, Fisher OM, Sugarbaker PH, Yonemura Y, Glehen O, Goere D, Honore C, Brigand C, de Hingh I, Verwaal VJ, Deraco M, Baratti D,

Kusamura S, Pocard M, Piso P, Maerz L, Marchal F, Moran B, Levine EA, Dumont F, Pezet D, Abboud K, Kozman MA, Liauw W, Morris DL, Peritoneal Surface Oncology Group International (PSOGI) and Big-RENAPE Groups. Iterative cytoreductive surgery with or without hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal metastases: a multi-institutional experience. J Surg Oncol. 2019;119:336–46.

- 60. Brandl A, Weiss S, von Winterfeld M, Krannich A, Feist M, Pratschke J, Raue W, Rau B. Predictive value of peritoneal cancer index for survival in patients with mucinous peritoneal malignancies treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a single centre experience. Int J Hyperthermia. 2018;34(5):512–7. https:// doi.org/10.1080/02656736.2017.1351627. Epub 26 Jul 2017.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritonectomy procedures. Ann Surg. 1995;221(1):29–42.
- 62. Moran BJ, Tzivanakis A. The concept of "Obstruction-Free Survival" as an outcome measure in advanced colorectal cancer management. Pleura Peritoneum. 2018;3(1):20180101. https://doi. org/10.1515/pp-2018-0101.
- 63. Quenet F, Elias D, Roca L, et al. A UNICANCER phase III trial of hyperthermic intra-peritoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis (PC): PRODIGE 7. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2018;36:LBA3503. (abstr).
- 64. Sgarbura O, Samalin E, Carrere S, Mazard T, de Forges H, Alline M, Pissas MH, Portales F, Ychou M, Quenet F. Preoperative intraperitoneal oxaliplatin for unresectable peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: a pilot study. Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(4):209–15. https://doi.org/10.1515/pp-2016-0018. Epub 21 Dec 2016.
- 65. Mirnezami R, Mehta AM, Chandrakumaran K, Cecil T, Moran BJ, Carr N, Verwaal VJ, Mohamed F, Mirnezami AH. Cytoreductive surgery in combination with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy improves survival in patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases compared with systemic chemotherapy alone. Br J Cancer. 2014;111(8):1500–8.
- 66. Sluiter NR, Rovers KP, Salhi Y, Vlek SL, Coupé VMH, Verheul HMW, Kazemier G, de Hingh IHJT, Tuynman JB. Metachronous peritoneal metastases after adjuvant chemotherapy are associated with poor outcome after cytoreduction and HIPEC. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018;25(8):2347–56. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-018-6539-x. Epub 31 May 2018.
- 67. Klaver CEL, Wisselink DD, Punt CJA, Snaebjornsson P, Crezee J, Aalbers AGJ, et al., COLOPEC Collaborators Group. Adjuvant hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with locally advanced colon cancer (COLOPEC): a multicentre, open-label, randomised trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;4(10):761–770. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30239-0. Epub 29 Jul 2019.

- 68. Schneider MA, Eden J, Pache B, Laminger F, Lopez-Lopez V, Steffen T, Hübner M, Kober F, Roka S, Campos PC, Roth L, Gupta A, Siebenhüner A, Kepenekian V, Passot G, Gertsch P, Glehen O, Lehmann K. Mutations of RAS/RAF protooncogenes impair survival after cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for peritoneal metastasis of colorectal origin. Ann Surg. 2018;268(5):845–53.
- 69. Graf W, Cashin PH, Ghanipour L, et al. Prognostic impact of *BRAF* and *KRAS* mutation in patients with colorectal and appendiceal peritoneal metastases scheduled for CRS and HIPEC. Ann Surg Oncol. 2020;27:293–300. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-019-07452-2.
- Massalou D, Benizri E, Chevallier A, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer: novel clinical and molecular outcomes. Am J Surg. 2017;213(2):377–87.
- 71. de Cuba EM, de Hingh IH, Sluiter NR, Kwakman R, Coupé VM, Beliën JA, Verwaal VJ, Meijerink WJ, Delis-van Diemen PM, Bonjer HJ, Meijer GA, Te Velde EA. Angiogenesis-related markers and prognosis after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1601–8. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-5023-0. Epub 4 Jan 2016.
- Jacquet P. Sugarbaker PH Current methodologies for clinical assessment of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 1996;15:49–58.
- Swellengrebel HA, Zoetmulder FA, Smeenk RM, Antonini N, Verwaal VJ. Quantitative intra-operative assessment of peritoneal carcinomatosis—a comparison of three prognostic tools. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2009;35(10):1078–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2009.02.010. Epub 13 Mar 2009.
- Harmon RL, Sugarbaker PH. Prognostic indicators in peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastrointestinal cancer. Int Semin Surg Oncol. 2005;2(1):3. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1477-7800-2-3.
- Mehta AM, Bignell MB, Alves S, Dayal SP, Mohamed F, Cecil TD, et al. Risk of ovarian involvement in advanced colorectal or appendiceal tumors involving the peritoneum. Dis Colon Rectum. 2017;60:691–6.
- Evers DJ, Verwaal VJ. Indication for oophorectomy during cytoreduction for intraperitoneal metastatic spread of colorectal or appendiceal origin. Br J Surg. 2011;98(2):287–92. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bjs.7303.
- 77. Young RH. From Krukenberg to today: the ever present problems posed by metastatic tumors in the ovary: part I. Historical perspective, general principles, mucinous tumors including the Krukenberg tumor. Adv Anat Pathol. 2006;13(5):205–27.
- Woodruff JD, Novak ER. The Krukenberg tumor: study of 48 cases from the ovarian tumor registry. Obstet Gynecol. 1960;15:351–60.
- 79. Kiyokawa T, Young RH, Scully RE. Krukenberg tumors of the ovary: a clinicopathologic analysis of 120 cases with emphasis on their variable

pathologic manifestations. Am J Surg Pathol. 2006;30(3):277–99.

- 80. Elias D, Honoré C, Dumont F, Ducreux M, Boige V, Malka D, Burtin P, Dromain C, Goéré D. Results of systematic second-look surgery plus HIPEC in asymptomatic patients presenting a high risk of developing colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg. 2011;254(2):289–93. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e31822638f6.
- Honoré C, Goéré D, Souadka A, et al. Definition of patients presenting a high risk of developing peritoneal carcinomatosis after curative surgery for colorectal cancer: a systematic review. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:183–92.
- Kubeček O, Laco J, Špaček J, Petera J, Kopecký J, Kubečková A, Filip S. The pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management of metastatic tumors to the ovary: a comprehensive review. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2017;34(5):295–307.
- 83. Shah B, Tang WH, Karn S. Transcoelomic spread and ovarian seeding during ovulation: a possible pathogenesis of Krukenberg tumor. J Cancer Res Ther. 2017;13(1):152–3.
- Wu F, Zhao X, Mi B, Feng LU, Yuan NA, Lei F, Li M, Zhao X. Clinical characteristics and prognostic analysis of Krukenberg tumor. Mol Clin Oncol. 2015;3(6):1323–8.
- Agnes A, Biondi A, Ricci R, Gallotta V, D'Ugo D, Persiani R. Krukenberg tumors: seed, route and soil. Surg Oncol. 2017;26(4):438–45.
- Yada-Hashimoto N, Yamamoto T, Kamiura S, Seino H, Ohira H, Sawai K, et al. Metastatic ovarian tumors: a review of 64 cases. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;89:314–7.
- 87. Yamanishi Y, Koshiyama M, Ohnaka M, Ueda M, Ukita S, Hishikawa K, Nagura M, Kim T, Hirose M, Ozasa H, Shirase T. Pathways of metastases from primary organs to the ovaries. Obstet Gynecol Int. 2011;2011:612817. https://doi. org/10.1155/2011/612817.
- 88. Mori Y, Nyuya A, Yasui K, Toshima T, Kawai T, Taniguchi F, Kimura K, Inada R, Nishizaki M, Haraga J, Nakamura K, Umeda Y, Kishimoto H, et al. Clinical outcomes of women with ovarian metastases of colorectal cancer treated with oophorectomy with respect to their somatic mutation profiles. Oncotarget. 2018;9:16477–88.
- 89. Bignell MB, Mehta AM, Alves S, Chandrakumaran K, Dayal SP, Mohamed F, Cecil TD, Moran BJ. Impact of ovarian metastases on survival in patients treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal malignancy originating from appendiceal and colorectal cancer. Colorectal Dis. 2018;20(8):704–10. https://doi. org/10.1111/codi.14057.
- Delhorme JB, Triki E, Romain B, Meyer N, Rohr S, Brigand C. Routine second-look after surgical treatment of colonic peritoneal carcinomatosis. J Visc Surg. 2015;152(3):149–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jviscsurg.2015.01.002. Epub 31 Jan 2015.

- 91. Shen P, et al. Peritoneal surface disease from colorectal cancer: comparison with the hepatic metastases surgical paradigm in optimally resected patients. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(12):3422–32.
- 92. Solass W, Sempoux C, Carr NJ, Detlefsen S, Bibeau F. Peritoneal sampling and histological assessment of therapeutic response in peritoneal metastasis: proposal of the Peritoneal Regression Grading Score (PRGS). Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1:99–107.
- 93. Bibeau F, Gil H, Castan F, et al. Comment on "Histopathologic evaluation of liver metastases from colorectal cancer in patients treated with FOLFOXIRI plus bevacizumab". Br J Cancer. 2013;109:3127–9.
- Chang HHL, Leeper WR, Chan G, Quan D, Driman DK. Infarct-like necrosis: a distinct form of necrosis seen in colorectal carcinoma liver metastases treated with perioperative chemotherapy. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36(4):570–6.
- Becker K, Mueller JD, Schulmacher C, Ott K, Fink U, Busch R, et al. Histomorphology and grading of regression in gastric carcinoma treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Cancer. 2003;98:1521–30.
- Chirieac LR, Swisher SG, Correa AM, et al. Signetring cell or mucinous histology after preoperative

chemoradiation and survival in patients with esophageal or esophagogastric junction adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:2229–36.

- Shia J, McManus M, Guillem JG, et al. Significance of acellular mucin pools in rectal carcinoma after neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy. Am J Surg Pathol. 2011;35:127–34.
- Lim S-B, Hong S-M, Yu CS, et al. Prevalence and clinical significance of acellular mucin in locally advanced rectal cancer patients showing pathologic complete response to preoperative chemoradiotherapy. Am J Surg Pathol. 2013;37:47–52.
- 99. Rubbia-Brandt L, et al. Importance of histological tumor response assessment in predicting the outcome in patients with colorectal liver metastases treated with neo-adjuvant chemotherapy followed by liver surgery. Ann Oncol. 2007;18(2):299–304.
- Blazer DG 3rd, et al. Pathologic response to preoperative chemotherapy: a new outcome end point after resection of hepatic colorectal metastases. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(33):5344–51.
- 101. Sugarbaker PH. Preoperative assessment of cancer patients with peritoneal metastases for complete cytoreduction. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(3):295–302.



5

# Epithelial Serous Ovarian Cancer: Patterns of Peritoneal Dissemination and their Clinical Implications

Aditi Bhatt, Loma Parikh, Suniti Mishra, and Olivier Glehen

## 5.1 Introduction

Peritoneal involvement in epithelial ovarian cancer is considered loco-regional disease and classified as stage III. Over 75% of the patients are diagnosed with peritoneal involvement and it represents the commonest site of recurrence which occurs in over 80% of the patients after first-line therapy [1, 2].

The peritoneal metastatic cascade in epithelial ovarian cancer has been described by many investigators. Epithelial ovarian cancer employs the transmesothelial and translymphatic pathways for peritoneal dissemination [3]. The disease distribution in the peritoneal cavity differs from that in other cancers that employ the same routes and has not been studied in detail. It is known the pelvic spread occurs before extra-pelvic spread. But what is the sequence of involvement of upper abdomi-

A. Bhatt

Department of Surgical Oncology, Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

L. Parikh Department of Pathology, Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

S. Mishra Department of Pathology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India

O. Glehen (🖂)

Department of Surgical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Lyon-Sud, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Lyon, France e-mail: olivier.glehen@chu-lyon.fr

nal regions? Is the greater omentum always the first extra-pelvic site to be involved? Does diaphragm involvement occur before or after omental involvement and in what percentage of patients with omental involvement is diaphragm involvement seen? Most surgeons can tell from experience that omental involvement comes first but it has not been studied systematically. Similarly, it is known that small bowel involvement comes at a later stage and is perhaps the first site to respond to chemotherapy. But there is only preliminary data on the patterns of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy [4]. The surgical goal in ovarian cancer is complete removal of all visible disease [5]. However, this is largely dependent on the extent of exploration performed by the surgeon. Disease in the right subphrenic peritoneum could be missed if the liver is not completely mobilized as it is often present only on the tendinous portion of the diaphragm and the retro-hepatic region. If the sequence and incidence of involvement of various regions are known, resection can be based on the probability of involvement of that region and not just visual findings which are often inaccurate in determining the presence or absence of disease. This chapter reviews the pathways and patterns of peritoneal dissemination in epithelial serous ovarian cancer (ESOC), disease distribution in the peritoneal cavity and patterns of response to systemic chemotherapy and their implication on clinical practice. The impact of the histological subtype is also discussed.

## 5.2 Histological Subtype

## 5.2.1 High- and Low-Grade Serous Carcinomas

Serous carcinoma is the commonest subtype of epithelial ovarian cancer. ESOCs constitute nearly 75% of the epithelial ovarian tumours [6]. They are further classified as low grade and high grade. The low- and high-grade tumours are genetically and biologically distinct entities. Low-grade serous carcinomas arise from definite precursor lesions like benign serous cystadenomas, adeno-fibromas and serous borderline tumours, a transition that takes place in a stepwise manner. Serous cystadenomas and adenofibromas are considered to be surface epithelial inclusion cysts. Their transition to low-grade serous carcinoma is promoted by *KRAS* and *BRAF* mutation [7–9].

On the other hand, most high-grade serous tumours are now known to arise from precursor lesions in the fallopian tube known as serous tubal intraepithelial carcinomas (STICs) that progress to high-grade ESOC with subsequent involvement of the ovarian surface and rapid peritoneal dissemination [10]. There is early loss of *TP53* function followed by loss of *BRCA* function leading to deficiency in homologous recombination repair of double-strand DNA breaks [11, 12].

Clinically, high-grade ESOC has been characterized by psammomatous calcification on CT, peritoneal carcinomatosis, relatively small ovaries and a highly elevated serum CA-125 level [13]. Figure 5.1 shows the type of TP53 immunostaining characteristic of high-grade ESOC.

Low-grade ESOC is considered to arise from serous borderline tumours and may have features of serous papillary borderline tumours like a papillary architecture and internal branching pattern, like that of a sea anemone (Fig. 5.2) [14]. Therefore low-grade ESOC may resemble these tumours that tend to present as large ovarian masses [15]. Figure 5.3 shows the CT images of low-grade serous carcinoma presenting with a large pelvic mass. These large masses can infil-



Fig. 5.1 TP53 immunostaining characteristic of highgrade epithelial serous ovarian cancer

trate the pelvic peritoneum or adhere to it or they may be adherent to the peritoneal deposits. They are usually always resectable as the retroperitoneum is not involved. ESOCs are tumours that typically colonize the mesothelial cell layer but invade no further, leaving the deeper lamina largely intact [16].

Even in high-grade ESOC, cancer spreads readily within the peritoneal cavity but its metastatic growths only invade the surface of affected organs [16]. An extra-peritoneal approach is preferred in these situations to completely resect the primary tumour and peritoneal deposits.

Retroperitoneal involvement is not seen unless a prior surgery in the region has led to retroperitoneal tumour implantation.

## 5.2.2 Distinguishing Serous Tumours from Other Histological Subtypes

The histopathological, morphological, and molecular features of the high-grade ESOC (Fig. 5.4) and other subtypes are different and have been clearly described elsewhere [17]. However, sometimes there are mixed tumours or those with overlapping features that make it dif-



**Fig. 5.2** Typical histological features of a low-grade epithelial serous ovarian cancer: (a) at  $10 \times$  magnification, (b) at  $40 \times$  magnification, and (c) psammomatous calcifications

ficult to assign the correct subtype. Histological features of the serous subtype can be confused with clear cell features and immunohistochemistry can be used to make the distinction. In 1973, the World Health Organization (WHO) defined ovarian clear cell carcinomas as tumours with clear cells growing in solid, tubular or glandular patterns with hobnail cells lining cysts and tubules and this was further updated in 2003 (Fig. 5.5) [17, 18].

Where the histological features are confusing, immunohistochemistry can be used to distinguish them from serous tumours using markers like hepatocyte nuclear factor 1-beta (HNF1B), napsin A, Wilms tumour 1 (WT1), oestrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and tumour protein 53 (p53). Clear cell carcinomas stain positive for HNF1B and napsin A and negative for WT1, ER, PR and p53, whereas the reverse is seen in high-grade ESOC (Fig. 5.6) [19–21].



Fig. 5.3 (a, b) CT scan images of a patient with low-grade serous carcinoma presenting with a large pelvic mass. Such masses can be resected completely using the extraperitoneal approach



Fig. 5.4 Histological features of high-grade serous carcinoma of the ovary: (a) at  $10 \times$  magnification and (b) at  $40 \times$  magnification



**Fig. 5.5** Histological features of clear cell carcinoma of the ovary. Hyalinized stroma is seen in (**a**) and (**b**) and hobnail pattern in (**c**) and (**d**): (**a**, **c**) at  $10 \times$  magnification and (**b**, **d**) at  $40 \times$  magnification

However, it is not always possible to distinguish between the two in this manner.

Han et al. reported on a series of tumours of mixed serous and clear cell histology, with the stage, immune-phenotypes and mitotic activity similar to that of pure serous carcinomas, and concluded that they most probably represent pure serous epithelial ovarian cancer with clear cell changes [22]. In a study by Gilks et al., comprising of 575 patients with early stage clear cell carcinomas, 23% of the tumours were misdiagnosed as ESOC at the time of initial diagnosis [23]. Unlike ESOC, the reported accuracy of frozen section has been less than 50% for clear cell car-

cinomas. In one study, frozen section diagnosis was accurate for clear cell carcinomas only 41% of the time [24].

93

Such tumours are now classified as serous carcinomas with clear cell features and represent a variant of high-grade serous epithelial ovarian cancer. Clear cell carcinomas also have a higher frequency of AT-rich interactive domain 1A [SWI-like] gene (*ARID1A*) and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (*PI3K*) pathway mutations [25].

Endometrioid and clear cell carcinomas both arise in the setting of endometriosis and it is not uncommon for them to present as a mixed ovarian carcinoma [26-28].



**Fig. 5.6** Immunostaining in clear cell carcinoma of the ovary of the tumour in Fig. 5.5: (a) Lack of p53 expression; (b) lack of WT1 expression; (c, d) focal expression of napsin. The diagnosis was made histological features

Mixed endometrioid-clear cell carcinomas account for approximately 1.3% of epithelial ovarian cancers and represent the most common mixed ovarian carcinoma [29].

Radiologically, clear cell carcinomas present as a unilocular or multilocular cystic mass with eccentric mural nodules [30, 31]. Coexistent endometriosis is another key finding in these tumours [32]. Clinically, these tumours present as more infiltrative deposits as compared to serous cancer. Locally advanced disease confined to the pelvis is seen more often compared to ESOC. Though at this point, surgical treatment decisions do not vary according to the subtype except for the mucinous variety, it is important to correctly classify the tumour as this may in future be used to develop targeted therapies. At the same time, it is still unclear if the surgical approach and extent of peritoneal resection should be the same for all subtypes as discussed later in this chapter.

## 5.3 Lessons from the FIGO Staging of Ovarian Cancer

The Federation International of Gynecology and Obstetrics introduced a clinical staging system for ovarian cancer in 1988 that was revised in 2013 (Table 5.1) [33]. In light of evidence supporting the origin of high-grade ESOC from the fallopian

FIGO 2013		FIGO 1988	
Ι	Tumour confined to the ovaries or fallopian tube(s)	Ι	Tumour confined to the ovaries
IA	Tumour limited to one ovary (capsule intact) or fallopian tube	IA	Tumour limited to one ovary (capsule intact)
IB	Tumour limited to both ovaries of fallopian tubes	IB	Tumour limited to both ovaries
IC	Tumour limited to one or both ovaries or fallopian tubes with any of the following	IC	Tumour limited to one or both ovaries with any of the following: capsule ruptured; tumour on ovarian surface; malignant cells in ascites
IC1	Surgical spill	IC1/2	Malignant cells in ascites/peritoneal washings
IC2	Capsule ruptured before surgery or tumour on the surface of the ovary or fallopian tube	ICa/b	Capsule ruptured before surgery/surgical spill
103	Malignant cells in ascitic fluid	П	Turney involves one on both evening on
11	or fallopian tubes with pelvic extension or primary peritoneal tumour	11	fallopian tubes with pelvic extension
IIA	Extensions and/or implants on ovaries and/or uterus and/or fallopian tubes	IIA	Extensions and/or implants on ovaries and/or uterus and/or fallopian tubes
IIB	Extension to other pelvic intraperitoneal tissues	IIB	Extension to other pelvic intraperitoneal tissues
		IIC	Pelvic extension with malignant cells in ascites
III	Tumour spread to peritoneum outside the pelvis and/or spread to retroperitoneal lymph nodes	Ш	Tumour spread to peritoneum outside the pelvis and/or spread to retroperitoneal lymph nodes
IIIA1	Positive retroperitoneal lymph nodes only	IIIA	Microscopic peritoneal metastases outside the pelvis
IIIA1(i)	Metastases ≤1 mm		
IIIA1(ii)	Metastases >1 mm		
IIIA2	Microscopic extra-pelvic involvement		
IIIB	Macroscopic extra-pelvic peritoneal metastases <2 cm	IIIB	Macroscopic extra-pelvic peritoneal metastases <2 cm
IIIC	Macroscopic extra-pelvic peritoneal metastases >2 cm	IIIC	Macroscopic extra-pelvic peritoneal metastases >2 cm and/or regional lymph node involvement
IV	Distant metastases excluding peritoneal metastases	IV	Distant metastases excluding peritoneal metastases
IVA	Pleural fluid with positive cytology		
IVB	Parenchymal metastases and metastases to extra-abdominal organs		

 Table 5.1
 Comparison of the old and new FIGO classifications

tubes, the primary tumour in this classification can be either in the ovary or the fallopian tube. There is no stage I for primary peritoneal serous cancer (PPSC) for which staging begins from Stage II. Figure shows a systematic approach to determining the primary tumour site in these group of tumours.

Two important changes from the point of view of peritoneal involvement were:

## 5.3.1 Down-staging of regional lymph node involvement to stage IIIA from IIIC

Less than 10% of the patients with ovarian cancer have retroperitoneal lymph node involvement beyond the pelvis without peritoneal involvement [34–37]. These are now classified as IIIA1 and not IIIC as they have a better prognosis than patients with peritoneal involvement [38, 39].

#### 5.3.2 Sub-classification of stage 1C

A ruptured ovarian tumour or those with surface involvement of the ovary with peritoneal deposits were classified as IC. In the old classification, this included patients with iatrogenic rupture, spontaneous rupture before surgery as well as those with malignant pelvic ascites proven on cytology. It is now subdivided into stage IC1, IC2 and IC3 (IC1 is a surgical spill; IC2 includes capsule ruptured before surgery or tumour on ovarian or fallopian tube surface; IC3 includes malignant cells in ascites or peritoneal washings). In a retrospective study of 870 patients of which 56.8% had serous tumours, 119 patients had stage IC disease and 53 of these has IC3. The survival in IC3 was significantly inferior to that obtained in the other two groups (Fig. 5.7) [40].

The point to be kept in mind here is that pelvic ascites occurs in patients with ovarian cancer without extra-pelvic metastases. This early formation of ascites or presence of positive peritoneal washings may have a role to play in peritoneal dissemination and disease distribution in the peritoneal cavity.



**Fig. 5.7** Overall survival in patients with stage IC ovarian cancer according to the new FIGO classification. (From Ref. [40] with permission)

## 5.3.3 Diagnosis of Serous Cancers in Stage II Disease

A very small percentage of serous cancers are picked up in stage II. As opposed to other histological subtypes, stage II in serous cancer is involvement of the pelvic peritoneum. Infiltration of adjacent structures is not the case in serous ovarian cancer. It may be seen in the low-grade tumours and other histological subtypes. The pelvic disease alone is seldom voluminous and widespread peritoneal involvement is more common. In a series of 220 patients treated by Seidman et al., only 2 out of 118 patients with serous carcinoma presented with stage II disease 5 with stage one. The clear cell and endometrioid subtypes had over 50% diagnosed in stages I and II [41].

PPSC can be diagnosed in Stage II, which means that the origin of this tumour lies in the pelvic peritoneum. Previously, there was no stage II for PPSC.

## 5.4 Pathways of Peritoneal Dissemination

Ovarian cancer has been the prototype for peritoneal disease. The peritoneal metastatic cascade was first described by Sampson in 1931 as the 'life history of metastatic peritoneal implants from an ovarian primary tumour'. The following steps occur in ovarian carcinogenesis: (1) escape of cancer cells from the primary ovarian tumour into the peritoneal cavity, (2) migration of these cells to their site of implantation, (3) reaction of the peritoneal surface injured by the cancer cells leading to the fixation of the cancer cells in fibrin and organization of the fibrin, and (4) progression of the cancerous implant at that site [42].

Cancer cells reach the site of implantation through three routes—transcoelomic or transmesothelial spread, translymphatic spread and haematogenous spread. In the first two routes, single cells or clusters of cells are shed from the tumour spontaneously, due to surgical manipulation or spontaneous or iatrogenic rupture and thus gain access to the peritoneal cavity [43, 44]. The distribution of cancer cells is influenced by three factors—gravitational force, negative upward pressure exerted by diaphragmatic movements and peristaltic activity of the gastrointestinal tract [45].

In transmesothelial spread, cells then attach to the peritoneum, breach the mesothelial barrier and gain access to the submesothelial tissue and thereafter, proliferation of the cells is triggered (Fig. 5.8) [46].

The second route is the translymphatic route in which the tumour cells gain access to the subperitoneal tissue through the lymphatic stomata. Anatomical regions in the peritoneal cavity with a high concentration of lymphatic stomata are the greater omentum, appendices epiploicae of the colon, inferior surface of the diaphragm, falciform ligament, Douglas pouch and small bowel mesentery [47, 48]. Some of these regions are also rich in milky spots and therefore, common sites of peritoneal cancer spread [48]. The peritoneum covering the liver, serosa of the small bowel and splenic capsule are devoid of these stomata and therefore, involvement of these regions occurs in a very late stage of peritoneal cancer spread.

Both transmesothelial and translymphatic spread occur in ESOC.

It has been proposed that high-grade ESOC spreads by the haematogenous route to the peritoneum but conclusive evidence is lacking [49].



**Fig. 5.8** Transmesothelial spread in ovarian cancer— Cancer cells are shed from the primary tumour leading to the accumulation of free intraperitoneal cancer cells that

attach to the mesothelial layer, invade the submesothelial tissue and produce metastatic deposits

## 5.4.1 Molecular Events in Peritoneal Dissemination

The propensity for epithelial ovarian cancer to spread to the peritoneum and/or other organs is governed by the mutational status of the p53 gene [50]. Ninety-six percent of all cases belonging to high-grade ESOC carry mutations in the tp53 gene, which could occur at multiple locations within the gene sequence. The molecular events in the stepwise development of ovarian peritoneal metastases have been described. A membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase plays a pivotal role in the spontaneous release of cell–cell adherent sheets, which later form spheroids [51, 52]. The next step is to facilitate mesothelial cell invasion.

ESOC cells can prime mesothelial cells to facilitate peritoneal adhesion. It has been shown that ESOC cells can secrete exosomes enriched for CD44 molecule (CD44). These exosomes could be internalized by mesothelial cells, resulting in the secretion of matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP-9), which aids in the invasion of mesothelial cells [53]. Mesothelial cells also secrete lysophosphatidic acid (LPA), which aids in mesothelial adhesion of ESOC cells expressing receptors for LPA [53, 54].

After breaching the mesothelial monolayer, the cancer cells quickly adhere to the submesothelial matrix, which is predominantly composed of collagens type I and III, using both  $\alpha 2\beta 1$ - and  $\alpha 3\beta 1$ -integrins [55, 56]. MT1-MMP is a major interstitial collagenase enabling invasion and anchorage of metastatic ovarian cancer cells in the submesothelial matrix [57]. Threedimensional collagen I is instrumental in upregulating the transmembrane collagenase membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) via several mechanisms [58, 59]. Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-dependent modulation of MT1-MMP surface dynamics was also found to contribute to transition to a more invasive phenotype of ovarian cancer cells [60].

Thus, several molecular interactions between cancer and mesothelial cells establish success-

ful cell–cell adhesion during mesothelial adhesion. Disseminating cancer cells take advantage of secreted molecules produced by mesothelial cells and can reprogram their gene expression to aid in peritoneal adhesion. Likewise, ageing can amplify the process of peritoneal carcinomatosis by providing more permissive conditions for cancer cell adhesion. Importantly, ESOC cells themselves express proteins that enable their attachment and tissue invasion.

This knowledge of the molecular pathways is particularly important for developing new systemic treatments for ovarian cancer.

## 5.5 Disease Distribution in Ovarian Cancer

A knowledge of disease distribution is important in ovarian cancer as the peritoneum represents a large area and the surgeon should know where to look for disease in each situation. Moreover, the morphological appearance of peritoneal disease is variable and as discussed below, the presence of disease is difficult to determine on visual inspection in many situations. Some tumours employ the same pathways for peritoneal spread but the actual distribution of disease in the peritoneal cavity differs and this may be attributed to the inherent disease biology.

The distribution of disease in the peritoneal cavity can be described as one of the following [61, 62]:

 Random proximal distribution (RPD), in which early peritoneal implantation is due to the presence of adhesion molecules on the surface of tumour cells and occurs even in the presence of ascites. Tumour implants form in the vicinity of the primary tumour first and other regions are involved at a later stage. This is typical of moderate-grade and high-grade cancers, such as adenocarcinomas and carcinoids of the appendix, non-mucinous colorectal cancer, and gastric cancer.

- 2. Complete redistribution (CRD), in which there is no adhesion to the peritoneal surface close to the primary tumour, due to the low biologic aggressiveness of tumour cells. The tumour cells follow the flow of peritoneal fluid and get implanted in the dependent regions like the pelvis, retro-hepatic and right sub-hepatic regions. In addition, sites rich in lymphatics and milky spots like the subphrenic regions and omentum have a greater concentration of tumour deposits.
- 3. Widespread cancer distribution (WCD), in which there is presence of adhesion molecules on the surface of cancer cells that produce a great amount of mucus, interfering with early cell adhesion. This biological behaviour is found in aggressive and undifferentiated tumours such as high-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei arising from an appendiceal primary tumour, mucinous colorectal cancer and mucinous ovarian cancer [63].

Based on the above, the pattern of distribution in high-grade ESOC cancer should be 'random proximal distribution'. But it has been observed that the parietal peritoneum is involved first and disease follows the pattern of redistribution [64]. The early formation of ascites may be responsible for this. Certain sites are involved early in the course of peritoneal spread like the omentum, pelvic peritoneum, right paracolic gutter and right subphrenic peritoneum. At the molecular level, an experimental study showed that cells invade the mesothelium independently or form clusters known as spheroids. Aggregated ovarian tumour cells in vitro have shown increased complement resistance because of insufficient penetration of antibodies and complement into the spheroids [65]. The interaction between  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  integrin and fibronectin has been implicated in the process of spheroid formation in ovarian cancer cells in vitro [66]. After attachment, ovarian cancer spheroids have been shown to disaggregate on and invade live human mesothelial cell monolayers [67].

It has been shown that patients with adherent cells have a longer survival than those that have free cells which are responsible for peritoneal dissemination. Tan et al. performed a review of literature to determine if the transmesothelial spread was an active or passive process [68]. They concluded that though certain sites were favoured because of the flow of peritoneal fluid, it was also the metastatic potential of the cells shed in the peritoneal cavity and the milieu of each site that contributed to its involvement by tumour. The authors hypothesized that the ovarian primary and peritoneal disease were likely to be monoclonal in origin-i.e. arising from the same primary site. This was subsequently proven by molecular analysis [69]. In low-grade serous cancer, it was shown that the primary tumour and peritoneal deposits had independent origins.

In a retrospective study of 214 patients in which 67.7% has ESOC and nearly 90% has stage III and IV disease, the pelvic peritoneum was the commonest site to be involved, followed by the colon and then the diaphragm [70]. The authors, however, did not report the incidence of involvement of the greater omentum. Moreover, it was not specified which part of the colon was involved by direct disease extension of the primary tumour or by peritoneal deposits. In a prospective multi-centric study, it was shown that serous cancer involved the lower regions (regions 5, 6 and 7 according to the description in Sugarbaker's peritoneal cancer index first) followed by the middle regions (0, 4, 8—mainly the omentum) and then the upper regions (1, 2, 3)[64]. None of the patients had involvement of the upper regions without involvement of the lower regions. The small bowel was the last site to be involved. Disease on the small bowel surface and mesentery was not seen in the absence of disease in all three regions of the peritoneal cavity (Fig. 5.9). Ninety five percent of the patients in this study had serous epithelial ovarian cancer.

Based on available evidence, it can be inferred that in ovarian cancer, the disease distribution is similar to that seen in mucinous appendiceal tumours and can be termed as 'widespread



**Fig. 5.9** Sequence of involvement of various peritoneal regions in ovarian cancer—the pelvic peritoneum is the first site to be involved, followed by the omentum, right subphrenic region, right paracolic gutter, left subphrenic and paracolic regions and lastly, the small bowel and its mesentery

cancer distribution' (Fig. 5.10). Parietal peritoneal sites are involved first, specifically sites that have a greater concentration of lymphatics and are sites of absorption of peritoneal fluid. The visceral peritoneum (except for the greater omentum) is involved at a later stage. The visceral peritoneum has a lower concentration of lymphatics as compared to the parietal peritoneum which may be in part responsible for this difference. Secondly, the peristaltic activity of the small bowel may be responsible for its involvement at a later stage.

It must be noted that the visceral peritoneum that covers the mesentery of the bowels is different from the one overlying the bowel serosa. The serosa of the small bowel is devoid of lymphatics [71]. Involvement of the omenta, visceral peritoneum over the small and large bowel mesentery is seen before the involvement of the peritoneum overlying the bowel serosa.

Sugarbaker described increased concentration of peritoneal deposits at three sites where the motility of the GI tract is restricted—the recto-

Widespread cancer distribution



**Fig. 5.10** Widespread cancer distribution in ovarian cancer—regions that are involved first like the pelvic peritoneum, right subphrenic region and omentum have more extensive disease compared to regions that are involved later

sigmoid junction, the ileocaecal junction and the pyloric region in mucinous appendiceal tumours [72]. This is also seen in ESOC.

## 5.6 Pathological Response to Systemic Chemotherapy

Patients with advanced ESOC not amenable to upfront cytoreduction undergo neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by surgery. This gives an opportunity to make an objective assessment of the pathological response to NACT. There are two important aspects to be considered in this situation—the grade of pathological response to chemotherapy and the pattern of response to chemotherapy.

#### 5.6.1 Grade of Response

It was hypothesized that the degree of response to systemic chemotherapy in ovarian cancer should correlate with survival as shown in other cancers like those arising from the breast and the rectum. Böhm et al. developed a 3-tiered classification which was based on the scores used in rectal cancer [73]. From the initial 6 grades, the authors finally devised a 3-tiered score that correlated with survival. This score has been validated by other investigators [74, 75]. This score looks at both the residual tumour as well as the architecture and tumour microenvironment in high-grade epithelial serous ovarian cancer alone (Table 5.2). The authors studied a test cohort of 60 patients and validation cohort of 71 and used

**Table 5.2** Criteria for the chemotherapy response grade (chemotherapy response score) (from Ref. [73] with permission)

Chemotherapy	
response grade	Histopathological findings
CRG 1	No or minimal tumour response. Mainly viable tumour with no or minimal regression-associated fibro-inflammatory changes, limited to a few foci; cases in which it is difficult to decide between regression and tumour-associated desmoplasia or inflammatory cell infiltration.
CRG 2	Appreciable tumour response amid viable tumour that is readily identifiable. Tumour is regularly distributed, ranging from multifocal or diffuse regression-associated fibro-inflammatory changes with viable tumour in sheets, streaks, or nodules to extensive regression- associated fibro-inflammatory changes with multifocal residual tumour, which is easily identifiable.
CRG 3	Complete or near-complete response with no residual tumour OR minimal irregularly scattered tumour foci seen as individual cells, cell groups, or nodules up to 2 mm maximum size. Mainly regression-associated fibro-inflammatory changes or, in rare cases no or very little residual tumour in the complete absence of any inflammatory response. It is advisable to record whether there is no residual tumour or whether there is microscopic residual tumour present.

*Note*: Regression-associated fibro-inflammatory changes consist of fibrosis associated with macrophages, including foam cells, mixed inflammatory cells and psammoma bodies, as distinguished from tumour-related inflammation or desmoplasia a modification of the Dworak system and demonstrated good inter-observer reproducibility and significant association with clinical outcome. In the original score, the term is chemotherapy response score (CRS score). We have used the term 'chemotherapy response grade—CRG' to avoid confusion with cytoreductive surgery (CRS). This score has been used and validated only for high-grade ESOC.

CRG 1 denotes no or minimal tumour response (mainly viable tumour with minimal regression-associated fibro-inflammatory changes limited to a few foci) (Fig. 5.11). CRG 2 denotes partial response (multifocal or diffuse regression-associated fibro-inflammatory changes, with viable tumour ranging from diffuse sheets, streaks or nodules, to extensive regression with multifocal but easily identifiable residual tumour) (Fig. 5.12). CRG 3 denotes complete or near-complete response (mainly regression, with few irregularly scattered individual tumour cells or cell groups (all measuring less than 2 mm), or no residual tumour identified) (Fig. 5.13).

Regression-associated fibro-inflammatory changes consist of fibrosis associated with macrophages, including foam cells, mixed inflammatory cells and psammoma bodies, as distinguished from tumour-related inflammation or desmoplasia. The presence of fibrosis, residual tumour and inflammatory changes should all be taken into account while scoring the response [76]. When fibrotic changes are seen in the absence of residual tumour, the inference is tumour regression. As opposed to this, fibrosis seen in the vicinity of residual tumour is considered to be desmoplasia and not regression. In some cases, fibrotic changes are accompanied by an inflammatory response termed as a fibro-inflammatory response and this is considered to be a sign of regression. Psammoma bodies may be seen at the site of previous tumour and are also a sign of regression of tumour. Due to the disappearance of tumour, they may at times appear more numerous (Fig. 5.14). Sometimes, the fibro-inflammatory changes are not seen and the cells appear bizarre (Fig. 5.15) in response to chemotherapy. This is considered to be chemotherapy response grade 1.

The Böhm or CRS score is recommended by the international council for cancer reporting (ICCR)



**Fig. 5.11** Histological features of chemotherapy response grade 1: (a, b) Show tumour deposits with minimal inflammatory response. (c, d) Show deposit on the

fallopian tube with no inflammatory changes: (a, c) at 10× magnification and (b, d) at 40× magnification



**Fig. 5.12** Histological features of chemotherapy response grade 2: Viable tumour cell surrounded by inflammatory cells and areas of hyalinization: (a) at  $10 \times$  magnification and (b) at  $40 \times$  magnification


**Fig. 5.13** Histological features of chemotherapy response grade 3: (**a**, **b**) Show no residual disease with fibro-inflammatory changes. (**c**, **d**) Another region with

tumour less than 2 mm and the surrounding fibroinflammatory changes: (**a**, **c**) at  $10 \times$  magnification and (**b**, **d**) at  $40 \times$  magnification

[77]. Scoring is done on a single H&E stained section from the omentum. As per the guidelines, 6–7 sections are studied from the omentum and the one with the least regression or score is considered [77]. The amount of viable tumour should be assessed; this may or may not show degenerative changes in the form of nuclear atypia, smudging of the nuclear chromatin and cytoplasmic clearing. As a guide, >95% of tumour should be viable for a score of 1, and <5% for a score of 3.

In the score by Böhm et al., the response is evaluated only at two sites—in the primary ovarian tumour and in the omentum. In their evaluation of survival, the authors just looked at the response in the omentum. They state that the ovaries should not be considered since chemotherapy seldom eradicates the tumour completely and the response in the peritoneal sites is more important. In the original study, only one section from the omentum was evaluated. Böhm et al. do not consider evaluating other peritoneal sites and it may be considered logical since the omentum is perhaps one of the first regions to be involved and one of the last to respond. However, there could be a varying response in different regions as is seen in other tumours like breast and rectum and in colorectal PM as well. In one retrospective study, in which this score was prospectively evaluated, the heterogeneity was usually between the ovaries and the peritoneal disease [4]. The ovaries seldom showed a pathological complete response and had a lower score as compared to the peritoneal regions. The response in each resected region was evaluated



Fig. 5.14 Psammoma bodies with no residual tumour cells representing a good response to chemotherapy

and in some patients, there was a discrepancy in the CRS score in different regions (Fig. 5.16) [64]. It is not known whether the chemotherapy response should be assessed in all peritoneal sites. Apart from the initial validation by Böhm et al., other investigators have evaluated the score only in the omentum and shown its impact on survival [74, 75]. There is a small percentage of patients in whom there is a complete response in the omentum but residual disease in the pelvis. Even when such a patient has CRG 3 in the omentum, the CRG would usually remain the same. A recent study showed that the involvement of other peritoneal sites was associated with a shorter survival independent of other prognostic factors including the Böhm score (Fig. 5.17) [78]. In this study, the prognostic value of the ovarian chemotherapy response score was also demonstrated (Fig. 5.18).

There are no therapeutic implications of this score at present—whether a different line of chemotherapy should be used in poor responders has not been addressed. When the impact on survival is evaluated, CRG 1 and 2 are usually clubbed together and compared to CRG 3 [73]. The ICCR still recommends reporting CRG 1 and 2 independently as a difference may be observed in larger series.



**Fig. 5.15** Change in the architectural pattern and morphology of tumour cells following chemotherapy. No fibro-inflammatory changes are seen and hence this is

considered chemotherapy response grade 3: (a) at  $10 \times$  magnification and (b) at  $40 \times$  magnification



**Fig. 5.16** Different peritoneal regions showing different chemotherapy response grade in the same patient: (a, b) Show tumour in the omentum with no chemotherapy-related changes. (c, d) Show a peritoneal region with no

residual disease and fibro-inflammatory changes representing chemotherapy response grade 3: (a, c) at  $10 \times$  magnification and (b, d) at  $40 \times$  magnification

Secondly, there is no way to predict the pathological response to chemotherapy. In the study by Böhm et al., it was shown that the reduction in CA-125 could not be correlated to the response to chemotherapy. Good and poor responders both experienced a significant reduction in CA-125 following chemotherapy. Thus, though the chemotherapy response score correlates with survival, it is only of prognostic value. We presume that the radiological response could be predictive of the CRG and patients who do not show any residual disease on imaging except in the ovaries could have CRG 3 and contrary to this those with any amount of extra-ovarian residual disease on imaging are likely to have CRG 1 or 2. However, this is just a hypothesis and needs to be evaluated.



**Fig. 5.17** Impact of chemotherapy response grade in peritoneal regions on progression free and overall survival using a 2-tier classification system. (From Ref. [78] with permission)



**Fig. 5.18** Impact of chemotherapy response grade in the ovaries on progression free and overall survival using a 3-tier classification system. (From Ref. [78] with permission)

Even in patients with CRG 1 and 2, the disease is usually completely resectable. Thus, this score must be distinguished from platinum sensitivity. The median progression free survival in patients with scores of 1 and 2 was still 11.2 months and 43% of the patients with CRG 2 and 41% with CRG 1 went on to develop platinum resistant disease [73].

Other systems of classification of response have been developed but have not been validated.

# 5.6.2 Implications in Patients Undergoing HIPEC

Recently, a randomized phase III trial showed a survival benefit of HIPEC in patients undergoing interval cytoreductive surgery [79]. It has been hypothesized that residual tumour following NACT contains chemotherapy resistant cells [80]. This does not imply that the patient has platinum resistant disease but the cells themselves are more resistant and the benefit may be due to the ability of cisplatin combined with hyperthermia to overcome chemotherapy resistance. When there is minimum residual disease following chemotherapy, i.e. CRG 3, it may be presumed that the benefit of HIPEC is less. This aspect should be further evaluated as those patients likely to have a marginal benefit could be spared the morbidity of the procedure. However, the CRG score is only available postoperatively.

# 5.6.3 Other Plausible Clinical Applications

Patients with CRG 1 and 2 are prone to early recurrence. As stated above, a poor pathological response to systemic chemotherapy does not always lead to platinum resistant disease, and therefore, switching over to second-line therapy may not be considered despite CRG 1 and 2. But these patients may benefit from maintenance therapy. Currently, there is no study looking at the correlation between CRG and BRCA mutation status. It is likely that BRCA mutated patients have a greater incidence of CRG 3 and a complete pathological response. A correlation between the two could be used in future to guide treatment decisions.

## 5.6.4 Association with Lymph Node Involvement

The response in lymph nodes was not included in the score by Böhm et al. One retrospective study found that none of the patients with positive regional lymph nodes had CRG 3 or a complete response [4]. Positive nodes were seen in nearly 35% of the patients with CRG 1 and 2. The correlation between CRG and nodal positivity should be studied further.

### 5.6.5 Pattern of Response

It is not known if all sites of disease respond the chemotherapy in the same manner and to the same extent. It is not known which regions respond first and which later.

A retrospective study of 79 patients undergoing interval cytoreductive surgery showed that the response to NACT follows a specific pattern [4]. The peritoneal cavity was divided into the upper, middle and lower regions comprising of regions 1, 2 and 3, 0, 4 and 8 and 5, 6 and 7, respectively, of Sugarbaker's peritoneal cancer index. Regions that were first involved by tumour were the last to have a complete response. A complete response at the primary in the ovary was seen in only two patients which concurs with other reports. In four others, there was residual disease in the ovaries with a complete response at all other sites. The next most common site of residual disease was the lower region with 89.8% patients having residual disease in this region, followed by the omentum (residual disease in 77.2%), the upper region in 56.9% and the middle region in 29.1%. Thus, the last site to respond were the ovaries, preceded by lower region, the omentum, upper region, then middle region and then the small bowel (Fig. 5.19). This sequential response was seen in each patient. An explanation for this may be the high concentration of disease in these regions with multiple clones of tumour cells and a higher probability of harbouring drug resistant clones [61]. Disease on the small bowel was not seen in the absence of disease in both the lower and upper regions and disease in the upper region was not seen in absence of disease in the lower region. This study was retrospective with a small number of patients and the authors recommended prospective evaluation in a large series. It is important to know the pattern of response for intraoperative decision making. Surgeons generally resect sites of residual disease and sometimes there are very small remnant tumour deposits that are difficult to identify without a thorough exploration. It has been shown that normal and benign looking areas after NACT harbour microscopic disease in around a fifth of the patients [81, 82]. Knowledge about the pattern of response would be useful in guiding surgical decisions which are otherwise based only on visual inspection.

Factors affecting response to chemotherapy have not been studied. Disease in the visceral peritoneum is usually the first to respond. This may be because the visceral peritoneum has a lower concentration of lymphatics. Sub-peritoneal lymphatics have a greater concentration of chemotherapy resistant cells and may be responsible for



**Fig. 5.19** Probable sequence of response of various peritoneal sites to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in serous epithelial ovarian cancer. The small bowel is the first site to respond, followed by the left subphrenic and paracolic regions, the right paracolic and subphrenic regions, the omentum, the pelvic peritoneum and lastly, the ovaries

the persistence of disease in regions where they are more numerous.

The only exception to the visceral peritoneal regions is the greater omentum. The omentum is perhaps the first extra-pelvic region to be involved and the last to respond. Little is known about the lesser omentum.

# 5.7 Morphology of Peritoneal Deposits

Ovarian cancer peritoneal deposits can have a varied morphology. Serous carcinomas tend to form surface deposits that coalesce to form plaques. In patients with extensive disease, these can infiltrate the underlying structure like the bowel and diaphragm muscle. In patients undergoing surgery upfront, a surgeon may not have much difficulty in distinguishing involved and uninvolved regions of the peritoneum. However, the morphological evolution of peritoneal deposits is not described. Even in patients who have not received chemotherapy, normal looking peritoneum can have microscopic disease [64]. High-grade ESOC has rapid progression to stage III disease and early detection is not possible even when asymptomatic patients are screened. Epithelial ovarian cancer is the only one in which ascites with malignant cells is seen in stage I disease. It may be assumed that in the early stages of development of PM, the peritoneum looks absolutely normal. The different morphological presentations of peritoneal metastases with and without neoadjuvant chemotherapy are listed in Table 5.3.

	Probability of harbouring disease		
Lesion type	Primary CRS	Interval CRS	Secondary/salvage CRS
Tumour nodule	Certain	Certain	Certain
Confluent nodules	Certain	Certain	Certain
Plaques	Certain	Certain	Certain
Scarring	Possible <sup>a</sup>	Possible	Possible
Thickening	Possible	Possible	Possible
Tumour adhesions	Certain	Certain	Certain
Other adhesions	Possible <sup>a</sup>	Possible	Possible
Normal peritoneum	Possible	Possible	Possible

**Table 5.3** Morphological presentations of ovarian peritoneal deposits

<sup>a</sup>Scarring and adhesions due to prior surgery or other causes are less likely to harbour disease in patients undergoing CRS upfront

Sugarbaker has described the evolution of peritoneal deposits in colorectal cancer [83]. Each peritoneal deposit serves as a source for cancer cells. Even small tumour nodules can shed cancerous cells that form new implants. This exfoliation process causes a far more rapid disease progression, and all quadrants of the abdominal cavity are involved in the disease process within a few months [84].

This is unlike liver metastases in which tumour masses grow and remain confined to the liver till there is necrosis of the mass leading to disruption of capillaries within it and a consequent release of cells into the systemic circulation [85]. This results in metastases at other sites particularly the lung. This process of metastases in the liver resulting in metastases in the lungs and other systemic sites may take many months and even years. It may not occur at all with a response to chemotherapy or if a liver resection is successful [86].

In ovarian cancer, the FIGO staging makes a distinction according to the size of largest extrapelvic deposit between stages IIIB and IIIC and thus, this mode of dissemination may be occurring in ESOC as well.

It is not known which regions of the peritoneum get involved at what stage. For example, if there is disease in the pelvic peritoneum, omentum and right upper quadrant regions, what is the probability of finding disease in the left upper quadrant peritoneum.

Ovarian cancer is perhaps the only solid tumour in which surgery following neoadjuvant chemotherapy for locally advanced disease produces inferior survival compared to surgery performed upfront. For other tumours like those of the breast and rectum, survival following neoadjuvant therapy is non-inferior [87]. One of the reasons for this is difficulty in assessing response both before and during surgery [88]. Unlike other tumours, advanced ovarian cancer comprises of multiple tumour nodules scattered over part or whole of the peritoneum. The morphological response may range from shrinkage in the tumour nodules to thickening, scarring and completely normal appearance of previous tumour bearing areas (Fig. 5.20). Moreover, benign looking areas following NACT are known to harbour

microscopic disease. Thus, surgery after NACT is difficult as it is impossible for the surgeon to accurately predict the presence or absence of disease in each region and perhaps for this reason, surgery should be performed with the intention of resecting previous disease sites. Pathological findings in resected cytoreductive surgery specimens provide the rationale for this [4]. There is very limited evidence supporting the use of such an approach, and future studies could look at this aspect of treatment which could significantly improve the survival of these patients. As regards the visceral resections in this setting, it is often possible to remove the thickened visceral peritoneum following a good response to chemotherapy and some of the organs involved prior to chemotherapy could thus be spared. This requires a careful inspection of involved regions and meticulous surgical dissection. When there is extensive scarring or multiple small nodules, it would be more prudent to resect the organ or underlying segment of the bowel. Surgery following NACT should not be less radical.

Two retrospective studies looked at the role of resecting previous disease sites in ovarian cancer. One study compared 34 patients undergoing CRS upfront to 110 undergoing interval CRS and found a similar survival in two groups [89]. Another study of 54 patients showed that when previous disease sites were resected as opposed to sites of residual disease alone, the incidence of peritoneal recurrence was significantly lower [90]. These studies provide evidence for evaluating this approach further. New ways of intraoperative intraperitoneal exploration such as fluorescence should be more evaluated and may help 'surgeon's eyes' to better detect areas that should be removed.

# 5.8 Extent of Peritoneal Resection for Ovarian Cancer

Parietal peritoneum lines the anterior and posterior abdominal wall and includes the pelvic, bilateral anteroparietal and right and left upper quadrant peritoneum. The omenta and the small bowel mesentery are part of the visceral peritoneum.



**Fig. 5.20** Varied morphological appearance of peritoneal deposits following neoadjuvant chemotherapy: (a) gross residual disease in the omentum; (b) nodular deposits on the small bowel mesentery; (c) scarring over the falciform

ligament; (d) thickening with small plaques on the subphrenic peritoneum. On microscopy, residual tumour was seen in all these regions

Peritonectomy procedures were first formally described by Sugarbaker [91]. The parietal peritoneum is divided into five regions, each spreading over a large area of the peritoneal cavity. In presence of any amount of disease in a particular region, surgeons either resect the surrounding peritoneum or the entire peritoneum in that region. In ovarian cancer, it has been shown that microscopic disease is present in normal areas both in proximity to and at a distance from the tumour deposits. And hence it would be ideal to resect the whole peritoneal region. The peritoneal regions described by Sugarbaker are based not just on anatomical location but also represent different regions according to the structural and physiological properties of the peritoneum.

The goal of surgery in ovarian cancer is resection of all macroscopic diseases. Guidelines do not recommend how much of normal peritoneum to resect and whether to resect uninvolved regions of the peritoneum that are at a risk of harbouring occult disease except the greater omentum. When there is disease in the pelvis, omentum and right upper quadrant peritoneum, the probability of microscopic disease in the uninvolved left upper quadrant may be increased. Recurrences in ovarian cancer are peritoneal in more than half the patients and occur in regions of the peritoneum that were not resected during surgery.

The principles of surgery in ovarian cancer are different from other sites of non-metastatic disease in which areas prone to harbour microscopic disease are resected. One retrospective study looked at the role of resecting the entire parietal peritoneum in patients who had received NACT and showed that it could be performed with a low morbidity [82]. However, due to heterogeneous patient population, no further conclusions could be drawn from it.

Our prospective study comprising of 110 patients with ovarian cancer showed a high incidence of involvement of the umbilical round ligament, falciform ligament and lesser omentum in patients with advanced ovarian cancer. The involvement increased with increasing PCI (unpublished results).

As described elsewhere in this book, we recommend that the entire peritoneal region should be resected in ovarian cancer (Fig. 5.21). Target regions like the falciform, lesser omentum and umbilical round ligament can be resected in the absence of visible disease especially in patients who have disease beyond the pelvis (based on unpublished results). The role of complete parietal peritonectomy should be evaluated further and is supported by pathological findings.

# 5.9 Recurrent Disease in the Peritoneum

Secondary/salvage cytoreductive surgery has a role in ovarian cancer [92]. The recurrence usually occurs in peritoneal sites that were not previously resected. This can either be disease that was overlooked by the surgeon in the first surgery or occult disease that was not resected or may represent recurrence in regions that were previously uninvolved [93]. Once again the same question arises regarding the extent of resection that is needed in these patients. Little is understood about the pattern of peritoneal involvement in cases of true recurrence. Most studies describe recurrence as 'intra-abdominal' that would include both peritoneal and nodal recurrence or 'peritoneal' that refers solely to peritoneal disease [94]. It is difficult to make any recommendations for such patients. For those who have a peritoneal recurrence following a suspected incomplete previous cytoreduction, the same principles that apply to first-line therapy could be applied. However, it is difficult to obtain similar results as disease that persists after one or more lines of chemotherapy has chemotherapy resistant cells and is almost impossible to cure with surgery alone. Surgery could be of benefit in prolonging the time to recurrence which is inevitable. The role of surgery will always be weighed



Fig. 5.21 Extent of peritoneal resection to be performed for ovarian cancer. (a) Ovarian primary tumour with deposits in the pouch of Douglas. (b) The entire pelvic

peritoneum should be resected in such a situation. The different regions comprising the pelvic peritoneum are shown here

against systemic therapies and even high-grade ESOC becomes a heterogeneous group with some subsets of patients in whom the margin of benefit from surgery is even smaller.

### 5.10 Lymph Node Involvement

Regional lymphadenectomy has been recommended for all patients with advanced ovarian cancer. One randomized trial has shown a benefit of performing systematic lymphadenectomy in all patients who had a complete cytoreduction in progression free but not overall survival [36]. Another recent trial showed no benefit in systematic lymphadenectomy in patients who did not have clinically suspicious nodes though around 50% of these nodes were positive [95]. Retroperitoneal lymphadenopathy can be secondary to the primary tumour itself or due to peritoneal deposits [96]. One retrospective study showed a correlation between the lesion score in pelvic peritoneal regions and lymph node involvement. Increased incidence of lymph node involvement was seen in patients with lesion score of 3 [97]. In addition, other nodes like mesorectal nodes, nodes in the mesentery of resected segments of bowel, periportal nodes and omental nodes may be involved secondary to peritoneal disease. The correlation between depth of rectal wall involvement and lymph node involvement has been similarly demonstrated [98]. One study showed that around 10% of the patients had positive peritoneal nodes secondary to peritoneal disease. This study included not just patients undergoing surgery upfront but also those with recurrent disease or having interval CRS. Nodal disease portends a poorer prognosis. The clinical implications of involvement of regions apart from infra-renal retro peritoneal nodes are not known but can be presumed to have a worse outcome.

# 5.11 Conclusions

In epithelial serous ovarian cancer, the pattern of involvement of different peritoneal regions and response to chemotherapy needs to be studied in

greater detail. From the existing evidence, parietal peritoneal regions are involved first and harbour disease for a longer period as compared to the visceral regions (excluding the greater omentum). The entire region of the peritoneum harbouring disease should be resected. The role of more extensive resection in the primary and interval settings should be evaluated further. Chemotherapy response grade should be determined for all patients receiving NACT and should include evaluation of the parietal peritoneal regions as well. Future studies can look at the potential use of the pathological response to chemotherapy as a factor to guide treatment decisions. Clinical factors predictive of a near-complete/complete pathological response need to be identified in order to be able to predict it before surgery.

### References

- Hennessy BT, Coleman RL, Markman M. Ovarian cancer. Lancet. 2009;374:1371–82. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61338-6.
- Bhatt A, Glehen O. The role of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (hipec) in ovarian cancer: a review. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(2):188–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13193-016-0501-9.
- Yonemura Y, Endo Y, Obata T, Sasaki T. Recent advances in the treatment of peritoneal dissemination of gastrointestinal cancers by nucleoside antimetabolites. Cancer Sci. 2007;98:11–8.
- 4. Bhatt A, Sinukumar S, Mehta S, Damodaran D, Zaveri S, Kammar P, et al. Patterns of pathological response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy and its clinical implications in patients undergoing interval cytoreductive surgery for advanced serous epithelial ovarian cancer—a study by the Indian Network for Development of Peritoneal Surface Oncology (INDEPSO). Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;45(4):666–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2019.01.009. Epub 9 Jan 2019.
- Bristow RE, Tomacruz RS, Armstrong DK, Trimble EL, Montz FJ. Survival effect of maximal cytoreductive surgery for advanced ovarian carcinoma during the platinum era: a meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(5):1248–59. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.20.5.1248.
- Kurman RJ, Carcangiu ML, Herrington S, Young RH. WHO classification of tumours of female reproductive organs. 4th ed. Lyon: IARC Press; 2014. p. 11–86.
- Prat J. Ovarian carcinoma: five distinct disease with different origins, genetic alterations, and clinicopathological features. Virchows Arch. 2012;460:237–49.

- Kurman RJ, Shih IM. The origin and pathogenesis of epithelial ovarian cancer: a proposed unifying theory. Am J Surg Pathol. 2010;34:433–43.
- Lalwani N, Prasad SR, Vikram R, Shanbhogue AK, Huettner PC, Fasih N. Histologic, molecular, and cytogenetic features of ovarian cancers: implications for diagnosis and treatment. Radiographics. 2011;31:625–46.
- Gilks CB, Prat J. Ovarian carcinoma pathology and genetics: recent advances. Hum Pathol. 2009;40:1213–23.
- Bowtell DD. The genesis and evolution of highgrade serous ovarian cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2010;10:803–8.
- Mitchell DG, Hill MC, Hill S, Zaloudek C. Serous carcinoma of the ovary: CT identification of metastatic calcified implants. Radiology. 1986;158:649–52.
- Kim HJ, Kim JK, Cho KS. CT features of serous surface papillary carcinoma of the ovary. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2004;183:1721–4.
- Tanaka YO, Okada S, Satoh T, Matsumoto K, Oki A, Nishida M, et al. Ovarian serous surface papillary borderline tumors form sea anemone-like masses. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2011;33:633–40.
- Tanaka YO, Okada S, Satoh T, Matsumoto K, Oki A, Saida T, Yoshikawa H, Minami M. Differentiation of epithelial ovarian cancer subtypes by use of imaging and clinical data: a detailed analysis. Cancer Imaging. 2016;16:3. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40644-016-0061-9.
- Lengyel E. Ovarian cancer development and metastasis. Am J Pathol. 2010;177:1053–64. https://doi. org/10.2353/ajpath.2010.100105.
- Serov SF, Scully RE, Sobin LH. International histological classification of tumors, No. 9. Histologic typing of ovarian tumors. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1973. p. 1–7.
- Tavasolli FA, Devilee P. World Health Organization classification of tumors. Tumors of the breast and the female genital organs. Lyon: IARC Press, WHO; 2003. p. 8–12.
- Kobel M, Kalloger SE, Carrick J, Huntsman D, Asad H, Oliva E, et al. A limited panel of immunomarkers can reliably distinguish between clear cell and high-grade serous carcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2009;33:14–21.
- DeLair D, Oliva E, Kobel M, Macias A, Gilks CB, Soslow RA. Morphologic spectrum of immunohistochemically characterized clear cell carcinoma of the ovary: a study of 155 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2011;35:36–44.
- 21. Tsuchiya A, Sakamoto M, Yasuda J, et al. Expression profiling in ovarian clear cell carcinoma: identification of hepatocyte nuclear factor 1-beta as a molecular marker and a possible molecular target for therapy of ovarian clear cell carcinoma. Am J Pathol. 2003;163:2503–12.
- 22. Han G, Gilks CH, Leung S, Ewaniwich CA, Irving J, Longacre TA, et al. Mixed ovarian epithelial carcinomas with clear cell and serous components are variants of high-grade serous carcinoma: an interob-

server correlative and immunohistochemical study of 32 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32:955–64.

- 23. Gilks CB, Ionescu DN, Kalloger SE, Kobel M, Irving J, Clarke B, et al. Tumor cell type can be reproducibly diagnosed and is of independent prognostic significance in patients with maximally debulked ovarian carcinoma. Hum Pathol. 2008;39:1239–51.
- 24. Yamaguchi K, Mandai M, Oura T, Matsumura N, Hamanishi J, Baba T, et al. Identification of an ovarian clear cell carcinoma gene signature that reflects inherent disease biology and the carcinogenic process. Oncogene. 2010;29:1741–52.
- del Carmen MG, Birrer M, Schorge JO. Clear cell carcinoma of the ovary: a review of the literature. Gynecol Oncol. 2012;126(3):481–90. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2012.04.021. Epub 21 Apr 2012.
- Sampson JA. Endometrial carcinoma of the ovary, arising in endometrial tissue in that organ. Arch Surg. 1925;10:1–72.
- Tanaka YO, Okada S, Yagi T, Satoh T, Oki A, Tsunoda H, et al. MRI of endometriotic cysts in association with ovarian carcinoma. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2010;194:355–61.
- Kobayashi H, Sumimoto K, Moniwa N, Imai M, Takakura K, Kuromaki T, et al. Risk of developing ovarian cancer among women with ovarian endometrioma: a cohort study in Shizuoka, Japan. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2007;17:37–43.
- Kobel M, Kalloger SE, Huntsman DG, Santos JL, Swenerton KD, Seidman JD, et al. Differences in tumor type in low-stage versus high-stage ovarian carcinomas. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2010;29:203–11.
- Choi HJ, Lee JH, Seok Lee J, Choi JI, Kang S, Lee S, et al. CT findings of clear cell carcinoma of the ovary. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2006;30:875–9.
- Manabe T, Hirose Y, Kiryuu T, Koudo H, Hoshi H. Magnetic resonance imaging of endometrial cancer and clear cell cancer. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2007;31:229–35.
- Sugiyama K, Takehara Y. Magnetic resonance findings of clear-cell adenocarcinofibroma of the ovary. Acta Radiol. 2007;48:704–6.
- Prat J, FIGO Committee on Gynecologic Oncology. Staging classification for cancer of the ovary, fallopian tube, and peritoneum. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2014;124:1–5.
- 34. Onda T, Yoshikawa H, Yasugi T, Mishima M, Nakagawa S, Yamada M, et al. Patients with ovarian carcinoma upstaged to stage III after systematic lymphadenctomy have similar survival to stage I/ II patients and superior survival to other stage III patients. Cancer. 1998;83:1555–60.
- 35. Kanazawa K, Suzuki T, Tokashiki M. The validity and significance of substage IIIC by node involvement in epithelial ovarian cancer: impact of nodal metastasis on patient survival. Gynecol Oncol. 1999;73:237–41.
- 36. Panici PB, Maggioni A, Hacker N, Landoni F, Ackermann S, Campagnutta E, et al. Systematic aortic and pelvic lymphadenectomy versus resection of bulky nodes only in optimally debulked advanced

ovarian cancer: a randomized clinical trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2005;97:560–6.

- Cliby WA, Aletti GD, Wilson TO, Podratz KC. Is it justified to classify patients to stage IIIC epithelial ovarian cancer based on nodal involvement only? Gynecol Oncol. 2006;103:797–801.
- Ferrandina G, Scambia G, Legge F, Petrillo M, Salutari V. Ovarian cancer patients with "node-positive-only" stage IIIC disease have a more favorable outcome than stage IIIA/B. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;107:154–6.
- 39. Baek SJ, Park JY, Kim DY, Kim JH, Kim YM, Kim YT, et al. Stage IIIC epithelial ovarian cancer classified solely by lymph node metastasis has a more favorable prognosis than other types of stage IIIC epithelial ovarian cancer. J Gynecol Oncol. 2008;19:223–8.
- 40. Suh DH, Kim TH, Kim JW, Kim SY, Kim HS, Lee TS, et al. Improvements to the FIGO staging for ovarian cancer: reconsideration of lymphatic spread and intraoperative tumor rupture. J Gynecol Oncol. 2013;24(4):352–8. https://doi.org/10.3802/ jgo.2013.24.4.352.
- 41. Seidman JD, Horkayne-Szakaly I, Haiba M, Boice CR, Kurman RJ, Ronnett BM. The histologic type and stage distribution of ovarian carcinomas of surface epithelial origin. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2004;23(1):41–4.
- 42. Sampson JA. Implantation peritoneal carcinomatosis of ovarian origin. Am J Pathol. 1931;7:423–43.
- Murphy EM, Sexton R, Moran BJ. Early results of surgery in 123 patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from a perforated appendiceal neoplasm. Dis Colon Rectum. 2007;50:37–42.
- 44. Kostić Z, Cuk V, Bokun R, Ignjatović D, Usaj-Knezević S, Ignjatović M. Detection of free cancer cells in peritoneal cavity in patients surgically treated for gastric adenocarcinoma. Vojnosanit Pregl. 2006;63:349–56.
- Meyers MA. Distribution of intra-abdominal malignant seeding: dependency on dynamics of flow of ascitic fluid. Am J Roentgenol Radium Ther Nucl Med. 1973;119:198–206.
- 46. Lemoine L, Sugarbaker P, Van der Speeten K. Pathophysiology of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: role of the peritoneum. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(34):7692–707. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg. v22.i34.7692.
- 47. Shimotsuma M, Shields JW, Simpson-Morgan MW, et al. Morpho-physiological function and role of omental milky spots as omentum associated lymphoid tissue (OALT) in the peritoneal cavity. Lymphology. 1993;26:90–101.
- Yonemura Y, Kawamura T, Bandou E, Tsukiyama G, Endou Y, Miura M. The natural history of free cancer cells in the peritoneal cavity. In: Gonzalez-Moreno S, editor. Advances in peritoneal surface oncology. Berlin: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg; 2007. p. 11–23.
- Pradeep S, Kim SW, Wu SY, Nishimura M, Chaluvally-Raghavan P, Miyake T, et al. Hematogenous metastasis of ovarian cancer: rethinking mode of spread. Cancer Cell. 2014;26(1):77–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccr.2014.05.002.

- Barbolina MV. Molecular mechanisms regulating organ-specific metastases in epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Cancers (Basel). 2018;10(11):444. https://doi. org/10.3390/cancers10110444.
- 51. Moss NM, Barbolina MV, Liu Y, Sun L, Munshi HG, Stack MS. Ovarian cancer cell detachment and multicellular aggregate formation are regulated by membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase: a potential role in I.p. metastatic dissemination. Cancer Res. 2009;69:7121–9. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-08-4151.
- 52. Steinkamp MP, Winner KK, Davies S, Muller C, Zhang Y, Hoffman RM, Shirinifard A, Moses M, Jiang Y, Wilson BS. Ovarian tumour attachment, invasion, and vascularization reflect unique microenvironments in the peritoneum: insights from xenograft and mathematical models. Front Oncol. 2013;3:97. https://doi. org/10.3389/fonc.2013.00097.
- 53. Nakamura K, Sawada K, Kinose Y, Yoshimura A, Toda A, Nakatsuka E, Hashimoto K, Mabuchi S, Morishige KI, Kurachi H, et al. Exosomes promote ovarian cancer cell invasion through transfer of CD44 to peritoneal mesothelial cells. Mol Cancer Res. 2017;15:78–92. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786. MCR-16-0191.
- 54. Ren J, Xiao YJ, Singh LS, Zhao X, Zhao Z, Feng L, Rose TM, Prestwich GD, Xu Y. Lysophosphatidic acid is constitutively produced by human peritoneal mesothelial cells and enhances adhesion, migration, and invasion of ovarian cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2006;66:3006–14. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-129.
- Ellerbroek SM, Wu YI, Overall CM, Stack MS. Functional interplay between type I collagen and cell surface matrix metalloproteinase activity. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:24833–42. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M005631200.
- 56. Moser TL, Pizzo SV, Bafetti LM, Fishman DA, Stack MS. Evidence for preferential adhesion of ovarian epithelial carcinoma cells to type I collagen mediated by the alpha2beta1 integrin. Int J Cancer. 1996;67:695–701. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (SICI)1097-0215(19960904)67:5<695::AID-IJC18>3.0.CO;2-4.
- Sodek KL, Ringuette MJ, Brown TJ. MT1-MMP is the critical determinant of matrix degradation and invasion by ovarian cancer cells. Br J Cancer. 2007;97:358–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603863.
- Barbolina MV, Adley BP, Ariztia EV, Liu Y, Stack MS. Microenvironmental regulation of membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase activity in ovarian carcinoma cells via collagen-induced EGR1 expression. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:4924–31. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M608428200.
- Barbolina MV, Liu Y, Gurler H, Kim M, Kajdacsy-Balla AA, Rooper L, Shepard J, Weiss M, Shea LD, Penzes P, et al. Matrix rigidity activates Wnt signaling through down-regulation of Dickkopf-1 protein. J Biol Chem. 2013;288:141–51. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M112.431411.

- 60. Moss NM, Liu Y, Johnson JJ, Debiase P, Jones J, Hudson LG, Munshi HG, Stack MS. Epidermal growth factor receptor-mediated membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase endocytosis regulates the transition between invasive versus expansive growth of ovarian carcinoma cells in three-dimensional collagen. Mol Cancer Res. 2009;7:809–20. https://doi. org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-08-0571.
- Kusamura S, Baratti D, Zaffaroni N, Villa R, Laterza B, Balestra MR, et al. Pathophysiology and biology of peritoneal carcinomatosis. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(1):12–8.
- Sugarbaker PH. Surgical management of carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Clin Colon Rectal Surg. 2005;18(3):190–203. https://doi.org/10.105 5/s-2005-916280.
- 63. Sugarbaker PH. Observations concerning cancer spread within the peritoneal cavity and concepts supporting an ordered pathophysiology. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: principles of management. Boston, MA: Kluwer Academic Publisher; 1995. p. 80–99.
- 64. Bhatt A, Yonemura Y, Benzerdjeb N, Mehta S, Mishra S, Parikh L, Kammar P, et al. Pathological assessment of cytoreductive surgery specimens and its unexplored prognostic potential—a prospective multi-centric study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;45:2398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2019.07.019.
- Bjorge L, Junnikkala S, Kristoffersen EK, et al. Resistance of ovarian teratocarcinoma cell spheroids to complement-mediated lysis. Br J Cancer. 1997;75:1247–55.
- 66. Burleson KM, Casey RC, Skubitz KM, et al. Ovarian carcinoma ascites spheroids adhere to extracellular matrix components and mesothelial cell monolayers. Gynecol Oncol. 2004;93:170–81.
- Burleson KM, Hansen LK, Skubitz AP. Ovarian carcinoma spheroids disaggregate on type I collagen and invade live human mesothelial cell monolayers. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2004;21:685–97.
- Tan DS, Agarwal R, Kaye SB. Mechanisms of transcoelomic metastasis in ovarian cancer. Lancet Oncol. 2006;7(11):925–34.
- 69. Kim J, Coffey D, Chad C, Yu Z, Hawkins S, Matzuk M. High-grade serous ovarian cancer arises from fallopian tube in a mouse model. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2012;109(10):3921–6. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1117135109.
- Sehouli J, Senyuva F, Fotopoulou C, Neumann U, Denkert C, Werner L, Gülten OO. Intra-abdominal tumor dissemination pattern and surgical outcome in 214 patients with primary ovarian cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2009;99(7):424–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.21288.
- Miller MJ, McDole JR, Newberry RD. Microanatomy of the intestinal lymphatic system. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010;1207(Suppl 1):E21–8. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05708.x.
- 72. Sugarbaker PH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei. A cancer whose biology is characterized by a redistribution phenomenon. Ann Surg. 1994;219(2):109–11.

- 73. Böhm S, Faruqi A, Said I, Lockley M, Brockbank E, Jeyarajah A, et al. Chemotherapy response score: development and validation of a system to quantify histopathologic response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in tubo-ovarian high-grade serous carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(22):2457–63. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2014.60.521.
- 74. Lee JY, Chung YS, Na K, Kim HM, Park CK, Nam EJ, et al. External validation of chemotherapy response score system for histopathological assessment of tumor regression after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in tubo-ovarian high-grade serous carcinoma. J Gynecol Oncol. 2017;28(6):e73. https://doi.org/10.3802/ jgo.2017.28.e73.
- 75. Rajkumar S, Polson A, Nath R, Lane G, Sayaneh A, Jake A, et al. Prognostic implications of histological tumor regression (Böhm's score) in patients receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy for high grade serous tubal & ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2018;151(2):264–8.
- McCluggage WG, Judge MJ, Clarke BA, Davidson B, Gilks CB, Hollema H, Ledermann JA, Matias-Guiu X, Mikami Y, Stewart CJ, Vang R, Hirschowitz L. International collaboration on cancer reporting. Data set for reporting of ovary, fallopian tube and primary peritoneal carcinoma: recommendations from the International Collaboration on Cancer Reporting (ICCR). Mod Pathol. 2015;28(8):1101–22. https:// doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2015.77.
- 77. Ovary, Fallopian Tube and Primary Peritoneal Carcinoma Histopathology Reporting Guide. http:// www.iccr-cancer.org/getattachment/Datasets/ Published-Datasets/Female-Reproductive-Organs/ Carcinoma-of-the-ovary-Fallopian-Tube-Primary-Peri/ICCR-Ovary-FT-PPS-hyperlinked-guide.pdf. Accessed 8th April, 2020.
- Santoro A, Angelico G, Piermattei A, Inzani F, Valente M, Arciuolo D, Spadola S, Mulè A, Zorzato P, Fagotti A, Scambia G, Zannoni GF. Pathological chemotherapy response score in patients affected by high grade serous ovarian carcinoma: the prognostic role of omental and ovarian residual disease. Front Oncol. 2019;9:778. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.00778.
- 79. van Driel WJ, Koole SN, Sikorska K, Schagen van Leeuwen JH, Schreuder HWR, Hermans RHM, de Hingh IHJT, van der Velden J, Arts HJ, Massuger LFAG, Aalbers AGJ, Verwaal VJ, Kieffer JM, van de Vijver KK, van Tinteren H, Aaronson NK, Sonke GS. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:230–40.
- Lim MC, Song YJ, Seo SS, Yoo CW, Kang S, Park SY. Residual cancer stem cells after interval cytoreductive surgery following neoadjuvant chemotherapy could result in poor treatment outcomes for ovarian cancer. Onkologie. 2010;33(6):324–30. https://doi. org/10.1159/000313823. Epub 14 May 2010.
- Hynninen J, Lavonius M, Oksa S, et al. Is perioperative visual estimation of intra-abdominal tumor spread reliable in ovarian cancer surgery after neoadjuvant chemotherapy? Gynecol Oncol. 2013;128:229–32.

- 82. Sinukumar S, Rajan F, Mehta S, Damodaran D, Zaveri S, Kammar P, et al. A comparison of outcomes following total and selective peritonectomy performed at the time of interval cytoreductive surgery for advanced serous epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube and primary peritoneal cancer—a study by INDEPSO. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019. pii: S0748-7983(19)30304-X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2019.02.031.
- Sugarbaker PH. Colorectal cancer: prevention and management of metastatic disease. Biomed Res Int. 2014;11:782890. https://doi. org/10.1155/2014/782890.
- 84. Sugarbaker PH, Sammartino P, Tentes AA. Proactive management of peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer: the next logical step toward optimal locoregional control. Colorectal Cancer. 2012;1:115–23.
- Havelaar IJ, Sugarbaker PH, Vermess M, Miller DL. Rate of growth of intraabdominal metastases from colorectal cancer. Cancer. 1984;54(1):163–71.
- Joyce JA, Pollard JW. Microenvironment regulation of metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9:239–52.
- Papademetriou K, Ardavanis A, Kountourakis P. Neoadjuvant therapy for locally advanced breast cancer: focus on chemotherapy and biological targeted treatments' armamentarium. J Thoracic Dis. 2010;2(3):160–70. https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2072-1439.2010.02.03.
- Eisenhauer EA. Optimal assessment of response in ovarian cancer. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(Suppl\_8):viii49–51. https://doi.org/10.1093/ annonc/mdr467.
- 89. Biacchi D, Accarpio F, Ansaloni L, Macrì A, Ciardi A, Federici O, Spagnoli A, Cavaliere D, Vaira M, Sapienza P, Sammartino P. Upfront debulking surgery versus interval debulking surgery for advanced tubo-ovarian high-grade serous carcinoma and diffuse peritoneal metastases treated with peritonectomy procedures plus HIPEC. J Surg Oncol. 2019;120:1208. https://doi. org/10.1002/jso.25703. [Epub ahead of print].
- 90. Bhatt A, Sinukumar S, Rajan F, Damodaran D, Ray M, Zaveri S, et al. Impact of radicality versus timing of surgery in patients with advanced ovarian

cancer (stage III C) undergoing CRS and HIPEC—a retrospective study by INDEPSO. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2019;10(Suppl 1):57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13193-019-00875-z.

- Sugarbaker PH. Peritonectomy procedures. Ann Surg. 1995;221(1):29–42.
- 92. du Bois A, Vergote I, Ferron G, Reuss A, Meier W, Greggi S, et al. Randomized controlled phase III study evaluating the impact of secondary cytoreductive surgery in recurrent ovarian cancer: AGO DESKTOP III/ ENGOT ov20. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35. (abstract 5501).
- Classe JM, Glehen O, Decullier E, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for first relapse of ovarian cancer. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(9):4997–5005.
- Amate P, Huchon C, Dessapt AL, Bensaid C, Medioni J, Le Frère Belda MA, Bats AS, Lécuru FR. Ovarian cancer: sites of recurrence. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2013;23(9):1590–6.
- Harter P, Schouli J, Lorusso D, et al. A randomized trial of lymphadenectomy in patients with advanced ovarian neoplasms. N Engl J Med. 2019;380:822–32.
- 96. Pereira A, Pérez-Medina T, Magrina JF, Magtibay PM, Rodríguez-Tapia A, de León J, et al. Correlation between the extent of intraperitoneal disease and nodal metastasis in node-positive ovarian cancer patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(8):917–24.
- 97. Kammar P, Bhatt A, Anam J, Waghoo S, Pandey J, Mehta S. Correlation between pelvic peritoneal disease and nodal metastasis in advanced OvarianCancer:can intraoperative findings define the need for systematic nodal dissection? Indian J Surg Oncol. 2019;10(Suppl 1):84–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13193-019-00881-1. Epub 7 Feb 2019.
- 98. Di Giorgio A, Cardi M, Biacchi D, Sibio S, Accarpio F, Ciardi A, et al. Depth of colorectal-wall invasion and lymph-node involvement as major outcome factors influencing surgical strategy in patients with advanced and recurrent ovarian cancer with diffuse peritoneal metastases. World J Surg Oncol. 2013;11:64.



6

# Peritoneal Mesothelioma: Disease Biology and Patterns of Peritoneal Dissemination

Marcello Deraco, Nadia Zaffaroni, Federica Perrone, Antonello Cabras, Shigeki Kusamura, Marcello Guaglio, Matteo Montenovo, and Dario Baratti

Mesothelioma is a rare neoplasm arising from the mesothelial cells lining the pleura, peritoneum, pericardium, and tunica vaginalis layer of testis [1]. Diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma (DMPM) represents about one-fifth to one-third of all forms of mesothelioma.

Age-adjusted incidence rates of DMPM in the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) database were 1.2 per 1,000,000 personyear in men and 0.8 per 1,000,000 person-year in women during the years 1973–2003. In Europe, crude incidence rate during the years 1995–2002 was 1.3 per 1,000,000 person-year for both genders [2]. An increase of 5–10% in the annual mortality rate will be observed worldwide at least until 2020. The disease has likely already reached its incidence peak in the USA, but the

M. Deraco  $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$ . Kusamura  $\cdot M$ . Guaglio M. Montenovo  $\cdot D$ . Baratti

Peritoneal Surface Malignancy Unit, Department of Surgery, Fondazione IRCCS, Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy e-mail: marcello.deraco@istitutotumori.mi.it

O. Glehen, A. Bhatt (eds.), *Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3773-8\_6

peak is expected during the present decade in Europe and Australia [3].

The role of asbestos exposure in DMPM has not been clearly established as in the pleural forms. It is estimated that 58% of men and only 20% of women with DMPM had past asbestos exposure [4]. No asbestos exposure is documented in about 20–40% of DMPM, thus suggesting that other factors may be the culprit. Simian Virus 40 (SV40) is a possible co-factor in mesothelioma oncogenesis, and the hypothesis of a genetic susceptibility with an autosomal dominant pattern is based on observations gathered in Cappadocia [5, 6].

DMPM has been traditionally regarded to as an end-stage disease and treated with options that were merely palliative and minimally effective, such as surgical debulking and/or palliative systemic chemotherapy (sCT). The interest in this disease on part of biological and clinical researchers was poor. Only in recent years, an increasing number of patients with DMPM have been treated with cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC), resulting in remarkable survival improvements and increased interest in this disease. This chapter reviews several relevant issues regarding DMPM, with a special focus on basic science and translational researches carried out in our institution to investigate the molecular and cellular mechanisms underlying the proliferative potential and resistance to therapy of this disease.

N. Zaffaroni

Molecular Pharmacology Unit, Department of Applied Research and Technological Development, Fondazione IRCCS, Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy

F. Perrone · A. Cabras Department of Pathology, Fondazione IRCCS, Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

# 6.1 Pathology of Peritoneal Mesothelioma

Tumors arising from the mesothelial cells lining the abdominal cavity encompass a wide spectrum of biological aggressiveness [7]. Adenomatoid tumor and solitary fibrous tumor are truly benign lesions that very unlikely recur after simple excision. The former is a solitary asymptomatic lesion which most often involves genital region peritoneum in reproductive-aged women. Solitary fibrous tumor affects primarily men in their sixth decade [8]. The multicystic variant of PM (MCPM) and well-differentiated papillary variant of PM (WDPPM) are exceedingly uncommon entities with borderline malignant potential. At the other extreme, DMPM is a rapidly lethal malignancy, with a median survival of only 1 year when treated with standard therapies. Classification of PM according to clinical presentation, biological behavior, and pathological features is shown in Table 6.1.

DMPM is macroscopically characterized by multiple variably sized grey-white nodules throughout the abdominal cavity. As the disease progresses, the nodules become confluent to form plaques, masses, bowel encasement, or uniformly cover the peritoneal surfaces. Abundant effusion is often present.

Similar to its more frequent pleural counterpart, DMPM is classified as epithelial, sarcomatoid, or biphasic (mixed) [9]. However, the incidence of biphasic tumors is lower than in pleural disease, and pure sarcomatoid DMPM is rare. Epithelial DMPM is composed of polygonal, oval, or cuboidal cells exhibiting cytonuclear features and architectural formations ranging from well-differentiated to anaplastic/pleomorphic appearance. Sarcomatoid tumors and the sarcomatoid component of biphasic DMPM consist of spindle cells arranged in fascicle or storiform pattern [10].

Epithelial DMPM can be further categorized according to the patterns of the epithelial component. The tubulopapillary pattern is one of the most common patterns. It consists of a mixture of small tubules and papillary structures with fibrovascular cores lined by bland flat, cuboidal, or polygonal cells. The solid pattern consists of nests, cords, or sheets of round, oval,

Clinical	Biological			
presentation	behavior	Histological subtype	Histological pattern	Prevalence %
Localized	Benign	Adenomatoid tumor		Uncommon
		Solitary fibrous tumor		Uncommon
	Malignant	Epithelial/ Sarcomatoid/	Tubulopapillary, solid,	Uncommon
		Biphasic (mixed)	signet-ring cells	
Diffuse	Borderline	Multicystic		Uncommon
		Papillary well-differentiated		Uncommon
	Malignant	Epithelial	Tubulopapillary	75-80%
			Solid	
			Small cells	
			Adenomatoid	
			Acinar	
			Clear cells	
			Signet-ring cells	
			Deciduoid	
			Rhabdoid	
		Biphasic (mixed)		10-15%
		Sarcomatoid	Desmoplastic	4-6%
			Lympho-histiocytoid	
			Anaplastic	
			Giant cell	

Table 6.1 Classification of peritoneal mesothelioma

or polygonal cells with abundant eosinophilic cytoplasm and round, vesicular nuclei with prominent nucleoli. The adenomatoid (microglandular), acinar, clear-cell, deciduoid, signetring cell, small-cell, and rhabdoid patterns are rare. Sarcomatoid DMPM may demonstrate anaplastic, giant-cell, and desmoplastic features, or osteosarcomatous/chondrosarcomatous areas [8–10]. A very rare form of localized malignant peritoneal mesotheliomas (LMPM) has been reported and characterized by uncommon sharply circumscribed tumors of the serosal membrane with the microscopic appearance of diffuse malignant mesothelioma but without any evidence of diffuse spread [11].

Lymph-node metastases within and outside the abdominal cavity can occur even at the initial manifestation of DMPM. Node involvement has been reported in 7–14% of patients undergoing extensive cytoreductive surgery. By contrast, metastatic disease outside the abdominal cavity is uncommon, except for direct invasion of pleural spaces through the diaphragm [12].

Multicystic and well-differentiated papillary peritoneal mesothelioma are rare variants that generally affect reproductive-aged women with no history of asbestos exposure and show indolent clinical behaviors. MCPM forms multiple variably sized thin-walled cysts involving primarily the pelvis, but often spreading throughout the abdominal cavity. Microscopically, these cysts are separated by fibrous/adipose septa and lined by single layers of flattened to cuboidal cells with no or little atypia. WDPPM is characterized by well-developed papillary structures with fibrovascular core. MCPM is often associated with previous abdominal surgery, inflammation, or endometriosis. However, early recurrences requiring multiple surgical interventions, transformation into truly malignant disease, lymph-node involvement, and even death have been described. This, along with the reported clear evidence of diffuse disease distribution throughout the peritoneum and invasion into peritoneal surfaces, suggests that MCPM and WDPPM should be considered as borderline or low-malignant potential conditions, rather than truly benign tumors [13, 14].

# 6.2 Diagnosis of Peritoneal Mesothelioma

According to initial symptoms, DMPMs were categorized into three groups: "wet type," presenting with symptoms of malignant ascites causing an increase in abdominal girth, a "drypainful type" presenting with a focal mass seen at computed tomography (CT) scan usually causing pain, and a "combined type" characterized by both pain and ascites [4]. In a more recent series of 81 DMPM Italian patients, ascites, abdominal pain, and asthenia were the most frequent symptoms, followed by weight loss, anorexia, abdominal mass, fever, diarrhea, and vomiting; 13% of patients presented with abdominal hernia. Systemic symptoms such as thrombocytosis and anemia were present in 73% of cases. About 25% of female patients came to medical attention due to non-specific gynecological symptoms [15].

Contrast-enhanced CT scan is currently the preferred diagnostic radiological tools for DMPM. CT features of PM have been defined as "dry" and "wet," which correspond to wet or dry-painful type clinical types. The radiological "dry" appearance consists of peritoneal-based lesions and the "wet" appearance consists of ascites, irregular, or nodular peritoneum thickening and omental mass [16, 17]. CT scan is also useful in patient selection for a comprehensive surgical approach. The presence of a tumor mass >5 cm in the epigastric region and loss of normal architecture of the small bowel and its mesentery correlate with a low likelihood to perform an adequate surgical cytoreduction (residual lesions  $\leq$ 2.5 cm), that is a predominant prognostic variable [18].

Circulating tumor markers could be used as an adjunct to clinical and radiological assessment. In 2006, our group reported CA125 above normal limits in 53.3% and CA15.3 in 48.5% of 60 patients undergoing CRS/HIPEC. On the contrary, CEA and CA19.9 were mostly normal. Also, serial CA125 measurements paralleled with tumor growth or regression after CRS/ HIPEC [19]. More recently, we have assessed the diagnostic and prognostic role of mesothelin and osteopontin, which are markers currently used in pleural mesothelioma [20]. Using the optimal diagnostic cut-offs selected by ROC methodology, mesothelin attained 100% specificity and 100% positive predictive value in the differential diagnosis between DMPM and peritoneal dissemination of unknown origin. Additionally, osteopontin correlated with survival at multivariate analysis (hazard rate 6.46; 95% CI 1.81– 23.05; p = 0.004), and it might be a prognostic marker to select DMPM patients for aggressive

treatment approaches.

According to the consensus of expert pathologists from the International Mesothelioma Interest Group (Chicago, IL, October 2006), the diagnosis of DMPM must always be based on an adequate biopsy in the context of appropriate clinical, radiological, and surgical findings [18]. Cytology still plays a limited role in the primary diagnosis. Laparoscopy is a tool to perform biopsies, especially when there is no tumor deposit amenable to imaging-guided percutaneous biopsy, due to the unfavorable anatomic sites or small volume disseminated disease. Laparoscopy can also provide an opportunity to evaluate the peritoneal disease burden and to assess the feasibility of optimal cytoreductive surgery [21].

The first step for the diagnosis is hematoxylin-eosin staining. Demonstration of stromal invasion into visceral or parietal peritoneum (or beyond) is the key feature in the differential diagnosis with reactive mesothelial proliferations [22, 23]. Any gastrointestinal carcinoma and, in women, ovarian, primary peritoneal, and, more rarely, lobular breast carcinoma should be considered for the differential diagnosis of epithelial DMPM. The differential diagnosis for sarcomatoid DMPM includes sarcoma and other spindle cells neoplasms, such as sarcomatoid renal carcinoma and, particularly for biphasic DMPM, synovial sarcoma [8]. Since no immunohistochemical marker is entirely specific and sensitive for mesothelioma, the standard is to use panels of positive and negative markers. Mesothelioma is characterized by positive staining for EMA, calretinin, Wilms tumor-1 antigen, cytokeratin 5/6, HBME-1, podoplanin, and mesothelin. Depending on the tumor being considered in the differential diagnosis, CEA, Leu-M1, Ber-Ep4,

claudine, B72.3, Bg8, and MOC-31 can be used as negative marker [8, 9, 22–24].

# 6.3 Comprehensive Treatment of Peritoneal Mesothelioma

DMPM has been traditionally treated by palliative or debulking surgery. Systemic/intraperitoneal chemotherapy and abdominal irradiation have been used in malignant variants. The results of these treatments were quite disappointing, accounting for median survival of about 12 months [25-32]. However, DMPM tends to remain within the peritoneal surfaces of the abdominal cavity all over its clinical course. Lymph-node and extra-abdominal metastases develop rarely and mostly in the late disease progression. In the last two decades, these notions have evolved into the rationale base of a comprehensive local-regional approach to treat DMPM with a curative intent by extensive CRS and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) to eradicate the microscopic residual disease [33].

In 1996, Sugarbaker described five peritonectomy procedures to surgically remove all of the peritoneal linings of the abdominopelvic cavity: (1) right upper quadrant peritonectomy; (2) left upper quadrant peritonectomy with greater omentectomy and splenectomy; (3) lesser omentectomy with stripping of the omental bursa; (4) right colectomy with stripping of the right paracolic gutter; (5) pelvic peritonectomy with sigmoidectomy and (in women) hysterectomy and bilateral adnexectomy [33].

In recent years, a few modifications have been undertaken to adapt the original technique to DMPM clinical and pathological features. The most relevant technical contributions from our center during a 20-year experience with this disease are the innovative concept that a systematic complete parietal peritonectomy (including both macroscopically involved and normal surfaces) regardless of disease distribution is associated with better survival because of DMPM biological characteristics and dissemination pattern with frequent microscopic (not visible) peritoneal disease [34], the importance of nodal sampling and the impact of node metastases on prognosis [12], and the technique of mesenteric peritonectomy, with partial or complete stripping of the serosal layer from both sides of the mesentery [35].

An additional important concept is that that CRS must be aimed at removing all visible tumors. Numerous studies have stratified survival on the basis of the completeness of cytoreduction and this surgical endpoint is the major prognostic factor not only in DMPM, but also in all peritoneal surface malignancies [36]. This is generally explained by the limited penetration of locally delivered drugs in tumor tissue: only 2-3 mm. On the contrary, the pharmacological advantages of intraperitoneal administration consist in higher local-regional drug concentration with minimal systemic toxicity. Also, the intra-operative time setting allows optimal distribution of chemotherapeutic agents before the development of postoperative adhesions and tumor cell entrapment in scar tissue, which can contribute to disease recurrence. Finally, mild hyperthermia (41-43 °C) has a direct cytotoxic effect, increases the efficacy of antiblastic agents, such as mitomycin-C and platinum compounds, as well as their penetration into tumor tissue [33, 35].

The most relevant literature series of CRS/ HIPEC in DMPM are reported in Table 6.2. Median survival ranged from 30 to 92 months, and improved with growing experience, as it was 4–5 years in the most recent updates [37–51]. One French, one American, and one international multi-institutional series have collected 249, 211, and 405 patients, respectively [46–48]. The international study was sponsored by the Peritoneal Surface Oncology Group International (PSOGI) and included patients treated in eight centers from 1989 to 2009 with major operative morbidity of 46%, mortality of 2%, median survival of 53 months, and 5-year survival of 47% [46].

We reported operative long-term outcomes for 108 patients treated with complete CRS/ HIPEC (post-cytoreduction residual disease  $\leq 2.5$  mm). Treatment-related morbidity and mortality were 38.9% and 1.9%, respectively. Median survival was 63.2 months. Interestingly, there were 19 (43.6%) actual survivors of the 39 patients with potential follow-up >7 years, suggesting that patients surviving >7 years may be cured. On multivariate analysis, epithelioid histology and negative lymph node correlated with both overall survival and progression-free survival [45].

Center [Ref.]	Pts n.	HIPEC	Follow-up (months)	Median OS (months)	5-year OS
Winston-Salem, NC [37]	34	CDDP or MMC	72	41	17%
Bethesda, MD [38]	49	CDDP	28	92	59%
Turin, It [39]	42	CDDP + DX	72	65	44%
New York, NY [40]	54	CDDP + MMC	48	55	50%
Washington, DC [41]	62	CDDP + DX	37	79	50%
Villejuif, Fr [42]	26	OX ± IRI	54	NS	68%
Sydney, Au [43]	20	CDDP + DX	18	30	NS
Basingstoke, UK [44]	76a	CDDP + DX	NS	98	NS
Milan, It [45]	108	CDDP + DX	49	63	52%
International [46]	401	Various	33	53	47%
Bethesda, Pittsburgh,	211	CDDP or MMC	NS	38	26%
Baltimore [47]					
Lyon, FR [48]	28	CDDP + MMC	34	37	NS
Pittsburgh, PA [49]	65	CDDP + MMC	37	46	39%
Washington, DC [50]	205	CDDP + DX	31	77	52%
RENAPE [51]	249	Various	24	NR	80%

Table 6.2 Selected literature series of CRS/HIPEC for peritoneal mesothelioma

*CDDP* cisplatin, *DX* doxorubicin, *MMC* mitomycin-C, *OX* oxaliplatin, *IRI* irinotecan, *NS* not stated, *NR* not reached, *5FU* 5 fluorouracil, *OS* overall survival, *HIPEC* hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy, *EPIC* early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy

As patients not amenable to CRS/HIPEC, due to advanced or not resectable disease, are concerned, scarce data on the role of systemic chemotherapy are available. This may be, at least in part, explained by the rarity and inherent difficulties of radiologic assessment of DMPM. A variety of systemic agents have been extrapolated from pleural mesothelioma treatment. More recent studies have demonstrated improved outcomes with pemetrexed in combination with cisplatin/carboplatin. Pemetrexed is a multi-targeted antifolate that inhibits thymidylate synthase, dihydrofolate reductase, and glycinamide ribonucleotide formyltransferase. Activity of combinations of pemetrexed-based combinations was observed in two expanded access programs, with response rates of 15-30% and median survival 13–15 months in the palliative setting [52, 53]. Pemetrexed has been tested also in combination with gemcitabine [54].

Limited data are also available on systemic chemotherapy (sCT) in combination with CRS/ HIPEC in the adjuvant or neoadjuvant setting. We have retrospectively analyzed 116 DMPM patients treated with CRS/HIPEC from 1995 to 2011. Sixty of them had preoperative sCT, 30 had postoperative sCT, and 26 no sCT. Platinum and pemetrexed were given to 55 cases. Preoperative sCT was not associated with complete cytoreduction or severe morbidity, but also with no survival differences among preoperative, postoperative, and no sCT groups [55]. In a recent multi-institutional French study, preoperative sCT was associated with worse survival at multivariate analysis (HR = 2.30; 95% CI = 1.07-4.94; p = 0.033) [56].

## 6.4 Clinical and Pathological Prognostic Factors

Several predictive factors for overall survival in patients with DMPM have been identified. Beside the completeness of cytoreduction, disease stage, which is generally quantified by peritoneal cancer index (PCI), was identified as a prognostic factor by Yan [57]. Schaub created a nomogram to predict survival that was partly based on PCI [58]. Male sex and older age have been also associated with poorer prognosis [47, 49, 59]. The histological type is one of the most consistent prognostic factors, as worse outcomes have been repeatedly reported for sarcomatoid and biphasic DMPM [45, 46, 58]. Magge showed that there may be no benefit from CRS-HIPEC in sarcomatoid and biphasic groups, with a median survival of 10.5 as compared with 51.5 months in epithelioid DMPM [49]. On the contrary, a recent PSOGI registry study reported better results in patients with biphasic histology undergoing CCR-0 cytoreduction, with a median survival of 7.8 years, thus suggesting that biphasic DMPM should no longer be considered as an absolute contraindication [60].

The prognostic impact of lymph-node metastases has been reported in both single center and multi-institutional series [45, 46]. Individual studies have also identified mitotic rate [40, 45, 61], GLUT-1 expression [48], preoperative CA-125 [19, 58], telomere maintenance mechanisms [62], estrogen receptors [63], BCL2 [64], MUC-1 [65], BAP1, NF2, CDKN2A [66], mitotic index and pattern of growth [67], PD-L1 [61], and preoperative thrombocytosis [68] as predictors of poorer survival.

We recently developed an algorithm by means of conditional inference tree model [69]. This model relies on pre-cytoreduction PCI and tumor proliferative index measured by Ki-67 using immunohistochemistry. Three prognostic subsets were defined: (I) Ki-67  $\leq$ 9%; (II) Ki-67 >9% and PCI 17; and (III) Ki-67  $\leq$ 9%; and PCI >17. The median OS for subsets I, II, and III were 86.6, 63.2, and 10.3 months, respectively. The model had an acceptable discriminant capacity with a bootstrap-corrected Harrell c-index of 0.74.

# 6.5 Prognostic Biomarkers and Therapeutic Targets (Fig. 6.1)

The discovery of new targeted therapies could be the key for improving the prognosis of patients affected by diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma (DMPM) which is known to be relatively resistant to traditional chemotherapy. Thus



Fig. 6.1 Genes/pathways altered in DMPM with potential as biomarkers and/or therapeutic targets

far, a limited number of studies have focused on the identification of deregulated pathways in DMPM that can be specifically targeted to obtain a direct therapeutic effect or to increase the tumor sensitivity to conventional anticancer agents.

It was initially demonstrated that the dysregulation of apoptotic pathways may play a role in the relative chemoresistance of DMPM and that survivin and other members of the inhibitors of apoptosis protein family (i.e., IAP-1, IAP-2, and X-IAP), which are overexpressed in most DMPMs, could represent new therapeutic targets. Indeed, it was found that RNAimediated survivin knockdown in DMPM cells enhanced both spontaneous and drug-induced apoptosis [70], thus supporting the notion that survivin inhibitors may provide new approaches to the treatment of the disease. In this context, it was reported that nortopsentin analogues (1H-pyrrolo[2,3-*b*]pyridine derivatives) reduced proliferation and induced a caspase-dependent apoptotic response in DMPM cell lines, which were paralleled by a significant decline of the expression of the active Thr(34)-phosphorylated form of the anti-apoptotic protein survivin, as a consequence of CDK1 inhibition [71]. Survivin exclusively relies on exportin 1 (XPO1/CRM1) to be shuttled into the cytoplasm and performs its anti-apoptotic function. It was demonstrated that selinexor, a clinical stage XPO1/CRM1 inhibitor, induced dose-dependent inhibition of DMPM cell growth, cell cycle arrest at G1-phase, and caspase-dependent apoptosis, which were paralleled by a time-dependent reduction of cytoplasmic survivin levels. Most importantly, orally administered selinexor caused a significant antitumor effect in subcutaneous and orthotopic DMPM xenografts without appreciable toxicity [72]. Collectively, these findings highlight the interference with survivin expression and function as a novel therapeutic option for DMPM.

Additional interesting targets that may have clinical utility in DMPM are represented by PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathways. Indeed, expression and activation of PI3K, AKT, mTOR, S6, and 4EBP1 have been documented by biochemical analyses in a series of DMPM clinical samples and activity of mTOR inhibitors has been demonstrated in vitro in a human DMPM cell line [73]. Consistently, a gene expression profile study revealed the upregulation of genes related to PI3K and mTOR signaling pathways, which was significantly correlated with shortened survival of DMPM patients [74]. Activation of these pathway is likely sustained by NF2 deletion and a ligand-dependent activation and co-activation of multiple receptors tyrosine kinase, such as EGFR, PDGFRB, and MET, described in DMPM [73, 75]. Such finding may explain the low efficacy of single-agent anti-EGFR therapy reported in DMPM patients, despite a predominant EGFR overexpression/activation, thus supporting the use of combined treatments [76, 77]. Coherently, a combined inhibition of PI3K and mTOR signaling was effective in two young women with papillary indolent DMPM enabling long-term survival despite disease recurrence [78].

In the last years, results from studies aimed at dissecting the genomic landscape of DMPM improved the knowledge of the molecular biology of this rare tumor and identified additional potential therapeutic targets. Specifically, it was revealed that over 70% of DMPMs harbor *BRCA1* associated protein 1 (*BAP1*) inactivating mutation or copy number loss and/or loss of protein expression, making BAP1 the most commonly altered gene in this malignancy [79-82]. BAP1 is a tumor suppressor and deubiquitinase, localized to the nucleus where it regulates chromatin remodeling and maintains genome integrity. Thus, a reduced BAP1 activity results in the accumulation of DNA-damaged cells and in an increased susceptibility to the development of malignancy. Results from several studies support the specificity of BAP1 protein loss assessed by immunohistochemistry as a helpful diagnostic marker for the pathologic identification of mesothelioma [83, 84]. By contrast, the prognostic role of loss of BAP1 in DMPM is still controversial. Indeed, a study showed that loss of BAP1 immunostaining did not correlate with DMPM patients' outcome [61], whereas better overall survival for patients with BAP1 mutations, protein expression loss, or at least one of these alterations, independently of tumor histological subtype, age, and sex, was reported in another study [82].

Inactivating mutations and focal deletion of neurofibromin 2 (NF2), which encodes the cytoskeletal scaffolding protein Merlin, and mutations of the two epigenetic regulatory genes DDX3X and SETD2 are also relatively common in DMPM, indicating that transcriptional deregulation is a key oncogenic mechanism in mesothelial tumorigenesis [80, 81]. This notion is also supported by the finding that a significant fraction of DMPMs show loss of 3p21 locus, in which are located other chromatin modifiers and epigenetic regulatory genes, such as SMARCC1 and PBRM1 [85]. Interestingly, DMPMs harboring 3p21 locus or presenting BAP1 loss (BAP1 haploinsufficiency) also show a differential expression of a set of genes involved in both chromatin remodeling and DNA damage repair mechanisms [85]. DMPMs carrying inactivating alterations affecting BAP1 and other transcriptional regulators may represent a molecular subgroup with altered transcriptional programs that may benefit from inhibitors of epigenetic modifiers, including histone deacetylases and the histone methyltransferase EZH2, that seem to be promising in preclinical setting [86, 87].

BAP1 haploinsufficiency also seems to predict a distinct immunogenic class of DMPMs. Indeed, this subgroup is characterized by both the presence of an inflammatory tumor microenvironment and PD-1/PD-L1 expression [85]. If confirmed, these interesting findings could open an additional therapeutic opportunity for this subset of DMPM patients since BAP1 haploinsufficiency may confer sensitivity to immune checkpoint inhibitors. In this context, the combination of anti-CTLA4 and anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies was active and safe in mesothelioma patients recently enrolled into the phase 2 trial NIBIT-MESO-1 [88]. PD-L1 expression had already been reported in half of DMPMs, with a frequency similar or even higher compared to pleural mesothelioma [89, 90]. Although, in the trial NIBIT-MESO, PD-L1 expression did not seem to correlate with clinical response or overall survival, the correlation between BAP1 loss and PD-L1 expression deserves further investigations.

ALK rearrangements have been described in a small subset (3%) of younger women (>40 years) affected by DMPM without genetic alterations in BAP1, SETD2 or NF2. This was an exciting finding suggesting that a restricted subset of selected patients may benefit from treatments with ALK inhibitors [91].

Results from an extensive exome sequencing of a large collection of pleural mesothelioma specimens showed the presence of mutations affecting the splicing factor 3b subunit 1 (SF3B1), which encodes an essential component of the spliceosome, as well as the histone methyltransferase SETD2 and the DEAD-box RNA helicases DDX51 and DDX3X, which are also involved in RNA processing and splicing [92]. In addition, this study unraveled several mesotheliomaspecific splice alterations, most of which were independent of splice site mutations. Recently, we found that spliceosomal genes are differentially upregulated in DMPM cells compared to normal tissues. In addition, the expression of SF3B1, as assessed by immunohistochemistry in tissue microarrays of 64 DMPM specimens, was found to correlate with poor patients' clinical outcome in univariate and multivariate analysis [93]. SF3b modulators (Pladienolide-B, E7107, Meayamycin-B) showed potent in vitro cytotoxic activity in the low nanomolar range. Differential splicing analysis of Pladienolide-B-treated cells revealed abundant alterations of transcripts involved in cell cycle, apoptosis, and other oncogenic pathways. E7107 demonstrated remarkable in vivo antitumor efficacy, with significant improvement of survival rates compared to vehicle-treated controls [93]. Collectively, such data indicate SF3B1 as a novel potential prognostic factor and designate splicing as a promising therapeutic target in DMPM.

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are endogenous small non-coding RNA molecules that negatively regulate gene expression in a variety of biological processes by translation inhibition, cleavage, or degradation of target mRNAs. The value of miR-NAs as novel biomarkers and targets for cancer therapy is now widely recognized. In this context, several preclinical studies utilized miRNA targeting approaches for improving the therapy of pleural mesothelioma [94]. However, no information is currently available on the expression/ functional role of miRNAs in DMPM with the only exception of miR-34a [95]. The expression and biological effects of miR-34a, which is one of the most widely deregulated miRNAs in cancer, have been evaluated in a cohort of 45 DMPM and 7 normal peritoneum specimens as well as in 5 DMPM cell lines. The miRNA was found to be significantly downregulated in DMPM clinical specimens and cell lines. In addition, miR-34a reconstitution in DMPM cells significantly inhibited proliferation and tumorigenicity, induced an apoptotic response, and declined invasion ability, mainly through the downregulation of c-MET and AXL and the interference with the activation of downstream signaling. Interestingly, a persistent activation of ERK1/2 and AKT in miR-34a-reconstituted cells was found to counteract the anti-proliferative and pro-apoptotic effects of miRNA, yet not affecting its anti-invasive activity. Overall, these preclinical data strongly suggest the potential clinical utility of a miR-34a-replacement therapy for the treatment of DMPM and, on the other hand, provide the first evidence of a potential cytoprotective/resistance

mechanism that may arise towards miRNA-based therapies through the persistent activation of RTK downstream signaling [95].

### References

- Robinson BWS, Lake RA. Advanced in malignant mesothelioma. N Engl J Med. 2005;353:1591–603.
- Conti S, Minelli G, Ascoli V, Marinaccio A, Bonafede M, Manno V, Crialesi R, Straif K. Peritoneal mesothelioma in Italy: trends and geography of mortality and incidence. Am J Ind Med. 2015;58:1050–8.
- 3. Boffetta P. Epidemiology of peritoneal mesothelioma: a review. Ann Oncol. 2007;18:985–90.
- Sugarbaker PH, Welch LS, Mohamed F, Glehen O. A review of peritoneal mesothelioma at the Washington Cancer Institute. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12:605–21.
- Gazdar AF, Carbone M. Molecular pathogenesis of mesothelioma and its relationship to Simian virus 40. Clin Lung Cancer. 2003;5:177–81.
- Roushdy-Hammady I, Siegel J, Emri S, et al. Genetic-susceptibility factor and malignant mesothelioma in the Cappadocian region of Turkey. Lancet. 2001;357:444–5.
- Churg A, Roggli VL, Galateau-Salle F, et al. Tumours of the pleura: mesothelial tumours. In: Travis WD, Brambilla E, Harris CC, Muller-Hermelink HK, editors. Pathology and genetics of tumours of the lung, pleura, thymus and heart. Lyon: IARC Press; 2004.
- Husain AN, Colby TV, Ordóñez NG, et al. Guidelines for pathologic diagnosis of malignant mesothelioma: 2017 update of the consensus statement from the international mesothelioma interest group. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2018;142:89–108.
- Battifora H, McCaughey WTE. Tumours and pseudotumours of the serosal membranes. In: Atlas of tumour pathology 3rd series, fascicle 15. Washington, DC: Armed Forces Institute of Pathology; 1995. p. 15–88.
- Roggli VL, Cagle PT. Pleura, pericardium and peritoneum. In: Silverberg SG, DeLellis RA, Frable WJ, LiVolsi VA, Wick MR, editors. Silverberg's principles and practice of surgical pathology. 4th ed. New York: Churchill-Livingstone/Elsevier; 2006. p. 1005–39.
- Allen TC, Cagle PT, Churg AM, Colby TV, Gibbs AR, Hammar SP, Corson JM, Grimes MM, Ordonez NG, Roggli V, Travis WD, Wick MR. Localized malignant mesothelioma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2005;29:7.
- Baratti D, Kusamura S, Cabras AD, Laterza B, Balestra MR, Deraco M. Lymph node metastases in diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:45–53.
- Butnor KJ, Sporn TA, Hammar SP, Roggli VL. Welldifferentiated papillary mesothelioma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2001;25:1304–9.

- Baratti D, Kusamura S, Nonaka D, Oliva GD, Laterza B, Deraco M. Multicystic and well-differentiated papillary peritoneal mesothelioma treated by surgical cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:2790–7.
- de Pangher V, Recchia L, Cafferata M, et al. Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: a multicenter study on 81 cases. Ann Oncol. 2010;21:348–53.
- Park JY, Kim KW, Kwon HJ, et al. Peritoneal mesotheliomas: clinicopathologic features, CT findings, and differential diagnosis. Am J Roentgenol. 2008;191:814–25.
- Whitley N, Brenner D, Antman K, Grant D, Aisner J. CT of peritoneal mesothelioma: analysis of eight cases. Am J Roentgenol. 1982;138:531–5.
- Yan TD, Haveric N, Carmignani CP, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Abdominal computed tomography scans in the selection of patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma for comprehensive treatment with cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer. 2005;103:839–49.
- Baratti D, Kusamura S, Martinetti A, Seregni E, Oliva DG, Laterza B, Deraco M. Circulating CA125 in patients with peritoneal mesothelioma treated with cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:500–8.
- 20. Bruno F, Baratti D, Martinetti A, Morelli D, Sottotetti E, Bonini C, Guaglio M, Kusamura S, Deraco M. Mesothelin and osteopontin as circulating markers of diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: a preliminary study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2018;44:792–8.
- Laterza B, Kusamura S, Baratti D, Oliva GD, Deraco M. Role of explorative laparoscopy to evaluate optimal candidates for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in patients with peritoneal mesothelioma. In Vivo. 2009;23:187–90.
- Churg A, Colby TV, Cagle P. The separation of benign and malignant mesothelial proliferations. Am J Surg Pathol. 2000;24:1183–200.
- Attanoos RL, Griffin A, Gibbs AR. The use of immunohistochemistry in distinguishing reactive from neoplastic mesothelium: a novel use for desmin and comparative evaluation with epithelial membrane antigen, p53, platelet-derived growth factor-receptor, P-glycoprotein and Bcl-2. Histopathology. 2003;43:231–8.
- Ordonez NG. Immunohistochemical diagnosis of epithelioid mesothelioma: an update. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2005;129:1407–14.
- Rogoff EE, Hilaris B, Huvos AG. Long-term survival in patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma treated with irradiation. Cancer. 1973;32:656–64.
- Chahinian AP, Pajak TF, Holland JF, et al. Diffuse malignant mesothelioma. Prospective evaluation of 69 patients. Ann Intern Med. 1982;96:746–55.
- Antman KH, Osteen R, Klegar K, et al. Early peritoneal mesothelioma: a treatable malignancy. Lancet. 1985;2:977–81.

- Kirmani S, Cleary SM, Mowry J, et al. Intracavitary cisplatin for malignant mesothelioma: an update. Proc Am Clin Oncol. 1988;7. (Abstract 1057).
- van Gelder T, Hoogsteden HC, Versnel MA, et al. Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: a series of 19 cases. Digestion. 1989;43:222–7.
- Markman M, Kelsen D. Efficacy of cisplatin-based intraperitoneal chemotherapy as treatment of malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 1992;118:547–50.
- Neumann V, Muller KM, Fischer M. Peritoneal mesothelioma-incidence and aetiology. Pathologe. 1999;20:169–76.
- Eltabbakh GH, Piver MS, Hempling RE, et al. Clinical picture, response to therapy, and survival of women with diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. J Surg Oncol. 1999;70:6–12.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritonectomy procedures. Ann Surg. 1995;221:29–42.
- 34. Baratti D, Kusamura S, Cabras AD, Deraco M. Cytoreductive surgery with selective versus complete parietal peritonectomy followed by hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: a controlled study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19:1416–24.
- Deraco M, Baratti D, Kusamura S, Laterza B, Balestra MR. Surgical technique of parietal and visceral peritonectomy for peritoneal surface malignancies. J Surg Oncol. 2009;100:321–8.
- Jaquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Current methodologies for clinical assessment of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 1996;15:49–58.
- 37. Blackham AU, Shen P, Stewart JH, et al. Cytoreductive surgery with intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: mitomycin versus cisplatin. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:1720–7.
- Feldman AL, Libutti SK, Pingpank JF, et al. Analysis of factors associated with outcome in patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma undergoing surgical debulking and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:4560–7.
- Robella M, Vaira M, Mellano A, et al. Treatment of diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma (DMPM) by cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC. Minerva Chir. 2014;69:9–15.
- Borczuk AC, Taub RN, Hesdorffer M, et al. P16 loss and mitotic activity predict poor survival in patients with peritoneal malignant mesothelioma. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:3303–8.
- Cerruto CA, Brun EA, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Prognostic significance of histomorphologic parameters in diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2006;130:1654–61.
- 42. Elias D, Bedard V, Bouzid T, et al. Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: treatment with maximal cytoreductive surgery plus intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 2007;31:784–8.
- 43. Chua TC, Yan TD, Morris DL. Outcomes of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal

chemotherapy for peritoneal mesothelioma: the Australian experience. J Surg Oncol. 2009;99:109–13.

- 44. Gilani SNS, Mehta A, Garcia-Fadrique A, et al. Outcomes of cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal mesothelioma and predictors of survival. Int J Hyperthermia. 2018;34:578–84.
- Baratti D, Kusamura S, Cabras AD, Bertulli R, Hutanu I, Deraco M. Diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: long-term survival with complete cytoreductive surgery followed by hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Eur J Cancer. 2013;49:3140–8.
- 46. Yan TD, Deraco M, Baratti D, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal mesothelioma a multi-institutional registry study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:6237–42.
- 47. Alexander HR Jr, Bartlett DL, Pingpank JF, et al. Treatment factors associated with long-term survival after cytoreductive surgery and regional chemotherapy for patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Surgery. 2013;153:779–86.
- 48. Hommell-Fontaine J, Isaac S, Passot G, et al. Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma treated by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: is GLUT1 expression a major prognostic factor? A preliminary study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:3892–8.
- Magge D, Zenati MS, Austin F, et al. Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: prognostic factors and oncologic outcome analysis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1159–65.
- Ihemelandu C, Bijelic L, Sugarbaker PH. Iterative cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for recurrent or progressive diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: clinicopathologic characteristics and survival outcome. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22:1680–5.
- Malgras B, Gayat E, Aoun O, et al. Impact of combination chemotherapy in peritoneal mesothelioma Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC): the RENAPE study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018;25:3271–9.
- 52. Carteni G, Manegold C, Garcia GM, et al. Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma—results from the international expanded access program using pemetrexed alone or in combination with a platinum agent. Lung Cancer. 2009;64:211–8.
- 53. Jänne PA, Wozniak AJ, Belani CP, et al. Open-label study of pemetrexed alone or in combination with cisplatin for the treatment of patients with peritoneal mesothelioma: outcomes of an expanded access program. Clin Lung Cancer. 2005;7:40–6.
- 54. Simon GR, Verschraegen CF, Jänne PA, Langer CJ, Dowlati A, Gadgeel SM, et al. Pemetrexed plus gemcitabine as first-line chemotherapy for patients with peritoneal mesothelioma: final report of a phase II trial. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:3567–72.
- 55. Deraco M, Baratti D, Hutanu I, Bertuli R, Kusamura S. The role of perioperative systemic chemotherapy in diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma patients

treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:1093–100.

- 56. Kepenekian V, Elias D, Passot G, et al. Diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: evaluation of systemic chemotherapy with comprehensive treatment through the RENAPE database: multi-institutional retrospective study. Eur J Cancer. 2016;65:69–79.
- 57. Yan TD, Deraco M, Elias D, Glehen O, Levine EA, Moran BJ, Morris DL, Chua TC, Piso P, Sugarbaker PH, Peritoneal Surface Oncology Group. A novel tumor-node-metastasis (TNM) staging system of diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma using outcome analysis of a multi-institutional database. Cancer. 2011;117:1855–63.
- Schaub NP, Alimchandani M, Quezado M, et al. A novel nomogram for peritoneal mesothelioma predicts survival. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:555–61.
- 59. Cao C, Yan TD, Deraco M, Elias D, Glehen O, Levine EA, Moran BJ, Morris DL, Chua TC, Piso P, Sugarbaker PH, Peritoneal Surface Malignancy Group. Importance of gender in diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Ann Oncol. 2012;23:1494–8.
- 60. Votanopoulos KI, Sugarbaker P, Deraco M, et al. Is cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy justified for biphasic variants of peritoneal mesothelioma? Outcomes from the peritoneal surface oncology group international registry. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018;25:667–73.
- Valmary-Degano S, Colpart P, Villeneuve L, et al. Immunohistochemical evaluation of two antibodies against PD-L1 and prognostic significance of PD-L1 expression in epithelioid peritoneal malignant mesothelioma: a RENAPE study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43:1915–23.
- 62. Villa R, Daidone MG, Motta R, Venturini L, De Marco C, Vannelli A, Kusamura S, Baratti D, Deraco M, Costa A, Reddel RR, Zaffaroni N. Multiple mechanisms of telomere maintenance exist and differentially affect clinical outcome in diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:4134–40.
- Huang Y, Alzahrani NA, Liauw W, Morris DL. Effects of sex hormones on survival of peritoneal mesothelioma. World J Surg Oncol. 2015;13:210.
- Pillai K, Pourgholami MH, Chua TC, Morris DL. Ki67-BCL2 index in prognosis of malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Am J Cancer Res. 2013;3:411–23.
- Pillai K, Pourgholami MH, Chua TC, Morris DL. MUC1 has prognostic significance in malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Int J Biol Markers. 2013;28:303–12.
- 66. Singhi AD, Krasinskas AM, Choudry HA, et al. The prognostic significance of BAP1, NF2, and CDKN2A in malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Mod Pathol. 2016;29:14–24.
- 67. Krasinskas AM, Borczuk AC, Hartman DJ, et al. Prognostic significance of morphological growth patterns and mitotic index of epithelioid malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Histopathology. 2016;68:729–37.

- 68. Li YC, Khashab T, Terhune J, et al. Preoperative thrombocytosis predicts shortened survival in patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma undergoing operative Cytoreduction and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24:2259–65.
- 69. Kusamura S, Torres Mesa PA, Cabras A, Baratti D, Deraco M. The role of Ki-67 and pre-cytoreduction parameters in selecting diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma (DMPM) patients for Cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:1468–73.
- Zaffaroni N, Costa A, Pennati M, De Marco C, Affini E, Madeo M, Erdas R, Cabras A, Kusamura S, Baratti D, Deraco M, Daidone MG. Survivin is highly expressed and promotes cell survival in malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Cell Oncol. 2007;29:453–66.
- Carbone A, Pennati M, Parrino B, et al. Novel 1H-pyrrolo[2,3-b]pyridine derivative nortopsentin analogues: synthesis and antitumor activity in peritoneal mesothelioma experimental models. J Med Chem. 2013;56:7060–72.
- 72. De Cesare M, Cominetti D, Doldi V, Lopergolo A, Deraco M, Gandellini P, Friedlander S, Landesman Y, Kauffman MG, Shacham S, Pennati M, Zaffaroni N. Anti-tumor activity of selective inhibitors of XPO1/CRM1-mediated nuclear export in diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: the role of survivin. Oncotarget. 2015;6:13119–32.
- Perrone F, Jocollè G, Pennati M. Receptor tyrosine kinase and downstream signalling analysis in diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Eur J Cancer. 2010;46:2837–48.
- 74. Varghese S, Chen Z, Bartlett DL, et al. Activation of the phosphoinositide-3-kinase and mammalian target of rapamycin signaling pathways are associated with shortened survival in patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Cancer. 2011;117:361–71.
- 75. Bozzi F, Brich S, Dagrada GP, Negri T, Conca E, Cortelazzi B, Belfiore A, Perrone F, Gualeni AV, Gloghini A, Cabras A, Brenca M, Maestro R, Zaffaroni N, Casali P, Bertulli R, Deraco M, Pilotti S. Epithelioid peritoneal mesothelioma: a hybrid phenotype within a mesenchymal-epithelial/epithelial-mesenchymal transition framework. Oncotarget. 2016;7:75503–17.
- 76. Govindan R, Kratzke RA, Herndon JE 2nd, et al., Cancer and Leukemia Group B (CALGB 30101). Gefitinib in patients with malignant mesothelioma: a phase II study by the Cancer and Leukemia Group B Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:2300–4.
- 77. Garland LL, Rankin C, Gandara DR, et al. Phase II study of erlotinib in patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma: a Southwest Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:2406–13.
- Dolly SO, Migali C, Tunariu N, et al. Indolent peritoneal mesothelioma: PI3K-mTOR inhibitors as a novel therapeutic strategy. ESMO Open. 2017;e000101:2.

- Alakus H, Yost SE, Woo B, et al. BAP1 mutation is a frequent somatic event in peritoneal malignant mesothelioma. J Transl Med. 2015;13:122.
- Joseph NM, Chen YY, Nasr A, et al. Genomic profiling of malignant peritoneal mesothelioma reveals recurrent alterations in epigenetic regulatory genes BAP1, SETD2, and DDX3X. Mod Pathol. 2017;30:246–54.
- Chirac P, Maillet D, Lepretre F, et al. Genomic copy alterations in 33 malignant peritoneal mesothelioma analyzed by comparative genomic hybridization array. Hum Pathol. 2016;55:72–82.
- 82. Leblay N, Leprêtre F, Le Stang N, et al. BAP1 is altered by copy number loss, mutation, and/or loss of protein expression in more than 70% of malignant peritoneal mesotheliomas. J Thorac Oncol. 2017;12:724–33.
- Cigognetti M, Lonardi S, Fisogni S, et al. BAP1 (BRCA1-associated protein 1) is a highly specific marker for differentiating mesothelioma from reactive mesothelial proliferations. Mod Pathol. 2015;28:1043–57.
- 84. Andrici J, Sheen A, Sioson L, et al. Loss of expression of BAP1 is a useful adjunct, which strongly supports the diagnosis of mesothelioma in effusion cytology. Mod Pathol. 2015;28:1360–8.
- Shrestha R, Nabavi N, Lin YY, et al. BAP1 haploinsufficiency predicts a distinct immunogenic class of malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Genome Med. 2019;11:8.
- 86. Sacco JJ, Kenyani J, Butt Z, et al. Loss of the deubiquitylase BAP1 alters class I histone deacetylase expression and sensitivity of mesothelioma cells to HDAC inhibitors. Oncotarget. 2015;6:13757–71.
- LaFave LM, Béguelin W, Koche R, et al. Loss of BAP1 function leads to EZH2-dependent transformation. Nat Med. 2015;21:1344–9.
- Calabrò L, Morra A, Giannarelli D, et al. Tremelimumab combined with durvalumab in patients

with mesothelioma (NIBIT-MESO-1): an open-label, non-randomised, phase 2 study. Lancet Respir Med. 2018;6:451–60.

- 89. Khanna S, Thomas A, Abate-Daga D, Zhang J, et al. Malignant mesothelioma effusions are infiltrated by CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells highly expressing PD-L1 and the PD-L1<sup>+</sup> tumor cells within these effusions are susceptible to ADCC by the anti-PD-L1 antibody avelumab. J Thorac Oncol. 2016;11:1993–2005.
- 90. Chapel DB, Stewart R, Furtado LV, Husain AN, Krausz T, Deftereos G. Tumor PD-L1 expression in malignant pleural and peritoneal mesothelioma by Dako PD-L1 22C3 pharmDx and Dako PD-L1 28-8 pharmDx assays. Hum Pathol. 2019;87:11–7.
- Hung YP, Dong F, Watkins JC, et al. Identification of alk rearrangements in malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4:235–8.
- 92. Bueno R, Stawiski EW, Goldstein LD, et al. Comprehensive genomic analysis of malignant pleural mesothelioma identifies recurrent mutations, gene fusions and splicing alterations. Nat Genet. 2016;48:407–16.
- 93. Sciarrillo R, Wojtuszkiewicz A, El Hassouni B, et al. Splicing modulation as novel therapeutic strategy against diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. EBioMedicine. 2019;39:215–25.
- 94. Birnie KA, Prêle CM, Thompson PJ, Badrian B, Mutsaers SE. Targeting microRNA to improve diagnostic and therapeutic approaches for malignant mesothelioma. Oncotarget. 2017;8:78193–207.
- 95. El Bezawy R, De Cesare M, Pennati M, Deraco M, Gandellini P, Zuco V, Zaffaroni N. Antitumor activity of miR-34a in peritoneal mesothelioma relies on c-MET and AXL inhibition: persistent activation of ERK and AKT signaling as a possible cytoprotective mechanism. J Hematol Oncol. 2017;10:19.



# The Pathological Spectrum of Mucinous Appendiceal Tumours and Pseudomyxoma Peritonei

Aditi Bhatt, Suniti Mishra, Loma Parikh, and Olivier Glehen

# 7.1 Introduction

Pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP) is a clinical syndrome that has intrigued surgeons and pathologists alike for the last four decades. Over this period, the management of the condition has undergone a radical change from an essentially palliative approach to a potentially curative one comprising of cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC. PMP is a clinical syndrome that comprises of a very heterogeneous group of tumours that have a similar clinical presentation but varied biological behaviour. The terminology used to classify these tumours has been changing constantly as the understanding of the disease process improves. Often different classifications and terminology are used by different pathologists and must be put in perspective by the treating surgeon. There has been progress on the molecular and genomic front as well. This

A. Bhatt

Department of Surgical Oncology, Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

S. Mishra Department of Pathology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India

L. Parikh Department of Pathology, Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

O. Glehen (⊠) Department of Surgical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Lyon-Sud, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Lyon, France e-mail: olivier.glehen@chu-lyon.fr chapter provides a simplified approach to diagnose and classify PMP of appendiceal origin which will be useful to both less experienced pathologists and surgeons. There is a tabulated comparison of the different classifications used for both the primary tumour and PMP. It also focuses on some 'grey areas' in classifying these tumours that need to be considered while treating these patients.

### 7.1.1 Definition

Pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP) is defined as a clinical syndrome characterized by the presence of free or organized mucin with or without neoplastic cells in the peritoneal cavity and the typical pattern of redistribution [1]. This definition encompasses a spectrum of tumours with very bland ones with little or no epithelium at one end and the more aggressive ones akin to mucinous colorectal adenocarcinomas at the other. Though initially considered a benign or borderline condition, it is now considered to be a malignant one given its propensity for dissemination and recurrence [2].

# 7.1.2 Origin of PMP

The most common underlying cause of PMP is a mucinous appendiceal tumour (in approximately 94% of the cases) [3, 4]. Other primary sites in

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 O. Glehen, A. Bhatt (eds.), *Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3773-8\_7

order of highest incidence are the ovaries, colon and rectum, pancreas, urachus, stomach, gall bladder, fallopian tubes, breasts and lungs [5]. It must be mentioned that an ovarian mucinous tumour giving rise to PMP is often a mucinous tumour developing in a mature teratoma [6, 7]. It is not uncommon for PMP to present as an ovarian mass. Primary ovarian mucinous tumours can closely mimic appendiceal metastases histologically (Fig. 7.1), although there are some morphologic features in the ovary that may point to the appendix as the source [8]. For all mucinous ovarian tumours, it is now recommended that a primary in the appendix should be considered, actively searched and ruled out. Either the appendix should be resected even if it appears normal or immunohistochemistry performed if the diagnosis has been established after surgery. Even in low-grade PMP with pushing invasion, ovarian metastases can occur (Fig. 7.2). In rare situations, patients present with mucinous peritoneal carcinomatosis with no evident primary tumour. These



**Fig. 7.1** Low-grade mucinous tumour of the ovary. The tumour is characterized by low-grade epithelium with apical mucin and a pushing front. The appendix was normal

and immunohistochemistry was suggestive of an ovarian primary tumour. (a) At  $10 \times$  magnification. (b) At  $40 \times$  magnification



**Fig. 7.2** Ovarian metastases from a patient with LAMN. There is a single layer of low-grade mucinous epithelium lining the cystic tumour in the ovary. (a) At 10× magnification. (b) At 40× magnification



**Fig. 7.3** High-grade PMP with no identifiable primary tumour. (a) The appendiceal mucosa is normal and the tumour is infiltrating the appendix from the serosal side.

are usually high-grade tumours and little is known about their origin and pathogenesis (Fig. 7.3).

### 7.1.3 Pathological Classification of PMP

The pathological grade of PMP is one of the most significant factors affecting treatment outcomes. Since the recognition of PMP as a clinical entity, several classifications have been developed for both the appendiceal primary tumour and PMP and have also gone out of use [9]. Classification systems do not just look at the grade but also the histological subtype of the tumours. There are different histological subtypes that can produce PMP-like signet ring cell carcinoma, mucinous adenocarcinoma and often the subtype and grade get incorporated into a continuum.

Initially, both the appendix primary and the peritoneal deposits were incorporated into one classification. More recently, different classifications are used for both. Due to the multitude of classifications proposed by different pathologists, there is still controversy regarding the most appropriate one and different centres and regions have different preferences. It may also partly be attributed to some limitations in each

(**b**) Mucinous adenocarcinoma in the peritoneal deposits. Immunohistochemistry showed positive staining for CDX2, SATB2, CK20, villin and was negative for CK7

one and the disease heterogeneity which makes it almost impossible to classify every distinct entity into the right group. To add to this, there are non-expert pathologists who are often called upon to report such specimens and misclassification with its ensuing clinical consequences is not uncommon.

The appendiceal primary tumours underlying PMP and PMP itself are discussed separately here.

# 7.2 Mucinous Appendiceal Tumours Producing PMP

Mucinous appendiceal tumours which give rise to PMP are the second most common epithelial appendiceal tumours following carcinoids [10]. The incidence of non-carcinoid tumours is 0.9/100,000 per year and 25% of these are adenocarcinomas [11]. The biological spectrum ranging from seemingly benign tumours to frankly malignant adenocarcinomas that is seen in PMP is also seen in the appendix. The peculiarity is the ability of mucin to invade through the layers of the appendiceal wall leading to rupture and peritoneal dissemination with mucinous implants.

Mucinous tumours need to be distinguished from benign conditions and appropriately classified. The classification of these tumours has prognostic and treatment implications and it is not just the pathologists but also the surgeons who should be well aware of the different classifications and their implications.

### 7.2.1 Diagnosis

An appendiceal tumour is usually an incidental finding in an appendectomy specimen. The indication of performing an appendectomy is usually the suspicion of a non-malignant condition. In patients undergoing CRS for PMP, an assessment of the primary tumour is performed as well. While evaluating the specimen, the whole appendix with the tumour must be embedded [12]. On examination, the appendix may be grossly dilated with or without rupture of the wall and extrusion of mucin or even appear extremely normal.

There is intraluminal mucin which may or may not be extruding through the wall and the lining epithelium which can have varying degree of cytological atypia. The diagnosis of a mucinous tumour is made by the finding of extracellular mucin exceeding 50%.

## 7.2.2 Classification, Staging and Grading

# 7.2.2.1 History of Classification of Mucinous Appendiceal Tumours

Different aspects of current classifications of appendiceal tumours owe their origin to previous classifications and it is interesting to know how the classifications have evolved.

#### Ability to Produce PMP

The first classification developed by **Woodruff** and McDonald in 1940. In this classification, mucinous appendiceal tumours were either classified as benign mucoceles and cystadenocarcinomas [13]. Any tumour producing PMP was classified as a mucinous cystadenocarcinoma grade 1 in this classification. The difference between benign and malignant was the ability to produce PMP. However, it was observed that many a times the epithelium was a single strip of cuboidal cells or had features of low-grade dysplasia. Thus, PMP could have mucinous ascites resulting from the proliferation of benignlooking, mucin-secreting epithelium. Due to this some investigators termed it as benign condition while others argued that the ability to proliferate and produce mucin should be considered a malignant condition [14–18].

### **Tumours of Uncertain Malignant Potential**

In 1994, **Carr et al.** reviewed 184 cases and classified these tumours as adenomas, carcinomas, and mucinous tumours of uncertain malignant potential (UMP) (Table 7.1) [19]. The tumours of uncertain malignant potential had histological features like microscopic rupture, diverticula, and other mural abnormalities that were not suggestive of frank malignancy. This terminology has been used in previous publications as well. The authors also observed that both benign and malignant tumours as well as those of UMP could produce PMP. Presence of mucin outside the right lower quadrant and epithelial cells in the peritoneal cavity were both associated with a poorer prognosis [19].

### Cytological Atypia and Architectural Complexity

A similar classification was proposed by Misdraji et al. in which the appendiceal tumours were divided into two groups based upon their architectural complexity and degree of cytologic atypia [20]. Tumours that demonstrated lowgrade cytologic atypia (nucleomegaly, nuclear stratification, rare mitotic figures, single cell necrosis) and minimal architectural complexity (villiform, flat epithelial proliferation, small papillary excrescences) were classified as lowgrade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms (LAMNs). Contrary to this, if the tumours demonstrated destructive invasion of the appendiceal wall; high-grade cytologic atypia (extensive fullthickness nuclear stratification, vesicular nuclei, marked nuclear membrane irregularities, prominent nucleoli and brisk mitotic activity); or complex epithelial proliferation (complex papillary

	Woodruff and McDonald [13]	Carr and Sobin	Midraii [20]	Pai and Longacre	Ronnett [22]	Bradlev [24]	WHO (2010) [251	PSOGI consensus classification [2]
Tumour confine	d to the appendix		[A=] v[avavav			r1 Commer		
Limited to the mucosa								
Low-grade cytology	Mucocele	Adenoma	LAMN	Adenoma			Adenoma	LAMN
High-grade cytology	Mucocele	Adenoma	Non-invasive mucinous cystadenocarcinoma	Adenoma			Adenoma	HAMN
Positive surgical margin	Cystadenocarcinoma	Adenoma	LAMN	Uncertain malignant potential			Adenoma	LAMN/HAMN
Neoplastic epithelium/ mucin in the appendiceal wall	Cystadenocarcinoma	Tumour of uncertain malignant potential	LAMN	Uncertain malignant potential			Invasive mucinous adenocarcinoma	LAMN/HAMN
Tumour beyond	the appendix			-	-			
Low-grade epithelium in peritoneal mucin	Cystadenocarcinoma	Invasive mucinous adenocarcinoma	LAMN	High risk of recurrence	Disseminated peritoneal adenomucinosis	Low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei	Low-grade mucinous adenocarcinoma	Low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei
High-grade epithelium in peritoneal mucin	Cystadenocarcinoma	Invasive mucinous adenocarcinoma	Non-invasive mucinous adenocarcinoma	Invasive mucinous adenocarcinoma	Peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis	High-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei	Low-grade mucinous adenocarcinoma	High-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei
Abbreviations: I	AMN low-grade mucine	ous neoplasm, HAM	N high-grade mucinous	neoplasm, WHO Wo	orld Health Organ	ization, AJCC.	American Joint Con	unittee for Cancer

 Table 7.1
 Various classifications used for mucinous appendiceal tumours and PMP

7 The Pathological Spectrum of Mucinous Appendiceal Tumours and Pseudomyxoma Peritonei

fronds, cribriform glandular spaces), they were classified at mucinous adenocarcinoma (MACA). Based on the survival outcomes in these patients, the authors concluded that the LAMNs or lowgrade tumours had a significantly better longterm outcome even in the presence of peritoneal dissemination as compared to the MACAs. They recommended that both, the appendiceal primary tumour and peritoneal disease, should be classified separately. Secondly, patients who had mucin beyond the appendiceal wall had a greater propensity of developing peritoneal dissemination, whereas those without it seldom developed disease recurrence.

#### **Probability of Recurrence**

Pai and Longacre in 2009 classified these mucinous appendiceal tumours into four groups based on the probability of recurrence [21]. Tumours with low-grade columnar mucinous epithelium with flattened or villous architecture, with no invasion or extra-appendiceal mucin or cells were classified as adenomas. Only tumours excised with negative margins are included in this group. Tumours with similar low-grade epithelium but having presence of extra-appendiceal mucin without extra-appendiceal neoplastic epithelium or invasion were grouped as low-grade mucinous neoplasms and had a low risk of recurrence. Those with similar cytological and architectural features but having presence of extra-appendiceal neoplastic epithelium and not showing invasion were grouped as low-grade mucinous neoplasms having a high risk of recurrence. Group four comprised of mucinous adenocarcinomas that were characterized by the presence of invasion. Invasion was defined as the presence of irregular, jagged, neoplastic glands which were present beyond the mucosa. The tumours generally had high-grade cytological features though the architectural complexity varied.

What was common in all these classifications was that appendiceal tumours and PMP were classified in continuity. The basis of each classification was the presence of mucin within the wall, invading through the wall or presenting with extra-appendiceal dissemination. In 1996, Ronnett developed a three-tier classification that classified only the peritoneal disease and not the primary tumour (described later in this chapter). This was then replaced by a two-tiered classification [22–24]. Bradley et al. developed a similar classification [24].

# 7.2.2.2 Current Classification and Staging of Mucinous Appendiceal Neoplasms

Currently, the above classifications are not used for classifying these tumours. Instead, there are three classifications in common use—the WHO classification, the PSOGI consensus classification and the AJCC-8 classification.

There are two components to be looked at epithelium and mucin. The tumour stage depends on both the epithelium and mucin, whichever is present at the farthest site. The tumour grade depends on the characteristics of the epithelium (both cytology and architecture) (Fig. 7.4).

The commonly used classification is the **WHO classification** [25]. In this classification, the presence of mucin/epithelium beyond the muscularis mucosae is considered invasion, and these tumours are classified as appendiceal adenocarcinomas (Table 7.1). Tumours (both cells and mucin) which do not breach the muscularis mucosae are classified as low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms (LAMNs) or adenomas (Fig. 7.5).

In the classification by the American Joint Committee against Cancer, the AJCC-8 classification, LAMNs are considered Tis (Table 7.2) [26]. In this classification however, LAMN refers to tumours where neither the mucin nor the epithelium invades beyond the muscularis propria. There is no T1/T2 stage for a LAMN but it is there for mucinous and non-mucinous adenocarcinomas. T3 constitutes tumour breaching the muscularis and into the wall of the appendix but not breaching the serosa. The authors do not specify here whether it is epithelial cells alone that count or mucin alone is also considered to be tumour. T4a comprises of tumours with mucin and/or cells on the serosal surface. In T4b, the tumour directly involves adjacent organs or structures, including acellular mucin or mucinous epithelium (does not include luminal or mural spread into adjacent cecum). In this classification, adenocarcinomas



**Fig. 7.4** Diagrammatic representation to factors used to stage and grade mucinous appendiceal tumours: (**a**) layers of the appendiceal wall; (**b**) mucinous tumour with cells and mucin confined to the submucosa; (**c**) mucin alone

invading the wall; (d) both mucin and cells invading the wall; (e) the stage is determined by the farthest deposit of mucin or epithelium and the grade is determined by the characteristics of the epithelium



**Fig. 7.5** (a, b) Low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm (LAMN)—single layer of epithelium with basal nuclei and apical mucin and a pushing invasive front

are grade 2 or 3 depending on the differentiation. What is of concern is that low-grade mucinous adenocarcinoma is used for LAMN interchangeably in this classification. The T3 and T4 tumours are termed as well, moderate or poorly differentiated adenocarcinomas.

In the **PSOGI classification** (Table 7.3), invasion is defined as the presence of infiltration and only tumours with infiltrative invasion are classified as adenocarcinomas [2]. Features of infiltrative invasion include tumour budding (discohesive single cells or clusters of up to five cells) and/or small, irregular glands, typically within a desmoplastic stroma characterized by a proteoglycanrich extracellular matrix with activated fibroblasts/ myofibroblasts with vesicular nuclei (Fig. 7.6). The presence of mucin and/or cells beyond the muscularis mucosa is not considered infiltrative invasion, and these tumours are classified as lowgrade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms (if the

TNM category	Description	Lesion
TX	Tumour cannot be assessed	Adenoma rese
TO	No evidence of primary tumour	traditional col
Tis	Carcinoma in situ (intramucosal carcinoma; invasion of the lamina propria or extension into but not through the muscularis mucosae)	confined to th muscularis m Tumour with features, conf
Tis (LAMN)	LAMN confined to the muscularis propria. Mucin or mucinous epithelium may extend into the muscularis propria	mucosa, muso intact Mucinous neo
T1 (not applicable to LAMN) T2 (not	Tumour invades the submucosa (through the muscularis mucosa but not into the muscularis propria) Tumour invades the muscularis propria	low-grade cyt features and a following Loss of
applicable to LAMN)		<ul> <li>Fibrosis</li> <li>Ducking</li> </ul>
Т3	Tumour <sup>a</sup> extends through the muscularis propria into the subserosa or mesoappendix	<ul> <li>Pushing</li> <li>Dissecti mucin</li> <li>Undulat</li> </ul>
T4	Tumour penetrates the visceral peritoneum, <i>including acellular</i> <i>mucin</i> or mucinous epithelium involving the serosa of the appendix, and/or directly invades the adjacent structures	flattened growth • Rupture appendi • Mucin a outside
T4a	Tumour penetrates the visceral peritoneum, <i>including acellular</i> <i>mucin</i> or mucinous epithelium involving the serosa of the appendix	Mucinous nec architectural f LAMN and n invasion but h
T4b	Tumour directly invades or adheres to adjacent organs or structures	cytological at Mucinous neo
M0	No distant metastases	infiltrative inv
M1	Distant metastases	-
M1a	Intraperitoneal acellular mucin, without identifiable tumour cells in the disseminated peritoneal mucinous deposits	Neoplasm with cells (<50% of
M1b	Intraperitoneal metastasis only, including peritoneal mucinous deposits containing tumour cells	Neoplasm wit cells (>50% o
M1c	Metastasis to sites other than the peritoneum	Non-mucinou adenocarcino
411 1.1		the traditional

**Table 7.2** The AJCC-8 staging of appendiceal carcinoma and LAMN (from Ref. [26] with permission)

Abbreviations: LAMN low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm

<sup>a</sup>It is not specified if tumour represents mucin alone as well

cytological features are of low grade) (Fig. 7.7) and high-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms (HAMN), for tumour with high-grade cytological features and no infiltrative invasion. The invasion seen in these tumours is termed as 'pushing invasion' characterized by tongue-like protrusions, diverticulum-like structures or broad-front spread of epithelium. Acellular mucin alone also dissects into the appendiceal wall. A schema for classifying a tumour according to the PSOGI classification and its comparison with other classifications is provided in Fig. 7.8.

Essentially, the term adenoma is no longer used in any of these classifications and is reserved

Table 7.3	The PSOGI consensus classification of epithe-
lial append	iceal tumours (from Ref. [2] with permission)

Lesion	Terminology	
Adenoma resembling the	Tubular, tubulovillous	
traditional colorectal type,	or villous adenoma	
confined to the mucosa,	with low- or high-grade	
muscularis mucosa intact	dysplasia	
Tumour with serrated	Serrated polyp with or	
features, confined to the	without dysplasia (low	
mucosa, muscularis mucosa	or high grade)	
intact		
Mucinous neoplasia with	Low-grade appendiceal	
low-grade cytological	mucinous neoplasm	
features and any of the	(LAMN)	
following		
Loss of muscularis		
mucosa		
Eibrosis of submucose		
Pushing invasion		
<ul> <li>Dissection of acellular</li> </ul>		
mucin		
Undulating or		
flattanad apithalial		
growth		
Bupture of the		
• Rupture of the		
appendix		
Mucin and/or cells		
outside the appendix		
Mucinous neoplasm with	High-grade appendiceal	
architectural features of	mucinous neoplasm	
LAMN and no infiltrative	(HAMN)	
invasion but high-grade		
cytological atypia		
Mucinous neoplasm with	Mucinous	
infiltrative invasion	adenocarcinoma, well,	
	moderately or poorly	
	differentiated	
Neoplasm with signet ring	Poorly differentiated	
cells (<50% of the cells)	(mucinous)	
	adenocarcinoma with	
	signet ring cells	
Neoplasm with signet ring	Signet ring cell	
cells (>50% of the cells)	carcinoma	
Non-mucinous	Adenocarcinoma well	
adenocarcinoma resembling	moderately or poorly	
the traditional coloractal	differentiated	
	unicientiateu	
type		



**Fig. 7.6** Mucinous adenocarcinoma of the appendix. Tumours show high-grade cytological features with infiltrative invasion. (a) At 10× magnification. (b) At 40× magnification. (c) Tumour infiltrating the wall of the appendix

for tumours resembling colorectal adenomas [27]. Adenomas do not have the potential to produce PMP. An adenoma can be tubular, villous or tubulovillous akin to colorectal adenomas. Though a low-grade mucinous tumour may have very bland epithelium, the features that distinguish it from an adenoma are the loss of muscularis mucosa and fibrosis of the submucosa with loss of submucosal lymphoid tissue. The term low-grade mucinous neoplasm (LAMN) is used in all three classifications to designate such a tumour. Sometimes, the muscularis mucosa appears intact in which situation the other features that are listed in Table 7.3are needed to establish a diagnosis of LAMN. Presence of at least one of these features is required to make the diagnosis of a LAMN.

However, as discussed below what is included in the spectrum of a LAMN varies. An adenoma would essentially have neoplastic growth confined to the mucosa without any of these features. The appendix is not dilated in an adenoma. The PSOGI expert panel recommends that a villous lesion with conventional dysplasia and serration should be called a serrated polyp with dysplasia rather than a villous adenoma.

Some of the features of low-grade tumours are epithelium containing abundant mucin, a low nuclear-cytoplasmic ratio, with small, deeply stained, basally oriented nuclei and inconspicuous nucleoli [27]. Mitosis may be absent of few in number and even if the nuclei are mildly enlarged, polarity is preserved [20, 21, 28]. There is usually a single layer of epithelium with papillary, villous, undulating or flat architecture.

The mucinous adenocarcinomas are further classified as well, moderately or poorly differentiated. A mucinous adenocarcinoma with <50% signet ring cells is a mucinous adenocarcinoma


**Fig. 7.7** High-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm (HAMN) Tumour cells show high-grade cytological features with pushing invasion. (a) Gross appearance. (b) At normal magnification. (c) At  $40 \times$  magnification

with signet ring cells and those with >50% signet ring cells is a signet ring cell carcinoma (Fig. 7.9) [19].

# 7.2.3 Comparison of the WHO, AJCC and PSOGI Classifications

In view of the existing systems of classification, the question is which one to use. And what to do with tumours reported at a different centre using a different classification. Expert pathologists are divided in their preferences. A comparison of the three classifications in the setting of different microscopic findings is provided in Tables 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6. A stepwise algorithm for classifying a mucinous appendiceal tumour according to each of the three classifications is provided in Fig. 7.8.

# 7.2.3.1 Strengths and Limitations of the PSOGI Consensus Classification

Over two-thirds of the pathologists who participated in the PSOGI consensus classification recommended that the appendiceal tumours should be staged according to the AJCC-8 classification in addition. There are some strengths and weak-



Fig. 7.8 A stepwise algorithm for classifying mucinous appendiceal tumours according to the WHO, PSOGI and AJCC-8 classifications



**Fig. 7.9** Mucinous adenocarcinoma with signet ring cells. The signet ring component is >50% of the epithelial component but not of the mucinous component. (a) Signet ring cells seen in pools of mucin. (b) At 40× magnification

nesses of each classification. In the PSOGI classification, it is only the features of the epithelium that are used to classify tumours. These features are the cytological and architectural features as described above. Thus, a LAMN could have epithelium or mucin or both dissecting through the layers of the appendiceal wall, but not breaching the serosa or breaching the serosa with or without intraperitoneal dissemination—all these are LAMN if the cytological features are low grade or HAMN if they are high grade and there is only pushing invasion.

In the AJCC, they would be LAMN, T3, T4a or b or M1a. For patients with neoplastic epithelium

Mucin and epithelium			Histological features and pathological classification					
Farthest distance at which		In the wall	+	+	+	+	+	+
mucin or epithelium is seen		Subserosal	-	+	+	+	+	+
		Breaching the	-	_	+	+	+	+
		serosa						
		Adjacent organ	-	-	-	+	+	+
		involvement						
		In the right	-	-	-	-	+	+
		lower quadrant						
		Beyond the	-	-	-	-	-	+
		RLQ						
Epithelium	Architectural	Pushing	+	+	+	+	+	+
	features	invasion						
		Infiltrative	-	-	-	-	-	-
		invasion						
	Cytological features	Low-grade	+	+	+	+	+	+
		atypia						
		High-grade	-	-	-	-	-	-
		features						
		High-grade	-	-	-	-	-	-
		features with						
		signet ring						
			TANANI	TANIN	T A MANT	TANDI	TAND	LCMCD
		PSOGI	LAMIN	LAMIN	LAMIN	LAMIN	LAMIN	LGMCP
		WILLO 2010	TANAN	MAG	MAG	MAG	MAG	MAG
		WHO 2010		MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC
		AJCC-8	LAMN	WD	WD	WD MAC <sup>a</sup>	WD	WD MAC <sup>a</sup>
				MAC <sup>a</sup>	MAC <sup>a</sup>	MAC <sup>a</sup> (T4b)	MAC <sup>a</sup>	(M1a)
				(13)	(14a)	(140)	(1411a)	(1111)

**Table 7.4** Comparison of the PSOGI, WHO and AJCC classifications for mucinous appendiceal tumours with lowgrade cytological atypia and pushing invasion

Abbreviations: *RLQ* right lower quadrant, *LAMN* low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm, *LGMCP* low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei, *MAC* mucinous adenocarcinoma, *WD* well-differentiated

<sup>a</sup>The term mucinous adenocarcinoma is used, as there is no distinction made according to the type of infiltration. Since the tumours will have low-grade cytological features, they would be classified as well-differentiated adenocarcinomas. It is not clear whether these should be called LAMN or well-differentiated mucinous adenocarcinomas

on the appendiceal surface, and disease confined to the right lower quadrant, the risk of overall recurrence is 42% [21, 28].

Though the PSOGI classification does not consider these features while classifying, there is an accompanying checklist in which the farthest distance of mucin and cells needs to be mentioned. When using the PSOGI classification, if this checklist is adhered to, all the information will be available and can be used to guide treatment decisions.

Using the PSOGI classification, a LAMN or HAMN could be perforated or non-perforated depending on the presence or absence of mucin and cells on the serosal surface or beyond [29, 30]. Honore et al. reported the occurrence of PMP in 65% of the patients with a perforated mucinous neoplasm [29]. A perforated LAMN is a T4a or T4b tumour if there is no free intraperitoneal dissemination of mucin and/or cells, and these patients can be managed with an appendectomy with free margins and complete resection of the adjacent mesentery and peritoneum [31]. Similarly, a M1a LAMN would undergo CRS and HIPEC if there is disease beyond the right lower quadrant [32]. For disease confined to the right lower quadrant that has been completely resected, further surgery is not recommended according to a recent report that found a low incidence of disease progression in these patients [31].

Mucin and epithelium		Histological features and pathological classification						
Farthest distance at which In		In the wall	+	+	+	+	+	+
mucin or epithelium is seen		Subserosal	-	+	+	+	+	+
		Breaching the serosa	-	-	+	+	+	+
		Adjacent organ involvement	-	-	-	+	+	+
		In the right lower quadrant	-	-	-	-	+	+
		Beyond the RLQ	_	-	-	-	-	+
Epithelium	Architectural features	Pushing invasion	+	+	+	+	+	+
		Infiltrative invasion	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Cytological features	Low-grade atypia	-	-	-	-	-	-
		High-grade features	+	+	+	+	+	+
		High-grade features with signet ring cells	-	-	-	-	-	-
Classification		PSOGI consensus	HAMN	HAMN	HAMN	HAMN	HAMN	HGMCP
		WHO 2010	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC
		AJCC-8	MD <sup>a</sup>					
			MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC
			(11-2)	(13)	(14a)	(14b)	(M1a/b)	(M1a/b)

**Table 7.5** Comparison of the PSOGI, WHO and AJCC classifications for mucinous appendiceal tumours with high-grade cytological features and pushing invasion

Abbreviations: *HAMN* high-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm, *HGMCP* high-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei, *MAC* mucinous adenocarcinoma, *MD* moderately differentiated

<sup>a</sup>In absence of frank infiltrative invasion, these tumours may be classified as MD MAC

### 7.2.3.2 Strengths and Limitations of the WHO Classification

The main problem with the WHO classification is that tumours that would be classified as a mucinous adenocarcinoma by the WHO classification would be a LAMN or HAMN by the PSOGI classification. Similarly, lesions with high-grade cytological features without infiltrative invasion would be classified as adenocarcinomas by the AJCC-8 and HAMN by the PSOGI classification. The terminology used must be put into perspective while deciding the patient's treatment.

For example, for a LAMN, an appendectomy with free margins is sufficient, whereas for an adenocarcinoma, a hemicolectomy is recommended. Similarly, for a M1a mucinous adenocarcinoma, CRS and HIPEC may be recommended, whereas for a LAMN, just a complete resection may be enough if the disease is confined to the right lower quadrant.

Secondly, the term mucinous adenocarcinoma and LAMN are used interchangeably. This could lead to confusion amongst clinicians and lead to patients getting systemic chemotherapy where it is not indicated. The pathologist must mention the classification used and describe the microscopic features in detail. This could help in extrapolating the nomenclature to the different classification where required.

Mucin and epithelium			Histological features and pathological classification					
Farthest distance at which mucin		In the wall	+	+	+	+	+	+
or epithelium is seen		Subserosal	-	+	+	+	+	+
		Breaching the serosa	-	_	+	+	+	+
		Adjacent organ involvement	-	_	_	+	+	+
		In the right lower quadrant	_	_	_	_	+	+
		Beyond the RLQ	-	_	-	-	-	+
Epithelium	Architectural features	Pushing invasion	-	_	-	-	-	-
		Infiltrative invasion	+	+	+	+	+	+
	Cytological features	Low-grade atypia	+	+	+	+	+	+
		High-grade features	-	_	_	_	_	-
		High-grade features with signet ring cells	_	_	_	_	_	_
Classification		PSOGI consensus	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC
		WHO 2010	LAMN	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC
		AJCC-8	MAC <sup>a</sup> (T1–2)	MAC <sup>a</sup> (T3)	MAC <sup>a</sup> (T4a)	MAC <sup>a</sup> (T4b)	MAC <sup>a</sup> (M1a)	MAC <sup>a</sup> (M1a)

 
 Table 7.6
 Comparison of the PSOGI, WHO and AJCC classifications for mucinous appendiceal tumours with infiltrative invasion

Abbreviations: RLQ right lower quadrant, LAMN low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm, MAC mucinous adenocarcinoma

<sup>a</sup>May be termed as well, moderately or poorly differentiated

### 7.2.3.3 Strengths and Limitations of the AJCC-8 Classification

Using the AJCC-8, the grade and the stage get combined as one continuum. Hence, a tumour with low-grade cytological features with either pushing or infiltrative invasion would be classified as a LAMN or mucinous adenocarcinoma. Though this classification defines a LAMN as a Tis, there is no clarity on whether tumour extending beyond the muscularis mucosa should be called a LAMN or mucinous adenocarcinoma if there is only pushing invasion. A low-grade mucinous adenocarcinoma can be interchangeably used with the term LAMN in this classification.

The PSOGI classification is more objective and easy to use as demonstrated by some investigators [33, 34]. However, it does not provide staging information. The purpose of staging is to determine the prognosis of the tumour and select the right treatment. The PSOGI classification can be used to classify the tumour and then the AJCC-8 stage applied to take treatment decision. Alternatively, the PSOGI checklist can be used to enumerate all features and the treatment selected based on the recommendations for each type as described above.

The PSOGI classification also identifies distinct histological entities (HAMN) which by the WHO classification could fall into either of the groups. The exact incidence and prognostic information about such tumours is not available, but proper identification and classification is the first step toward it.

### 7.2.4 Differential Diagnosis

A LAMN must be distinguished from benign conditions like cystic dilatation of the appendix and other inflammatory conditions [35, 36]. Sometimes due to distension of the appendix with mucin, there is extensive ulceration with loss of epithelium [27]. If neoplastic epithelium is not seen on microscopic examination, the diagnosis of a retention cyst or inflammatory mucocele is made and prognosis will be completely different. However, these lesions are usually <2 cm in size [27].

# 7.3 Pseudomyxoma Peritonei (PMP)

PMP is a clinical condition and not a pathological diagnosis. However, the term continues to be used in absence of a suitable alternative. The clinical picture of mucinous ascites/peritoneal implants beyond the right lower quadrant should be present for a diagnosis of PMP to be made [2].

### 7.3.1 Pathogenesis of PMP

To begin with there is neoplastic transformation of the goblet cells leading to the formation of a mucinous tumour [37]. The tumour cells maintain their level of mucin expression while proliferating. This leads to intraluminal accumulation of mucin and the formation of a mucocele. Either the mucin alone or epithelium can dissect into the wall of the appendix leading to rupture and intraperitoneal dissemination [38]. An alternative mechanism of intraperitoneal dissemination may be rupture through the lesion as a consequence of appendicitis [27]. Any amount of peri-appendiceal mucin should be completely processed to look for the presence of neoplastic epithelium, the presence of which entails a poorer prognosis [28].

These tumour cells lack cell surface adhesion molecules, exfoliate easily and passively circulate with the peritoneal fluid and redistribute throughout the peritoneal cavity, a phenomenon that has been termed as complete redistribution (CRD). This is seen in the low-grade tumours. High-grade tumours undergo widespread cancer distribution (WCD), in which there is presence of adhesion molecules on the surface of cancer cells that produce a great amount of mucus, interfering with early cell adhesion [39]. As a result, the tumour implants and mucin collections form at the peritoneal fluid reabsorption sites and at dependent portions within the abdomen and pelvis, to create characteristic pattern of PMP (Fig. 7.10). Extensive



Fig. 7.10 Redistribution phenomenon in PMP. (a) A less extensive disease. (b) More extensive disease

disease is seen in the pelvis, greater omentum, beneath right hemi diaphragm, right retro hepatic space and in the paracolic gutters [40, 41].

### 7.3.2 Diagnosis

The concerns for a pathologist are performing a proper diagnosis and classification. It is not uncommon to receive a sample of mucin aspirated percutaneously from the peritoneal cavity or a trucut biopsy performed from an omental cake. Often, these samples contain only acellular mucin and few or no epithelial cells.

Many pathologists continue to report this situation as 'adenomucinosis'. The term adenomucinosis is no longer used. Sampling is an important concern in PMP as many of these tumours are pauci-cellular. Hence, not just the aspirated sample but even a trucut biopsy many contain only mucin and no epithelium. Secondly, different regions may have a different grade and thus the diagnosis made on such samples is always of limited value. The report should mention the gross and microscopic findings in detail, the limitations of a diagnosis made in this manner, and recommend further evaluation.

### 7.3.3 Classification of PMP

### 7.3.3.1 History and Evolution of the Classification of PMP

As described above, early classification only looked at the appendiceal primary tumour and the same grade or subtype was applied to the peritoneal disease. Some classifications have classified them in continuity. The first classification to consider the peritoneal disease alone was developed by Ronnett et al. [22] This is a three-tiered classification in which the term 'diffuse peritoneal adenomucinosis' (DPAM) is used for tumours that are quintessential of PMP with pauci-cellular mucinous ascites with bland epithelium and no invasion. At the other end of the spectrum is peritoneal mucinous adenocarcinoma (PMCA) comprising of frankly malignant cells invading the underlying tissues. There was an intermediate group comprising of hybrid tumours with PMCA comprising not more than 5% of the tumour. The three groups correlated with survival (Fig. 7.11). In a subsequent analysis, there was not much difference in the intermediate and PMCA groups and they were grouped together [23]. Contrary to this, Bradley et al. found no survival difference between DPAM and intermediate grade tumours and thus developed a two-tiered classification.



They considered DPAM as a very well differentiated mucinous adenocarcinoma and classified PMP into two groups—mucinous carcinoma peritonei low grade and mucinous carcinoma peritonei high grade [24].

### 7.3.3.2 Currently Used Classifications

The Ronnett classification went out of use as it described DPAM as a benign condition.

In 2010, the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) and WHO proposed a two-tiered classification in which low-grade PMP comprised of tumours having mucin pools with low cellularity (<10%), bland cytology and non-stratified cuboidal epithelium and high-grade PMP comprises of tumours having more cellular mucin pools, moderate/severe cytological atypia and cribriform/signet ring morphology with desmoplastic stroma (Table 7.7) [9].

The term 'PMP' is retained in the WHO classification. Involvement of the surface of organs like the ovaries and the spleen is classified as high-grade PMP.

The WHO, defining PMP as a malignant condition, gave the following explanations.

- Some carcinomas are extremely well differentiated with minimal cytological atypia and hence low-grade cytology does not exclude the diagnosis of a malignant condition. Parenchymal invasion of solid organs like the ovaries and spleen is seen in PMP which is a feature of malignancy.
- Some tumours have a broad growth pattern and invade with pushing margins which explains the absence of infiltrative glands and desmoplasia.

**Table 7.7** The WHO-2010 classification of PMP (fromRef. [9] with permission)

Terminology	Histological features
Low-grade PMP	Tumours with mucin pools with low cellularity (<10%), bland cytology and non-stratified cuboidal epithelium
High-grade PMP	Tumours having more cellular mucin pools, moderate/severe cytological atypia and cribriform/signet ring morphology with desmoplastic stroma

 Mucinous tumours that have spread beyond the appendix often lead to progressive mucinous ascites, disease recurrence and death in at least 50% of the patients, which is a feature of malignancy [9].

The 7th edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer adopted a 3-tiered in which the low-grade tumours were classified as grade 1 (G1) or well-differentiated mucinous adenocarcinoma and high-grade tumours as grade 2 (G2), the moderately differentiated carcinomas or grade 3 (G3), poorly differentiated carcinomas [42]. However, the histopathological criteria were not defined. This grading is similar to that followed for other gastrointestinal tumours and low-grade tumours with bland features and pushing invasion were classified as a well-differentiated mucinous adenocarcinoma. Davison et al. in their study of 219 patients defined the histological features of each of these groups and showed that they correlated with survival (Table 7.8) [43]. The histological features that were evaluated included cytologic grade, tumour cellularity, destructive invasion, histologic pattern of destructive invasion, signet ring cell component, lymph node involvement, angiolymphatic invasion and perineural invasion.

Low grade was defined by the presence of flat strips of cells with mildly enlarged, hyperchromatic nuclei with nuclear stratification and maintenance of cell polarity without significant mitotic activity or prominent nucleoli. High grade was defined by the presence of any enlarged, vesicular nuclei with full-thickness stratification, loss of nuclear polarity, prominent nucleoli, cribriform or micropapillary growth, and increased mitotic figures, which often extended to the luminal aspect of the epithelial cell. Any tumour with signet ring cells was classified as high cytological grade. The histological patterns of infiltrative invasion were further defined as (1) infiltrating, haphazard, irregular, jagged neoplastic glands or single cells associated with desmoplastic stromal reaction, (2) expansile and confluent cribriform glandular growth, or (3) small nests, glands, or single neoplastic cells floating within small pools of mucin with or without desmoplastic stromal reaction.

Terminology	Histological features			
Well-differentiated mucinous	Characterized by the presence of flat strips of cells with mildly enlarged,			
adenocarcinoma (G1)	hyperchromatic nuclei with nuclear stratification and maintenance of cell polarity			
(disseminated low-grade	without significant mitotic activity or prominent nucleoli.			
mucinous neoplasms)	) Includes patients with acellular mucin alone (disseminated low-grade mucinous			
	neoplasms with acellular mucin alone)			
	Includes patients with small areas of high-grade features like nuclear enlargement			
	and stratification, insufficient to be designated as high grade and not comprising of			
	>10% of the entire tumours. Tumours lacking frank invasion but demonstrating			
	questionable and focal areas of invasion involving at most a single low-power (40×)			
	field (disseminated low-grade mucinous neoplasms with increased proliferation)			
Moderately differentiated	Characterized by the presence of any enlarged, vesicular nuclei with full-			
mucinous adenocarcinoma	thickness stratification, loss of nuclear polarity, prominent nucleoli, cribriform or			
(G2) (High-grade mucinous	micropapillary growth, and increased mitotic figures, which often extended to the			
adenocarcinoma)	luminal aspect of the epithelial cell.			
	The histological patterns of infiltrative invasion are further defined as			
	(1) infiltrating, haphazard, irregular, jagged neoplastic glands or single cells			
	associated with desmoplastic stromal reaction, (2) expansile and confluent			
	cribriform glandular growth, or (3) small nests, glands, or single neoplastic cells			
	floating within small pools of mucin with or without desmoplastic stromal reaction			
Poorly differentiated mucinous	Any tumour with signet ring cells was classified as high cytologic grade.			
adenocarcinoma (G3) (Mixed	This group includes patients with any number of signet ring cells. Tumours with			
high-grade and pure signet	>50% signet ring cells are classified as signet ring cell carcinomas.			
ring cell adenocarcinoma)				

**Table 7.8** AJCC-7 classification of PMP with histological features as described by Davison et al. (adapted from Refs. [42, 43] with permission)



Fig. 7.12 Acellular mucin in PMP. (a) At 10× magnification. (b) At 40× magnification

Patients with acellular mucin were classified as G1 (Fig. 7.12). They defined another subgroup called tumours with 'increased proliferation', which were characterized by small areas of high-grade features like nuclear enlargement and stratification, insufficient to be designated as high grade and not comprising of >10% of the entire tumours. This subgroup included tumours that lacked frank invasion but demonstrated questionable and focal areas of invasion involving at most a single low-power  $(40\times)$  field (Fig. 7.13). These were included in G1 and corresponded to the intermediate group of the Ronnett classification.



**Fig. 7.13** Low-grade mucinous neoplasm with increased proliferation or intermediate grade tumour (according to Ronnett's classification). (a, b) Low-grade epithelium on the left with pushing invasion and the transition to high-

grade epithelium (arrow) seen in the appendix. ( $\mathbf{c}$ ,  $\mathbf{d}$ ) Same findings seen at high power (arrow). ( $\mathbf{e}$ ) Infiltrative peritoneal implants in the same patient (10× magnification). ( $\mathbf{f}$ ) Infiltrative peritoneal implants at 40× magnification

	[_] [)
Lesion	Terminology
Mucin without epithelial cells	Acellular mucin (a descriptive diagnosis followed by a comment is likely to be appropriate depending on the overall clinical picture. It should be stated whether the mucin is confined to the vicinity of the organ or origin or distant from it, i.e. beyond the right lower quadrant in the case of the appendix. The term PMP should normally be avoided unless the clinical picture is characteristic)
PMP with low-grade histologic features <sup>a</sup>	Low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei or disseminated peritoneal adenomucinosis (DPAM)
PMP with high-grade histologic features <sup>a</sup>	High-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei or peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis (PMCA)
PMP with signet ring cells	High-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei with signet ring cells OR peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis with signet ring cells (PMCA-S)

**Table 7.9** The PSOGI consensus classification for pseudomyxoma peritonei arising from an appendiceal primary tumour (from Ref. [2] with permission)

<sup>a</sup>Omental cake and ovarian involvement can be consistent with a diagnosis of either low-grade or high-grade disease

The PSOGI classification divides PMP into four groups, namely acellular mucin, low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei (LGMCP), highgrade mucinous carcinoma peritonei (HGMCP) and high-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei with signet ring cells (HGMCP-S) (Table 7.9) [2]. Figure 7.14 shows a stepwise approach to classifying tumours according to the PSOGI classification. When mucin shows no epithelial cells in all the areas sampled, the diagnosis of acellular mucin is made. Classification of other implants is based on the cytological and architectural features of the epithelium and the type of invasionthose with predominantly low-grade cytological features and no desmoplasia are classified as LGMCP and those with high-grade cytological features with or without desmoplasia are classified as HGMCP. Low-grade cytological features include cuboidal or columnar epithelium with or without pseudostratification, few nucleoli, presence of apical mucin, and few or no mitosis. Papillary pattern with low-grade cytological features is classified as low grade. High-grade cytological features include architectural complexity, stratification, high nuclear-cytoplasmic ratio and



Fig. 7.14 A stepwise approach to classifying tumours according to the PSOGI classification

mitosis. Lesions with any percentage of signet ring cells are classified as HGMCP-S.

Signet ring cells can be present occasionally floating in pools of mucin or there may be numerous cells in mucin or they could be infiltrating the tissue [44]. The occasional cells floating in mucin pools are usually degenerative cells and the expert panel recommends discounting these cells. But numerous signet ring cells and those invading tissues are not disregarded [43, 45]. The exact percentage of these cells should be mentioned. Extensive signet ring cell differentiation in an appendiceal tumour should raise concern for an underlying goblet cell neoplasm [27, 46].

In the AJCC-8 classification, M1a stands for acellular mucin alone, M1b is for mucinous peritoneal implants with neoplastic cells and M1c for non-peritoneal metastases. The grading system of G1, 2 and 3 is further applied to this.

### 7.3.3.3 Which Classification to Use?

### A Pathologist's Perspective

Though the PSOGI classification has been brought together by a group of expert pathologists with the largest experiences in evaluating these tumours, not all agree with the system of classifying the primary and peritoneal disease separately. Some recommend grading the appendiceal tumour and applying the same grade to the peritoneal disease. The proportion of patients with discordant features between the primary and peritoneal disease is very small.

Several others believe that no staging information is provided by the PSOGI classification and should be provided which is the benefit of the AJCC-8 classification. Hence, the AJCC stage can be applied to the PSOGI grade.

### A Surgeon's Perspective

With the WHO classification, low-grade tumours would get classified as high grade solely on the basis of organ involvement and this has treatment implications. The terms LAMN and low-grade mucinous adenocarcinoma are used interchangeably; this creates confusion, especially amongst clinicians who treat PMP occasionally. It would also make it difficult to compare the results from various centres/studies.

The PSOGI classification is preferable for the fact that it does not classify tumours with non-infiltrative invasion as adenocarcinomas.

Both the AJCC and PSOGI classifications have been validated though in one study, the survival did not correlate with the PSOGI grade [34]. The plausible reason may be the small number of patients in the first and last subgroups.

An important aspect of classification is reproducibility. It is not just at expert centres where pathologists see these patients on a regular basis but at non-expert centres with limited experience where such tumours are diagnosed and reported. The PSOGI classification scores over the AJCC-8 and WHO classifications in being less ambiguous and more reproducible [33, 47].

The expert panel has derived a correlation between the PSOGI classification and the TNM grading system for PMP in which G1 corresponds to low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei, G2 corresponds to high-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei, and G3 corresponds to highgrade mucinous carcinoma peritonei with signet ring cells. The PSOGI panel has produced a checklist for histopathological reporting of PMP and its precursor lesions (Fig. 7.15) [2].

The reporting format for PMP proposed by the expert panel looks at many other features, which have prognostic value but no therapeutic implications—like cellularity, type of epithelium and percentage of signet ring cells [2, 47]. This will make reporting uniform across centres and lead to capturing of valuable clinical information.

## 7.3.4 The Spectrum of PMP: The Grey Areas

The division of all tumours into low and high grade is very broad. Though the PSOGI classification has made two groups in addition acellular mucin and HGMCP-S, with the low-grade and high-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei, the pathological findings vary.

# a PSOGI check list

Peritoneal disease (in	Peritoneal disease (includes omentum)					
Mucinous disease involving peritoneum I Yes I No	If yes, over Low gra High gra High gra Percentage For append Spr	'all classification: ide mucinous carcinoma peritonei/DPAM ade mucinous carcinoma peritonei/PMCA ade mucinous carcinoma peritonei with signet ring cells/PMCA-S e of signet ring cells, if present □ <10% □ 10–50% □ >50% diceal primaries ead of acellular mucin:				
		Acellular mucin confined to the v Acellular mucin beyond the right	ricinity of the appendix lower quadrant			
	<ul> <li>Spread of epithelial cells:</li> <li>Epithelial cells confined to the vicinity of the appendix</li> <li>Epithelial cells beyond the right lower quadrant</li> </ul>					
Other neoplasm involving peritoneum? Yes No	If yes, type Goblet of Adenoc Neuroer Neuroer Non-mu Other_	cell carcinoid arcinoma ex-goblet cell carcinoid ndocrine tumor grade 1 ndocrine tumor grade 2 icinous adenocarcinoma				
Additional cellular fe	eatures, if c	ells are present (optional):				
Cytologic atypica: None Minimal Moderate Marked (high grade) Mitotic activity Rare (0–2/10hpf) Occacional (3–5/10hpf) Abundant (>5/10hpf) Not accessible		Architectural pattern      Flat strip      Villiform/papillary      Serrated      Cribriform      Single cells or small     clusters of cells in     mucous  Cellularity      Acellular (no epithelial cells)      Scant (<2% of mucinous con      Moderate (2–19% of mucinous     Ind)      High (>20% of mucinous con      Not assessable	Signet ring cells-discohesive Signet ring cells in confluent sheets Signet ring cells infiltrating stroma Infiltrating glands with irregular profiles Other nponent consists of cells) us component consists of cells)			
Invasion of other organs Organ invasion? (This includes any spread into the wall/parenchyma of the organ whether infiltrative or not)		If yes, list organs involved       Invasion pattern (indicate the most aggressive pattern)         Ovary       aggressive pattern)         Spleen       Acellular mucin only         Small intestinal wall       Pushing, broad front invasion by epithelium         Myometrium       Infiltrative invasion by irregular glands or single cells with desmuincludes tumor budding and discohesive cells at the invasion				
Neoadjuvant therapy						
Neoadjuvant therapy	given own	Result of neoadjuvant therapy, if applicable No significant histological response Response				
TNM stageComments						

Fig. 7.15 (a, b) PSOGI reporting checklist for PMP

b

The epithelial component in low-grade PMP can vary from the finding of a single layer of cuboidal epithelium, pseudostratification (Fig. 7.16) to more aggressive features like papillary and cribriform patterns (Figs. 7.17 and 7.18) [33]. Both these would be classified as LGMCP, but the biological behaviour is likely to be different [33]. Several investigators have shown that LGMCP is a heterogeneous group with a small proportion of patients having an aggressive clinical course despite a very bland looking tumour [6, 48]. The treatment recommendations for these variants are not different and it is not clearly

known what factors portend a more aggressive behaviour. Levine et al. used gene expression profiling to identify two prognostic subgroups amongst the low-grade tumours but such stratification has not been used in clinical practice [19]. Similarly, though an increased expression of markers like KRAS and GNAS is seen in mucinous appendiceal neoplasm, there are no prognostic or treatment implications derived from them [20, 21].

Patients with few foci of high-grade tumour are classified as high grade based on the recommendation of the expert panel but not all patholo-



Fig. 7.16 Pseudostratified columnar epithelium in a case of LAMN. (a) At 10× magnification. (b) At 40× magnification



Fig. 7.17 (a, b) Papillary pattern seen in low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei (LGMCP)

gists prefer to classify them as high grade. Some of these may not progress to high-grade disease and the recurrent disease can have a low-grade histology throughout. Figure 7.19 shows the peritoneal disease in a patient with PMP of appendiceal origin with foci of high-grade features in less than <5% of the resected areas. The recurrent disease that occurred 3 years later showed lowgrade features in all the involved regions (Fig. 7.20). Thus, the biological behaviour of these 'intermediate grade' tumours may be different from those with a high-grade tumour with infiltrative invasion in all regions. The recurrent disease can be of a higher grade than the initial disease. Figure 7.21 shows peritoneal deposits with signet ring cells in a patient with appendiceal PMP. The recurrence that occurred 1 year later showed a higher proportion of signet ring



**Fig. 7.18** Cribriform pattern seen in low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei (LGMCP)



**Fig. 7.20** Low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei was seen in all regions in the recurrent disease presenting 3 years after the first surgery



Fig. 7.19 Focus of high-grade tumour (a) in a patient with low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei (b)

cells (>50%) (Fig. 7.22). With high-grade tumours as well, a disease spectrum may exist. For example, Figs. 7.23 and 7.24 show the histological findings in two different areas in the same patient—there are areas of high-grade cytology with pushing invasion and other areas of high-grade cytology with infiltrative invasion.

The third problem is the finding of lowgrade cytological features with infiltrative invasion. An inexperienced pathologist would



Fig. 7.21 Mucinous adenocarcinoma with signet ring cells producing PMP

classify it as G1, whereas if the grade proposed by Davison et al. is followed, it would be G2 (Fig. 7.25).

### 7.3.5 The Mucins in PMP

PMP is characterized by the intraperitoneal accumulation of mucin. The mucin that is seen in PMP has certain characteristic features that differentiate it from mucinous peritoneal deposits arising from mucinous adenocarcinomas. Acellular mucin is seen in patients with PMP. It can be seen irrespective of the grade of the primary tumour. Figure 7.26 shows acellular mucin alone in extensive peritoneal deposits in a patient with a mucinous adenocarcinoma. In another patient with mucinous adenocarcinoma with signet ring cells, mucin alone was seen in the lymph nodes (Figs. 7.27 and 7.28). The mucin in PMP is associated with an inflammatory reaction and has fibrosis and ingrowth of blood vessels [49]. The mucin progressively accumulates as it cannot be degraded or drained. It coats the free tumour cells, preventing them from adhering to the peritoneal surfaces and thus redistributing freely in the peritoneal cavity. The mucin prevents immune recognition and leads to resistance to chemotherapy [50].



Fig. 7.22 (a, b) Progressive disease in the same patient as Fig. 7.21 1 year later shows increase in signet ring cell component to >50%



Fig. 7.23 (a, b) Area of high-grade cytology with pushing invasion (HGMCP)



**Fig. 7.24** In the same patients as Fig. 7.23, area of high-grade cytology with infiltrative invasion (HGMCP). (a) At  $10 \times$  magnification. (b) At  $40 \times$  magnification

Mucins are secreted by normal epithelial cells in the body and line the mucosal surfaces. There are two types of mucins—membrane-associated mucins and secreted mucins. These may or may not be gel forming [51, 52]. Colonic mucin is a gel-forming mucin, and this

is the mucin that is secreted in PMP. There are various gel-forming mucins of which MUC2 is specifically secreted in the small intestine and colon [50].

MUC2 is extensively glycosylated and produced in large volumes, and hence there is abun-



**Fig. 7.25** Low-grade mucinous adenocarcinoma falsely classified as low-grade PMP (LGMCP). (a) At 10× magnification. (b) At 40× magnification



**Fig. 7.26** Acellular mucin in the peritoneum in a patient with a mucinous adenocarcinoma of the appendix. (a) At  $10 \times$  magnification. (b) At  $40 \times$  magnification



Fig. 7.27 High-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei with signet ring cells

dant mucin collection with an average mucin/cell ratio of >10:1. O'Connell showed that primary ovarian mucinous tumours express MUC5AC, while solitary appendiceal mucinous tumours express MUC2 and MUC5B. MUC2 is a molecular marker for PMP [53, 54].

The mucin can have a varied physical appearance. It can be in the form of mucinous fluid or firm or hard deposits. Generally mucinous fluid is seen in low-grade tumours though its presence does not rule out high-grade disease. Similarly, firm to hard deposits are usually seen in highgrade tumours but some low-grade tumours can also have such a presentation.



**Fig. 7.28** Acellular mucin alone is seen in the regional nodes in the same patient as Fig 7.27. (a) At 10× magnification. (b) At 40× magnification

## 7.3.6 Histopathological Evaluation of CRS Specimens

Many patients with PMP present with high volume disease and have extensive surgery comprising of peritonectomies and visceral resections. This results in large specimens sent to the pathologist for evaluation. Currently, there are no standard guidelines for reporting of such specimens. It is uncertain if all resected regions need to be extensively sectioned and evaluated. PMP is a heterogeneous disease. It is not uncommon to find low- and high-grade disease in the same patient and even the low- and high-grade tumours are heterogeneous. Till all regions are evaluated, the final grade cannot be assigned. Hence, every region sent to the pathologist should be evaluated separately.

The appendix should be completely embedded irrespective of the tumour size and extent. The tumour often dissects into the wall at one point only, which is difficult to determine on gross examination and if the entire specimen is not embedded, it may be missed. Sections are taken at 5 mm to 1 cm [12].

The evaluation of the rest of the specimen should be performed as described elsewhere in this book. Our prospective study showed the presence of microscopic disease in 12.2% of the patients in normal peritoneal regions and in 50% of the patients there was microscopic disease in the normal peritoneum between tumour nodules [55]. At present the clinical implications of such findings are not known, but this may be a rationale for more extensive surgery in these patients. Acellular mucin in patients with PMP is considered to be the presence of disease and should be distinguished from acellular mucin in adenocarcinomas following chemotherapy that is considered a pathological complete response [56, 57].

# 7.4 Conclusions

The correct diagnosis and classification of mucinous appendiceal tumours and PMP is challenging for the most pathologists. A combination of the PSOGI consensus classification and AJCC-8 stage may be the most comprehensive way of reporting these tumours. Pathologists must mention the classification used in their reports and other details that are not essential for classification according to the PSOGI checklist which can make clinical decision making and comparison of studies easier. Some nuances and rare clinical situations must be kept in mind by both the surgeon and pathologist while classifying and treating these tumours.

# References

 Bhatt A, Passot G, Glehen O. Pseudomyxoma peritonei arising from epithelial appendiceal tumours. In: Bhatt A, editor. Management of peritoneal metastases—cytoreductive surgery, HIPEC and beyond. Singapore: Springer; 2018. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2\_13.

- Carr NJ, Cecil TD, Mohamed F, Sobin LH, Sugarbaker PH, González-Moreno S, Taflampas P, Chapman S, Moran BJ. A consensus for classification and pathologic reporting of pseudomyxoma peritonei and associated appendiceal neoplasia: the results of the peritoneal surface oncology group international (PSOGI) modified Delphi process. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40(1):14–26.
- Young RH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei and selected other aspects of the spread of appendiceal neoplasms. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2004;21:134–50.
- Pai RK, Longacre TA. Appendiceal mucinous tumors and pseudomyxoma peritonei: histologic features, diagnostic problems and proposed classification. Adv Anat Pathol. 2005;12:291–311.
- Agrawal AK, Bobiński P, Grzebieniak Z, Rudnicki J, Marek G, Kobielak P, Hałoń A. Pseudomyxoma peritonei originating from urachus—case report and review of the literature. Curr Oncol. 2014;21(1):e155–65.
- 6. Vang R, Gown AM, Zhao C, et al. Ovarian mucinous tumors associated with mature cystic teratomas: morphologic and immunohistochemical analysis identifies a subset of potential teratomatous origin that shares features of lower gastrointestinal tract mucinous tumors more commonly encountered as secondary tumors in the ovary. Am J Surg Pathol. 2007;31:854–69.
- Stewart CJ, Ardakani NM, Doherty DA, et al. An evaluation of the morphologic features of low-grade mucinous neoplasms of the appendix metastatic in the ovary and a comparison with primary ovarian mucinous tumors. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2014;33:1–10.
- McKenney JK, Soslow RA, Longacre TA. Ovarian mature teratomas with mucinous epithelial neoplasms: morphologic heterogeneity and association with pseudomyxoma peritonei. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32:645–55.
- Panarelli N, Yantiss R. Mucinous neoplasms of the appendix and peritoneum. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2011;135(10):1261–8. https://doi.org/10.5858/ arpa.2011-0034-RA.
- Connor SJ, Hanna GB, Frizelle FA. Appendiceal tumors: retrospective clinicopathologic analysis of appendiceal tumors from 7,970 appendectomies. Dis Colon Rectum. 1998;41(1):75.
- Smeenk RM, van Velthuysen ML, Verwaal VJ, Zoetmulder FA. Appendiceal neoplasms and pseudomyxoma peritonei: a population based study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34:196–201.
- College of American Pathologists. Protocol for the examination of specimens from patients with carcinoma of the appendix. Oct 2013. Available at: http:// www.cap.org/apps/cap.portal?\_nfpb. Accessed 27 Oct 2018.
- Woodruff R, McDonald JR. Benign and malignant cystic tumors of the appendix. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1940;71:750–5.
- 14. Higa E, Rosai J, Pizzimbono CA, et al. Mucosal hyperplasia, mucinous cystadenoma, and mucinous

cystadenocarcinoma of the appendix: a re-evaluation of appendiceal 'mucocele'. Cancer. 1973;32:1525–41.

- Gibbs NM. Mucinous cystadenoma and cystadenocarcinoma of the vermiform appendix with particular reference to mucocele and pseudomyxoma peritonei. J Clin Pathol. 1973;26:413–21.
- Qizilbash AH. Mucoceles of the appendix: their relationship to hyperplastic polyps, mucinous cystadenomas, and cystadenocarcinomas. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 1975;99:548–55.
- Carr NJ, Sobin LH. Unusual tumors of the appendix and pseudomyxoma peritonei. Semin Diagn Pathol. 1996;13:314–25.
- Cerame MA. A 25-year review of adenocarcinoma of the appendix: a frequently perforating carcinoma. Dis Colon Rectum. 1988;31:145–50.
- Carr NJ, McCarthy WF, Sobin LH. Epithelial noncarcinoid tumors and tumor-like lesions of the appendix: a clinicopathologic study of 184 patients with a multivariate analysis of prognostic factors. Cancer. 1995;75:757–68.
- Misdraji J, Yantiss RK, Graeme-Cook FM, Balis UJ, Young RH. Appendiceal mucinous neoplasms: a clinicopathologic analysis of 107 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2003;27(8):1089–103.
- Pai RK, Beck AH, Norton JA, Longacre TA. Appendiceal mucinous neoplasms: clinicopathologic study of 116 cases with analysis of factors predicting recurrence. Am J Surg Pathol. 2009;33(10):1425–39.
- 22. Ronnett BM, et al. Disseminated peritoneal adenomucinosis and peritoneal mucinous adenocarcinoma: a clinicopathologic analysis of 109 cases with emphasis on distinguishing pathologic features, site of origin, prognosis and relationship to pseudomyxoma peritonei. Am J Surg Pathol. 1995;19(12):1390–408. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000478-199512000-00006.
- 23. Ronnett BM, Yan H, Kurman RJ, Shmookler BM, Wu L, Sugarbaker PH. Patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei associated with disseminated peritoneal adenomucinosis have a significantly more favorable prognosis than patients with peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis. Cancer. 2001;92(1):85–91.
- 24. Bradley RF, Stewart JH, Russell GB, Levine EA, Geisinger KR. Pseudomyxoma peritonei of appendiceal origin: a clinico-pathologic analysis of 101 patients uniformly treated at a single institution, with literature review. Am J Surg Pathol. 2006;30(5):551–9.
- 25. Carr NJ, Sobin LH. Tumours of the appendix. In: Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND, editors. WHO classification of tumours of the digestive system, vol. 3. 4th ed. Lyon: IARC Press; 2010. p. 122–5.
- Brierley JD, Gospodarowicz MK, Wittekind C. UICC (Union for International Cancer Control) TNM classification of malignant tumours. 8th ed. Oxford: John Wiley & Sons; 2017.
- Carr NJ, Bibeau F, Bradley RF, Dartigues P, Feakins RM, Geisinger KR, et al. The histopathological classification, diagnosis and differential diagnosis

of mucinous appendiceal neoplasms, appendiceal adenocarcinomas and pseudomyxoma peritonei. Histopathology. 2017;71(6):847–58. https://doi. org/10.1111/his.13324. Epub 19 Sept 2017.

- Yantiss RK, Shia J, Klimstra DS, Hahn HP, Odze RD, Misdraji J. Prognostic significance of localized extraappendiceal mucin deposition in appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Am J Surg Pathol. 2009;33:248–55.
- Honoré C, Caruso F, Dartigues P, Benhaim L, Chirica M, Goéré D, Elias D. Strategies for preventing pseudomyxoma peritonei after resection of a mucinous neoplasm of the appendix. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(9):4943–7.
- McDonald JR, O'Dwyer ST, Rout S, Chakrabarty B, Sikand K, Fulford PE, Wilson MS, Renehan AG. Classification of and cytoreductive surgery for low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Br J Surg. 2012;99(7):987–92. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bjs.8739.
- 31. Guaglio M, Sinukumar S, Kusamura S, Milione M, Pietrantonio F, Battaglia L, Guadagni S, Baratti D, Deraco M. Clinical surveillance after macroscopically complete surgery for low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms (LAMN) with or without limited peritoneal spread: long-term results in a prospective series. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018;25(4):878–84. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-017-6305-5.
- 32. Sammartino P, Biacchi D, Cornali T, Cardi M, Accarpio F, Impagnatiello A, Sollazzo BM, Di Giorgio A. Proactive management for gastric, colorectal and appendiceal malignancies: preventing peritoneal metastases with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(2):215–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13193-016-0497-1.
- 33. Bhatt A, Mishra S, Prabhu R, Ramaswamy V, George A, Bhandare S, Shah M, Mehta S. Can low grade PMP be divided into prognostically distinct subgroups based on histological features? A retrospective study and the importance of using the appropriate classification. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2018;44(7):1105–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2018.03.032.
- 34. Baratti D, Kusamura S, Milione M, Bruno F, Guaglio M, Deraco M. Validation of the recent PSOGI pathological classification of pseudomyxoma peritonei—a single center series of 265 patients treated by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intra-peritoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018;25(2):404–13. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-017-6252-1.
- 35. Misdraji J, Lauwers GY, Irving JA, Batts KP, Young RH. Appendiceal or cecal endometriosis with intestinal metaplasia: a potential mimic of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Am J Surg Pathol. 2014;38:698–705.
- 36. Mitchell A, Dube P, Sideris L. Dysplastic intestinaltype metaplasia of appendiceal endometriosis: a mimic of low grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm. Diagn Pathol. 2014;9:39.
- 37. Ramaswamy V. Pathology of mucinous appendiceal tumors and pseudomyxoma peritonei. Indian J Surg

Oncol. 2016;7(2):258–67. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13193-016-0516-2. Epub 19 Mar 2016.

- Hinson FL, Ambrose NS. Pseudomyxoma peritonei. Br J Surg. 1998;85:1332–9. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1365-2168.1998.00882.x.
- 39. Sugarbaker PH. Observations concerning cancer spread within the peritoneal cavity and concepts supporting an ordered pathophysiology. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: principles of management. Boston, MA: Kluwer Academic Publisher; 1995. p. 80–99.
- Sugarbaker PH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei. A cancer whose biology is characterized by a redistribution phenomenon. Ann Surg. 1994;219:109–11. https:// doi.org/10.1097/0000658-199402000-00001.
- Carmignani CP, Sugarbaker TA, Bromley CM, Sugarbaker PH. Intraperitoneal cancer dissemination: mechanisms of the patterns of spread. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2003;22:465–72. https://doi.org/10.1 023/A:1023791229361.
- Edge SB, Byrd DR, Compton CC, Fritz AG, Greene FL, Trotti A, editors. AJCC cancer staging manual. 7th ed. Chicago, IL: Springer; 2010. p. 133–41.
- 43. Davison JM, Choudry HA, Pingpank JF, Ahrendt SA, Holtzman MP, Zureikat AH, et al. Clinicopathologic and molecular analysis of disseminated appendiceal mucinous neoplasms: identification of factors predicting survival and proposed criteria for a three-tiered assessment of tumor grade. Mod Pathol. 2014;27(11):1521–39. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2014.37. Epub 14 Mar 2014.
- 44. Sirintrapun SJ, Blackham AU, Russell G, et al. Significance of signet ring cells in high-grade mucinous adenocarcinoma of the peritoneum from appendiceal origin. Hum Pathol. 2014;45:1597–604.
- 45. Shetty S, Natarajan B, Thomas P, Govindarajan V, Sharma P, Loggie B. Proposed classification of pseudomyxoma peritonei: influence of signet ring cells on survival. Am Surg. 2013;79:1171–6.
- Taggart MW, Galbincea J, Mansfield PF, et al. Highlevel microsatellite instability in appendiceal carcinomas. Am J Surg Pathol. 2013;37:1192–200.
- 47. Choudry HA, Pai RK, Shuai Y, Ramalingam L, Jones HL, Pingpank JF, Ahrendt SS, Holtzman MP, Zureikat AH, Zeh HJ, Bartlett DL. Impact of cellularity on oncologic outcomes following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018;25(1):76–82. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-017-6214-7.
- Mohamed F, Gething S, Haiba M, Brun EA, Sugarbaker PH, et al. Clinically aggressive pseudomyxoma peritonei: a variant of a histologically indolent process. J Surg Oncol. 2004;86(1):10e5.
- Lohani K, Shetty S, Sharma P, Govindarajan V, Thomas P, Loggie B. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: inflammatory responses in the peritoneal microenvironment. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1441–7.
- 50. Amini A, Masoumi-Moghaddam S, Ehteda A, Morris DL. Secreted mucins in pseudo-

myxoma peritonei: pathophysiological significance and potential therapeutic prospects. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2014;9:71. https://doi. org/10.1186/1750-1172-9-71.

- Hollingsworth MA, Swanson BJ. Mucins in cancer: protection and control of the cell surface. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4:45–60.
- Rachagani S, Torres MP, Moniaux N, Batra SK. Current status of mucins in the diagnosis and therapy of cancer. Biofactors. 2009;35:509–27.
- O'Connell JT, Tomlinson JS, Roberts AA, McGonigle KF, Barsky SH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei is a disease of MUC2-expressing goblet cells. Am J Pathol. 2002;161:551–64.
- O'Connell JT, Hacker CM, Barsky SH. MUC2 is a molecular marker for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Mod Pathol. 2002;15:958–72.

- 55. Bhatt A, Yonemura Y, Benzerdjeb N, et al. Pathological assessment of cytoreductive surgery specimens and its unexplored prognostic potential—a prospective multi-centric study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019 (in press). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2019.07.019.
- 56. Lim S-B, Hong S-M, Yu CS, et al. Prevalence and clinical significance of acellular mucin in locally advanced rectal cancer patients showing pathologic complete response to preoperative chemoradiotherapy. Am J Surg Pathol. 2013;45(12):2398–2404.
- 57. Solass W, Sempoux C, Detlefsen S, Carr NJ, Bibeau F. Peritoneal sampling and histological assessment of therapeutic response in peritoneal metastasis: proposal of the peritoneal regression grading score (PRGS). Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(2):99–107. https://doi.org/10.1515/pp-2016-0011.



# Genomics in Pseudomyxoma Peritonei

Marco Vaira, Claudio Isella, Michele De Simone, Manuela Robella, Alice Borsano, and Enzo Medico

# 8.1 Background

Cytoreductive surgery (CRS) plus Hyperthermic IntraPEritoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) is, nowadays, known as the "gold standard" treatment for Pseudomyxoma Peritonei (PMP) from mucinous appendiceal tumors. Appendiceal mucinous tumors generically show a favorable biologic behavior due to a pattern of late or noninvasive superficial spread into tissues, with low risk of hematogenous dissemination [1–8]. Regarding the appendiceal tumors, the treatment by CRS + HIPEC permits a high 10 and 15 years overall survival rate (OS) in several literature reports [7–12]; however, clinical outcomes such as Disease-Free Survival (DFS) show a significant and often unpredictable variability, with a non-negligible relapse rate in patients treated [12–17]. The relapse of disease is sometimes not amenable with a complete surgical cytoreduction or debulking surgery [11, 13–15]. Relapse is so therefore treated by systemic chemotherapy with drug regimens commonly used

C. Isella · E. Medico Oncogenomics, Candiolo Cancer Institute, FPO-IRCCS, Candiolo, TO, Italy on advanced colonic cancer [9, 10, 13], with poor results. A number of criteria and parameters have been recognized to have an impact on survival (e.g., completeness of cytoreduction, previous surgical score, neoadjuvant systemic chemotherapy, center of treatment's experience) [9–17], but even in leading referral centers' reports, the prediction of outcome in patients treated, revealed to be very difficult. To better predict patients' outcome, a number of histopathologic classification systems have been proposed, as reported in previous chapters [18–20]. Unfortunately those histopathological classifications revealed to be insufficient to predict the disease history. The heterogeneity of PMP is difficult to be classified by histopathology alone. This is probably the reason why, for example, expected good outcomes on low-grade disease are often disregarded. In the last decades, the characterization of tumor specimens with genome-wide analysis provided novel insights in the tumor biology which were reflected in better stratification of tumor outcome, as well as prediction of response to therapies in different tumor types. Genomic profiling of PMP is reported by few authors and recently some evidence of a link between gene expression profile (GEP) and outcome of PMP patients has been demonstrated.

In this chapter, we review literature reports and briefly describe our recent findings about this topic.

O. Glehen, A. Bhatt (eds.), *Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3773-8\_8

M. Vaira ( $\boxtimes$ ) · M. De Simone · M. Robella · A. Borsano Unit of Surgical Oncology, Candiolo Cancer Institute, FPO-IRCCS, Candiolo, TO, Italy e-mail: marco.vaira@ircc.it

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

### 8.2 Literature Review

Literature reports may be grossly divided in two groups: the first one is focused on the overexpression or suppression of single or few oncogenes, while few and latest papers are, instead, focused on global expression profiling (GEP), identifying clusters of genes that have been directly linked to prognosis of PMP patients.

The first report found in literature dates 2001 by Shih et al. [21]. The paper was based on the molecular genetic analysis performed on two twins, both with an appendicular adenoma, one of them associated with PMP. The analysis was focused on APC and K-RAS mutations. The authors observed that identical K-RAS mutations were detected in the appendiceal adenoma and peritoneal tumor from the twin with PMP, whereas the adenoma from the other twin harbored a different mutation. A loss of heterozygosity of APC only in the adenoma from the twin without PMP but not from the appendiceal or peritoneal tumors of the twin with PMP was found. The K-RAS mutational analysis supported the view that PMP was clonally derived from the associated appendiceal mucinous adenoma. The lack of loss of heterozygosity of APC in the adenoma and peritoneal tumor from the twin with PMP suggested that loss of heterozygosity of APC was not necessarily involved in the development of all appendiceal adenomas or PMP. The different types of mutations in K-RAS from both twins suggested that mutation in K-RAS and loss of heterozygosity of APC occurred somatically in adenomas and was independent from the identical genetic background of the twins.

Maheshwari et al. [22] found an association between tumor loss of heterozygosity markers and histopathology of PMP. On 23 mucinous appendiceal tumors, the loss of heterozygosity by a panel of 15 allelic loss microsatellite markers and KRAS-2 point showed a mutational damage. The fractional mutational rate (FMR), the number of mutated markers divided by the total number of informative markers, was calculated by using the six most informative markers and the KRAS-2 gene. Statistics were calculated to test the association between FMR and the histopathologic classification.

An association between tumor loss of heterozygosity markers and histopathologic classification (p < 0.05) was found. There was also an association between FMR and pathological classification as well as between the FMR and survival (p < 0.05). An FMR less than 0.25 indicated low-grade disease, an FMR of 0.25–0.50 indicated intermediate grade, and an FMR greater than 0.5 indicated a high-grade tumor. The authors concluded that mutational profiling of accumulated allelic loss and point mutational damage correlated strongly with histopathologic definitions of PMP and was useful to predict the prognosis of patients.

Nishikawa et al. [23] reported the results obtained analyzing 35 appendiceal mucinous neoplasms for GNAS and KRAS mutations. A functional analysis of mutant GNAS was performed using a colorectal cancer cell line. They observed that a mutational analysis identified activating GNAS mutations in 16 of 32 Low-Appendiceal grade Mucinous Neoplasms (LAMNs) but in none of three Mucinous Adenocarcinomas (MACs). KRAS mutations were found in 30 LAMNs and in all MACs. The authors reported that the introduction of the mutant GNAS into a colorectal cancer cell line markedly induced MUC2 and MUC5AC expression, but did not promote cell growth in vitro or in vivo. The authors' conclusion was that activating GNAS mutations are a frequent and characteristic genetic abnormality of LAMN. Mutant GNAS might play a direct role in the prominent mucin production that is a hallmark of LAMN.

An interesting paper by Liu et al. [24] underlined that multiple mutations were found among different subgroups of PMP and that may be considered for targeted therapies. In fact, a single *JAK3* mutation was detected in the mucocele group while, among the PMPs, 6 mutations were detected in the *KRAS* gene and also in the *GNAS*, *TP53*, and *RB1* genes. Appendiceal cancers showed mutations in the *APC*, *ATM*, *KRAS*, *IDH*, *NRAS*, *PIK3CA*, *SMAD4*, and *TP53* genes. *The results suggested a high molecular* 

# heterogeneity among epithelial tumors of the appendix, and sequencing mutational spectra in several subtypes of these tumors may suggest, by the authors, a phenotypic heterogeneity showing mutations that are relevant for targeted therapies.

Noguchi et al. [25], to elucidate the molecular mechanisms underlying PMP, analyzed 18 PMP tumors comprising 10 Diffuse Peritoneal AdenoMucinosis (DPAMs) and 8 Peritoneal Mucinous CArcinomatosis (PMCAs) by Ronnett's classification [18]. DNA was extracted from tumor and was sequenced using a Cancer Panel containing 50 cancer-related genes. The authors identified 35 somatic mutations in 10 genes, and all mutations were judged pathological mutations. Mutations were frequently identified in KRAS (14/18) and GNAS (8/18). Interestingly, TP53 mutations were found in three of the eight PMCAs, but not in the DPAMs. PIK3CA and AKT1 mutations were also identified in two PMCAs, but not in the DPAMs. These results suggested that KRAS and/or GNAS mutations are common genetic features of PMP and that mutations in TP53 and/or genes related to the PI3K-AKT pathway may render malignant properties to PMP.

Nummela et al. [26] explored the molecular features of mucin-producing appendiceal neoplasm. The authors extracted DNA from 19 appendix-derived PMP tumors and nine corresponding normal tissues and analyzed the mutational hotspot areas of 48 cancer-related genes by next-generation sequencing (NGS).

They further analyzed the protein expression of V600E mutated *BRAF*, *MLH1*, *MSH2*, *MSH6*, and *p53* from a larger set of PMP tumors (74 patients), using immunohistochemistry. With NGS, activating somatic *KRAS* mutations in all of the tumors studied was found. *GNAS* was mutated in 63% of the tumors with no marked difference between low-grade and high-grade tumors. Only one tumor showed oncogenic *PIK3CA* mutation, one showed oncogenic *AKT1* mutation, three showed *SMAD4* mutations, and none showed an *APC* mutation. *P53 protein was aberrantly expressed in higher proportion of high-grade tumors* as compared with low-grade ones (31.3% vs. 7.1%, respectively; p = 0.012) and aberrant expression was an independent factor for reduced overall survival (p = 0.002). BRAF V600E mutation was only found in one high-grade tumor. All the studied tumors expressed mismatch repair proteins *MLH1*, *MSH2*, and *MSH6*. The authors' conclusions were that KRAS mutations were evident in all and *GNAS* mutations in most of the PMPs, but *BRAF V600E*, *PIK3CA*, and *APC* mutations were rare. *Aberrantly expressed p53 was associated with high-grade histology and reduced survival*.

Pietrantonio et al. [27] performed on 40 patients with mucinous appendiceal tumors and PMP a next-generation sequencing (NGS) of 50 gene's hotspot regions.

KRAS and GNAS mutations were found in 72% and 52%, and their allelic frequency was below 10% in 55% and 43% of samples, respectively. KRAS and GNAS mutations were associated with worse progression-free survival (PFS) at univariate analysis (p = 0.006 and 0.011), respectively). At multivariate analysis, only KRAS mutations were independently associated with PFS (p = 0.012); GNAS mutations were not significantly associated with other poor prognostic features such as incomplete cytoreduction or KRAS mutations. Validation of results was carried out in an independent bi-institutional cohort of 25 patients and the prognostic effect of KRAS mutations was again confirmed in the multivariate model (p = 0.029). NGS approach allowed the discovery of other potentially "druggable" mutations such as those in PI3K, AKT, LKB1, FGFR3, and PDGFRA. The authors demonstrated a poor prognostic role of KRAS mutations in PMP.

Borazanci et al. [28] performed a large analysis on 588 samples with appendix primary tumor sites and related results to therapeutic options. Sixty-two percent of samples were adenocarcinomas (used for analysis); the rest consisted of 9% goblet cell, 15% mucinous; 6% pseudomyxoma, and less than 5% carcinoids and 2% neuroendocrine. Profiling across all appendiceal cancer histological subtypes for IHC revealed: 97% *BRCP*, 81% *MRP1*, 81% *COX-2*, 71% *MGMT*, 56% *TOPO1*, 5% *PTEN*, 52% *EGFR*, 40% ERCC1, 38% SPARC, 35% PDGFR, 35% TOPO2A, 25% RRM1, 21% TS, 16% cKIT, and 12% for TLE3. NGS revealed mutations in the following genes: 50.4% KRAS, 21.9% P53, 17.6% GNAS, 16.5% SMAD4, 10% APC, 7.5% ATM, 5.5% PIK3CA, 5.0% FBXW7, and 1.8% BRAF. The authors concluded that appendiceal cancers show considerable heterogeneity with high levels of drug resistance proteins (BCRP and MRP1) and suggested a potential link to therapeutic options: "the incidence of low TS (79%) could be used as a backbone of therapy (using inhibitors such as 5FU/ capecitabine or newer agents). Therapeutic options include TOPO1 inhibitors (irinotecan/ topotecan), EGFR inhibitors (erlotinib, cetuximab), PDGFR antagonists (regorafenib, axitinib), and MGMT (temozolomide)." The last, someway amazing, consideration done was that appendiceal cancers have similar patterns, in their molecular profile, to pancreatic cancers and have differential expression from colorectal cancers.

Saarinen et al. [29] also tried to better understand the genetic background of PMP and to find a correlation between gene expression and targeted treatments. The authors underlined that while RAS signaling pathway is affected in most if not all PMP cases and over half of them also have a mutation in the *GNAS* gene, other genetic alterations are poorly known. In this study, *the authors sequenced whole coding genome of nine PMP tumors* and paired normal tissues in order to identify additional, commonly mutated genes and signaling pathways affected in PMP.

Seven genes that contribute to the protein kinase A (PKA) pathway were found. PKA pathway, which also contains *GNAS*, revealed to be a major player of overproduction of mucin, which is the main feature of PMP. In addition to PKA pathway, mutations in six genes that belong to the transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) pathway which is a key regulator of cell proliferation were found. *GNAS mutation or an alternative mutation in the PKA pathway was identified in 8/9 patients, so the authors' hypothesis may be summarized as: "the inhibition of the PKA pathway may reduce mucin production in most* 

# of the PMP patients and potentially suppress disease progression."

Gleeson et al. [30] analyzed a total of 54 patients with appendiceal-derived PMP with gene sequencing, protein expression (immuno-histochemistry), and gene amplification. The authors found that targeted sequencing of 47 genes detected variants in *KRAS* (81%), *GNAS* (74%), *SMAD4* (16%), and *ATM* (16%). Mutations were found at low frequencies in *APC*, *BRAF, PIK3CA, MLH1*, and *TP53. GNAS and KRAS co-occurrence was found in 87%*.

Protein overexpression was found in epidermal growth factor receptor (83%), cyclooxygenase-2 (73%), c-MET (63%), cKIT (58%), and platelet-derived growth factor receptor alpha (58%). Immune checkpoint expression was found in 36% (programmed cell death protein 1) and 18% (programmed death-ligand 1). Surrogate markers of cell proliferation were found at low rates (TLE3 23%, TOP2A 22%), consistent with the slow-growing biology of PMP. Patients exhibited stable microsatellite status and mismatch repair proficiency (93%). Importantly, multidrug resistance protein expression was elevated (100% BCRP, 94% MRP1, 88% PGP). Markers for gemcitabine (RRM1), fluorouracil (TS),oxaliplatin (ERCC1), and irinotecan (TOPO1) chemosensitivities were detected at favorable rates: 93%, 87%, 77%, and 65%, respectively. The authors concluded that "molecular profiling by multiple platforms identified potential therapies for the nontargetable KRAS-mutated population. The role of c-MET-targeted therapeutics and immune checkpoint inhibitors merits further investigation. Biomarker-guided selection of cytotoxic chemotherapies may facilitate efficacy to systemic treatment."

Sio et al. [31] hypothesized that nextgeneration exomic sequencing would identify recurrent mutations that may have prognostic or therapeutic implications. Ten patients were selected on the basis of availability of tissue and adequate follow-up. Using next-generation exomic sequencing, the authors tested for mutations in 236 cancer-related genes. MCL1 amplification was additionally tested with immunohistochemical staining. Detectable mutations were found in 8 patients (80%). Seven patients harbored a KRAS mutation, most commonly involving codon 12.

Four *GNAS* mutations were also detected. *MCL1* and *JUN* were concurrently amplified in three patients. One patient with *MCL1* and *JUN* amplification had concurrent amplification of *MYC* and *NFKBIA*. *ZNF703* was amplified in one patient. Patients with *MCL1* amplification were also found to express *MCL1* with immunohistochemistry, but *MCL1* expression was also detected in some patients without amplification. The authors first reported *MCL1* and *JUN* coamplification in *PMP* and hypothesized that expression of *MCL1* may not be completely dependent on amplification. The prognostic and therapeutic implications of these recurrent mutational were unknown at the time of the study.

An innovative study was published by Roberts et al. [32]; in fact, the study was drawn to develop immortalized PMP cells line for preclinical testing and PMP oncogene discovery. The authors performed an exon array analysis from laser microdissected PMP tissue and normal colonic epithelia. The array analysis identified 27 upregulated and 34 downregulated genes: candidate upregulated genes included SLC16A4, DSC3, Aldolase B, EPHX4, and ARHGAP24; candidate downregulated genes were MS4A12, TMIGD1, and Caspase-5. Then the authors established two primary PMP cell lines: N14A and N15A and immortalized with an SV40 T-antigen lentiviral vector. They crosschecked for expression of the candidate genes (from the array analyses) using qPCR in the cell lines and demonstrated that the gene profiles were distinct from those of colorectal tumor libraries and commonly used colon cell lines. N14A and N15A were responsive to mitomycin and oxaliplatin. This study characterized the global gene expression in PMP, and, interestingly, the parallel development of the first immortalized PMP cell lines for pre-clinical testing and PMP oncogene discovery.

The two main papers published about the relationship between clusters of genes found by Gene Expression Profiling (GEP) and out-

# come of PMP were published by Levine et al. in 2012 and 2016.

In the paper published in 2012, Levine et al. [33] described the first use of gene expression profiling (GEP) for appendiceal cancer and demonstrated that the genomic signatures of PMP were distinct from colorectal cancer. In fact from a prospective database and tissue bank, 41 snap frozen samples of peritoneal metastases (26 appendiceal, 15 colorectal) from patients undergoing HIPEC (with complete cytoreduction and >3 years of follow-up) underwent global GEP analysis. Distinct phenotypes were identified using unsupervised hierarchical clustering based upon differential gene expression. Survival curves restratified by genotype were generated. The results were that three distinct phenotypes were found, two consisting of predominantly low-grade appendiceal samples (10/13 in Cluster 1 and 15/20 in Cluster 2) and one consisting of predominantly colorectal samples (7/8 in Cluster 3). Cluster 1 consisted of patients with good prognosis and Clusters 2 and 3 consisted of patients with poor prognosis (p = 0.006).

Signatures predicted survival of low- (Cluster 1) vs. high-risk (Cluster 2) appendiceal (p = 0.04) and low-risk appendiceal (Cluster 1) vs. colon primary (Cluster 3) (p = 0.0002).

#### Highlights

- (a) All the patients considered underwent complete cytoreductive surgery + HIPEC and had, at least, 3 years of follow-up before the analysis.
- (b) From an initial number of 113 (57 peritoneal colon samples and 56 appendiceal samples) cases analyzed, the exclusion of neuroendocrine tumors, contaminated samples, missing follow-up data reduced the number to 41 samples fit for the analysis (*the initial number of samples available was half-reduced!*).
- (c) All but 2 of the appendiceal cancers (24/26 cases) were low histologic grade.
- (d) The authors report that gene associated with worse prognosis in the appendiceal tumors included mucin-related genes such as mucin

168

5, mucin 2, and Trefoil factors 1 and 2. Another interesting observation is that using gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) between the low-risk appendiceal (Cluster 1) and high-risk appendiceal (Cluster 2) to identify biological processes and pathways associated with the poor prognosis. *This revealed multiple pathways known to be involved in advanced disease (immune pathways, oncogenic pathways such as src and myc, TGF-\beta, and resistance to chemotherapy).* 

(e) The most interesting observation done by authors into the discussion of this paper is that histologic examination of appendiceal tumors has long been known to have great prognostic value. Grading of the lesions clearly stratifies prognosis; however, even with low-grade lesions there were a minority of patients who failed quickly. The gene expression profiles had a prognostic value and were found to be prognostic without stratification by grade, as 24 of the 26 appendiceal cases were low grade. The authors identified, through the first genetic analysis of this disease, a prognostic signature for appendiceal cancer. This breaks low-grade appendiceal disease (by histology) into 2 separate groups with a 5-year survival difference of nearly 50%! In addition to pure prognostication, those observations have a potential value in selecting patients most likely to benefit from emerging adjuvant therapies.

Clearly, not all low-grade appendiceal disease have a good prognosis.

In 2016, Levine et al. [34] published the "evolution" of the 2012 study:

In this new study, the authors focused their attention on low-grade appendiceal tumors and used *an oncogenomic cassette of 139 genes* which demonstrated to be predominant for the 3 clusters classification described in their previous 2012 study.

In fact, the results of this new study empowered the observation of the 2012 paper and showed a strong relationship between gene expression and patients' outcome *on low-grade PMP*. The author reported that: "*unsupervised*  hierarchical clustering analysis of tumor expression profiles revealed a 139-gene cassette that distinguished 2 molecular subtypes (based on low vs high expression of the gene cassette) with statistically significant survival differences survival, (disease-specific р = 0.0075; progression-free survival, p = 0.0072). In a second appendiceal cohort, the 139-gene cassette reproducibly partitioned tumors into subtypes with significant survival differences. Tumors showing high relative expression of the genes comprising the cassette associated with poor survival outcomes (disease-specific survival, p =0.047; progression-free survival, p = 0.0079) and exhibited gene expression patterns enriched for oncogenic processes and pathways. The prognostic value of the molecular subtypes was spefor low-grade appendiceal tumors cific (disease-specific survival, p = 0.028; progressionfree survival, p = 0.0016) and remained significant in the presence of conventional prognostic markers, including grade, surgical resection score, ECOG status, and age."

### Highlights

- (a) The validation cohort consists of 39 PMP from low-grade appendiceal tumors patients who underwent cytoreductive surgery plus HIPEC, while the 24 patients considered for the analysis were the same low-grade appendiceal tumors considered for GEP (24/26 PMP patients) in the 2012 study.
- (b) The validation cohort (39 samples) confirmed that *the prognostic subtypes found by the 139 genes-cassette are reproducible in an independent cohort.*
- (c) Another interesting finding is that prognostic power of the molecular subtypes is independent from conventional prognostic variables (e.g., ECOG score, surgical score, age, grade!).
- (d) The study also confirmed a lot of data listed in previous chapter: biologic hallmark gene sets representing glycolysis, epithelial to mesenchymal transition, and E2F target genes were found to be highly significantly enriched in the poor prognosis subtype. Oncogenic signatures of genes overexpressed in the context of

p53 mutation, AKT activation, *HER2* (*erb*-B2) overexpression, and cancer stem cells isolated from hepatocellular carcinomas were also found to be significantly enriched in the poor prognosis subtype.

(e) The last interesting observation that can be found in this study is that the authors crossreferenced the genes of the 139-gene cassette with the Drug Gene Interaction Database. This analysis revealed a number of cancerassociated genes, the products of which are targets of existing or emerging anti-neoplastic drugs, including erb-B3 (HER-3), c-MET, FGFR3, CDH1, GPRC5A, DDR1, CA2, CA9, CEACAM5, MST1R, MUC1, and SLC2A1.

### 8.3 IRCCS (Candiolo Cancer Institute) Experience

After Levine published his first paper in 2012, we were inspired to explore if in our casuistry we were going to find the same results. Our experience consists in over 20 years of treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis by surgery associated to locoregional treatments like HIPEC. We operated on over 1500 patients for peritoneal carcinomatosis and performed over 500 CRS + HIPEC procedures. In more than 160 cases, we per-

formed CRS + HIPEC for PMP. After the first Levine's paper was published, in 2012, we started the collection of tissue samples of PMP patients. Thirty five PMP samples of patients treated by CRS + HIPEC were collected and oncogenomic expression according to Levine first study was performed. The control group consisted in 10 patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. The samples of those 10 patients were collected and analyzed by gene expression profiling too. The 35 PMP patients enrolled showed a high-grade PMP (DPAM) in 21 cases and a low-grade PMP (DPAM) in 21 cases according both to Ronnett's [18] and WHO [19] histopathological classification.

In the first part of our experience, we analyzed the samples by the oncogenes indicated by Levine in his 2012 paper. In fact we had, grossly, the same clusters distributions, for PMP and colon cancer, as shown in Fig. 8.1. PMP were divided in two groups labelled high risk and low risk, while colon cancer showed a third genomic profile, according to Levine's findings.

As shown in Fig. 8.1, we found 2 PMP clusters (Cluster 1 and Cluster 2) characterized by low (Cluster 1) and high (Cluster 2) risk to develop recurrence and have a different overall survival (the majority of PMP patients with a disease-free survival lower than 2 years are



**Fig. 8.1** IRCCS oncogene clusters of 45 samples of peritoneal metastases (35 appendiceal, 10 colorectal). Cluster 1: low-risk PMP; Cluster 2: high-risk PMP, Cluster 3: colorectal-like

included in Cluster 2). Only one PMP patient showed Cluster 3 (CRC-like) oncogenomic expression (related to poorer prognosis). Cluster 3 remarkably showed a different signature towards PMP Cluster 1 and 2, confirming *that PMP from appendicular tumors and colorectal cancer are two different diseases.* 

The second paper published by Levine in 2016, summarized in the previous chapter, inspired the next step of our work. From the initial number of 35 PMP patients, 11 were excluded due to pathology (signet ring cells, neuroendocrine tumors, ovarian PMP patients) or lost at follow-up. The remaining 24 appendix-related PMP patients underwent the 139 oncogenes cassette analysis purposed by Levine (Fig. 8.2). Sixteen patients had low-grade PMP histopathology, while eight patients had high grade or intermediate disease by Ronnett's classification [18]. All the patients underwent complete CRS (CC-0/1) and HIPEC and had a follow-up higher than 24 months.

As shown in Fig. 8.3, a statistical significant relation between the two clusters and disease-free survival (DFS, p = 0.022) and overall survival (OS, p = 0.005) was found (Cluster 1 showed better prognosis).



**Fig. 8.2** IRCCS prognostic tumor clusters on 139-gene cassette purposed by Levine on 24 PMP patients (16 low-grade, 8 high-grade/intermediate PMP). Cluster 1: low-risk (green field), Cluster 2: high risk (red field)



Fig. 8.3 IRCCS DFS (disease-free Survival) and Overall Survival (OS) of 24 PMP patients analyzed by 139-gene cassette purposed by Levine. Blue line: Low-risk patients (Cluster 1); Red line: High-risk patients (Cluster 2)

### 8.4 Discussion

All the abovementioned papers show that oncogenomics may play an important role in refining and better defining the features of an heterogenous disease like PMP.

*GNAS* and *KRAS* are reported to be common genetic features of PMP and showed a direct involvement in the prognosis of the disease. While *GNAS* (and PKA pathway, which also contains *GNAS*) seems to play a role in the prominent mucin production that is a hallmark of LAMN, *KRAS* mutations were found in variable number of low-grade PMP but nearly in the totality of high-grade PMP. Both *KRAS* and *GNAS* mutations are often reported to be associated with worse progression-free survival of PMP patients [21–30].

*TP53* and/or genes related to the *PI3K-AKT* pathway may render malignant properties to PMP; in fact, aberrantly expressed p53 is associated with high-grade histology and reduced survival [26].

In some reports mentioned above, a direct link between oncogene expression and therapy is suggested:

As appendiceal cancers show considerable heterogeneity with high levels of drug resistance proteins (*BCRP* and *MRP1*), the incidence of low *TS* (79%) could be rationale to consider inhibitors such as 5FU/capecitabine or newer agents. Therapeutic options may also include TOPO1 inhibitors (irinotecan/topotecan), EGFR inhibitors (erlotinib, cetuximab), PDGFR antagonists (regorafenib, axitinib), and MGMT (temozolomide) [28].

*GNAS* mutation or an alternative mutation in the PKA pathway was described, so a hypothesis done is that the inhibition of the PKA pathway may reduce mucin production in PMP and potentially suppress disease progression [30].

The results reported by Levine and in our series of patients show that, even in small numbers, the relationship between outcome and GEP is statistically significant. The GEP shows that there is a significant oncogenomic difference between PMP and colonic cancer, so the treatment of the two diseases must be someway different. Histopathology, even considering recent advances purposed by WHO [19] and PSOGI [20], in PMP patients, treated in referral centers, by complete CRS and HIPEC, is not the best tool to predict the outcome of the patients (low-grade disease, with favorable histology and biology, associated to poor outcome remains someway unexplained).

Levine papers [33, 34] are focused on lowgrade PMP, in our second part of the study, 16 on 24 patients were low-grade PMP too; despite this histopathologic definition, a cluster of patients (Cluster 2) in both studies showed a poor prognosis.

# The observation to be done is that "low-grade PMP" definition may lead to a misinterpretation of the expected prognosis both on surgeons and patients.

On further investigation ongoing in our institute, in a larger series of patients, we observed that, given the superiority of GEP to predict the outcome of low-grade PMP patients towards histopathology or other tools, on high-grade tumors the sensitivity and specificity of the analysis resulted lower than we expected. This observation brought to explore some other tool, useful both on low- and high-grade PMP. On the basis of a paper published by Isella et al. [35] about the stromal contribution to the colorectal cancer transcriptome, the idea was to explore (on an heterogenous, myxoid, tumor, like PMP) the eventual relationship between outcome, stromal score, and cellularity of PMP.

The preliminary results seem to encourage the direction we have chosen; in fact, while merged together, GEP, stromal signature, and cellularity of the tumor seem to predict in a better way the outcome of patients, with a higher impact of GEP in low-grade disease, while stromal score and cellularity seem to be more important in high-grade PMP.

The results of those observations are near to be published and will hopefully clarify some shadows around PMP disease.

### 8.5 Future Directions

An obvious observation, considering the papers analyzed in this chapter, is that all the studies reports are based on a relative small number of patients. This may be due both to the rarity of the disease and the economic charge of the analysis purposed. Even if in a number of studies, the results reported have a statistical impact, those findings need to be applied in larger scale. In fact, the power of those reports is insufficient, nowadays, to "reconsider the state of the art" of PMP treatment approach. We think that the only way to reach an organic and useful redefinition of PMP, of its clinical management and treatment, is to build a network worldwide to standardize analysis procedures, data collection and at least, fundraising to reach the target of a complete comprehension of this challenging disease.

### References

- 1. Sugarbaker PH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: a cancer whose biology is characterized by a redistribution phenomenon. Ann Surg. 1994;219:109–11.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritonectomy procedures. Ann Surg. 1995;221:29–42.
- Sugarbaker PH. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy and cytoreductive surgery for the prevention and treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis and sarcomatosis. Semin Surg Oncol. 1998;14:254–61.
- Sugarbaker PH, Chang D. Results of treatment of 385 patients with peritoneal surface spread of appendiceal malignancy. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:727–31.
- Sugarbaker PH, Graves T, DeBruijn EA, et al. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy as an adjuvant therapy to surgery for peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastrointestinal cancer: pharmacological studies. Cancer Res. 1990;50:5790–4.
- Sugarbaker PH, Ronnett BM, Archer A, et al. Pseudomyxoma peritonei syndrome. Adv Surg. 1996;30:233–80.
- Bhatt A, Mishra S, Prabhu R, et al. Can low grade PMP be divided into prognostically distinct subgroups based on histological features? A retrospective study and the importance of using the appropriate classification. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2018;44:1105–11.
- Fallis SA, Moran BJ. Management of pseudomyxoma peritonei. J BUON. 2015;20(Suppl 1):S47–55.
- Yan TD, Black D, Savady R, et al. A systematic review on the efficacy of cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:484.
- Smeenk RM, Verwaal VJ, Antonini N, et al. Survival analysis of pseudomyxoma peritonei patients treated by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg. 2007;245:104.
- Baratti D, Kusamura S, Nonaka D, et al. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: biological features are

the dominant prognostic determinants after complete cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg. 2009;249:243.

- Alves S, Mohamed F, Yadegarfar G, et al. Prospective longitudinal study of quality of life following cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36:1156.
- Chua TC, Liauw W, Morris DL. Early recurrence of pseudomyxoma peritonei following treatment failure of cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy is indicative of a poor survival outcome. Int J Color Dis. 2011;27:381.
- 14. Kitai T, Kawashima M, Yamanka K, et al. Cytoreductive surgery with intraperitoneal chemotherapy to treat pseudomyxoma peritonei at nonspecialized hospitals. Surg Today. 2011;41:1219.
- Elias D, Gilly F, Quenet F, et al. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: a French multicentric study of 301 patients treated with cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36:456.
- 16. Cioppa T, Vaira M, Bing C, et al. Cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from pseudomyxoma peritonei. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14:6817.
- 17. Elias D, Honoré C, Ciuchendéa R, et al. Peritoneal pseudomyxoma: results of systematic policy of complete cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Br J Surg. 2008;95:1164.
- Ronnett BM, Zahn CM, Kurman RJ, et al. Disseminated peritoneal adenomucinosis and peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis. A clinicopathologic analysis of 109 cases with emphasis on distinguishing pathologic features, site of origin, prognosis, and relationship to "pseudomyxoma peritonei". Am J Surg Pathol. 1995;19(12):1390–408.
- Carr NJ, Sobin LH. Adenocarcinoma of the appendix. In: Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, et al., editors. WHO classification of tumors of the digestive system. Lyon: IARC; 2010. p. 122e5.
- Carr NJ, Cecil TD, Mohamed F, et al. Consensus for classification and pathologic reporting of pseudomyxoma peritonei and associated appendiceal neoplasia. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40(1):14–26.
- Shih IM, Yan H, Speyrer D, et al. Molecular genetic analysis of appendiceal mucinous adenomas in identical twins, including one with pseudomyxoma peritonei. Am J Surg Pathol. 2001;25(8):1095–9.
- 22. Maheshwari V, Tsung A, Lin Y, et al. Analysis of loss of heterozygosity for tumor-suppressor genes can accurately classify and predict the clinical behavior of mucinous tumors arising from the appendix. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006;13(12):1610–6.
- Nishikawa G, Sekine S, Ogawa R, et al. Frequent GNAS mutations in low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Br J Cancer. 2013;108:951–8.
- 24. Liu X, Mody K, de Abreu FB, et al. Molecular profiling of appendiceal epithelial tumors using massively

parallel sequencing to identify somatic mutations. Clin Chem. 2014;60(7):1004–11.

- Noguchi R, Yano H, Gohda Y, et al. Molecular profiles of high-grade and low-grade pseudomyxoma peritonei. Cancer Med. 2015;4(12):1809–16.
- Nummela P, Saarinen L, Thiel A, et al. Genomic profile of pseudomyxoma peritonei analyzed using nextgeneration sequencing and immunohistochemistry. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:E282–9.
- Pietrantonio F, Perrone F, Mennitto A, et al. Toward the molecular dissection of peritoneal pseudomyxoma. Ann Oncol. 2016;27:2097–103.
- Borazanci E, Millis SZ, Kimbrough J, et al. Potential actionable targets in appendiceal cancer detected by immunohistochemistry, fluorescent in situ hybridization, and mutational analysis. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2017;8(1):164–72.
- 29. Saarinen L, Nummela P, Thiel A, et al. Multiple components of PKA and TGF-β pathways are mutated in pseudomyxoma peritonei. PLoS One. 2017;12(4):e0174898. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174898.
- Gleeson EM, Feldman R, Mapow BL, et al. Appendixderived pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP) molecular

profiling toward treatment of a rare malignancy. Am J Clin Oncol. 2018;41:777–83.

- Sio TT, Mansfield AS, Grotz TE, et al. Concurrent MCL1 and JUN amplification in pseudomyxoma peritonei: a comprehensive genetic profiling and survival analysis. J Hum Genet. 2014;59:124–8.
- Roberts DL, O'Dwyer ST, Stern PL, et al. Global gene expression in pseudomyxoma peritonei, with parallel development of two immortalized cell lines. Oncotarget. 2015;6(13):10786–800.
- 33. Levine EA, Blazer DG, Kim MK, et al. Gene expression profiling of peritoneal metastases from appendiceal and colon cancer demonstrates unique biologic signatures and predicts patient outcomes. J Am Coll Surg. 2012;214(4):599–607.
- 34. Levine EA, Votanopoulos KI, Qasem SA, et al. Prognostic molecular subtypes of lowgrade cancer of the appendix. J Am Coll Surg. 2016;222(4):493–503.
- Isella C, Terrasi A, Bellomo SE, et al. Stromal contribution to the colorectal cancer transcriptome. Nat Genet. 2015;47(4):312–9.



9

# Peritoneal Regression Grading Score (PRGS) for Therapy Response Assessment in Peritoneal Metastasis

Wiebke Solass

# 9.1 Background

The introduction of multimodal therapeutic strategies has improved the outcome of patients with peritoneal metastasis (PM). For example, a phase I study in ovarian cancer showed a survival advantage by combining intraperitoneal and intravenous chemotherapy [1]. The combination of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic chemotherapy (HIPEC) intraperitoneal in colorectal cancer has improved the outcome and survival of these patients [2]. And new ways of administration of drugs like Pressurized Intraperitoneal Aerosol Chemotherapy (PIPAC) might be a promising approach in the palliative setting [3].

# 9.2 Challenge of Therapy Response Assessment in PM

However, therapy response assessment in PM remains a challenge in modern oncology. Neither computed tomography nor magnetic resonance imaging are reliable predictors, especially in the case of small bowel or mesenteric involvement [4].

Institute of Pathology and Neuropathology and National Center for Pleura and Peritoneum, University Hospital Tuebingen, Eberhard-Karls-University, Tuebingen, Germany

e-mail: wiebke.solass@med.uni-tuebingen.de

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 O. Glehen, A. Bhatt (eds.), *Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3773-8\_9

Therefore PM are often classified as nonmeasurable and are not eligible for therapy response assessment which results that these patients are not included in clinical trials [5].

# 9.3 Role of Histology in Therapy Response Assessment

Despite the progress in molecular techniques like liquid biopsy for cancer screening, prognostic stratification, therapy selection, and disease surveillance [6], conventional morphological investigation by histology remains the gold standard in diagnosing malignancies and assessing therapy response. Under chemotherapy, malignant tumors undergo regressive changes which can be various such as fibrosis, hyalinosis, infarct like necrosis, infiltraion of foamy histiocytes, foreign body reaction, acellular mucin pools, inflammation, changes in vessel structure and most importantly loss of vital tumor cells [7], etc. Tumor regression grading scores (TRG) are routinely used in pathology mainly in the neoadjuvant setting and for primary tumors.

For example, the TRG according to Mandard in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma [8], TRG according to Dworak in rectal cancer [9], or the TRG according to Becker in gastric cancer [10] only to name few examples. These scoring systems are similar but not identical regarding the specific criteria, ranking, and categories.

W. Solass (🖂)

The absence of a standardized TRG is an essential issue because it prevents comparison between different research studies from different primary tumors and therefore delays the assessment of novel therapeutic strategies regarding efficacy and other outcome criteria.

In the metastatic disease, only few TRG are existing like in colorectal liver metastasis the TRG according to Rubbia-Brandt [11]. The major histological response has been recognized as a beneficial prognostic factor after induction therapy [12, 13].

The applicability of the existing TRG in PM remains uncertain and only little is known.

In a retrospective study on patients with colorectal cancer and PM having received induction chemotherapy before CRS and HIPEC, the pathological response had a prognostic significance [14]. This observation has been confirmed by a French study on 142 patients [15]. The cumulative 5-years survival rates were 75% and 57% for patients with complete and major response, respectively, and histological tumor response was the sole independent predictor of survival in multivariate analyses.

# 9.4 Presentation of the Peritoneal Regression Grading Score (PRGS)

Against this framework, a group of European pathologists has proposed a novel regression grading score for therapy response assessment in peritoneal metastasis, the Peritoneal Regression Grading Score (PRGS).

The PRGS defines four categories, based on the presence of residual tumor cells and the extent of regressive features (Fig. 9.1). Major histological features of regression are fibrosis, inflammation, hyalinosis, acellular mucin pools, necrosis, accumulation of macrophages/multinucleated giant cells, and granulomas.

PRGS 1 corresponds to a complete regression with absence of tumor cells; PRGS 2 to a major histological response with regressive features predominant over residual tumor cells; PRGS 3 to a minor histological response with predominance of residual tumor cells over regressive features; and PRGS 4 to a lack of histological response to therapy where the tumor cells are not accompanied by any regressive features.

Peritoneal Regression Grading System (PRGS)						
Grade	Tumor cells	Regression features				
PRGS 1 – complete response	No tumor cells	Abundant fibrosis and/or acellular mucin pools and/or infarct-like necrosis				
PRGS 2 – major response	Few tumor cells (isolated or small clusters)	Fibrosis and/or acellular mucin pools and/or infarct-like necrosis predominant over tumor cells				
PRGS 3 – minor response	Predominant tumor cells	Tumor cells predominant over fibrosis and/or acellular mucin pools and/or infarct-like necrosis				
PRGS 4 – no response	Visible tumor cells (at lowest magnification)	No regressive changes				



# 9.5 Methodological Requirements for PRGS Assessment

The peritoneal sampling during laparotomy or laparoscopy should be standardized and well documented (PCI, video-documented, and protocol).

### 9.5.1 Peritoneal Biopsies

It is recommended to take at least four biopsies from macroscopic tumor suspect lesions and if possible one biopsy out of each abdominal quadrant (right upper quadrant, right lower quadrant, left upper quadrant, left lower quadrant).

The peritoneal biopsies should have a diameter of at least 3 mm, ideally 5 mm. In analogy to stateof-the-art practice in dermatology, the use of a punch biopsy device is recommended to generate standardized samples. The sample morphology is decisive for proper histological analysis. The biopsy should contain both the mesothelial and the submesothelial layers. Peritoneal samples are directional and the relationship surface/depth can influence results, in particular for quantitative pharmacological analyses. Additionally, a local peritonectomy of several square centimeters should be taken: a larger sample is needed in order to increase the accuracy of negative (tumor-free) biopsies for documenting complete tumor regression.

# 9.5.2 Representative Samples Should Be Taken from Surgical Specimen

In the case of cytoreductive surgery, representative samples should be taken from each resected organ. The analysis of all tumor nodules is not feasible in clinical routine and is not required to assess diagnosis, extent, and PRGS. Only appropriate selection is mandatory.

# 9.5.3 Cytology

In the cases a negative peritoneal histology is suspected, a peritoneal cytology is recommended. After induction therapy or palliative chemotherapy, no vital tumor cells might be documented in the peritoneal biopsies and in the local peritonectomy sample. In this case, another three-step section is recommended to confirm complete response. In the presence of tumor scarring or in the absence of macroscopic peritoneal lesions, sampling of peritoneal fluid for cytological analysis is recommended. Cytology can give additional information but is so far not able to replace the conventional biopsy in response assessment [16].

# 9.6 Interpretation of Tumor Regression in PM

### 9.6.1 Macroscopy

Under therapy, the macroscopic aspect of PM nodules changes. Before chemotherapy, nodules appear ill delineated with a soft consistence or might have marmalade-like aspect when mucinous or signet-ring histology is diagnosed. Under therapy, the nodules develop a glassy aspect and a harder consistence and flatten progressively (Fig. 9.2). This renders the documentation of the PCI difficult, but should still be done.



Fig. 9.2 Macroscopic and microscopic changes of peritoneal nodules during time and therapy. (From Ref. [21])
# 9.6.2 Microscopy

According to the 4-tiered PRGS, the pathologist should assess tumor response to therapy. Multiple biopsies might reveal different scores. In this case, the mean PRGS should be calculated.

# 9.6.3 Role of Immunohistochemistry

Most regression systems published so far do not require complementary immunohistochemical analysis. However, immunohistochemistry is an important adjunct in routine practice of clinical pathology. In the setting of PRGS, immunohistochemistry might allow identification of isolated tumor cells in scar tissue that could not be visualized by HE-staining, in particular for differentiating between PRGS 1 and 2. So far no recommendations regarding the choice of staining has been published and remains an individual decision to each pathologist [17].

# 9.7 Reproducibility of PRGS

Most regression scores have not been validated; in particular, the reproducibility of these scores between different pathologists has not been tested extensively. However, recently, a six-tiered chemotherapy response score (CRS) for tubo-ovarian high-grade serous carcinoma after neoadjuvant chemotherapy and interval debulking surgery has been proposed. After condensation to a 3-tiered system, CRS proved high reproducibility with a Kappa coefficient of 0.76 [18, 19].

Therefore, we evaluated reproducibility of PRGS in various tumor histologies in an observational, retrospective, longitudinal, single-blinded study [17].

A total of 331 quadrant biopsies obtained from 33 patients with PM taken at three different time points were evaluated. In this study, reproducibility of the PRGS for assessing histological response of PIPAC of PM was found to be substantial.

The intraobserver agreement was good to excellent/almost perfect. We found no training effect when comparing the agreement at the first 33% of the scored biopsies with the remaining 67%.

The interobserver agreement was moderate to good/substantial. When comparing the agreement between groups, residents had a slightly better agreement than senior consultants. Agreement between pathologists was slightly better regarding the assessment of the mean PRGS per biopsy set compared to the maximum PRGS per biopsy set. This might be explained by the fact that, when using the maximal PRGS, most information (3 out of 4 biopsy results) available on the intraperitoneal tumor is discarded.

Although the mean PRGS decreased from PIPAC 1 to PIPAC 3, there was no change in the accuracy during the course of therapy.

# 9.8 Clinical Interpretation of PRGS

Regardless of the approach used to quantify tumor response, there is an urgent need for an objective, practical, reproducible, and clinically relevant regression grading system for PM with acceptable interobserver and intraobserver variability [20]. To our knowledge, PRGS is the first biopsy-based scoring system focusing on the assessment of histological response in the palliative setting in PM. Due to methodological facts, PRGS has been used for evaluating response to intraperitoneal therapy but might also be indicated in the future for determining response of PM to systemic chemotherapy. The score has moderate to good/substantial interobserver variability and good to excellent/almost perfect intraobserver variability for the assessment of response to treatment of PM. It can be used by younger pathologists without loss of accuracy which is important in everyday routine in pathology. The inclusion of a wide range of different primary malignancies in the reproducibility study is certainly a strength. The mean PRGS has a better interobserver reproducibility than the maximal PRGS. However, the clinical significance of this result remains unclear. Future studies should now address the prognostic and predictive role of PRGS in peritoneal metastasis.

# References

- Gould N, Sill MW, Mannel RS, Thaker PH, DiSilvestro PA, Waggoner SE, et al. A phase I study with an expanded cohort to assess feasibility of intravenous docetaxel, intraperitoneal carboplatin and intraperitoneal paclitaxel in patients with previously untreated ovarian, fallopian tube or primary peritoneal carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecol Oncol. 2012;127:506–10.
- Verwaal VJ, van Ruth S, Witkamp A, Boot H, van Slooten G, Zoetmulder FA. Long-term survival of peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12:65–71.
- Tempfer CB, Winnekendonk G, Solass W, Horvat R, Giger-Pabst U, Zieren J, et al. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy in women with recurrent ovarian cancer: a phase 2 study. Gynecol Oncol. 2015;137:223–8.
- Lambert LA. Looking up: recent advances in understanding and treating peritoneal carcinomatosis. CA Cancer J Clin. 2015;65:284–98.
- Klaver YL, Hendriks T, Lomme RM, Rutten HJ, Bleichrodt RP, de Hingh IH. Intraoperative versus early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy after cytoreduction colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: an experimental study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19:475–82.
- Saini A, Pershad Y, Albadawi H, Kuo M, Alzubaidi S, Naidu S, Knuttinen MG, Oklu R. Liquid biopsy in gastrointestinal cancers. Diagnostics (Basel). 2018;8(4):E75. https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics8040075. Review.
- Langer R, Becker K. Tumor regression grading of gastrointestinal cancers after neoadjuvant therapy. Virchows Arch. 2018;472(2):175–86. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00428-017-2232-x. Epub 16 Sept 2017. Review.
- Mandard AM, Dalibard F, Mandard JC, Marnay J, Henry-Amar M, Petiot JF, et al. Pathologic assessment of tumor regression after preoperative chemoradiotherapy of esophageal carcinoma. Clinicopathologic correlations. Cancer. 1994;73(11):2680–6.
- Dworak O, Keilholz L, Hoffmann A. Pathological features of rectal cancer after preoperative radiochemotherapy. Int J Color Dis. 1997;12(1):19–23.
- Becker K, Mueller JD, Schulmacher C, Ott K, Fink U, Busch R, et al. Histomorphology and grading of regression in gastric carcinoma treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Cancer. 2003;98(7):1521–30.
- Viganò L, Capussotti L, De Rosa G, De Saussure WO, Mentha G, Rubbia-Brandt L. Liver resection for colorectal metastases after chemotherapy: impact of chemotherapy-related liver injuries, pathological tumor response, and micrometastases on long-term survival. Ann Surg. 2013;258(5):731–40; discussion 741–2.

- Rubbia-Brandt L, Giostra E, Brezault C, Roth AD, Andres A, Audard V, et al. Importance of histological tumor response assessment in predicting the outcome in patients with colorectal liver metastases treated with neo-adjuvant chemotherapy followed by liver surgery. Ann Oncol. 2007;18:299–304.
- Blazer DG, Kishi Y, Maru DM, Kopetz S, Chun YS, Overman MJ, et al. Pathologic response to preoperative chemotherapy: a new outcome end point after resection of hepatic colorectal metastases. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:5344–51.
- Yonemura Y, Canbay E, Ishibashi H. Prognostic factors of peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer following cytoreductive surgery and perioperative chemotherapy. ScientificWorldJournal. 2013;2013:978394.
- 15. Passot G, You B, Boschetti G, Fontaine J, Isaac S, Decullier E, et al. Pathological response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy: a new prognosis tool for the curative management of peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:2608–14.
- 16. Graversen M, Fristrup C, Kristensen TK, Larsen TR, Pfeiffer P, Mortensen MB, Detlefsen S. Detection of free intraperitoneal tumour cells in peritoneal lavage fluid from patients with peritoneal metastasis before and after treatment with pressurised intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC). J Clin Pathol. 2019;72:368–72. pii: jclinpath-2018-205683. https:// doi.org/10.1136/jclinpath-2018-205683.
- Solass W, Sempoux C, Carr N, Bibeau F, Neureiter D, Jäger T, Di Caterino T, Brunel C, Klieser E, Fristrup C, Mortensen MB, Detlefsen S. Reproducibility of the Peritoneal Regression Grading Score (PRGS) for assessment of response to therapy in peritoneal metastasis. Histopathology. 2019;74:1014. https:// doi.org/10.1111/his.13829.
- Böhm S, Faruqi A, Said I, et al. Chemotherapy response score: development and validation of a system to quantify histopathologic response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in tubo-ovarian high-grade serous carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:2457–63.
- Said I, Böhm S, Beasley J, et al. The chemotherapy response score (crs): interobserver reproducibility in a simple and prognostically relevant system for reporting the histologic response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in tuboovarian high-grade serous carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2017;36:172–9.
- Thies S, Langer R. Tumor regression grading of gastrointestinal carcinomas after neoadjuvant treatment. Front Oncol. 2013;3:262. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fonc.2013.00262. Review.
- 21. Solass W, Sempoux C, Detlefsen S, et al. Peritoneal sampling and histological assessment of therapeutic response in peritoneal metastasis: proposal of the Peritoneal Regression Grading Score (PRGS). Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(2):99–107. https://doi. org/10.1515/pp-2016-0011. Retrieved 1 Mar 2019.



Rare Peritoneal Tumours: Histopathological Diagnosis and Patterns of Peritoneal Dissemination

Suniti Mishra, Snita Sinukumar, Nutan Jumale, Loma Parikh, Aditi Bhatt, and Olivier Glehen

# 10.1 Introduction

Rare peritoneal tumours comprise of rare tumours arising de novo from the peritoneum or metastasizing to the peritoneum. Many of these tumours are extremely rare with few hundred cases reported in literature, sometimes even lesser. The natural history of many of these tumours is not known. Some tumours are so rare that only few cases are seen by a surgeon or a pathologist in their entire career. The pathological features may overlap with other more common tumours and it may be a diagnosis of exclusion or the tumour

S. Mishra

Department of Pathology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India

S. Sinukumar Department of Surgical Oncology, Jehangir Hospital, Pune, India

N. Jumale Department of Pathology, Jehangir Hospital, Pune, India

L. Parikh Department of Pathology, Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

A. Bhatt Department of Surgical Oncology, Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

O. Glehen (⊠) Department of Surgical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Lyon-Sud, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Lyon, France e-mail: olivier.glehen@chu-lyon.fr

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020 O. Glehen, A. Bhatt (eds.), *Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3773-8\_10

may have peculiar features that a pathologist is unfamiliar with. Some of the rare tumours have already been discussed in other parts of the book.

In this chapter, we look at the diagnostic challenges and peculiarities of the remaining rare tumours.

# 10.2 Classification

Broadly, rare peritoneal tumours could be divided into primary and secondary peritoneal tumours. The rare primary peritoneal tumours include peritoneal mesothelioma, primary peritoneal serous carcinoma, disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis, and desmoplastic small round cell tumours. Though these tumours have a common origin from the peritoneum, the pathobiology and clinical behaviour differs significantly. The secondary tumours could be further classified according to the site of origin or the histology or both. A list of rare peritoneal tumours is provided in Table 10.1.

# **10.3 Pathological Evaluation**

The history and clinical findings should be kept in mind when performing a pathological evaluation. Histopathological findings should not be considered in isolation. Immunohistochemistry is used liberally both to confirm and arrive at the

Primary peritoneal tumours	
Mesothelial tumours	
<ul> <li>Peritoneal malignant mesothelioma</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Well-differentiated papillary mesothelioma</li> </ul>	
Multi-cystic mesothelioma	
Adenomatoid tumour	
Epithelial tumours	
<ul> <li>Primary peritoneal serous carcinoma</li> </ul>	
Primary peritoneal serous borderline tumour	
Smooth muscle tumour	
<ul> <li>Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata</li> </ul>	
Tumours of uncertain origin	
<ul> <li>Desmoplastic small round cell tumour</li> </ul>	
Fibromatous tumour	
Rare secondary tumours	
Rare ovarian tumours	
<ul> <li>Malignant germ cell tumours</li> </ul>	
Granulosa cell tumours	
Sarcomas	
<ul> <li>Endometrial stromal sarcoma</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Uterine leiomyosarcoma</li> </ul>	
• Others	
Gastrointestinal stromal tumours	
Neuroendocrine tumours	
Small bowel adenocarcinoma	
Fibrolamellar hepatocellular cancer	
Papillary serous carcinoma of the endometrium	
Mucinous urachal tumours	

 Table 10.1 Rare primary and secondary peritoneal tumours

diagnosis. Molecular tests can be used for confirmation or to determine the subtype where mutations are known and histopathology is pointing towards a given diagnosis. Laboratories should consider storing the tissue samples for future research. The RENAPE registry, for example, is associated with a biorepository that collects and stores all such samples and there is system for referral to expert pathologists of the RENEPATH group for establishing the diagnosis of some of these rare tumours. The pathological evaluation of specimens should be as described elsewhere in this book.

# 10.4 Mesothelial Tumours

Peritoneal mesothelioma is described as a separate chapter and in this section we discuss an extremely rare variant mucinous mesothelioma or epithelial mesothelioma with intracellular mucin.

# 10.4.1 Mucinous Peritoneal Mesothelioma

Malignant peritoneal mesotheliomas are rare and aggressive tumours of the peritoneum. The commonest variety is the epithelioid variety and the less common ones are the sarcomatoid and biphasic varieties [1]. Occasionally, intracellular mucin is seen in epithelioid mesotheliomas that is rich in hyaluronic acid and mimics signet ring cells. In very rare instances, such cells are numerous giving the appearance of a mucinous peritoneal tumour or signet ring cell carcinoma and there is production of mucinous ascites. These tumours are termed as mucinous mesotheliomas or signet ring cell mesotheliomas. Less than ten cases have been reported in existing scientific literature [2, 3]. In this section, we look at the diagnostic aspects of mucinous mesothelioma which every pathologist dealing with peritoneal metastases should be aware of.

# 10.4.1.1 Clinical Presentation

There is no data on the age and incidence of these tumours. In the pleura, the incidence is 2–5% [4, 5]. The presentation is of peritoneal metastases and ascites with or without obstructive symptoms [6]. All the cases reported so far have advanced disease at the time of presentation [7]. Symptoms are non-specific. There are no radiological features specific for mesothelioma and diagnosis is made on histopathological and immunohistochemistry evaluation [8].

# 10.4.1.2 Gross Features

When ascites is present, it is mucinous (Fig. 10.1). The gross appearance of these deposits has not been described but in our experience of 1 case (unpublished report) the deposits were larger than those seen in epithelioid mesotheliomas and had a bosselated appearance (Fig. 10.2). They resembled the deposits of malignant mesothelioma rather than mucinous carcinomas. The peritoneum in between the tumour nodules was thickened.

# 10.4.1.3 Microscopic Findings

Cells are arranged in sheet-like structures with occasional tubules and papillae (Fig. 10.3).

The cells have the appearance of anaplastic epithelioid cells [7].

They are round or polygonal with eosinophilic cytoplasm, single prominent nucleoli, and frequent mitosis. The characteristic feature is the presence of vacuolated or signet ring cells (Fig. 10.4) [7]. Cell vacuolization, including the presence of signet ring cells, is not an infrequent feature of mesotheliomas. Ordóñez



Fig. 10.1 Mucinous ascites in a patient with peritoneal mesothelioma

described the mechanism of formation of these cells [9]. There is a single enlarging lumen within the cytoplasm or multiple intracytoplasmic lumina that coalesce to form a larger one that progressively displaces the nucleus towards the periphery of the cell, resulting in the characteristic signet ring-like features seen on light microscopy. Sometimes these cells appear binucleated [9]. Such cells are seen in isolation in most of the common subtypes of epithelioid mesotheliomas and also the uncommon ones like small cell and deciduoid varieties [10, 11]. These findings are better appreciated on electron microscopy. Mesothelin and podoplanin are commonly expressed along the membrane limiting these lumina [9]. The cells can be positive for neutral mucin, as demonstrated by Mayer's mucicarmine stain or periodic acid-Schiff with diastase pre-treatment [2]. This positivity has been attributed by some authors to the presence of large amounts of proteoglycans [4]. This proteoglycan (hyaluronic acid) can be lysed with hyaluronidase leading to reduced positivity with these stains [7].



Fig. 10.2 (a, b) Morphological appearance of peritoneal deposits in a patient with mucinous mesothelioma



**Fig. 10.3** (a, b) Histological appearance of peritoneal deposits of mucinous mesothelioma. The cells have intracytoplasmic mucin but the cellular features are of mesothelial cells



Fig. 10.4 (a, b) Mesothelial cells with intracellular mucin seen on high power giving the appearance of signet ring cells

Infiltration of the submesothelial layer is present. Ki-67 is high. Vascular invasion and lymph node involvement have been reported [7].

#### 10.4.1.4 Immunohistochemistry

The diagnosis of peritoneal mesothelioma is established on immunohistochemistry using both positive and negative markers. Malignant peritoneal mesotheliomas are generally positive for calretinin, D2-40, podoplanin, CK 5/6, thrombomodulin, EMA, mesothelin, WT1 gene product, HBME-1, vimentin, and CD146. They are generally negative for Ber-EP4, MOC-31, B72.3, BG-8, Leu-M1, and CEA [9]. However, hyaluronic acid may produce false positive immunoreactivity with various adenocarcinoma markers (CEA, Leu-M1, Ber-EP4, MOC-31, BG-8, and B72.3) [12, 13]. These stainings are abolished or diminished in intensity in most cases by pretreatment with hyaluronidase before immunohistochemistry as mentioned above.

### 10.4.1.5 Electron Microscopy

Electron microscopy is a confirmatory test for establishing the diagnosis of mucinous mesothelioma. Usually, this test is not performed and the diagnosis is made on the histopathological findings and immunohistochemistry. The most common ultrastructural findings of mesotheliomas are the presence of long, slender, often branching and undulating microvilli on the apical surface of the cuboidal cells lining the tubules or papillae, dilated intercellular spaces, and intracellular lumens [4, 5, 14]. The tumour cells have desmosomes and prominent intercellular junctional complexes. Intracytoplasmic tonofilaments are present. The characteristic feature of mucinous mesotheliomas is the presence of extracellular and at times intraluminal crystalloid structures that are unique to these tumours. Hyaluronic acid is seen as a medium electron dense material covering the microvilli [4, 12]. Formalin-fixed tissue is usually used for the diagnosis of mesothelioma on transmission electron microscopic (TEM) and scanning electron microscopic (SEM) examination. Paraffin-embedded blocks are adequate for diagnostic examination of malignant mesothelial cells on SEM especially when additional tissues for TEM are not available. The long microvilli of the mesothelial cells are easily recognizable by SEM examination in paraffin-embedded tissue sections [14].

# 10.4.1.6 Disease Distribution

Due to the paucity of cases in literature, there is no information on the patterns of peritoneal spread. In all the cases reported so far, the presentation is of advanced disease involving all the peritoneal surfaces.

#### 10.4.1.7 Section Summary

Both pathologists and peritoneal surface oncology units should be aware of the existence of mucinous mesotheliomas. The presence of mucin with atypical peritoneal implant should raise a suspicion of this condition. These tumours can be confused with signet ring cell carcinomas and immunohistochemistry should be used to correctly establish the diagnosis where doubt persists. Electron microscopy can be used to better appreciate the morphological features that may not always be appreciable of light microscopy and study the characteristic features of mesotheliomas.

# 10.4.2 Disseminated Peritoneal Leiomyomatosis

#### 10.4.2.1 Introduction

Diffuse peritoneal leiomyomatosis (DPL) is characterized by the proliferation of multiple benign nodules comprising of smooth muscle cells in the peritoneal cavity. Fewer than 150 cases have been reported in history [15].

DPL is usually found in females of reproductive age, but cases have been described in both postmenopausal and foetal periods [16–19]. These extra-uterine smooth muscle proliferations have been associated with the altered hormonal environment of pregnancy, steroid-secreting ovarian tumours, or oral contraceptive use, and potential hormonal responsiveness is suggested by the presence of estrogen and progesterone receptors [20–23].

Despite having the appearance of disseminated malignancy with multiple nodules over all the peritoneal surfaces simulating peritoneal carcinomatosis, most of these tumours pursue an indolent clinical course. The nodules may, in some instances, even regress partially or completely following withdrawal of the hormonal stimulus [24–27]. Alternatively, DPL may progress, recur, or undergo malignant transformation [28–31].

DPL is a rare presentation to a peritoneal surface malignancy unit but one that is challenging both for establishing a diagnosis and conferring the right treatment.

#### 10.4.2.2 Aetiology and Pathogenesis

The pelvic peritoneum especially in female has the ability to differentiate at any time into different epithelia and stroma giving rise to various pathological conditions both in childhood and adult life. This phenomenon rarely occurs in males as well and is referred to as Mullerianosis [32–34]. The presence of smooth muscle cells expressing estrogen and progesterone receptors in the subperitoneal regions has been demonstrated in biopsies performed for benign conditions like endometriosis and chronic pelvic pain [34, 35]. DPL is the nodular proliferation of smooth muscle cells in the subperitoneal mesenchyme. The expression of ER and PR distinguishes it from other retroperitoneal smooth muscle tumours that do not arise from this secondary Mullerian system and therefore do not express these receptors. There are several theories about the pathogenesis of DPL.

Parmley et al. proposed that DPL is a benign reparative process in which benign smooth muscle cells replace decidual cells, also called the "fibrosing deciduosis" theory. This theory is not accepted anymore [36, 37].

The second theory and more widely accepted theory is that DPL results from Mullerianosis, due to the transformation of pluripotent stem cells in the subperitoneal mesenchyme [24, 38]. This development can be triggered by various stimuli, the most common being the hormonal stimulus. DPL can be brought on and aggravated by high oestrogen states like pregnancy, longterm use of oral contraceptives or hormone replacement therapy, tamoxifen and oestrogen producing ovarian tumours [39–42]. It is also hypothesized that these tumours have an increased association with endometriosis which makes the mesenchymal cells more sensitive to hormonal stimuli [43].

DPL can also occur secondary to morcellation of uterine fibroids. Such procedures can lead to implantation and proliferation of benign smooth muscle cells from a uterine leiomyoma and are more common with laparoscopic morcellation [44, 45]. The pneumoperitoneum facilitates the distribution throughout the peritoneal cavity. Iatrogenic dissemination has been reported in literature [46, 47]. It is also possible that cells are shed from a leiomyoma as in the case of borderline ovarian tumours.

#### 10.4.2.3 Pathological Diagnosis

The pathologist should have this diagnosis in mind as a rare peritoneal tumour. If the clinician does not have this condition in mind, the clinical findings could be confused with lymphomas or ovarian cancer. Radiologically, these conditions can be distinguished by an experienced radiologist. A biopsy of the nodules is essential to establish the diagnosis even if the clinical and radiological picture is suggestive of this condition.

### 10.4.2.4 Gross Features

The tumours are multiple, small and round varying in size from 1 to 5 cm though there is no cut off of size. Larger tumours should raise the suspicion of malignant transformation.

The tumours are homogenous in consistency and have an expanding growth pattern [48]. There is no extension along blood vessels or tissue septa. The presence of such tumours subperitoneally points towards a metaplastic origin rather than intraperitoneal dissemination [48]. Even when tumour deposits are on the bowel mesentery, they are subperitoneal, thus ruling out a hematogeneous or lymphatic spread. Other gross findings are similar to those seen in other leiomyomas.

# 10.4.2.5 Microscopic Features

These tumours comprise of fusiform spindle cells arranged in compact fascicles oriented perpendicular to each other. The spindle cells are bland and have few or no mitosis [49]. The mitotic index is less than 3/10 HPF. High-grade features are absent. The nuclei are ovoid or elongated with rounded ends, and hyperchromasia and atypia are not seen. The nodules may contain fibroblasts, myofibroblasts, decidual cells, and, sporadically, endometrial stromal cells in addition to smooth muscle cells. Evaluation of the ER and PR status should be performed in all patients.

#### 10.4.2.6 Genetic Alterations

The molecular, genetic, and cytogenetic features of DPL suggest that each tumour deposit is monoclonal. Quade et al. analysed multiple nodules of DPL from four patients and found the same pattern of X chromosome inactivation in all patients, which was contrary to the expectation that the inactivation would be random and polyclonal [50]. It is uncertain at present whether DPL tumourlets are metastatic deposits of unicentric disease or multicentric deposits having inactivation of the same X chromosome [50]. Similar findings were reported by Miyake et al. [51]. DPL can arise from a single uterine leiomyoma.

# 10.4.2.7 Progression to Malignant Disease

In patients whom DPL occurs without exogenous or endogenous oestrogen exposure, in those which it is not secondary to uterine leiomyomas, and those not expressing ER and PR, the risk of developing malignancy is high. Malignant degeneration can occur within months of the diagnosis [29–31]. In some cases, a low-grade leiomyosarcoma may be misdiagnosed as DPL or is already present in one of the nodules that was not biopsied. In one study, progression to sarcoma occured in 10% of the 49 cases [52].

Women who do not respond to antiestrogen therapy should undergo radical surgery to remove all the tumour nodules. An alternative would be to perform periodic laparoscopic evaluations with biopsy of suspicious nodules [52]. Such an approach has not been validated.

#### 10.4.2.8 Section Summary

DPL is a rare peritoneal tumour that should be kept in mind in patients having peritoneal deposits comprising of smooth muscle cells. Histopathological evaluation and immunohistochemistry can yield the diagnosis in most cases. Malignant change should be considered and ruled out in the submitted specimens.

# 10.4.3 Desmoplastic Small Round Cell Tumours

### 10.4.3.1 Introduction

Desmoplastic small round cell tumour (DSRCT) is rare malignant tumour that mainly affects young boys and arises from the peritoneum lining the pelvis or other parts of the abdominal cavity. Uncommon sites of origin include the paratesticular region (arising from the membranes covering the testes), the pleura, posterior cranial fossa, bones and soft tissues, ovaries and parotid gland [53–57]. This entity was first described in 1989 by Gerald and Rosai and Ordóñez and Zirkin and less than 500 cases have been reported so far [58, 59].

These tumours comprise of small uniform round cells lying in variable amounts of fibroblastic stroma and are characterized by a nested growth pattern and marked desmoplastic reaction [58]. The tumours express epithelial, smooth muscle, and neural markers in differing combinations, making this tumour heterogeneous both morphologically and immune-phenotypically. Thus, they need to be distinguished from a large number of other tumours that can have a similar presentation and overlapping pathological features.

DSRCT has a highly aggressive clinical course with multiple local recurrences but few distant metastases.

Both clinical suspicion and pathological expertise are needed to establish the diagnosis correctly, not only because of the difference in prognosis between DSRCT and other round cell neoplasms but also developing therapies directed towards the molecular targets of the *EWSR1-WT1* fusion gene which is characteristic of this tumour. This is crucial as conventional chemotherapeutic

agents have only shown very limited efficacy in treating both local and metastatic disease [60].

# 10.4.3.2 Origin of DSRCT

The cell or origin and pathogenesis of DSRCT are unknown. It is considered to be a distinct entity due to the presence of a specific chromosomal abnormality.

A specific translocation, t(11; 22) (p13; q12), is seen in almost all cases, juxtaposing the Ewing sarcoma (EWS) gene to the Wilms tumour (WT)-WT1 tumour suppressor gene [61–63].

DSRCT, WT, and EWS share a chimeric relationship with one another. DSRCT is caused by the translocation of the *EWSR1* gene from chromosome 22 to chromosome 11, resulting in a fusion product *EWSR1/WT1* [64]. *EWSR1-WT1* codes for a chimeric protein that acts as a novel transcription factor, which modulates transcription at *WT1* target sites and deregulates several target genes [65, 66].

There is heterogeneity of the *EWSR1-WT1* fusion transcripts generated, including differences in the combinations of *EWSR1* exons that fuse with *WT1* (including use of *EWSR1* exons 7, 8, and 9, as well as variant transcripts due to aberrant splicing resulting in loss of *EWSR1* exon 6 or *WT1* exon 9) [67, 68]. Fish and RT-PCR can be used to detect these mutations.

While *EWSR1-WT1* fusion was thought to be specific for DSRCT, it has also been described in a clinically indolent low-grade small round cell tumour of the cauda equina, which was composed of nests and cords of small round cells with some rosette-like structures, infrequent mitotic figures and a low Ki-67 proliferation index, and immunophenotypic features of smooth muscle differentiation, as well as focal CD99 and Neu-N expression [69]. It is therefore important to note that as the *EWSR1-WT1* fusion is no longer specific to DSRCT, the documentation of these fusion transcripts by RT-PCR needs to be correlated with the clinical and histopathologic findings for each case.

#### 10.4.3.3 Pathological Findings

There are several challenges for a pathologist. The diagnosis is often to be made on small biopsy samples which may neither be adequate nor representative of the entire tumour. In addition, there is heterogeneity between different areas of the same tumour and between different tumours in cellularity, architecture, stromal components, and immunoreactivity. Thus, a core biopsy may not bear the characteristic features of the tumour.

### 10.4.3.4 Gross Features

In surgically resected specimens, DSRCT comprises of multiple firm white peritoneal nodules having varying amounts of necrosis of haemorrhage [70]. Nodules are often confluent producing larger masses. The cut surface is fleshy and may have cystic degeneration.

#### 10.4.3.5 Microscopy

Histologically, DSRCTs are composed of uniform small round cells with round or ovoid hyperchromatic or vesicular nuclei, inconspicuous nucleoli, minimal amounts of cytoplasm, and indistinct cell borders [70]. These cells are laid out in hypercellular nest and islands of varying size. Mitosis are numerous. Necrosis is seen often in the tumour islands and cells.

The islands and nests are separated by varying quantities of desmoplastic stroma that in some cases is inconspicuous [70]. The stroma is very vascular and contains spindle-shaped fibroblasts and smooth muscle actin (SMA)-positive myofibroblasts in collagenous or looser extracellular matrix [71].

There are several other cellular and architectural variations that are seen in these tumours. The cells themselves may have cytological atypia or giant and bizarre nuclei [72]. Alternatively, majority of the cells may have a spindle cell appearance or large cell variety that comprises of large epithelioid cells with anaplastic areas like metastatic carcinomas [73, 74]. Some neoplasms contain greater amounts of cytoplasm, which can show clearing or vacuolation. The architectural variations include rosette formation or tubule formation with intracytoplasmic eosinophilic inclusions composed of intermediate filament bundles giving the appearance of rhabdoid tumours. The tumour can also have the appearance of lobular breast carcinoma comprising of glands or pseudoglands or single rows of cells [75].

#### 10.4.3.6 Immunohistochemistry

These tumours express epithelial, smooth muscles and neural antigens in varying combinations which means that not all antigens are expressed by each tumour. Moreover, it should be borne in mind that even the commonly expressed antigens like desmin and cytokeratin may be negative in a given biopsy specimen due to tumour heterogeneity [75]. The list of commonly expressed antigens is provided in Table 10.2. The smooth muscle antigens include desmin which is expressed by a large majority of the tumours. The epithelial antigens commonly expressed are cytokeratins AE1/AE3 and CAM5.2 and less commonly CK5/6 and CK 20 and epithelial membrane antigen (EMA) [76]. The commonly expressed neural markers are neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and CD57 and those expressed less commonly are chromogranin, synaptophysin, CD56, neurofilament protein, and S100 protein [73, 75]. The desmin expression is paranuclear and termed as paranuclear dot distribution which may also be seen with keratin. Expression of desmin and cytokeratins can be diffuse. The most sensitive myogenic marker is desmin and epithelial marker is CAM5.2 [76, 77].

Other markers expressed by these tumours include muscle-specific actin or  $\alpha$ -SMA.2, the carboxy terminus of Wilms tumour (WT1) protein in nearly 90%, CD99 in a third to half of the cases [76–78]. INI1 is seen in the nuclei though it may be lost in tumours lacking a rhabdoid morphology [79, 80]. Some of the less commonly expressed markers are CD15, MOC-31, and Ber-EP4 and the uncommonly expressed ones are CD117, calretinin, and NB84 [77]. DSRCT may very occasionally express NKX2-2, a homeodomain transcription factor which is involved in neuroendocrine/glial differentiation and is a downstream target of the EWSR1-FLI1 fusion oncogene, and which is a sensitive (but not wholly specific) immunohistochemical marker of Ewing sarcoma [81, 82]. Early myogenic regulatory nuclear transcription factors myogenin and 
 Table 10.2
 Common immunohistochemical markers

 expressed in desmoplastic small round cell tumours

	Nuclear (N)/cytoplasmic (C)/
Antibody	membranous (M)
Epithelial	
Pancytokeratin	С
CAM5.2	С
Cytokeratin AE1/ AE3	С
Epithelial membrane	C, M; sometimes dot
antigen	distribution
WT1 (carboxy	N
terminus)	
INI1	Ν
Neuronal	
Neuron-specific	С
enolase	
Chromogranin	С
Synaptophysin	С
CD56	С, М
S100 protein	N, C
Smooth muscle	
Desmin	C, typically paranuclear dot distribution
Muscle-specific actin	С
CD 99	С, М

MyoD1 are consistently not expressed. DSRCT is typically negative for CK5/6, CK20, glial fibrillary acidic protein, peripherin, CA19-9, thrombomodulin,  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein, carcinoembryonic antigen, TAG-72 (B72.3), placental alkaline phosphatase, S100 protein, HMB45, and myoglobin [76].

#### 10.4.3.7 Differential Diagnosis

Common differential diagnosis of DSRCT includes Ewing's sarcoma, rhabdomyosarcoma, carcinoma, and small cell mesothelioma.

#### Ewing's Sarcoma

Ewing's sarcoma can arise from the retroperitoneum and thus be mistaken for DSRCT. The cytological features of the two tumours are similar. The stroma of DSRCT may be less conspicuous and Ewing's sarcoma may have surrounding desmoplastic, fibrotic, or sclerosing hyalinized stroma [83]. The adamantinoma-like variant displays nests of cells with peripheral palisading and a desmoplastic response. CD99 expression can be there in DSRCT but it is different from the diffuse membranous positivity that is seen in Ewing's. Ewing's sarcoma lacks WT1 expression [83]. Most of these tumours contain characteristic translocations involving EWSR1 and the ETS family of transcription factors, particularly those generating EWSR1-FLI1 and EWSR1-ERG fusions. They can express cytokeratins and rarely even desmin [83].

# **Undifferentiated Round Cell Tumours**

There is a recently discovered group of primitive round cell tumours that commonly have the CIC-DUX4 gene fusion. This genetic abnormality is most commonly associated with these tumours that lack EWSR1 rearrangements and occur in young males. The commonest site for such tumours is not the peritoneum but the limbs [84-86]. These tumours are usually strongly positive for WT1 and may occasionally be focally positive for desmin, cytokeratin, EMA, and S100 protein, but these may be associated with a slightly greater degree of morphologic heterogeneity and pleomorphism, greater prominence of nucleoli, spindle cell elements, and myxoid changes and generally have minimal or absent intervening collagen [82-84, 87]. Other gene rearrangements like FOXO1, DDIT3, or SS18 that are commonly seen in small round cell tumours are also not seen in these.

Other uncommon undifferentiated tumours that are Ewing's like and can be confused with DSRCT are those harbouring *CIC-FOXO4* fusions and *BCOR-CCNB3* gene fusions [88, 89]. The former has a morphology similar to DSRCT, whereas the latter express bcl-2, CD117, CD99, the more specific marker being CCNB3 [90, 91].

#### Synovial Sarcoma

Poorly differentiated synovial sarcomas (SS) can be morphologically confused with DSRCT. These tumours can present with bulky disease in the peritoneum or retroperitoneum. These tumours are composed of monotonous sheets or fascicles of relatively uniform ovoid to rounded cells with focal expression of cytokeratin and EMA [92– 94]. Diffuse, moderate to strong nuclear expression of TLE1 is commonly expressed by these tumours, but is not associated with DSRCT [95, 96]. The distinguishing feature is the t(X; 18) (p11.2; q11.2) translocation, in which the *SS18* gene on chromosome 18 fuses with one of the *SSX* genes located on the X chromosome (usually *SSX1* or *SSX2*).

#### Rhabdomyosarcomas

These can be confused morphologically and immumophenotypically with DSRCTs. The alveolar variety that has round cells and the embryonal variety with spindle or ovoid cells are the varieties that are commonly confused. The stroma in the former is separated from cell nests by septa which may be mistaken for the stroma of DSRCT. But these tumours are seldom confined to the abdominal cavity alone. Common origins are the limbs and head and neck. Desmin expression is typically diffuse and strong, and there is nuclear expression of myogenin and MyoD1 which are negative in DSRCT. The characteristic mutation is the *PAX3/7-FOXO1* gene fusion [97].

## **Clear Cell Sarcoma**

Clear cell sarcoma (CCS) and clear cell sarcomalike tumour of the gastrointestinal tract (CCSLGT) are both associated with *EWSR1* rearrangements and can mimic DSRCT. Most CCS are associated with *EWSR1-ATF1* fusion transcripts and EWSR1-CREB1 in smaller numbers, whereas *CCSLGT* typically harbours *EWSR1-CREB1* or sometimes *EWSR1-ATF1* fusions; neither of these gene fusions are associated with DSRCT.

Both present with disseminated intraabdominal disease and are seen in young adults [98, 99]. These are characteristically centred in the muscularis propria of the stomach or bowel, with secondary extension into the submucosa and subserosa. The characteristic differentiating feature is the abundant cytoplasm as opposed to the scanty cytoplasm in DSRCT. An additional distinctive feature is CD68-positive, multinucleated osteoclast-like giant cells [100–102]. CCSs diffusely express S100 protein and are positive for HMB45, MelanA, and MiTF. CCSLGTs express S100 protein but are negative for HMB45 and MelanA [98].

# **Rare Differentials**

- Neuroblastomas: Though these occur in infancy and are rare in young adults, some DSRCTs express the neuroblastoma marker NB84 and can lead to confusion. The other findings like site of origin, secretion of catecholamines, and expression of NB84, neurofilament protein, chromogranin, synaptophysin, and CD56 are used to distinguish them from DSRCTs [60].
- GIST: Epithelioid GISTs occur in intraabdominal, retroperitoneal or pelvic sites, and are usually composed of sheets of rounded cells that may be sometimes relatively small and uniform, resembling DSRCT [60].
   Epithelioid GIST may show larger cells with clear cytoplasm, or more spindled cells in other areas, without intervening collagenous stroma. While this is patchier in epithelioid GIST, these still typically express CD117 and DOG1 at least focally, along with CD34 and sometimes h-caldesmon, none of which are typically positive in DSRCT [60]. Most GISTs also contain KIT or less frequently PDGFRA mutations that are not described in DSRCT.
- Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumour (MPNST): These tumours have a varied morphology and rarely have small cells but are distinguished by their clinical features. They occur more frequently in patients with neurofibromatosis type-1 and may be seen to originate from a pre-existing benign nerve sheath neoplasm (most often neurofibroma) or from a nerve. Histologically, MPNSTs show at least focal atypia, and tend to display at least focal areas of cells with "nerve sheath" morphology, with elongated, buckled, or tapered hyperchromatic nuclei [97].

# 10.4.3.8 Section Summary

DSRCT is a rare and aggressive tumour and the diagnosis requires a high index of suspicion especially when the presentation is of less common histological features. A combination of morphology, immunohistochemistry, and mutation studies is required to correctly establish the diagnosis. There is little information about patterns of peritoneal dissemination but most patients present with disseminated disease.

# 10.4.4 Germ Cell Tumours of Ovary

### 10.4.4.1 Introduction

Germ cell tumours are heterogeneous group of tumours reflecting ability of stem cells to differentiate into one or more lineages. Majority of these neoplasms originate at different stages of development from germ cells that colonize ovary.

Germ cell tumours constitute approximately 20% of all ovarian neoplasms. Most of them are seen in children and young adults, and approximately 95% are benign cystic teratomas. The dictum is that the younger the patient, the more likely the germ cell tumour will be malignant [103, 104]. Malignant ovarian germ cell tumours are predominantly unilateral, are diagnosed at an early stage, are chemosensitive, and have a high cure rate [105]. For early-stage disease, the cure rate approaches 100% and is approximately 75% for those with advanced tumours [105].

The peritoneum can be involved by these tumours though the exact incidence is not known. There are few reports of cytoreductive surgery being performed for these tumours.

#### 10.4.4.2 Classification

The simplest classification is to divide these tumours into two groups—dysgerminomas that are the most common type and a counterpart of testicular seminomas in male and non-dysgerminomatous tumours. The most common types of non-dysgerminomatous tumours are yolk sac tumours, immature teratomas, and mixed germ cell tumours, with embryonal carcinomas, nongestational choriocarcinomas, and polyembryomas being much less common [106].

# 10.4.4.3 WHO Classification of Ovarian Germ Cell Tumours

In the most recent version of the WHO classification system, ovarian germ cell tumours are divided into three categories: primitive germ cell tumours, biphasic or triphasic teratoma, and monodermal teratoma (Table 10.3) [107]. Dysgerminomas and low-grade immature teratomas have a good prognosis. Endodermal sinus tumours, choriocarcinomas, and high-grade

Primitive germ cell tumours	
Dysgerminoma, yolk sac tumour, embryonal	
carcinoma, polyembryoma, choriocarcinoma, mixed	
germ cell tumours	
Bi- or triphasic teratoma	
Immature teratoma, mature cystic teratoma with malignant transformation	
Monodermal teratoma	
Malignant struma ovarii, malignant carcinoid, other malignant lesions	

immature teratomas are the more aggressive tumours.

Morphologically, the different tumour types present in this group of ovarian tumours represent in a distorted, grotesque form various stages of embryonal development from early transient structures to mature adult tissues that in turn may also be capable of undergoing malignant change.

### 10.4.4.4 Dysgerminoma

Dysgerminoma constitutes less than 1% of all ovarian tumours [108]. Most patients are young, majority occurs in less than 30 years of age. Around 5% tumours occurs in abnormal gonads like in gonadal dysgenesis or testicular feminization syndrome [109]. These tumours are bilateral in 15% cases and more common in right side ovary [110].

#### **Gross Features**

A dysgerminoma is usually large, encapsulated, with a smooth bosselated surface. Cut section is solid, uniform, lobular creamy white with focal haemorrhage (suggestive of trophoblastic component) and necrosis. Cystic change or macroscopic calcification may be seen.

### **Microscopic Features**

Tumour cells are arranged in well-defined nests separated by fibrous strands infiltrated by lymphocytes. This infiltration by lymphocytes is characteristic of the tumour. Few cases may show cords, clumps, and pseudoglandular spaces. Cells are monotonous polygonal in shape with regular round nucleus with elongated nucleoli and abundant pale cytoplasm with distinct cell membrane. Focal necrosis, hyalinized blood vessels, and granulomatous reaction are noted [111, 112].

Immunohistochemically, the tumour cells are consistently reactive for placental alkaline phosphatase (PLAP) with membranous positivity for CD117, variably positive for keratin, and sometimes for GFAP and desmin but not for CD30 [113–115].

SALL4 is positive. SALL4 is a nuclear factor and a member of the family of SALL genes, which are also involved in totipotency and are expressed at an early stage of embryogenesis [116]. SALL4 is strongly expressed by dysgerminomas. However, since it is a pluripotency marker, it can show positivity in embryonal carcinoma, yolk sac tumours, and primitive areas of immature teratoma. Hence it is a good but broad marker for ovarian germ cell tumours [117].

OCT3/4 is particularly useful in demonstrating the primitive germ cell when the tissues are poorly fixed, and there are microcysts or marked fibrosis and inflammation. This marker differentiates these tumours from small cell tumours and struma ovarii. Furthermore, it is particularly useful in the identification of the primary tumour in distant metastases with occult primary [118].

The expression of cytokeratins can be focal or diffuse and does not exclude the diagnosis of dysgerminoma. It is also seen in those with trophoblastic differentiation [119, 120].

Like testicular seminoma, ovarian dysgerminoma may exhibit signs of early differentiation towards other types of germ cell elements. These include:

- Scattered hCG-positive syncytiotrophoblastic cells, often in close proximity to blood vessels or to hemorrhagic foci. This change, seen in approximately 3% of all dysgerminomas, may be accompanied by serum elevation of hCG and tissue immunoreactivity for this marker.
- 2. Abortive yolk sac elements are associated with serum elevation of alpha-fetoprotein and tissue immunoreactivity for this marker.

Diagnostic problems occur with dysgerminoma often related to poor fixation and unusual growth patterns, and in both situations immunohistochemistry enables a correct identification of the proliferating germ cells. These findings should be considered together with classic histologic dysgerminoma features such as lymphocytic infiltrates.

Metastases of dysgerminoma occur more commonly in the contralateral ovary, retroperitoneal nodes, and peritoneal cavity.

# 10.4.4.5 Yolk Sac Tumour (Endodermal Sinus Tumour)

These tumours are heterogeneous, primitive teratoid neoplasms differentiating into multiple endodermal structures. These tumours have epithelial patterns and are typically alpha-fetoprotein immunoreactive. Serum alpha-fetoprotein is invariably raised. In rare cases, a yolk sac tumour is found in the pelvis (in close proximity to the uterus), omentum, or mesentery, unattached to the ovary [121–123].

### **Gross Features**

Average tumour dimension is 15 cm with smooth bosselated surface. Cut section is variegated, partially cystic and often contains large foci of haemorrhage and necrosis. Cysts at periphery show honeycomb-like appearance.

#### **Microscopic Features**

Appearance is extremely variable. There are reticular or microcystic areas formed by a loose meshwork lined by flat or cuboidal cells (Fig. 10.5), rounded or festooning pseudopapillary processes with central vessels (Schiller–Duval bodies), and solid areas. Mesenchyme may be in the form of spindle cells in a well-vascularized myxoid background and may contain heterologous elements such as skeletal muscle. Intracytoplasmic eosinophilic globules are PAS positive.

Histological variants are polyvesicular vitelline tumour (vesicular structures with eccentric constrictions surrounded by a dense spindle cell stroma), solid, parietal, glandular and hepatoid (composed of masses, nests, and broad bands of large polyhedral cells with occasional glandular formations and numerous hyaline bodies) variants [124–126]. Areas of luteinization may be responsible for virilization.

#### Immunoprofile

These tumours are immunoreactive for AFP, SALL4, glypican 3, and pankeratin, but not CK7. CD 30 is focally positive. OCT4 is typically negative.

Glypican 3 is a useful marker in hepatocellular carcinoma and is a complementary antibody for the diagnosis of yolk sac tumours. It is also secreted by the early secondary yolk sac and liver [127]. The staining is cytoplasmic, and less often membranous, and is almost, but not exactly, parallel to that of AFP [128, 129]. There are AFPnegative tumours that are GLP3 positive. The combination of the two markers is very specific for yolk sac tumours.

SALL4 has a consistently strong expression in the nuclei of yolk sac tumours regardless of their germ cell or somatic origin.

Different areas of endodermal differentiation from yolk sac tumours express their characteristic markers: hepatic areas are positive for hepatocyte paraffin antigen 1 (HepPar-1) and intestinal areas for CDX2 and villin. Glands differentiating into foregut express thyroid transcription factor 1 [124, 125, 130, 131].

# 10.4.4.6 Embryonal Carcinoma and Polyembryoma

Embryonal carcinoma are tumours composed of epithelial cells resembling the embryonic disc and growing into different patterns like glandular, tubular, papillary, and solid. These tumours arise in the dysgenetic Y chromosome containing gonads and sometime 46 XX gonads.

Polyembryoma is rare tumour composed of embryoid bodies resembling early embryos.

### **Gross Features**

The average size of the ovarian tumour is 17 cm. The external surface is smooth and glistening, and the cut surface is predominantly solid and variegated, with extensive areas of necrosis and haemorrhage.

#### **Microscopic Features**

Tumours are composed of solid sheets and nests of large primitive cells, occasionally forming papillae and abortive glandular structures (Fig. 10.5).



Fig. 10.5 Histological features of an embryonal carcinoma

Syncytiotrophoblastic cells are scattered within tumour cells and are positive for beta HCG [132].

#### Immunoprofile

Embryonal carcinoma shows immunoreactivity for pan-keratin, CD30, OCT4, and SALL4 [133, 134].

All the tumours are cytokeratin positive. CD30 membrane expression remains one of the most reliable and accessible markers for embryonal carcinomas [135]. Anti-CD30 is an antibody against a surface glycoprotein corresponding to a cytokine receptor, and CD30 is a member of the superfamily of tumour necrosis factors. CD30 is expressed by many other tumours, including anaplastic lymphomas, and by Reed–Sternberg cells [136]. Some reactive inflammatory conditions may also show CD30-positive immunoblasts [137].

SOX2 is another nuclear transcription factor also involved in totipotency. It is also responsible for neuronal differentiation and useful, together with CD30, in the differentiation of solid areas of embryonal carcinoma with dysgerminoma. SOX2 and OCT3/4 co-expression in the papillary areas of embryonal carcinoma contrasts with these markers' negativity in Schiller–Duval sinuses of yolk sac tumours [138].

Glypican 3 shows patchy positivity in embryonal carcinoma, especially in areas of early endodermal differentiation, such as the organoid areas (primitive yolk sac endodermal cavities) of embryoid bodies in the rare polyembryoma [129].

# 10.4.4.7 Choriocarcinoma

Most choriocarcinomas involving the ovary represent metastases from uterine tumours. The exceedingly rare primary ovarian choriocarcinomas can develop from an ovarian pregnancy (gestational type, which is the most common) or as a form of germ cell neoplasm (nongestational) [139]. Most commonly it is associated with mixed germ cell tumours; however, if it is associated with the pure form, then a DNA test may be necessary to determine the paternal or maternal germ cell origin in case of a nongestational choriocarcinoma.

## **Gross Features**

These tumours are large, haemorrhagic with large luteinized nodules or cysts.

### **Microscopic Features**

Choriocarcinoma shows admixture of fenestrated, plexiform pattern or pseudopapillae of syncytiotrophoblastic elements rimmed by cytotrophoblasts in a necrotic and haemorrhagic background. Vascular invasion is common.

## Immunoprofile

Tumour cells are positive for beta HCG. Trophoblast stains strongly for cytokeratin, human chorionic gonadotropin,  $\alpha$ -inhibin, CD10, and GLP3 [129, 140]. Human placental lactogen can identify the intermediate (extravillous) trophoblastic component [141].

It is important distinguish the gestational from the nongestational type since later is associated with poor prognosis and needs aggressive management.

## 10.4.4.8 Immature Teratoma

Immature teratomas are teratomas composed of immature embryonal type of tissue. The embryonal elements are derived from all three germ layers. The tumour is largely composed of neuroepithelial elements, but mesodermal elements can also be seen.

# **Gross Features**

These tumours are solid, solid with a microcystic component, or entirely cystic. The cut surface is solid with few cystic spaces filled with mucinous or serous fluid or haemorrhagic fluid or hair. Solid areas are usually composed of neural tissue which is soft, fleshy, grey to pink with focal haemorrhage. Areas of bone and cartilage may be visible. Bilateral involvement is rare [142].

#### **Microscopic Features**

The immature embryonic type tissue varies from small foci to being the predominant component and is composed of neuroectodermal elements (Fig. 10.12). It consists of neuroepithelial rosettes, tubules and foci of mitotically active glia and occasionally glioblastoma multiforme or neuroblastoma. Immature elements of ectodermal or endodermal origin show immature cartilage and skeletal muscle [142].

Immature teratomas are graded from 1 to 3 based on amount of immature neural tissue as follows [143, 144].

- Grade 1: Rare foci of neural tissue less than one low power field in any slide.
- Grade 2: Foci of immature neural tissue from more than one to less than 4 low power field.
- Grade 3: Foci of more than 4 low power field.

#### Immunophenotype

Markers such as SOX2 and SALL4 are strongly expressed by immature neuroepithelium but are only weakly expressed or absent in welldifferentiated neural areas [144].

# 10.4.4.9 Mature Teratoma

### **Gross Features**

Mature teratomas are almost always dermoid cysts. Dermoid cysts are globular to ovoid, white or grey, and usually measure less than 15 cm in maximum diameter. Fifteen percent of the tumours are bilateral. The cut section shows yellow to brown sebaceous material and hair filled cysts. There are single or multiple polypoidal masses known as Rokitansky's protuberances, composed of fat. Teeth are seen in one-third cases [145].

#### **Microscopic Features**

Dermoid cysts are composed of adult-type tissue. Ectodermal derivatives predominantly comprise of epidermis, pilosebaceous structures, sweat glands, and neural tissue which is often glial. Mesodermal derivatives include smooth muscle, bone, cartilage, and fat. Endodermal component includes respiratory and gastrointestinal structures and thyroid tissue. One percent cases may show malignant change. Figure 10.6 shows two different malignancies arising from a germ cell tumour. The diagnosis of a mature teratoma was made on the gross appearance comprising pilosebaceous structures of and cartilage.

Gliomatosis peritonei (GP) is a rare condition whereby immature and, less often, mature teratomas become associated with a myriad of peritoneal nodular or miliary implants composed of mature glia. Despite its clinical stage III, its behaviour is benign, since mature glial cells are not aggressive and remain stable for long periods of time [146]. However, on rare occasions, GP can induce a florid vascular proliferation that may result in peritoneal haemorrhage and shock and can even develop a secondary malignant glial tumour [147].

Benign and malignant ovarian mucinous tumours associated with mature cystic teratomas may show massive mucin secretion, goblet cells, carcinoid-like patterns, pseudomyxoma ovarii and peritonei, and signet ring cells characteristic of a gastrointestinal phenotype. These tumours express markers like CDX2, HepPar-1, and villin, and also have the cytokeratin 7-negative/cytokeratin 20-positive profile [148]. All these features would point towards a teratoid origin for this mucinous component, which should be differentiated from a metastasis from gastrointestinal primary tumour. а Demonstration of teratomatous foci may be difficult in rare cases when they are small and escape sampling or become overgrown by the mucinous neoplasm [148]. A comparison of different immunophenotypic markers expression



**Fig. 10.6** Mature teratoma giving rise to an osteosarcoma (a, b) and squamous cell carcinoma (c, d). The diagnosis of mature teratoma was made on the gross

between different germ cell tumours is provided in Table 10.4.

# 10.4.4.10 Monodermal Teratomas

### Struma Ovarii

Struma ovarii is defined as an ovarian goitre which comprises either entirely or predominantly of thyroid tissue (>50%). This also includes cases of mature teratoma with less than 50% thyroid tissue but harbouring thyroid-associated malignancy [149].

appearance of the tumour which showed elements of a mature teratoma. (**a**, **c**) At 10× magnification. (**b**, **d**) At 40× magnification

### **Gross Features**

The thyroid tissue is brown solid and gelatinous. It is also found in wall of mucinous cystadenomas or Brenner's tumour [149].

#### **Microscopic Features**

Struma may include normal thyroid tissue or adenoma of macrofollicular or microfollicular type. Areas of thyroiditis and colloid-filled follicles are seen. Malignant thyroid tumours are rare and most are papillary type. Criteria for defining capsular invasion in a follicular neoplasm are unclear [149].

	Classic					Pluripotenc	y		Somatic d	ifferentiatio	u	
Tumour	PLAP	CD30	AFP	GLP3	D2-40	OCT3/4	SOX2	SALL4	Villin	CDX2	HepPar-1	TTF-1
Dysgerminoma	+	I	1	1	+	+	I	+	I	I	I	1
Yolk sac tumour	-/+	1	+	+	-/+	1	1	+	+INT	+INT	+HEP	+FRG
mmature teratoma	1	I	I	I	I	I	I	+	I	I	I	I
	I		+END	+NEP	+STR		+NEP		+INT	+END		
Embryonal carcinoma	+	+	1	+Focal	+/- Apical	+	+	+	NA	1	1	1
Choriocarcinoma	1	1	1	1	I	1	I	1	I	I	I	I
	+SYNC			+SYNC								

Table 10.4 Comparative immunohistochemical expression in malignant ovarian germ cell tumours (from Ref. [148] with permission)

# Carcinoids

Ovarian carcinoid tumours are monodermal teratomas occurring in a pure form (15%) or combined with other teratomatous components (85%), such as a dermoid cyst or a struma ovarii [150]. They are the second most common form of monodermal teratoma. They can also be a component of mucinous and Brenner tumours. Carcinoid tumours of the ovary can be metastatic from gastrointestinal tumours. Primary ovarian carcinoids are mostly confined to a unilateral ovary and behave in an indolent fashion, whereas metastatic tumours tend to be aggressive and are associated with poor outcome. Ovarian carcinoids can be confused with other primary ovarian tumours, particularly Brenner tumours, granulosa cell tumours, and Sertoli or Sertoli-Leydig cell tumours [151–156]. Metastatic carcinoids more often show bilateral distribution, multinodular growth, extra-ovarian tumour nodules, lymphovascular invasion, and absence of teratomatous elements.

The majority of primary ovarian carcinoids occur in association with either cystic teratoma or ovarian epithelial tumours, in which enterochromaffin cells give rise to the carcinoids [157] However, a small portion of ovarian carcinoids are present in pure form. The origin of these tumours is still unclear, but enterochromaffin cells have been observed within normal ovarian tissue [158]. Studies have shown that insular carcinoids represent tumours of midgut derivation, while trabecular carcinoids are tumours of foregut and hindgut derivation, which may help to explain that only the insular subtype is associated with the carcinoid syndrome [153, 158, 159].

#### **Gross Features**

Pure carcinoids are divided into insular, trabecular, stromal, and mucinous subtypes. The insular subtype is the most common one followed by the strumal subtype [160]. Carcinoids are typically firm tan to yellow. Cysts filled with clear fluid may be present.

#### **Microscopic Features**

Seventy-five percent of the carcinoids are mixed with teratomatous elements. Insular carcinoids comprise of discrete cellular masses and nests. Trabecular carcinoids comprise long wavy ribbons of cells. The ribbons are composed of columnar cells with moderate amount of eosinophilic cytoplasm [160].

Carcinoid tumours are immunoreactive to neuroendocrine markers, such as chromogranin, synaptophysin, and CD56. Chromogranin and synaptophysin are specific discriminatory neuroendocrine markers for a carcinoid tumour [160].

Mucinous or goblet cell carcinoids resemble analogous appendiceal tumours.

Other variants include neuroectodermal tumours, pituitary adenomas, sebaceous and other rare varieties.

# 10.4.4.11 Mixed Malignant Germ Cell Tumours

Around 8% germ ell tumours are mixed type. Combination of dysgerminoma with yolk sac tumour is most common. Choriocarcinomas are noted in 20% of cases [110].

## **Clinical Presentation**

The diagnosis of a germ cell tumour may be an incidental finding or it may present with an ovarian mass with its associated symptoms. Rarely, peritoneal disease is present at diagnosis. There is no published literature on which types of germ cell tumours produce peritoneal metastases.

# 10.4.4.12 Section Summary

Germ cell tumours of the ovary are uncommon. Some tumours have a propensity for peritoneal dissemination; however, there is very limited published literature on the same. In young female patients, with an ovarian tumour, this diagnosis should be kept in mind. The pathological features can overlap between the different histological types and immunohistochemistry markers including the newer pluripotency markers can be used to establish the diagnosis.

# 10.4.5 Granulosa Cell Tumours

### 10.4.5.1 Introduction

Granulosa cell tumours of the ovary (GCTs) come under the category of sex cord-stromal tumours of the ovary. Ovarian sex cord-stromal

tumours are rare, comprising only 1.2% of all primary ovarian cancers [161]. Ovarian sex cordstromal tumours are derived from ovarian matrix which consists of cells from embryonic sex cords and mesenchyme [161].

Granulosa cell tumours are the most common type of malignant ovarian sex cord-stromal tumour with the potential to metastasize and recur. They comprise 2–5% of all ovarian malignancies and 70% of malignant sex cord-stromal tumours [162].

There are two subtypes of GCTs, adult and juvenile. The adult subtype, which occurs most commonly in middle-aged and older women (median age, 50–54 years), comprises 95% of these neoplasms [163].

The juvenile type comprises 5% of all granulosa cell tumours. They typically develop before puberty, and are more common among children and young women [164, 165].

There are some specific molecular aberrations that are associated with each subtype. FOXL2 C124W mutation is commonly seen in the adult type, and G protein (gsp) mutations are commonly seen in the juvenile type [166]. The risk factors for granulosa cell tumours appear to be similar to epithelial ovarian carcinomas and these tumours are more common in women who are nonwhite, obese (body mass index >30), and nulliparous [166].

These tumours have a long natural history and tend to relapse even after more than 10 years of the initial diagnosis. Reported 5-year OS for patients with stage I disease ranges from 75 to 95%, with many studies demonstrating survival rates in excess of 90%; it drops to 55–75% for patients with stage II disease and 22–50% for patients with stage III/IV disease [167, 168].

Peritoneal cancer spread is more common in patients with recurrent adult GCT. Fotopoulou et al. analysed 45 patients with adult GCT, of which 18 had primary and 27 recurrent GCT [169]. Peritoneal involvement was more common in recurrent tumours as compared to primary tumours (52% vs 15.8%; p = 0.027), and involvement of the middle (48.1% vs 15.8%; p = 0.05) and upper abdomen (33.3% vs 0%; p = 0.006) was also higher in recurrent tumours [169].

#### 10.4.5.2 Clinical Features

Granulosa cell tumours have a propensity to remain localized and demonstrate an indolent growth. Therefore, many women present with asymptomatic, abdomino-pelvic masses which have reached large sizes before they are diagnosed. Peritoneal metastases are often present at the time of diagnosis.

Many patients present with abnormal uterine bleeding. This is attributed to hyperestrogenism on account of excessive production of oestrogen and/or progesterone by GCTs [170]. Increased production of oestrogen may also cause breast tenderness, postmenopausal bleeding, menstrual abnormalities, and, in children, sexual precocity, which may be the presenting complaints [170].

There is a well-documented association between granulosa cell tumours and endometrial neoplasms (complex endometrial hyperplasia and adenocarcinoma) [171]. For this reason, preoperative endometrial biopsy is suggested in all women with abnormal uterine bleeding, and an adnexal mass and/or postmenopausal bleeding with a thickened endometrium ( $\geq 5$  mm) on ultrasound evaluation [171]. Non-specific symptoms or signs associated with these neoplasms include ascites, increasing abdominal girth, abdominal pain due to torsion, intra-tumoural haemorrhage, or tumour rupture and rarely hemoperitoneum.

Besides granulosa cell tumour, the differential diagnosis of a woman who presents with bilateral adnexal masses and abnormal vaginal bleeding should also include ovarian metastasis from a primary endometrial carcinoma, an endometrial metastasis from a primary ovarian malignant neoplasm, and separate primary ovarian and endometrial carcinomas.

The hormonal activity of granulosa cell tumours permits the use of a variety of serum tumour markers in the diagnostic evaluation. These markers include:

 Inhibin—Clinically, the most useful serum marker for granulosa cell tumours is inhibin, a peptide that is produced by the ovaries in response to follicle stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone. Inhibin usually becomes undetectable after menopause, unless produced by certain ovarian tumours, mostly mucinous epithelial ovarian carcinomas and granulosa cell tumours [172–174].

Inhibin exists as two different isoforms, inhibin A and inhibin B.

An elevated inhibin level in a premenopausal woman presenting with amenorrhea and infertility or in a postmenopausal woman is suggestive of the presence of a granulosa cell tumour, but is not specific. Epithelial ovarian tumours especially the mucinous variety may also secrete inhibin. Thus, inhibin is not specific for GCT. Inhibin levels fall to normal range around 1 week after tumour removal which implies that inhibin is secreted either by the tumour tissue or surrounding normal ovarian tissue [171].

Conversely, both inhibin A and B may be negative in patients with active granulosa cell tumours. Loss of inhibin expression may be associated with poor prognosis as these tumours are usually poorly differentiated tumours [175].

- Anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH, also known as Müllerian inhibiting substance [MIS])— AMH is produced by granulosa cells in the developing follicles and has emerged as a potential tumour marker for granulosa cell tumours. As with inhibin, AMH is typically undetectable in postmenopausal women. An elevated AMH level appears to be highly specific for ovarian granulosa cell tumours [176, 177]. One observational cohort study of 123 women has demonstrated that monitoring both AMH and inhibin was superior to inhibin alone in detecting macroscopic disease [178].
- Estradiol is one of the first markers identified in the serum of patients with granulosa cell tumours though it is not a sensitive marker. Approximately 30% of these neoplasms do not produce estradiol, perhaps related to the lack of theca cells, which produce androstenedione, a necessary precursor for estradiol synthesis [171].
- Androgens—In rare cases, granulosa cell tumours may produce androgens, such as testosterone, which may result in the patient presenting with virilization [171].

Diagnosis of a granulosa cell tumour is made by histology at the time of surgical excision. Preoperatively, a granulosa cell tumour should be suspected when a large adnexal mass presents with features of hyperestrogenism. Ultrasonographic findings (an echogenic, septated cystic or solid mass related to the ovary) are typically non-specific and so are the CT scan and MRI findings. Evaluation essentially consists of serum tumour markers which include CA125, serum inhibin A and B and an imaging such as CT scan/MRI of the abdomen and pelvis. For patients with peritoneal dissemination, the primary may be present or removed previously. The presentation of recurrent disease after a decade or more after initial treatment raises the suspicion of an alternative diagnosis and a biopsy or tumour markers can be performed to confirm the diagnosis.

# 10.4.5.3 Pathology

## **Gross Features**

These tumours are encapsulated with a smooth lobulated surface that is grey tan or yellow in colour. They may grow large in size or may the just few centimetres in size and non-palpable. On cut section there are mixed solid-cystic areas with straw coloured or mucoid fluid. Grossly they may resemble benign cystadenoma. Peritoneal deposits tend to be few in number and are often large in size.

## **Microscopic Features**

On microscopy, the tumour comprises of small, bland, cuboidal, or polygonal cells arranged in various patterns. Well-differentiated GCTs have a microfollicular, macrofollicular, trabecular, insular, solid-tubular, or hollow tubular pattern (Figs. 10.7 and 10.8).

Characteristic of granulosa cell tumours is Carl–Exner bodies which are small follicle-like structures filled with acidophilic material [179]. The poorly differentiated forms (39%) may have a watered silk appearance in which cells are arranged in an undulating parallel pattern or a zigzag (gyriform) pattern or diffuse (sarcomatoid) pattern characterized by a monotonous appearance [165]. GCTs with a diffuse pattern can be mistaken for a poorly differentiated carcinoma on frozen section. The nuclear pattern is diagnostic.

Cells may be luteinized (plump with ample cytoplasm), or may have a theca cell component. Cells may also have coffee bean nuclei with folds



**Fig. 10.7** Typical histological features of a granulosa cell tumour of the ovary. Numerous Carl–Exner bodies are seen

or grooves, or floret giant cells, indicative of degeneration [164]. Rarely focal hepatic cell differentiation (large cells with abundant eosinophilic, slightly granular cytoplasm) may be found.

On microscopic examination, two characteristics distinguish juvenile from adult granulosa cell tumours: the nuclei of juvenile granulosa cell tumours are rounded, hyperchromatic, and ungrooved with moderate to abundant eosinophilic or vacuolated cytoplasm, and the theca cell component is luteinized [171].

Occasional tumours can show mesenchymal differentiation into smooth muscle and osteoid components. The spindle cells component could be another presentation of this tumour (pseudo-sarcomatous pattern) (Figs. 10.9 and 10.10) or it might represent a fibrothecomatous component, taking into consideration that most granulosa cell tumours have at least some theca cells focally [180, 181].

#### Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry helps in consolidating the diagnosis especially in the absence of classical features or above-mentioned histological variants.



Fig. 10.8 Peritoneal deposits in a recurrent granulosa cell tumour. (a) At  $10 \times$  magnification. (b) At  $40 \times$  magnification



Fig. 10.9 (a, b) Atypical presentation of a granulosa cell tumour with sarcomatous change. The immunohistochemistry profile favoured a granulosa cell tumour with

diffuse inhibin expression and also marked elevation of serum inhibin



Fig. 10.10 High power images of the same patient showing sarcomatous cells (a) in immature oedematous mesenchyme (b)

Granulosa cell tumours stain positive for inhibin alpha (Fig. 10.13), vimentin, calretinin, CD99, smooth muscle actin, desmoplakin, S100 (in 50% of cases), keratin (dot-like in 30-50%, primarily low molecular weight), focal positivity for anti-Müllerian hormone and desmin positivity in 35% of cases. Silver stains demonstrate reticulin surrounding clusters of cells [182–187]. Special attention should be paid when low-molecularweight keratin is used as part of a panel differentiating granulosa cell tumours from carcinomas, as a significant proportion of the former are positive [188]. Cells are negative for EMA [183, 186]. Juvenile granulosa cell tumours are positive for inhibin, calretinin, FOXL2, and SF1. WT-1, CD10, S-100, CD56, and smooth muscle actin are also frequently positive, but EMA is typically negative (with rare exceptions) [189, 190]. It should be borne in mind that AE1/AE3 and less commonly CAM5.2 may be positive [189, 190].

IHC plays an important role as granulosa cell tumours may closely resemble endometrioid adenocarcinoma and mixed Mullerian tumour (MMT) of the ovary. Endometrioid adenocarcinomas are strongly positive for CD10 with patchy vimentin positivity [188, 191, 192]. On the other hand, MMTs, because of their presence of mesenchymal and epithelial elements, show EMA, CEA, and vimentin positivity [191–193].

#### **Genomic Changes**

The cytogenetic changes in GCT differ from those in epithelial ovarian cancer, which is characterized by gains at 3q, 8q, and 20q, often displaying high level amplification. In particular, gains of chromosome 14 and loss of chromosome 22 seen in GCTs are rarely found in ovarian carcinomas [194].

On chromosome 14, a number of important genes have been identified that are involved in the regulation of cell proliferation and cell death, such as *FOS*, the major component of the activator protein-1 (*AP-1*) transcription factor complex; *BCL2L2* (BCL2-like2), a regulator molecule of apoptotic cell death; and *TGF3*, which controls cell proliferation and differentiation [195]. Moreover, cytogenetic studies have showed trisomy 12 to be a frequent abnormality in granu-

losa cell tumours. Several important genes have been identified on chromosome 12 (e.g. *KRAS 2*, *KRAG*, *MDM2*); however, it is not clear whether they play a role in GCT. p53 protein accumulation is found in 95% of GCT studied; however, correlation with tumour stage, quantity, or type of chromosomal aberrations and survival has not established [196]. Studies have shown that p53 may not have a major role to play as it does in epithelial ovarian carcinoma.

#### 10.4.5.4 Section Summary

Granulosa cell tumours are rare and often associated with peritoneal disease in the primary and recurrent setting. A combination of histopathological features and immunohistochemistry can establish the diagnosis in most situations. Serum markers like inhibin A and B are useful adjuncts, especially in atypical cases.

## 10.4.6 Peritoneal Sarcomas

Peritoneal sarcomas are usually secondary to primary tumours arising at different sites. After the lungs and bones, the peritoneum is a common site of spread from soft tissue sarcomas. Nearly 30% of the patients with a sarcoma will have intra-abdominal disease which is either peritoneal dissemination or locoregional recurrence [15]. The commonest sarcomas metastasizing to the peritoneum are retroperitoneal liposarcomas, uterine leiomyosarcomas, and low- and highgrade endometrial stromal sarcomas [15]. Lowgrade uterine sarcoma (LGUS) can arise from the ovaries and the peritoneum itself, usually, in the setting of endometriosis [197]. The omentum can be the site of origin in rare scenarios for a variety of soft tissue tumours, the commonest being leiomyosarcoma [198]. Diffuse peritoneal leiomyomatosis (DPL) is a rare tumour that arises de novo from the peritoneum. It is usually caused due to a hormonal stimulus and resolves after the stimulus is removed [37]. If left untreated, leiomyosarcoma can arise in the setting of DPL. Gastrointestinal stromal tumours can arise from the omentum or peritoneum itself [199].

The pathological aspects of diagnosis of peritoneal sarcomas are discussed here.

# 10.4.6.1 Endometrial Stromal Sarcoma

Endometrial stromal sarcoma is a rare malignancy that constitutes <1% of all uterine malignancies and 15% of the uterine sarcomas [200]. ESS can spread to the peritoneum or in very rare cases arise de novo from the peritoneum.

## **Pathological Features**

Endometrial stromal sarcoma (ESS) has been divided into low and high grades in the world health organization (WHO) 2014 classification [197]. Each of these is characterized by a specific chromosomal mutation. High-grade sarcomas are characterized by the presence of a recurrent chromosomal translocation—t(10;17) (q22;p13), resulting in *YWHAE-NUTM2A* or *YWHAE-NUTM2B* genetic fusions (collectively referred to as *YWHAE-NUTM2*) [201].

These rearrangements are mutually exclusive with the *JAZF1/SUZ12/EPC1/PHF1* genetic rearrangements seen in low-grade endometrial stromal sarcomas.

#### Low-Grade ESS

Low-grade sarcomas are characterized by a proliferation of small, round monomorphic cells with scanty cytoplasm and round to oval nuclei with smooth nuclear contours, which resembles endometrial stroma in the proliferative phase (Fig. 10.11) [202–205]. Tumour cells are concentrically arranged around the vascular channels and mitotic activity is usually low (usually <5 Mitotic Figures F/10 HPF). Hyalinization is present and is usually mild though extensive hyalinization may been seen at times. Ischaemic necrosis may be observed. These features are typical of low-grade ESS. These tumours show positive staining for CD10, estrogen receptor (ER), and progesterone receptor (PR) irrespective of the genotypes, and the staining pattern is generally diffuse in adequately fixed tumour samples, though it may be patchy and focal in some instances [206–208]. This patchy, cytoplasmic, and membranous pattern is seen in stromal sarcomas that mimic ESS, including 50% of hemangiopericytomas and over 60% of solitary fibrous tumours [13]. CD34 expression, however, is nearly universal in hemangiopericytomas and solitary fibrous tumours, but is not seen in endometrial stromal sarcoma [209]. Therefore, one should test for CD10 expression along with ER and CD34. Even if only focally CD10+, essentially all stromal sarcomas express ER, and almost none expresses CD34. Solitary fibrous tumours and hemangiopericytomas, in contrast, express CD34 but not ER. PR expression is not used in this setting as it can be expressed in both stromal sarcomas and in nearly 50% of solitary fibrous tumours and hemangiopericytomas [209].

There may be focal patchy staining for smooth muscle actin, caldesmon, and/or desmin, with smooth muscle marker staining being more extensive in *JAZF1 LGESS* rearrangement showing smooth muscle differentiation. The ki-67 proliferation index (<5%) is low and nuclear cyclin D1 expression is typically weak and focal (<5%) [210]. There are also reports of KIT expression in a subset of low-grade ESSs, though the staining tends to be weak and very focal [211–214]. DOG1 expression is consistently absent in low-grade ESS [215].

#### High-Grade ESS

High-grade ESS on the other hand has characteristic diffusely positive staining for cyclin D1 and is negative for CD10, ER and PR [197]. There is strong cytoplasmic c-KIT staining. Areas of low-grade ESS are seen in YWHAE-NUTM2 ESS. The term undifferentiated uterine sarcoma is not used for endometrial stromal sarcomas as it can arise from smooth muscles as well [197].

### Undifferentiated Uterine Sarcoma

Undifferentiated uterine sarcoma includes not just endometrial stromal sarcomas but sarcomas arising from other areas of the uterus as well [216]. The characteristic features are severe nuclear atypia, a high mitotic rate, and tumour necrosis. The majority of UUS show prominent nuclear pleomorphism, though a subset of cases displays more uniform albeit high-grade nuclear features



**Fig. 10.11** (a, b) Histological features of peritoneal deposits from low-grade endometrial stromal sarcoma. (c, d) Area of high-grade morphology in the same patient. A

final distinction can be made only on immunohistochemistry. (**a**, **c**) At 10× magnification. (**b**, **d**) At 40× magnification

[197]. Varying amount of rhabdoid morphology may be present. Undifferentiated uterine sarcomas lack specific lines of mesenchymal differentiation and thus, it is a diagnosis of exclusion [197]. And thus, other sarcomas like leiomyosarcoma, rhabdomyosarcoma, high-grade ESS, mixed epithelial-mesenchymal uterine tumours (sarcoma-predominant carcinosarcoma or sarcomatous overgrowth of adenosarcoma), uterine carcinomas (undifferentiated or dedifferentiated endometrial carcinoma) and secondary involvement of the uterus by extra-uterine soft tissue sarcomas should be excluded [197].

UUS is often positive for CD10. CD10 itself is not a marker for stromal differentiation. The presence of focal staining for smooth muscle actin may be present but also raises the suspicion for leiomyosarcoma or malignant PEComa [197]. Focal keratin and EMA staining, when encountered in a suspected UUS that demonstrates nuclear uniformity, should prompt a careful investigation into the possibility of undifferentiated or dedifferentiated endometrial carcinoma [197].

#### Extra-uterine Endometrial Stromal Sarcoma

The exact cause of extra-uterine ESS is not known but majority of them arise in the setting of endometriosis [217, 218]. Malignant transformation of implants in endometriosis is known. In majority of the cases this occurs in the ovarian implants, giving rise to a primary ovarian tumour [219]. Malignant transformation of extra-ovarian implants is rare. And even more rare is a sarcomatous transformation. The commonest sites of extra-uterine ESS are the ovaries, rectum, vagina, and pelvic peritoneum [219].

The pathological findings are of ESS arising in the background of endometriosis. Many of these tumours are low-grade ESS and show stromal proliferation without glands. Changes peculiar to endometriosis like fibrosis and cyst formation are common. The immunohistochemistry profile is similar to the other ESS but the specific genetic mutations may not be present. Peritoneal ESS needs to be distinguished from other common peritoneal sarcomas and GIST [220]. Significant overlap in staining for CD10 and desmin can occur in ESS and smooth muscle tumours; hence, a panel that includes additional smooth muscle markers, such as h-caldesmon, calponin, or SMMS-1, which are usually negative in ESS, should be used [24]. Gastrointestinal stromal tumour can be excluded with the combined use of c-Kit, CD34, and DOG1 stains [220].

Most studies show that extra-uterine ESSs are usually of low grade and have an indolent behaviour [221, 222]. Involvement of single versus multiple extra-uterine sites does not have an impact on the outcomes. Clinical and histologic features, such as tumour size, tumour location, mitotic index, and vascular invasion, do not appear to correlate with clinical outcome [217, 221, 222]. The only histologic feature that suggests a worse prognosis is synchronous or metachronous development of high-grade cytologic features (dedifferentiation) [217, 223]. However, literature on dedifferentiated tumours arising from low-grade tumours is sparse. Favourable outcomes may be obtained with CRS with or without HIPEC for low-grade ESS [224]. There is no evidence to support performing surgery for high-grade ESS with peritoneal dissemination. These are aggressive tumours that are difficult to control with systemic chemotherapy.

### 10.4.6.2 Uterine Leiomyosarcomas

Uterine leiomyosarcomas are the commonest uterine sarcomas though they constitute only 1% of all the uterine neoplasms. There are two hypothesis of the origin of these tumours. The first is that these tumours arise de novo and this is supported by the fact that only 1 in 800 uterine smooth muscle tumours is malignant [225]. Recent studies have shown that the microRNA expression profiles of leiomyomas and leiomyosarcomas are different. The second hypothesis is that these tumours arise from pre-existing leiomyomas and are supported by the presence of leiomyoma-like areas in LMS (specifically, cellular and symplastic areas), with discovery of additional genetic aberrations in the sarcoma, differences in immunohistochemical profile between the benign and sarcomatous areas within the same tumour, and demonstration of identical pattern of X chromosome inactivation between benign and malignant tumours [226, 227]. This suggests that a minority of tumours indeed originate from pre-existing leiomyomas [228–230].

### **Gross Features**

When arising de novo, these tumours are solitary reaching up to 10 cm in size or more and have an infiltrative margin [225]. The tumour lacks a whorled appearance but is fleshy due to areas of haemorrhage and necrosis. When it arises in the setting of leiomyomatosis, the LMS is the largest of the tumours. Solitary tumours usually always arise in the uterine wall though few can arise from the cervix [225].

### **Microscopic Features**

Most clinically malignant tumours usually show a combination of diffuse moderate-to-severe nuclear atypia, greater than10 mitotic figures (MF) per 10 high power fields (HPF), and presence of (coagulative) tumour-cell necrosis. Tumours that have any two of these features are also sufficient to be diagnosed as LMS [231].

Tumour-cell necrosis, the "bad necrosis", is a common finding in 80% of LMS, characterized by an abrupt transition from viable to necrotic cells. Infarct-type (or hyaline) necrosis, the "good necrosis", may be seen in benign leiomyomas and LMS and is characterized by the presence of a zone of reparative granulation tissue separating the viable and devitalized tissue [231]. Tumours that appear histologically benign, with only tumour-cell necrosis, can occasionally be clinically malignant. It is therefore important to determine the type of necrosis though this may not always be possible in early cases that have minimal granulation tissue [232, 233]. In these difficult situations, when there is tumour without atypia or a high mitotic count, it is classified as a smooth muscle tumour of uncertain malignant potential (STUMP).

LMS have four histological subtypes, spindle cell variety, that is the commonest and followed by the epithelioid, myxoid, and rare variants. Epithelioid LMS do not differ grossly from those of the spindle cell subtype. Histologically, they are defined by the presence of rounded or polygonal cells that have a microscopic appearance of "epithelial cells" in at least 50% of the tumour [234].

#### Immunohistochemistry

Diagnosis of most LMS can usually be made by light microscopic examination. Immunohistochemical study is sometimes necessary to confirm the smooth muscle nature.

In tumours with uncertain or poor differentiation, or when distinction from other neoplasms is required, a combination of markers, including desmin, smooth muscle actin, and h-caldesmon, may be used to confirm the smooth muscle origin [235]. The epithelioid variety may express cytokeratins in nearly a fourth of the patients and may not express myogenic markers like desmin. Histone deacetylase 8 and myocardin are more specific for this variant as compared to desmin or h-caldesmon [236–239].

The overexpression of p16 was identified in 86.7%, 86%, and 51% of uterine LMS in three

studies [240–242]. The frequency of overexpression of p53 protein in uterine LMS has been variable and has ranged from 13% to 56.5% [240–244].

Estrogen, progesterone, and androgen receptors are expressed in about 30–40% of LMS [245–247]. Even though some LMS show immunoreactivity for CD117 (C-KIT), there is no underlying KIT oncogenic mutation or KIT phosphorylation and targeted treatment with imatinib is ineffective [248–250].

Histologic grading of LMS nonetheless is still controversial, with no universally accepted grading system. Tumour size greater than 5 cm was a major prognostic indicator in two studies [251, 252]. This last parameter has now been incorporated into the 2009 International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics staging for uterine LMS [253].

ULMS have a high propensity for hematogeneous spread most commonly to the lungs. The peritoneum is the next common site of metastases [254].

### **Clinical Presentation**

Uterine sarcomas can arise in patients who have undergone morcellation of a fibroid as an early tumour may be missed in some of these patients, and the surgical procedure can lead to peritoneal tumour dissemination. Current estimates are that approximately 1 in 350 patients will be exposed to this risk of widespread sarcomatosis [254]. Sugarbaker et al. based on their experience proposed that a prophylactic CRS and HIPEC should be performed in patients who have undergone morcellation of a ULMS since most of these patients will eventually develop sarcomatosis [255]. A similar strategy has been recommended by other investigators as well [256].

# Extra-uterine Leiomyosarcomas and Rare Omental Tumours

Leiomyosarcomas arising from the greater omentum have been reported [257–259]. The embryologic origin of these tumours is variable because of the different tissues that can be found in the omentum, namely vessels, lymphatics, and fat [260]. Reported primary tumours of the omentum include leiomyosarcoma, fibrosarcoma, hemangiopericytoma, spindle cell sarcoma, liposarcoma, leiomyoma, lipoma, desmoid tumour, fibroma, mesothelioma, and others [261–265]. They derive from different elements in the greater omentum which is composed mainly of fat but contains various tissues—such as vessels and lymphatics.

In a review by Branes et al., the median age of patients with leiomyosarcoma of the omentum in the cases published in the literature was 51 years [260]. The tumour was slightly more common among males (16 patients, 59.2%) and females (11 patients, 40.7%).

Pathological findings are the same as that in uterine leiomyosarcomas. The epithelioid variety has been seen more commonly in the omentum. Like the uterine LMS, these tumours can express CD117 without an underlying genetic mutation and hence, targeted therapies specific for this mutation are ineffective.

### 10.4.6.3 Carcinosarcoma

Carcinosarcomas are a group of rare and aggressive malignancies that comprise of a mixture or carcinomatous and sarcomatous elements and can arise from various primary sites.

These tumours were first described by Virchow in 1863. Several hypotheses have been considered to explain their occurrence. Initially, it was believed that one cell type gave rise to the other, it is the carcinomatous element that gives rise to the sarcomatous counterpart. The more modern theory is that both arise from the same precursor [266–269].

The phenomenon of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) has been used to explain the pathogenesis of these tumours. Carcinomas in the process of developing metastases lose signs of epithelial differentiation and give rise to stem cell-like precursors which can be the source of the sarcomatous component [270]. Carcinosarcomas, thus, retain the features of carcinomas as demonstrated by the expression of keratins and also have the features of sarcomas demonstrated by the expression of vimentin. The existence of biphasic tumours suggests a fluid process of differentiation that can be modified or selected for during a cancer's evolution, which one only observes as a snapshot when a tumour is biopsied or removed [271].

Carcinosarcomas have also been called a stable disruption of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition. The common sites of origin of carcinosarcomas are the uterus and adnexae, lung breast, and head and neck sites.

In the Mullerian system, the uterus is the commonest site for development of these tumours, followed by the vagina, cervix, and adnexa, and in very rare cases, they arise de novo from the peritoneum [272–276].

Uterine and ovarian carcinosarcomas have a propensity for peritoneal spread and are discussed in this section.

### Uterine Carcinosarcomas

Uterine carcinosarcomas are rare tumours that account for less than 5% of all uterine malignancies [277].

#### **Definition and Aetiopathogenesis**

These tumours are grouped together as (malignant) mixed Müllerian tumours (MMMTs), which encompass carcinosarcomas, adenosarcomas, and carcinofibromas [278].

The nomenclature depends on the sarcomatous component that can be homologous or heterologous. Homologous sarcomatous components arise from typical uterine cell types (i.e. leiomyosarcoma, endometrial stromal sarcoma, or undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma). Heterologous elements include cartilage (chondrosarcoma), skeletal muscle (rhabdomyosarcoma), or sometimes osteosarcoma, liposarcoma, or other entities [278].

Risk factors for the development of carcinosarcoma are similar to those of endometrial carcinoma and include nulliparity, advanced age, obesity, exposure to exogenous oestrogens, and long-term use of tamoxifen [279, 280].

There are three theories that explain the pathogenesis of these tumours.

 The collision theory suggests that the two components have separate points of origin prior to their "colliding" together to form a single tumour. This mode of development is seen only in a minority of the patients and is explained by the p53 staining which is similar in the two elements in nearly 80% of the patients and differs in the remaining 20% [281].

- The combination theory postulates that a common stem cell precursor undergoes bidirectional differentiation that results in the creation of the two histological types.
- In conversion theory, a single epithelial component is hypothesized to undergo metaplastic differentiation from which the mesenchymal component is derived.

Both the second and third theories suggest a monoclonal origin [282]. Though epithelial markers are expressed in more than 60% of the sarcomatous component, mesenchymal markers are seldom expressed in the carcinomatous component which supports the conversion theory.

Clinical, pathological, and molecular observations suggest that these neoplasms are derived from the Müllerian epithelium's single stem cells, with metaplasia or dedifferentiation resulting in the sarcomatous elements [283]. Cell cultures, ultrastructural studies, and immunohistochemical analyses all support the conversion theory for the tumourigenesis of this neoplasm [284].

#### **Clinical Presentation**

The clinical presentation is often non-specific and similar to that of other pelvic malignancies. The patient may be asymptomatic or have anaemia. The typical symptoms are vaginal bleeding, bloody or watery discharge, and abdominal pain. There may be a polypoidal mass in the uterus that may or may not protrude through the cervix or pyometra leading to uterine enlargement in over 50% [285, 286].

The "symptom triad" indicative of carcinosarcoma rather than endometrial adenocarcinoma includes pain, severe vaginal bleeding, and the passage of necrotic tissue per vaginum [287].

#### Pathological Features

#### **Gross Features**

The characteristic finding is a polypoidal mass arising from the posterior wall [286]. It can grow

to fill the entire uterus and cause it to enlarge, protrude through the cervix, and extend beyond the uterus [285]. When the sarcomatous component is more, the tumours are bulkier and fleshier [288, 289]. Cut surface shows areas of haemorrhage and necrosis [290]. Areas of osseous or cartilaginous differentiation may be seen [288].

#### Microscopic Features

Microscopically, carcinomatous and sarcomatous components may be intermittently mixed or be seen as two distinct components [291]. The epithelial component is often a high-grade carcinoma such as papillary serous carcinoma (66%) or endometrioid carcinoma (42%) [211]. Other uncommon histological subtypes include squamous cell carcinoma, basaloid squamous carciadenocarcinoma, adenosquamous noma, carcinoma, adenobasal carcinoma, adenocystic carcinoma, or an undifferentiated carcinoma [273]. These tumours have more high-grade features like areas of marked pleomorphism, bizarre cells, embryonal glandular growth patterns, and lace-like arrangement of cells in comparison to conventional adenocarcinomas [288]. The mesenchymal element may be (a) homologous, containing cells native to the uterus including stromal sarcoma, fibrosarcoma, undifferentiated sarcoma, or leiomyosarcoma (2%) or (b) heterologous with mixed components including rhabdomyosarcoma (18%), chondrosarcoma (10%), osteosarcoma (5%), or liposarcoma (1%). One-third of carcinosarcomas have two or more sarcomatous elements, with high-grade stromal sarcoma being the most common type [282]. Choriocarcinoma and melanocytic differentiation are unusual [291, 292]. Sometimes a tumour may have nonmalignant mesenchymal elements (Fig. 10.12) and such tumours may be called carcinomas with mesenchymal differentiation based on the mesenchymal element that is present.

# Immunohistochemistry

Carcinosarcomas are diagnosed based on morphological features alone and immunohistochemistry is used for confirmation. Commonly expressed epithelial markers are epithelial membrane antigen and pancytokeratin. The commonly expressed stromal markers are desmin in areas of



**Fig. 10.12** Histological features of peritoneal deposits in a uterine endometrioid carcinoma. Areas of chondroid differentiation were seen that constituted less than 10% of the tumour volume. In absence of frank sarcomatous element, the diagnosis of endometrial carcinoma with chon-

droid differentiation was made. (a) At normal magnification. (b) At  $10 \times$  magnification. (c) At  $40 \times$  magnification. (d) Heterologous chondroid elements. (e) Area of osteoid differentiation. (f) Positive IHC markers

smooth muscle differentiation and S100 in areas with chondroid or lipomatous differentiation.

There are some markers that are used to establish the origin and diagnosis of a carcinosarcoma. Besides these, there are several other markers of cell cycle proliferation and regulation of apoptosis that can be developed as prognostic markers or potential therapeutic targets [293, 294]. Overexpression of tyrosine kinase receptors such as *HER-2*, *EGFR*, and *KIT* suggests potential targets for therapeutic use in subgroups of carcinosarcoma [295–299].

#### **Ovarian Carcinosarcoma**

Like its uterine counterpart, ovarian carcinosarcoma is also known as a mixed malignant Mullerian tumour (MMMT) of the ovary. Ovarian carcinosarcomas (OCSs) constitute around 1–4% of all ovarian tumours [300]. The epithelial component may be endometrioid, clear cell, serous or squamous epithelium. The mesenchymal component may be homologous: fibrosarcoma and leiomyosarcoma, or heterologous: osteosarcoma, rhabdomyosarcoma, liposarcoma, or chondrosarcoma [300]. The average age of presentation is 65–70 years and most present in locally advanced stages [301]. The prognosis is poor and the median overall survival is around 20 months [301].

#### Origin

The same theories apply to ovarian carcinosarcomas; however, there is evidence supporting all the theories and it is possible there are different mechanisms working in different patients. In a study of comparative genomic hybridization and fluorescence in situ hybridization of 30 ovarian carcinosarcomas, chromosome amplification of the c-myc protooncogene on chromosome 8q and 20q was noted, supporting the monoclonal theory [302]. The conversion theory was supported by this study too as genetic changes similar to those found in ovarian serous carcinomas were seen implying that the tumours could have developed due to metaplasia. Another study showed that there was clonal loss of BRCA2 allele and a somatic mutation in p53 in both the carcinomatous and sarcomatous elements, thus supporting the combination theory [303]. Several oncoproteins were studied in three cases of primary peritoneal carcinosarcoma and showed expression of p16 in all three cases. There was no difference in the expression of other markers like p53, BCL2, Cerb-B2, E-cadherin, P-cadherin, and N-cadherin between the two elements, thus favouring a monoclonal origin [304].

The conversion theory finds support in a study of two ovarian serous epithelial carcinomas recurring as *OCS*. Evaluation of loss of heterozygosity, p53 mutation, and microsatellite analysis revealed identical findings in both the primary and recurrent tumours [305].

#### **Clinical Features**

There are no specific symptoms attributed to ovarian carcinosarcoma and most symptoms are similar to epithelial ovarian cancer. When present, symptoms may include pain in the abdomen or pelvic area, bloating or distention of the abdomen, and early satiety [306, 307].

#### Pathology

Ovarian MMMT are always high-grade tumours. Extra-ovarian spread (high stage), tumour rupture, high grade, and presence of high-grade sarcomatous elements are features associated with poor prognosis.

Although previous studies reported worse outcomes in patients with OCS whose tumours had heterologous elements, in more recent reports histology (homologous vs heterologous elements) has no clear influence on patient outcome [308–310].

The presence of greater than 25% sarcoma composition as well as a high number of small vessels in the primary tumour have also been linked to worse outcome [311, 312].

## **Gross Features**

On gross examination, these tumours appear as large, bulky, fleshy, necrotic, and haemorrhagic tumours, which may show cartilage or bony tissue. They are mostly unilateral and are usually solid with occasional small cystic areas.

#### Microscopy

Of particular mention is that the combination of epithelial and sarcomatous elements can have low-grade features. Mullerian adenosarcomas are an example in which the epithelial component is benign or has only atypia and the sarcomatous component is low grade [313]. These tumours are not included in the spectrum of carcinosarcomas. Carcinosarcomas by definition have high-grade epithelial and stromal components [314].

In carcinosarcoma of the ovary, the mesenchymal component may comprise of native ovarian stroma and its homologous malignant counterpart like undifferentiated sarcoma, leiomyosarcoma, or endometrial stromal sarcoma [315, 316]. When the mesenchymal component is non-native of ovarian stroma, the sarcomatous elements may have component derived from skeletal muscle, bone, or cartilage and is characteristically heterogeneous (Fig. 10.13). Epithelial component may be glandular or non-glandular [316]. Squamous or undifferentiated carcinoma most commonly represents the non-glandular elements [316].

Hyaline globules may be seen in ovarian carcinosarcomas and may be reactive to alpha-1antitrypsin. If seen in a small biopsy sample, this morphological finding may aid in preoperative diagnosis of carcinosarcoma [317].

#### Immunohistochemistry

Imunohistochemistry is widely used to identify the epithelial and mesenchymal components. Epithelial component usually stains for cytokeratins, while sarcomatous elements stain for vimentin, although sarcomatous elements may show cytokeratins occasionally. p53 frequently shows positive staining in both elements [318, 319]. This is indicative of a common molecular pathway and monoclonality of tumourigenesis. p16 is also commonly expressed in both elements [320]. Desmin and myoglobin 1 stain the rhabdomyosarcomatous component, while cartilageneous elements are positive for S100 [321]. CD34 staining may help distinguish OCSs from epithelioid sarcomas, which strongly express CD34 [322]. PAX-8 which is a marker of Mullerian origin is expressed in the epithelial component but not in the sarcomatous one [315, 323].

### **Clinical Perspective**

Carcinosarcomas are rare and aggressive malignancies that can present with peritoneal dissemination. In the setting of peritoneal carcinomatosis, these tumours can be confused with endometrial or ovarian carcinoma especially when the diagnosis is made on a small biopsy specimen. Resection of the primary tumour itself or peritoneal disease may reveal the diagnosis. Progression



Fig. 10.13 (a, b) Carcinosarcoma of the ovary

to carcinosarcoma in patients with serous carcinoma has been reported.

# Molecular Mechanisms and Therapeutic Targets

Carcinosarcomas are aggressive tumours with a 5-year overall survival rate of <40% for all stages and a 50-80% recurrence rate [324-326]. There are several known mutations which can in future serve as therapeutic targets. Frequent mutations have been reported in TP53, PTEN, PIK3CA, PPP2RIA, FBXW7, and KRAS genes, which is similar to endometrioid and serous carcinomas [327]. There are several genes and pathways implicated in epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Amplification of CCNE1 and RB1 loss have been implicated [328]. Mutations in the chromatin remodelling genes like CHD4 and ARID1A have also been implicated [329]. One study found increased incidence of mutations in genes encoding histone H2A and H2B, as well as significant amplification of the segment of chromosome 6p harbouring the histone gene cluster containing these genes [330].

### Patterns of Peritoneal Dissemination

We did not find any studies looking at pathways of peritoneal dissemination and disease distribution in the peritoneal cavity. Whether uninvolved regions like the omentum should be resected or not in absence of visible disease is not known. It is possible that a large proportion of the peritoneal dissemination is due to intraoperative tumour spillage caused during the first procedure. Retroperitoneal implantation at the surgical site is common and may preclude a curative resection, especially in high-grade tumours.

### Section Summary

Peritoneal sarcomas are rare tumours, each having its peculiar features that pathologists dealing with peritoneal surface oncology should be aware of. Molecular tests can be used to confirm or establish the diagnosis where histology and immunohistochemistry do not clearly point to a particular diagnosis. Pathological reporting should capture disease distribution to better understand the biology of these tumours that will help guide surgical decisions in future.

# 10.4.7 Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumours

Gastrointestinal stromal tumours are rare tumours arising from the gastrointestinal tract. They are the commonest mesenchymal tumours of the gastrointestinal tract. These tumours can have peritoneal dissemination with or without spread to other sites [331]. Rarely, GIST arises from the omentum or the peritoneum [199]. The histopathological features of GIST are characteristic and confirmed with immunohistochemistry.

## 10.4.7.1 Gross Features

Gastrointestinal tumours are known to form large, bulky intramural masses. The cut surface shows fish flesh or tannish brown surface with areas of haemorrhage, necrosis, and cyst formation [332]. Peritoneal deposits also form masses of variable size with similar features.

### 10.4.7.2 Microscopic Features

There are three main varieties of GIST—the spindle cell variety is the commonest and seen in about 70%, the epithelioid variety is next, constituting 20% of the tumours and the remaining are of the mixed variety [333].

The spindle cell variety comprises of cells with pale eosinophilic cytoplasm that is paler than other smooth muscle tumours. The cells have indistinct margins giving rise to a fibrillary or syncytial appearance [333]. The nuclei are uniform and may have vesicular chromatin. The cells are arranged in short fascicles or whorls (Fig. 10.14). The characteristic feature is the presence of stromal haemorrhage. Thin walled stromal vessels are common. Cytoplasmic vacuoles adjacent to the nucleus are seen in 5%. Other common features are nuclear palisading, stromal lymphocytes, and microcystic stromal degeneration (as in schwannomas) [333].



Fig. 10.14 (a, b) Histological features of peritoneal deposits in a GIST arising from the greater curvature of the stomach

GISTs of epithelioid type are composed of rounded cells with variably eosinophilic or clear cytoplasm [333]. Cells with clear cytoplasm show areas of retraction of eosinophilic cytoplasm resembling inclusions adjacent to the nuclei. The nuclei are similar to the spindle cell variety containing vesicular chromatin. Lesions of mixed cell type may exhibit an abrupt transition between spindle cell and epithelioid areas (necessitating careful sampling if both patterns are to be recognized) or may have a complex comingling of these cell types throughout, leading to an "intermediate" ovoid cytologic appearance [333].

Roughly 5% of lesions show a variably prominent myxoid stroma, or a paraganglioma or carcinoid type of growth pattern. Approximately 2–3% show notable cytologic pleomorphism [333].

GIST may be further divided into eight different subtypes. (1) Spindle cell subtypes: sclerosing, palisading-vacuolated, hypercellular, and sarcomatous spindle cell; and (2) Epithelioid cell subtypes: sclerosing, discohesive, hypercellular, and epithelioid spindle cell [334].

The distinction between benign and malignant depends on the presence of nuclear atypia and presence of necrosis, haemorrhage, and mitotic activity. It is necessary to determine mitotic rate, grade of dedifferentiation, size, location, tumour infiltration, grade of necrosis and haemorrhage, surgical margins, and whether a tumour ruptures because these factors are implicated in the risk of relapse [335].

### 10.4.7.3 Immunohistochemistry

The characteristic finding is CD117 (KIT) positivity (Fig. 10.15). In addition to this, about 60-70% of GISTs express CD34, 30-40% express smooth muscle actin (SMA), and around 5% show immunopositivity for S-100 protein. None of the latter antigens are specific for GIST [336]. Desmin positivity in true KIT-positive GISTs is extremely uncommon (1–2% of cases) and is invariably focal, with positivity in only a small number of tumour cells [336].

Almost 85% of GISTs have a mutation in KIT or PDGFRA that induces a KIT activation, which is a tyrosine kinase receptor that stimulates the growth of tumour cells. Mutational analysis is acquiring a growing importance and should be performed when adjuvant and/or neoadjuvant therapy show possible mutations with a tendency towards imatinib mesylate-resistance [337].


Fig. 10.15 CD117 (a) and DOG1 (b) expression in the same patient as Fig. 10.13

Gene	Mutation	TKI
KIT	Exon 11	Imatinib-
	Exon 13	Mesylate
	Exon 17	
	Exon 9	
	Exon 18. D842V	
	mutation	
PDGFRA	Exon 12	Imatinib-
	Exon 14	Mesylate
	Exon 18. D842V	Sunitinib
	mutation	Regorafenib
Wild-type		Sunitinib
		Regorafenib

**Table 10.5** Genetic mutation and selection of tyrosinekinase inhibitor in GIST

Tyrosine kinase inhibitor selection based on gene mutations is described in Table 10.5.

*KIT gene mutations (80%)*: KIT exon 11 is the most common mutation and may be observed in approximately 75% of all mutation-positive tumours primarily affecting codons 557–559. Exon 11 mutations are more common in GIST of gastric origin and portend a poor survival and high risk of developing metastatic disease. However, tumours carrying these mutations are also more responsive to imatinib [337–339]. Exon 9 mutations are seen in approximately 10% of the patients. Mutations in exons 8, 13, and 17 are infrequent and seem to be <3% [340].</li>

- PDGFRA gene mutations (5-8%): GISTs with PDGFRA mutations are regularly located in stomach [337]. The D842V mutation in PDGFRA exon 18 is the most common mutation found (65%-75% of PDGFRA mutations); this mutation is associated with imatinib and sunitinib resistance [339, 341, 342]. Non-D842V exon 18, 12, and 14 mutations are rare and sensitive to imatinib.
- Wild-type GISTs (12–15%; 90% of paediatric GISTs): In these cases, there are no detectable mutations in KIT or PDGFRA genes that are resistant to treatment with imatinib although tyrosine kinases are still activated. Wild-type GISTs represent a heterogeneous group that includes several oncogenic mutations such as BRAF V600E substitution, NF1 mutation, and defects in the succinate dehydrogenase complex [343–345].
- KIT-negative GISTs (CD117-negative): Approximately 5% of GISTs do not express CD117 on immunohistochemistry but 30–50% of these have KIT or PDGFRA mutations [346].

Ki67 is an important prognostic factor that has been implicated in recurrence and survival and should be included in pathologist's report [335, 347].

## 10.4.7.4 Section Summary

GIST can metastasize to the peritoneum or arise de novo from the omentum and rarely the peritoneum. Mutational studies should be performed both to predict response to tyrosine kinase inhibitors and distinguish these tumours from those that express CD117.

# 10.5 Conclusions

Every surgeon and pathologist treating peritoneal surface malignancies should be familiar with these rare peritoneal tumours and their diagnostic evaluation. Genomic studies should be used both to establish and confirm the diagnosis and identify therapeutic targets. Details of disease distribution should be captured while evaluating surgical specimens to develop a better understanding of the clinical behaviour and patterns of dissemination that can guide surgical treatment in future.

# References

- Churg A, Roggli V, Galateau-Salle F, et al. Mesothelioma. In: Travis WD, Brambilla E, Müller-Hermelink HK, Harris CC, editors. WHO classification of tumours. Pathology & genetics. Tumours of the lung, pleura, thymus and heart. Lyon: IARC Press; 2004. p. 128–36.
- Cook DS, Attanoos RL, Jalloh SS, et al. 'Mucinpositive' epithelial mesothelioma of the peritoneum: an unusual diagnostic pitfall. Histopathology. 2000;37:33–6.
- Rekhi B, Pathuthara S, Ajit D, et al. 'Signet-ring' cells—a caveat in the diagnosis of a diffuse peritoneal mesothelioma occurring in a lady presenting with recurrent ascites: an unusual case report. Diagn Cytopathol. 2010;38:435–9.
- Hammar SP, Bockus DE, Remington FL, Rohrbach KA. Mucin-positive epithelial mesotheliomas: a histochemical, immunohistochemical, and ultrastructural comparison with mucin-producing pulmonary adenocarcinomas. Ultrastruct Pathol. 1996;20:293–325.
- Hammar SP. Macroscopic, histologic, histochemical, immuno-histochemical, and ultrastructural features of mesothelioma. Ultrastruct Pathol. 2006;30:3–17.
- Kuroda K, Ishizawa S, Kudo T, et al. Localized malignant mesenteric mesothelioma causing small bowel obstruction. Pathol Int. 2008;58:239–43.

- Kim JH, Kwon KY, Jeon YK, Nam JH, Choi C, Hyeon CL, Choi YD. Mucin-positive epithelial mesothelioma of the peritoneum: small bowel involvement. Pathol Int. 2011;61(12):756–61. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1827.2011.02732.x. Epub 12 Sept 2011.
- Bridda A, Padoan I, Mencarelli R, Frego M. Peritoneal mesothelioma: a review. MedGenMed. 2007;9:32.
- Ordóñez NG. Mesothelioma with signet-ring cell features: report of 23 cases. Mod Pathol. 2013;26(3):370–84. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2012.172. Epub 5 Oct 2012.
- Ordóñez NG, Myhre M, Mackay B. Clear cell mesothelioma. Ultrastruct Pathol. 1996;20:331–6.
- Ordóñez NG. Mesotheliomas with small cell features: report of eight cases. Mod Pathol. 2012;25:689–98.
- Ordóñez NG. The diagnostic utility of immunohistochemistry and electron microscopy in distinguishing between peritoneal mesotheliomas and serous carcinomas: a comparative study. Mod Pathol. 2006;19:34–48.
- Ordóñez NG. Application of immunohistochemistry in the diagnosis of epithelioid mesothelioma: a review and update. Hum Pathol. 2013;44(1):1–19. (E-pub ahead of print).
- Coleman M, Henderson DW, Mukherjee TM. The ultrastructural pathology of malignant pleural mesothelioma. Pathol Annu. 1989;24:303–53.
- 15. Bhatt A, Ramakrishnan AS. Rare indications for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. In: Bhatt A, editor. Management of peritoneal metastases—cytoreductive surgery, HIPEC and beyond. Singapore: Springer; 2018.
- Tavassoli FA, Norris HJ. Peritoneal leiomyomatosis (leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata): a clinicopathologic study of 20 cases with ultrastructural observations. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1982;1:59–74.
- Erbstober VE, Lessel W. Disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis: case contribution to the differential diagnosis of benign multiple peritoneal neoplasms. Zentralb Chir. 1982;107:223–6.
- Mansour F, Darai E, Felgeres A, Meicler P, Pinet C, Colau JC. La leiomyomatose péritonéale disseminee: a propos d'un cas. Rev Fr Gynecol Obstet. 1992;87:431–3.
- Kitazawa S, Shiraishi N, Maeda S. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata with adipocytic differentiation. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 1992;71:482–4.
- Fujii S, Okamura H, Nakashima N, Bann C, Aso T, Nishimura T. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Obstet Gynecol. 1980;55:79S–83S.
- Lim OW, Segal A, Ziel HK. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata associated with pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 1980;55:122–5.
- Sutherland JA, Wilson EA, Edger DE, Powell D. Ultrastructure and steroid-binding studies in leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1980;136:992–6.

- Walley VM. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1983;2:222–3.
- Due W, Pickartz H. Immunohistologic detection of estrogen and progesterone receptors in disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1989;8:46–53.
- Thejls H, Pettersson B, Nordlinder H. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 1986;65:373–4.
- Hales HA, Peterson CM, Jones KP, Quinn JD. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata treated with a gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist: a case report. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1992;167:515–6.
- Ma KF, Chow LT. Sex cord-like pattern leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata: a hitherto undescribed feature. Histopathology. 1992;21:389–91.
- Aruh I, Taskin O, Demir N. Recurrent leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1993;43:330–1.
- Rubin SC, Wheeler JE, Mikuta JJ. Malignant leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Obstet Gynecol. 1986;68:126–9.
- Akkersdijk GJM, Flu PK, Giard RWM, van Lent M, Wallenburg HCS. Malignant leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1990;163:591–3.
- Abulafia O, Angel C, Sherer DM, Fultz PJ, Bonfiglio TA, DuBeshter B. Computed tomography of leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata with malignant transformation. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1993;169:52–4.
- Lauchlan S. The secondary Mullerian system. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 1972;27:133–46.
- Clement P, Young R, Scully R. The peritoneum. In: Sternberg S, editor. Diagnostic surgical pathology. 3rd ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 1999. p. 2427–31.
- 34. Fredericks S, Russel P, Cooper M, et al. Smooth muscle in the female pelvic peritoneum: a clinicopathological analysis of 31 women. Pathology. 2005;37(1):14–21.
- 35. Paal E, Miettinen M. Retroperitoneal leiomyomas: a clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical study of 56 cases with a comparison to retroperitoneal leiomyosarcomas. Am J Surg Pathol. 2001;25(11):1355–63.
- Herr J, Platz C, Heidger P, et al. Smooth muscle within ovarian decidual nodules: a link to leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata? Obstet Gynecol. 1979;53:451–6.
- Goldberg M, Hurt W, Frable W. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminate. Report of a case and review of the literature. Obstet Gynecol. 1977;49(Suppl):46–52.
- Nogales F, Matilla A, Carrascal E. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. An ultrastructural study. Am J Clin Pathol. 1978;69:452–7.
- Sobiczewski P, Bidzinski M, Radziszewski J, et al. Disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis case report and literature review. Ginekol Pol. 2004;75(3):215–20.

- Bekkers R, Willemsen W, Schijf C, et al. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminate: does malignant transformation occur? A literature review. Gynecol Oncol. 1999;75(1):158–63.
- Minassian S, Frangipane W, Polin J, et al. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. A case report and literature review. J Reprod Med. 1986;31(10):997–1000.
- Herrero J, Kamali P, Kirschbaum M. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata associated with endometriosis: a case report and literature review. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1998;76(2):189–91.
- Mueller F, Kuehn K, Neudeck H, Nina S, Uwe U, et al. Disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis with endometriosis. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2012;19(3):380–2.
- 44. Ciebiera M, Słabuszewska-Jóźwiak A, Zaręba K, Jakiel G. A case of disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis after two laparoscopic procedures due to uterine fibroids. Wideochir Inne Tech Maloinwazyjne. 2017;12(1):110–4. https://doi.org/10.5114/wiitm.2017.66045. Epub 15 Feb 2017.
- 45. Kumar S, Sharma JB, Verma D, et al. Disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis: an unusual complication of laparoscopic myomectomy. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2008;278:93–5.
- 46. Ceccaroni M, Roviglione G, Pesci A, et al. Total laparoscopic hysterectomy of very enlarged uterus (3030 g): case report and review of the literature. Videosurgery Miniinv. 2014;9:302–7.
- 47. Sinha R, Sundaram M, Mahajan C, et al. Multiple leiomyomas after laparoscopic hysterectomy: report of two cases. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2007;14:123–7.
- Lausen I, Jensen OJ, Andersen E, et al. Disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis with malignant change, in a male. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat. 1990;417:173. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02190536.
- Fulcher AS, Szucs RA. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata complicated by sarcomatous transformation and ovarian torsion: presentation of two cases and review of the literature. Abdom Imaging. 1998;23:640–4.
- Quade BJ, McLachlin CM, Soto-Wright V, Zuckerman J, Mutter GL, Morton CC. Disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis. Clonality analysis by X chromosome inactivation and cytogenetics of a clinically benign smooth muscle proliferation. Am J Pathol. 1997;150:2153–66.
- Miyake T, Enomoto T, Ueda Y, et al. A case of disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis developing after laparoscope-assisted myomectomy. Gynecol Obstet Investig. 2009;67:96–102.
- 52. Raspagliesi F, Quattrone P, Grosso G, Cobellis L, Di Re E. Malignant degeneration in leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Gynecol Oncol. 1996;61(2):272–4.
- Furman J, Murphy WM, Wajsman Z, et al. Urogenital involvement by desmoplastic small round-cell tumor. J Urol. 1997;158:1506–9.
- 54. Kawano N, Inayama Y, Nagashima Y, et al. Desmoplastic small round-cell tumor of the

paratesticular region: report of an adult case with demonstration of EWS and WT1 gene fusion using paraffin-embedded tissue. Mod Pathol. 1999;12:729–34.

- 55. Ordóñez NG, el-Naggar AK, Ro JY, et al. Intraabdominal desmoplastic small cell tumor: a light microscopic, immunocytochemical, ultrastructural, and flow cytometric study. Hum Pathol. 1993;24:850–65.
- 56. Slomovitz BM, Girotra M, Aledo A, et al. Desmoplastic small round cell tumor with primary ovarian involvement: case report and review. Gynecol Oncol. 2000;79:124–8.
- Prat J, Matias-Guiu X, Algaba F. Desmoplastic small round-cell tumor. Am J Surg Pathol. 1992;16:306–7.
- 58. Gerald WL, Miller HK, Battifora H, Miettinen M, Silva EG, Rosai J. Intra-abdominal desmoplastic small round-cell tumor. Report of 19 cases of a distinctive type of high-grade polyphenotypic malignancy affecting young individuals. Am J Surg Pathol. 1991;15:499–513.
- Ordóñez NG, Zirkin R. Malignant small-cell epithelial tumor of the peritoneum coexpressing mesenchymal-type intermediate filaments. Am J Surg Pathol. 1989;13:413–21.
- 60. Thway K, Noujaim J, Zaidi S, Miah AB, Benson C, Messiou C, Jones RL, Fisher C. Desmoplastic small round cell tumor: pathology, genetics, and potential therapeutic strategies. Int J Surg Pathol. 2016;24(8):672–84. Epub 12 Sept 2016.
- Chan AS, MacNeill S, Thorner P, Squire J, Zielenska M. Variant EWS-WT1 chimeric product in the desmoplastic small round cell tumor. Pediatr Dev Pathol. 1999;2:188–92.
- Rodriguez E, Sreekantaiah C, Gerald W, Reuter VE, Motzer RJ, Chaganti RS. A recurring translocation, t(11;22)(p13;q11.2), characterizes intra-abdominal desmoplastic small round-cell tumors. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 1993;69:17–21.
- Ladanyi M, Gerald W. Fusion of the EWS and WT1 genes in the desmoplastic small round cell tumor. Cancer Res. 1994;54:2837–40.
- 64. Sawyer JR, Tryka AF, Lewis JM. A novel reciprocal chromosome translocation t(11;22) (p13;q12) in an intraabdominal desmoplastic small round-cell tumor. Am J Surg Pathol. 1992;16:411–6.
- 65. Gerald WL, Rosai J, Ladanyi M. Characterization of the genomic breakpoint and chimeric transcripts in the EWS-WT1 gene fusion of desmoplastic small round cell tumor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92:1028–32.
- Gerald WL, Haber DA. The EWS-WT1 gene fusion in desmoplastic small round cell tumor. Semin Cancer Biol. 2005;15:197–205.
- 67. Liu J, Nau MM, Yeh JC, Allegra CJ, Chu E, Wright JJ. Molecular heterogeneity and function of EWS-WT1 fusion transcripts in desmoplastic small round cell tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2000;6:3522–9.

- Antonescu CR, Gerald WL, Magid MS, Ladanyi M. Molecular variants of the EWS-WT1 gene fusion in desmoplastic small round cell tumor. Diagn Mol Pathol. 1998;7:24–8.
- 69. Ud Din N, Pekmezci M, Javed G, et al. Low-grade small round cell tumor of the cauda equina with EWSR1-WT1 fusion and indolent clinical course. Hum Pathol. 2015;46:153–8.
- Rao P, Tamboli P, Fillman EP, Meis JM. Primary intrarenal desmoplastic small round cell tumor: expanding the histologic spectrum, with special emphasis on the differential diagnostic considerations. Pathol Res Pract. 2014;210:1130–3.
- Antonescu CR, Ladanyi M. Desmoplastic small round cell tumour. In: Fletcher CDM, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PCW, Mertens F, editors. WHO classification of tumours of soft tissue and bone. 4th ed. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 225–7.
- Bono F, Testi MA, Rosai J. Desmoplastic small cell tumor with bizarre giant nuclei. Int J Surg Pathol. 2011;19:843–6.
- Ordóñez NG. Desmoplastic small round cell tumor: I: a histopathologic study of 39 cases with emphasis on unusual histological patterns. Am J Surg Pathol. 1998;22:1303–13.
- 74. Pasquinelli G, Montanaro L, Martinelli GN. Desmoplastic small round-cell tumor: a case report on the large cell variant with immunohistochemical, ultrastructural, and molecular genetic analysis. Ultrastruct Pathol. 2000;24:333–7.
- Trupiano JK, Machen SK, Barr FG, Goldblum JR. Cytokeratin-negative desmoplastic small round cell tumor: a report of two cases emphasizing the utility of reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction. Mod Pathol. 1999;12:849–53.
- Ordóñez NG. Desmoplastic small round cell tumor: II: an ultrastructural and immunohistochemical study with emphasis on new immunohistochemical markers. Am J Surg Pathol. 1998;22:1314–27.
- 77. Zhang PJ, Goldblum JR, Pawel BR, Fisher C, Pasha TL, Barr FG. Immunophenotype of desmoplastic small round cell tumors as detected in cases with EWS-WT1 gene fusion product. Mod Pathol. 2003;16:229–35.
- Murphy AJ, Bishop K, Pereira C, et al. A new molecular variant of desmoplastic small round cell tumor: significance of WT1 immunostaining in this entity. Hum Pathol. 2008;39:1763–70.
- 79. Sigauke E, Rakheja D, Maddox DL, et al. Absence of expression of SMARCB1/INI1 in malignant rhabdoid tumors of the central nervous system, kidneys and soft tissue: an immunohistochemical study with implications for diagnosis. Mod Pathol. 2006;19:717–25.
- Soon GS, Petersson F. Beware of immunohistochemistry—report of a cytokeratin-, desmin- and INI-1-negative pelvic desmoplastic small round cell tumor in a 51-year old woman. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2015;8:973–82.

- Hung YP, Fletcher CD, Hornick JL. Evaluation of NKX2-2 expression in round cell sarcomas and other tumors with EWSR1 rearrangement: imperfect specificity for Ewing sarcoma. Mod Pathol. 2016;29:370–80.
- Yoshida A, Sekine S, Tsuta K, Fukayama M, Furuta K, Tsuda H. NKX2.2 is a useful immunohistochemical marker for Ewing sarcoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36:993–9.
- 83. Specht K, Sung YS, Zhang L, Richter GH, Fletcher CD, Antonescu CR. Distinct transcriptional signature and immunoprofile of CIC-DUX4 fusion-positive round cell tumors compared to EWSR1-rearranged Ewing sarcomas: further evidence toward distinct pathologic entities. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2014;53:622–33.
- Antonescu C. Round cell sarcomas beyond Ewing: emerging entities. Histopathology. 2014;64:26–37.
- 85. Italiano A, Sung YS, Zhang L, et al. High prevalence of CIC fusion with double-homeobox (DUX4) transcription factors in EWSR1-negative undifferentiated small blue round cell sarcomas. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2012;51:207–18.
- Graham C, Chilton-MacNeill S, Zielenska M, Somers GR. The CIC-DUX4 fusion transcript is present in a subgroup of pediatric primitive round cell sarcomas. Hum Pathol. 2012;43:180–9.
- Yoshida A, Goto K, Kodaira M, et al. CICrearranged sarcomas: a study of 20 cases and comparisons with Ewing sarcomas. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40:313–23.
- Sugita S, Arai Y, Tonooka A, et al. A novel CIC-FOXO4 gene fusion in undifferentiated small round cell sarcoma: a genetically distinct variant of Ewinglike sarcoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2014;38:1571–6.
- Solomon DA, Brohl AS, Khan J, Miettinen M. Clinicopathologic features of a second patient with Ewing-like sarcoma harboring CIC-FOXO4 gene fusion. Am J Surg Pathol. 2014;38:1724–5.
- Pierron G, Tirode F, Lucchesi C, et al. A new subtype of bone sarcoma defined by BCOR-CCNB3 gene fusion. Nat Genet. 2012;44:461–6.
- Puls F, Niblett A, Marland G, Gaston CL, Douis H, Mangham DC, et al. BCOR-CCNB3 (Ewing-like) sarcoma: a clinicopathologic analysis of 10 cases, in comparison with conventional Ewing sarcoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2014;38:1307–18.
- Cole P, Ladanyi M, Gerald WL, et al. Synovial sarcoma mimicking desmoplastic small round-cell tumor: critical role for molecular diagnosis. Med Pediatr Oncol. 1999;32:97–101.
- 93. Fisher C. Synovial sarcoma. Ann Diagn Pathol. 1998;2:401–21.
- Thway K, Fisher C. Synovial sarcoma: defining features and diagnostic evolution. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2014;18:369–80.
- Terry J, Saito T, Subramanian S, et al. TLE1 as a diagnostic immunohistochemical marker for synovial sarcoma emerging from gene expression profiling studies. Am J Surg Pathol. 2007;31:240–6.

- 96. Kosemehmetoglu K, Vrana JA, Folpe AL. TLE1 expression is not specific for synovial sarcoma: a whole section study of 163 soft tissue and bone neoplasms. Mod Pathol. 2009;22:872–8.
- Thway K, Fisher C. Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor: pathology and genetics. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2014;18:109–16.
- Thway K, Fisher C. Tumors with EWSR1-CREB1 and EWSR1-ATF1 fusions: the current status. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36:e1–e11.
- Wang J, Thway K. Clear cell sarcoma-like tumor of the gastrointestinal tract: an evolving entity. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2015;139:407–12.
- 100. Zambrano E, Reyes-Mugica M, Franchi A, Rosai J. An osteoclast-rich tumor of the gastrointestinal tract with features resembling clear cell sarcoma of soft parts: reports of 6 cases of a GIST simulator. Int J Surg Pathol. 2003;11:75–81.
- 101. Stockman DL, Miettinen M, Suster S, et al. Malignant gastro-intestinal neuroectodermal tumor: clinicopathologic, immunohistochemical, ultrastructural, and molecular analysis of 16 cases with a reappraisal of clear cell sarcoma-like tumors of the gastrointestinal tract. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36:857–68.
- 102. Shenjere P, Salman WD, Singh M, et al. Intraabdominal clear-cell sarcoma: a report of 3 cases, including 1 case with unusual morphological features, and review of the literature. Int J Surg Pathol. 2012;20:378–85.
- 103. Eifel P, Hendrickson M, Ross J, et al. Simultaneous presentation of carcinoma involving the ovary and the uterine corpus. Cancer. 1982;50:163–70.
- 104. Jondle DM, Shahin MS, Sorosky J, Benda JA. Ovarian mixed germ cell tumor with predominance of polyembryoma: a case report with literature review. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2002;21:78–81.
- Gershenson DM. Management of ovarian germ cell tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(20):2938–43.
- 106. Tavassoli FA, Deville P. Pathology and genetics of tumours of the breast and female genital organs. International Agency for Research on Cancer: Lyon; 2003.
- 107. Roth LM, Talerman A. Recent advances in the pathology and classification of ovarian germ cell tumors. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2006;25:305–20.
- Creasman WT, Fetter BF, Hammond CB, Parker RT. Germ cell malignancies of the ovary. Obstet Gynecol. 1979;53:226–30.
- Fleischhacker DS, Young RH. Dysgerminoma of the ovary associated with hypercalcemia. Gynecol Oncol. 1994;52:87–90.
- Santesson L. Clinical and pathological survey of ovarian tumors treated at the Radium-hemmet. Acta Radiol (Stockh). 1947;28:644–68.
- 111. Dietl J, Horny HP, Ruck P, Kaiserling E. Dysgerminoma of the ovary. An immunohistochemical study of tumor-infiltrating lymphoreticular cells and tumor cells. Cancer. 1993;71:2562–8.
- Asadourian LA, Taylor HB. Dysgerminoma. An analysis of 105 cases. Obstet Gynecol. 1969;33:370–9.

- Beckstead JH. Alkaline phosphatase histochemistry in human germ cell neoplasms. Am J Surg Pathol. 1983;7:341–9.
- 114. Cossu-Rocca P, Jones TD, Roth LM, et al. Cytokeratin and CD30 expression in dysgerminoma. Hum Pathol. 2006;37:1015–21.
- 115. Lifshitz-Mercer B, Walt H, Kushnir I, et al. Differentiation potential of ovarian dysgerminoma. An immunohistochemical study of 15 cases. Hum Pathol. 1995;26:62–6.
- 116. Eildermann K, Aeckerle N, Debowski K, et al. Developmental expression of the pluripotency factor sal-like protein 4 in the monkey, human and mouse testis: restriction to premeiotic germ cells. Cells Tissues Organs. 2012;196(3):206–20.
- 117. Trinh DT, Shibata K, Hirosawa T, et al. Diagnostic utility of CD117, CD133, SALL4, OCT4, TCL1 and glypican-3 in malignant germ cell tumors of the ovary. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2012;38(5):841–8.
- 118. Santagata S, Ligon KL, Hornick JL. Embryonic stem cell transcription factor signatures in the diagnosis of primary and metastatic germ cell tumors. Am J Surg Pathol. 2007;31(6):836–45.
- Battifora H, Sheibani K, Tubbs RR, Kopinski MI, Sun TT. Antikeratin antibodies in tumor diagnosis: distinction between seminoma and embryonal carcinoma. Cancer. 1984;54(5):843–8.
- Parkash V, Carcangiu ML. Transformation of ovarian dysgerminoma to yolk sac tumor: evidence for a histogenetic continuum. Mod Pathol. 1995;8(8):881–7.
- Park NH, Ryu SY, Park IA, et al. Primary endodermal sinus tumor of the omentum. Gynecol Oncol. 1999;72:427–30.
- Gonzalez-Crussi F. The human yolk sac and yolk sac (endodermal sinus) tumors. A review. Persp Pediatr Pathol. 1979;5:179–215.
- 123. Jones MA, Clement PB, Young RH. Primary yolk sac tumors of the mesentery. A report of two cases. Am J Clin Pathol. 1994;101:42–7.
- 124. Garcia-Galvis OF, Stolnicu S, Munoz E, Aneiros-Fernandez J, Alaggio R, Nogales FF. Adult extrarenal Wilms tumor of the uterus with teratoid features. Hum Pathol. 2009;40(3):418–24.
- 125. Garcia-Galvis OF, Cabrera-Ozoria C, Fernandez JA, Stolnicu S, Nogales FF. Malignant Mullerian mixed tumor of the ovary associated with yolk sac tumor, neuroepithelial and trophoblastic differentiation (teratoid carcinosarcoma). Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2008;27(4):515–20.
- 126. Nogales FF, Preda O, Nicolae A. Yolk sac tumours revisited: a review of their many faces and names. Histopathology. 2012;60(7):1023–33.
- 127. Kandil DH, Cooper K. Glypican-3: a novel diagnostic marker for hepatocellular carcinoma and more. Adv Anat Pathol. 2009;16(2):125–9.
- 128. Zynger DL, Everton MJ, Dimov ND, Chou PM, Yang XJ. Expression of glypican 3 in ovarian and extragonadal germ cell tumors. Am J Clin Pathol. 2008;130(2):224–30.

- 129. Preda O, Nicolae A, Aneiros-Fernandez J, Borda A, Nogales FF. Glypican 3 is a sensitive, but not a specific, marker for the diagnosis of yolk sac tumours. Histopathology. 2011;58(2):312–4; author reply 314–5.
- 130. Pitman MB, Triratanachat S, Young RH, Oliva E. Hepatocyte paraffin 1 antibody does not distinguish primary ovarian tumors with hepatoid differentiation from metastatic hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2004;23(1):58–64.
- 131. Bing Z, Pasha T, Tomaszewski JE, Zhang P. CDX2 expression in yolk sac component of testicular germ cell tumors. Int J Surg Pathol. 2009;17(5):373–7.
- 132. Nogales FF, Dulcey I, Preda O. Germ cell tumors of the ovary: an update. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2014;138(3):351–62. https://doi.org/10.5858/ arpa.2012-0547-RA.
- Nogales FF, Matilla A, Nogales-Ortiz F, Galera-Davidson HL. Yolk sac tumors with pure and mixed polyvesicular vitelline patterns. Hum Pathol. 1978;9:553–66.
- 134. Cohen MB, Friend DS, Molnar JJ. Gonadal endodermal sinus (yolk sac) tumor with pure intestinal differentiation. A new histologic type. Pathol Res Pract. 1987;182:609–16.
- Pallesen G, Hamilton-Dutoit SJ. Ki-1 (CD30) antigen is regularly expressed by tumor cells of embryonal carcinoma. Am J Pathol. 1988;133(3):446–50.
- 136. Stein H, Gerdes J, Schwab U, et al. Identification of Hodgkin and Sternberg-Reed cells as a unique cell type derived from a newly-detected small-cell population. Int J Cancer. 1982;30(4):445–59.
- 137. Oflazoglu E, Grewal IS, Gerber H. Targeting CD30/CD30L in oncology and autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2009;647:174–85.
- 138. Noisa P, Ramasamy TS, Lamont FR, et al. Identification and characterisation of the early differentiating cells in neural differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. PLoS One. 2012;7(5):e37129.
- 139. Ulbright TM, Roth LM, Brodhecker CA. Yolk sac differentiation in germ cell tumors. A morphologic study of 50 cases with emphasis on hepatic, enteric, and parietal yolk sac features. Am J Surg Pathol. 1986;10:151–64.
- 140. McCluggage WG. Value of inhibin staining in gynecological pathology. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2001;20(1):79–85.
- 141. Mittal K, Soslow R, McCluggage WG. Application of immunohistochemistry to gynecologic pathology. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2008;132(3):402–23.
- 142. Cheng L, Zhang S, Talerman A, Roth LM. Morphologic, immunohistochemical, and fluorescence in situ hybridization study of ovarian embryonal carcinoma with comparison to solid variant of yolk sac tumor and immature teratoma. Hum Pathol. 2010;41:716–23.
- 143. O'Connor DM, Norris HJ. The influence of grade on the outcome of stage I ovarian immature (malignant)

teratomas and the reproducibility of grading. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1994;13(4):283–9.

- 144. Nogales FF Jr, Favara BE, Major FJ, Silverberg SG. Immature teratoma of the ovary with a neural component ("solid" teratoma): a clinicopathologic study of 20 cases. Hum Pathol. 1976;7(6):625–42.
- 145. Yanai-Inbar I, Scully RE. Relation of ovarian dermoid cysts and immature teratomas: an analysis of 350 cases of immature teratoma and 10 cases of dermoid cyst with microscopic foci of immature tissue. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1987;6(3):203–12.
- 146. Nogales FF, Aguilar D. Florid vascular proliferation in grade 0 glial implants from ovarian immature teratoma. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2002;21(3):305–7.
- 147. Dadmanesh F, Miller DM, Swenerton KD, Clement PB. Gliomatosis peritonei with malignant transformation. Mod Pathol. 1997;10(6):597–601.
- 148. Vang R, Gown AM, Zhao C, et al. Ovarian mucinous tumors associated with mature cystic teratomas: morphologic and immunohistochemical analysis identifies a subset of potential teratomatous origin that shares features of lower gastrointestinal tract mucinous tumors more commonly encountered as secondary tumors in the ovary. Am J Surg Pathol. 2007;31(6):854–69.
- 149. Wei S, Baloch ZW, LiVolsi VA. Pathology of struma ovarii: a report of 96 cases. Endocr Pathol. 2015;26(4):342–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12022-015-9396-1.
- Chun YK. Neuroendocrine tumors of the female reproductive tract: a literature review. J Pathol Transl Med. 2015;49:450–1.
- Rouzbahman M, Clarke B. Neuroendocrine tumors of the gynecologic tract: select topics. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2013;30:224–33.
- 152. Reed NS, Gomez-Garcia E, Gallardo-Rincon D, et al. Gynecologic Cancer InterGroup (GCIG) consensus review for carcinoid tumors of the ovary. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2014;24(9 Suppl 3):S35–41.
- Davis KP, Hartmann LK, Keeney GL, Shapiro H. Primary ovarian carcinoid tumors. Gynecol Oncol. 1996;61:259–65.
- 154. Robboy SJ, Norris HJ, Scully RE. Insular carcinoid primary in the ovary: a clinicopathologic analysis of 48 cases. Cancer. 1975;36:404–18.
- 155. Robboy SJ, Scully RE. Strumal carcinoid of the ovary: an analysis of 50 cases of a distinctive tumor composed of thyroid tissue and carcinoid. Cancer. 1980;46:2019–34.
- 156. Baker PM, Oliva E, Young RH, Talerman A, Scully RE. Ovarian mucinous carcinoids including some with a carcinomatous component: a report of 17 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2001;25:557–68.
- 157. Howitt BE, Kelly P, McCluggage WG. Pathology of neuroendocrine tumours of the female genital tract. Curr Oncol Rep. 2017;19:59.
- 158. Hidvegi D, Cibils LA, Sorensen K, et al. Ultrastructural and histochemical observations of neuroendocrine granules in nonneoplastic ovaries. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1982;143:590–4.

- Talerman A. Carcinoid tumors of the ovary. J Cancer Res Oncol. 1984;107:125–35.
- 160. Zhang X, Jones A, Jenkins SM, et al. ki 67 proliferative index in carcinoid tumours involving the ovary. Endocr Pathol. 2018;29:43. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12022-017-9510-7.
- 161. Bjorkholm E, Silfversward C. Prognostic factors in granulosa-cell tumors. Gynecol Oncol. 1981;11(3):261–74.
- 162. Evans AT 3rd, Gaffey TA, Malkasian GD Jr, Annegers JF. Clinicopathologic review of 118 granulosa and 82 theca cell tumors. Obstet Gynecol. 1980;55(2):231–8.
- 163. Stenwig JT, Hazekamp JT, Beecham JB. Granulosa cell tumors of the ovary. A clinicopathological study of 118 cases with long-term follow-up. Gynecol Oncol. 1979;7(2):136–52.
- 164. Kottarathil VD, Antony MA, Nair IR, Pavithran K. Recent advances in granulosa cell tumor ovary: a review. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2013;4(1):37–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13193-012-0201-z. Epub 7 Dec 2012.
- 165. Zhang M, Cheung MK, Shin JY, Kapp DS, Husain A, Teng NN, Berek JS, Osann K, Chan JK. Prognostic factors responsible for survival in sex cord stromal tumors of the ovary: an analysis of 376 women. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;104:396–400. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2006.08.032.
- 166. Shah SP, Köbel M, Senz J, Morin RD, Clarke BA, Wiegand KC, Leung G, Zayed A, Mehl E, Kalloger SE, Sun M, Giuliany R, Yorida E, Jones S, Varhol R, Swenerton KD, Miller D, Clement PB, Crane C, Madore J, Provencher D, Leung P, DeFazio A, Khattra J, Turashvili G, et al. Mutation of FOXL2 in granulosa-cell tumors of the ovary. N Engl J Med. 2009;360:2719–29.
- 167. Mangili G, Ottolina J, Gadducci A, Giorda G, Breda E, Savarese A, et al. Long-term follow-up is crucial after treatment for granulosa cell tumours of the ovary. Br J Cancer. 2013;109:29–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.241.
- 168. Colombo N, Sessa C, Landoni F, Sartori E, Pecorelli S, Mangioni C. Cisplatin, vinblastine, and bleomycin combination chemotherapy in metastatic granulosa cell tumor of the ovary. Obstet Gynecol. 1986;67(2):265–8.
- 169. Fotopoulou C, Savvatis K, Braicu EI, et al. Adult granulosa cell tumors of the ovary: tumor dissemination pattern at primary and recurrent situation, surgical outcome. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;119:285–90.
- Schumer ST, Cannistra SA. Granulosa cell tumor of the ovary. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:1180–9. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2003.10.019.
- 171. Koukourakis GV, Kouloulias VE, Koukourakis MJ, Zacharias GA, Papadimitriou C, Mystakidou K, et al. Granulosa cell tumor of the ovary: tumor review. Integr Cancer Ther. 2008;7:204–15. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1534735408322845.
- 172. Petraglia F, Luisi S, Pautier P, Sabourin JC, Rey R, Lhomme C, Bidart JM. Inhibin B is the major form

of inhibin/activin family secreted by granulosa cell tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998;83:1029–32. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.83.3.1029.

- 173. Mom CH, Engelen MJ, Willemse PH, Gietema JA, ten Hoor KA, de Vries EG, van der Zee AG. Granulosa cell tumors of the ovary: the clinical value of serum inhibin a and B levels in a large single center cohort. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;105:365–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2006.12.034.
- 174. Healy DL, Burger HG, Mamers P, Jobling T, Bangah M, Quinn M, Grant P, Day AJ, Rome R, Campbell JJ. Elevated serum inhibin concentrations in postmenopausal women with ovarian tumors. N Engl J Med. 1993;329:1539–42. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM199311183292104.
- 175. Ala-Fossi SL, Aine R, Punnonen R, Mäenpää J. Is potential to produce inhibins related to prognosis in ovarian granulosa cell tumors? Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 2000;21:187–9.
- 176. Long WQ, Ranchin V, Pautier P, Belville C, Denizot P, Cailla H, Lhommé C, Picard JY, Bidart JM, Rey R. Detection of minimal levels of serum anti-Mullerian hormone during follow-up of patients with ovarian granulose cell tumor by means of a highly sensitive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85:540–4. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.85.2.540.
- 177. Chang HL, Pahlavan N, Halpern EF, MacLaughlin DT. Serum Mullerian inhibiting substance/anti-Mullerian hormone levels in patients with adult granulosa cell tumors directly correlate with aggregate tumor mass as determined by pathology or radiology. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;114:57–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2009.02.023.
- 178. Anttonen M, Unkila-Kallio L, Leminen A, Butzow R, Heikinheimo M. High GATA-4 expression associates with aggressive behavior, whereas low anti-Mullerian hormone expression associates with growth potential of ovarian granulosa cell tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90:6529–35. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2005-0921.
- 179. Lee IH, Choi CH, Hong DG, Song JY, Kim YJ, Kim KT. Clinicopathologic characteristics of granulosa cell tumors of the ovary: a multicenter retrospective study. J Gynecol Oncol. 2011;22:188–95. https:// doi.org/10.3802/jgo.2011.22.3.188.
- 180. Al-Bozom IA, El-Faqih SR, Hassan SH, El-Tiraifi AE, Talic RF. Granulosa cell tumor of the adult type. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2000;124(10):1525–8.
- 181. Jimenez-Quintero LP, Ro JY, Zavalo-Pomba A, et al. Granulosa cell tumor of the adult testis: a clinicopathologic study of seven cases. Hum Pathol. 1993;24:1120–6.
- 182. Costa MJ, Ames PF, Walls J, et al. Inhibin immunohistochemistry applied to ovarian neoplasms: a novel, effective, diagnostic tool. Hum Pathol. 1997;28:1247–54.
- 183. Deavers MT, Malpica A, Liu J, et al. Ovarian sex cord-stromal tumors: an immunohistochemical study including a comparison of calretinin and inhibin. Mod Pathol. 2003;16:584–90.

- 184. Kommoss F, Oliva E, Bhan AK, et al. Inhibin expression in ovarian tumors and tumor-like lesions: an immunohistochemical study. Mod Pathol. 1998;11:656–4.
- McCluggage WG, Maxwell P. Immunohistochemical staining for calretinin is useful in the diagnosis of ovarian sex cordstromal tumours. Histopathology. 2001;38:403–8.
- Kalof AN, Cooper K. D2-40 immunohistochemistry—so far! Adv Anat Pathol. 2009;16:62–4.
- Ordóñez NG. D2-40 and podoplanin are highly specific and sensitive immunohistochemical markers of epithelioid malignant mesothelioma. Hum Pathol. 2005;36:372–80.
- 188. Nofech-Mozes S, Ismiil N, Dubé V, Saad RS, Khalifa MA, Moshkin O, Ghorab Z. Immunohistochemical characterization of primary and recurrent adult granulosa cell tumors. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2012;31(1):80–90. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PGP.0b013e318224e089.
- 189. Rabban JT, Longacre T. Immunohistology of the female genital tract. In: Dabbs DJ, editor. Diagnostic immunohistochemistry—theranostic and genomic applications. 4th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders; 2014. p. 653–709.
- 190. Kao CS, Idrees MT, Young RH, Ulbright TM. Solid pattern yolk sac tumor: a morphologic and immunohistochemical study of 52 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36(3):360–7.
- 191. Kurihara S, Oda Y, Ohishi Y, et al. Endometrial stromal sarcomas and related high-grade sarcomas: immunohistochemical and molecular genetic study of 31 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32(8):1228–38.
- 192. Zhao C, Vinh TN, McManus K, et al. Identification of the most sensitive and robust immunohistochemical markers in different categories of ovarian sex cord-stromal tumors. Am J Surg Pathol. 2009;33(3):354–66.
- 193. Kaspar HG, Crum CP. The utility of immunohistochemistry in the differential diagnosis of gynecologic disorders. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2015;139(1):39–54.
- 194. Mayr D, Kaltz-Wittmer C, Arbogast S, Amann G, Aust DE, Diebold J. Characteristic pattern of genetic aberrations in ovarian granulosa cell tumors. Mod Pathol. 2002;15:951–7.
- 195. Lin YS, Eng HL, Jan YJ, et al. Molecular cytogenetics of ovarian granulosa cell tumors by comparative genomic hybridization. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;97(1):68–73.
- 196. Alexiadis M, Rowley SM, Chu S, Leung DTH, Stewart CJR, Amarasinghe KC, Campbell IG, Fuller PJ. Mutational landscape of ovarian adult granulosa cell tumors from whole exome and targeted *TERT* promoter sequencing. Mol Cancer Res. 2019;17(1):177–85. https://doi. org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-18-0359. Epub 30 Aug 2018.
- Lee CH, Nucci MR. Endometrial stromal sarcoma—the new genetic paradigm. Histopathology.

2015;67(1):1–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/his.12594. Epub 22 Jan 2015.

- 198. Barel O, Qian C, Manolitsas T. Primary leiomyosarcoma of the omentum presenting as an ovarian carcinoma, case report and review of the literature. Gynecol Oncol Rep. 2016;17:75–8. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gore.2016.07.002.
- 199. Harlan LC, Eisenstein J, Russell MC, Stevens JL, Cardona K. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors: treatment patterns of a population-based sample. J Surg Oncol. 2015;111:702–7.
- 200. Back JA, Choi MG, Ju UC. A case of advancedstage endometrial stromal sarcoma of the ovary arising from endometriosis. Obstet Gynecol Sci. 2016;59:323–7.
- 201. Lee CH, Ou WB, Marino-Enriquez A, et al. 14-3-3 fusion oncogenes in high-grade endometrial stromal sarcoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109:929–34.
- Chang KL, Crabtree GS, Lim-Tan SK, et al. Primary uterine endometrial stromal neoplasms. A clinicopathologic study of 117 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 1990;14:415–38.
- Evans HL. Endometrial stromal sarcoma and poorly differentiated endometrial sarcoma. Cancer. 1982;50:2170–82.
- 204. Hendrickson MR, Tavassoli FA, Kempson RL. Mesenchymal tumours and related lesions. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours pathology and genetics of tumours of the breast and female genital organ. Lyon: IARC Press; 2003.
- Norris HJ, Taylor HB. Mesenchymal tumors of the uterus. I. A clinical and pathological study of 53 endometrial stromal tumors. Cancer. 1966;19:755–66.
- 206. Chu PG, Arber DA, Weiss LM, et al. Utility of CD10 in distinguishing between endometrial stromal sarcoma and uterine smooth muscle tumors: an immunohistochemical comparison of 34 cases. Mod Pathol. 2001;14:465–71.
- 207. McCluggage WG, Sumathi VP, Maxwell P. CD10 is a sensitive and diagnostically useful immunohistochemical marker of normal endometrial stroma and of endometrial stromal neoplasms. Histopathology. 2001;39:273–8.
- Lee CH, Marino-Enriquez A, Ou W, et al. The clinicopathologic features of YWHAE-FAM22 endometrial stromal sarcomas: a histologically high-grade and clinically aggressive tumor. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36:641–53.
- 209. Soslow RA, Isacson C, Zaloudek C. Immunohistology of the female genital tract. In: Diagnostic immunohistochemistry. 2nd ed. Edinburgh: Churcill Livingstone; 2006. p. 637–98.
- 210. Lee CH, Ali RH, Rouzbahman M, et al. Cyclin D1 as a diagnostic immunomarker for endometrial stromal sarcoma with YWHAE-FAM22 rearrangement. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36:1562–70.
- 211. Caudell JJ, Deavers MT, Slomovitz BM, et al. Imatinib mesylate (gleevec)--targeted kinases are expressed in uterine sarcomas. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2005;13:167–70.

- 212. Cossu-Rocca P, Contini M, Uras MG, et al. Tyrosine kinase receptor status in endometrial stromal sarcoma: an immunohistochemical and genetic-molecular analysis. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2012;31:570–9.
- 213. Klein WM, Kurman RJ. Lack of expression of c-kit protein (CD117) in mesenchymal tumors of the uterus and ovary. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2003;22:181–4.
- Nakayama M, Mitsuhashi T, Shimizu Y, et al. Immunohistochemical evaluation of KIT expression in sarcomas of the gynecologic region. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2006;25:70–6.
- 215. Lee CH, Liang CW, Espinosa I. The utility of discovered on gastrointestinal stromal tumor 1 (DOG1) antibody in surgical pathology-the GIST of it. Adv Anat Pathol. 2010;17:222–32.
- 216. Kurman RJ, Carcangiu ML, Herrington CS, et al. Tumours of the uterine corpus—mesenchymal tumours. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours of female reproductive organs. Lyon: IARC Press; 2014.
- 217. Masand RP, Euscher ED, Deavers MT, Malpica A. Endometrioid stromal sarcoma: a clinicopathologic study of 63 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2013;37(11):1635–47.
- Clair K, Wolford J, Veran-Taguibao S, Kim G, Eskander RN. Primary low-grade endometrial stromal sarcoma of the omentum. Gynecol Oncol Rep. 2017;21:119–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gore.2017.08.002.
- 219. Ho RSL, Chan GCF, Ha SY, Ip PP. Endometriosisassociated serous borderline tumor and endometrial stromal sarcoma of the ovary: a report of a rare lesion in an infant. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2012;31(1):98–102.
- Masand RP. Unusual presentations of gynecologic tumors: primary, extrauterine, low-grade endometrioid stromal sarcoma. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2018;142:536–41.
- 221. Young RH, Prat J, Scully RE. Endometrioid stromal sarcomas of the ovary: a clinicopathologic analysis of 23 cases. Cancer. 1984;53(5):1143–55.
- 222. Oliva E, Egger JF, Young RH. Primary endometrioid stromal sarcoma of the ovary: a clinicopathologic study of 27 cases with morphologic and behavioral features similar to those of uterine low-grade endometrial stromal sarcoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2014;38(3):305–15.
- 223. Chang KL, Crabtree GS, Lim-Tan SK, Kempson RL, Hendrickson MR. Primary extrauterine endometrial stromal neoplasms: a clinicopathologic study of 20 cases and a review of the literature. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1993;12(4):282–96.
- 224. Baratti D, Pennacchioli E, Kusamura S, et al. Peritoneal sarcomatosis: is there a subset of patients who may benefit from cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy? Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:3220–8.
- 225. Ip PP, Cheung AN. Pathology of uterine leiomyosarcomas and smooth muscle tumours of

uncertain malignant potential. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2011;25(6):691–704. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2011.07.003. Epub 23 Aug 2011.

- 226. Mittal KR, Chen F, Wei JJ, et al. Molecular and immunohistochemical evidence for the origin of uterine leiomyosarcomas from associated leiomyoma and symplastic leiomyoma-like areas. Mod Pathol. 2009;22:1303–11.
- 227. Yanai H, Wani Y, Notohara K, et al. Uterine leiomyosarcoma arising in leiomyoma: clinicopathological study of four cases and literature review. Pathol Int. 2010;60:506–9.
- Zhang P, Zhang C, Hao J, et al. Use of X-chromosome inactivation pattern to determine the clonal origins of uterine leiomyoma and leiomyosarcoma. Hum Pathol. 2006;37:1350–6.
- 229. Mittal K, Popiolek D, Demopoulos RI. Uterine myxoid leiomyosarcoma within a leiomyoma. Hum Pathol. 2000;31:398–400.
- Mittal K, Joutovsky A. Areas with benign morphologic and immunohistochemical features are associated with some uterine leiomyosarcomas. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;104:362–5.
- 231. Ip PP, Tse KY, Tam KF. Uterine smooth muscle tumors other than the ordinary leiomyomas and leiomyosarcomas: a review of selected variants with emphasis on recent advances and unusual morphology that may cause concern for malignancy. Adv Anat Pathol. 2010;17:91–112.
- 232. Ip PP, Lam KW, Cheung CL, et al. Tranexamic acidassociated necrosis and intralesional thrombosis of uterine leiomyomas: a clinicopathologic study of 147 cases emphasizing the importance of druginduced necrosis and early infarcts in leiomyomas. Am J Surg Pathol. 2007;31:1215–24.
- 233. Gao HG, LiVolsi VA, Zhang PJ. Utility of trichrome and reticulin stains in characterizing necroses in uterine smooth muscle tumors [abstract]. Mod Pathol. 2007;20:198A.
- 234. Hendrickson MR, Tavassoli FA, Kempson RL, et al. Mesenchymal tumours and related lesions. In: Tavassoli FA, Devilee P, editors. World Health Organization classification of tumours: pathology and genetics of tumours of the breast and female genital organs. Lyon: IARC Press; 2003. p. 236–43.
- 235. Major FJ, Blessing JA, Silverberg SG, et al. Prognostic factors in early-stage uterine sarcoma. A Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Cancer. 1993;71(4 Suppl):1702–9.
- 236. Oliva E, Young RH, Amin MB, et al. An immunohistochemical analysis of endometrial stromal and smooth muscle tumors of the uterus: a study of 54 cases emphasizing the importance of using a panel because of overlap in immunoreactivity for individual antibodies. Am J Surg Pathol. 2002;26:403–12.
- 237. Rizeq MN, van de Rijn M, Hendrickson MR, et al. A comparative immunohistochemical study of uterine smooth muscle neoplasms with emphasis on the epithelioid variant. Hum Pathol. 1994;25:671–7.

- 238. de Leval L, Waltregny D, Boniver J, et al. Use of histone deacetylase 8 (HDAC8), a new marker of smooth muscle differentiation, in the classification of mesenchymal tumors of the uterus. Am J Surg Pathol. 2006;30:319–27.
- 239. Liang J, Wu L, Xiao H, et al. Use of myocardin in the classification of mesenchymal tumors of the uterus. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2010;29:55–62.
- 240. Hall KL, Teneriello MG, Taylor RR, et al. Analysis of Ki-ras, p53, and MDM2 genes in uterine leiomyomas and leiomyosarcomas. Gynecol Oncol. 1997;65:330–5.
- 241. Jeffers MD, Farquharson MA, Richmond JA, et al. p53 immunoreactivity and mutation of the p53 gene in smooth muscle tumours of the uterine corpus. J Pathol. 1995;177:65–70.
- 242. O'Neill CJ, McBride HA, Connolly LE, et al. Uterine leiomyosarcomas are characterized by high p16, p53 and MIB1 expression in comparison with usual leiomyomas, leiomyoma variants and smooth muscle tumours of uncertain malignant potential. Histopathology. 2007;50:851–8.
- 243. Blom R, Guerrieri C, Stal O, et al. Leiomyosarcoma of the uterus: a clinicopathologic, DNA flow cytometric, p53, and mdm-2 analysis of 49 cases. Gynecol Oncol. 1998;68:54–61.
- 244. de Vos S, Wilczynski SP, Fleischhacker M, et al. p53 alterations in uterine leiomyosarcomas versus leiomyomas. Gynecol Oncol. 1994;54:205–8.
- 245. Leitao MM, Soslow RA, Nonaka D, et al. Tissue microarray immunohistochemical expression of estrogen, progesterone, and androgen receptors in uterine leiomyomata and leiomyosarcoma. Cancer. 20041;101:1455–62.
- 246. Mittal K, Demopoulos RI. MIB-1 (Ki-67), p53, estrogen receptor, and progesterone receptor expression in uterine smooth muscle tumors. Hum Pathol. 2001;32:984–7.
- 247. Zhai YL, Kobayashi Y, Mori A, et al. Expression of steroid receptors, Ki-67, and p53 in uterine leiomyosarcomas. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1999;18:20–8.
- 248. Rushing RS, Shajahan S, Chendil D, et al. Uterine sarcomas express KIT protein but lack mutation(s) in exon11or17 of c-KIT. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;91:9–14.
- 249. Lasota J, Jasinski M, Sarlomo-Rikala M, et al. Mutations in exon11 of c-Kit occur preferentially in malignant versus benign gastrointestinal stromal tumors and do not occur in leiomyomas or leiomyosarcomas. Am J Pathol. 1999;154:53–60.
- Serrano C, Mackintosh C, Herrero D, et al. Imatinib is not a potential alternative treatment for uterine leiomyosarcoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:4977–9, author reply 9–80.
- 251. D'Angelo E, Prat J. Uterine sarcomas: a review. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;116:131–9.
- 252. Jones MW, Norris HJ. Clinicopathologic study of 28 uterine leiomyosarcomas with metastasis. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1995;14:243–9.
- 253. Evans HL, Chawla SP, Simpson C, et al. Smooth muscle neoplasms of the uterus other than ordinary

leiomyoma. A study of 46 cases, with emphasis on diagnostic criteria and prognostic factors. Cancer. 1988;62:2239–47.

- 254. Tirumani SH, Deaver P, Shinagare AB, et al. Metastatic pattern of uterine leiomyosarcoma: retrospective analysis of the predictors and outcome in 113 patients. J Gynecol Oncol. 2014;25(4):306–12. https://doi.org/10.3802/jgo.2014.25.4.306.
- 255. Sugarbaker P, Ihemelandu C, Bijelic L. Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC as a treatment option for laparoscopic resection of uterine leiomyosarcoma with morcellation: early results. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1501–7.
- 256. Oduyebo T, Rauh-Hain AJ, Meserve EE, Seidman MA, HinchcliffE, George S, Quade B, Nucci MR, Del Carmen MG, Muto MG. The value of re-exploration in patients with inadvertently morcellated uterine sarcoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;132(2):360–5.
- 257. Tanimura A, Cho T, Nohara M, et al. Primary leiomyosarcoma of the omentum. Kurume Med J. 1980;27:101–5.
- 258. Tsurumi H, Okada S, Koshino Y, Oyama M, Higaki H, Shimokawa K, Yamauchi O, Moriwaki H, Muto Y. A case of leiomyoblastoma (epithelioid leiomyosarcoma) of the greater omentum. Gastroenterol Jpn. 1991;26(3):370–5.
- 259. Mahon DE, Carp NZ, Goldhahn RT, et al. Primary leiomyosarcoma of the greater omentum: case report and review of the literature. Am Surg. 1993;59:160–3.
- 260. Brañes A, Bustamante C, Valbuena J, Pimentel F, Quezada N. Primary leiomyosarcoma of the greater omentum: a case report. Int J Surg Case Rep. 2016;28:317–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijscr.2016.10.025. Epub 14 Oct 2016.
- Ishida H, Ishida J. Primary tumours of the greater omentum. Eur Radiol. 1998;8(9):1598–601.
- Scwartz RW, Reames M, McGrath PC, et al. Primary solid neoplasms of the greater omentum. Surgery. 1991;109:543–9.
- Stout AP, Hendry J, Purdie FJ. Primary solid tumors of the greater omentum. Cancer. 1963;16:231–43.
- 264. Fattar S, Morton PCG, Schulman A, et al. Radiological diagnosis of primary greater omental mass lesion. Clin Radiol. 1981;32:325–30.
- Weinberger HA, Ahmed MS. Mesenchymal solid tumors of the omentum. Surgery. 1997;82:754–9.
- 266. Virchow R. Die Krankhaften Geschwülste. Berlin: Springer; 1863.
- 267. Ewing J. Neoplatic diseases. Philadelphia, PA: W.B. Saunders; 1919.
- 268. Zhao S, Bellone S, Lopez S, et al. Mutational landscape of uterine and ovarian carcinosarcomas implicates histone genes in epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113:12238–43.
- 269. Wada H, Enomoto T, Fujita M, et al. Molecular evidence that most but not all carcinosarcomas of the uterus are combination tumours. Cancer Res. 1997;57:5379–85.

- 270. Nieto MA, Huang RY, Jackson RA, et al. Emt: 2016. Cell. 2016;166:21–45.
- 271. Pang A, Carbini M, Moreira AL, Maki RG. Carcinosarcomas and related cancers: tumors caught in the act of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(2):210–6.
- 272. Banik T, Halder D, Gupta N, Dey P. Malignant mixed Mullerian tumor of the uterus: diagnosis of a case by fine-needle aspiration cytology and review of literature. Diagn Cytopathol (in press).
- 273. Ahuja A, Safaya R, Prakash G, Kumar L, Shukla NK. Primary mixed mullerian tumor of the vagina a case report with review of the literature. Pathol Res Pract. 2011;207(4):253–5.
- 274. Sharma NK, Sorosky JI, Bender D, Fletcher MS, Sood AK. Malignant mixed mullerian tumor (MMMT) of the cervix. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;97(2):442–5.
- 275. Duman BB, Kara IO, Gunaldi M, Ercolak V. Malignant mixed Mullerian tumor of the ovary with two cases and review of the literature. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2011;283(6):1363–8.
- 276. Shen YM, Xie YP, Xu L, et al. Malignant mixed mullerian tumor of the fallopian tube: report of two cases and review of literature. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2010;281(6):1023–8.
- 277. Arend R, Doneza JA, Wright JD. Uterine carcinosarcoma. Curr Opin Oncol. 2011;23:531.
- 278. Kurman RJ, Carcangiu ML, Herrington CS, et al. WHO classification of tumours of female reproductive organs. 4th ed. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 279. de Jong RA, Nijman HW, Wijbrandi TF, Reyners AK, Boezen HM, Hollema H. Molecular markers and clinical behavior of uterine carcinosarcomas: focus on the epithelial tumor component. Mod Pathol (in press).
- 280. Arora P, Rao S, Khurana N, Talwar D, Tanwar R. Malignant mixed Mullerian tumor of broad ligament with synchronous ovarian and endometrial carcinoma: a rare association. J Cancer Res Ther. 2011;7(1):88–91.
- McCluggage WG. Uterine carcinosarcomas (malignant mixed Mullerian tumors) are metaplastic carcinomas. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2002;12(6):687–90.
- El-Nashar SA, Mariani A. Uterine carcinosarcoma. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2011;54(2):292–304.
- 283. N'Kanza AL, Jobanputra S, Farmer P, Lovecchio J, Yelon JA, Rudloff U. Central nervous system involvement from malignant mixed Mullerian tumor (MMMT) of the uterus. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2005;273(1):63–8.
- 284. Jin Z, Ogata S, Tamura G, et al. Carcinosarcomas (malignant mullerian mixed tumors) of the uterus and ovary: a genetic study with special reference to histogenesis. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2003;22(4):368–73.
- 285. Kuyumcuollu U, Kale A. Homologous type of malignant mixed Mullerian tumor of the uterus presenting as a cervical mass. J Chin Med Assoc. 2009;72(10):533–5.

- 286. Niculescu M, Simionescu C, Novac L, Mogoanta L, Stanescu RM. The uterine carcinosarcoma a case report. Romanian J Morphol Embryol. 2007;48(4):431–5.
- 287. Doss LL, Llorens AS, Henriquez EM. Carcinosarcoma of the uterus: a 40-year experience from the state of Missouri. Gynecol Oncol. 1984;18(1):43–53.
- 288. Kernochan LE, Garcia RL. Carcinosarcomas (malignant mixed mullerian tumor) of the uterus: advances in elucidation of biologic and clinical characteristics. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2009;7(5):550–7.
- Genever AV, Abdi S. Can MRI predict the diagnosis of endometrial carcinosarcoma? Clin Radiol. 2011;66(7):621–4.
- 290. Ohguri T, Aoki T, Watanabe H, et al. MRI findings including gadolinium-enhanced dynamic studies of malignant, mixed mesodermal tumors of the uterus: differentiation from endometrial carcinomas. Eur Radiol. 2002;12(11):2737–42.
- Brown L. Pathology of uterine malignancies. Clin Oncol. 2008;20(6):433–47.
- 292. Kajo K, Zubor P, Spacek J, Ryska A. Carcinosarcoma of the uterus with melanocytic differentiation. Pathol Res Pract. 2007;203(10):753–8.
- 293. Buza N, Tavassoli FA. Comparative analysis of P16 and P53 expression in uterine malignant mixed mullerian tumors. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2009;28(6):514–21.
- 294. Kanthan R, Senger JLB, Diudea D. Malignant mixed Mullerian tumors of the uterus: histopathological evaluation of cell cycle and apoptotic regulatory proteins. World J Surg Oncol. 2010;8, article 60.
- 295. Huang GS, Chiu LG, Gebb JS, et al. Serum CA125 predicts extrauterine disease and survival in uterine carcinosarcoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;107(3):513–7.
- Livasy CA, Reading FC, Moore DT, Boggess JF, Lininger RA. EGFR expression and HER2/neu overexpression/amplification in endometrial carcinosarcoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;100(1):101–6.
- 297. Raspollini MR, Susini T, Amunni G, et al. COX-2, c-KIT and HER-2/neu expression in uterine carcinosarcomas: prognostic factors or potential markers for targeted therapies? Gynecol Oncol. 2005;96(1):159–67.
- 298. Sawada M, Tsuda H, Kimura M, et al. Different expression patterns of KIT, EGFR, and HER-2 (c-erbB-2) oncoproteins between epithelial and mesenchymal components in uterine carcinosarcoma. Cancer Sci. 2003;94(11):986–91.
- 299. Swisher EM, Gown AM, Skelly M, et al. The expression of epidermal growth factor receptor, HER-2/ Neu, p53, and Ki-67 antigen in uterine malignant mixed mesodermal tumors and adenosarcoma. Gynecol Oncol. 1996;60(1):81–8.
- 300. Siegel R, Ward E, Brawley O, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2011: the impact of eliminating socioeconomic and racial disparities on premature cancer deaths. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61:212–36.

- 301. del Carmen MG, Birrer M, Schorge JO. Carcinosarcoma of the ovary: a review of the literature. Gynecol Oncol. 2012;125:271–7.
- 302. Schipf A, Mayr D, Kichner T, et al. Molecular genetic aberrations of ovarian and uterine carcinosarcomas—a CGH and FISH study. Virchows Arch. 2008;452:259–68.
- 303. Sonoda Y, Saigo PE, Gederici MG, et al. Carcinosarcoma of the ovary in a patient with germline BRCA2 mutation: evidence for monoclonal origin. Gynecol Oncol. 2000;76:226–9.
- 304. Ng JS, Han AC, Edelson MI, Rosenblum NG. Oncoprotein profiles of primary peritoneal malignant mixed mullerian tumors. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2003;13:870–4.
- 305. Gallardo A, Matias-Guiu X, Lagarda H, et al. Malignant mullerian mixed tumor arising from ovarian serous carcinoma: a clinicopathologic and molecular study of two cases. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2002;21:268–72.
- 306. Brown E, Stewart M, Rye T, Al-Nafussi A, et al. Carcinosarcoma of the ovary: 19 years of prospective data from a single center. Cancer. 2004;100(10):2148–53.
- 307. Sood AK, Sorosky JI, Gelder MS, Buller RE, et al. Primary ovarian sarcoma—analysis of prognostic variables and the role of surgical cytoreduction. Cancer. 1998;82:1731–7.
- 308. Chang J, Sharpe JC, A'Hern RP, Fisher C, et al. Carcinosarcoma of the ovary: incidence, prognosis, treatment and survival of patients. Ann Oncol. 1995;6(8):755–8.
- 309. Morrow CP, d'Ablaing G, Brady LW, Blessing JA, Hreshchyshin MM. A clinical and pathologic study of 30 cases of malignant mixed mullerian epithelial and mesenchymal ovarian tumors: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecol Oncol. 1984;18:278–92.
- 310. Ariyoshi K, Kawauchi S, Kaku T, Nakano H, Tsuneyoshi M. Prognostic factors in ovarian carcinosarcoma: a clinicopathological and immunohistochemical analysis of 23 cases. Histopathology. 2000;37:427–36.
- 311. Althavale R, Thomakos N, Godrey K, et al. The effect of epithelial and stromal tumor components on FIGO stages III and IV ovarian carcinosarcomas treated with primary surgery and chemotherapy. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2007;17:1025–30.
- 312. Nayha V, Stenback F. Angiogenesis and expression of angiogenic agents in uterine and ovarian carcinosarcomas. APMIS. 2008;116:107–17.
- 313. Eichhorn JH, Young RH, Clement PB, Scully RE. Mesodermal (Müllerian) adenosarcoma of the ovary. A clinicopathologic analysis of 40 cases and a review of the literature. Am J Surg Pathol. 2002;26:1243–58.
- 314. Chen X, Arend R, Hamele-Bena D, Tergas AI, Hawver M, Tong GX, Wright TC, Wright JD. Uterine carcinosarcomas: clinical, histopathologic and immunohistochemical characteristics. Int

J Gynecol Pathol. 2017;36(5):412–9. https://doi. org/10.1097/PGP.0000000000346.

- 315. Mok JE, Kim YM, Jung MH, Kim KR, Kim DY, Kim JH, et al. Malignant mixed mullerian tumors of the ovary: experience with cytoreductive surgery and platinum-based combination chemotherapy. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2006;16:101–5.
- 316. Boucher D, Tetu B. Morphologic prognostic factors of malignant mixed mullerian tumors of the ovary: a clinicopathologic study of 15 cases. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1994;13(1):22–8.
- 317. Menon S, Deodhar K, Rekhi B, Dhake R, Gupta S, Ghosh J, Maheshwari A, Mahantshetty U, Shrivastva S, Budukh A, Tongaonkar HB, Kerkar R. Clinicopathological spectrum of primary ovarian malignant mixed mullerian tumors (OMMMT) from a tertiary cancer institute: a series of 27 cases. Indian J Pathol Microbiol. 2013;56:365–71.
- 318. Boyd J. Molecular genetics of gynecologic cancer. In: Morrow CP, Curtin JP, editors. Synopsis of gynecologic oncology. 5th ed. New York: Churchill Livingstone; 1998. p. 515–31.
- 319. Szukala SA, Marks JR, Burchette JL, et al. Co-expression of p53 by epithelial and stromal elements in carcinosarcoma of the female genital tract: an immunohistochemical study of 19 cases. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 1999;9:131–6.
- 320. Yemelyanova A, Ji H, Shih IM, et al. Utility of p16 expression for distinction uterine serous carcinoma from endometrial endometrioid and endocervical adenocarcinoma. Immunohistochemical analysis of 201 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2009;33:1504–14.
- 321. Meis JM, Lawrence WD. The immunohistochemical profile of malignant mixed mullerian tumor. Overlap with endometrial adenocarcinoma. Am J Clin Pathol. 1990;94:1–7.
- 322. Costa MJ, Guinee D Jr. CD34 immunohistochemistry in female genital tract carcinosarcoma (malignant mixed mullerian tumors) supports a dominant role of the carcinomatous component. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2000;8:293–9.
- 323. Holmes BJ, Gown AM, Vang R, et al. PAX8 expression in uterine malignant mixed mesodermal tumor (carcinosarcoma). Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2014;33:425–31.
- 324. Hendrickson M, Ross J, Eifel P, Martinez A, Kempson R. Uterine papillary serous carcinoma: a highly malignant form of endometrial adenocarcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 1982;6(2):93–108.
- 325. Lee KR, Tavassoli FA, Prat J. Surface epithelial stromal tumors of the ovary and peritoneum. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumors of the breast and female genital organs. Lyon: IARC Press; 2003. p. 117–61.
- 326. El-Sahwi KS, Schwartz PE, Santin AD. Development of targeted therapy in uterine serous carcinoma, a biologically aggressive variant of endometrial cancer. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2012;12(1):41–9.

- 327. Weinstein JN, et al. Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network the Cancer genome atlas pan-cancer analysis project. Nat Genet. 2013;45(10):1113–20.
- 328. Cherniack AD, Shen H, Walter V, Stewart C, Murray BA, Bowlby R, et al. Integrated molecular characterization of uterine carcinosarcoma. Cancer Cell. 2017;31(3):411–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccell.2017.02.010.
- 329. Jones S, Stransky N, McCord CL, Cerami E, Lagowski J, Kelly D, Angiuoli SV, Sausen M, Kann L, Shukla M, et al. Genomic analyses of gynaecologic carcinosarcomas reveal frequent mutations in chromatin remodelling genes. Nat Commun. 2014;5:5006.
- 330. Zhao S, Bellone S, Lopez S, Thakral D, Schwab C, English DP, et al. Mutational landscape of uterine and ovarian carcinosarcomas implicates histone genes in epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(43):12238–43. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1614120113.
- 331. Fukuda S, Fujiwara Y, Wakasa T, Kitani K, Tsujie M, Yukawa M, Ohta Y, Inoue M. Giant gastric gastrointestinal stromal tumor with severe peritoneal dissemination controlled by imatinib therapy following debulking surgery: a case report. J Med Case Rep. 2017;11(1):33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13256-017-1215-5.
- 332. Patil DT, Rubin BP. Gastrointestinal stromal tumor: advances in diagnosis and management. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2011;135(10):1298–310.
- 333. Fletcher CD, Berman JJ, Corless C, Gorstein F, Lasota J, Longley BJ, Miettinen M, O'Leary TJ, Remotti H, Rubin BP. Diagnosis of gastrointestinal stromal tumors: a consensus approach. Hum Pathol. 2002;33:459–65.
- 334. Miettinen M, Lasota J. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors: review on morphology, molecular pathology, prognosis, and differential diagnosis. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2006;130:1466–78.
- 335. Rubin BP, Blanke CD, Demetri GD, Dematteo RP, Fletcher CD, Goldblum JR, Lasota J, Lazar A, Maki RG, Miettinen M, et al. Protocol for the examination of specimens from patients with gastrointestinal stromal tumor. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010;134:165–70.
- 336. Sanchez-Hidalgo JM, Duran-Martinez M, Molero-Payan R, Rufian-Peña S, Arjona-Sanchez A, Casado-Adam A, Cosano-Alvarez A, Briceño-Delgado J. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors: a multidisciplinary challenge. World J Gastroenterol. 2018;24(18):1925–41. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg. v24.i18.1925.
- 337. Martin-Broto J, Martinez-Marín V, Serrano C, Hindi N, López-Guerrero JA, Bisculoa M, Ramos-Asensio R, Vallejo-Benítez A, Marcilla-Plaza D, González-Cámpora R. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GISTs): SEAP-SEOM consensus on pathologic and molecular diagnosis. Clin Transl Oncol. 2017;19:536–45.
- 338. Corless CL, Ballman KV, Antonescu CR, Kolesnikova V, Maki RG, Pisters PW, Blackstein

ME, Blanke CD, Demetri GD, Heinrich MC, et al. Pathologic and molecular features correlate with long-term outcome after adjuvant therapy of resected primary GI stromal tumor: the ACOSOG Z9001 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:1563–70.

- 339. Reichardt P, Hogendoorn PC, Tamborini E, Loda M, Gronchi A, Poveda A, Schöffski P. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors I: pathology, pathobiology, primary therapy, and surgical issues. Semin Oncol. 2009;36:290–301.
- 340. Corless CL, Barnett CM, Heinrich MC. Gastrointestinal stromal tumours: origin and molecular oncology. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11:865–78.
- Lasota J, Miettinen M. Clinical significance of oncogenic KIT and PDGFRA mutations in gastrointestinal stromal tumours. Histopathology. 2008;53:245–66.
- 342. Blay JY, Heinrich MC, Hohenberger P, Casali PG, Rutkowski P, Serrano-Garcia C, Jones RL, Hall KS, Eckardt JR, von Mehren M. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase III study of crenolanib in advanced or metastatic GIST patients bearing a D842V mutation in PDGFRA: the CrenoGIST study. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35. Published online before print.

- 343. Hostein I, Faur N, Primois C, Boury F, Denard J, Emile JF, Bringuier PP, Scoazec JY, Coindre JM. BRAF mutation status in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Am J Clin Pathol. 2010;133:141–8.
- 344. Janeway KA, Kim SY, Lodish M, Nosé V, Rustin P, Gaal J, Dahia PL, Liegl B, Ball ER, Raygada M, et al. Defects in succinate dehydrogenase in gastrointestinal stromal tumors lacking KIT and PDGFRA mutations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:314–8.
- 345. Ricci R. Syndromic gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Hered Cancer Clin Pract. 2016;14:15.
- 346. Casali PG, Zalcberg J, Le Cesne A, Reichardt P, Blay JY, Lindner LH, Judson IR, Schöffski P, Leyvraz S, Italiano A, et al. Ten-year progression-free and overall survival in patients with unresectable or metastatic GI stromal tumors: long-term analysis of the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer, Italian Sarcoma Group, and Australasian Gastrointestinal Trials Group Intergroup phase III randomized trial on imatinib at two dose levels. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35:1713–20.
- 347. Sánchez Hidalgo JM, Muñoz Casares FC, Rufian Peña S, Naranjo Torres A, Ciria Bru R, Briceño Delgado J, López Cillero P. [Gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST): factors predictive of survival after R0-cytoreduction]. Rev Esp Enferm Dig. 2007;99:703–8.



11

# Approach to a Patient with Peritoneal Metastases with Unknown Primary Site: Focus on Histopathological Evaluation

Aditi Bhatt, Loma Parikh, Suniti Mishra, and Olivier Glehen

# 11.1 Introduction

Most peritoneal metastases are secondary to other primary tumours whilst some rare tumours arise from the peritoneum itself. With the plethora of diagnostic investigations available, establishing the diagnosis and origin of peritoneal metastases is not a problem. Yet some situations can be challenging when an unsuspecting surgeon commits a diagnostic blunder or the primary tumour remains elusive despite a focused search. The curative treatment of PM is only for selected patients and comes with its own morbidity and cost [1]. Subjecting a patient to surgery where it is not indicated may lead to unnecessary morbidity and not uncommonly, early and symptomatic recurrence that can make the patient ineligible for systemic therapies [2]. Sugarbaker first reported the benefit of performing cytoreductive

A. Bhatt

Department of Surgical Oncology, Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

L. Parikh Department of Pathology, Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

S. Mishra Department of Pathology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India

O. Glehen (🖂)

Department of Surgical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Lyon-Sud, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Lyon, France e-mail: olivier.glehen@chu-lyon.fr surgery and HIPEC in 15 patients with peritoneal metastases with undetermined primary site [3]. In this series, there were six patients with a poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma, four with adenocarcinoma and four with mucinous adenocarcinoma. Since the publication in 2001, progress has been made in molecular biology and diagnostic methods and newer and more effective systemic therapies have become available.

In many primary tumours, PM are a part of widespread metastatic disease. In a smaller percentage, they occur in isolation. Ovarian cancer is the exceptional tumour where peritoneal disease is not considered as distant metastases. The commonest tumours presenting to a peritoneal surface oncology unit are ovarian cancer, colorectal cancer, gastric cancer and rare peritoneal tumours like mucinous appendiceal tumours, peritoneal mesothelioma among others [4]. Commonest histological subtypes include adenocarcinomas, serous carcinomas, mucinous carcinomas and some rare tumours like round cell tumours and sarcomas. Either it is a common histology with an occult primary or an uncommon histology that needs to be accurately diagnosed. Peritoneal metastasis with an unknown primary site is a rare entity that has not been addressed separately. We look at the common histologies seen in peritoneal metastases, their commonest differential diagnosis and some peculiar situations in this chapter. The clinical aspects are touched in brief with greater stress on the

O. Glehen, A. Bhatt (eds.), *Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3773-8\_11

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

pathological aspects of diagnosis. The uncommon histologies have been discussed in the preceding chapter.

## 11.2 Definition

Metastatic cancer of unknown primary (CUP) is defined as:

Histologically confirmed malignancy, for which no primary site is found despite an extensive diagnostic work-up [5].

Similarly, peritoneal metastases may occur in the absence of a known, identified primary malignancy.

## 11.3 Pathogenesis

There are two theories proposed to explain the development of CUP. The first hypothesis postulates that CUP does not undergo type 1 progression (from a premalignant lesion to malignant) but instead it follows a type 2 progression without forming a primary site. The second hypothesis supports that CUP follows the parallel progression model, where metastases can arise early in the development of a malignant process [6, 7].

There are some histologies that have a favourable outcome with treatment and are considered to be tumours with a good prognosis like papillary adenocarcinoma of the peritoneum and there are others that have a poor prognosis like adenocarcinoma having the marker profile of colonic origin [8].

# 11.4 Pathological Evaluation

Pathological evaluation of biopsy specimens or surgical specimens is the gold standard for establishing the diagnosis. Immunohistochemistry is a very useful adjunct to histopathological evaluation that is now considered an extension of routine pathological reporting. Molecular tests may be performed to confirm the diagnosis of rare tumours with known genetic alterations or to determine the diagnosis in cases where the histopathological evaluation is inconclusive and also to identify known and unknown therapeutic targets and are discussed in the following chapter.

It must be borne in mind that the pathological evaluation should not be performed in isolation, but keeping in mind the clinical history and other clinical findings. The other challenge is that in most instances, the diagnosis has to be made on a tissue sample that has been obtained by performing a transabdominal or laparoscopic biopsy and may be inadequate. Good coordination between the surgeons and pathologist is essential. Laparoscopic biopsy where possible is better as it allows better sampling. The morphology of the peritoneal deposits and disease extent can also be evaluated. Fluid samples alone may be submitted, but it is better if the evaluation is performed on biopsy specimens as often these are paucicellular and non-representative of the actual tumour.

In this chapter, we have broadly divided the tumours into five groups—adenocarcinomas, serous carcinomas, mucinous carcinomas, sarcomas and uncommon histologies. These groups are not mutually exclusive. The distinction between the subtypes of adenocarcinoma and serous carcinomas is not always clear and pathologists may put the same tumour in either group. The rare histologies are discussed elsewhere in this book.

## 11.4.1 Adenocarcinomas

Metastatic adenocarcinoma is perhaps the most common histological finding in peritoneal metastases. Though the exact incidence is not known, in majority of the cases, the underlying primary is from colorectum, stomach and ovaries. Other less common primaries presenting with isolated peritoneal metastases are endometrial adenocarcinoma, small bowel adenocarcinoma, appendiceal adenocarcinoma, cervical adenocarcinoma, pancreatobiliary adenocarcinomas and metastatic breast carcinoma. In majority of the cases, the primary site is evident on imaging.

#### 11.4.1.1 Clinical Findings

In male patients, the commonest differentials would be colorectal, gastric and pancreaticobiliary

primaries, whereas in females it would be ovarian cancer, colorectal and gastric cancer. Though most of these tumours have an increased incidence in the older age groups, young age alone does not rule out any of the common primary tumours. There are no specific clinical findings in patients with PM that point towards the primary tumour site. The finding of PM may be incidental for investigations performed for non-specific symptoms or the presentation may be of advanced disease with ascites and its ensuing problems. A detailed clinical history of previous illnesses and treatments should be elicited. In rare situations, even when there is a history of pervious malignancy, PM may not be secondary but due to a primary tumour arising from the peritoneum. Upper and lower gastrointestinal endoscopy may not reveal a primary tumour and whole body imaging is negative for a primary. There is no pattern of peritoneal distribution that can point towards a particular diagnosis. The alteration in the tumour marker levels could give some clue about the primary site. There can be two clinical scenariosbilateral ovarian metastases with peritoneal deposits with no other apparent primary site and PM alone with an occult primary. An appendiceal primary tumour should be suspected and searched by laparoscopic evaluation. It could be difficult, even by laparoscopic approach in case of extensive PM with massive involvement of ileocolic area.

The presence of bilateral ovarian tumours has a greater possibility of being metastatic than unilateral tumours though this is not binding. The features of an ovarian primary and metastases to the ovary may or may not been distinguished on imaging. The most common sites should be first ruled out like ovarian, colorectal and gastric and the less common sites considered thereafter.

### 11.4.1.2 Histopathological Findings

Majority of the colorectal and gastric tumours are adenocarcinomas and can be distinguished from other primaries based on histology alone. However, when the primary tumour is not evident, immunohistochemistry should be performed to confirm the origin. Figure 11.1 provides an algorithm for selecting the immunohistochemistry markers.

Epithelial ovarian cancer forms the commonest differential of metastatic adenocarcinoma to the peritoneum. There are five subtypes of which the endometrioid variety alone is discussed here. Serous, clear cell and mucinous adenocarcinomas are described in subsequent sections. Adenocarcinomas of the endometrioid variety constitute 10% of the ovarian epithelial tumours. Distinction between a primary ovarian endometrioid carcinoma and colorectal carcinoma is simple as primary ovarian endometrioid carcinomas are usually positive with CK7, estrogen



Fig. 11.1 Algorithm for determining the primary site in adenocarcinoma

receptor (ER), CA125 and PAX8 and negative with CK20, CEA and CDX2 whilst the converse immunophenotype is seen in metastatic colorectal adenocarcinomas [9–11]. There are two specific markers for ovarian cancer that should be considered to establish the diagnosis of an ovarian primary. This first is paired-box 8 (PAX8) that is a sensitive marker for tumours of the thyroid, kidney and thymus, and tumours derived from the Müllerian ducts [10–12].

It is also a specific marker for tumours of Mullerian origin and is expressed in nearly 95% of the ovarian epithelial tumours [13]. It represents the simplest way of confirming the ovarian origin of peritoneal metastases. Uncommonly, some high-grade tumours may not express PAX-8 and it may be difficult to differentiate at times, an endometrioid adenocarcinoma from other ovarian tumours. WTI is a useful marker for distinguishing endometrioid adenocarcinoma from the other more common serous subtype. WTI is a tumour suppressor gene that was first identified in the genitourinary system (kidney, ovary and testes) and is responsible for the coding of a transcription factor of 52-54 kDa important in cell growth and differentiation [14, 15]. It is responsible for the development of hereditary and sporadic types of Wilms tumours within the renal parenchyma. It is also involved in the structural and functional development of the gonads and is overexpressed in primordial and primary ovarian follicles [16]. In the normal mature ovary, WT1 is expressed in the ovarian surface epithelium and in stromal and granulosa cells [17]. In the tumour-bearing ovary, WT1 is characteristic of the serous subtype being rarely found in the others [17].

WT1 can thus be useful in the differential diagnosis of primary ovarian tumours with nonspecific morphological features and also differentiating serous from the other subtypes. It also helps to exclude other primary tumours of uterine, breast, pancreatobiliary or gastrointestinal origin, exhibiting similar morphologic phenotype [17, 18]. Moreover, co-expression of WT1 and PAX8 has been recently demonstrated as a valuable association in confirming the ovarian origin of malignant effusions [19]. The endometrioid variety rarely expresses WTI and has a heterogeneous WT1 expression:

WT1 positivity implies that the tumour is either arising from the ovary or fallopian tube of peritoneum, whilst WT1 negativity indicates an ovarian tumour with origin in endometriosis foci [17].

The other common primary site is the lower gastrointestinal (GI) tract, specifically the colorectum. CDX2 is used to establish a colorectal/lower gastrointestinal origin.

Colorectal primaries need to be distinguished not just from ovarian primaries but also from gastric and pancreaticobiliary tumours and this may not always be clear on morphology alone. The typical immunohistochemistry profile of colorectal adenocarcinomas is expression of CK20 and CDX2 and lack of expression of CK7 [20]. However, CDX2 and CK20 have been shown to be positive in up to 21% each of gastric cancers and 14% and 21% of ovarian mucinous adenocarcinomas, respectively. Similarly, CK7 expression is seen in up to 50% of the gastric and ovarian carcinomas, more commonly, the mucinous ones. This combination of CK20 and CDX2, in one study, was more helpful in differentiating colorectal from pancreatic adenocarcinoma, which was only 2% CDX2 positive, 15% CK20 positive and predominantly CK7 positive (94%), and with only 3% of colorectal adenocarcinoma being CK7 positive [20].

Pancreatic tumours also express CEA and CA-19-9. Bayrak et al. compared the use of the CK7 negative CK20 positive pattern, which had a sensitivity of 64% and specificity of 97%, with use of CDX2 positivity, which had a 78% sensitivity and 85% specificity in differentiating colorectal from gastric and pancreatic adenocarcinoma [21].

Another confirmatory marker for colorectal origin is SATB2.

SATB2 is part of the family of matrix attachment region-binding transcription factors and has developmental roles in craniofacial, neural and osteoblastic differentiation [22]. SATB2 is expressed in the epithelium of the lower gastrointestinal tract and is seen in only a few malignancies including colorectal/appendiceal adenocarcinomas, tumours of osteoblastic differentiation and renal/urothelial carcinomas [23]. SATB2 is a specific marker of colorectal differentiation and is used to determine the origin of adenocarcinomas of unknown primary and distinguish primary ovarian mucinous adenocarcinomas from colorectal metastases. SATB2 as a solitary marker is reported to have a sensitivity of 93% and specificity of 77% but when combined with CK20 and CK7 expression, the sensitivity becomes 83% and specificity 100% as demonstrated in a large study [24, 25]. In comparison, the sensitivity and specificity of the CK7 negative, CK20 positive immunephenotype are 85% and 99%, respectively, and for the CDX2<sup>+</sup> immunophenotype these were 96% and 80%. Thus, when the primary is in situ, this marker does not add much to two-marker (CK7, CK20) combination or the three-marker combination (CK7, CK20, CDX2) [25-27]. The main application of SATB2 is to distinguish adenocarcinomas of colorectal origin from those of gastric and pancreatic origin [26, 27].

Most studies have shown a low expression in pancreaticobiliary and gastroesophageal tumours [27]. The only ones where the reported expression was high were the ones in which the threshold for positivity was low [28]. The expression of this marker is low even in lung and gynaecological adenocarcinomas which form the other differential diagnoses [28]. Pancreatic ductal carcinomas are also positive for CK8, CK17, CK18, CK19, CEA, CA19-9, Dupan-2, MUC1, MUC4 and MUC5AC [29–32].

### **Distinction from Breast Carcinomas**

Breast carcinoma can be a rare differential diagnosis of adenocarcinoma of the peritoneum. It should be borne in mind when the morphology is not characteristic of GI or ovarian origin especially in female patients. PAX-8 and CA-125 are positive in endometrioid carcinomas and negative in breast cancer though CA-125 could be positive [33, 34]. Markers useful but not specific for breast cancer are GCDFP15, mammaglobin and GATA3 (usually negative in endometrioid carcinomas and positive in breast carcinomas) [35, 36]. A proportion of endometrioid adenocarcinomas may be mammaglobin positive [36].

## **Other Uncommon Primary Sites**

When deemed necessary, TTF-1 and 2 can be used to rule out lung cancer. A high-grade neuroendocrine tumour can give the appearance of an adenocarcinoma and can be ruled out using chromogranin A, synaptophysin and the Ki-67 proliferation index [37]. A neuroendocrine tumour must be ruled out in poorly differentiated adenocarcinomas and poorly differentiated carcinomas. The other markers that are positive in all neuroendocrine tumours are PGP 9.5 and CD56 [38]. PM are usually part of widespread disease in these patients and are seen in over 15% of the patients [39]. Neuroendocrine tumours arising from the distal small bowel have a greater propensity for producing PM and lymph node metastases [40]. Some peculiar features of PM arising from these tumours are the small size of deposits (<5 mm) and mesenteric deposits along the blood vessels [41-44].

Carcinoids from the foregut and midgut are generally positive for chromogranin A and CD56, whilst those from the hindgut are usually negative [45–47]. Hindgut carcinoids on the other hand often express prostatic acid phosphatase [48]. A less helpful marker is CDX-2, which although positive for most colorectal carcinomas has an immunoreactivity of about 40% in well-differentiated carcinoids but has reported an 80% expression rate in poorly differentiated carcinoids [46, 49–51].

Hepatocellular carcinoma and small bowel adenocarcinoma are other rare differential diagnosis that should be considered. Small bowel tumours constitute 1-3% of all the gastrointestinal malignancies [52, 53]. Of the various tumours arising from the small bowel, adenocarcinomas are the commonest and constitute 30–45% of all the tumours [54, 55]. Small bowel adenocarcinoma is known to have a poor prognosis with a median overall survival ranging from 12 to 20 months [56, 57]. These tumours are CK7 positive in more than half of all cases, unlike normal small intestinal mucosa which is CK7 negative and colorectal adenocarcinomas which are CK7 negative and CK20 positive [58]. They are also positive for CK20, CDX-2 and villin [58].

The markers specific for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) are Glyican-3, CD34, AFP, CD10, CEA and HepPar-1 [59]. HCC includes its variant—fibrolamellar HCC and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinomas. These tumours express only a limited number of keratin markers, namely CK8 and CK18 and thus most metastatic carcinomas can be excluded as they generally express a larger variety of keratin markers such as CK5/6, CK7, CK14 or CK20 in comparison to HCC [60].

Many times the marker profiles overlap or do not give a clear pointer towards the primary. It is important to correlate the histology findings with the immunohistochemistry findings and not draw inferences from individual findings.

## 11.4.2 Serous Carcinomas

Serous carcinomas are the commonest variety of epithelial ovarian cancers that have a predilection for peritoneal spread. And hence, serous carcinoma is a common pathological diagnosis in patients with peritoneal metastases. Often the ovarian primaries are small in size and even inconspicuous. It has been shown that majority of the serous carcinomas arise from the fallopian tubes. The other less common sites of origin are the endometrium, cervix and the peritoneum itself [61]. The other differentials of a serous histology are peritoneal mesothelioma and breast cancer.

#### 11.4.2.1 Clinical Presentation

Majority of the serous carcinomas are seen in women [61]. Primary peritoneal serous carcinoma is a rare entity in males. These cancers occur in older women, most of whom have attained menopause [62]. Most serous carcinomas are diagnosed in an advanced stage with disseminated peritoneal disease and ascites [63, 64]. A pelvic mass may or may not be present. Even when a pelvic mass is present, the site of origin may not be clear. The other peritoneal tumour that can mimic serous carcinoma is peritoneal mesothelioma.

## 11.4.2.2 Histopathological Findings

The histological features of high-grade serous carcinomas are diagnostic and consist of branching papillary fronds, slit-like fenestrations, glandular complexity, moderate to marked nuclear atypia with marked pleomorphism, prominent nucleoli, stratification, frequent mitoses and stromal invasion (irregular or destructive infiltration by small glands or sheets of cells) [65]. Psammoma bodies are common (Fig. 11.2). The stroma may be fibrous, oedematous, myxoid or desmoplastic. In comparison, low-grade tumours have extensive papillary features with many psammoma bodies, papillae, glands, cysts or irregular nests of cells with uniform round to oval nuclei and evenly distributed chromatin. The nuclear features are variable. The mitotic count is less than 10 per high power field [65]. The cells lie in a variable amount of fibrous stroma. Some of the ovarian tumours have clear cell features and are considered clear cell variants of serous carcinoma.

When the ovarian primary is not evident or the ovaries have been removed before, immunohistochemistry is required to establish the site of origin. Another presentation could be of a pelvic mass with peritoneal metastases and the ovarian origin is not clear (Fig. 11.3). As discussed above, PAX-8 is used to establish Mullerian origin and is negative in primary peritoneal serous



Fig. 11.2 Psammoma bodies which are characteristic of serous carcinomas



**Fig. 11.3** Pelvic mass in a patient with serous carcinoma. The site of origin could be the ovary or the uterus. The prognosis is significantly worse in serous endometrial carcinomas

carcinomas. Moreover, some high-grade ovarian tumours may be PAX-8 negative. WTI is positive in present majority of the ovarian serous carcinomas.

WT1 is in contrast expressed in less than a third of the endometrial serous tumours [14]. However, in cases when both entities are WT1 positive, further investigations are needed to determine the primary site of origin [66]. The p53 expression can be similar in both the tumours. There may a situation in which both primaries co-exist. Making the distinction is important as endometrial serous carcinoma is a rare tumour and the outcomes with serous carcinoma of the endometrium are inferior to those obtained for serous ovarian carcinoma. It is believed that some of the primary peritoneal serous carcinoma serous carcinoma originate from a latent endometrial serous carcinoma [67–69].

WT1 differentiates serous ovarian carcinomas exhibiting similar morphology to that of pure clear cell ovarian carcinoma, as WT1 is negative in the latter [70]. WT1 cannot distinguish an ovarian high-grade ovarian serous carcinoma from a primary peritoneal serous carcinoma or high-grade fallopian tube carcinoma. All these three entities express WT1 diffusely [17, 18].

Low-grade serous carcinomas usually present with large ovarian masses that infiltrate the surrounding peritoneal structures and are an uncommon cause of PM with unknown primary.

A common non-gynaecological malignancy that needs to be ruled out is peritoneal mesothelioma. Though it is a rare tumour, it is a peritoneal disease and thus may be seen more often in a peritoneal surface malignancy unit than other common cancers like breast cancer that present rarely with isolated peritoneal disease. Though histological features can point towards the diagnosis of peritoneal mesothelioma, immunohistochemistry is essential to establish the diagnosis and comprises of both positive and negative markers [71]. Peritoneal mesothelioma arises from a single cell line but has a spectrum of cytoarchitectural features that make it unique and often difficult to diagnose. The spectrum includes tumours that are entirely of epithelial or mesenchymal (sarcomatoid) type to a range of biphasic and intermediate forms [72]. The epithelial subtype is characterized by cuboidal or flattened epithelial-like malignant mesothelial cells with ample cytoplasm with distinct cellular membranes, and a relatively uniform, granular to vesicular nuclei. The subtypes of epithelial peritoneal mesothelioma are categorized by the patterns observed for the malignant epithelial component and include tubulopapillary, solid, deciduoid, storiform-like, fascicular-like, multicystic, papillary, microcystic and granular [73]. A positive calretinin, cytokeratins 5/6, WT-1, thrombomodulin and mesothelin stain, accompanied by a negative B72.3, CEA, CD15, Leu-M1 and BER-EP4 immunostain is highly suggestive of peritoneal mesothelioma [74].

Calretinin, WT1, CK5/6, D2-40 and mesothelin are generally immunoreactive in peritoneal mesothelioma but can also be positive in gynecologic and non-gynecologic adenocarcinoma [75].

There are some extremely well-differentiated papillary mesotheliomas that need to be distinguished from benign mesothelial proliferation.

Cytological examination of ascitic fluid removed by paracentesis rarely results in a positive finding. If cells are recovered, they frequently resemble hyperplasic mesothelial cells with insufficient atypia present for a confident diagnosis. Calretinin is one of the first markers that was found to be useful in the diagnosis of mesothelioma. Calretinin is currently regarded as being the most sensitive and one of the most specific of the positive mesothelioma markers. Because of this, it has been recommended as one of the primary markers in the various panels that are currently used in the diagnosis of mesothelioma [76]. Calretinin is often expressed in all histologic types of mesothelioma, in contrast to other commonly used mesothelioma markers, such as keratin 5/6, Wilms' tumour 1 (WT1) protein and podoplanin, which are often expressed in epithelioid mesotheliomas, but are usually absent in sarcomatoid mesotheliomas [77].

Although the reaction reported for this marker in mesotheliomas is usually strong and diffuse and that seen in adenocarcinomas is most frequently restricted to small focal areas of the tumour, diffuse strong positivity can occasionally occur in adenocarcinomas [78]. In addition, it should be emphasized that there are differences in calretinin expression among the different types of carcinomas. The reported percentages of calretinin expression in recent investigations ranged from 6% to 10% in lung adenocarcinomas, 31% to 38% in serous carcinomas and 0% to 10% in renal cell carcinomas [79–85].

D2-40 is a monoclonal antibody directed against M2A antigen, a surface sialoglycoprotein originally detected in association with germ cell neoplasia and foetal testicular gonocytes [86]. D2-40 has demonstrated a selective immunoreactivity for lymphatic endothelium and thus, has been used to demonstrate lymphatic invasion by primary tumours and as a marker of certain vascular lesions [87–90].

It is also a novel marker of cells with a mesothelial phenotype and is useful for making a distinction between peritoneal mesothelioma and adenocarcinoma. The sensitivity and specificity of this antibody is comparable or superior to other mesothelioma markers and it can be used to confirm the diagnosis of peritoneal mesothelioma when the conventional marker profile is inconclusive [71].

Mesothelin is highly sensitive for malignant mesothelioma, but its specificity is relatively low since other tumours including ovarian cancer may exhibit mesothelin positivity. Nevertheless, diffuse and strong membranous mesothelin expression serves as a strong indicator of epithelioid mesothelioma as opposed to ovarian carcinoma [74, 91]. Mesotheliomas have a high proportion of CK7 positivity and usually do not express CK20 akin to ovarian primary tumours [92].

Peritoneal mesotheliomas are also characterized by strong and diffuse membranous EMA positivity (expression on the luminal aspects of the tumour cells) though this staining pattern does not distinguish them from adenocarcinomas. ER positivity in malignant mesothelioma is a rare phenomenon, and indicates the likelihood of a serous carcinoma rather than a mesothelioma [93]. ER- $\alpha$  is rarely expressed in mesothelioma (highest of rate expression-10%), with most studies showing expression to be absent in both pleural and peritoneal disease. Similarly, PR is generally reported as negative in peritoneal mesothelioma. One study showed PR positivity in 7% of 71 patients [93–98].

Although WT-1 protein is highly sensitive for epithelioid mesotheliomas, it has no benefit in discriminating from serous carcinomas [99].

Immunohistochemistry panels should be chosen keeping in mind the histological features and should include both positive and negative markers (Table 11.1). Not just positivity but the type of staining should also be considered. Peritoneal mesothelioma can be a second primary in a patient with a known malignancy and the possibility of this diagnosis should be kept in mind (Fig. 11.4).

Another differential diagnosis is breast carcinoma. Metastatic breast carcinomas of ductal type can mimic a papillary serous or endometrioid ovarian cancer. The finding of a pelvic mass and/ or disseminated peritoneal disease is not uncommon in a patient with a history of breast cancer and usually represents a new malignancy of ovarian origin. Yet, the rare possibility of metastatic breast disease needs to be considered and ruled out. As mentioned above, PAX-8, CA-125 and WT-1 are positive in serous carcinomas and negative in breast cancer though WT-1 and CA-125 could be positive [34, 35]. Markers useful but not specific for breast cancer are GCDFP15, mammaglobin and GATA3 (usually negative in serous carcinomas and positive in breast carcinomas) [36, 37]. An algorithm for determining the primary site in peritoneal metastases with serous histology is provided in Fig. 11.5.

**Table 11.1** Common IHC markers for establishing the diagnosis of peritoneal mesothelioma

Immunohistochemistry markers for peritoneal
mesothelioma
Positive markers
Calretinin
Cytokeratins 5/6
WT1
Podoplanin
Thrombomodulin
D240
Mesothelin
Negative markers
Claudin-4
TTF-1
PAX-8
CEA
BER-EP4
Prognostic markers
Nuclear grade
Mitotic count
Ki-67

## 11.4.3 Mucinous Carcinomas

Mucinous peritoneal metastases commonly arise from appendiceal tumours, colorectal tumours and ovarian tumours. Other primary sites include the pancreas, urachus and cervix. The term pseudomyxoma peritonei is reserved for patients with mucinous ascites and the characteristic pattern of redistribution. In rare situations, high-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei may be present without any apparent primary [100]. Either the primary has been removed during a prior surgical procedure and the diagnosis missed or it is a true case of peritoneal carcinomatosis with unknown primary. It is not known if mucinous tumours can arise de novo from the peritoneum.

## 11.4.3.1 Clinical Presentation

A large proportion of the mucinous PM are from appendiceal origin. The diagnosis may be an incidental finding on imaging performed for other reasons. The appendiceal primary itself may be small and not evident on imaging. Ovarian metastases can be present even in lowgrade mucinous carcinomas. When ovarian mucinous tumours are found, an appendiceal primary should always be ruled out. Tumour markers are helpful but seldom diagnostic. A colonoscopy is performed for all patients to rule out a colorectal



**Fig. 11.4** Histological findings in the peritoneal biopsy suggestive of peritoneal mesothelioma several years after the initial diagnosis of breast cancer. The immunohistochemistry profile was in favour of a peritoneal mesothelioma



**Fig. 11.5** Algorithm for determining the primary site in peritoneal metastases with serous histology. *PPSC* primary peritoneal serous carcinoma, *ESOC* epithelial serous ovarian carcinoma

primary. Other primaries like the urachus, mucinous pancreatic tumour may or may not be apparent on imaging. The symptom of passing mucous in urine is typical of an urachal tumour.

#### 11.4.3.2 Histopathological Findings

When mucinous ovarian tumours and peritoneal implants are present, a lower gastrointestinal primary is always ruled out. However, mucinous tumours of the intestinal type can arise de novo from the ovary. Most of these tumours arise from a mature cystic teratoma and may show massive mucin secretion, goblet cells, carcinoid-like patterns, pseudomyxoma ovarii and peritonei, and signet ring cells characteristic of a gastrointestinal phenotype. Mucinous ovarian tumours can be borderline or malignant. These tumours may not always be CK-7 positive and CK-20 negative like the other ovarian tumours. Primary mucinous ovarian tumours can exhibit CK20 positivity, which is usually focal but can be dif-

fuse. Focal and at times diffuse positivity is seen for CEA, CDX2 and CA19.9 as well [101]. This may make distinction from a colorectal tumour difficult. However, the pattern of coordinate expression of CK7/CK20 may be useful [102]. Although either marker can be positive in both tumours, primary ovarian mucinous neoplasms are usually diffusely positive with CK7 whilst CK20 is variable; conversely, metastatic colonic adenocarcinoma is usually diffusely positive with CK20 and shows focal positivity for CK7 [102]. As mentioned above, CDX2 will be expressed by appendiceal and colorectal primaries and not by ovarian primary tumour, but can vary. SATB2 is the confirmatory test for colorectal origin. Mucinous tumours arising from teratomas can express colorectal markers and need to be distinguished from metastases which is done by demonstration of teratomatous foci. However, when the mucinous component is huge, it may not be possible to find these foci.



Fig. 11.6 (a, b) Peritoneal deposits from low-grade mucinous neoplasm of the ovary

The other markers expressed by these tumours are HepPar-1 and villin [103]. Figure 11.6 shows the histological features of a low-grade mucinous tumour arising from the ovary. As shown in Fig. 11.7, this tumour expressed CK-7, CA-125 and PAX-8 and was negative for CDX2, CK20 and WT1. Urachal primary tumours have similar expression to the colorectal primaries. They are diffusely positive for CK-20, CDX-2, MUC-2 and MUC-5 AC, and CK-7 expression is variable [104].

When the ovaries have been submitted for pathological examination, there are some histological features that can help in differentiating an ovarian from appendiceal primary. Involvement of both ovaries and surface implants are more likely in metastatic disease [105]. Large size and smooth external surfaces are not always associated with metastatic disease, especially in mucinous tumours. Histologically, features favouring metastasis to the ovary include retraction artefact separating tumour epithelium from underlying stroma, a scalloped pattern, infiltrative invasion, vascular invasion, hilar involvement, dissecting mucin (pseudomyxoma ovarii) and signet ring cells [106]. In contrast, back-to-back neoplastic glands with no intervening stroma, periglandular cuffing by cellular ovarian-type stroma, histiocyte aggregates, background endometriosis or associated primary teratomatous elements favour a primary ovarian neoplasm [105–107]. Conventionally, lower gastrointestinal mucinous tumours are diffusely positive for CK-20, CDX-2, MUC-2 and MUC-5 AC and were variably positive for CK-7. Mucinous ovarian tumours can arise from an immature teratoma too.

## **Tumour Grade**

Mucinous PM arising from the appendix and ovary can be high grade or low grade. With the other primary sites, the tumours usually have a high grade.

#### **Rare Differentials**

Rarely, a metastatic cervical adenocarcinoma of usual type (HPV related) in the ovary may mimic a primary ovarian mucinous or endometrioid neoplasm [108]. Diffuse p16 immunoreactivity in such cases may be useful in suggesting a metastatic cervical adenocarcinoma. These tumours can present with mucinous peritoneal metastases.

Some rare situations that mimic mucinous peritoneal carcinomatosis have been enlisted by Carr et al. Malignant mesotheliomas in rare situations can have intracellular mucinous material rich in hyaluronic acid giving the appearance of signet ring cells [109]. These cells stain



Fig. 11.7 Tumour cells express CK-7 (a), CA-125 (b), PAX-8 (c) and are negative for CDX-2 (d), CK-20 (not shown) and WT1 (not shown)

positive with mucin stains but can be distinguished as mesotheliomas when appropriate markers are used. Claudin-4 expression is seen in carcinomas and not mesotheliomas and can be used to make the distinction. The histological features should alert the pathologist of an alternative diagnosis [110, 111]. Myxoid change occurring in endometriosis and papillary mesothelioma can mimic mucinous peritoneal carcinomatosis [112, 113]. An algorithm for determining the primary site in mucinous peritoneal metastases is provided in Fig. 11.8.

# 11.4.4 Peritoneal Sarcomas

After the lungs and bones, the peritoneum is a common site of spread from soft tissue sarcomas. Nearly 30% of the sarcomas present with intraabdominal disease. The commonest sarcomas metastasizing to the peritoneum are retroperitoneal liposarcomas, uterine leiomyosarcomas and low-grade and high-grade endometrial stromal sarcomas [114]. Low-grade endometrial stromal sarcoma can arise from the ovaries and the peritoneum itself [115].



Fig. 11.8 Approach to a patient with mucinous peritoneal carcinomatosis

PM from sarcomas can be present at the time of diagnosis but usually occur in the recurrent setting and are largely due to tumour spillage during surgery. Some rare tumours like epithelioid leiomyosarcomas and gastrointestinal stromal tumours can arise from the omentum or peritoneum itself. In most cases, the primary site is apparent or there is a history of treatment of the primary tumour. The peritoneal sarcomas still require a search for a primary site before attributing the origin to the peritoneum. Peritoneal sarcomatosis with unknown primary has not been described.

## 11.4.4.1 Clinical Presentation

The endometrial stromal sarcomas are seen only in women. There are no specific clinical features and a detailed history should be elicited. Peritoneal recurrence can occur after several years in both low- and high-grade uterine sarcomas and a history of hysterectomy for a mass is usually present. Ascites is usually absent. The sarcomatosis may be an incidental finding or present with vague abdominal symptoms. In more aggressive tumours like epithelioid leiomyosarcomas, there is ascites with debilitation. The general condition is well preserved in most other cases even in presence of extensive disease. Whole body imaging should be performed to rule out metastases at other sites.

#### 11.4.4.2 Histopathological Features

Each of the sarcomas has distinct histological features and immunohistochemistry and molecular marker profile that is well defined. The problem arises when the diagnosis has to be made on a small sample usually obtained through a trucut biopsy or when the tumours have poor differentiation. We discuss the histopathological features and immunohistochemistry profile of commonest peritoneal sarcomas—endometrial stromal sarcomas, uterine leiomyosarcomas and liposarcomas.

#### Endometrial Stromal Sarcomas

Endometrial stromal sarcoma (ESS) has been divided into low and high grades in the world health organization (WHO) 2014 classification. High-grade sarcomas are defined by the presence a recurrent chromosomal translocation—t(10; 17) (q22; p13) resulting in *YWHAE-NUTM2A or YWHAE-NUTM2B* genetic fusions (collectively referred to as *YWHAE-NUTM2*) [116].

These rearrangements are mutually exclusive with the *JAZF1/SUZ12/EPC1/PHF1* genetic rearrangements seen in low-grade endometrial stromal sarcomas.

ESS in its commonest form is composed of a proliferation of small, round monomorphic cells with scanty cytoplasm and round to oval nuclei with smooth nuclear contours, which resembles endometrial stroma in the proliferative phase [117–120]. Tumour cells are concentrically arranged around the vascular channels. In the low-grade ESS, mitotic activity is usually low (usually <5/10 HPF). Hyalinization is present and is usually mild though extensive hyalinization may been seen at times. Ischaemic necrosis may be observed. These features are typical of low-grade ESS. These tumours show positive staining for CD10, estrogen receptor (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR) irrespective of the genotypes, and the staining pattern is generally diffuse in adequately fixed tumour samples though it may be patchy and focal in some instances [121–123]. There may be focal patchy staining for smooth muscle actin, caldesmon and/ or desmin, with smooth muscle marker staining being more extensive in JAZF1 LGESS showing smooth muscle differentiation. The ki-67 proliferation index (<5%) is low and nuclear cyclin D1 expression is typically weak and focal (<5%). KIT expression may be present and tends to be weak and very focal [124-127]. DOG1 expression is consistently absent in low-grade ESS [128]. High-grade ESS on the other hand has characteristic diffusely positive staining for cyclin D1 and is negative for CD10, ER and PR receptors. There is strong cytoplasmic c-KIT staining. Areas of low-grade ESS are seen in YWHAE-NUTM2 ESS. The term undifferentiated uterine sarcoma (UUS) is now used for tumours which were previously classified as endometrial undifferentiated sarcomas and they can arise from smooth muscles as well.

UUS is a high-grade sarcoma and exhibits a combination of severe nuclear atypia and high mitotic rate. UUS is a diagnosis of exclusion and often has tumour necrosis. It should be distinguished from other sarcomas (i.e. leiomyosarcoma, rhabdomyosarcoma, high-grade ESS), mixed epithelial-mesenchymal uterine tumours (sarcoma-predominant carcinosarcoma or sarcomatous overgrowth of adenosarcoma), uterine carcinomas (undifferentiated or dedifferentiated endometrial carcinoma) and secondary involvement of the uterus by extra-uterine soft tissue sarcomas [115].

On immunohistochemistry, it can be positive for CD10 and hormone receptors, hence it is important to not regard CD10 as evidence of endometrial stromal differentiation [115]. It may show very focal positive staining for smooth muscle actin, but the presence of positive staining for more than one smooth muscle markers should raise the suspicion for leiomyosarcoma or malignant PEComa [115]. Focal keratin and EMA staining, when encountered in a suspected UUS that demonstrates nuclear uniformity, should prompt a careful investigation into the possibility of undifferentiated or dedifferentiated endometrial carcinoma [115].

#### Leiomyosarcomas

Leiomyosarcomas have a combination of diffuse moderate-to-severe nuclear atypia, greater than 10 mitotic figures per 10 high power fields (HPF) and presence of (coagulative) tumour-cell necrosis. The presence of any two of these features is essential for the diagnosis of a uterine leiomyosarcoma [129].

In addition to the spindle cell variety, there is an epithelioid variant that is characterized by the presence of rounded or polygonal cells that have a microscopic appearance of 'epithelial cells' in at least 50% of the tumour [130]. Immunohistochemical study is sometimes necessary to confirm the smooth muscle nature.

Unfortunately, the tumour cells in about 20% of epithelioid smooth muscle tumours express cytokeratins (as in carcinomas) and less often myogenic markers such as desmin [131, 132].

Though the diagnosis of LMS is usually made on light microscopy, in cases of uncertainty due to poor differentiation, a combination of these markers can be used to determine the smooth muscle origin.

The overexpression of p16 has been identified in 86.7%, 86% and 51% of uterine LMS in three studies [133–135]. The frequency of overexpression of p53 protein in uterine LMS has been variable and has ranged from 13% to 56.5% [136–139].

Oestrogen, progesterone and androgen receptors are expressed in about 30–40% of LMS. Immunoreactivity with these markers may provide a target for treatment. Even though some LMS show immunoreactivity for CD117 (C-KIT) but there is no underlying KIT oncogenic mutation or KIT phosphorylation, targeted treatment with imatinib is ineffective [140–142].

#### Liposarcomas

The commonest sarcoma causing intraperitoneal dissemination is a liposarcoma. Liposarcomas are the commonest retroperitoneal tumours and are prone to develop recurrence when they arise in this location as compared to others.

Liposarcomas account for 20% of all soft tissue sarcomas in adults and is the most common retroperitoneal sarcoma [143, 144]. Five histological subtypes of liposarcoma in order of increasing malignant behaviour are well differentiated, dedifferentiated, myxoid, round cell and pleomorphic. Most retroperitoneal liposarcomas are of the well-differentiated and dedifferentiated subtypes [145]. Liposarcomas can also arise intraperitoneally from the omentum and mesentery and present as large intraperitoneal masses [146]. Retroperitoneal liposarcoma is known to recur frequently with multiple intra-abdominal masses after resection [147].

Local recurrence is more common when welldifferentiated liposarcoma (WDLPS) arises in the retroperitoneum, mediastinum or paratesticular region and is a cause of morbidity and mortality, as is the emergence of dedifferentiated disease [148]. Dedifferentiated liposarcoma (DDLPS) is a high-grade and aggressive disease, arising most commonly within the retroperitoneum, and is associated with high rates of local and metastatic recurrence and a disease-specific mortality that is six times that of WDLPS [149].

Histologically, WDLPS appears as a proliferation of mature and variably pleomorphic adipocytes intersected by fibrous septa and containing single, enlarged, hyperchromatic nuclei [150]. DDLPS is characterized by more highly cellular areas of high-grade undifferentiated sarcoma typically transitioning abruptly within a background of WDLPS. In most liposarcomas, the histological features alone are enough to make a diagnosis. Immunohistochemistry is a useful adjunct to establish the diagnosis and aid differentiation from non-malignant conditions. The combination of CDK4, MDM2 and p16 is useful in the histologic diagnosis of WDLPS and DDLPS [151]. The MDM2 gene and its neighbouring gene CDK4 are amplified, which can be detected by molecular methods such as reverse transcriptionpolymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and FISH [152]. The resultant MDM2 and CDK4 protein overexpression can be detected by IHC [152].

p16 is the most sensitive and specific marker for detecting WDLPS/DDLPS, and the combination of *CDK4* and *p16* is of more discriminatory value than the combination of either with *MDM2*, the least sensitive and specific of the three markers [151].

These markers are used to distinguish atypical lipomatous tumour from lipoma as well as dedifferentiated liposarcoma from undifferentiated sarcoma, especially when both markers show positivity. It should be remembered that pleomorphic liposarcoma (PLPS) and myxoid liposarcoma (MLPS) are negative for *MDM2* and *CDK4* [103].

Myxoid liposarcoma (MLPS) accounts for approximately 30% of LPSs and is clinically and pathologically distinct from WD/DDLPS [153]. Over 90% of MLPSs contain a pathognomonic t(12; 16) (q13; p11) translocation that results in expression of the *FUS-DDIT3* fusion protein, whereas a smaller proportion carries *EWSR1-DDIT3* gene fusions [154]. Microscopically, MLPS has small, round-to-oval, non-adipocytic mesenchymal tumour cells alongside a variable number of immature lipoblasts on a background of prominent myxoid stroma. Round cell LPS is now recognized as a high-grade, more cellular variant of MLPS that is associated with worse outcomes [153, 155].

PLPS is a rare and clinically aggressive LPS subtype. Typically arising in the limbs or, less commonly, the trunk or retroperitoneum, PLPS histologically appears as a high-grade undifferentiated sarcoma without recognizable lineage and contains a variable number of pleomorphic lipoblasts.

Characteristically, PLPSs have complex karyotypes consisting of multiple chromosomal losses and gains, indicating pathogenesis driven by complex and variable molecular events [156].

# 11.5 Future Directives

During the last few decades, molecular biology has been added to armamentarium of diagnostic pathology. Molecular biology techniques are used to diagnose and subclassify tumours, predict response to therapies and identify therapeutic targets [157].

The development of molecular tumour subclassifications and targeted therapies was facilitated by an improved knowledge of genetic aberrations. Oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes were identified, and their association with metastatic pathways discovered. Next-generation sequencing techniques have helped speed up this process [158]. At present single gene analysis with mutation-specific PCR and Sanger- or pyrosequencing is most commonly used in diagnostic molecular pathology [159]. Molecular tests alone are seldom used for diagnostic purposes currently. They are used to subclassify tumours and identify mutations that can be treated with specific drugs.

Another development in molecular pathology is the analysis of DNA released by dying normal or tumour cells, also termed as cell-free DNA (cfDNA) which can be used as an alternative to tissue biopsy in certain instances. The term 'liquid biopsy' is used for such an analysis [157]. This test requires drawing of a sample of 5–10 mL of peripheral blood as opposed to the more invasive process of deriving a tissue sample. Circulating tumour DNA (ctDNA) is not formalin fixed and thus, any alteration caused by it is avoided. Though there are several indications now for performing a 'liquid biopsy', most of these are still undergoing clinical validation [157, 160].

Tumours have intra-tumoural and intermetastatic genetic heterogeneity [161]. A tissue biopsy often does not capture the whole spectrum of genetic changes in a tumour. Circulating tumour DNA (ctDNA) that is also detectable in blood may better represent the genetic composition of different tumour compartments. A further advantage is that DNA modifications caused by formalin fixation of tissue and the resulting artefacts in DNA sequencing are not present in ctDNA [162]. However, currently, for the initial tumour diagnosis a tissue biopsy is essential. The biggest challenge in the analysis of cell-free tumour DNA (ctDNA) is the often low frequency of mutated alleles in cfDNA. The amount of ctDNA is variable and ranges from 0.01% to more than 50% of the whole cfDNA [131].

# 11.6 Conclusions

Peritoneal metastases can present with an occult primary. Careful evaluation of the clinical details, histopathological and immunohistochemistry evaluation can lead to a diagnosis in most cases. Awareness about the common and uncommon tumours giving rise to PM can facilitate the diagnostic process. Molecular tests can be useful adjuncts to conventional histopathological evaluation.

## References

- Rajan F, Bhatt A. Evolving role of CRS and HIPEC: current indications. In: Bhatt A, editor. Management of peritoneal metastases-cytoreductive surgery, HIPEC and beyond. Singapore: Springer; 2018.
- Kusamura S, Moran BJ, Sugarbaker PH, Levine EA, Elias D, Baratti D, Morris DL, Sardi A, Glehen O, Deraco M, Peritoneal Surface Oncology Group International (PSOGI). Multicentre study of the learning curve and surgical performance of cytoreductive surgery with intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Br J Surg. 2014;101(13):1758–65. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bjs.9674. Epub 20 Oct 2014.

- Sebbag G, Shmookler BM, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from an unknown primary site. Management of 15 patients. Tumori. 2001;87(2):67–73.
- Passot G, Vaudoyer D, Villeneuve L, et al. What made hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy an effective curative treatment for peritoneal surface malignancy: a 25-year experience with 1,125 procedures. J Surg Oncol. 2016;113:796–803.
- Pavlidis N, Fizazi K. Cancer of unknown primary (CUP). Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2005;54:243–50.
- Frost P. Unknown primary tumours: an example of accelerated (type 2) tumor progression. Basic Life Sci. 1991;57:233–7.
- Klein CA. Parallel progression of primary tumours and metastases. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9(4):302–12.
- Pavlidis N, Khaled H, Gaafar R. A mini review on cancer of unknown primary site: a clinical puzzle for the oncologists. J Adv Res. 2015;6(3):375–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2014.11.007. Epub 21 Nov 2014.
- McCluggage WG. Recent advances in immunohistochemistry in the diagnosis of ovarian neoplasms. J Clin Pathol. 2000;53:558–60.
- McCluggage WG. Recent advances in immunohistochemistry in gynaecological pathology. Histopathology. 2002;46:309–26.
- McCluggage WG, Young RH. Immunohistochemistry as a diagnostic aid in the evaluation of ovarian tumors. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2005;22:3–32.
- Ozcan A, Steven SS, Hamilton C, Anjana K, Coffey D, Krishnan B, Truong LD. PAX 8 expression in non-neoplastic tissues, primary tumors, and metastatic tumors: a cornprehensive immunohistochemical study. Mod Pathol. 2011;24:751–64.
- Chai H, Ren Q, Fan Q, Ye L, Du G, Du H, et al. PAX8 is a potential marker for the diagnosis of primary epithelial ovarian cancer. Oncol Lett. 2017;14:5871–5. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2017.6949.
- Al-Hussaini M, Stockman A, Foster H, McCluggage WG. WT-1 assists in distinguishing ovarian from uterine serous carcinoma and in distinguishing between serous and endometrioid ovarian carcinoma. Histopathology. 2004;44(2):109–15.
- Oka Y, Tsuboi A, Oji Y, Kawase I, Sugiyama H. WT1 peptide vaccine for the treatment of cancer. Curr Opin Immunol. 2008;20(2):211–20.
- Makrigiannakis A, Amin K, Coukos G, Tilly JL, Coutifaris C. Regulated expression and potential roles of p53 and Wilms' tumor suppressor gene (WT1) during follicular development in the human ovary. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(1):449–59.
- Bárcena C, Oliva E. WT1 expression in the female genital tract. Adv Anat Pathol. 2011;18(6):454–65.
- Liliac L, Carcangiu ML, Canevari S, Căruntu ID, Ciobanu Apostol DG, Danciu M, Onofriescu M, Amălinei C. The value of PAX8 and WT1 molecules in ovarian cancer diagnosis. Rom J Morphol Embryol. 2013;54(1):17–27.

- Zhao L, Guo M, Sneige N, Gong Y. Value of PAX8 and WT1 immunostaining in confirming the ovarian origin of metastatic carcinoma in serous effusion specimens. Am J Clin Pathol. 2012;137(2):304–9.
- Dennis JL, Hvidsten TR, Wit EC, et al. Markers of adenocarcinoma characteristic of the site of origin: development of a diagnostic algorithm. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(10):3766–72. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2236.
- 21. Bayrak R, Haltas H, Yenidunya S. The value of CDX2 and cytokeratins 7 and 20 expression in differentiating colorectal adenocarcinomas from extraintestinal gastrointestinal adenocarcinomas: cytokeratin 7–/20+ phenotype is more specific than CDX2 antibody. Diagn Pathol. 2012;7(1):1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-1596-7-9.
- FitzPatrick DR, Carr IM, McLaren L, et al. Identification of SATB2 as the cleft palate gene on 2q32–q33. Hum Mol Genet. 2003;12(19):2491–501. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddg248.
- Conner JR, Hornick JL. Metastatic carcinoma of unknown primary: diagnostic approach using immunohistochemistry. Adv Anat Pathol. 2015;22(3):149–67. https://doi.org/10.1097/ pap.000000000000069.
- Magnusson K, de Wit M, Brennan DJ, et al. SATB2 in combination with cytokeratin 20 identifies over 95% of all colorectal carcinomas. Am J Surg Pathol. 2011;35(7):937–48. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PAS.0b013e31821c3dae.
- 25. Dragomir A, de Wit M, Johansson C, Uhlen M, Ponten F. The role of SATB2 as a diagnostic marker for tumors of colorectal origin: results of a pathology-based clinical prospective study. Am J Clin Pathol. 2014;141(5):630–8.
- Lin F, Shi J, Zhu S, et al. Cadherin-17 and SATB2 are sensitive and specific immunomarkers for medullary carcinoma of the large intestine. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2014;138(8):1015–26. https://doi.org/10.5858/ arpa.2013-0452-oa.
- 27. Brandler TC, Jelloul F, Soto D, Das K, Rosen L, Bhuiya TA. Young investigator challenge: cadherin-17 and SATB2 in cytology specimens: do these new immunostains help in differentiating metastatic colorectal adenocarcinoma from adenocarcinomas of other origins? Cancer Cytopathol. 2015;123(12):706–13.
- Berg KB, Schaeffer DF. SATB2 as an immunohistochemical marker for colorectal adenocarcinoma: a concise review of benefits and pitfalls. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2017;141(10):1428–33. https://doi. org/10.5858/arpa.2016-0243-RS.
- 29. Goldstein NS, Bassi D. Cytokeratins 7, 17, and 20 reactivity in pancreatic and ampulla of vater adenocarcinomas. Percentage of positivity and distribution is affected by the cut-point threshold. Am J Clin Pathol. 2001;115:695–702.
- 30. Park SY, Kim HS, Hong EK, et al. Expression of cytokeratins 7 and 20 in primary carcinomas of the

stomach and colorectum and their value in the differential diagnosis of metastatic carcinomas to the ovary. Hum Pathol. 2002;33:1078–85.

- 31. Ji H, Isacson C, Seidman JD, et al. Cytokeratins 7 and 20, Dpc4, and MUC5AC in the distinction of metastatic mucinous carcinomas in the ovary from primary ovarian mucinous tumors: Dpc4 assists in identifying metastatic pancreatic carcinomas. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2002;21:391–400.
- Chhieng DC, Benson E, Eltoum I, et al. MUC1 and MUC2 expression in pancreatic ductal carcinoma obtained by fine-needle aspiration. Cancer. 2003;99:365–71.
- 33. Nonaka D, Chiriboga L, Soslow RA. Expression of pax8 as a useful marker in distinguishing ovarian carcinomas from mammary carcinomas. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32:1566–71.
- 34. Tornos C, Soslow R, Chen S, et al. Expression of WT1, CA125, and GCDFP-15 as useful markers in the differential diagnosis of primary ovarian carcinomas versus metastatic breast cancer to the ovary. Am J Surg Pathol. 2005;29:1482–9.
- 35. Liu H, Shi J, Wilkerson ML, et al. Immunohistochemical evaluation of GATA3 expression in tumors and normal tissues: a useful immunomarker for breast and urothelial carcinomas. Am J Clin Pathol. 2012;138:57–64.
- Bhargava R, Beriwal S, Dabbs DJ. Mammaglobin vs GCDFP-15: an immunohistologic validation survey for sensitivity and specificity. Am J Clin Pathol. 2007;127:103–13.
- Ruiz-Tovar J, Alonso HN, Morales CV, Lobo ME, Sanjuanbenito DA, Martinez ME. Peritoneal carcinomatosis secondary to carcinoid tumour. Clin Transl Oncol. 2007;9:804–5.
- Mertz H, Vyberg M, Paulsen SM, et al. Immunohistochemical detection of neuroendocrine markers in tumors of the lungs and gastrointestinal tract. Appl Immunohistochem. 1998;6:175–80.
- Vasseur B, Cadiot G, Zins M, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis in patients with digestive endocrine tumors. Cancer. 1996;78:1686–92.
- 40. Vinik AI, Thompson N, Eckhauser F, Moattari R. Clinical features of carcinoid syndrome and the use of somatostatin analogue in its management. Acta Oncol. 1989;28:389–402.
- 41. Gonzalez RS, Liu EH, Alvarez JR, Ayers GD, Washington MK, Shi C. Should mesenteric tumor deposits be included in staging of well differentiated small intestine neuroendocrine tumors? Mod Pathol. 2014;27:1288–95.
- 42. Chambers AJ, Pasieka JL, Dixon E, Rorstad O. Role of imaging in the preoperative staging of small bowel neuroendocrine tumors. J Am Coll Surg. 2010;211:620–7.
- 43. Søreide O, Berstad T, Bakka A, Schrumpf E, Hanssen LE, Engh V, Bergan A, Flatmark A. Surgical treatment as a principle in patients with advanced abdominal carcinoid tumors. Surgery. 1992;111:48–54.

- 44. Elias D, Lefevre JH, Duvillard P, Goéré D, Dromain C, Dumont F, Baudin E. Hepatic metastases from neuroendocrine tumors with a thin slice CT scan and pathological examination: they are many more than you think. Ann Surg. 2010;251:307–10.
- 45. Kimura N, Pilichowska M, Okamoto H, et al. Immunohistochemical expression of chromogranins A and B, prohormone convertases 2 and 3, and amidating enzyme in carcinoid tumors and pancreatic endocrine tumors. Mod Pathol. 2000;13:140–6.
- 46. Al-Khafaji B, Noffsinger AE, Miller MA, et al. Immunohistologic analysis of gastrointestinal and pulmonary carcinoid tumors. Hum Pathol. 1998;29:992–9.
- 47. Fahrenkamp AG, Wibbeke C, Winde G, et al. Immunohistochemical distribution of chromogranins A and B and secretogranin II in neuroendocrine tumours of the gastrointestinal tract. Virchows Arch. 1995;426:361–7.
- Sobin LH, Hjermstad BM, Sesterhenn IA, et al. Prostatic acid phosphatase activity in carcinoid tumors. Cancer. 1986;58:136–8.
- 49. Barbareschi M, Roldo C, Zamboni G, et al. CDX-2 homeobox gene product expression in neuroendocrine tumors: its role as a marker of intestinal neuroendocrine tumors. Am J Surg Pathol. 2004;28:1169–76.
- La Rosa S, Rigoli E, Uccella S, et al. CDX2 as a marker of intestinal EC-cells and related welldifferentiated endocrine tumors. Virchows Arch. 2004;445:248–54.
- Jaffee IM, Rahmani M, Singhal MG, et al. Expression of the intestinal transcription factor CDX2 in carcinoid tumors is a marker of midgut origin. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2006;130:1522–6.
- Dabaja BS, Suki D. Pro B, et al. Adenocarcinoma of the small bowel: presentation, prognostic factors, and outcome of 217 patients. Cancer. 2004;101:518–26.
- Locher C, Malka D, Boige V, et al. Combination chemotherapy in advanced small bowel adenocarcinoma. Oncology. 2005;69:290–4.
- Overman MJ, Kopetz S, Wen S, et al. Chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil and a platinum compound improves outcomes in metastatic small bowel adenocarcinoma. Cancer. 2008;113:2038–45.
- Talamonti MS, Goetz LH, Rao S, et al. Primary cancers of the small bowel: analysis of prognostic factors and results of surgical management. Arch Surg. 2002;137:564–70.
- North JH, Pack MS. Malignant tumors of the small intestine: a review of 144 cases. Am Surg. 2000;66:46–51.
- Frost DB, Mercado PD, Tyrell JS. Small bowel cancer: a 30-year review. Ann Surg Oncol. 1994;1:290–5.
- Chen ZM, Ritter JH, Wang HL. Differential expression of alpha-methylacyl coenzyme a racemase in adenocarcinomas of the small and large intestines. Am J Surg Pathol. 2005;29:890–6.

- Wong H, Chu P. Immunohistochemical features of the gastrointestinal tract tumors. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2012;3(3):262–84.
- Johnson DE, Herndier BG, Medeiros LJ, et al. The diagnostic utility of the keratin profiles of hepatocellular carcinoma and cholangiocarcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 1988;12:187–97.
- Hatano Y, Hatano K, Tamada M, Morishige KI, Tomita H, Yanai H, Hara A. A comprehensive review of ovarian serous carcinoma. Adv Anat Pathol. 2019;26(5):329–39. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PAP.00000000000243.
- Ramalingam P. Morphologic, immunophenotypic, and molecular features of epithelial ovarian cancer. Oncology (Williston Park). 2016;30(2):166–76.
- Micco M, Sala E, Lakhman Y, Hricak H, Vargas HA. Role of imaging in the pretreatment evaluation of common gynecological cancers. Womens Health (Lond). 2014;10(3):299–321.
- 64. Saida T, Tanaka YO, Matsumoto K, Satoh T, Yoshikawa H, Minami M. Revised FIGO staging system for cancer of the ovary, fallopian tube, and peritoneum: important implications for radiologists. Jpn J Radiol. 2016;34(2):117–24.
- Ehdaivand S. Serous carcinoma. PathologyOutlines. com website. https://www.pathologyoutlines.com/ topic/ovarytumorserouscarcinoma.html. Accessed 1 Nov 2019.
- 66. Sumathi VP, Al-Hussaini M, Connolly LE, Fullerton L, McCluggage WG. Endometrial stromal neoplasms are immunoreactive with WT-1 antibody. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2004;23(3):241–7.
- 67. Shimizu M, Toki T, Takagi Y, et al. Immunohistochemical detection of the Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) in epithelial ovarian tumors. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2000;19:158–63.
- McCluggage WG. WT1 is of value in ascertaining the site of origin of serous carcinomas within the female genital tract. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2004;23:97–9.
- Chen W, Husain A, Nelson GS, et al. Immunohistochemical profiling of endometrial serous carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2017;36:128–39.
- McCluggage WG. Immunohistochemical markers as a diagnostic aid in ovarian pathology. Diagn Histopathol. 2008;14(8):335–51.
- Davidson B. New diagnostic and molecular characteristics of malignant mesothelioma. Ultrastruct Pathol. 2008;32:227–40.
- Battifora H, McCaughey WTE. Tumors of the serosal membranes. Washington, DC: Armed Forces Institute of Pathology; 1994.
- Munkholm-Larsen S, Cao CQ, Yan TD. Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. World J Gastrointest Surg. 2009;1(1):38–48. https://doi.org/10.4240/wjgs. v1.i1.38.
- Ordóñez NG. What are the current best immunohistochemical markers for the diagnosis of epithelioid

mesothelioma? A review and update. Hum Pathol. 2007;38:1–16.

- 75. Husain AN, Colby T, Ordóñez N, et al., International Mesothelioma Interest Group. Guidelines for pathologic diagnosis of malignant mesothelioma: 2012 update of the consensus statement from the International Mesothelioma Interest Group. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2013;137(5):647–67.
- Comin CE, Novelli L, Boddi V, et al. Calretinin, thrombomodulin, CEA, and CD15: a useful combination of immunohistochemical markers for differentiating pleural epithelial mesothelioma from peripheral pulmonary adenocarcinoma. Hum Pathol. 2001;32:529–36.
- Ordóñez NG. The diagnostic utility of immunohistochemistry and electron microscopy in distinguishing between peritoneal mesotheliomas and serous carcinomas: a comparative study. Mod Pathol. 2006;19:34–48.
- Davidson B, Nielsen S, Christensen J, et al. The role of desmin and N-cadherin in effusion cytology: a comparative study using established markers of mesothelial and epithelial cells. Am J Surg Pathol. 2001;25:1405–12.
- 79. Carella R, Deleonardi G, D'Errico A, et al. Immunohistochemical panels for differentiating epithelial malignant mesothelioma from lung adenocarcinoma: a study with logistic regression analysis. Am J Surg Pathol. 2001;25:43–50.
- Abutaily AS, Addis BJ, Roche WR. Immunohistochemistry in the distinction between malignant mesothelioma and pulmonary adenocarcinoma: a critical evaluation of new antibodies. J Clin Pathol. 2002;55:662–8.
- Ordóñez NG. Immunohistochemical diagnosis of epithelioid mesothelioma: a critical review of old markers, new markers. Hum Pathol. 2002;33:953–67.
- Cathro HP, Stoler MH. The utility of calretinin, inhibin, and WT1 immunohistochemical staining in the differential diagnosis of ovarian tumors. Hum Pathol. 2005;36:195–201.
- Martignoni G, Pea M, Chilosi M, et al. Parvalbumin is constantly expressed in chromophobe renal carcinoma. Mod Pathol. 2001;14:760–7.
- 84. Osborn M, Pelling N, Walker MM, Fisher C, Nicholson AG. The value of mesotheliumassociated T antibodies in distinguishing between metastatic renal cell carcinoma and mesotheliomas. Histopathology. 2002;41:301–7.
- Lugli A, Forster Y, Haas P, et al. Calretinin expression in human normal and neoplastic tissues: a tissue microarray analysis on 5233 tissue samples. Hum Pathol. 2003;34:994–1000.
- 86. Marks A, Sutherland DR, Bailey D, et al. Characterization and distribution of an oncofetal antigen (M2A antigen) expressed on testicular germ cell tumors. Br J Cancer. 1999;80:569–78.
- Kahn HJ, Bailey D, Marks A. Monoclonal antibody D2-40, a new marker of lymphatic endothelium,

reacts with Kaposi's and a subset of angiosarcomas. Mod Pathol. 2002;15:434–40.

- Fogt F, Pascha TL, Zhang PJ, et al. Proliferation of D2-40-expressing intestinal lymphatic vessels in the lamina propria in inflammatory bowel disease. Int J Mol Med. 2004;13:211–4.
- Fogt F, Zimmerman RL, Ross HM, et al. Identification of lymphatic vessels in malignant, adenomatous and normal colonic mucosa using the novel immunostain D2-40. Oncol Rep. 2004;11:47–50.
- Kahn HJ, Marks A. A new monoclonal antibody, D2-40, for detection of lymphatic invasion in primary tumors. Lab Investig. 2002;82:1255–7.
- Ordóñez NG. Value of mesothelin immunostaining in the diagnosis of mesothelioma. Mod Pathol. 2003;16:192–7.
- Chu P, Wu E, Weiss LM. Cytokeratin 7 and cytokeratin 20 expression in epithelial neoplasms: a survey of 435 cases. Mod Pathol. 2000;13:962–72.
- Ordóñez NG. Value of estrogen and progesterone receptor immunostaining in distinguishing between peritoneal mesotheliomas and serous carcinomas. Hum Pathol. 2005;36:1163–7.
- 94. Tandon RT, Jimenez-Cortez Y, Taub R, Borczuk AC. Immunohistochemistry in peritoneal mesothelioma: a single-center experience of 244 cases. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2018;142(2):236–42. https:// doi.org/10.5858/arpa.2017-0092-OA. Epub 19 Oct 2017.
- 95. Barnetson RJ, Burnett RA, Downie I, Harper CM, Roberts F. Immunohistochemical analysis of peritoneal mesothelioma and primary and secondary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum. Am J Clin Pathol. 2006;125(1):67–76. https://doi. org/10.1309/8fch-q3vp-bwm7-b5x9.
- 96. Comin CE, Saieva C, Messerini LH. Caldesmon, calretinin, estrogen receptor, and Ber-EP4: a useful combination of Immunohistochemical markers for differentiating epithelioid peritoneal mesothelioma from serous papillary carcinoma of the ovary. Am J Surg Pathol. 2007;31(8):1139–48. https://doi. org/10.1097/pas.0b013e318033e7a8.
- 97. Tong GX, Chiriboga L, Hamele-Bena D, Borczuk AC. Expression of PAX2 in papillary serous carcinoma of the ovary: immunohistochemical evidence of fallopian tube or secondary müllerian system origin? Mod Pathol. 2007;20(8):856–63. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.3800827.
- Trupiano JK, Geisinger KR, Willingham MC, et al. Diffuse malignant mesothelioma of the peritoneum and pleura, analysis of markers. Mod Pathol. 2004;17(4):476–81. https://doi.org/10.1038/ modpathol.3800067.
- 99. Hashi A, Yuminamochi T, Murate S-I, Iwamoto H, Honda T, Hoshi K. Wilms tumor gene immunoreactivity in primary serous carcinomas of the fallopian tube, ovary, endometrium, and peritoneum. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2003;22:374–7.
- 100. Delhorme JB, Severac F, Averous G, Glehen O, Passot G, Bakrin N, Marchal F, Pocard M, Lo Dico

R, Eveno C, Carrere S, Sgarbura O, Quenet F, Ferron G, Goéré D, Brigand C, French National Network of Peritoneal Surface Malignancies (RENAPE). Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei of appendicular and extra-appendicular origin. Br J Surg. 2018;105(6):668–76. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.10716. Epub 7 Feb 2018.

- 101. Bhatt A, Mishra S, Parikh L, et al. Essentials for pathological evaluation of peritoneal surface malignancies and synoptic reporting of cytoreductive surgery specimens—a review and evidence-based guide. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2019;332 https://doi. org/10.1007/s13193-019-00897-7.
- 102. Vang R, Gown AM, Barry TS, et al. Cytokeratins 7 and 20 in primary and secondary mucinous tumors of the ovary: analysis of coordinate immunohistochemical expression profiles and staining distribution in 179 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2006;30:1130–9.
- 103. Binh MB, Sastre-Garau X, Guillou L, et al. MDM2 and CDK4 immunostainings are useful adjuncts in diagnosing well-differentiated and dedifferentiated liposarcoma subtypes: a comparative analysis of 559 soft tissue neoplasms with genetic data. Am J Surg Pathol. 2005;29(10):1340–7.
- 104. Liu Y, Ishibashi H, Hirano M, Takeshita K, Mizumoto A, Ichinose M, Nishino E, Kashu I, Yamamoto Y, Sugarbaker PH, Yonemura Y. Cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei arising from urachus. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(8):2799–805.
- Leen SL, Singh N. Pathology of primary and metastatic mucinous ovarian neoplasms. J Clin Pathol. 2012;65:591–5.
- 106. Carr NJ, Bibeau F, Bradley RF, Dartigues P. The histopathological classification, diagnosis and differential diagnosis of mucinous appendiceal neoplasms, appendiceal adenocarcinomas and pseudomyxoma peritonei. Histopathology. 2017;71(6):847–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/his.13324.
- 107. Stewart CJ, Ardakani NM, Doherty DA, Young RH. An evaluation of the morphologic features of low-grade mucinous neoplasms of the appendix metastatic in the ovary and a comparison with primary ovarian mucinous tumors. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2014;33:1–10.
- 108. Ronnett BM, Yemelyanova AV, Vang R, et al. Endocervical adenocarcinomas with ovarian metastases: analysis of 29 cases with emphasis on minimally invasive cervical tumours and the ability of the metastases to simulate primary ovarian neoplasms. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32:1835–53.
- 109. Cook DS, Attanoos RL, Jalloh SS, Gibbs AR. 'Mucin-positive' epithelial mesothelioma of the peritoneum: an unusual diagnostic pitfall. Histopathology. 2000;37:33–6.
- 110. Facchetti F, Lonardi S, Gentili F, et al. Claudin 4 identifies a wide spectrum of epithelial neoplasms and represents a very useful marker for carcinoma

versus mesothelioma diagnosis in pleural and peritoneal biopsies and effusions. Virchows Arch. 2007;451:669–80.

- 111. Facchetti F, Gentili F, Lonardi S, Bercich L, Santin A. Claudin-4 in mesothelioma diagnosis. Histopathology. 2007;51:261–3.
- 112. McCluggage WG, Kirk SJ. Pregnancy associated endometriosis with pronounced stromal myxoid change. J Clin Pathol. 2000;53:241–2.
- 113. Diaz L, Okonkwo A, Solans EP, Bedrossian C, Rao MS. Extensive myxoid change in well differentiated papillary mesothelioma of the pelvic peritoneum. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2002;6:164–7.
- 114. Bhatt A, Ramakrishnan AS. Rare indications for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. In: Bhatt A, editor. Management of peritoneal metastases—cytoreductive surgery, HIPEC and beyond. Singapore: Springer; 2018.
- 115. Lee CH, Nucci MR. Endometrial stromal sarcoma—the new genetic paradigm. Histopathology. 2015;67(1):1–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/his.12594. Epub 22 Jan 2015.
- 116. Lee CH, Ou WB, Marino-Enriquez A, et al. 14-3-3 fusion oncogenes in high-grade endometrial stromal sarcoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109:929–34.
- 117. Chang KL, Crabtree GS, Lim-Tan SK, et al. Primary uterine endometrial stromal neoplasms. A clinicopathologic study of 117 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 1990;14:415–38.
- Evans HL. Endometrial stromal sarcoma and poorly differentiated endometrial sarcoma. Cancer. 1982;50:2170–82.
- 119. Hendrickson MR, Tavassoli FA, Kempson RL. Mesenchymal tumours and related lesions. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours pathology and genetics of tumours of the breast and female genital organ. Lyon: IARC Press; 2003.
- Norris HJ, Taylor HB. Mesenchymal tumors of the uterus. I. A clinical and pathological study of 53 endometrial stromal tumors. Cancer. 1966;19:755–66.
- 121. Chu PG, Arber DA, Weiss LM, et al. Utility of CD10 in distinguishing between endometrial stromal sarcoma and uterine smooth muscle tumors: an immunohistochemical comparison of 34 cases. Mod Pathol. 2001;14:465–71.
- 122. McCluggage WG, Sumathi VP, Maxwell P. CD10 is a sensitive and diagnostically useful immunohistochemical marker of normal endometrial stroma and of endometrial stromal neoplasms. Histopathology. 2001;39:273–8.
- 123. Lee CH, Marino-Enriquez A, Ou W, et al. The clinicopathologic features of YWHAE-FAM22 endometrial stromal sarcomas: a histologically high-grade and clinically aggressive tumor. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36:641–53.
- 124. Lee CH, Ali RH, Rouzbahman M, et al. Cyclin D1 as a diagnostic immunomarker for endometrial stromal sarcoma with YWHAE-FAM22 rearrangement. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36:1562–70.

- 125. Klein WM, Kurman RJ. Lack of expression of c-kit protein (CD117) in mesenchymal tumors of the uterus and ovary. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2003;22:181–4.
- Nakayama M, Mitsuhashi T, Shimizu Y, et al. Immunohistochemical evaluation of KIT expression in sarcomas of the gynecologic region. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2006;25:70–6.
- 127. Caudell JJ, Deavers MT, Slomovitz BM, et al. Imatinib mesylate (gleevec)-targeted kinases are expressed in uterine sarcomas. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2005;13:167–70.
- 128. Lee CH, Liang CW, Espinosa I. The utility of discovered on gastrointestinal stromal tumor 1 (DOG1) antibody in surgical pathology-the GIST of it. Adv Anat Pathol. 2010;17:222–32.
- 129. Hendrickson MR, Tavassoli FA, Kempson RL, et al. Mesenchymal tumours and related lesions. In: Tavassoli FA, Devilee P, editors. World Health Organization classification of tumours: pathology and genetics of tumours of the breast and female genital organs. Lyon: IARC Press; 2003. p. 236–43.
- Bell SW, Kempson RL, Hendrickson MR. Problematic uterine smooth muscle neoplasms. A clinicopathologic study of 213 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 1994;18:535–58.
- 131. Oliva E, Young RH, Amin MB, et al. An immunohistochemical analysis of endometrial stromal and smooth muscle tumors of the uterus: a study of 54 cases emphasizing the importance of using a panel because of overlap in immunoreactivity for individual antibodies. Am J Surg Pathol. 2002;26:403–12.
- 132. Rizeq MN, van de Rijn M, Hendrickson MR, et al. A comparative immunohistochemical study of uterine smooth muscle neoplasms with emphasis on the epithelioid variant. Hum Pathol. 1994;25:671–7.
- 133. Bodner-Adler B, Bodner K, Czerwenka K, et al. Expression of p16 protein in patients with uterine smooth muscle tumors: an immunohistochemical analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;96:62–6.
- 134. Atkins KA, Arronte N, Darus CJ, et al. The use of p16 in enhancing the histologic classification of uterine smooth muscle tumors. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32:98–102.
- 135. O'Neill CJ, McBride HA, Connolly LE, et al. Uterine leiomyosarcomas are characterized by high p16, p53 and MIB1 expression in comparison with usual leiomyomas, leiomyoma variants and smooth muscle tumours of uncertain malignant potential. Histopathology. 2007;50:851–8.
- de Vos S, Wilczynski SP, Fleischhacker M, et al. p53 alterations in uterine leiomyosarcomas versus leiomyomas. Gynecol Oncol. 1994;54:205–8.
- 137. Blom R, Guerrieri C, Stal O, et al. Leiomyosarcoma of the uterus: a clinicopathologic, DNA flow cytometric, p53, and mdm-2 analysis of 49 cases. Gynecol Oncol. 1998;68:54–61.
- 138. Jeffers MD, Farquharson MA, Richmond JA, et al. p53 immunoreactivity and mutation of the p53 gene

in smooth muscle tumours of the uterine corpus. J Pathol. 1995;177:65–70.

- Hall KL, Teneriello MG, Taylor RR, et al. Analysis of Ki-ras, p53, and MDM2 genes in uterine leiomyomas and leiomyosarcomas. Gynecol Oncol. 1997;65:330–5.
- 140. Lasota J, Jasinski M, Sarlomo-Rikala M, et al. Mutations in exon 11 of c-Kit occur preferentially in malignant versus benign gastrointestinal stromal tumors and do not occur in leiomyomas or leiomyosarcomas. Am J Pathol. 1999;154:53–60.
- 141. Rushing RS, Shajahan S, Chendil D, et al. Uterine sarcomas express KIT protein but lack mutation(s) in exon 11 or 17 of cKIT. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;91:9–14.
- 142. Serrano C, Mackintosh C, Herrero D, et al. Imatinib is not a potential alternative treatment for uterine leiomyosarcoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:4977–9, author reply 9–80.
- 143. Dalal KM, Antonescu CR, Singer S. Diagnosis and management of lipomatous tumors. J Surg Oncol. 2008;97:298–313.
- 144. Kim EY, Kim SJ, Choi D, et al. Recurrence of retroperitoneal liposarcoma: imaging findings and growth rates at follow-up CT. AJR. 2008;191:1841–6.
- 145. Milic DJ, Rajkovic MM, Pejcic VD. Primary omental liposarcoma presenting as an incarcerated inguinal hernia. Hernia. 2005;9(1):88–9.
- 146. Fotiadis C, Zografos GN, Karatzas G, Papachristodoulou A, Sechas MN. Recurrent liposarcomas of the abdomen and retroperitoneum: three case reports. Anticancer Res. 2000;20(1B):579–83.
- 147. Jaques DP, Coit DG, Hajdu SI, Brennan MF. Management of primary and recurrent softtissue sarcoma of the retroperitoneum. Ann Surg. 1990;212:51–9.
- 148. Singer S, Corson JM, Demetri GD, et al. Prognostic factors predictive of survival for truncal and retroperitoneal soft-tissue sarcoma. Ann Surg. 1995;221:185–95.
- 149. Henricks WH, Chu YC, Goldblum JR, et al. Dedifferentiated liposarcoma: a clinicopathological analysis of 155 cases with a proposal for an expanded definition of dedifferentiation. Am J Surg Pathol. 1997;21:271–81.
- Lee A, Thway K, Huang PH, Jones RL. Clinical and molecular spectrum of liposarcoma. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(2):151–9.

- 151. Thway K, Flora R, Shah C, Olmos D, Fisher C. Diagnostic utility of p16, CDK4, and MDM2 as an immunohistochemical panel in distinguishing well-differentiated and dedifferentiated liposarcomas from other adipocytic tumors. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36(3):462–9.
- 152. Wei S, Henderson-Jackson E, Qian X, Bui MM. Soft tissue tumor immunohistochemistry update: illustrative examples of diagnostic pearls to avoid pitfalls. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2017;141(8):1072–91.
- 153. Fletcher CDM, Hogendoorn PCW, Mertens F, et al. WHO classification of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Washington, DC: IARC Press; 2013.
- 154. Crozat A, Åman P, Mandahl N, et al. Fusion of CHOP to a novel RNA-binding protein in human myxoid liposarcoma. Nature. 1993;363:640–4.
- 155. Fiore M, Grosso F, Lo Vullo S, et al. Myxoid/round cell and pleomorphic liposarcomas: prognostic factors and survival in a series of patients treated at a single institution. Cancer. 2007;109:2522–31.
- 156. Conyers R, Young S, Thomas DM. Liposarcoma: molecular genetics and therapeutics. Sarcoma. 2011;2011:483154.
- 157. Müllauer L. Milestones in pathology-from histology to molecular biology. Memo. 2017;10(1):42–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12254-016-0307-z. Epub 9 Jan 2017.
- 158. Buermans HP, den Dunnen JT. Next generation sequencing technology: advances and applications. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014;1842(10):1932–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.06.015.
- 159. Harrington CT, Lin EI, Olson MT, Eshleman JR. Fundamentals of pyrosequencing. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2013;137(9):1296–303. https://doi.org/10.5858/arpa.2012-0463-RA.
- 160. Diaz LA Jr, Bardelli A. Liquid biopsies: genotyping circulating tumor DNA. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(6):579–86. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2012.45.2011.
- Marusyk A, Almendro V, Polyak K. Intra-tumour heterogeneity: a looking glass for cancer? Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(5):323–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrc3261.
- 162. Do H, Dobrovic A. Sequence artifacts in DNA from formalin-fixed tissues: causes and strategies for minimization. Clin Chem. 2015;61(1):64–71. https:// doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2014.223040.


# Biomarkers in the Management of Peritoneal Metastases

12

Ninad Katdare, Aditi Bhatt, and Olivier Glehen

# 12.1 Introduction

Selected patients with peritoneal metastases are treated with a curative intent, the backbone of which is cytoreductive surgery (CRS) with or without hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) [1]. Despite this aggressive and morbid treatment, a large majority of the patients develop recurrence and/or progressive disease [2]. Surgical, disease-related and patient-related variables have been identified and validated and are used to select patients for such procedures but the rates of recurrence have improved only marginally [3]. The search for new prognostic markers is an ongoing process to identify patients most likely to benefit from the treatment [4]. In the era of molecular oncology, molecular markers have been gaining increasing focus as they not only have prognostic value but can also serve as therapeutic targets for developing systemic therapies. Whole genome sequencing has accel-

N. Katdare

A. Bhatt

erated the process of biomarker discovery. A molecular marker or biomarker is defined as "a biological molecule found in blood, other body fluids, or tissues, that is a sign of a normal or abnormal process, or of a condition or disease" [5]. A biomarker may be used to see how well the body responds to a treatment for a disease or condition. As the field of peritoneal oncology is evolving, many studies have been done and are ongoing, to assess the utility of biomarkers in various aspects of management of peritoneal metastases. This chapter provides a review of the known and emerging biomarkers related to some common peritoneal tumors.

# 12.2 Classification

Biomarkers are used across the spectrum of medical sciences [6]. For malignancies, the older term was 'tumor markers' but this referred only to circulating substances in blood like CA125, CEA, etc. In the era of molecular oncology, biomarkers can be measured at various levels [7].

Specific descriptors are thus used to define the types of biomarkers.

- Cells or Tissue: Presence of cells outside their milieu, e.g., in circulation, demonstration of neovascularization in tissue specimen.
- *Protein*: Overexpression, underexpression, or qualitative abnormalities.

Department of Surgical Oncology, Fortis SL Raheja Hospital, Mumbai, India

Department of Surgical Oncology, Zydus Hospital, Ahmedabad, India

O. Glehen (🖂)

Department of Surgical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Lyon-Sud, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Lyon, France e-mail: olivier.glehen@chu-lyon.fr

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2020

O. Glehen, A. Bhatt (eds.), *Pathology of Peritoneal Metastases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-3773-8\_12

- RNA: MicroRNA (miRNA), mRNA.
- *DNA*: Gene mutations, deletions, amplifications, or methylation.
- *Epigenetic Markers*: Heritable changes in gene expression that do not cause permanent alteration of the underlying DNA sequences, and include DNA methylation, histone modifications, and noncoding RNAs.

Alternatively, based on their clinical utility, they can also be divided into the following groups [8]:

- (a) Prognostic biomarkers: These are diseaserelated biomarkers. They give an idea regarding the course of the disease irrespective of the treatment chosen.
- (b) Predictive biomarkers: These are drugrelated biomarkers. They give an idea regarding the response to treatment.
- (c) Diagnostic biomarkers: These help diagnose a cancer, perhaps before it is detectable by conventional methods.

As with tumor markers, an ideal biomarker should have the following properties:

- It should be specific to the tumor.
- The levels should change in response to tumor size.
- Abnormal level should be obtained in presence of micrometastases.
- Level should not have large fluctuations that are independent of changes in tumor size.
- Levels in healthy individuals are at much lower concentrations than those found in cancer patients.
- Predict recurrences before they are clinically detectable.
- Test should be cost-effective.

Given the heterogeneity of tumors and the multitude of treatments available, it is not possible for one single test to be able to address all these issues. Often there are different markers for different outcomes or a combination of markers is used. Many markers are used for more than one tumor and address different clinical end points. Biomarkers in peritoneal surface oncology can have the following roles:

- · Diagnosis and classification of rare tumors
- Early detection of PM
- · Predicting benefit from surgery
- Detecting early recurrence/identifying patients prone to recurrence
- · Predicting response to systemic therapies
- Targets for drug development

# 12.3 Ovarian Cancer

Ovarian cancer is the fifth frequently occurring cancer among women and the leading cause of death among gynecological cancers. On the basis of histological classification, there are different types of ovarian cancers. Epithelial ovarian cancers (EOC) is the most common, whereas stromal and germ cell tumors are of lower abundance [9]. Epithelial tumors are classified into two types: type 1, with mutations in genes such as PTEN, KRAS, and BRAF, which ultimately increase the expression of Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK) and phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) signaling pathways which lead to proliferation and metastasis of ovarian cancer cells, and type 2 which involves mutations in P53 [10– 12]. Type 2 tumors are the high-grade serous cancers and type 1 includes low-grade serous carcinomas and other epithelial subtypes.

There are several challenges in the treatment of ovarian cancer. Early detection still remains a problem with most of the tumors being detected in stage 3 or above. Use of rising CA125 to trigger transvaginal ultrasound may produce as much as a 20% reduction in mortality in the latter trial with additional follow-up [13]. As outcomes are improved when primary surgery is performed by a gynecologic oncologist, preoperative discrimination of benign and malignant pelvic masses can facilitate appropriate referral. CA125, HE4, apolipoprotein A1, transthyretin, transferrin, and \u03b32-macroglobulin have contributed to the RMI, ROMA, or OVA1 algorithms to distinguish benign from malignant disease [14, 15]. Patients with advanced disease are subjected to cytoreductive surgery. When the disease is not amenable to surgery upfront, few cycles of neoadjuvant chemotherapy are given before performing CRS. Recently, HIPEC combined with CRS showed a survival benefit in the interval setting. There is a need to define subsets of patients who benefit from this treatment [16]. This is more relevant in light of recent clinical trials showing prolonged survival with PARP inhibitors [17].

Despite maximal surgical efforts, a large proportion of the patients develop disease recurrence that is defined based on the time interval from the last dose of platinum-based chemotherapy. Treatment of recurrent disease remains a challenge and the need for newer systemic therapies persists.

Thus, ovarian cancer remains a key area for biomarker development. Some potential areas for biomarker development in ovarian cancer are:

- · Early detection
- Response to platinum agents
- Response to other therapies
- Benefit of HIPEC

#### 12.3.1 Early Detection Biomarkers

At present, 75–80% of ovarian cancer patients are diagnosed with advanced stage (III/VI) where the cure rate is less than 20% [13–15, 18]. If, however, the disease is diagnosed in Stage I or II, 70–90% of patients can be cured with conventional surgery and chemotherapy. Early detection could significantly improve clinical outcomes in ovarian cancer since computer models suggest that detection of early stage disease could improve cure rates by 15–30% [13].

 CA125: CA125 (carbohydrate antigen 125 or MUC16) is a high-molecular-weight glycoprotein found on the surface of epithelial cells. It is overexpressed in EOC and is a widely used serum biomarker for the monitoring of patients with ovarian cancers. The expression of CA125 is usually low in normal ovaries, but a proteolytic site presented in the structure

of CA125 is believed to cause the formation of high invasive characteristics of ovarian cancer cells [19]. The interaction of CA125 with mesothelin on the surface of mesothelial cells mediates cell adhesion. Therefore, it is proposed that CA125 may contribute to the metastasis of ovarian cancer [12, 20]. Levels of CA125 correlate with response to treatment and can rise 4.8 months prior to clinical disease recurrence. Response to treatment is generally associated with a decrease in CA125 values by half, whereas a doubling of CA125 indicates drug resistance and disease progression. Persistent elevation of CA125 in patients after primary chemotherapy predicts persistence of residual disease with 90% accuracy [21]. Values higher than 35 U/mL are considered significant and indicate the need for follow-up. An important point to remember is that serum CA125 levels also increase in some physiological conditions such as pregnancy, and certain diseases such as uterine fibroids, endometriosis, and pelvic inflammation [22]. The use of CA125 as a biomarker results in a 47% likelihood of detecting ovarian cancer in its early stage and a likelihood of 80-90% in late stages. The sensitivity of CA125 is about 50–60%, and its specificity is about 90% [23]. In view of the low sensitivity of CA125 and average specificity, newer biomarkers are increasingly used in early diagnosis of ovarian cancers.

2. HE4: HE4 has a molecular weight of 25 kDa and is encoded by the WFD2 gene. It circulates in the blood stream and can be assessed by an enzyme immunoassay [24]. In 2009, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the use of HE4 for monitoring of women to diagnose EOC. Scientists demonstrated that HE4 is overexpressed in EOC but not in other types of ovarian cancer [12, 25]. The reference range of serum HE4 in normal conditions is less than 140 pmol/L. Serum HE4 levels also increase with pregnancy, aging, and menopausal status [24]. HE4, in early ovarian cancer detection, has a sensitivity of about 90% and a specificity of 72.9%; the combination of HE4 and CA125 can

distinguish between benign and malignant conditions and improve the early detection of cancer.

- 3. Mesothelin: Mesothelin is a 40 kDa glycoprotein expressed on mesothelial cell surface. Serum and urine levels of mesothelin can be elevated in some cancers, such as mesothelioma, ovarian cancer, and pancreatic cancer [26]. Mesothelin alone has a 60% sensitivity and a 98% specificity in cancer detection, but in combination with CA125, the sensitivity is improved [27]. The measurement of mesothelin in urine is more effective than performing a serum assay; urine assays exhibit 95% specificity in early stage detection of ovarian cancer [28]. However, costs and limited availability of the assay limit its use in routine clinical practice.
- Kallikrein-related peptidases (KrP): KrP are a group of serine proteases. This is the largest continuous cluster of proteases on the human genome [12]. KrP exhibit low sensitivity in the early detection of ovarian cancers when used alone, but a 90% specificity and a 72% sensitivity have been reported in combination with CA125 [29]. Serum levels more than 4.4 mg/L indicate poor prognosis in patients [30]. They are measured in serum through ELISA. Cost and availability have limited its widespread use.
- 5. Osteopontin: It is an adhesive glycoprotein synthesized by vascular endothelial cells and osteoblasts. Its function is related to bone remodeling and immunity. It was first identified in bones, but immune cells can also express this protein [31]. It has a high sensitivity of around 83.3% especially when combined with CA125. However, it lacks specificity [32].
- Apo-A1: ApoA1 is part of the family of highdensity lipoproteins. Contrary to the other biomarkers, a reduction in the levels of Apo-A1 is associated with detection of ovarian cancers. In combination with CA125, the sensitivity is around 93.9% with a specificity of 95%. It is used in conjunction with other biomarkers for the OVA1 test discussed below [33].

- 7. ROMA: As seen above, a single biomarker often lacks the sensitivity and specificity to qualify as a good biomarker. This has led to development of algorithms and combination tests which can improve early detection and treatment. ROMA stands for Risk Of Malignancy Algorithm. In studies carried out by Moore et al., in which various biomarkers were tested, it was observed that a combination of CA125 and HE4 had the best area under the curve in the receptor operating characteristic (ROC) curve of 91.4% [34]. This was then subsequently integrated with menopausal status to develop the ROMA. Sensitivity of the ROMA for detecting malignancy has been lower in premenopausal women than in postmenopausal women [35]. Another community trial by Moore et al. revealed 94% sensitivity at 75% specificity [36]. The sensitivity was 100% in premenopausal patients and the negative predictive value reached 98%. This led to approval of the algorithm by FDA. However, future studies showed conflicting results with some concluding combining CA125 and HE4 with the ROMA provides no more discrimination than either biomarker alone [37-42]. Hence, the use of this algorithm is not widespread.
- 8. OVA1: The OVA1 is a multivariate index calculated by combining data from imaging, menopausal status, and CA125 with four other protein biomarkers including apolipoprotein A1, transthyretin, transferrin, and  $\beta$ 2-macroglobulin [43]. It was approved by FDA in 2009. Validation in various studies showed that the OVA1 panel demonstrated higher sensitivity, but lower specificity than physician evaluation. Addition of the OVA1 panel enhanced the sensitivity for detection of malignant pelvic masses from 78% to 98%, but reduced specificity from 75% to 26%. A high negative predictive value of 98% was, however, achieved with OVA1 [44].

Neither ROMA nor OVA1 should be used as a screening test for ovarian cancer. They only help in defining the benign ovarian masses from the malignant one. At present only Ca125 and HE4

are used in regular clinical practice for early detection of ovarian cancers.

#### 12.3.2 Newer Biomarkers

- 1. Autoantibodies: The expression of antigen, the rate of antigen-shedding, and the volume of cancer before it becomes capable of metastasis often limit the detection of various biomarkers in the early stage of the disease. This has led to the hypothesis that small volumes of cancer may not release adequate amounts of antigen to elevate serum levels, but could induce a human immune response [45]. The TP53 tumor suppressor gene is mutated in virtually all high-grade serous ovarian cancers. Recent studies suggest that titers of anti-TP53 autoantibodies are present in as many as 25% of ovarian cancer patients and can rise 8–12 months prior to CA125 and more than 2 years before clinical presentation of CA125 negative cases [13, 46].
- MicroRNAs (miRNA): miRNAs are small noncoding RNAs which downregulate protein expression of target genes by degrading their messenger RNA (mRNA) or interfering with translation of specific proteins. Several miR-NAs have been proposed as biomarkers for early detection, diagnosis, and prognostication of ovarian cancers, but none has been established to date [47–49].
- 3. Circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA): Since its discovery in cancer patients in 1977, the evolution of interest and research has been slow. In recent times, with improvement in techniques of detection and isolation the interest has rekindled. ctDNA has been isolated in pancreatic, ovarian, colorectal, bladder, gastroesophageal, breast, melanoma, hepatocellular, and head and neck cancers [50]. ctDNA had comparable sensitivity and specificity to CA125 and detected persistent cancer in 6 cases with negative CT scans [51].
- Exosomes: Exosomes are highly stable membrane vesicles released from variety of normal cells as well as malignant cells. As the content of the exosomes is similar to the cells from

which they are released, it is hypothesized that they will provide the same unique signatures from which they are released [52]. Exosomes derived from normal cells were larger than those derived from malignant cells.

5. New Protein Biomarkers: Using proteomics, at least 11 candidates, namely IGFBP2, IGFBP3, KLK6, KLK7, KLK9, MDK, CA125, PROS1, SLPI, TIMP1, and HE4, have been discovered in ovarian cancer cell lines, and five candidates, namely GRN, IGFBP2, RARRES2, TIMP1, and CD14, have been identified in plasma from ovarian cancers including early stage patients [53, 54]. The Early Detection Research Network (EDRN) website lists more than 200 ovarian cancer biomarker candidates. Large-scale clinical studies are required for evaluating those candidates as potential biomarkers.

#### 12.3.3 Prognostic Biomarkers

Many of the diagnostic markers also guide the prognosis of the disease in ovarian cancer. Most of the markers are described in the above section. A list of biomarkers with their clinical relevance in prognosis is mentioned in Table 12.1 (adapted from Ref. [55] with permission).

# **12.3.4 Predictive Biomarkers**

One of the most important prognostic factors in ovarian cancer has been sensitivity to platinum agents. There is a large body of literature highlighting a number of biomarkers as potential candidates for predicting resistance or sensitivity to treatment.

### 12.3.4.1 Ceruloplasmin

Ceruloplasmin, a plasma glycoprotein, transports copper throughout the body. High serum levels of ceruloplasmin have been demonstrated in various cancers such as thyroid, prostate, and colon cancer, and microarray analysis has linked this gene to tumor invasion and metastasis in breast cancer [67–69].

Biomarker	
[ref.]	Clinical relevance
CA 125 [56]	Postoperative levels of CA125 >35 U/ mL (no residual) or >65 U/mL (residual) are independent prognostic factors for survival
HE4 [57]	High serum level predicts unfavorable prognosis. A change in HE4 level of ≥25% is considered significant (an increase of this magnitude suggests recurrence or disease progression; a decrease suggests therapeutic response)
M-CSF [58]	Markedly elevated levels of M-CSF1 in serum and ascites are associated with a poor prognosis
Bikunin [59]	There is a 2.2-fold increased risk of death for patients with preoperative lower plasma bikunin levels
Plasma cell-free DNA [60]	Levels correlate with increasing tumor burden and decline following therapy
VEGF [61]	Higher serum expression of VEGF is associated with a shorter overall survival; elevated VEGF ascites levels negatively correlate with patient survival
EphA2 expression [62]	Overexpression is associated with poor prognosis
Claudin family members [63]	Claudin-3 and claudin-7 expression in effusions independently predicts poor survival
EGFR and HER2 [64, 65]	Tumors with increased EGFR protein tend to grow more aggressively, are more likely to metastasize, and are more resistant to chemotherapy HER-2/neu expression does not appear to be an important prognostic factor in patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer
Serum sFas levels [66]	Survival rates decrease as serum sFas levels increase; serum sFas level is also a useful biomarker for predicting response to platinum-based chemotherapy

**Table 12.1** Biomarkers and their clinical relevance in epithelial ovarian cancer

One study found a significantly upregulated level of ceruloplasmin in the ascitic fluid of intrinsic chemoresistant serous EOC patients, thus suggesting its potential as a prognostic biomarker for response to chemotherapy [70].

#### 12.3.4.2 Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs)

CSCs are a relatively small subset of cancer cells that indefinitely self-renew, initiate, and maintain tumor growth and may remain quiescent for prolonged periods [71, 72]. In ovarian cancer, these stem cells remain quiescent during chemotherapy and thus promote platinum resistance [73, 74]. Though the exact mechanism has not been elucidated, this seems to be the most plausible one. Chemotherapy acts on dividing cells and thus, these cells escape getting destroyed by it [75].

Known immunohistochemical markers of CSCs are ALDH, CD133, and BMP2 [76–78].

### 12.3.4.3 Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition

Epithelial mesenchymal transition plays a pivotal role in the development of ovarian cancer. It is a complex process that involves apoptosis, metabolism, cell proliferation, angiogenesis, and cell growth [79]. A distinctive mesenchymal gene expression profile has been identified [80]. Marchini et al. in their study of 46 patients identified a resistance gene expression signature for TGF- $\beta$ -mediated EMT that was further validated in 52 patients [81].

PI3K-AKT-mTOR inhibitors are the most promising therapeutic targets for EMT reversal, but it is difficult to ascertain if the disease control is a result of EMT reversal or suppression of the other processes [82]. Another approach to reversing EMT is targeting the epigenetic alterations that drive the transition and specific microRNAs for epithelial serous ovarian cancer, DNA methylation, and histone acetylation patterns [82].

#### 12.3.4.4 MicroRNAs

There are over 1000 human miRNAs and most have been associated with regulation of mRNA in normal and disease processes. There are many miRNAs that have been implicated in platinum resistance and can serve as future therapeutic targets. The most significant ones are miR-622, which targets the Ku pathway and downregulates non-homologous end joining (NHEJ); miR-484 that targets *VEGFB* and *VEGFR2* pathways and tumor vasculature; and a miRNA profile of 9 miRNAs that are involved in regulation of EMT and TGF/WNT signaling [83–85]. Overexpression of miR-27a, miR-23a, miR-30c, Let-7g, miR-199a-3p, and miR-141-3p have also been associated with cisplatin resistance [86, 87].

# 12.3.5 Genetic Mutations and Targets for Drug Development

*BRCA1/BRCA2* germline mutations are observed in 8–10% and somatic mutations in 3% of the patients with ovarian cancer. Other genes commonly mutated in ovarian cancer include *RB1*, *NF1*, *FAT3*, *CSMD3*, *GABRA6*, and *CDK12* [88]. Additional somatic gene mutations include *BRAF*, *PIK3CA*, *KRAS*, and *NRAS* mutations and amplifications in *CCNE1*, *MYC*, and *MECOM* [89]. Some mutations unique to ovarian cancer include mutations at loci 3q28, 4q32.3, 8q21.11, 10q24.33, 18q11.2 and 22q12.1, 2q13, 8q24.1, and 12q24.31 [90].

The microenvironment of peritoneal metastases (PM) can also serve as a potential therapeutic target. During the development of PM, the peritoneum becomes thickened with an increase in the vascular permeability which is attributed to the ensuing inflammatory response [91]. These events are associated with increased macrophage infiltration, specifically M2 CD68 cells. M2 cells are commonly associated with increased Tregs in the tumor microenvironment and decreased CD8, CD4, and M1 macrophages [92]. TIE2 is a receptor for Ang2 that promotes angiogenesis and the Erk 1/2 and Akt pathways [92]. Expression of TIE2 by M2 macrophages has been identified in epithelial ovarian cancer and TIE2 expression and the increased expression of TIE2 by M2 macrophages may be a diagnostic marker for metastasis [92]. Other established immunologic markers also include macrophage-specific induction of nuclear factor-kB and c-Jun kinase signaling pathways resulting in increased interleukin-6, interleukin-8, and vascular endothelial growth factor-C which promote metastasis [93, 94].

#### 12.3.6 Newer Approaches

The composition of ascites, which includes cellular and acellular components, constantly adapts during the course of the disease in response to various cellular cues originating from both tumor and stromal cells [95]. Increasing evidence now supports an active role of ascites in the progression of ovarian cancer. Although much work is still needed to fully understand the contribution of ascites to ovarian cancer aggressiveness, this tumor environment potentially provides a wealth of opportunities for translational research including biomarker discovery and novel therapeutic target identification [96].

# 12.4 Pseudomyxoma and Appendiceal Tumors

Pseudomyxoma peritonei is a clinical syndrome comprising of a wide spectrum of tumors ranging from very bland benign looking tumors to frank adenocarcinomas [97]. Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC have drastically improved the survival in these patients over systemic and palliative therapies alone. There still remains a lot of scope for improvement. Following appendectomy for mucinous neoplasms at high risk for peritoneal dissemination, the search for ideal surveillance markers persists. A large number of patients who are subjected to prophylactic procedures have no disease on exploration. There is a subset of patients with acellular mucin alone in the peritoneal implants develop recurrence after CRS that and HIPEC. Similarly, for both low- and high-grade tumors following complete CRS and HIPEC, there are no predictors of recurrence. For patients not eligible for complete cytoreductive surgery, there is a need to identify targetable mutations as systemic chemotherapy alone has limited efficacy.

# 12.4.1 Pathophysiology of PMP and Related Biomarkers

Numella et al. studied the glycomic profiling in PMP and found that altered glycosylation

Mucinous appendix cancers/PMP are characterized by abundant extracellular MUC2 protein and have distinct molecular profiles compared to their non-mucinous counterparts [99–103]. The extracellular mucin in PMP is abundant and results from *GNAS* mutations which are associated with upregulation of the *PGE2/EP4/cAMP/ PKA/CREB* signaling pathway [104–106]. COX-2 is also overexpressed in PMP.

Dill et al. showed that MUC2 expression could be reduced in vitro by small molecule inhibitors targeting *EP4/PKA/CREB* molecules and celecoxib (COX-2 inhibitor), and this was mediated by reduced *CREB* transcription factor binding to the *MUC2* promoter. In their study, celecoxib (5–40 µM) reduced MUC2 expression in vitro in a dose-dependent fashion but only high-dose celecoxib ( $\geq$ 20 µM) decreased cell viability and induced apoptosis. Chronic oral administration of celecoxib decreased mucinous tumor growth in their in vivo PMP model via a combination of MUC2 inhibition and induction of apoptosis [107].

Grizzi et al. studied the microenvironment of PMP and found increased expression of *PTTG1*, *SCCA1*, and *2TAAs* previously associated with progression and recurrence in various human malignancies. They also studied the distribution of B- and T cells in the microenvironment and identified these as areas for future research [108].

The team led by David Morris at St. George's hospital Sydney has demonstrated that bromelain (Brom) and acetylcysteine (Ac) have synergistic activity resulting in dissolution of tumorproduced mucin (MUC1, MUC2, and MUC5AC) both in vitro and in vivo. The investigators recently published the results of their phase 1 study showing the considerable mucolytic activity of this combination as demonstrated by the volume of mucin extracted and radiological appearance. The authors concluded that this treatment should be further investigated in patients with unresectable disease [109].

# 12.4.2 Detection of Early Disease

Following appendectomy, patients with low- and high-grade mucinous neoplasms and mucinous adenocarcinomas are at a risk of developing peritoneal recurrence. There are some pathological features like tumor perforation that are predictive of peritoneal recurrence but even with these indicators, nearly half the patients who have no disease are subjected to prophylactic or second look procedures. Circulating tumor makers like CEA, CA-19-9, and CA-125 are used as surveillance markers in combination with abdominal imaging. These markers are good indicators of peritoneal disease as any amount of peritoneal disease is almost always associated with elevation of at least one of these markers. However, there are no studies looking at the sensitivity or specificity of these markers for detecting peritoneal disease. Moreover, all the three markers can be elevated in a large number of both benign and malignant conditions [110–112].

Song et al. screened expression of 2549 miRs in 3 pooled PMP patient serum samples and 3 pooled healthy controls with Agilent microarrays [113]. Their results showed a statistically significant difference in the expression levels of miR-423-5p and miR-6728-5p between the two groups and these two emerged as promising biomarkers for screening or early detection of PMP. miR-423-5p has been reported to be a promising biomarker for colorectal carcinoma, bladder cancer, heart failure, and some other diseases, but mechanisms remain unclear. MiRs are highly conserved noncoding RNAs that negatively regulate gene expression post-transcriptionally by binding to the 3'-untranslated region of target mRNAs, resulting in either mRNA degradation or translational repression [114-119]. Target genes of miR-6728-5p and miR-423-5p will be targets of research in the future.

# 12.4.3 Predictors of Recurrence and Survival in PMP

Typically, high-grade disease and high PCI are the strongest predictors of disease recurrence and lower survival in PMP. Carbonic anhydrase (CA) II is highly expressed in most organs. In contrast, malignant cells typically express no or only low levels of CA II [120, 121]. A loss in the expression of CA II is reported to be linked to the process of malignant transformation and the progression of colorectal, hepatocellular, gastric, and pancreatic cancers [122–124].

Järvinen et al. studied CA II expression in 89 PMP patients. Positive CA II expression was found in 58 patients (65%) and absent in 31 patients (35%). High-grade (HG) morphology was associated with a loss of CA II expression (p = 0.048). The 5-year overall survival (OS) for those patients with CA II expression was 80% and 59% for those without (p < 0.001). The 5-year OS rate for those patients with high-grade morphology and positive CA II expression was 72% and 31% for those with negative CA II expression (p = 0.044). This study concluded that the expression of CA II acts as independent prognostic biomarker for survival in PMP [125].

### 12.4.4 KRAS Mutations

KRAS mutations are the commonest, in both appendiceal tumors (53-100%) and PMP (57-100%) [105, 126–128]. It is more frequently seen than in colorectal cancers. Some series report a higher incidence of these mutations in patients with peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis (PMCA), whereas others have reported a similar incidence in both diffuse peritoneal adenomucinosis (DPAM) and PMCA. Most of mutations are found on codons 12 and 13 of exon 2. The difference between the lowest and highest frequencies could be due to a variation in the sensitivity of the detection method and the tumor cell percentages in the samples; most of these tumors have a low cellularity which makes analysis difficult [126, 129–132].

Shetty et al. studied the mutation of *KRAS* and P53 in patients with PMP. Of the 221 patients in the study, 64 had analysis of *KRAS* mutations. There was a higher frequency of *KRAS* mutations in patients with low-grade PMP which is associated with greater mucin production. Codon 12 was affected in 88.6% (31 of 35) of the mutations

versus 11.4% (4 of 35) seen in codon 13. These findings are similar to other studies which suggest that *KRAS* mutations, specifically mutations in codon 12, appear to be associated with mucin production [127, 133].

The frequency of mutations was lower in signet ring cell carcinomas which is also seen in colorectal signet ring cell carcinomas and was not seen in patients with goblet cell carcinoids/ adenocarcinoids [134–137]. The authors proposed that the mutation in these more aggressive tumors may be seen on codons other than 12 and 13 which were the only ones looked for in their study and in the commonly used commercial tests [138].

Survival analysis did not show a difference in overall survival between patients with and without *KRAS* mutations at a median follow-up of 39 months. The difference was not observed in both high-and low-grade tumors [139].

Similarly, Austin et al. reported no difference in patients with and without *KRAS* mutations though the results were not stratified according to completeness of cytoreduction [130]. Overexpression of *p53* was associated with a significantly worse overall survival.

Contrary to the above, Pietrantonio et al. reported a negative prognostic impact of *KRAS* mutation on both disease free and overall survival in 40 patients with appendiceal PMP following CRS and HIPEC [140]. Seventy-two percent of the patients had a *KRAS* mutation. *KRAS* mutation was also an independent predictor of disease free survival. Notably, next-generation sequencing was used in this study and in patients with mutations, the allelic frequency was below 10% in 55% of the patients. The *KRAS* mutant allelic fraction did not have a prognostic impact unlike colorectal cancer [141].

#### 12.4.5 GNAS Mutations

*GNAS* encodes the  $\alpha$ -subunit of a stimulatory G-protein (G $\alpha$ s) responsible for the production of adenylyl cyclase. *GNAS* mutations cause the constitutive activation of adenylyl cyclase and an elevated cyclic AMP (cAMP) level, regardless of the presence or absence of receptor agonists [142,

143]. GNAS mutation promotes tumorigenesis only, not cell growth, thus leading to the indolent behavior of mucinous tumors. But it increases the expression of MUC2 and MUC5AC implying the role of this pathway in mucin overproduction. However, this is not the only pathway responsible for mucin overproduction [144]. GNAS mutations are also seen in other tumors of the gastrointestinal tract like villous adenomas of the colorectum, pyloric gland adenomas of the stomach and duodenum, and intra-pancreatic mucinous neoplasms suggesting a preferential association with tumors having a benign or indolent behavior [145, 146]. They are rare or absent in adenocarcinomas arising from these organs [145, 147].

*GNAS* mutations are typically codon 201 mutations and are found in 40–70% of the patients with PMP and 40–77% of the patients with LAMN [148].

Nishikawa et al. reported GNAS mutations in 50% of their patients but none of the patients with high-grade PMP had these mutations [144]. Contrary to this, Singhi et al. found these mutations in 31% in their series of 41 patients with no difference in the incidence between highand low-grade tumors [149]. None of the patients in this series had either GNAS or KRAS mutations in the pure signet ring cell carcinomas, which indicates that a different molecular pathway is involved in their pathogenesis. In the study by Pietrantonio et al., GNAS mutations were found in 52% of the patients and their allelic frequency was below 10% in 43% of the patients. GNAS mutations were more common in low-grade PMP and did not have a significant impact on either disease free or overall survival [140].

#### 12.4.6 TP53

Mutations in *TP53*, a tumor suppressor gene on chromosome 17p, and overexpression of the protein have been described in various malignancies including CRC [150, 151].

Microsatellite instability and *TP53* overexpression are reported to be infrequent. In a retrospective study by Shetty et al., *TP53* mutation was associated with high-grade histology and a reduced survival [139, 152].

There was a significantly higher rate of p53 overexpression (54.4%) in high-grade PMP compared with low-grade PMP (35.6%), which correlates with the comparatively aggressive behavior of the former. Other studies report a lower rate of overexpression [152]. Data regarding the overexpression or loss of *TP53* are variable in colorectal cancer. Some studies show negative impact of overexpression while others show a negative impact of loss of *TP53* [153–159].

# 12.4.7 Other Mutations and Potential Therapeutic Targets

Deregulation of *PI3K-AKT* pathway has also been implicated in the progression to PMCA [127].

Mutations of p53 gene and overexpression of the protein p53 are frequent in CRC and range from 5% to 30% in colorectal adenomas and to 50% to 75% in adenocarcinomas [126, 136]. Appendiceal neoplasms have infrequent *TP53* gene mutations and a lower rate of loss of the allele 17p, which is the location of the *TP53* gene [160].

*BRAF V600E, PIK3CA, AKT1, SMAD4,* and *APC* mutations are rare in PMP tumors, and they express mismatch repair enzymes.

Gleeson et al. performed NGS, IHC, and FISH in 54 patients with PMP and found KRAS mutations in 79%, GNAS in 73%, SMAD4 in 18% and a low frequency of mutations in APC, ATM, BRAF, PIK3CA, MLH1, and TP53 [161]. GNAS and KRAS were concurrently expressed in 38%. There was increased protein expression of EGFR in 83%, cMET in 59%, cKIT in 58%, and PDGFRA in 58%. Immune checkpoint expression was found in 36% (PD1-positive tumor infiltrating lymphocytes) and 9% (PDL1 tumor expression). There was a low rate of expression of surrogate markers of cell proliferation consistent with the slow growing nature of the tumor. PTEN mutations were uncommon as was microsatellite instability. Multidrug resistance protein expression was found at high level and markers for gemcitabine, fluorouracil, oxaliplatin, and irinotecan chemosensitivity had favorable levels.

Sio et al. identified *MCL1* and *JUN1* amplification in 30% of PMP cases using next-generation sequencing assay with Illumina HiSeq2000 platform. *MCL1* is a *BCL2* family anti-apoptotic gene, and its overexpression may contribute to chemotherapy resistance to 5-fluorouracil, which is given commonly for PMP during HIPEC. *JUN* is a proto-oncogene commonly expressed in gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors and squamous cell lung cancers. Both of these may represent novel targets for treatment in the future but require further study [148]. The common genetic mutation seen in PMP of appendiceal origin is listed in Table 12.2.

#### 12.4.8 Gene Expression Profiles

Roberts et al. used exon-array analysis to study differential gene expression in tumor samples from patients with PM and compared it with the expression in normal colonic mucosa [162]. They identified 27 upregulated and 34 downregulated genes in the PMP samples which was not seen in the normal colonic mucosa, thus demonstrating that the gene profiles in PMP are different from colorectal cancer. Although their sample population was small (4 PMP samples, 3 normal colonic mucosa), their data demonstrated that gene profiles in PMP are distinct from colon cancer. For the first time, they also

 Table 12.2
 Common mutations in PMP of appendiceal origin

	Genetic	
	mutation	Frequency
PMP of appendiceal	KRAS	53-100%
origin	GNAS	40-70%
	MCL1 and	30%
	JUNI	
	SMAD4	18%
	BRAF	Uncommon
	APC, ATM	Uncommon
	PIK3CA	Uncommon
	MSI and P53	Uncommon

developed two immortalized PMP cell lines (N14A and N15A).

Levine et al. used microarray analysis to study gene expression in low-grade appendiceal primary tumors and were able to segregate patients into two risk groups based on the expression of 139 genes. The high-risk group had a significantly shorter survival compared to the low-risk group following complete cytoreductive surgery. In this work, a gene signature (139 gene cassette) was established which could prognosticate patients based on their likelihood of benefit from CRS and HIPEC [163]. Gene expression profiles in PMP are described in more detail elsewhere in this book.

# 12.5 Colorectal Cancer

Colorectal peritoneal metastases (CPM) are now treated aggressively with cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC. Despite this aggressive treatment, more than 70% of the patients will experience disease progression and/or recurrence. Many prognostic scores and molecular markers are known in addition to the conventional prognostic indicators in peritoneal oncology. Colorectal tumorigenesis has been well studied and follows one of three defined pathways. Many studies have been evaluating the role of biomarkers in the diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment of CPM and the effort to integrate these into clinical practice continues.

# 12.5.1 Molecular Mechanisms Underlying Colorectal Cancer (CRC)

There are three main pathways underlying colorectal tumorigenesis [164].

- 1. *Chromosomal instability*: This pathway correlates with loss of APC, which is typically seen in familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP).
- 2. *Mismatch repair defect pathway*: Inactivation of mismatch repair genes occurs in Lynch

syndrome (inherited mutation) as well as approximately 15% of patients with sporadic colorectal cancer [165]. Tumors with MSI tend to be right, are poorly differentiated, show mucin production and signet ring cells and have a better overall prognosis. These tumors are less likely to metastasize to the peritoneum, unlike microsatellite stable tumors with poor differentiation/mucin production/signet ring cells [166, 167]. These tumors are unresponsive to 5-flurouracil (5-FU) based treatment but may benefit from irinotecan [168]. Interestingly, the presence of MMR mutations is also predictive of response to pembrolizumab (programmed death-1 blocker) in colorectal cancer [169]. The frequency of MSI in peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer is usually low but should be tested for mucinous tumors [170].

3. Aberrant DNA methylation: Epigenetic modifications such as aberrant DNA methylation of the CpG-rich *CpG islands* (a cytosine base is followed immediately by a guanine base) in the promoter regions are also commonly seen leading to silencing of gene expression. In sporadic colorectal cancer with microsatellite instability (MSI), epigenetic silencing blocks the expression of *MLH1* leading to mismatch repair. These patients often also have a concordant mutation in *BRAF* [171]. Also, subsets of CRC including those with MSI may have concordant methylation of multiple genes called the CpG island methylator phenotype [165, 166, 172].

The *Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK* signaling cascade is used by growth factors (e.g., EGFR) and mitogens to transmit signals from their receptors to regulate gene expression and prevent apoptosis. *RAS* and *BRAF* are two components of these pathways that are mutated or aberrantly expressed in CRC in 40% and 10% of the patients, respectively [173]. EGFR signaling is closely related to *Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK* pathway and mutation in *KRAS*, or *BRAF* downstream leads to lack of response to anti-EGFR antibodies which are known to improve survival in metastatic colorectal cancer [174, 175]. The various epigenetic

 Table 12.3
 Epigenetic changes associated with colorectal cancers

Gene/miRNA	Function			
Expression inhibited by hypermethylation				
APC	Tumor suppressor			
MGMT	DNA damage repair			
CDKN2A/p16	Tumor suppressor			
RASSF1A	Tumor suppressor			
CHFR	Tumor suppressor/checkpoint			
	inhibitor			
miR-34a	Tumor suppressor			
Expression increased by hypermethylation				
COX2	Metastases			
SOCS1	Signal transduction			
ADAM23	Metalloprotease			
miR-21	Invasion/metastases			

changes seen in colorectal cancer are listed in Table 12.3.

# 12.5.2 Hypermutated and Nonhypermutated Tumors

The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) project analyzed 276 samples of colorectal cancer with exome sequencing, DNA copy number, methylation analysis as well as RNA and microRNA expression revealed that 16% of CRC were hypermutated (mutation rates of >12 per  $10^6$ ). Seventy-five percent of these were MSI-H tumors, usually with hypermethylation and MLH1 silencing, and 25% had somatic MMR gene and polymerase e (POLE) mutations. Among non-hypermutated tumors, colon and rectum cancers were found to have similar patterns of genomic alteration. A total of 24 genes were identified that had one or more mutations. Ninety-three percent of non-hypermutated and 97% of hypermutated cases had a mutation at one or more points in WNT signaling pathway, with APC gene mutation being the most common. Additional common pathways altered include TGF- $\beta$ , RTK-RAS, and PI3K signaling pathways. New findings included recurrent mutations in FAM123B, ARID1A, and SOX9. Mutations and amplifications of ERBB2 were observed in a significant percentage of patients. These discoveries carry translational significance as *ERBB2* (*HER-2*) is a significant cancer therapeutic target with antibody trastuzumab [176].

Preclinical studies further showed that dual targeted therapy using trastuzumab plus tyrosine kinase inhibitors is effective against CRC xenografts with HER-2 amplification [177]. Based on these findings, the HERACLES trial was conducted, which showed that that the combination of trastuzumab and lapatinib is active in patients with HER2-positive metastatic colorectal cancer refractory to chemotherapy and anti-*EGFR* antibodies. Thirty percent of patients achieved an objective response in this trial [178].

#### 12.5.3 Biomarkers for CPM

#### 12.5.3.1 Diagnostic Biomarkers

The role of CEA, CA125, and CA19-9 as diagnostic biomarkers in colorectal PM has been evaluated in several studies [179–183]. One study showed higher levels in patients with CPM and a correlation with tumor volume. The expression differed according to the primary site and sex; however, this study compared tumor markers levels with positive imaging findings as a confirmatory finding which itself is not the gold standard for diagnosis of CPM [184].

Five studies were identified assessing the value of CEA, CA125, and CA19-9 as diagnostic biomarkers in CPM; evaluating their sensitivity and specificity for CPM diagnosis; and comparing them to conventional imaging.

Two studies were identified that evaluated the predictive value of CEA and CA19-9 (cut-off used 37.0 U/mL) in diagnosing synchronous peritoneal metastases in patients with CRC [180, 183]. Both demonstrated that elevated levels of CA19-9 were significantly associated with the presence of CPM, whereas CEA did not retain its significant value in multivariate analysis. Lee et al. also found that intraperitoneal CEA levels were significantly correlated with recurrence and peritoneal metastasis, in patients with negative peritoneal cytology, allowing for a measurement of a marker that could aid in developing stratified follow-up regimens for early detection of CPM in high-risk patients [179].

Bhullar et al. performed a systematic review and meta-analysis looking at the genetic concordance between the primary colorectal tumor and the metastatic sites and found a high concordance rate between primary colorectal cancers and their liver/lung metastases. Despite peritoneal metastases being the third most common site, they found little information on the concordance of genetic composition with the primary. Their study concluded that there was no evidence to show a benefit of performing biopsies at multiple sites versus one site provided adequate samples were taken for lung and liver metastases [180].

#### 12.5.3.2 Prognostic Biomarkers

#### **Tumor Markers**

Seven studies found CEA to be a prognostic marker of overall survival [179, 181, 183, 185–189]. Cut-off thresholds for CEA showed marked variability between the different studies and ranged from >5 to >70 ng/mL. Despite these variable cut-offs, a CEA level higher than the specified cut-off had a negative impact on survival.

Contrary to these reports, Ozawa et al. failed to demonstrate the prognostic value of CEA in multivariate analysis but found that preoperative CEA correlates with likelihood of complete cytoreduction (CR0) [186].

### **BRAF Mutation**

The *BRAF* phenotype in association with CPM has been evaluated in several studies [190–192]. Tumors with the *BRAF* mutation are more likely to present with peritoneal metastases and aggressive biology [193]. Sasaki et al. observed that *BRAF V600E* mutation was more prevalent in patients with CPM as compared to those without [191].

### Platelet-to-Lymphocyte Ratio

Bong et al. and Ihemelandu et al. evaluated the platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio (PLR), and this marker was shown to be an independent prognostic factor of poor overall survival, in levels exceeding 200 and 300, respectively [188, 194]. Patients with a PLR of 150–300 had a

median overall survival (OS) of 36 months, and those with a lower value had an OS of 47 months. PLR was established to be a significant prognostic factor in predicting 5-year OS [195].

#### Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) was found to be evaluated as a prognostic factor in three studies [187, 196, 197]. Chia et al. showed that lower levels of intraperitoneal VEGF at the time of abdominal cavity exploration were associated with improved overall survival in patients with CPM [187]. Two other studies showed a significant association between high tissue VEGF expression and reduced overall survival in CPM [196, 197]. Sluiter et al. also identified epithelial and stromal VCAN expression as a potential marker of improved overall survival [197].

#### Molecular Phenotype

To resolve inconsistencies among the reported gene expression-based colorectal cancer classifications and facilitate clinical translation, Guinney et al. formed an international consortium dedicated to large-scale data sharing and analytics across expert groups [198].

They showed marked interconnectivity between six independent molecular classification systems that could be coalesced into four consensus molecular subtypes (CMS) with distinguishing features (Fig. 12.1):

- *CMS1 (MSI Immune, 14%)*: hypermutated, microsatellite unstable, strong immune activation
- *CMS2 (Canonical, 37%)*: epithelial, chromosomally unstable, marked *WNT* and *MYC* signaling activation
- *CMS3 (Metabolic, 13%)*: epithelial, evident metabolic dysregulation
- *CMS4 (Mesenchymal, 23%)*: prominent transforming growth factor-β activation, stromal invasion, and angiogenesis

Thirteen percent of the samples showed mixed features and were considered to represent a transition phenotype or intra-tumoral heterogeneity. The authors concluded that the CMS groups could be the most robust molecular classification and should be the basis for future clinical stratification and subtype-based targeted interventions.

Further to this, a study by Ubink et al. showed the relationship between consensus molecular subtype (CMS) and occurrence of CPM. In their study, CMS4-positive tumors were more likely to present with peritoneal metastases. The CMS-4 positive tumors were associated with a poorer response to common chemotherapy drugs like oxaliplatin [199].

#### 12.5.3.3 Therapeutic Biomarkers

For a long time, different studies have been performed looking at biomarkers that can predict response to chemotherapy. Koumpa et al. in their systematic review identified eight studies evalu-

CMS 1 MSI Immune	CMS 2 Canonical	CMS 3 Metabolic	CMS Mesenchymal
MSI, CIMP high, hypermutation	SCNA high	Mixed MSI status, SCNA low, CIMP low	SCNA high
BRAF mutation		KRAS mutation	
Immune infiltration and activation	WNT and MYC activation	Metabolic deregulation	Stromal infiltration, TGF-B activation, angiogenesis
Worse survival after relapse			Worse relapse-free and overall survival

Fig. 12.1 The consensus molecular subtypes of colorectal cancer and their characteristics. (From Ref. [198] with permission)

ating biomarkers for therapeutic monitoring in CPM [190, 196, 200–205]. The biomarkers evaluated were *ERCC1*, *TS*, *VEGF*, *CTGF*, and *CRC* gene expression.

In one study looking at ERCC1 and TS expression levels, there was some prediction of response but no clear relationship between response and resistance to 5FU and oxaliplatin containing therapeutic regimens [203]. This study also showed that in vitro chemosensitivity testing was more effective in predicting clinical response to treatment than these biomarkers [204].

Another study demonstrated a significant correlation between high *BRCA2* gene expression and *BLM* gene and protein expression with resistance to mitomycin C (MMC) therapy in peritoneal carcinomatosis [190].

Varghese et al. demonstrated distinct gene upregulation of *IGF1*, *HIF1*, *TIMP2*, *mTOH*, *COH17*, and *MSLN* in CPM compared to other metastatic sites. These can be used as targets for developing drugs specific to CPM [201].

Logan-Collins et al. and de Cuba et al. evaluated VEGF expression levels in patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC and found that high VEGF expression was associated with poor overall survival following treatment. VEGF emerged as a potential therapeutic target and a useful marker for identifying patients at risk for early failure [196, 202]. Chia et al. demonstrated that low preoperative intraperitoneal (IP) VEGF levels were associated with improved survival and suggest that bevacizumab, which selectively targets the VEGF receptor, could be selectively used in these patients to improve disease control [187].

Data in a study by Lin and colleagues demonstrated that connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) has a role in inhibiting colorectal cancer cell adhesion (a crucial step in peritoneal seeding), highlighting the potential to use CTGF for the development of targeted therapies that dampen cell adhesion and mitigate peritoneal seeding [203].

Shannon et al. aimed to identify preoperative predictive molecular markers that can be assessed in tumor biopsy samples as a surrogate for chemosensitivity to mitomycin C in CPM before HIPEC is performed. Three potential biomarkers were identified and optimized for IHC. Patients exhibiting lower expression of *PAXIP1* and *SSBP2* had poorer survival than those with higher expression (p = 0.045 and 0.140, respectively). No difference was observed in patients with differing *DTYMK* expression. Combining *PAXIP1* and *SSBP2* in a set, patients with two dysregulated protein markers had significantly poorer survival than one or no dysregulated marker (p = 0.016). This set independently predicted survival in a Cox regression model [206].

#### 12.5.4 Prognostic Scores

The peritoneal surface disease severity score has been used as a method for determining the prognosis of patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC preoperatively. This score incorporates clinical symptom severity, extent of disease as peritoneal cancer index (PCI) calculated on CT scan or laparoscopy, and primary tumor histology [207]. This score was validated by a study evaluating 1013 patients with PM and showed that PSDSS was capable of defining populations with a high or considerably lower likelihood of long-term survival after CRS/ HIPEC but some studies did not show a correlation with survival [208, 209]. Aronja-Sanchez et al. combined this score with the RAS mutation status. In their study of 77 patients, both RAS mutation status and PSDSS were independent predictors of survival. The combined score is shown in Fig. 12.2. Early PSDSS stages I and II associated to RAS mutations impaired their overall survival with no significant differences with PSDSS stage III overall survival (p < 0.05). These results were supported by the international multicenter validation [210].

Schneider et al. developed a simple pointbased risk score termed BIOSCOPE (BIOlogical Score of COlorectal PEritoneal metastasis) based on PCI, nodal status, tumor grade, and RAS/ RAF status, which showed good discrimination and allowed categorization of patients into four groups with strongly divergent survival outcomes [211]. The four risk groups based on points are as follows. **Fig. 12.2** The modified PSDSS score combining KRAS mutation status with the PSDSS score. (From Ref. [210] with permission)

Clinical symptoms	PCI	Histology	Points
None	<10	G1; G2 N-, L-,V-	1
Mild	10–20	G2 N+ and/or L+ and/or V+	2
Severe	>20	G3; signet ring	3

Clinical symptoms: Mild symptoms- weight loss <10%, mild pain, some ascites; Severe symptoms- weight loss >10%, bowel obstruction, symptomatic ascites

PCI is determined preoperatively on imaging or staging laparoscopy or surgery performed for the primary tumor in case of synchronous PM

- Score stage Stage 1- (2–3 points) + KRAS wild type Stage 2- (4–7 points) + KRAS wild type Stage 3- (8–10 points) + KRAS wild type (2–10 points) + KRAS mutated Stage 4- (>10 points) + KRAS any type
- **BIOSCOPE A** (0 risk points) that represents patients with absent risk factors (PCI <10, N0, G1–2, RAS/RAF wt). The median cancer specific survival (mCSS) in these patients in the study was 70 months and median recurrence free survival 65 months in the study.
- **BIOSCOPE B** (1–3 risk points) reflects patients with moderate risk factors; these patients had a mCSS of 50 and median RFS of 39 months, respectively.
- **BIOSCOPE** C patients (4–7 points) profit from CRS/HIPEC with a mCSS of 33 and mRFS of 25 months, which is still superior to the mCSS of 16.9 months in patients with PM treated systemically with modern targeted chemotherapy only.
- In contrast, **BIOSCOPE D** patients (>8 points) show a dismal survival of 13 (development cohort of the study) and 7 (validation cohort) months only. The authors recommended that CRS/HIPEC in these patients should be evaluated critically regarding possible complications and time for convalescence, and the decision for CRS/HIPEC should be made carefully on an individual basis.

These scores show that biomarkers alone even if associated with poor prognosis cannot preclude surgery in any patients. Common clinical and pathological prognostic indicators like PCI, complete cytoreduction, and tumor histology and grade will still have an impact and remain the main criteria for selecting patients for surgery.

# 12.6 Gastric Cancer

Over half the patients with gastric cancer (GC) develop peritoneal metastases at some time-point in the course of their disease. Given the aggressive nature of the tumor, it is often presumed that the predominant mode of spread is through the hematogenous route, transcoelomic spread has been demonstrated in gastric cancer [212]. Peritoneal metastases usually present in an advanced stage precluding aggressive surgical treatment. Neoadjuvant approaches that employ the intraperitoneal route of drug delivery like PIPAC and port directed normothermic chemotherapy have shown promising results and are being developed in addition to newer systemic therapies. Unlike colorectal cancer, the systemic chemotherapy regimens and targeted therapies are less effective in gastric cancer. Serosal involvement results in downregulation of intracellular adhesion molecules such as E-cadherin leading to

shedding of free cancer cells in the peritoneal cavity [213]. These free malignant cells can then adhere to distant peritoneal sites through adhesion molecules such as selectins and CD44, with subsequent local invasion via matrix metalloproteinases and other motility factors [214]. The genomic alterations that enable this invasive transformation have only recently been explored.

# 12.6.1 Molecular Mechanisms in Gastric Cancer

Whole genome sequencing of primary and metastatic gastric cancer has identified several somatic variations associated with peritoneal metastases [215]. Mutations in retinitis pigmentosa 1-like 1 gene (RP1L1), PRB1 (BstNI subfamily), dynactin (DCTN1), and HS6ST3 were all observed in both primary lesions and metastatic tumor deposits. Although RP1L1, PRB1, and DCTN1 have no known oncologic association, HS6ST3 is implicated in proliferation, differentiation, adhesion, and migration, and is highly expressed in chondrosarcomas [216]. In another study, more than 50% of patients with gastric peritoneal metastases had mutations in Rho-ROCK pathway components (RHOA, ROCK1, ROCK2, FYN, and MYO9B), which are involved in actin cytoskeleton formation, focal adhesion, and the Rho-protein signaling, suggesting that these mutations could play a role in peritoneal spread [212].

# 12.6.2 Biomarkers Related to Gastric Peritoneal Metastases

# 12.6.2.1 Early Detection of PM: Identifying Patients at Risk

Ohi et al. studied 493 patients undergoing surgery for gastric cancer in absence of any prior therapy and identified risk factors for developing PM. Specific clinical factors, including tumor size, histopathology of biopsy sample, and tumor morphology, were significantly correlated with peritoneal metastasis. CA19-9, lymphocyte count, and NLR were also predictive factors for peritoneal metastasis. Multivariate analysis identified the clinical factors tumor morphology and histopathology, and laboratory markers CA19-9 and lymphocyte count as independent factors predictive for peritoneal metastasis. A combination of independent predictive factors achieved high predictive accuracy (0.882) for peritoneal metastasis preoperatively [217].

Chemokine genes, such as *CXCL12* and *VEGF*, have been reported to be elevated in the development of PM [218]. Takeno et al. identified a 22-gene expression profile which is associated with PM [219]. Zhang et al. reported a case of GC with matched primary cancer and peritoneal metastatic tissue, and identified several genes especially mutated in PM from gastric cancer [215].

A study by Zeng et al. demonstrated that lysophosphatidic acid levels in plasma and ascites may be useful diagnostic biomarkers for PM of gastric cancer and that higher levels are associated with poor prognosis [220].

Progastrin assay is a simple and inexpensive blood test exhibiting high diagnostic accuracy in patients with GI carcinomas, along with promising therapeutic longitudinal changes across sequential managements. Assessment of progastrin value as a multi-tumor screening assay, and as a monitoring test, is ongoing in the setting of a clinical trial in France (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03787056).

Chen et al. compared the mutation pattern of genes between patients of gastric cancer with PM group and without PM and identified three genes (*CDC27*, *MACF1*, and *HMCN*), which showed moderate enrichment in patients PM group [221]. Among them, *MACF1* is a pan-cancer driver gene, which is related to cell adhesion function. Another gene *PDZD2*, which has been associated with the early stages of prostate tumorigenesis, was also altered in patients with PM.

# 12.6.3 Prognostic Markers in Patients with PM

Wang et al. sequenced the whole exome and transcriptome of peritoneal deposits from 43 patients with gastric cancer and integrated these findings with clinical and histopathological data [222]. They found that there are some common genetic mutations seen in both the primary tumor and peritoneal metastases, whereas there are some mutations that are specific to peritoneal metastases like *CDH1*, *TAF1* mutations. Patients with peritoneal metastases had an increased proportion of "clock-like" mutational signature and decreased levels of signatures associated with defective DNA mismatch repair and *POLE* mutations. They also had an increased frequency of 6q loss and chromosome 19 gain.

This study also demonstrated the clonal and subclonal genomic architecture of PM, which revealed intra-tumor heterogeneity. Four distinct clonal patterns were identified.

Novel genomic and transcriptomic features that are associated with aggressive PM phenotypes, including higher frequency of *TP53*, *CDH1*, *TAF1* and *KMT2C* mutations, increased proportion of "clock-like" mutational signature, increase in whole genome doubling events, and chromosomal instability, particularly copy number losses, reprogrammed PM microenvironment (tumor and immune cell contents and composition), enriched signaling pathways related to cell cycle, *MYC* activation and impaired immune response were identified.

The authors further divided PM of gastric origin into two groups based on their immune profile—the T-cell "exclusive" and T-cell "exhausted" subtypes. The T-cell "exhausted" subtype showed high levels of immune checkpoint TIM-3, its ligand galectin-9, VISTA and transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ 1), while other classical checkpoints were low, suggesting potential therapeutic immune targets.

Novel molecular subtypes (the "mesenchymallike" and the "epithelial-like") by integrative clustering of the genomic/transcriptomic/immune features were identified. The "mesenchymallike" subtype was associated with resistance to therapy, while no association was observed between the traditional histopathology-based subtypes and therapy response. The authors recommend that the molecular and not the histological subtype should be considered while making systemic therapy related decisions. The results also provided a rationale for developing targeting therapies and conducting clinical trials looking at the benefit of immune checkpoint inhibitors.

Lim et al. compared matched pairs of wholeexome sequences between primary tumors and malignant ascites of patients with gastric cancer, and demonstrated an unusually high rate of C-to-A transversions in the exomes of metastatic cells (59.4%) when compared with their primary tumors (39.3%) [212]. Patients who received systemic chemotherapy (5-fluoracil, leucovorin) for their peritoneal disease exhibited a higher proportion of C-to-T transitions (43%) when compared with their non-treated counterparts (22.2%). As a control, cirrhosis-derived benign ascites was analyzed and also demonstrated high rates of C-to-A transversions, leading to around 10 and 21 somatic mutations per patient. The authors concluded that there could exist a yet-tobe-defined process within ascitic fluid that may promote C-to-A transversions and thereby mutagenesis.

# 12.6.4 Predicting the Effectiveness of IP Chemotherapy

Kitayama et al. looked for prognostic factors for predicting response to IP chemotherapy in a study of 243 patients [223]. They compared samples of ascitic fluid or peritoneal lavage with ascitic fluid samples drawn from patients with liver cirrhosis. Cells were recovered by centrifugation of peritoneal fluids and immunostained with monoclonal antibodies to CD45 and to CD326 (EpCAM). Using flow cytometry, the number of CD326 positive and CD45 negative cells (tumor cells) and CD45 positive and CD326 negative cells (leukocytes) were calculated in  $10^4$ – $10^5$ acquired cells, and the tumor/lymphocyte ratio (TLR) was calculated.

Median (M) of TLR of the GC patients with PM was significantly higher with those without PM and also that in patients with liver cirrhosis. Cytology positive patients with PM had a significantly higher ratio than cytology negative patients. In 37 patients who underwent repeated IP chemotherapy, TLR was markedly decreased after chemotherapy and the response was more sensitive than the changes in Cy or mRNA of CEA. Moreover, TLR of the patients with PM before chemotherapy was significantly associated with their outcome. Median survival times (MST) of the patients whose initial TLR were <1.0%, 1.0–10%, and <10% were 765, 394, and 271 days, respectively (p < 0.001). The authors concluded that TLR measured with flow cytometry well reflects the relative volume of living tumor cells in peritoneal cavity and thus could be a useful biomarker to predict the prognosis as well as the effectiveness of IP chemotherapy in patients with PM.

## 12.7 Mesothelioma

Malignant mesothelioma (MM) is rare cancer that arises from the mesothelial cells that line the serous surfaces (pleura, peritoneum, pericardium, and tunica vaginalis). Only 20–33% of all meso-theliomas arise from the peritoneum itself; the pleura is the most common site of origin [224]. It is an aggressive tumor with a historically reported median survival of 10 months [225].

There is a survival benefit of CRS and HIPEC; however, eligible patients are on the lower side and recurrences are common. There is need for early diagnosis and development of effective systemic therapies.

### 12.7.1 Biomarkers for Early Diagnosis

Biomarkers for early diagnosis have been identified for malignant pleural mesothelioma. It is not known whether the same can be used for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma too.

Several markers have emerged that may have a potential role and include osteopontin, fibulin-3, Soluble Mesothelin-Related Proteins (SMRP), High Mobility Group Box 1 (HMGB1), microR-NAs, peripheral blood-based markers, and Slow Off-rate Modified Aptamer (SOMAmer) proteomic assays [226].

Soluble mesothelin, also known as soluble mesothelin-related peptide (SMRP), is a glycoprotein encoded by the MSLN gene [227]. It is expressed on the surface of normal mesothelial cells in limited amounts and overexpressed by tumor cells in most MPM tumors and other cancers. The regulation of mesothelin expression is not fully understood; however, it has been observed that mesothelin can be shed from the cell surface and can be detected in the blood [227]. SMRP is currently the only blood-based biomarker that has been clinically validated and FDA-approved for mesothelioma [228]. Although SMRP has been validated as a diagnostic biomarker, its clinical utility is limited by its apparent poor sensitivity, with meta-analysis reporting sensitivity of 32% at 95% specificity [226]. The clinical utility of SMRP is also limited by its apparent high false-positive results.

Other markers that have been investigated are neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio, integrin, BAP-1, calretenin, caveolin-1, and P16-CDKN2A [226]. However, even for pleural mesothelioma, no marker has shown a conclusive benefit in early detection.

# 12.7.2 Molecular Mechanisms in Peritoneal Mesothelioma

BAP1 (BRCA1 associated protein 1) is the most commonly altered gene in peritoneal malignant mesothelioma. It is a tumor suppressor gene. The effects are mediated through chromatin modulation, transcriptional regulation, and possibly via the ubiquitin-proteasome system and the DNA damage response pathway. Individuals with germline mutations in the gene are predisposed to malignant mesothelioma and other tumors like uveal and cutaneous melanoma [229]. BAP1 mutations can be diagnosed by loss of nuclear staining on immunohistochemistry and is used as a diagnostic tool as well. The mutational load is only a median of 1.3 mutations per million base pairs, which is much lower than other adult solid tumors. Copy number alterations are rare [230]. Other less common mutations involve NF2, SETD2, and DDX3X genes. CDKN2A

mutation which is common in pleural mesothelioma is uncommon in peritoneal mesothelioma (>60% pleural vs 8% peritoneal mesothelioma, respectively) [231]. *BAP1*, *SETD2*, and *DDX3X* genes play an important role in epigenetic regulation. These represent potential therapeutic targets using pharmacologic inhibition of epigenetic modifier enzymes like histone deacetylases (HDAC) and the histone and the histone methyltransferase *EZH2* [231].

# 12.8 Conclusions

Known and emerging biomarkers have yielded important information about disease biology and response to therapy and are being increasingly incorporated into clinical practice. The identification and clinical utilization of biomarkers specific to peritoneal metastases is increasing. Though the currently known biomarkers can determine the prognosis of patients before surgery and predict to an extent the benefit of surgery, the importance of clinical and pathological prognostic factors is not undermined as most surgical decisions are still based on these factors. Thus, biomarkers are not considered in isolation but in addition to these factors. The development of targeted therapies specific for peritoneal metastases based on biomarker expression holds promise for the future for further improving the outcomes in patients with peritoneal metastases.

#### References

- Glehen O, Gilly FN, Boutitie F, et al. Toward curative treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from nonovarian origin by cytoreductive surgery combined with peri-operative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a multi-institutional study of 1,290 patients. Cancer. 2010;116(24):5608–18.
- Saxena A, Valle SJ, Liauw W, Morris DL. Recurrence and survival outcomes after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for small bowel adenocarcinoma. Anticancer Res. 2017;37(10):5737–42.
- Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:359–74.

- Karunasena E, Sham J, McMahon KW, Ahuja N. Genomics of peritoneal malignancies. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2018;27(3):463–75. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.soc.2018.02.004.
- Strimbu K, Tavel JA. What are biomarkers? Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2010;5(6):463–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/ COH.0b013e32833ed177.
- Puntmann VO. How-to guide on biomarkers: biomarker definitions, validation and applications with examples from cardiovascular disease. Postgrad Med J. 2009;85:538–45.
- Henry NL, Hayes DF. Cancer biomarkers. Mol Oncol. 2012;6(2):140–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molonc.2012.01.010. Epub 6 Feb 2012.
- Goossens N, Nakagawa S, Sun X, Hoshida Y. Cancer biomarker discovery and validation. Transl Cancer Res. 2015;4(3):256–69. https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2218-676X.2015.06.04.
- 9. Chen VW, Ruiz B, Killeen JL, et al. Pathology and classification of ovarian tumors. Cancer. 2003;97:2631–42.
- Dinulescu DM, Ince TA, Quade BJ, et al. Role of K-ras and Pten in the development of mouse models of endometriosis and endometrioid ovarian cancer. Nat Med. 2005;11:63–70.
- Kindelberger DW, Lee Y, Miron A, et al. Intraepithelial carcinoma of the fimbria and pelvic serous carcinoma: evidence for a causal relationship. Am J Surg Pathol. 2007;31:161–9.
- Arjmand M, Zahedi AF. Clinical biomarkers for detection of ovarian cancer. J Mol Cancer. 2019;2(1):3–7.
- Ashworth A, Balkwill F, Bast RC, et al. Opportunities and challenges in ovarian cancer research, a perspective from the 11th ovarian cancer action/HHMT Forum, Lake Como, March 2007. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;108(3):652–7.
- Yang WL, Lu Z, Bast RC Jr. The role of biomarkers in the management of epithelial ovarian cancer. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. 2017;17(6):577–91. https://doi.org/1 0.1080/14737159.2017.1326820.
- Aletti GD, Dowdy SC, Podratz KC, Cliby WA. Relationship among surgical complexity, shortterm morbidity, and overall survival in primary surgery for advanced ovarian cancer. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2007;197(6):676.e1–7.
- Van Driel WJ, Koole SN, Sikorska K, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(3):230–40.
- Moore K, Colombo N, Scambia G, et al. Maintenance olaparib in patients with newly diagnosed advanced ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(26):2495– 2505. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1810858. Epub 2018 Oct 21.
- Espey DK, Wu XC, Swan J, et al. Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1975–2004, featuring cancer in American Indians and Alaska Natives. Cancer. 2007;110(10):2119–52.
- O'Brien TJ, Beard JB, Underwood LJ, et al. The CA 125 gene: an extracellular superstructure dominated by repeat sequences. Tumour Biol. 2001;22:348–66.

- 20. Kabawat SE, Bast RC, Welch WR, et al. Immunopathologic characterization of a monoclonal antibody that recognizes common surface antigens of human ovarian tumors of serous, endometrioid, and clear cell types. AJCP. 1983;79:98–104.
- Romero I, Bast RC Jr. Minireview: human ovarian cancer: biology, current management, and paths to personalizing therapy. Endocrinology. 2012;153(4):1593–602.
- Skates SJ, Jacobs IJ, Knapp RC. Tumor markers in screening for ovarian cancer. Methods Mol Med. 2001;39:61–73.
- 23. Skates SJ, Mai P, Horick NK, et al. Large prospective study of ovarian cancer screening in high-risk women: CA125 cut-point defined by menopausal status. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2011;4:1401–8.
- Moore RG, Miller MC, Eklund EE, et al. Serum levels of the ovarian cancer biomarker HE4 are decreased in pregnancy and increase with age. AJOG. 2012;206:349.e1–7.
- Montagnana M, Danese E, Giudici S, et al. HE4 in ovarian cancer: from discovery to clinical application. Adv Clin Chem. 2011;55:1–20.
- Hassan R, Ho M. Mesothelin targeted cancer immunotherapy. Eur J Cancer. 2008;44:46–53.
- McIntosh MW, Drescher C, Karlan B, et al. Combining CA 125 and SMR serum markers for diagnosis and early detection of ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2004;95:9–15.
- Badgwell D, Lu Z, Cole L, et al. Urinary mesothelin provides greater sensitivity for early stage ovarian cancer than serum mesothelin, urinary hCG free beta subunit and urinary hCG beta core fragment. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;106:490–7.
- Diamandis EP, Scorilas A, Fracchioli S, et al. Human kallikrein 6 (hK6): a new potential serum biomarker for diagnosis and prognosis of ovarian carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:1035–43.
- 30. El Sherbini MA, Sallam MM, Shaban EA, et al. Diagnostic value of serum kallikrein-related peptidases 6 and 10 versus CA125 in ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2011;21:625–32.
- Bao LH, Sakaguchi H, Fujimoto J, et al. Osteopontin in metastatic lesions as a prognostic marker in ovarian cancers. J Biomed Sci. 2007;14:373–81.
- 32. Nakae M, Iwamoto I, Fujino T, et al. Preoperative plasma osteopontin level as a biomarker complementary to carbohydrate antigen 125 in predicting ovarian cancer. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2006;32:309–14.
- Gadomska H, Grzechocinska B, Janecki J, et al. Serum lipids concentration in women with benign and malignant ovarian tumours. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2005;120:87–90.
- 34. Moore RG, Brown AK, Miller MC, et al. The use of multiple novel tumor biomarkers for the detection of ovarian carcinoma in patients with a pelvic mass. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;108(2):402–8.
- Bast RC Jr, Skates S, Lokshin A, Moore RG. Differential diagnosis of a pelvic mass: improved algorithms and novel biomarkers. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2012;22(Suppl 1):S5–8.

- 36. Moore RG, Miller MC, Disilvestro P, et al. Evaluation of the diagnostic accuracy of the risk of ovarian malignancy algorithm in women with a pelvic mass. Obstet Gynecol. 2011;118(2 Pt 1):280–8.
- 37. Bandiera E, Romani C, Specchia C, et al. Serum human epididymis protein 4 and risk for ovarian malignancy algorithm as new diagnostic and prognostic tools for epithelial ovarian cancer management. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2011;20(12):2496–506.
- Molina R, Escudero JM, Auge JM, et al. HE4 a novel tumour marker for ovarian cancer: comparison with CA 125 and ROMA algorithm in patients with gynaecological diseases. Tumour Biol. 2011;32(6):1087–95.
- Ruggeri G, Bandiera E, Zanotti L, et al. HE4 and epithelial ovarian cancer: comparison and clinical evaluation of two immunoassays and a combination algorithm. Clin Chim Acta. 2011;412(15–16):1447–53.
- Jacob F, Meier M, Caduff R, et al. No benefit from combining HE4 and CA125 as ovarian tumor markers in a clinical setting. Gynecol Oncol. 2011;121(3):487–91.
- 41. Montagnana M, Danese E, Ruzzenente O, et al. The ROMA (Risk of Ovarian Malignancy Algorithm) for estimating the risk of epithelial ovarian cancer in women presenting with pelvic mass: is it really useful? Clin Chem Lab Med. 2011;49(3):521–5.
- 42. Van Gorp T, Cadron I, Despierre E, et al. HE4 and CA125 as a diagnostic test in ovarian cancer: prospective validation of the Risk of Ovarian Malignancy Algorithm. Br J Cancer. 2011;104(5):863–70.
- 43. Zhang Z, Chan DW. The road from discovery to clinical diagnostics: lessons learned from the first FDAcleared in vitro diagnostic multivariate index assay of proteomic biomarkers. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2010;19(12):2995–9.
- 44. Ueland FR, Desimone CP, Seamon LG, et al. Effectiveness of a multivariate index assay in the preoperative assessment of ovarian tumors. Obstet Gynecol. 2011;117(6):1289–97.
- Dudas SP, Chatterjee M, Tainsky MA. Usage of cancer associated autoantibodies in the detection of disease. Cancer Biomarkers. 2010;6(5–6):257–70.
- 46. Yang W-L, Simmons A, Lu Z, et al. Abstract 2838: TP53 autoantibody can detect CA125 screen negative ovarian cancer cases and can be elevated prior to CA125 in preclinical ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2015;75(15 Suppl):2838.
- Prahm KP, Novotny GW, Hogdall C, Hogdall E. Current status on microRNAs as biomarkers for ovarian cancer. APMIS. 2016;124(5):337–55.
- Nakamura K, Sawada K, Yoshimura A, Kinose Y, Nakatsuka E, Kimura T. Clinical relevance of circulating cell-free microRNAs in ovarian cancer. Mol Cancer. 2016;15(1):48.
- 49. Pal MK, Jaiswar SP, Dwivedi VN, Tripathi AK, Dwivedi A, Sankhwar P. MicroRNA: a new and promising potential biomarker for diagnosis and prognosis of ovarian cancer. Cancer Biol Med. 2015;12(4):328–41.
- Bettegowda C, Sausen M, Leary RJ, et al. Detection of circulating tumor DNA in early- and late-stage human malignancies. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(224):224ra24.

- 51. Pereira E, Camacho-Vanegas O, Anand S, et al. Personalized circulating tumor DNA biomarkers dynamically predict treatment response and survival in gynecologic cancers. PLoS One. 2015;10(12):e0145754.
- 52. An T, Qin S, Xu Y, et al. Exosomes serve as tumour markers for personalized diagnostics owing to their important role in cancer metastasis. J Extracell Vesicles. 2015;4:27522.
- Pitteri S, Hanash S. A systems approach to the proteomic identification of novel cancer biomarkers. Dis Markers. 2010;28(4):233–9.
- Hanash S, Taguchi A. Application of proteomics to cancer early detection. Cancer J. 2011;17(6):423–8.
- Huang J, Hu W, Sood AK. Prognostic biomarkers in ovarian cancer. Cancer Biomarkers. 2010;8(4– 5):231–51. https://doi.org/10.3233/CBM-2011-0212.
- 56. Makar AP, Kristensen GB, Kaern J, Bormer OP, Abeler VM, Trope CG. Prognostic value of pre- and postoperative serum CA 125 levels in ovarian cancer: new aspects and multivariate analysis. Obstet Gynecol. 1992;79:1002–10.
- 57. Abdel-Azeez HA, Labib HA, Sharaf SM, Refai AN. HE4 and mesothelin: novel biomarkers of ovarian carcinoma in patients with pelvic masses. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2010;11:111–6.
- Chambers SK, Kacinski BM, Ivins CM, Carcangiu ML. Overexpression of epithelial macrophage colony-stimulating factor (CSF-1) and CSF-1 receptor: a poor prognostic factor in epithelial ovarian cancer, contrasted with a protective effect of stromal CSF-1. Clin Cancer Res. 1997;3:999–1007.
- Matsuzaki H, Kobayashi H, Yagyu T, et al. Plasma bikunin as a favorable prognostic factor in ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:1463–72.
- Laframboise S, Chapman W, McLaughlin J. Andrulis IL. p53 mutations in epithelial ovarian cancers: possible role in predicting chemoresistance. Cancer J. 2000;6:302–8.
- Rudlowski C, Pickart AK, Fuhljahn C, et al. Prognostic significance of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in ovarian cancer patients: a longterm follow-up. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2006;16(Suppl 1):183–9.
- Landen CN, Kinch MS, Sood AK. EphA2 as a target for ovarian cancer therapy. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2005;9:1179–87.
- Kleinberg L, Holth A, Trope CG, Reich R, Davidson B. Claudin upregulation in ovarian carcinoma effusions is associated with poor survival. Hum Pathol. 2008;39:747–57.
- 64. Lin CK, Chao TK, Yu CP, Yu MH, Jin JS. The expression of six biomarkers in the four most common ovarian cancers: correlation with clinicopathological parameters. APMIS. 2009;117:162–75.
- 65. Rubin SC, Finstad CL, Wong GY, Almadrones L, Plante M, Lloyd KO. Prognostic significance of HER-2/neu expression in advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: a multivariate analysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1993;168:162–9.

- 66. Akhmedkhanov A, Lundin E, Guller S, et al. Circulating soluble Fas levels and risk of ovarian cancer. BMC Cancer. 2003;3:33. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2407-3-33. Published 22 Dec 2003.
- Nayak SB, Bhat VR, Upadhyay D, Udupa SL. Copper and ceruloplasmin status in serum of prostate and colon cancer patients. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol. 2003;47:108–10.
- Kluger HM, Kluger Y, Gilmore-Hebert M, DiVito K, Chang JT, et al. cDNA microarray analysis of invasive and tumorigenic phenotypes in a breast cancer model. Lab Invest. 2004;84:320–31.
- 69. Lee CM, Lo HW, Shao RP, Wang SC, Xia W, Gershenson DM, Hung MC. Selective activation of ceruloplasmin promoter in ovarian tumors: potential use for gene therapy. Cancer Res. 2004;64:1788–93.
- Huang H, Li Y, Liu J, Zheng M, Feng Y, Hu K, Huang Y, Huang Q. Screening and identification of biomarkers in ascites related to intrinsic chemoresistance of serous epithelial ovarian cancers. PLoS One. 2012;7:e51256.
- Clevers H. The cancer stem cell: premises, promises and challenges. Nat Med. 2011;17:313–9. https://doi. org/10.1038/nm.2304.
- Prasetyanti PR, Medema JP. Intra-tumor heterogeneity from a cancer stem cell perspective. Mol Cancer. 2017;16:41.
- 73. Steg AD, Bevis KS, Katre AA, Ziebarth A, Dobbin ZC, Alvarez RD, Zhang K, Conner M, Landen CN. Stem cell pathways contribute to clinical chemoresistance in ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:869–81.
- 74. Pylvas-Eerola M, Liakka A, Puistola U, Koivunen J, Karihtala P. Cancer stem cell properties as factors predictive of chemoresistance in neoadjuvantly-treated patients with ovarian cancer. Anticancer Res. 2016;36:3425–31.
- Ottevanger PB. Ovarian cancer stem cells more questions than answers. Semin Cancer Biol. 2017;44:67.
- 76. Kryczek I, Liu S, Roh M, Vatan L, Szeliga W, Wei S, Banerjee M, Mao Y, Kotarski J, Wicha MS, et al. Expression of aldehyde dehydrogenase and CD133 defines ovarian cancer stem cells. Int J Cancer. 2012;130:29–39. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc. 25967.
- 77. Le Page C, Ouellet V, Madore J, Ren F, Hudson TJ, Tonin PN, Provencher DM, Mes-Masson AM. Gene expression profiling of primary cultures of ovarian epithelial cells identifies novel molecular classifiers of ovarian cancer. Br J Cancer. 2006;94:436–45.
- Le Page C, Puiffe ML, Meunier L, Zietarska M, de Ladurantaye M, Tonin PN, Provencher D, Mes-Masson AM. BMP-2 signaling in ovarian cancer and its association with poor prognosis. J Ovarian Res. 2009;2:4.
- Huang RY, Chung VY, Thiery JP. Targeting pathways contributing to epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) in epithelial ovarian cancer. Curr Drug Targets. 2012;13:1649–53.

- 80. Yoshida S, Furukawa N, Haruta S, Tanase Y, Kanayama S, Noguchi T, Sakata M, Yamada Y, Oi H, Kobayashi H. Expression profiles of genes involved in poor prognosis of epithelial ovarian carcinoma: a review. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2009;19:992–7.
- Marchini S, Fruscio R, Clivio L, Beltrame L, Porcu L, Fuso Nerini I, Cavalieri D, Chiorino GC, Attoretti G, Mangioni C, et al. Resistance to platinum-based chemotherapy is associated with epithelial to mesenchymal transition in epithelial ovarian cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49:520–30.
- 82. van Zyl B, Tang D, Bowden N. Biomarkers of platinum resistance in ovarian cancer: what can we use to improve treatment. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2018;25(5):R303–18. https://erc.bioscientifica.com/ view/journals/erc/25/5/ERC-17-0336.xml. Retrieved 9 Dec 2019.
- 83. Choi YE, Meghani K, Brault ME, Leclerc L, He YJ, Day TA, Elias KM, Drapkin R, Weinstock DM, Dao F, et al. Platinum and PARP inhibitor resistance due to overexpression of microRNA-622 in BRCA1-mutant ovarian cancer. Cell Rep. 2016;14:429–39.
- 84. Vecchione A, Belletti B, Lovat F, Volinia S, Chiappetta G, Giglio S, Sonego M, Cirombella R, Onesti EC, Pellegrini P, et al. A microRNA signature defines chemoresistance in ovarian cancer through modulation of angiogenesis. PNAS. 2013;110:9845–50.
- 85. Boac BM, Xiong Y, Marchion DC, Abbasi F, Bush SH, Ramirez IJ, Khulpateea BR, Clair McClung E, Berry AL, Bou Zgheib N, et al. Micro-RNAs associated with the evolution of ovarian cancer cisplatin resistance. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;140:259–63.
- Ying HC, Xu HY, Lv J, Ying TS, Yang Q. MicroRNA signatures of platinum-resistance in ovarian cancer. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 2015;36:16–20.
- Yu X, Zheng H, Chan MT, Wu WK. Modulation of chemoresponsiveness to platinum-based agents by microRNAs in cancer. Am J Cancer Res. 2017;7:1769–78.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Integrated genomic analyses of ovarian carcinoma. Nature. 2011;474(7353):609–15.
- Ramus SJ, Harrington PA, Pye C, et al. Contribution of BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations to inherited ovarian cancer. Hum Mutat. 2007;28(12):1207–15.
- Phelan CM, Kuchenbaecker KB, Tyrer JP, et al. Identification of 12 new susceptibility loci for different histotypes of epithelial ovarian cancer. Nat Genet. 2017;49(5):680–91.
- 91. Yeung TL, Leung CS, Yip KP, et al. Cellular and molecular processes in ovarian cancer metastasis. A review in the theme: cell and molecular processes in cancer metastasis. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2015;309(7):C444–56.
- 92. Wang X, Zhu Q, Lin Y, et al. Crosstalk between TEMs and endothelial cells modulates angiogenesis and metastasis via IGF1-IGF1R signalling in epithelial ovarian cancer. Br J Cancer. 2017;117(9):1371–82.
- Hagemann T, Wilson J, Kulbe H, et al. Macrophages induce invasiveness of epithelial cancer cells via NF-kB and JNK. J Immunol. 2005;175(2):1197–205.

- 94. Wang X, Deavers M, Patenia R, et al. Monocyte/ macrophage and T-cell infiltrates in peritoneum of patients with ovarian cancer or benign pelvic disease. J Transl Med. 2006;4(1):30.
- Penet MF, Krishnamachary B, Wildes FB, Mironchik Y, Hung CF, Wu TC, Bhujwalla ZM. Ascites volumes and the ovarian cancer microenvironment. Front Oncol. 2018;8:595. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fonc.2018.00595.
- 96. Ahmed N, Stenvers KL. Getting to know ovarian cancer ascites: opportunities for targeted therapy-based translational research. Front Oncol. 2013;3:256. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2013.00256.
- 97. Carr NJ, Bibeau F, Bradley RF, Dartigues P, Feakins RM, Geisinger KR, et al. The histopathological classification, diagnosis and differential diagnosis of mucinous appendiceal neoplasms, appendiceal adenocarcinomas and pseudomyxoma peritonei. Histopathology. 2017;71(6):847–58. https://doi. org/10.1111/his.13324. Epub 19 Sept 2017.
- 98. Saarinen L, Nummela P, Leinonen H, Heiskanen A, Thiel A, Halgund C, Lepisto A, et al. Glycomic profiling highlights increased fucosylation in pseudomyxoma peritonei. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2018;17:2107–18. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp. RA118.000615.
- 99. Choudry HA, O'Malley ME, Guo ZS, Zeh HJ, Bartlett DL. Mucin as a therapeutic target in pseudomyxoma peritonei. J Surg Oncol. 2012;106:911–7.
- 100. Hugen N, Brown G, Glynne-Jones R, de Wilt JH, Nagtegaal ID. Advances in the care of patients with mucinous colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2016;13:361–9.
- 101. Amini A, Masoumi-Moghaddam S, Ehteda A, Morris DL. Secreted mucins in pseudomyxoma peritonei: pathophysiological significance and potential therapeutic prospects. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2014;9:71.
- 102. O'Connell JT, Tomlinson JS, Roberts AA, McGonigle KF, Barsky SH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei is a disease of MUC2-expressing goblet cells. Am J Pathol. 2002;161:551–64.
- 103. Hugen N, Simons M, Halilovic A, van der Post RS, Bogers AJ, Marijnissen-van Zanten MA, de Wilt JH, Nagtegaal ID. The molecular background of mucinous carcinoma beyond MUC2. J Pathol Clin Res. 2015;1:3–17.
- 104. Alakus H, Babicky ML, Ghosh P, Yost S, Jepsen K, Dai Y, Arias A, Samuels ML, Mose ES, Schwab RB, Peterson MR, Lowy AM, Frazer KA, et al. Genomewide mutational landscape of mucinous carcinomatosis peritonei of appendiceal origin. Genome Med. 2014;6:43.
- 105. Liu X, Mody K, de Abreu FB, Pipas JM, Peterson JD, Gallagher TL, Suriawinata AA, Ripple GH, Hourdequin KC, Smith KD, Barth RJ Jr, Colacchio TA, Tsapakos MJ, et al. Molecular profiling of appendiceal epithelial tumors using massively parallel sequencing to identify somatic mutations. Clin Chem. 2014;60:1004–11.

- Gatalica Z, Loggie B. COX-2 expression in pseudomyxoma peritonei. Cancer Lett. 2006;244:86–90.
- 107. Dilly AK, Honick BD, Lee YJ, Guo ZS, Zeh HJ, Bartlett DL, Choudry HA. Targeting G-protein coupled receptor-related signaling pathway in a murine xenograft model of appendiceal pseudomyxoma peritonei. Oncotarget. 2017;8(63):106888–900. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.22455.
- 108. Grizzi F, Cananzi F, Battista S, Brambilla T, Quehajaj D, Chiriva Internatti M, et al. Immunohistochemical features of the pseudomyxoma peritonei microenvironment: an opportunity for clinicians. http://www.aqch.com>toc>auto\_article\_process. Accessed 3/10/2019.
- 109. Valle SJ, Akhter J, Mekkawy AH, Lodh S, Pillai K, Badar S, Glenn D, Power M, Liauw W, Morris DL. A novel treatment of bromelain and acetylcysteine (BromAc) in patients with peritoneal mucinous tumours: a phase I first in man study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019. pii: S0748-7983(19)30913-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2019.10.033. [Epub ahead of print].
- 110. Reitz D, Gerger A, Seidel J, Kornprat P, Samonigg H, Stotz M, Szkandera J, Pichler M. Combination of tumour markers CEA and CA19–9 improves the prognostic prediction in patients with pancreatic cancer. J Clin Pathol. 2015;68:427–33.
- 111. Stojkovic Lalosevic M, Stankovic S, Stojkovic M, Markovic V, Dimitrijevic I, Lalosevic J, Petrovic J, Brankovic M, Pavlovic Markovic A, Krivokapic Z. Can preoperative CEA and CA19-9 serum concentrations suggest metastatic disease in colorectal cancer patients? Hell J Nucl Med. 2017;20: 41–5.
- 112. Wang W, Chen XL, Zhao SY, Xu YH, Zhang WH, Liu K, Chen XZ, Yang K, Zhang B, Chen ZX, Chen JP, Zhou ZG, Hu JK. Prognostic significance of preoperative serum CA125, CA19-9 and CEA in gastric carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2016;7:35423–36.
- 113. Song Y, Wang B, He M, Bai M, Liang G. Circulating serum microRNAs as diagnostic biomarkers for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2018;11(11):12340–6.
- 114. Fang Z, Tang J, Bai Y, Lin H, You H, Jin H, Lin L, You P, Li J, Dai Z, Liang X, Su Y, Hu Q, Wang F, Zhang ZY. Plasma levels of microRNA-24, microRNA-320a, and microRNA-423-5p are potential biomarkers for colorectal carcinoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2015;34:86.
- 115. Bobowicz M, Skrzypski M, Czapiewski P, Marczyk M, Maciejewska A, Jankowski M, Szulgo-Paczkowska A, Zegarski W, Pawłowski R, Polańska J, Biernat W, Jaśkiewicz J, Jassem J. Prognostic value of 5-microRNA based signature in T2-T3N0 colon cancer. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2016;33:765–73.
- 116. Du L, Jiang X, Duan W, Wang R, Wang L, Zheng G, Yan K, Wang L, Li J, Zhang X, Pan H, Yang Y, Wang C. Cell-free microRNA expression signatures in urine serve as novel noninvasive biomarkers for

diagnosis and recurrence prediction of bladder cancer. Oncotarget. 2017;8:40832–42.

- 117. Fan KL, Zhang HF, Shen J, Zhang Q, Li XL. Circulating microRNAs levels in Chinese heart failure patients caused by dilated cardiomyopathy. Indian Heart J. 2013;65:12–6.
- 118. Yan H, Ma F, Zhang Y, Wang C, Qiu D, Zhou K, Hua Y, Li Y. miRNAs as biomarkers for diagnosis of heartfailure-A systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine. 2017;96:e6825.
- 119. Kong YW, Ferland-McCollough D, Jackson TJ, Bushell M. microRNAs in cancer management. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:e249–58.
- Tashian RE. Genetics of the mammalian carbonic anhydrases. Adv Genet. 1992;30:321–56.
- 121. Parkkila S, Parkkila AK, Juvonen T, Lehto VP, Rajaniemi H. Immunohistochemical demonstration of the carbonic anhydrase isoenzymes I and II in pancreatic tumours. Histochem J. 1995;27:133–8.
- 122. Kivela AJ, Saarnio J, Karttunen TJ, Kivela J, Parkkila AK, Pastorekova S, et al. Differential expression of cytoplasmic carbonic anhydrases, CA I and II, and membrane-associated isozymes, CA IX and XII, in normal mucosa of large intestine and in colorectal tumors. Dig Dis Sci. 2001;46:2179–86.
- 123. Hu X, Huang Z, Liao Z, He C, Fang X. Low CA II expression is associated with tumor aggressiveness and poor prognosis in gastric cancer patients. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2014;7:6716–24.
- 124. Kuo WH, Chiang WL, Yang SF, Yeh KT, Yeh CM, Hsieh YS, et al. The differential expression of cytosolic carbonic anhydrase in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Life Sci. 2003;73:2211–23.
- 125. Järvinen P, Kivelä AJ, Nummela P, Lepistö A, Ristimäki A, Parkkila S. Carbonic anhydrase II: a novel biomarker for pseudomyxoma peritonei. APMIS. 2017;125(3):207–12. https://doi. org/10.1111/apm.12653.
- 126. Kabbani W, Houlihan PS, Luthra R, Hamilton SR, Rashid A. Mucinous and nonmucinous appendiceal adenocarcinomas: different clinicopathological features but similar genetic alterations. Mod Pathol. 2002;15(6):599–605.
- 127. Szych C, Staebler A, Connolly DC, Wu R, Cho KR, Ronnett BM. Molecular genetic evidence supporting the clonality and appendiceal origin of pseudomyxoma peritonei in women. Am J Pathol. 1999;154(6):1849–55.
- 128. Zauber P, Berman E, Marotta S, Sabbath-Solitare M, Bishop T. Ki-ras gene mutations are invariably present in low-grade mucinous tumours of the vermiform appendix. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2011;46(7–8):869–74.
- 129. Nummela P, Saarinen L, Thiel A, Järvinen P, Lehtonen R, Lepistö A, Järvinen H, Aaltonen LA, Hautaniemi S, Ristimäki A. Genomic profile of pseudomyxoma peritonei analyzed using next-generation sequencing and immunohistochemistry. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:E282–9.

- 130. Austin F, Mavanur A, Sathaiah M, Steel J, Lenzner D, Ramalingam L, Holtzman M, Ahrendt S, Pingpank J, Zeh HJ, Bartlett DL, Choudry HA. Aggressive management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from mucinous appendiceal neoplasms. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(5):1386–93. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-012-2241-6.
- 131. Andreyev HJ, Norman AR, Cunningham D, et al. Kirsten ras mutations in patients with colorectal cancer: the multicenter "RASCAL" study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1998;90:675.
- Vogelstein B, Fearon ER, Hamilton SR, et al. Genetic alterations during colorectal-tumor development. N Engl J Med. 1988;319:525.
- 133. Bazan V, Migliavacca M, Zanna I, et al. Specific codon 13 K-ras mutations are predictive of clinical outcome in colorectal cancer patients, whereas codon 12 K-ras mutations are associated with mucinous histotype. Ann Oncol. 2002;13:1438.
- 134. Ogino S, Brahmandam M, Cantor M, et al. Distinct molecular features of colorectal carcinoma with signet ring cell component and colorectal carcinoma with mucinous component. Mod Pathol. 2006;19:59.
- 135. Wistuba II, Behrens C, Albores-Saavedra J, et al. Distinct K-ras mutation pattern characterizes signet ring cell colorectal carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9:3615.
- 136. Paraskevakou H, Saetta A, Skandalis K, et al. Morphologicalhistochemical study of intestinal carcinoids and K-ras mutation analysis in appendiceal carcinoids. Pathol Oncol Res. 1999;5:205.
- 137. Ramnani DM, Wistuba II, Behrens C, et al. K-ras and p53 mutations in the pathogenesis of classical and goblet cell carcinoids of the appendix. Cancer. 1999;86:14.
- Vaughn CP, Zobell SD, Furtado LV, et al. Frequency of KRAS, BRAF, and NRAS mutations in colorectal cancer. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2011;50:307.
- 139. Shetty S, Thomas P, Ramanan B, et al. *KRAS* mutations and p53 overexpression in pseudomyxoma peritonei: association with phenotype and prognosis. J Surg Res. 2013;180:97–10.
- 140. Pietrantonio F, Perrone F, Mennitto A, Gleeson EM, Milione M, Tamborini E, Busico A, Settanni G, Berenato R, Caporale M, Morano F, Bossi I, Pellegrinelli A, Di Bartolomeo M, de Braud F, Baratti D, Bowne WB, Kusamura S, Deraco M. Toward the molecular dissection of peritoneal pseudomyxoma. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(11):2097–103. Epub 8 Aug 2016.
- 141. Vincenzi B, Cremolini C, Sartore-Bianchi A, et al. Prognostic significance of K-Ras mutation rate in metastatic colorectal cancer patients. Oncotarget. 2015;6:31604–12.
- 142. Landis CA, Masters SB, Spada A, Pace AM, Bourne HR, Vallar L. GTPase inhibiting mutations activate the alpha chain of Gs and stimulate adenylyl cyclase in human pituitary tumours. Nature. 1989;340(6236):692–6.

- 143. Lyons J, Landis CA, Harsh G, Vallar L, Grunewald K, Feichtinger H, Duh QY, Clark OH, Kawasaki E, Bourne HR, et al. Two G protein oncogenes in human endocrine tumors. Science. 1990;249(4969):655–9.
- 144. Nishikawa G, Sekine S, Ogawa R, et al. Frequent GNAS mutations in low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Br J Cancer. 2013;108(4):951–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.47.
- 145. Furukawa T, Kuboki Y, Tanji E, Yoshida S, Hatori T, Yamamoto M, Shibata N, Shimizu K, Kamatani N, Shiratori K. Whole-exome sequencing uncovers frequent GNAS mutations in intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms of the pancreas. Sci Rep. 2011;1:161.
- 146. Matsubara A, Sekine S, Kushima R, Ogawa R, Taniguchi H, Tsuda H, Kanai Y. Frequent GNAS and KRAS mutations in pyloric gland adenoma of the stomach and duodenum. J Pathol. 2013;229(4):579– 87. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4153.
- 147. Wu J, Matthaei H, Maitra A, et al. Papadopoulos N, Hruban RH, Vogelstein B. Recurrent GNAS mutations define an unexpected pathway for pancreatic cyst development. Sci Transl Med. 2011;3(92):92ra66. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3002543. PMID: 21775669; PMCID: PMC3160649
- 148. Sio TT, Mansfield AS, Grotz TE, et al. Concurrent MCL1 and JUN amplification in pseudomyxoma peritonei: a comprehensive genetic profiling and survival analysis. J Hum Genet. 2014;59:124–8.
- 149. Singhi AD, Davison JM, Choudry HA, et al. GNAS is frequently mutated in both low-grade and high-grade disseminated appendiceal mucinous neoplasms but does not affect survival. Hum Pathol. 2014;45:1737–43.
- Hollstein M, Sidransky D, Vogelstein B, et al. P53 mutations in human cancers. Science. 1991;253:49.
- 151. Nigro JM, Baker SJ, Preisinger AC, et al. Mutations in the p53 gene occur in diverse human tumour types. Nature. 1989;342:705.
- 152. Noguchi R, Yano H, Gohda Y, et al. Molecular profiles of high-grade and low-grade pseudomyxoma peritonei. Cancer Med. 2015;4(12):1809–16. https:// doi.org/10.1002/cam4.542.
- 153. Ahnen DJ, Feigl P, Quan G, et al. Ki-ras mutation and p53 overexpression predict the clinical behavior of colorectal cancer: a southwest oncology group study. Cancer Res. 1998;58:1149.
- 154. Perraud A, Akil H, Nouaille M, et al. Expression of p53 and DR5 in normal and malignant tissues of colorectal cancer: correlation with advanced stages. Oncol Rep. 2011;26:1091.
- 155. Remvikos Y, Tominaga O, Hammel P, et al. Increased p53 protein content of colorectal tumours correlates with poor survival. Br J Cancer. 1992;66:758.
- 156. Sun XF, Carstensen JM, Zhang H, et al. Prognostic significance of cytoplasmic p53 oncoprotein in colorectal adenocarcinoma. Lancet. 1992;340:1369.

- 157. Hamelin R, Laurent-Puig P, Olschwang S, et al. Association of p53 mutations with short survival in colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology. 1994;106:42.
- 158. Huh JW, Lee JH, Kim HR. Expression of p16, p53, and ki-67 in colorectal adenocarcinoma: a study of 356 surgically resected cases. Hepatogastroenterology. 2010;57:734.
- 159. Conlin A, Smith G, Carey FA, et al. The prognostic significance of K-ras, p53, and APC mutations in colorectal carcinoma. Gut. 2005;54(9):1283–6. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2005.066514. Epub 2005 Apr 20. PMID: 15843421; PMCID: PMC1774675.
- O'Dowd G, Gosney JR. Absence of overexpression of p53 protein by intestinal carcinoid tumours. J Pathol. 1995;175:403.
- 161. Gleeson EM, Feldman R, Mapow BL, Mackovick LT, Ward KM, Morano WF, Rubin RR, Bowne WB. Appendix-derived pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP): molecular profiling toward treatment of a rare malignancy. Am J Clin Oncol. 2018;41(8):777–83. https://doi.org/10.1097/ COC.000000000000376.
- 162. Roberts DL, O'Dwyer ST, Stern PL, et al. Global gene expression in pseudomyxoma peritonei, with parallel development of two immortalized cell lines. Oncotarget. 2015;6:10786–800.
- 163. Levine EA, Votanopoulos KI, Qasem SA, et al. Prognostic molecular subtypes of low-grade cancer of the appendix. J Am College Surg. 2016;222:493–503.
- 164. Singh J, Sharma A, Ahuja N. Genomics of peritoneal surface malignancies. J Peritoneum [Internet]. 12 Jul 2017 [cited 10 Dec 2019];2(2). Available from: http://www.jperitoneum.org/index.php/joper/article/ view/62.
- Markowitz SD, Bertagnolli MM. Molecular origins of cancer: molecular basis of colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:2449–60.
- 166. Herman JG, Umar A, Polyak K, et al. Incidence and functional consequences of hMLH1 promoter hypermethylation in colorectal carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:6870–5.
- 167. Hugen N, van de Velde CJ, de Wilt JH, et al. Metastatic pattern in colorectal cancer is strongly influenced by histological sub-type. Ann Oncol. 2014;25:651–7.
- 168. Hewish M, Lord CJ, Martin SA, et al. Mismatch repair deficient colorectal cancer in the era of personalized treatment. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2010;7:197–208.
- Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2509–20.
- 170. Shelygin YA, Pospekhova NI, Shubin VP, et al. Epithelial-mesechymal transition and somatic alteration in colorectal cancer with and without peritoneal carcinomatosis. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:629496.
- 171. Weisenberger DJ, Siegmund KD, Campan M, et al. CpG island methylator phenotype underlies sporadic microsatellite instability and is tightly associ-

ated with BRAF mutation in colorectal cancer. Nat Genet. 2006;38:787–93.

- 172. Toyota M, Ahuja N, Ohe-Toyota M, et al. CpG island methylator phenotype in colorectal cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96:8681–6.
- 173. McCubrey JA, Steelman LS, Chappell WH, et al. Roles of the Raf/MEK/ERK pathway in cell growth, malignant transformation and drug resistance. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2007;1773:1263–84.
- 174. Pietrantonio F, Petrelli F, Coinu A, et al. Predictive role of BRAF mutations in patients with advanced colorectal cancer receiving cetuximab and panitumumab: a meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51:587–94.
- 175. Karapetis CS, Khambata-Ford S, Jonker DJ, et al. K-ras mutations and benefit from cetuximab in advanced colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:1757–65.
- 176. Cancer Genome Atlas Network. Comprehensive molecular characterization of human colon and rectal cancer. Nature. 2012;487:330–7.
- 177. Kavuri SM, Jain N, Galimi F, et al. HER2 activating mutations are targets for colorectal cancer treatment. Cancer Discov. 2015;5:832–41.
- 178. Sartore-Bianchi A, Trusolino L, Martino C, et al. Dual-targeted therapy with trastuzumab and lapatinib in treatment-refractory, KRAS codon 12/13 wild-type, HER2-positive metastatic colorectal cancer (HERACLES): a proof-of-concept, multicentre, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:738–46.
- 179. Lee IK, Kim DH, Gorden DL, et al. Prognostic value of CEA and CA 19-9 tumor markers combined with cytology from peritoneal fluid in colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16(4):861–70.
- 180. Bhullar DS, Barriuso J, Mullamitha S, Saunders MP, O'Dwyer ST, Aziz O. Biomarker concordance between primary colorectal cancer and its metastases. EBioMedicine. 2019;40:363–74. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.01.050. Epub 4 Feb 2019.
- 181. Takakura Y, Ikeda S, Imaoka Y, Urushihara T, Itamoto T. An elevated preoperative serum carbohydrate antigen 19-9 level is a significant predictor for peritoneal dissemination and poor survival in colorectal cancer. Colorectal Dis. 2015;17(5):417–25.
- 182. Ahadi M, Tehranian S, Memar B, et al. Diagnostic value of carcinoembryonic antigen in malignancyrelated ascites: systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Gastroenterol Belg. 2014;77:418–24.
- 183. Huang CJ, Jiang JK, Chang SC, Lin JK, Yang SH. Serum CA125 concentration as a predictor of peritoneal dissemination of colorectal cancer in men and women. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016;95(47):e5177.
- 184. Kaneko M, Ishihara S, Murono K, et al. Carbohydrate antigen 19-9 predicts synchronous peritoneal carcinomatosis in patients with colorectal cancer. Anticancer Res. 2017;37(2):865–70.

- 185. Cashin PH, Graf W, Nygren P, Mahteme H. Patient selection for cytoreductive surgery in colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis using serum tumor markers: an observational cohort study. Ann Surg. 2012;256(6):1078–83.
- 186. Ozawa H, Kotake K, Kobayashi H, Kobayashi H, Sugihara K. Prognostic factors for peritoneal carcinomatosis originating from colorectal cancer: an analysis of 921 patients from a multi-institutional database. Surg Today. 2014;44(9):1643–50.
- 187. Chia CS, Glehen O, Bakrinetal N. Intraperitonealvascular endothelial growth factor: a prognostic factor and the potential for intraperitoneal bevacizumab use in peritoneal surface malignancies. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(Suppl 3):880–7.
- 188. Bong TSH, Tan GHC, Chia C, Soo KC, Teo MCC. Preoperative platelet-lymphocyte ratio is an independent prognostic marker and superior to carcinoembryonic antigen in colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intra-peritoneal chemotherapy. Int J Clin Oncol. 2017;22(3):511–8.
- 189. Huo YR, Huang Y, Liauw W, Zhao J, Morris DL. Prognostic value of carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), AFP, CA19-9 and CA125 for patients with colorectal cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated by cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Anticancer Res. 2016;36(3):1041–9.
- 190. Green DE, Jayakrishnan TT, Hwang M, Pappas SG, Gamblin TC, Turaga KK. Immunohistochemistry microarray analysis of patients with peritoneal metastases of appendiceal or colorectal origin. Front Surg. 2015;1:50.
- 191. Sasaki Y, Hamaguchi T, Yamada Y, et al. Value of KRAS, BRAF, and PIK3CA mutations and survival benefit from systemic chemotherapy in colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2016;17(2):539–43.
- 192. Massalou D, Benizri E, Chevallier A, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer: novel clinical and molecular outcomes. Am J Surg. 2017;213(2):377–87.
- 193. Yokota T, Ura T, Shibataetal N. BRAF mutation is a powerful prognostic factor in advanced and recurrent colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer. 2011;104(5):856–62.
- 194. Ihemelandu C. Inflammation-based prognostic scores: utility in prognostication and patient selection for cytoreduction and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal metastasis of colonic origin. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24(4):884–9.
- 195. Harrison LE, Bryan M, Pliner L, Saunders T. Phase I trial of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients undergoing cytoreduction for advanced intra-abdominal malignancy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(5):1407–13.
- 196. de Cuba EMV, de Hingh IHJT, Sluiter NR, et al. Angiogenesis-related markers and prognosis after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperito-

neal chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1601–8.

- 197. Sluiter NR, de Cuba EMV, Kwakman R, et al. Versican and vascular endothelial growth factor expression levels in peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer are associated with survival after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2016;33(4):297–307.
- 198. Guinney J, Dienstmann R, Wang X, de Reyniès A, Schlicker A, Soneson C, Marisa L, Roepman P, Nyamundanda G, Angelino P, Bot BM, Morris JS, Simon IM, Gerster S, Fessler E, De Sousa E, Melo F, Missiaglia E, Ramay H, Barras D, Homicsko K, Maru D, Manyam GC, Broom B, Boige V, Perez-Villamil B, Laderas T, Salazar R, Gray JW, Hanahan D, Tabernero J, Bernards R, Friend SH, Laurent-Puig P, Medema JP, Sadanandam A, Wessels L, Delorenzi M, Kopetz S, Vermeulen L, Tejpar S. The consensus molecular subtypes of colorectal cancer. Nat Med. 2015;21(11):1350–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nm.3967. Epub 12 Oct 2015.
- 199. Ubink I, van Eden WJ, Snaebjornsson P, et al. Histopathological and molecular classification of colorectal cancer and corresponding peritoneal metastases. Br J Surg. 2018;105(2):e204–11.
- 200. Koumpa FS, Xylas D, Konopka M, et al. Colorectal peritoneal metastases: a systematic review of current and emerging trends in clinical and translational research. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2019;2019:5180895, 30 p. https://doi. org/10.1155/2019/5180895.
- 201. Varghese S, Burness M, Xu H, Beresnev T, Pingpank J, Alexander HR. Site-specific gene expression profiles and novel molecular prognostic factors in patients with lower gastrointestinal adenocarcinoma diffusely metastatic to liver or peritoneum. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(12):3460–71.
- 202. Logan-Collins JM, Lowy AM, Robinson-Smith TM, et al. VEGF expression predicts survival in patients with peritoneal surface metastases from mucinous adenocarcinoma of the appendix and colon. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(3):738–44.
- 203. Lin BR, Chang CC, Chen RJC, et al. Connective tissue growth factor acts as a therapeutic agent and predictor for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(10):3077–88.
- 204. Arienti C, Tesei A, Verdecchiaetal GM. Role of conventional chemosensitivity test and tissue biomarker expression in predicting response to treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colon cancer. Clin Colorectal Cancer. 2013;12(2):122–7.
- 205. Kwakman R, deCuba EMV, deWinteretal JP. Tailoring heated intraperitoneal mitomycin C for peritoneal metastases originating from colorectal carcinoma: a translational approach to improve survival. Br J Cancer. 2015;112(5):851–6.
- 206. Shannon NB, Tan JW, Tan HL, Wang W, Chen Y, Lim HJ, Tan QX, Hendrikson J, Ng WH, Loo LY, Skanthakumar T, Wasudevan SD, Kon OL, Lim

TKH, Tan GHC, Chia CS, Soo KC, Ong CJ, Teo MCC. A set of molecular markers predicts chemosensitivity to Mitomycin-C following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal metastasis. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):10572. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-019-46819-z.

- 207. Pelz JOW, Stojadinovic A, Nissan A, Hohenberger W, Esquivel J. Evaluation of a peritoneal surface disease severity score in patients with colon cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2009;99:9– 15. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.21169.
- 208. Esquivel J, Lowy AM, Markman M, Chua T, Pelz J, Baratti D, et al. The American Society of Peritoneal Surface Malignancies (ASPSM) multiinstitution evaluation of the peritoneal surface disease severity score (PSDSS) in 1,013 patients with colorectal cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(13):4195–201. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-014-3798-z.
- 209. Ng JL, Ong WS, Chia CS, Tan GHC, Soo K-C, Teo MCC. Prognostic relevance of the peritoneal surface disease severity score compared to the peritoneal cancer index for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Int J Surg Oncol. 2016;2016:2495131, 7. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2016/2495131.
- 210. Arjona-Sanchez A, Rodriguez-Ortiz L, Baratti D, Schneider MA, Gutiérrez-Calvo A, García-Fadrique A, et al. RAS mutation decreases overall survival after optimal cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy of colorectal peritoneal metastasis: a modification proposal of the peritoneal surface disease severity score. Ann Surg Oncol. 2019;26(8):2595–604. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-019-07378-9. Epub 20 May 2019.
- 211. Schneider MA, Eden J, Pache B, Laminger F, Lopez-Lopez V, Steffen T, Hübner M, Kober F, Roka S, Campos PC, Roth L, Gupta A, Siebenhüner A, Kepenekian V, Passot G, Gertsch P, Glehen O, Lehmann K. Mutations of RAS/RAF protooncogenes impair survival after cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for peritoneal metastasis of colorectal origin. Ann Surg. 2018;268(5):845–53. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.000000000002899.
- 212. Lim B, Kim C, Kim JH, Kwon WS, Lee WS, Kim JM, Park JY, Kim HS, Park KH, Kim TS, Park JL, Chung HC, Rha SY, Kim SY. Genetic alterations and their clinical implications in gastric cancer peritoneal carcinomatosis revealed by whole-exome sequencing of malignant ascites. Oncotarget. 2016;7(7):8055–66. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.6977.
- 213. Kusamura S, Baratti D, Zaffaroni N, et al. Pathophysiology and biology of peritoneal carcinomatosis. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(1):12–8.

- Jayne D. Molecular biology of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 2007;134:21–33.
- 215. Zhang J, Huang JY, Chen YN, et al. Whole genome and transcriptome sequencing of matched primary and peritoneal metastatic gastric carcinoma. Sci Rep. 2015;5:13750. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep13750.
- 216. Waaijer CJ, de Andrea CE, Hamilton A, et al. Cartilage tumour progression is characterized by an increased expression of heparan sulphate 6O-sulphation-modifying enzymes. Virchows Arch. 2012;461(4):475–81.
- 217. Ohi M, Mori K, Toyiyama Y, Mohri Y, Okigami M, Yasuda H, et al. Preoperative prediction of peritoneal metastasis in gastric cancer as an indicator for neoadjuvant treatment. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(6):3511–8.
- Mura G, Verdelli B. The features of peritoneal metastases from gastric cancer. J Cancer Metastasis Treatm. 2016;2:365. https://doi. org/10.20517/2394-4722.2016.19.
- 219. Takeno A, et al. Gene expression profile prospectively predicts peritoneal relapse after curative surgery of gastric cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:1033–42. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-009-0854-1.
- 220. Zeng R, Li B, Huang J, Zhong M, Li L, Duan C, Zeng S, Huang J, Liu W, Lu J, Tang Y, Zhou L, Liu Y, Li J, He Z, Wang Q, Dai Y. Lysophosphatidic acid is a biomarker for peritoneal carcinomatosis of gastric cancer and correlates with poor prognosis. Genet Test Mol Biomarkers. 2017;21(11):641–8. https://doi.org/10.1089/gtmb.2017.0060. Epub 14 Sept 2017.
- 221. Chen C, Shi C, Huang X, et al. Molecular profiles and metastasis markers in Chinese patients with gastric carcinoma. Sci Rep. 2019;9:13995. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-019-50171-7.
- 222. Wang R, Song S, Harada K, Ghazanfari Amlashi F, Badgwell B, Pizzi MP, Xu Y, Zhao W, Dong X, Jin J, Wang Y, Scott A, et al. Multiplex profiling of peritoneal metastases from gastric adenocarcinoma identified novel targets and molecular subtypes that predict treatment response. Gut. 2020;69(1):18–31. https://doi. org/10.1136/gutjnl-2018-318070. Epub 6 Jun 2019.
- 223. Kitayama J, Ishigami H, Yamaguchi H, Emoto S, Yamashita H, Seto Y, Matsusaki K, Watanabe T. Tumor cells/leukocytes ratio (TLR) in peritoneal fluids as a biomarker in patients with peritoneal metastasis of gastric cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(15 Suppl):3039.
- Bridda A, Padoan I, Mencarelli R, et al. Peritoneal mesothelioma: a review. MedGenMed. 2007;92:32.
- Boffetta P. Epidemiology of peritoneal mesothelioma: a review. Ann Oncol. 2007;18:985–90.
- 226. Chen Z, Gaudino G, Pass HI, Carbone M, Yang H. Diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers for malignant mesothelioma: an update. Transl Lung Cancer

Res. 2017;6(3):259–69. https://doi.org/10.21037/ tlcr.2017.05.06.

- 227. Creaney J, Sneddon S, Dick IM, et al. Comparison of the diagnostic accuracy of the MSLN gene products, mesothelin and megakaryocyte potentiating factor, as biomarkers for mesothelioma in pleural effusions and serum. Dis Markers. 2013;35:119–27. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/874212.
- 228. Creaney J, Dick IM, Meniawy TM, et al. Comparison of fibulin-3 and mesothelin as markers in malignant mesothelioma. Thorax. 2014;69:895–902. https://doi.org/10.1136/ thoraxjnl-2014-205205.
- 229. Murali R, Wiesner T, Scolyer RA. Tumours associated with BAP1 mutations. Pathology. 2013;45:116–26.
- 230. Alakus H, Yost SE, Woo B, et al. BAP1 mutation is a frequent somatic event in peritoneal malignant mesothelioma. J Transl Med. 2015;13:122. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12967-015-0485-1.
- 231. Joseph NM, Chen YY, Nasr A, et al. Genomic profiling of malignant peritoneal mesothelioma reveals recurrent alterations in epigenetic regulatory genes BAP1, SETD2, and DDX3X. Modern Pathol. 2017;30:246–54.